
Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Gerard Watson
37 88664

Produced on Recycled Paper
1

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Wednesday, 17th October, 2018 at 9.00 am*

(*Please note the earlier than usual start time for this meeting)

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors

J Blake (Chair)
R Charlwood
D Coupar
J Lewis
R Lewis
L Mulherin
J Pryor
M Rafique

A Carter S Golton

Public Document Pack



2

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS

The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers 
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:

9.0 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, 
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2 Confidential information means
(a) information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which 

forbid its public disclosure or 
(b) information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another 

Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an 
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights 
rules. 

10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed provided:
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or 
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will 
also be excluded. 

10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 
any condition):
1 Information relating to any individual
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information).
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-
holders under the authority.

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

 



3

A G E N D A

Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  

 

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which officers 
have identified as containing exempt information 
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and where officers 
consider that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the officers 
recommendation in respect of the above 
information.

3 If the recommendation is accepted, to formally 
pass the following resolution:-

RESOLVED –  That, in accordance with 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as exempt  on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that 
if members of the press and public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information.



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

4

3  

 

LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  

 

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  

 

MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 19th September 2018

1 - 16

RESOURCES AND SUSTAINABILITY

6  

 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 STATEMENT OF 
LICENSING POLICY

To consider the report of the Director of 
Communities and Environment advising of the 
triennial statutory review of the Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Licensing Policy 2019 - 2021 which is 
underway with the public consultation having taken 
place. The report presents the Policy review based 
on comments received and requests the Board 
considers the contents of the report and refer the 
Policy to Council for adoption in line with the 
Budgetary and Policy Framework.

17 - 
104

7  

K

FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2018/19 - 
MONTH 5

To consider the report of the Chief Officer, 
Financial Services, setting out the Council’s 
projected financial health position for 2018/19 as at 
month 5 and seeking approval to the release of 
reserves as necessary.

105 - 
132



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

5

8  

K

IMPROVING AIR QUALITY WITHIN THE CITY

To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Resources and Housing, the Director of City 
Development, the Director of Communities and 
Environment and the Director of Public Health 
providing an overview of the statutory consultation 
process undertaken on the Clean Air Zone (CAZ) 
proposal and the key findings; outlining the details 
of all of the proposed financial support packages 
for each affected Sector; detailing the key dates up 
until the proposed “go live” date of the CAZ and the 
key risks to successful implementation; and 
outlining details of the vehicle anti-idling scheme 
and other actions to improve air quality.

133 - 
332

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND 
PLANNING

9  

K

STREET LIGHTING ENERGY SAVING 
PROGRAMME

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development seeking approval to the design and 
implementation of a scheme to convert existing 
street lighting to LED technology. The report also 
considers the added benefit of incorporating ‘Smart 
City’ remote connectivity (CMS) to the street lights 
at the same time and seeks authority to conclude 
contract negotiations with the Street Lighting PFI 
provider and implement the conversion of street 
lights to LED technology.

333 - 
380



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

6

10 

K

Guiseley and 
Rawdon; 
Horsforth; 
Kirkstall; Otley 
and Yeadon

ESTABLISHMENT OF A JOINT URBAN 
TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL 
SERVICE FOR WEST YORKSHIRE

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development on proposals for the establishment of 
a West Yorkshire Urban Traffic Management and 
Control (West Yorkshire UTMC) Service. The 
report sets out the background to the development 
of the proposal, arrangements for its funding and 
requests endorsement to the principle of Leeds 
City Council hosting the proposed service and 
authority to progress with arrangements for 
establishing it.

381 - 
396

11 

K

Beeston and 
Holbeck; 
Hunslet and 
Riverside

10.4(3)
(Appendix 
1 only)

UPDATE ON THE HS2 GROWTH STRATEGY, 
HS2 AND LEEDS INTEGRATED STATION 
MASTERPLAN

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development providing an update on the 
preparations for bringing HS2 to the region, and 
delivering transformational change of the existing 
station to put Leeds integrated station at the centre 
of the city, the City Region and the Northern 
Powerhouse. The report includes an update on the 
South Bank SPD, Station Masterplan, the HS2 
Growth Strategy, and delivery arrangements.

(Please note that Appendix 1 to this report is 
designated as exempt form publication under the 
provisions of Access to Information Procedure 
Rule 10.4 (3))

397 - 
418



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

7

12 

K

Hunslet and 
Riverside; 
Little London 
and 
Woodhouse

CITY CENTRE VEHICLE ACCESS 
MANAGEMENT SCHEME PHASE TWO

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development report seeking an injection into the 
2018/19 Capital Programme to cover the budget 
shortfall for Phase 1 of the City Centre Vehicle 
Access Management Scheme following an 
increase in material prices received during 
procurement. In addition, the report also seeks an 
injection into the 2018/19 Capital Programme and 
associated authority to progress the detailed 
design and implementation of a system to manage 
and control vehicular access at Leeds Playhouse 
courtyard and Greek Street and authority to 
undertake feasibility studies and option appraisals 
for other locations deemed at risk.

419 - 
432

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

13 

 

LEEDS BREASTFEEDING PLAN 2016-2021

To consider the report of the Director of Public 
Health and the Director of Children and Families 
which provides a mid-term update and information 
on the successes and progress made so far in 
delivering the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan. The 
report also outlines plans to develop further work 
based on consultation and to maintain progress by 
gaining support for a wider environmental and 
cultural approach to promoting breastfeeding. 

433 - 
450

14 

 

MAKING LEEDS THE BEST CITY TO GROW 
OLD IN - PROGRESS REPORT ON AGE 
FRIENDLY LEEDS INCLUDING OUR 
PARTNERSHIP WITH THE CENTRE FOR 
AGEING BETTER

To consider the report of the Director of Adults and 
Health on the impact of the ‘Making Leeds the Best 
City to Grow Old’ project as one strand of work to 
achieve the priority of Leeds being an age friendly 
city where people age well. The report also 
provides an update on the related work being 
undertaken with partner organisations.

451 - 
504



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

8

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

15 

K

FAMILIES FIRST: EARNED AUTONOMY: THE 
PLAN TO USE NEW FREEDOMS TO 
TRANSFORM EARLY HELP SERVICES FOR 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

To consider the report of the Director of Children 
and Families on Leeds’ success in gaining ‘Earned 
Autonomy’ from central government for its work in 
support of the national programme. The report also 
seeks approval of delegated responsibility for the 
Director of Children and Families to manage the 
implementation plans developed with local 
partners.

505 - 
516

16 

K

HEALTHY PUPIL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
(HPCP) 2018-19

To consider the report of the Director of Children 
and Families which looks to identify and implement 
a plan for the capital grant programme for 
community and voluntary aided schools in Leeds in 
accordance with the Department for Education’s 
requirements around the Healthy Pupil Capital 
Programme.

517 - 
540

LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT

17 

K

INTERNATIONAL HOLOCAUST 
REMEMBRANCE ALLIANCE DEFINITION ON 
ANTISEMITISM

To consider the report of the Director of 
Communities and Environment recommending the 
adoption of the International Holocaust 
Remembrance Alliance’s working definition on 
antisemitism. In addition, the report presents an 
overview of the Jewish community in Leeds and 
explains some of its significant contributions to the 
city. It also defines ‘hate crime’ and the latest 
picture in Leeds, and includes the full IHRA 
definition on antisemitism with the IHRA’s 
accompanying examples.

541 - 
556



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

9

18 

 

OUTCOME OF SCHOOL ADMISSIONS 
ARRANGEMENTS 2018 AND UPCOMING 
CONSULTATION ON ADMISSIONS POLICY 
FOR 2020

To consider the report of the Director of Children 
and Families which provides a summary of the 
outcomes of the Admissions functions undertaken 
by the Local Authority in the academic year 
2017/18. The report includes statistical information 
on the annual admissions round for entry to 
Reception and Year 7 for September 2018. In 
addition, information is provided about the 
admission of pupils ‘in-year’ where pupils have 
moved into, or within the city during the academic 
year 2017/18.

557 - 
568

19 

K

Guiseley and 
Rawdon

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO 
PERMANENTLY INCREASE LEARNING 
PLACES AT BENTON PARK SECONDARY 
SCHOOL FROM SEPTEMBER 2021

To consider the report of the Director of Children 
and Families detailing the outcome of a 
consultation exercise regarding a proposal to 
expand secondary school provision at Benton Park 
Secondary School and which seeks a decision to 
publish a statutory notice under the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 and in accordance with the 
School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 
in respect of this proposal.

569 - 
584

COMMUNITIES

20 

 

SAFER LEEDS COMMUNITY SAFETY 
STRATEGY (2018-2021)

To consider the report of the Director of 
Communities and Environment which presents the 
Council’s Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy 
for the period 2018-21, for the purposes of 
endorsement and recommendation to Council that 
it formally adopts the proposed strategy.

585 - 
620



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

10

ENVIRONMENT AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES

21 

 

Armley; 
Beeston and 
Holbeck; 
Burmantofts 
and Richmond 
Hill; Gipton 
and Harehills; 
Middleton 
Park

RUN LEEDS - SPORT ENGLAND FUNDING 
AWARD

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development on the growth of the Run Leeds 
programme and outlines plans for how the 
successful award of significant Sport England 
external funding will be programmed.

621 - 
638

ECONOMY AND CULTURE 

22 

 

MAJOR EVENTS IN LEEDS

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development which provides an update on the 
successful bid to the West Yorkshire Business 
Rate Pool entitled, ‘Transforming Leeds events’ 
which looked to secure funding over the next 3 
years to provide added value to the curation and 
provision of major events in Leeds as well as 
providing support to secure existing events and 
also for the provision of ‘Leeds 2023’.

639 - 
650

Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete.

Webcasting

Please note – the publically accessible parts of this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent 
broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is to be filmed.



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

EXECUTIVE BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 19TH SEPTEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillor J Blake in the Chair

Councillors A Carter, R Charlwood, 
D Coupar, S Golton, J Lewis, R Lewis, 
L Mulherin, J Pryor and M Rafique

49 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt from 
publication on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business 
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the 
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information 
so designated as follows:-

(a) That Appendix 2 to the report entitled, ‘Right to Buy Replacement 
Funding: Investment to Support the Delivery of New Supply Affordable 
Housing’, referred to in Minute No. 54 be designated as exempt from 
publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it contains 
information which relates to the financial or business affairs of a 
particular person, and of the Council. This information is not publicly 
available from the statutory registers of information kept in respect of 
certain companies and charities. It is considered that since this 
information was obtained through grant application forms, then it is not 
in the public interest to disclose this information at this point in time. 

(b) That Appendix 1 to the report entitled, ‘Sovereign Square: Final 
Development Plot’, referred to in Minute No. 59 be designated as 
exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of 
Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds 
that it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
a particular person, and of the Council. This information is not publicly 
available from the statutory registers of information kept in respect of 
certain companies and charities. It is considered that since this 
information is subject to one to one discussions and further negotiation, 
it is not in the public interest to disclose this information at this point in 
time.  Also, it is considered that the release of such information would 
or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in 
relation to other similar transactions in that prospective purchasers of 
other similar properties would have access to information about the 
nature and level of consideration which may prove acceptable to the 
Council. It is considered that whilst there may be a public interest in 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

disclosure, much of this information will be publicly available from the 
Land Registry following completion of this transaction and 
consequently the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at this point 
in time. 

(c) That Appendix 2 to the report entitled, ‘Holt Park District Centre - 
Asda’, referred to in Minute No. 61 be designated as exempt from 
publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it contains 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular 
person, and of the Council. This information is not publicly available 
from the statutory registers of information kept in respect of certain 
companies and charities. It is considered that since this information is 
subject to one to one discussions with Asda, it is not in the public 
interest to disclose this information at this point in time. It is also 
considered that the release of such information would, or would be 
likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in relation to other 
similar transactions in that prospective purchasers of other similar 
properties would have access to information about the nature and level 
of consideration which may prove acceptable to the Council. It is 
considered that whilst there may be a public interest in disclosure, 
much of this information will be publicly available from the Land 
Registry following completion of this transaction and consequently the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing this information at this point in time. 

(d) That Appendices 3 and 5 to the report entitled, ‘Disposal of Middleton 
Park Complex to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government’, referred to in Minute No. 62 be designated as exempt 
from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 
12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that this 
information relates to the financial or business affairs of the Council. It 
is considered that it is not in the public interest to disclose this 
information at this point in time because it is considered that the 
release of such information would, or would be likely to prejudice the 
Council’s commercial interests in relation to this or other similar 
transactions in that prospective purchasers of this or other similar 
properties would have information about the nature and level of 
consideration which may prove acceptable to the Council. It is 
considered that whilst there may be a public interest in disclosure, 
much of this information will be publicly available from the Land 
Registry following completion of any transaction and consequently the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing this information at this point in time. 

50 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting, 
however, during the consideration of agenda item 15 (Holt Park District 
Centre – Asda), Councillor Golton drew the Board’s attention to the fact that 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

the North West Leeds Liberal Democrat office was located in the district 
centre (Minute No. 61 refers).

51 Minutes 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25th July 
2018 be approved as a correct record.

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

52 City Centre Vision and Our Spaces Strategy 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an 
overview of the City Centre Vision to date and which also introduced the draft  
‘Our Spaces’ Strategy, with a view to obtaining approval to commence 
stakeholder engagement, prior to the formal adoption of the strategy, currently 
scheduled for early 2019.

Members welcomed the proposals, and in response to specific enquiries the 
Board received further information on the actions being taken to build upon 
the ongoing work to ensure that the city centre continued to be an accessible, 
inclusive and safe environment for all, whilst also being an attractive location 
for employers and employees. 

Members also discussed the importance of accessible green spaces within 
the city centre and in the wider community. Members also discussed the 
potential provision of street trees in future city centre developments, with the 
Board also considering alternative ways in which to promote greenspaces, 
with the example of ‘living walls’ being provided.

The Board considered the need for the further provision of shopmobility 
services as the city centre expanded. Members also emphasised the 
importance of maximising the benefit of the waterfront infrastructure within the 
city centre and the wider community.

In conclusion, the collaborative approach being taken with partners to 
progress this strategy was highlighted.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Vision to be the "Best City Centre by 2030” be reaffirmed, and 

that the aspirations for the City Centre, as contained within the 
submitted report, be endorsed;

(b) That the contents, vision and ambition for the draft ‘Our Spaces’ 
Strategy be noted, and that the request to commence stakeholder 
engagement be approved, with a view to seeking its formal adoption in 
early 2019, once consultation is complete;

(c) That it be noted that the Chief Asset Management & Regeneration 
Officer will be responsible for progressing the consultation on the ‘Our 
Spaces’ Strategy.

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

COMMUNITIES

53 Street Support: Safeguarding People in Need on the Streets, and 
addressing Criminality and Anti-Social Behaviour in Leeds City Centre 
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report providing 
an overview of the developing ‘Street Support’ programme which looked to 
address a range of issues regarding street users and associated activity in the 
city centre.  In addition, the report also highlighted the significant ‘step-
change’ in how the city collectively approached such issues, with an emphasis 
on the establishment of an integrated, multi-agency approach for the delivery 
of services through ‘Street Support’.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received reassurance that the 
aim of the initiative was not to simply relocate individuals from the city centre, 
but to provide a compassionate and at the same time, case management 
approach whereby actions would be taken to find the appropriate solutions for 
those affected. 

Again, responding to a specific enquiry, the Board received further information 
regarding the provisions in place to deal with any potential issues arising from 
dogs which were in the care of the homeless or street users.   

Members welcomed the multi-agency approach being taken with this initiative, 
and its links to other projects such as ‘Big Change Leeds’. The Board 
extended its gratitude to partners for the collaborative approach and also to 
street cleaning teams for the valuable work they undertook.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the ‘Street Support’ approach as part of the city’s compassionate 

response towards people in need on the streets of Leeds, be endorsed;

(b) That the progress made on introducing the new Street Support Team, 
to be fully effective from early autumn 2018 and which is to be led by 
the Chief Officer (Safer Leeds), be noted.

54 Right to Buy Replacement Funding: Investment to support the delivery 
of new supply Affordable Housing 
Further to Minute No. 45, 17th July 2013, the Director of Resources and 
Housing submitted a report which provided an overview of the ‘Right to Buy’ 
Replacement Programme and which sought approval for funding contributions 
towards a number of affordable housing schemes being delivered by 
Registered Providers and the Third Sector.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member 
in question with information on the level of Section106 commuted sums that 
the Council had received arising from developments, which were ring fenced 
for affordable housing provision, together with details regarding geographic 
restrictions of where such sums could be spent.

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

In addition, responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further 
information on the level of Right to Buy receipts which were allocated for the 
delivery of affordable housing and also received details of the difficulties 
which were experienced when allocating Right to Buy replacement funding on 
the provision of affordable housing, due to the regulations in place. 

When considering the difficulties associated with the allocation of Right to Buy 
funding for the provision of affordable housing, it was noted that such matters 
had been acknowledged in the Government’s related Green Paper. It was 
highlighted that the consultation period for the Green Paper was ongoing and 
a response on behalf of the Council was being prepared. It was then 
undertaken that officers would share the proposed response with all Group 
Leaders and provide an opportunity to contribute to it prior to its submission.

Following the consideration of Appendix 2 to the submitted report designated 
as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the 
conclusion of the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, be noted;

(b) That approval be given to the use of ‘Right to Buy’ Replacement grant 
funding to deliver 50 new affordable housing units and enter into 
funding agreements for the schemes as listed at paragraph 3.6 of the 
submitted report and detailed in exempt Appendix 2;

(c) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of Resources 
& Housing to enable the Director to negotiate detailed terms and also 
to approve minor amendments to Right to Buy Replacement 
Programme grant funding allocations (within delegated authority 
powers).

55 Community Asset Transfer of Kentmere Community Centre & Meanwood 
Community Centre to Leeds Community Spaces 
The Director of Communities and Environment and the Director of City 
Development submitted a joint report which sought approval for the 
community asset transfer of Kentmere Community Centre and Meanwood 
Community Centre to Leeds Community Spaces, and which also sought the 
Board’s approval regarding the provision of associated grant funding.

The Board noted a Member’s comments regarding the role of the Council’s 
central lettings service when considering the process of booking community 
centres, and the suggestion that a review of this booking function could 
potentially be incorporated into any further review regarding community 
centres in the future.

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

RESOLVED – 
(a) That a 50 year full repairing and insuring lease for a peppercorn 

consideration to Leeds Community Spaces for Kentmere Community 
Centre, be approved;

(b) That a 50 year full repairing and insuring lease for a peppercorn 
consideration to Leeds Community Spaces for Meanwood Community 
Centre, be approved;

(c) That associated grant funding for the centres totalling £168,614, 
funded from the existing community centre budget, be approved and 
allocated on a year by year basis as follows:-
 2018/19 £24,692 (5 months from November 1st 2018);
 2019/20 £42,330
 2020/21 £38,097
 2021/22 £29,631
 2022/23 £21,165
 2023/24 £12,699

(d) That it be noted that the Chief Asset Management & Regeneration 
Officer will be responsible for ensuring the leases are processed and 
that the Chief Officer Communities will be responsible for awarding the 
grant funding;

(e) That it be noted that the estimated market value of the properties is 
£1.362m.

RESOURCES AND SUSTAINABILITY

56 Best Council Plan Annual Performance Report: Looking Back on 
2017/2018 
The Director of Resources and Housing submitted a report which presented 
an end of year review on performance with regard to the delivery of the 
2017/18 Best Council Plan.

The Board welcomed the submitted report and noted a point raised by a 
Member regarding the working practices of a specific company which 
operated from a Council owned site. In response, it was highlighted that the 
Council and other organisations such as the LEP Board took matters such as 
employees’ working conditions seriously, and that it was in the interests of all 
for best practice in this area to be promoted.

In considering the ‘Inclusive Growth’ data detailed in the report, the Board 
noted a number of significant and positive statistics which covered: the growth 
of the Leeds economy, the high employment rate and the economic output 
per person for Leeds being the highest in the region and above the UK 
average. 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the annual performance report for 2017/18 as submitted, be 

received, and that the progress made against the 2017/18 Best Council 
Plan, be noted;

(b) That it be noted that a summarised, graphically-designed version of the 
full annual performance report, as detailed at Appendix 1 to the 
submitted report, will be produced for the purposes of publication.

(Councillor Coupar left the meeting at 1.50pm and returned at 2.00pm, during 
the consideration of this item)

57 Financial Health Monitoring 2018/2019 - Month 4 
The Chief Officer, Financial Services submitted a report providing an update 
on the Local Authority’s projected financial health position for 2018/19, as at 
month 4 of the financial year.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update regarding 
the currently projected overspend within the refuse service, with it being noted 
that a further update would be provided as part of the next financial health 
monitoring report submitted to the Board.

With regard to the reported level of legal disbursement costs within the 
Children and Families directorate, it was noted that a review of such costs 
was to be undertaken.

Also with regard to the Children and Families directorate, responding to an 
enquiry, the Board received further information on the progress which had 
been made in recent years with regard to reducing the number of external 
residential placements for children and young people. 

Responding to an enquiry regarding street lighting, the Board noted the 
intention for a report regarding street lighting provision to be submitted to the 
Board in the near future.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the projected financial position of the Authority, as at Month 4 of 

the 2017/18 financial year, be noted; 

(b) That Directors be requested to identify and implement appropriate 
measures so that a balanced budget position can be delivered.

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

58 Air Quality Improvement- Office for Low Emission Vehicles Grant for 
Electric Charge Points 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided details of 
the successful grant funding application submitted to the Office of Low 
Emission Vehicles (OLEV) by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the 
West Yorkshire district councils, whilst it also provided information on the 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

additional funding from the Local Transport Plan (LTP) which was to 
supplement the OLEV grant funding. Furthermore, the report sought approval 
for the injection of such funding into the Capital Programme, for the necessary 
‘authority to spend’ and also for approval to use a framework contract to 
engage a single supplier to install rapid charge points in Leeds.

It was noted that once the proposed chargers were operational, each would 
have 2 bays, with 1 being designated for taxi and private hire vehicles only. 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board noted that no issues were 
envisaged regarding the split between private vehicle and taxi/private hire use 
of the facilities, but it was undertaken that the matter would be monitored.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to inject into the capital programme, and give 

authority to incur expenditure of up to £1,152,000, to be grant funded 
from the Office of Low Emission Vehicles, including up to £360,000 of 
West Yorkshire LTP grant, via the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, 
for the installation of between 30-35 twin rapid Electric Vehicle 
chargers within the Leeds District;

(b) That approval be given to inject into the capital programme, and give 
authority to incur expenditure of the additional sum of up to £90,000 
LTP capital funding towards the costs associated with site preparation 
work, such as Distribution Network Operators (DNO) applications and 
site surveys;

(c) That the terms of procurement of a single supplier to deliver the project 
across West Yorkshire following a tender process led by the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority, be approved, subject to a separate 
legal agreement;

(d) That approval be given to exempt the resolutions arising from this 
report from the Call In process, on the grounds of urgency, as detailed 
within section 4.5 of the submitted report.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process if it is 
considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the 
public’s interests. In line with this, the resolutions contained within this minute 
were exempted from the Call In process, as per resolution (d) above, and for 
the reasons as detailed within section 4.5 of the submitted report)

59 Sovereign Square - Final Development Plot 
The Director of City Development submitted a report providing information on 
the offers and development proposals received for the final development plot 
at Sovereign Square. The report advised how the recommended development 
proposals would complement Sovereign Square and the surrounding area 
and how it would also contribute towards the links between the city centre and 
South Bank proposals.

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

Following the consideration of Appendix 1 to the submitted report designated 
as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the 
conclusion of the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That in the Board’s capacity as landlord, the selection of the party, as 

detailed within the accompanying exempt appendix 1 to the submitted 
report, as purchaser of the remaining development plot at Sovereign 
Square, be approved;

(b) That in the Board’s capacity as landlord, and in the event of the sale to 
the first party falling through, the selection of another party as reserve 
purchaser, as detailed within the accompanying exempt appendix 1 to 
the submitted report, be approved;

(c) That the Director of City Development be authorised, under the 
Council’s Officer Delegation Scheme to consider and approve any 
subsequent changes to the detailed terms for the sale.

60 Leeds Bradford Airport Transport Infrastructure Package 
Further to Minute No. 84, 15th October 2014, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report providing an update on the recent progress made in 
developing schemes to improve connectivity and surface access to Leeds 
Bradford Airport (LBA) in the context of airport growth, the proposed 
Employment Hub and the wider transport strategy. Also, the report sought 
endorsement of a proposed joint consultation exercise between the Council 
and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA), and which also sought 
approval to enter into funding agreements with the WYCA, as may be 
necessary for scheme development.

Responding to a Member’s concern regarding the consultation of local Ward 
Councillors on this issue, it was highlighted that a sub group meeting of the 
Outer North West Community Committee was scheduled in the near future to 
consider such matters. However, it was undertaken that if a further 
consultation meeting with local Ward Members was required, then this too 
could be facilitated.

It was also noted that some Board Members had received representations on 
this issue from a member of the public. In response it was noted that such 
representations would be fed into the consultation process. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the progress made in relation to the LBA transport infrastructure 

package to date, be noted;

(b) That the emerging multi-modal transport strategy for serving LBA and 
the LBA Employment Hub be endorsed, with the development of the 
wider transport context in North West Leeds and the surrounding area, 
being noted;

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

(c) That the principle of the joint consultation exercise, covering both the 
LBA Link Route and LBA Parkway Station, including contacting 
potentially affected landowners in advance of the general release of 
alignment plans, be endorsed;

(d) That engagement with landowners and Leeds Bradford Airport to 
explore opportunities to expedite early delivery of the LBA Parkway 
Station and associated LBA Station Link spur road, be endorsed, with 
the necessary authority being delegated to the Director of City 
Development to enable the Director to acquire land by agreement, if 
such opportunity arises;

(e) That it be noted that officers will return to Executive Board following the 
consultation in order to seek future direction, including approval for the 
selection of the preferred option and the submission of the Outline 
Business Case for the LBA Link Route, and (if appropriate), in principle 
support for the LBA Parkway Station;

(f) That approval be given for the injection together with the ‘authority to 
spend’ for the expenditure of the development costs of £1.785m, up to 
approval of the Outline Business Case, subject to the finalisation of a 
grant agreement with West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) in 
accordance with their assurance framework; and that the approval of 
the terms of any future funding agreements be delegated to the Chief 
Officer Highways and Transportation; 

(g) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Highways and Transportation is 
responsible for the delivery of the LBA Link Route, with an anticipated 
completion date of 2026/27, whilst it also be noted that responsibility 
for the delivery of the LBA Parkway Station rests with the Combined 
Authority.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute)

61 Holt Park District Centre - Asda 
Further to Minute No. 138, 17th December 2014, the Director of City 
Development submitted a report providing an update on the proposals 
emerging for the Holt Park District Centre site and which sought approval to 
the terms of a land transaction with Asda in order to facilitate their 
reconfiguration and improvement proposals.

In considering the report, Members noted and discussed the current position 
regarding the sitting tenants within the centre.  

Following the consideration of Appendix 2 to the submitted report designated 
as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the 
conclusion of the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the positive progress achieved to deliver future improvements to 

the Holt Park District Centre and the surrounding vacant land, be 
noted, with it also being noted that a further report will be submitted to 
Executive Board in due course;

(b) That approval be given for all Council owned land within the site 
boundaries, as shown in Appendix 1A and 1B to the submitted report, 
be declared as operationally surplus;

(c) That the terms of the property transaction with Asda, as set out in 
exempt appendix 2 to the submitted report, be approved;

(d) That the approval of the final disposal boundary and the associated 
terms be delegated to the Director for City Development, with the 
concurrence of the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and 
Planning;

(e) That the position with the affected tenants as named within exempt 
appendix 2 to the submitted report, be noted; and that any future 
decisions deemed necessary be delegated to the Director for 
Resources and Housing, with the concurrence of the Executive 
Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning.

(During the consideration of this item Councillor Golton drew the Board’s 
attention to the fact that the North West Leeds Liberal Democrat office was 
located in this district centre)

62 Disposal of Middleton Park Complex to the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval 
for the disposal of part of the Middleton Park Complex to the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government in order to provide land for the 
new Laurence Calvert Academy Free School.

Following the consideration of Appendices 3 and 5 to the submitted report 
designated as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access 
to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which were considered in private at 
the conclusion of the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the heads of terms as detailed within exempt Appendix 3 to the 

submitted report, for the disposal of the Middleton Park complex to the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government in order to 
allow the construction of a new school for the recently approved 
Laurence Calvert Academy Free School, be approved;

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

(b) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director if City 
Development in order to enable the Director to negotiate the final 
freehold disposal terms;

(c) That the purchase and installation of a new modular unit for South 
Leeds Family Childcare at 100 Middleton Park Grove, be approved.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

63 Local Authority Healthy Weight Declaration 
The Director of Public Health submitted a report providing details of the Local 
Authority’s proposed Healthy Weight Declaration, which consisted of 14 
standard commitments and 6 locally chosen priorities which would look to 
spearhead the development of the Declaration. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Local Authority Healthy Weight Declaration, as detailed within 

the submitted report, be adopted;

(b) That the local priorities, which form part of the Declaration, be adopted, 
and that consideration be given by directorates to the incorporation of 
these within Council work programmes;

(c) That it be noted that the Director of Public Health will be responsible for 
the implementation of this matter.

64 Better Lives for People with Care and Support Needs in Leeds: The 
2017-18 Annual Adult Social Care Local Account 
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report which presented the 
2017-18 Local Account of Adult Social Care Services in Leeds, which detailed 
information on the Council’s ‘Better Lives’ priorities for adult social care and 
the progress made against such priorities.  In addition, the report provided 
details of the progress being made against the adult social care outcomes 
framework indicators (ASCOF).

Members discussed the composition of, and attendance at the Better Lives 
Board, highlighted its valuable role and received an update on the work being 
undertaken to relaunch it.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail on the 
work of the Care Quality Team; the support being made available to service 
providers in the sector and the take-up levels of such support by private care 
homes. Following further discussion on such matters, officers undertook to 
submit a report to a future Executive Board meeting in order to provide further 
detail.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, be noted; with the Local 

Account: ‘Creating Better Lives for People with Care and Support 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

Needs in Leeds’, together with the supporting ASCOF and ‘Better 
Lives’ measures, also being noted;

(b) That agreement be given to a published version of the Local Account 
being produced and made available to public and partners, including 
being placed upon the Council website.

65 West Yorkshire Financial Exploitation and Abuse Team 
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report providing details of the 
innovative approach which was being taken across West Yorkshire to create a 
co-located, specialist, multi-disciplinary team to investigate the financial 
exploitation and abuse of vulnerable and older residents in West Yorkshire in 
relation to scams, frauds and door step crime. In addition, the report 
specifically detailed the work of the team, the outcomes which had been 
achieved to date and the future plans to progress the initiative.

Susan Betteridge and Linda Davis of West Yorkshire Trading Standards, were 
in attendance at the meeting in order to provide the Board with a brief 
overview of the initiative, to outline the achievements to date, to identify future 
plans and to highlight the level of workload that the team were experiencing.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information on 
how the impact of the initiative was being monitored.  

The Board also received further information regarding the establishment of 
‘cold calling zones’, with it being highlighted that representatives of West 
Yorkshire Trading Standards could liaise further with Members interested in 
such matters, as appropriate.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the positive impact of the West Yorkshire Financial Exploitation 

and Abuse Team in the early identification of risk, harm and need in 
respect of the financial abuse of vulnerable adults, be noted;

(b) That Executive Board support be provided to the planned Leeds 
Safeguarding Adults Board Campaign in 2019 which will look to 
address financial abuse, with the aim of ensuring that all parties are 
engaged in this campaign.

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

66 Children and Families Services Workforce - progress and next steps 
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which reviewed the 
progress made in Leeds in developing the Children and Families Services 
workforce, and which also sought the Board’s support for the next steps in the 
ongoing strategy for improvement.

RESOLVED – That the proposed next steps for continuing to develop the 
Children and Families workforce, as detailed within the submitted report, be 
endorsed.

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT

67 Outcome of Statutory Notice on a proposal to increase learning places 
at Moor Allerton Hall Primary School 
Further to Minute No. 29, 27th June 2018, the Director of Children and 
Families submitted a report detailing the outcome of a Statutory Notice which 
had been published regarding a proposal to expand primary school provision 
at Moor Allerton Hall Primary School and which sought a final decision in 
respect of this proposal.

Concern was raised by 2 Members regarding the submitted proposal, with 
reference being made to the representations which had been received as part 
of the consultation process and the recommendation of the School 
Organisation Advisory Board (SOAB), as appended to the submitted report. In 
considering this matter, Members discussed the level and nature of the 
responses which had been received to the proposals.

Clarification was provided to Members regarding the pool of membership for 
the Advisory Board, and that there were the required number of attendees at 
the meeting of SOAB on 15th August 2018 to make a formal recommendation. 

Responding to a Member’s enquiry regarding whether SOAB still held the 
concerns it raised at its meeting, the Board noted that the process was that 
following SOABs consideration of the proposals and their subsequent 
recommendation, the recommendation of SOAB was included within the 
Executive Board report for the Board’s consideration as part of the final 
determination.  In considering this, the Board was advised that it was felt that 
the concerns raised by SOAB had been addressed, and in response to a 
Member’s request, officers undertook to provide further detail to SOAB 
members confirming that their concerns had been duly considered by 
Executive Board and also explaining how it was felt that such concerns had 
been addressed. 

As part of the discussion, a request was made that consideration be given to 
the role of SOAB, with this to be picked up as part of any future review on 
related matters.

In conclusion, it was confirmed to the Board that no new concerns had been 
raised further to those referenced by SOAB or which had arisen from the 
consultation, with the Board noting that it was felt that those existing concerns 
had been addressed. As such, Members considered the recommendations in 
the submitted report, and it was
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the proposal to permanently expand primary provision at Moor 

Allerton Hall Primary School from a capacity of 420 pupils to 630 
pupils, with an increase in the admission number from 60 to 90, with 
effect from September 2019, be approved;

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

(b) That it be noted that the implementation of resolution (a) (above) is 
subject to feasibility and planning permission, as indicated at 
paragraph 3.9.15 of the submitted report, with it also being noted that 
the proposal has been brought forward in time to allow places to be 
delivered for 2019;

(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matter is the Head of Learning Systems.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor Golton 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute, whilst under the same provisions, Councillor A 
Carter voted against the decisions referred to within this minute)

ENVIRONMENT AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES

68 Development of a City Physical Activity and Sport Ambition in Leeds 
The Director of City Development and the Director of Public Health submitted 
a joint report which highlighted the benefits of physical activity, outlined the 
progress being made on the development of a new physical activity and sport 
‘ambition’, and detailed some of the work being undertaken in this area by the 
Active Leeds Service.  

Members discussed the extent of the new approach that the ambition was 
proposing and highlighted the need for such an initiative to be undertaken 
collaboratively across directorates and agencies, with officers reiterating the 
‘whole system’ approach, as detailed within the submitted report. 

Members also emphasised the existing commitment to physical activity which 
had been highlighted via the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Best 
Council Plan for instance, and referenced the valuable and continuing role 
played by Scrutiny in the development of the ambition.

Emphasis was also placed upon the importance of monitoring the impact of 
the ambition, with it being noted that the intention was to submit further 
reports to the Board in future in order to monitor the progress being made.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the overriding evidence base in support of the importance of 

physical activity, as outlined in the submitted report, be noted;

(b) That the development of a new physical activity and sport ambition, 
together with the need to adopt a systems based approach, be 
supported;

(c) That the statement made by the former ‘Inclusive Growth, Culture and 
Sport’ Scrutiny Board, as detailed within the submitted report, together 
with the Scrutiny Board’s desire to increase the significance of physical 
activity in future Council plans, be noted;

Page 15



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 17th October, 2018

(d) That approval be given for the ‘Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles’ 
Scrutiny Board to continue to be engaged in the development of the 
new Physical Activity and Sport Ambition;

(e) That the role that the Active Leeds Service together with Public Health 
are playing in driving forward this agenda, be supported;

(f) That the final city Physical Activity and Sport Ambition be submitted to 
Executive Board in due course, with the submitted report highlighting 
the wider implications of this initiative for the Council;

(g) That it be noted that the Head of Active Leeds is responsible for the 
implementation of such matters.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 21ST SEPTEMBER 2018

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00 PM, FRIDAY, 28TH SEPTEMBER 2018

Page 16



 

 

Report of the Director of Communities and Environment 

Report to Executive Board 

Date:  17th October 2018 

Subject: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 
Summary of main issues 
 
1. Every three years the Council is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to review the 

Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy (the policy), and to consult upon 
any changes. 

 
2. The three yearly review is taking place this year and officers have reviewed the 

current policy and made changes relating to the inclusion of research results and 
strengthened requirements around risk assessments.  The draft policy has been 
presented to the public for consultation in line with the requirements of the Act. 

 
3. Having reviewed the five responses, a revised policy has been presented to 

Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) for their comments and is now referred to 
Executive Board for onward referral for approval to Council under the Budgetary 
and Policy Framework. 

Recommendations 

4 That Executive Board consider the contents of the report and refer the policy to  
 Council for approval in line with the Budgetary and Policy Framework. 

5 That Executive Board note that if the policy is approved by Council in November, 
the Council must advertise the publication of the policy on the council website and 
by way of notices in the public buildings, describing where a copy can be viewed for 
30 days before the policy is implemented.  This will be undertaken by the Principal 
Licensing Officer, Entertainment Licensing on 2nd January 2019. 

 Report author:   Susan Holden 
Tel: 85331 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

 

1.0 Purpose of this report 

1.1  To advise Executive Board that the triennial review of the Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Licensing Policy is underway with the public consultation having 
taken place. 

1.2  To request that Executive Board consider the contents of the report and refer the 
policy to Council for approval in line with the Budgetary and Policy Framework. 

2.0 Background information 

2.1 Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority is required to 
prepare a statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under this Act.  This process is to be repeated every three years from 
31st January 2007.   

 
2.2 The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Gambling Act 2005, the 

Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006 and the Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the 
Gambling Commission (www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk). 

 
3.0 Main issues 
 
3.1 This will be the fifth time that the council has reviewed and amended the Gambling 

Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy (the policy). 
 
Changes since the publication of the last policy 
 
3.2 In the last three years there have been a number of issues that have come to the 

attention of councils nationwide.  The most publicly reported of which is the 
increase in the number of Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBTs) in premises in 
deprived areas and the impact these machines have on people vulnerable to 
problem gambling.  In Leeds, although there has not been a significant change in 
the number of betting shops, there has been movement and more premises are 
open in deprived areas, however a change in Planning which put betting shops 
into a class of their own (sui generis) has not only halted this movement, but 
applications for new betting shop licences have reduced in the last three years.   

 
3.3 In response to the publicity around FOBTs the Government has undertaken a 

review of stakes and prizes in relation to gaming machines and has determined to 
reduce the stake for an FOBT from £100 to £2, although it is unclear when this will 
come into effect. 

 
3.4 Also in the last three years the Large Casino has opened in Leeds city centre in 

Victoria Gate.  This has provided a regular payment to the Social Inclusion Fund, 
administered by the Financial Inclusion Team which has allowed the council to 
work closely with support providers and other agencies as part of a Problem 
Gambling Working group in order to address matters relating to support for people 
with gambling problems, meeting the council’s commitment to reduce the social 
impact of gambling in Leeds.   

 

Page 18



 

 

3.5 This group, led by the Financial Inclusion Team, has been instrumental in 
producing the ‘Beat the Odds’ campaign which is designed to promote the support 
available to problem gamblers in Leeds.  This group has also been instrumental in 
providing gambling awareness training to front line staff from the council and 
partner organisations, such as Citizen Advice, debt advisors, customer services 
etc.  The group is trying to increase support provision for problem gambling within 
Leeds, by working with GamCare and NECA (North East Council on Addictions). 

 
3.6 As part of the undertakings made when the ability to grant the licence was 

awarded to Leeds in 2008, the council recently commissioned research from 
Leeds Beckett University to identify the people most vulnerable to problem 
gambling in Leeds.  This research detailed a number of groups that are vulnerable 
to problem gambling and increased national awareness of the problems facing 
citizens of metropolitan areas, such as Leeds, where the incidence of problem 
gambling is estimated to be twice the national average.  The research findings 
have been included in this revision of the policy. 

 
3.7 Discussions are underway between Leeds and York Partnership Foundation Trust 

and GambleAware to establish a residential problem gambling clinic in Leeds 
which will serve the north of England. GamCare is looking to increase support for 
problem gambling in Leeds as part of this project.  However it’s very early in this 
project and funding is yet to be secured. 

 
Policy Review and Consultation 
 
3.8 Very early in the review process the draft policy was discussed with partners at the 

Problem Gambling Working Group.  It was agreed to: 
• include the findings of the research undertaken by Leeds Beckett University; 

and  
• to strengthen the requirements on operators when completing the local risk 

assessments, as required by the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 
attached to all operators licences issued by the Gambling Commission. 

 
3.9 These two main changes promote the council’s aim to keep people safe from harm 

and protecting the most vulnerable.  The working group’s ongoing work around 
providing more suitable support for problem gamblers aims to help people out of 
financial hardship and the strengthening of the requirements on operators risk 
assessments tackles anti-social behaviour in gambling premises while being 
responsive to local needs, building thriving, resilient communities and promoting 
community respect and resilience. 

 
3.10 Through the Council’s Licensing Enforcement Group, and as part of the early 

policy review process officers also contacted the statutory responsible authorities 
(including West Yorkshire Police, Public Health, West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 
Services, Leeds Safeguarding Children Partnership) who made no comments to 
the first draft of the policy. 

 
3.11 Officers worked with Public Health and the council’s Financial Inclusion Team on 

the inclusion of the matters related to the study the council commissioned from 
Leeds Beckett University into problem gambling in the policy. 

Page 19



 

 

 
3.12 The draft policy was approved for the purposes of consultation by the Director via 

Delegated Decision Notice in June 2018. It underwent a public consultation which 
ran from the middle of June to early August 2018.  The consultation was 
advertised by way of letters and emails to over 600 businesses, agents, solicitors, 
ward councillors, MPs, parish and town councils and support organisations.   

 
3.13 The council received five responses to the public consultation.  Two were received 

from gambling operators, two from parish councils and one from a support 
organisation.  The responses and the council response is detailed in the 
Consultation Report which is attached at Appendix 1.  As the responses were 
received from public bodies and commercial companies the names of the 
organisations have been included. 

 
3.14 The amended policy with track changes is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
3.15 A report and appendices was presented to Licensing Committee on the 4th 

September 2018.  Licensing Committee endorsed the amended policy and 
Consultation Report. 

 
3.16 A report and appendices was presented to Scrutiny Board (Strategy and 

Resources) on 10th September.  Members were requested to provide comments 
and recommendations for Executive Board.  A statement from Scrutiny Board is 
attached at Appendix 3. 

 
3.17 The approval of the policy is a matter for full Council.  The next stage is for 

Executive Board to consider the contents of this report and Scrutiny Boards’ 
comments and if appropriate, to refer the matter to Council for approval.  The 
approval process follows the Budgetary and Policy Framework.   

 
4.0 Corporate Considerations 
 
4.1 Consultation and Engagement  
 
4.1.1 In the early stages of the policy development the Problem Gambling Working 

Group, a multiagency working group chaired by members of the Financial 
Inclusion Team, were consulted.  This group includes support organisations, 
treatment providers, representatives of the trade, and the Universities amongst its 
regular attendees.   

 
4.1.2 All attendees were able to contribute to the initial review of the policy, and 

discussions took place which culminated in the inclusion of the Leeds Beckett 
University research and to strengthen the requirements on operators when 
completing the local risk assessments, as required by the Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice attached to all operators licences issued by the Gambling 
Commission. 
 

4.1.3 The policy is subject to a statutory consultation.  The consultation took place 
between the middle of June and early August 2018 with over 600 letters and 
emails being sent to the statutory consultees, including responsible authorities, all 

Page 20



 

 

elected Members, Members of Parliament, town and parish councils who 
represent the public.  In addition all gambling businesses, their agents and 
specialist licensing solicitors known to the council were consulted.   

 
4.1.4 The public consultation elicited 5 responses.  This was the expected level of 

response, despite the wide number of consultees.  Consultation on licensing 
policies does not historically attract a large number of responses and a higher 
number of responses is expected in cases where the public and interested parties 
are not in agreement with the contents of the policy.  In this case the low level of 
consultation responses in contrast to the large number of consultees would 
indicate a high level of acceptance of the policy. 

 
4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 
 
4.2.1 The policy review process is subject to an EDCI Assessment, and a screening 

form has been completed.  It is attached at Appendix 4. 
 
4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 
 
4.3.1 The licensing regime contributes in particular to the following Best Council Plan 

2018/19 – 20/21 priority, ‘Safe Strong Communities’ with its specific aims of: 
 

• Keeping people safe from harm, protecting the most vulnerable 
• Helping people out of financial hardship 
• Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour 
• Being responsive to local needs, building thriving, resilient communities 
• Promoting community respect and resilience 

 
4.3.2 The work led by the Problem Gambling Working Group, which is financed by 

licensed premises, is a good example of how the licensing regime contributes to 
the Best Council Plan, especially in keeping people safe from harm, protecting the 
most vulnerable and helping people out of financial hardship.  This work is seen as 
an example of best practice by Gambling Commission and the Local Government 
Association, and the council has been asked to present at national conferences 
which highlight using a whole council approach to problem gambling. 

 
4.3.3 The changes to the policy especially the strengthening of the requirements on 

operators when completing risk assessments, and the promotional work around 
the support for problem gambling will contribute directly to these aims. 

 
4.3.4 The licensing regime contributes to our Best Council ambition of being an efficient 

and enterprising organisation. 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 Resources and Value for Money  
 

Page 21



 

 

4.4.1 A review of the effectiveness of specific consultation methods has been 
instrumental in reducing costs.  The public consultation of the policy is now mostly 
undertaken by email, which has helped reduce the cost further. 

 
4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 
 
4.5.1 There are no legal implications for this report. 
 
4.5.2 The development of a policy under the Gambling Act 2005 is a matter for full 

Council and follows the Budgetary and Policy Framework which requires that this 
matter is referred to Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) and then for it to be 
considered by Executive Board before being recommended to full Council for 
approval.  Therefore this report is not available for call in as it has already been 
considered by Scrutiny. 

 
4.6 Risk Management 
 
4.6.1 Executive Board has the option of recommending that further work is undertaken.  

The risk is this would impact on the policy approval timescales.  A revised policy 
must be in place by 31st January 2019 in order for the council to continue 
determining gambling licences and authorisations under the Gambling Act 2005.   

5  Conclusions 

5.1  The policy is under statutory review.  A public consultation has been undertaken 
and the policy reviewed based on the comments received.   

5.2  Approval of the policy is a matter for full Council following the Budgetary and 
Policy Framework therefore the next step is for the policy to be presented to 
Executive Board along with comments or recommendations from Scrutiny Board. 

6  Recommendations 

6.1 That Executive Board consider the contents of the report and refer the policy to  
 Council for approval in line with the Budgetary and Policy Framework. 

6.2 That Executive Board note that if the policy is approved by Council in 
 November, the Council must advertise the publication of the policy on the council 
 website and by way of notices in the public buildings, describing where a copy can 
 be viewed for 30 days before the policy is implemented.  This will be undertaken 
 by the Principal Licensing Officer, Entertainment Licensing on 2nd January 2019. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 There are no unpublished background documents that relate to this matter. 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 22



 

  

Consultation Report 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy has been reviewed and undergone a 
public consultation.  A number of responses were received and are included within this 
report along with the Council’s comments and suggested changes to the Policy. 

Appendix 1 

Page 23



 

Purpose of this report 

To present the consultation responses and the council’s proposed changes. 

Background information 

Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority is required to prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Act.  This process is to be 
repeated every three years from 31st January 2007.   

The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Gambling Act 2005, the Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing 
Authority Policy Statement) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 and the Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission (www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk). 

Main issues 

This will be the fifth time that the council has reviewed and amended the Gambling Act 2005 Statement 
of Licensing Policy (Licensing Policy). 

In the last three years there have been a number of issues that have come to the attention of councils 
nationwide.  The most publicly reported of which is the increase in the number of Fixed Odds Betting 
Terminals in premises in deprived areas.  In Leeds, although there has not been a significant change in the 
number of betting shops, there has been movement and more premises are opening in deprived areas. 

Also the Large Casino has opened in Leeds city centre.  As part of the undertakings made when the ability 
to grant the licence was awarded to Leeds, the council commissioned research from Leeds Beckett 
University to identify problem gambling in Leeds.  This research detailed a number of groups that are 
vulnerable to problem gambling.  This information has been included in this revision of the policy. 

As part of the review process officers have contacted the responsible authorities (including West 
Yorkshire Police, Public Health, West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Services, Leeds Safeguarding Children 
Board) who have made no further comments.  Officers have worked with Public Health and the council’s 
Financial Inclusion Team on matters related to the study the council commissioned into problem 
gambling. 

Leeds City Council consulted widely upon this policy statement before finalising and publishing it. The 
policy was presented for public consultation on the website, and by email and post to solicitors, licensees, 
support organisations, responsible authorities, ward members, MPs, trade associations, and parish 
councils.  In total 170 emails and 526 letters were sent advising interested parties of the consultation.  
The consultation was also advertised via a press release.  The consultation took place between 11th June 
and 5th August 2018 and followed the Cabinet Office’s Code of Practice on Consultation.  The responses 
are provided in this document, along with the Council’s response. 

The approval process follows the Budgetary and Policy Framework.  The suggested timescale for approval 
is as follows: 

 Scrutiny Board  10th September 
 Executive Board  17th October 
 Council   14th November  

Page 24



Consultation Responses 

Consultation Response from Luxury Leisure and Talarius Limited 

Thank you for the opportunity to make comments on the above consultation. On behalf of Luxury Leisure 
and Talarius Limited I make the following comments in relation to the consultation draft (the “Draft”):- 

1. As the Authority will appreciate, in matters of regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 (the 
“Act”) it is subject to the Regulators’ Code.  That code imposes a number of obligations on the 
Authority, including one that it should carry out its activities in a way that it supports those it 
regulates to comply and grow.  Additionally under the Code, when designing and reviewing 
policies, the Authority must among other things, understand and minimise the negative 
economic impact of its regulatory activities and regulate and minimise the costs of compliance of 
those it regulates.  Further, the Authority should take an evidence-based approach in 
determining priority risks and recognise the compliance record of those it regulates.  I cannot see 
a reference to the Regulators’ Code in the current Draft and suggest that it is incorporated. 

Council Response:  A reference to the Regulators’ Code can be included within the Enforcement section. 

2. Para 14.10 – It would seem that some wording might be missing from this paragraph – perhaps 
after “In order for location to be considered”…..? 

Council Response:  This is a formatting error and this sentence should form part of the previous section.  
This can be moved so that it sits in the right place and makes more sense in context. 

3. Para 14.12 – As the Authority will appreciate, moral objections to gambling are not valid in 
relation to applications under the Act. As such, we do not understand why the proximity of 
places of worship is relevant to the licensing objectives or Local Risk Assessments. We suggest 
this bullet point be removed. 

Council Response:  Not only are places of worship considered to be sensitive locations as they may 
provide refuge to those in need, many churches host 12 step programmes to support addiction 
treatment.  Even if the church in question does not host a specific gambling addiction treatment 
programme, gambling addiction is commonly co-morbid with other addictions such as alcohol and many 
more churches host alcohol treatment programmes.  For this reason their locality to gambling premises 
should be considered within the local risk assessments. 

4. Para 14.13 – the 4th bullet point refers to the local exchange of information about “self-
exclusions and gaming trends”. It is not clear between whom information is to be exchanged. 
The Authority will be aware of MOSES schemes but equally aware of the provisions of GDPR.  It is 
not clear what the Authority has in mind in terms of “gaming trends” in this regard. 

Council Response:  Any data shared with the authority would be anonymised and therefore would not fall 
under the provisions of GDPR.  The licensing authority has no need for sensitive personal data on 
individuals in regard to self-exclusions and gaming trends.  This will be made clearer in that paragraph. 

5. In the 5th bullet point reference is made to not having advertisements to “entice passers-by”. 
Gambling facilities provided under the Act are perfectly legal, provided they are provided in a 
compliant manner. There is no general blanket ban on advertising. It is of course subject to the 
LCCP and the CAP code and made in a responsible way. It is not prohibited and we suggest this 
bullet point be amended. 

Page 25



Council response: In order to be consistent with the objective of the protection of children and 
vulnerable people, licence holders should consider if their advertisements are likely to attract children 
and vulnerable people.  This can be clarified in the policy. 

6. Para 14.18 – It would be helpful if a link to the Local Area Profile was inserted. 

Council response: As it’s possible the link will change throughout the lifetime of the policy, and may even 
be withdrawn, it is preferable for potential applicants to contact Entertainment Licensing who will not 
only provide the guidance in relation to the application but also the correct link at that time. 

7. Para 14.22 – In our opinion, the wording of this para strays dangerously close to issues of 
demand. The issue of impact on vulnerable people is properly a matter for the LRA, which is 
dealt with in detail at paras 14.10 – 14.17. We suggest this para be removed. At worst it risks 
being interpreted as a demand issue and at best it duplicates the provisions on the LRA. 

Council response:  We concur that this matter is dealt with in the paragraphs which concentrate on 
location and also in the Local Risk assessment section and para 14.22 should be moved to that place in 
the Policy (around 14.8).  The purpose of this paragraph was to ensure that the location of other gambling 
licensed premises is taken into consideration when premises are completing their local risk assessment.  
For example in some areas gambling premises may want to set up a communication link with other 
premises so that local information can be shared.  Similarly the presence of other gambling premises in 
the area may have an impact on the licensing objectives which could be adequately addressed through 
the local risk assessment.  However the commercial demand for gambling premises is not a matter that 
can be taken into consideration, and this will be clarified within the policy. 

8. Para 14.27, bullet point 11 – Legislators made the decision that children are to be allowed 
without an adult in specific premises and this is enshrined in the Act. With respect, it is not for 
the Authority to seek to amend that legislation through the SoP. If there are concerns about 
supervision in specific premises, the Authority has enforcement power and powers of review. To 
include such a condition amongst the suggested conditions that could be imposed without 
evidence of any issue, would be wholly inappropriate. 

Council response:  In para 14.24 it is clear that conditions would only be imposed where there are specific 
risks or problems associated with a particular locality or specific premises, or class of premises. 

9. The final bullet point refers to “obscuring windows”. It is not clear to us what is meant by this, 
but if it is intended to suggest that a condition be attached requiring shop front windows to be 
obscured, without evidence of a specific issue, we submit that would be wholly inappropriate. 

Council response:  Again in para 14.24 conditions would only be imposed where there are specific risks or 
problems. 

10. Para 16.4 – the licensing objective set out in the Act that is relevant to this paragraph is outlined 
at section 13 – i.e. “protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling”.  The harm that is relevant under the Act is that caused by the gambling 
facilities in question. It is not harm in the wider sense – the Authority has other enforcement 
powers in relation to harm caused in other ways and to seek to incorporate other harm in the 
SoP would be to duplicate regimes. Under the Act, the SoP is a statement of the principles which 
the Authority proposes to exercise in applying its functions under the Act, as is acknowledged on 
page 5 of the Draft. Accordingly we recommend that the final sentence of this bullet point is 
removed from the Draft. 

Page 26



Council response:  Family entertainment centres are premises which are attractive to children and where 
children are permitted to enter and use the facilities without the supervision of an adult.  The final 
sentence of paragraph at 16.4 is explained in more detail in paragraphs 16.5. 

11. Para 16.5 – The operator’s policies and procedures are referred to in general terms with some 
examples of that may be included. However, unlike the other bullet points, the final bullet point 
goes beyond the generalities, which does not seem appropriate in the context of the paragraph. 
Removing it will not constrain the Authority, or applicants in assessing what might be suitable for 
specific premises. Indeed much of the wording is much more akin to a condition. 

Council response:  Yes, we concur.  The detail has been replaced with a sentence that directs applicants 
to West Yorkshire Police for further advice. 

12. Paras 17 and 19 – we note that no wording has been included for casinos or betting premises in 
the same terms as appears at 15.3 for AGCs. This does not seem consistent and we would expect 
the words to be replicated for these adult only environments. 

Council response: Yes, this is a fair point and the policy will be amended accordingly. 

 

Consultation Response from Gamcare 

Thank you for your email, we appreciate your interest in our work. 

We would suggest that Local Licensing Authorities primarily consider applications from GamCare Certified 
operators. GamCare Certification is a voluntary process comprising an independent audit assessment of 
an operator’s player protection measures and social responsibility standards, policy and practice. 
Standards are measured in accordance with the GamCare Player Protection Code of Practice. If you would 
like more information on how our audit can support Local Licensing Authorities, please contact 
mike.kenward@gamcare.org.uk or paul.carpenter@gamcare.org.uk.  

For more information on GamCare training and other services available to local authorities, as well as 
recommended training for gambling operators, please see the attached brochures. 

Council response:  The council thanks GamCare for their response, and the information provided 
regarding GamCare Certified operators.  The licensing process and the Gambling Act require the licensing 
authority to permit gambling if it is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives, the Gambling 
Commissions Guidance for Licensing Authorities and the Statement of Licensing Policy. An application 
that does not attract a representation it is granted automatically.  Otherwise a licensing subcommittee 
would only consider the contents of any such representation when deciding to grant a licence.  Although 
an applicant can use their GamCare certification as a way of demonstrating the quality of player 
protection measures and social responsibility standards this would only be considered if these matters 
are relevant to the received representations. 

 

Consultation Response from Rawdon Parish Council 

Rawdon Parish Council have considered the consultation documents and are of the view that regulation 
of gambling in the city should be tightened to the maximum extent permitted within the law. 

Page 27

http://www.gamcare.org.uk/training-and-certification/gamcare-certification/who-gamcare-certified
http://www.gamcare.org.uk/training-and-certification/gamcare-certification/who-gamcare-certified
mailto:mike.kenward@gamcare.org.uk
mailto:paul.carpenter@gamcare.org.uk


Council response:  The council thanks Rawdon Parish Council for their comments. 

 

Consultation Response from Swillington Parish Council 

Swillington Parish Council has noted the contents of the statement of the licensing policy and in in favour 
of the proposals with no other comments to make. 

Council response:  The council thanks Swillington Parish Council for their comments. 

 

Consultation Response from the Racecourse Association Ltd 

I am writing on behalf of the Racecourse Association, the trade association for horse racecourses in Great 
Britain.  We have reviewed the revision of statement of gambling licensing policy for Leeds City Council, 
to which we would like the opportunity to respond on behalf of our members.   

Local Risk Assessment (Paragraph 14.12 – 14.17) – The Council is asked to be aware that racecourse is not 
obliged to conduct a risk assessment, that is the responsibility of the operator on the track. We would 
request that this is specified in the consultation.   

Council response:  This can be clarified within the policy. 

Conclusions 

Officers have completed the review of the Licensing Policy following the public consultation and have 
produced a final policy for approval.  The policy now continues on the budget and policy framework and 
will be presented to Scrutiny Panel in September, Executive Board in October and Council in November.  
The Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021, once adopted, will come into effect on 
31st January 2019. 

 

Page 28



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Statement of Licensing Policy 
2019 – 2021   
 
 
 

 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
 
 

Appendix 2 

Page 29



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 2 

 
Further copies of this document can be obtained from: 
 
Entertainment Licensing 
Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 
 
Tel: 0113 378 5029247 4095 
Fax: 0113 336 7124224 3885 
 
Email: entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk 
Web: www.leeds.gov.uk/licensing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please note: 
The information contained within this document can 
be made available in different languages and formats 
including Braille, large print and audio cassette. 

 

Page 30

mailto:entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/licensing


Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 3 

Contents Page 
 
Executive Summary 5 
 
Part A  The Gambling Act 2005  
 1.  The licensing objectives 6 

 2.  The Leeds district 7 

 3.  Integration with other guidance, policies, objectives and strategies 9 

 4. The purpose of the Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of   
  Licensing Policy 10 

 5. The licensing framework 10 

 6.  Declaration 11 

 7. Responsible authorities 11 

 8.  Interested parties 12 

 9.  Exchange of information 12 

 10.  Licensing authority functions 13 
 
Part B  Promotion of the licensing objectives  
 11.  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or   
  disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being   
  used to support crime 

14 

 12.  Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open   
  way 14 

 13.  Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from   
  being  harmed or exploited by gambling 15 

• Protection of children 15 

• Protection of vulnerable personspeople  15 
 
Part C  Premises licences  
 14.  Introduction to premises licensing 20 

• Definition of a premises licence 20 

• Location 21 

• Local Risk Assessments 21 

• Local Area Profile 23 

• Duplication with other regulatory regimes 23 

• Conditions 24 
 

Page 31



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 4 

• Door supervision 24 

 15.  Adult gaming centres 25 

 16. Licensed family entertainment centres 26 

 17.  Casinos 27 

 18.  Bingo premises 28 

 19.  Betting premises 28 

 20.  Tracks 29 

 21.  Travelling fairs 30 

 22.  Provisional statements 31 
 
Part D Permits, notices and lottery registrations  
 23.  Unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming    
  machine permits 32 

 24.  Gaming machine permits in premises licensed for the   
  sale of alcohol  33 

 25.  Prize gaming permits  34 

 26.  Club gaming and club machines permits 36 

 27.  Temporary use notices 37 

 28.  Occasional use notices (for tracks) 37 

 29. Small society lottery registrations 38 
 
Part E Enforcement  
 30.  Enforcement principles 39 

31. Reviews 40 
 
Appendices  
 Appendix 1 Gaming machines 41 

 Appendix 2 Glossary of terms 44 

 Appendix 3 Summary of gaming entitlements for clubs and pubs 48 

 Appendix 4 Large Casino 49 

Page 32



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 5 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 obtained Royal Assent in 2005 and came into effect in 2007.   
 
Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority is required to prepare a 
statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Act.  This 
process is to be repeated every three years from 31st January 2007.   
 
The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Gambling Act 2005, the Gambling Act 2005 
(Licensing Authority Policy Statement)(England and Wales) Regulations 2006 and the Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission (www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk). 
 
The purpose of the Statement of Licensing Policy is to set out the principles that the Council 
propose to apply when determining licences, permits and registrations under the Gambling Act 
2005. 
 
Any decision taken by the Council in regard to determination of licences, permits and registrations 
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it is reasonably consistent with 
the licensing objectives which are: 
 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime. 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling 
 
The principles to be applied specifically to the determination of premises licence applications 
include definition of premises, location, duplication with other regulatory regimes, conditions, 
door supervision, layout of the premises and supervision of gaming facilities.  The policy also 
specifically mentions adult gaming centres, family entertainment centres, casinos, bingo premises, 
betting premises, tracks and travelling fairs. 
 
The council has the ability to issue permits for prize gaming and unlicensed family entertainment 
centres.  The council is able to specify the information it requires as part of the application process 
which will aid determination and this information is described in this Policy.   
 
Club gaming and club machine permits are also issued by the council.  The process for this is 
described, along with other processes specified in the legislation for example temporary use 
notices, occasional use notices and small society lotteries. 
 
Enforcement of the legislation is a requirement of the Act that is undertaken by the council in 
conjunction with the Gambling Commission.  The policy describes the council’s enforcement 
principles and the principles underpinning the right of review. 
 
The policy has three appendices, describing the stakes and prizes which determine the category of 
a gaming machine, a glossary of terms and exempt gaming in pubs and clubs. 

Page 33



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 6 

 

Part A - The Gambling Act 2005 
 

1.   The licensing objectives 
 
1.1  Under the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) Leeds City Council is the licensing authority for the 

Leeds district and licences premises for gambling activities as well as granting various other 
gambling permits. In this document, unless otherwise stated, any references to the council 
are to the Leeds Licensing Authority.  

 
1.2 The council will carry out its functions under the Act with a view to aiming to permit the 

use of premises for gambling in so far as it is reasonably consistent with the three licensing 
objectives set out at Section 1 of the Act. The licensing objectives are: 

 
• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 

 crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
 gambling. 
 

1.3 More information can be found about how the council will achieve this in Part B and C of 
this document. 

 
1.4 The council will follow any regulations and statutory guidance issued in accordance with 

the Act and will have regard to any codes of practice issued by the national gambling 
regulator, the Gambling Commission. 

 
1.5 The council is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it should aim to 

permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is: 
 

• in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 
• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
• in accordance with this document. 

 
1.6 The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP) require 

gambling premises to undertake a risk assessment taking into consideration their local 
information.  Specific information about localities is provided in this policy at Section 
14xxx. 

    

Page 34



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 7 

2.   The Leeds district 

 
 
2.1 Leeds City Council has sought to establish Leeds as a major European city and cultural and 

social centre. It is the second largest metropolitan district in England and has a population 
of 2.2 million people living within a 30 minute drive of the city centre. 

 
2.2 The Leeds metropolitan district extends over 562 square kilometres (217 square miles) and 

has a population of 784,84661,481 (ONS Mid-year population estimates 2017, Population 
Estimates for UK as at 30 June 2013). It includes the city centre and the urban areas that 
surround it, the more rural outer suburbs and several towns, all with their very different 
identities. Two-thirds of the district is greenbelt (open land with restrictive building), and 
there is beautiful countryside within easy reach of the city.  

 
2.3 Over recent years Leeds has experienced significant levels of growth in entertainment use 

within the City coupled with a significant increase in residential development. The close 
proximity of a range of land uses and the creation of mixed-use schemes has many benefits 
including the creation of a vibrant 24-hour city. Leeds City Council has a policy promoting 
mixed use development including residential and evening uses throughout the city centre. 

 

Page 35



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 8 

2.4 Leeds has strong artistic traditions and top performing artistes can be seen at the Leeds 
first direct Arena, Leeds Town Hall and at other indoor and outdoor venues across the city. 
The success of arts and heritage organisations including the Grand Theatre, West Yorkshire 
Playhouse, Opera North, Northern Ballet Theatre, Phoenix Dance Theatre, Harewood 
House and the Henry Moore Institute, has helped to attract other major arts and heritage 
investments such as the award winning Royal Armouries and the Thackray Medical 
Museum. The city also boasts a wealth of community based sports, entertainment, 
heritage and recreational facilities. There is a vibrant voluntary sector including thousands 
of groups and societies.  

 
2.5 Sport is a passion for people in Leeds and Yorkshire.  Leeds United Football Club has a loyal 

and passionate following and Elland Road is one of England’s great traditional grounds.  
Cricket is followed with enthusiasm with Yorkshire Cricket Club’s home in Headingley.  
Leeds has a world’s first dual code rugby partnership – Leeds Rhino Rugby League and 
Leeds Carnegie Rugby Union.  The Leeds Rhinos in particular have enjoyed great success in 
recent years.  Wetherby racecourse was established in 1891 and is considered one of the 
best jump courses in the country. 

 
2.6 Leeds is a city with many cultures, languages, races and faiths. A wide range of minority 

groups including Black Caribbean, Indian, Pakistani, Irish and Chinese as well as many other 
smaller communities make up18.9% almost 11% of the city population.  

 
2.7  Leeds has a strong economy that has enabled the city to recover well from the recession.  

However, Leeds is also a city marked by health inequalities, indicating that not everyone 
has benefited from the economic growth equally.  The number of neighbourhoods falling 
into the 10% most deprived nationally has increased since 2010 but the number of least 
derived neighbourhoods has also increased – the inequalities gap is getting wider. 

 
2.8 Inclusive growth in Leeds should help reverse the worsening socio-economic position in 

many neighbourhoods, by focusing not just on quantity of growth but also quality; actions 
should reflect people’s experience of opportunities, barriers, skills and employment and 
living standards. 

 
2.9 Life expectancy in Leeds (2013-2015) is 80 years and 2.5 months.  However for males and 

females living in deprived Leeds this is lower by 5 years 5 months and 4 years 8 months 
respectively. 

 
2.10 A worrying trend of an increasing number of suicides among men was identified in Leeds.  

Although we are unable to establish to what extent gambling addiction has contributed to 
this, there is evidence that the majority of problem gamblers has contemplated suicide.  
Furthermore people with poor mental health are at significantly high risk of problem 
gambling (Geofutures 2015). 

 
2.11 For further health and deprivation information about the local area visit 

http://observatory.leeds.gov.uk.  
 
 

Page 36

http://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/


Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 9 

3. Integration with other guidance, policies, objectives and strategies 
 
Vision for Leeds 
 
3.1 The Vision for Leeds 2011-2030 is published by the Leeds Initiative, as the city’s strategic 

partnership group.  It sets the overall aim that “by 2030, Leeds will be locally and 
internationally recognised as the best city in the UK”.  By 2030: 

 
• Leeds will be fair, open and welcoming  
• Leeds’ economy will be prosperous and sustainable  
• All Leeds’ communities will be successful  

 
3.2 This Statement of Licensing Policy seeks to promote the licensing objectives within the 

overall context of the three aims set out in the Vision for Leeds 2011-2030. 
 
Best Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21 
 
3.3 The Best Council Plan aims to address poverty and inequalities by maintaining a long-term 

strategic focus on strengthening the economy whilst supporting the most vulnerable.  This 
policy seeks in particular to support the Best Council Plan priorities around, ‘Safe, Strong 
Communities’, ‘Inclusive Growth’, ‘Health and Wellbeing’ and ‘Child-friendly City’.  The Best 
Council Plan is supported by a number of key strategies including the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-2021, Inclusive Growth Strategy 2018-2023 and Children and Young People’s 
Plan 2018-2023.   

 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 
 
3.4 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 describes the council’s vision for health 

and wellbeing as ‘Leeds will be a health and caring city for all ages, where people who are 
the poorest improve their health the fastest’.  This policy is particularly affected by the 
following health and wellbeing priorities… 

 
• Promote mental and physical health equally 
• Stronger focus on prevention 
• Housing and environment enable people… to be healthy 

 
Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy 2018-2023 
 
3.5 The Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy aims to further deliver growth across the city that is 

inclusive, draws on the talents of, and benefits all our citizens and communities.  The 
strategy sets out how everyone can contribute to the city’s growth.  It provides a 
framework for how all parts of the council will work with partners from all sectors across 
Leeds, the region and with national government to grow the economy.  The strategy sets 
out 12 ‘big ideas’ to act as an action plan to encourage inclusive growth focusing on 
supporting people, places and productivity. This policy links in particular to the following 
‘big ideas’: 

 
• Best City for Health and Wellbeing 
• Working together to create better jobs, tackling low pay and boosting productivity 

Page 37



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 10 

• Putting children at the heart of the growth strategy 

Page 38



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 11 

Children and Young People’s Plan 2018-2023 
 
3.6 The UN convention on the rights of the child set out the basic rights for children 

worldwide.  The UN developed the model for the child-friendly city model: a place where 
children’s rights are known and understood by children and adults alike and where these 
rights are reflected in policies and budgets.   

 
3.7 The Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan helps deliver Leeds’ ‘child-friendly city’ 

aspiration, whereby the voices, needs and priorities of the more than 190,000 children and 
young people (aged 0-19 years) in Leeds are heard, responded to and inform the way we 
make decisions and take action.  We aim to improve outcomes for all our children, whilst 
recognising the need for outcomes to improve faster for children and young people from 
vulnerable and deprived backgrounds.  The Plan is focused on delivering five outcomes 
whereby all children and young people: 

 
• Are safe from harm 
• Do well at all levels of learning and have skills for life 
• Enjoy healthy lifestyles 
• Have fun growing up 
• Are active citizens who feel they have a voice and influence 

 
3.8 This policy contributes to all these outcomes and also a number of the priorities within the 

Children and Young People’s Plan, including: 
 

• Ensuring that the most vulnerable are protected 
• Improving social, emotional, and mental health and wellbeing 
• Supporting young people to make good choices and minimise risk-taking behaviours 

  
Child Friendly 
 
3.5 The council has announced its intention for the city to become ‘Child Friendly’.  This links 

back to the council’s vision which states: 
 

‘Best city… for children 
Leeds will be a child-friendly city where the voices, needs and 
priorities of children and young people are heard and inform the 
way we make decisions and take action.’  
 

3.6 There are over 180,000 children and young people in Leeds.  To 
become a child friendly city, and the best city for children and young people, their voices 
and views need to be heard and responded to, and that they are active participants in their 
local community and citywide.  

 
3.7 The UN convention on the rights of the child sets out the basic rights for children 

worldwide. The UN developed the model for child friendly city model – a place where 
children rights are known and understood by children and adults alike, and where these 
rights are reflected in policies and budgets.  

 
3.8 As part of the aim for Leeds to become a child friendly city, the council declared 12 wishes: 

Page 39



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 12 

 
3.9 This policy is particularly affected by wish 2 – “Children and young people find the city 

centre welcoming and safe, with friendly places to go, have fun and play” and wish 3 – 
“There are places and spaces to play and things to do, in all areas and open to all”. 

 
4. The purpose of the Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Licensing Policy  
 
4.1  Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the 

principles which they propose to apply when exercising their functions under the Act. This 
document fulfils this requirement. Such statement must be published at least every three 
years. The statement can also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amendments must 
be consulted upon. The statement must then be re-published. 

 
4.2 Leeds City Council consulted widely upon this policy statement before finalising and 

publishing it. The policy was presented for public consultation on the website, and by email 
and post to solicitors, licensees, support organisations, responsible authorities, ward 
members, MPs, trade associations, and parish councils.  In total 170 emails and 526 letters 
were sent advising interested parties of the consultation.  The consultation was also 
advertised via a press releaseon the council’s Talking Point webpages. 

 
4.3  The consultation took place between 11th June and 5th August 2018 and followed the 

Cabinet Office’s Code of Practice on Consultation.  The consultation elicited five responses 
which are available on request.  The policy was approved at a meeting of the Full Council 
on 14th November 2018.  

 
 
5. The licensing framework 
 
5.1 The Gambling Act 2005 brought about changes to the way that gambling is administered in 

the United Kingdom. The Gambling Commission is the national gambling regulator and has 
a lead role in working with central government and local authorities to regulate gambling 
activity. 

 
5.2 The Gambling Commission issues operators licences and personal licences. Any operator 

wishing to provide gambling at a certain premises must have applied for the requisite 
personal licence and operator licence before they can approach the council for a premises 
licence. In this way the Gambling Commission is able to screen applicants and organisations 
to ensure they have the correct credentials to operate gambling premises. The council’s 
role is to ensure premises are suitable for providing gambling in line with the three 
licensing objectives and any codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission. The 
council also issues various permits and notices to regulate smaller scale and or ad hoc 
gambling in various other locations such as pubs, clubs and hotels.  

  
5.3 The council does not licence large society lotteries or remote gambling through websites. 

These areas fall to the Gambling Commission. The National Lottery is not licensed by the 
Gambling Act 2005 and is regulated by the Gambling Commission under the National 
Lottery Act 1993.   

 
 

Page 40



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 13 

 
6.  Declaration 
 
6.1 This statement of licensing policy will not override the right of any person to make an 

application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, 
as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements 
of the Gambling Act 2005.   

 
6.2 In producing this document, the council declares that it has had regard to the licensing 

objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, 
and any responses from those consulted on the policy statement. 

 
7.  Responsible authorities 
 
7.1 The Act empowers certain agencies to act as responsible authorities so that they can 

employ their particular area of expertise to help promote the licensing objectives. 
Responsible authorities are able to make representations about licence applications, or 
apply for a review of an existing licence. Responsible authorities will also offer advice and 
guidance to applicants.  

 
7.2 The council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply to designate, in 

writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children 
from harm. The principles are: 

 
• the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing 

authority’s area 
• the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected personspeople, 

rather than any particular vested interest group etc. 
 
7.3 In accordance with the regulations the council designates the Leeds Safeguarding Children 

PartnershipLocal Safeguarding Children Board for this purpose.  Leeds Safeguarding 
Children PartnershipBoard has produced a “West Yorkshire Consortium Procedures Manual 
which can be found at http://westyorkscb.proceduresonline.com.   Applicants may find this 
manual useful as a point of reference, a guide for good practice and the mechanism by 
which to make a referral to Social Care, when producing their own policies and procedures 
in relation to the objective of protection of children and vulnerable people. 

 
7.4 The contact details of all the responsible authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are 

available on the council’s website within the guidance documents at 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/Business/Pages/Gambling-Premises-Licences.aspx. 

 
8.  Interested parties 
 
8.1 Interested parties are certain types of people or organisations that have the right to make 

representations about licence applications, or apply for a review of an existing licence.  
These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as follows: 

 
 
  

Page 41

http://westyorkscb.proceduresonline.com/


Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 14 

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an application 
for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which 
issues the licence or to which the applications is made, the person- 

 
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 

activities, 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)” 

 
8.2 The council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply to determine 

whether a person is an interested party. The principles are: 
 

• Each case will be decided upon its merits. The council will not apply a rigid rule to its 
decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations provided in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities.  

 
• Within this framework the council will accept representations made on behalf of 

residents and tenants associations. 
 

• In order to determine if an interested party lives or has business interests, sufficiently 
close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the gambling activities, the council 
will consider factors such as the size of the premises and the nature of the activities 
taking place.      

 
8.3 The council will provide more detailed information on the making of representations in a 

separate guidance note. The guidance note has been prepared in accordance with relevant 
Statutory Instruments and Gambling Commission guidance.  

 
9.   Exchange of information 
 
9.1 Licensing authorities are required to include in their policy statement the principles to be 

applied by the authority with regards to the exchange of information between it and the 
Gambling Commission, as well as other personspeople listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

 
9.2 The principle that the council applies is that it will act in accordance with the provisions of 

the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the provision that the 
Data Protection Act 20181998 will not be contravened.  The council will also have regard to 
any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities on this matter, as 
well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers 
provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

Page 42



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 15 

 
10.  Licensing authority functions 
 
10.1  Licensing authorities are responsible under the Act for: 
 

• licensing premises where gambling activities are to take place by issuing premises 
licences  

• issuing provisional statements  
• regulating members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 

certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits 
• issuing Club Machine Permits to commercial clubs 
• granting permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at Unlicensed 

Family Entertainment Centres 
• receiving notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) of 

the use of two or less gaming machines 
• granting Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 

sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 
2003, where more than two machines are required 

• registering small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 
• issuing Prize Gaming Permits 
• receiving and endorsing Temporary Use Notices 
• receiving Occasional Use Notices (for tracks) 
• providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued 

(see section above on ‘Exchange of information’) 
• maintaining registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions. 

 
10.2 The council will not be involved in licensing remote gambling at all. This will fall to the 

Gambling Commission via operator licences. 

Page 43



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 16 

 
Part B - Promotion of the licensing objectives 
 
11.  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
 
11.1 The Gambling Commission will take a lead role in keeping gambling crime free by vetting all 

applicants for personal and operator licences. The council’s main role is to try and promote 
this area with regard actual premises. Thus, where an area has known high levels of 
organised crime the council will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable 
to be located there (see paragraph 143.8 and 143.9) and whether conditions may be 
required such as the provision of door supervision (see paragraph 14.313.15). 

 
11.2 There is a distinction between disorder and nuisance. In order to make the distinction, 

when incidents of this nature occur, the council will consider factors such as whether 
police assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was.  

 
11.3 Issues of nuisance cannot be addressed by the Gambling Act provisions however problems 

of this nature can be addressed through other legislation as appropriate.  
  
11.4 Examples of the specific steps the council may take to address this area can be found in the 

various sections covering specific premises types in Part C of this document and also in Part 
D which covers permits and notices.    

  
12. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
 
12.1 The council is aware that except in the case of tracks (see section 18) generally the 

Gambling Commission does not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with 
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via 
operating and personal licences.  

 
12.2 However the council will familiarise itself with operator licence conditions and will 

communicate any concerns to the Gambling Commission about misleading advertising or 
any absence of required game rules or other matters as set out in the Gambling 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice. 

 
12.3 Examples of the specific steps the council may take to address this area can be found in the 

various sections covering specific premises types in Part C of this document and also in Part 
D which covers permits and notices.    

 

Page 44



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 17 

13.  Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling   

 
Protection of children  
 
13.1 This licensing objective means preventing children from taking part in most types of 

gambling.  The council will therefore consider whether specific measures are required at 
particular premises, with regard to this licensing objective. Appropriate measures may 
include supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of areas etc.  

 
13.2 The Act provides the following definition for child and young adult in Section 45: 
 

Meaning of “child” and “young person” 
(1) In this Act “child” means an individual who is less than 16 years old. 
(2) In this Act “young person” means an individual who is not a child but who is less 

than 18 years old. 
 
 For the purpose of this section protection of children will encompass both child and young 

person as defined by the Act. 
 
13.3 The council will pay particular attention to any codes of practice which the Gambling 

Commission issues as regards this licensing objective in relation to specific premises such 
as casinos. 

 
13.4 Examples of the specific steps the council may take to address this area can be found in the 

various sections covering specific premises types in Part C of this document and also in Part 
D which covers permits and notices.    

 
Protection of vulnerable people 
 
13.5 The council is aware of the difficulty in defining the term “vulnerable person”.  In most 

recent literature it is not a term that is used, with the term “adults at risk of abuse or 
neglect” or “adults at risk” being the preferred terms.  

 
13.6 The Gambling Commission, in its Guidance to Local Authorities, does not seek to offer a 

definition for the term “vulnerable people” but will, for regulatory purposes assume that 
this group includes people: 

 
 “who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, elderly 

persons, and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, or because of the influence of alcohol or drugs.”  

 
13.7 The Care Act 2014 imposes a requirement on a local authority to “make enquiries if it has 

has reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area, whether or not ordinarily resident 
there, has needs for care and support, is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and 
as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or 
neglect or the risk of it”.   

 

Page 45



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 18 

13.8 The local authority must make whatever enquiries it thinks necessary to enable it to decide 
whether any action should be taken in the adult’s case (whether under this Part or 
otherwise) and, if so, what and by whom.  “Abuse” includes financial abuse; and for that 
purpose “financial abuse” includes having money or other property stolen, being 
defrauded, being put under pressure in relation to money or other property, and having 
money or other property misused. 

 
13.9 Department of Health document “No Secrets” from 2000 offers a definition of a vulnerable 

adult as a person: 
 

“who is or may be in need of community care services by reason of mental or other 
disability, age or illness; and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, or 
unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or exploitation.” 

 
13.10 In 2016 Leeds City Council commissioned Leeds Beckett University to undertake research 

into Problem Gambling in Leeds (Problem Gambling in Leeds; Kenyon, Ormerod, Parsons 
and Wardle, 2016).  This research looked specifically at identifying groups of the society 
that could be considered vulnerable to problem gambling: 

 
13.11 Young people – rates of problem gambling among young people who gamble are higher 

than older adults and youth gambling behaviours are consistent with the harm paradox, 
whereby these age groups are less likely to gamble generally but those that do are more 
likely to experience difficulties with their behaviour (Wardle, 2015). 

 
13.12 Minority ethnic groups – There is consistent evidence that those from Asian or Black 

backgrounds are more vulnerable to gambling problems and there is clear evidence of the 
harm paradox (Wardle, 2015).   

 
13.13 Unemployed and constrained economic circumstance – generally those of lower income 

are less likely to gamble but those that do spend a higher proportion of their income on 
gambling.  This is highlighted as a concern given the lesser ability of lower income 
households to protect themselves from financial instability (Brown et al, 2011).    

 
13.14 There is evidence that those in debt and those using money lenders and/or pawnbrokers 

are more likely to be problem or at risk gamblers (Meltzer et al, 2012).  The relationship 
between constrained economic circumstances and gambling problems is likely to be 
complex and multi-faceted.  It may be mediated by other economic opportunities and 
personal feelings about how well off you are compared with others.  Despite this 
complexity, there is a consistent body of evidence showing that, for whatever reason, 
those who are unemployed and who gamble are more likely to experience adverse 
outcomes from their gambling than those in paid employment. 

 
13.15 Area deprivation – There are a number of British surveys that have consistently shown that 

those living in more deprived areas are more likely to experience problems with their 
gambling behaviour.  This was despite having roughly the similar levels of past year 
gambling participation to those who live in less deprived areas.   

 
 

Page 46



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 19 

13.16 Wardle (2015) looked at the distribution of machines and licensed betting offices and 
argues that there was clear and consistent evidence of a spatial skew, whereby high 
density machine zones or areas with licensed betting offices are more deprived than 
others.  Recent research has shown that among gamblers who held loyalty cards, rates of 
problem gambling (28%) were higher among those who lived within 400 metres of a 
concentration of betting offices than those who did not (22%) (Astbury & Wardle, 2016). 

 
13.17 Homeless – The rates of problem gambling are higher among those who are homeless than 

those who are not.  Although studies are small, they show that there is a significant 
relationship with gambling preceding homelessness.  Little is known about why rates of 
problem gambling among homeless population groups is higher than the general 
population but given associations with other mental health conditions, homeless people 
should be considered a vulnerable group. 

 
13.18 Mental ill health – There is a strong association between mental ill health and problem 

gambling.  Associations were found between problem gambling and general anxiety 
disorder, phobia, obsessive compulsive disorder, panic disorders, eating disorders, 
probably psychosis, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, 
harmful and hazardous levels of alcohol consumption and drug addiction.  Overall three 
quarters of problems gamblers seeking treatment also experience co-morbid mental health 
disorders.   

 
13.19 Being a problem or at risk gambler is associated with latter onset of major depressive 

disorder, alcohol use and dependence, drug use and experience of any mental disorder.  
Illegal drug use and experience of any mental disorder is also associated with the 
subsequent onset of at risk and problem gambling.  These findings seem to confirm the 
conclusion that the relationship between problem gambling and mental ill health may be 
cyclical. 

 
13.20 Substance abuse/misuse – The evidence base relating to the relationship between 

substance abuse/misuse and experience of problem gambling broadly measures that of 
mental ill health.  Evidence from British based surveys has shown that rates of problem 
gambling were higher among those with alcohol dependence (3.4%) or drug dependence 
(4.4%) that the general population (0.74%) (Wardle, 2015).  A systemic review of those 
seeking treatment for gambling problems showed that 15% also experience alcohol 
dependence and 7% have other substance abuse disorders (Dowling et al, 2015).  There is 
strong evidence that alcohol and substance misuse are associated with problem gambling.  
As with other mental health conditions, these conditions can occur at the same time. 

 
13.21 Personality traits/cognitive distortions – There is a strong body of evidence highlighting 

the relationship between various personality traits, such as cognitive distortions or 
impulsivity, with problem gambling.  Cognitive distortions, such as erroneous perceptions 
of gambling and illusion of control are well established risk factors for problem gambling 
(Johansson et al, 2009).  However little research has been conducted to explore the 
complex interaction of personality traits with other factors and their combined influence 
on the experience of broader gambling harms.  Certain personality traits and/or cognitive 
distortions are just one potential aspect of vulnerability which is likely to be affected by a 
range of other factors. 

 

Page 47



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 20 

13.22 Problem gamblers seeking treatment – Because this group is in the process of attempting 
to recover from gambling problems they should be treated as a vulnerable group in their 
own right (Wardle, 2015). 

 
13.23 Problem gambling can affect anyone at any time.  Whilst rates of problem gambling among 

all adults in Britain tend to be less than 1% (1.4% in large metropolitan areas such as 
Leeds), there are some groups that are more likely to experience problems.  These groups 
could all be considered vulnerable to gambling problems.  Leeds City Council already works 
with many of these groups however operators should consider these groups in their Local 
Risk Assessments, especially in relation to identifying the people in these groups, and 
mitigating harm experienced by them. 

 
13.24 In the case of premises licences the council is aware of the extensive requirements set out 

for operators in the Gambling Commission’s Code of Practice regarding social 
responsibility.  In this document the Gambling Commission clearly describe the policies and 
procedures that operators should put in place regarding: 

 
• Combating problem gambling 
• Access to gambling by children and young personspeople 
• Information on how to gambleing responsibly and help for problem gamblers 
• Customer interaction 
• Self-exclusion 
• Employment of children and young personspeople 

 
13.25 All applicants should familiarise themselves with the operator licence conditions  and codes 

of practice relating to this objective and determine if these policies and procedures are 
appropriate in their circumstances.  The council will communicate  any concerns to the 
Gambling Commission about any absence of this required information.  

 
13.26 Applicants may also like to make reference to Leeds Safeguarding Adults Partnership 

document entitled “Leeds Multi Agency Safeguarding Adults Policies and Procedures – 
West and North Yorkshire and York” which provides extensive guidance on identifying 
vulnerable people and what can be done to reduce risk for this group.  This document can 
be accessed via http://www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk  

 
13.27 Applicants should consider the following proposed measures for protecting and supporting 

vulnerable personspeople, for example: 
 

• leaflets offering assistance to problem gamblers should be available on gambling 
premises in a location that is both prominent and discreet, such as toilets 

• training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to maintain 
a sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are gambling, as part of 
measures to detect personspeople who may be vulnerable (see 12.4.1). 

• trained personnel for the purpose of identifying and providing support to vulnerable 
personspeople 

• self exclusion schemes 
• operators should demonstrate their understanding of best practice issued by 

organisations that represent the interests of vulnerable people 
 

Page 48

http://www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk/


Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 21 

• posters with GamCare Helpline and website in prominent locations 
• windows, entrances and advertisements to be positioned or designed not to entice 

children or vulnerable people.passers-by. 
 

13.28 It should be noted that some of these measures form part of the mandatory conditions 
placed on premises licences. 

 
13.29 The council may consider any of the above or similar measures as licence conditions should 

these not be adequately addressed by any mandatory conditions, default conditions or 
proposed by the applicant. 

   

Page 49



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 22 

Pa 
Part C Premises licences 
 
14. General Requirements 
 
14.1 The council will issue premises licences to allow those premises to be used for certain 

types of gambling. For example premises licences will be issued to amusement arcades, 
bingo halls, bookmakers and casinos.  

 
14.2 Premises licences are subject to the permissions/restrictions set-out in the Gambling Act 

2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are 
detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing authorities are able to 
exclude default conditions and also attach other conditions, where it is believed to be 
necessary and proportionate. 

 
14.3 Applicants should also be aware that the Gambling Commission has issued Codes of 

Practice for each interest area for which they must have regard.  The council will also have 
regard to these Codes of Practice. 

 
Definition of “premises” 
 
14.4 Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”. Different premises licences cannot apply in 

respect of a single premises at different times.  However, it is possible for a single building 
to be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts of 
the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as being 
different premises.  Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as 
being separate premises will always be a question of fact in the circumstances.   

 
14.5 The council will take particular care in considering applications for multiple licences for a 

building and those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) 
purposes. In particular the council will assess entrances and exits from parts of a building 
covered by one or more licences to satisfy itself that they are separate and identifiable so 
that the separation of different premises is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ 
into a gambling area. 

  
14.6 The council will pay particular attention to applications where access to the licensed 

premises is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or unlicensed). 
Issues that the council will consider before granting such applications include whether 
children can gain access, compatibility of the two establishments; and the ability to comply 
with the requirements of the Act. In addition an overriding consideration will be whether, 
taken as a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises with other facilities has the 
effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be prohibited under 
the Act. 

 
14.7 An applicant cannot obtain a full premises licence until they have the right to occupy the 

premises to which the application relates.  
 

Page 50



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 23 

Location 
 
14.8 The council is aware that demand issues (e.g. the likely demand or need for gambling 

facilities in an area) cannot be considered with regard to the location of premises but that 
considerations in terms of the licensing objectives can. The council will pay particular 
attention to the protection of children and vulnerable personspeople from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder. 

 
14.9 With regards to these objectives it is the council’s policy, upon receipt of any relevant 

representations, to look at specific location issues including: 
 

• the possible impact a gambling premises may have on any premises that provide 
services to children or young people, for example i.e. a school, or vulnerable adult 
centres in the area 

• the possible impact a gambling premises may have on residential areas where there 
may be a high concentration of families with children 

• the size of the premises and the nature of the activities taking place 
• any levels of organised crime in the area. 

 
14.10 In order for location to be considered, the council will need to be satisfied that there is 

sufficient evidence that the particular location of the premises would be harmful to the 
licensing objectives.   

 
14.11 Although the council cannot consider if there is a need or demand for the gambling 

facilities applied for, applicants should consider the proximity of other gambling premises 
in the Local Risk Assessment and the impact this will have on residents, including children 
and other vulnerable groups. 

 
Local Risk Assessments 
 
14.12 From 6 April 2016, it is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions 

and Codes of Practice (LCCP), under section 10, for licensees (except for those which hold 
betting licences for tracks) to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at their premises and have policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate those risks.  In making risk assessments, licensees must take into 
account relevant matters identified in this policy. 

 
14.13 The LCCP goes on to say licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk 

assessments: 
 

a. to take account of significant changes in local circumstance, including those identified 
in this policy; 

b. when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 
mitigation of local risks; 

c. when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 
d. in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises 

licence. 
 
 

Page 51



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 24 

14.14 The council will expect the local risk assessment to consider the urban setting:as a 
minimum: 

 
• The proximity of the premises to schools. 
• The commercial environment. 
• Factors affecting the footfall. 
• Whether the premises is in an area of deprivation. 
• Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder. 
• The ethnic profile of residents in the area. 
• The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups. 
• The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, leisure 

centres and other areas where children will gather. 
• The range of facilities in the local area such as other gambling outlets, banks, post 

offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities. 
• Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, youths 

participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activity, etc. 
• The proximity of churches, mosques, temples or any other place of worship. 

 
14.15 TheIn any case the local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, including 

people with gambling dependencies, are protected: 
 

• The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of excessive 
gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how the manning of 
premises affects this. 

• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage 
gambling. 

• Arrangements in place for local exchange of anonymised information regarding self-
exclusion and gaming trends. 

• Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 
payments. 

• Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age people and vulnerable 
people, which may include: 

o dedicated and trained personnel,  
o leaflets and posters,  
o self-exclusion schemes,  
o window displays and advertisements designed to not entice children and 

vulnerable people.  
• The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling care 

providers and other relevant information be provided in both English and the other 
prominent first language for that locality. 

• The proximity of premises that may be frequented by vulnerable people such as 
hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor surgeries, council 
community hubs, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug 
dependent people may congregate. 

 

Page 52



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 25 

14.16 The local risk assessment should show how children are to be protected: 
 

• The proximity of institutions, places or areas where children and young people 
frequent such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment venues 
such as bowling allies, cinemas, etc. 

• The proximity of place where children congregate such as bus stops, cafes, shops. 
• Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-social behaviour, including 

activities such as graffiti, tagging, underage drinking etc. 
 

14.17 Other matters that the assessment may include: 
 

• The training of staff in brief intervention when customers show signs of excessive 
gambling, the ability of staff to offer brief intervention and how the manning of 
premises affects this. 

• Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and how the system 
will be monitored. 

• The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of personspeople 
using the premises. 

• The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any one time.  If at any 
time that number is one, confirm the supervisory and monitoring arrangements when 
that person is absent from the licensed area or distracted from supervising the 
premises and observing those personspeople using the premises. 

• Arrangements for monitoring and dealing with under age persons and vulnerable 
persons, which may include dedicated and trained personnel, leaflets, posters, self-
exclusion schemes, window displays and advertisements not to entice passers-by etc.  

• The provision of signage and documents relating to games rules, gambling care 
providers and other relevant information be provided in both English and the other 
prominent first language for that locality. 

• Where the application is for a betting premises licence, other than in respect of a track, 
the location and extent of any part of the premises which will be used to provide 
facilities for gambling in reliance on the licence. 

 
14.18 Such information may be used to inform the decision the council makes about whether to 

grant the licence, to grant the licence with special conditions or to refuse the application.   
 
14.19  This policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will be 

decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the applicant to show how the concerns 
can be overcome. 

 
Local Area Profile 
 
14.20 Each locality has its own character and challenges. In order to assist applicants, where 

there is an issue in a local area which impacts on how the applicant should complete their 
risk assessment, the council may publish a local area profile.  This profile, compiled in 
conjunction with the Community Hubs and approved by the Licensing Committee, can be 
obtained from Entertainment Licensing. 

 
14.21 The local area profiles should be given careful consideration when making an application.  

Applicants may be asked to attend a meeting with licensing officers to discuss the profiles, 

Page 53



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 26 

appropriate measures to mitigate risk in the area and how they might be relevant to their 
application.  The local area profiles will be presented to any subsequent licensing 
subcommittee when they determine an application that has received representations. 

 
14.22 The council recognises that it cannot insist on applicants using the local area profiles when 

completing their risk assessments. However an applicant who decides to disregard the 
profiles may face additional representations and the expense of a hearing as a result. 

 
 
Duplication with other regulatory regimes 
 
14.23 The council will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems 

where possible, including planning. The council will not consider whether a licence 
application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations approval, in 
its consideration of it. It will though, listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about 
proposed conditions which are not able to be met by the applicant due to planning 
restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

 
Conditions 
 
14.24 The council is aware that the Secretary of State has set mandatory conditions and default 

conditions and the Gambling Commission has set Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 
which are necessary for the general good conduct of gambling premises, therefore it is 
unlikely that the council will need to impose individual conditions imposing a more 
restricted regime in relation to matters that have already been dealt with.  

 
14.25 Where there are specific risks or problems associated with a particular locality, or specific 

premises, or class of premises, the council will attach individual conditions to address this. 
 
14.26 Any conditions attached to a licence issued by the council will be proportionate and 
 will be: 
 

• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility; 
• directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for, and/or related to 

the area where the premises is based; 
• fairly and reasonably related to the scale, type and location of premises; 
• consistent with the licensing objectives, and; 
• reasonable in all other respects.  

 
14.27 Decisions about individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there 

will be a number of control measures the council will consider using, such as supervision of 
entrances, supervision of adult gaming machines, appropriate signage for adult only areas 
etc. There are specific comments made in this regard under each of the licence types in this 
policy. The council will also expect the applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to the 
way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively 

 
14.28  Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions or 

by the applicant, the council may consider licence conditions to cover issues such as: 
 

Page 54



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 27 

• Proof of age schemes. 
• CCTV. 
• Supervision of entrances. 
• Supervision of machine areas. 
• A reduction in the number of betting machines (betting premises). 
• The manning of premises. 
• Physical separation of areas. 
• Location of entrance points. 
• Notices/signage. 
• Specific opening hours. 
• A requirement that children must be accompanied by an adult (in premises where 

children are allowed). 
• Enhanced DBSCRB checks of the applicant and/or staff. 
• Staff training in brief intervention, conflict resolution, basic knowledge of mental 

health, learning disabilities and addiction, including substance misuse. 
• Support to personspeople with gambling addiction, including brief intervention. 
• Policies to address seasonal periods where children may more frequently attempt to 

gain access to premises and gamble such as pre and post school hours, half term and 
school holidays. 

• Policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may attempt to 
gain access to premises and gamble. 

• Obscuring windows where appropriate and– labelling premises so it’s clear that they 
are gambling premises. 
 

14.29 This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of examples of certain 
measures which may satisfy the requirements of the licensing authority and the 
responsible authorities, depending on the nature and location of the premises and the 
gambling facilities to be provided. 

 
14.30 There are conditions which the council cannot attach to premises licences which are: 
 

• any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible for the applicant to 
comply with an operating licence condition; 

• conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation; 
• conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Gambling 

Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs 
and this provision prevents it being reinstated) and 

• conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes. 
 
Door supervision 
 
14.31 The council will consider whether there is a need for door supervision in terms of the 

licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable personspeople from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in terms of preventing premises becoming a 
source of crime. It is noted though that the Gambling Act 2005 has amended the Private 
Security Industry Act 2001 and that door supervisors at casinos or bingo premises are not 
required to be licensed by the Security Industry Authority. Where door supervisors are 
provided at these premises the operator should ensure that any personspeople employed 

Page 55



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 28 

in this capacity are fit and proper to carry out such duties. Possible ways to achieve this 
could be to carry out a criminal records (DBSCRB) check on potential staff and for such 
personnel to have attended industry recognised training.   

 
15. Adult gaming centres 
 
15.1 Adult gaming centres are a new category of premises introduced by the Act that are most 

closely related to what are commonly known as adult only amusement arcades seen in 
many city centres.  

 
15.2 Under the Act a premises holding an adult gaming centre licence will be able to make 

category B, C and D gaming machines available and no one under 18 will be permitted to 
enter such premises (see Appendix 1).  

 
15.3 The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 

personspeople from harm or being exploited by gambling in these premises.  The council 
will expect applicants to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises. 

  
15.4 Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory and default 

conditions and the Gambling Commission Codes of Practice or by the applicant, the council 
may consider licence conditions to address such issues. 

 
16. Licensed family entertainment centres (FECs) 
 
16.1 Licensed family entertainment centres are those premises which usually provide a range of 

amusements such as computer games, penny pushers and may have a separate section set 
aside for adult only gaming machines with higher stakes and prizes.  Licensed family 
entertainment centres will be able to make available unlimited category C and D machines 
where there is clear segregation in place so children do not access the areas where the 
category C machines are located (see Appendix 1).    
 

16.2 Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are 
admitted then the council will ensure that: 

 
• all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the remainder 

of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than 
through a designated entrance.  For this purpose a rope, floor markings or similar 
provision will not suffice and the council may insist on a permanent barrier of at least 1 
meter high 

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines (category C) are located 
• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised at all times 
• the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by 

staff; and 
• at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to personspeople under 18. 
 
16.3 The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 

personspeople from harm or being exploited by gambling in these premises.  The council 

Page 56



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 29 

will expect applicants to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas.  

 
16.4 The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. 

 
 
 
16.5 The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, 

however, they may include: 
• appropriate measures and training for staff as regards suspected truant children on the 

premises 
• measures and training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young 

children being on the premises 
• measures and training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived 

problems on or around the premises 
• the arrangements for the supervision of the premises either by staff or the use of a 

suitable CCTV system.  Advice regarding the suitability of a CCTV system can be 
obtained from West Yorkshire Police. 

 
appropriate measures and training for staff as regards suspected truant children on the premises 
measures and training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the 
premises 
measures and training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived problems on or around 
the premises. 

Page 57



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 30 

the arrangements for supervision of premises either by staff or the use of CCTV.   
• Any CCTV system installed should both the interior and the entrance working to the 

latest Home Office and ACPO standards and to the satisfaction of West Yorkshire Police 
and the local authority.  The system must record images clearly and these recordings 
be retained for a minimum of 31 days.  If the equipment is inoperative the police and 
local authority must be informed as soon as possible and immediate steps taken to 
make the system operative.  Notices must be displayed at the entrances advising that 
CCTV is in operation. 

 
16.6 Due to the nature of these premises, which are attractive to children, applicants who 

employ staff to supervise the premises should consult with the Disclosure and Barring 
ServiceIndependent Safeguarding Authority to determine if their staff need to undertake a 
DBSbe CRB checked. 

 
16.7 The council will refer to the Commission’s website to familiarise itself with any conditions 

that apply to operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the category 
C machines should be delineated. The council will also make itself aware of the mandatory 
or default conditions and any Gambling Commission Codes of Practice on these premises 
licences. 

  
17. Casinos 
 
17.1 Leeds has a number of casinos which were licensed under the Gaming Act 1968, which 

have been subsequently converted into Gambling Act 2005 Converted Casino Premises 
Licences. 

 
17.2 The Gambling Act states that a casino is an arrangement whereby people are given the 

opportunity to participate in one or more casino games whereby casino games are defined 
as a game of chance which is not equal chance gaming. This means that casino games offer 
the chance for multiple participants to take part in a game competing against the house or 
bank at different odds to their fellow players.  Casinos can also provide equal chance 
gaming and gaming machines.  Large and small casinos can also provide betting machines. 

 
Licence considerations / conditions 
 
17.3 The Gambling Commission has provided Guidance for Licensing Authorities and Licence 

Conditions and Code of Practice which are applied to Operator’s Licences.  The council will 
take this into consideration when determining licence applications for converted casino 
licences. 

 
17.4 The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 

people from harm or being exploited by gambling in these premises.  The council will 
expect applicants to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises. 

 
 
17.5 Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 

Gambling Commission Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice or by the applicant, the 
council may consider licence conditions to cover certain issues. 

Page 58



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 31 

 
17.6 Detailed information on the Large Casino Application Process can be found in Appendix 4. 
 
 
 

Page 59



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 32 

18.  Bingo premises 
 
18.1 There is no official definition for bingo in the Gambling Act 2005 however from a licensing 

point of view there is a category of premises licence specifically for bingo premises which is 
used by traditional commercial bingo halls for both cash and prize bingo. In addition this 
premises licence will authorise the provision of a limited number of gaming machines in 
line with the provisions of the Act (see Appendix 1).  

 
18.2  The council is aware that it is important that if children are allowed to enter premises 

licensed for bingo that they do not participate in gambling, other than on category D 
machines. Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which children 
are admitted then the council will ensure that: 

 
• all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the remainder 

of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than 
through a designated entrance. For this purpose a rope, floor markings or similar 
provision will not suffice and the council may insist on a permanent barrier of at least 
one meter high  

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located 
• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised at all times 
• the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by staff 
• at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to personspeople under 18 
• children will not be admitted to bingo premises unless accompanied by an adult.  

 
18.3 The Gambling Commission has provided Guidance for Licensing Authorities and Licence 

Conditions and Code of Practice which are applied to Operator’s Licences.  The council will 
take this into consideration when determining licence applications for bingo premises. 

 
18.4 Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 
 the Gambling Commission Code of Practice or the applicant, the council may consider 
 licence conditions to address such issues. 
 
19.  Betting premises  
 
19.1 Betting premises are premises such as bookmakers where various types of gambling are 

authorised to take place. The Act contains a single class of licence for betting premises 
however within this single class there are different types of premises which require 
licensing such as high street bookmakers, bookmakers located in self-contained facilities at 
race courses as well as the general betting premises licences that track operators will 
require. 

 
19.2 The council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 

people from harm or being exploited by gambling in these premises.  The council will 
expect applicants to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises. 

 
 

Page 60



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 33 

Betting machines 
 
19.3 The council is aware that Section 181 of the Act contains an express power for licensing 

authorities to restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances 
in which they are made available by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises 
licence. When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting 
machines in particular premises, the council, amongst other things, will take into account 
the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-person 
transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines.  

 
19.4 Where an applicant for a betting premises licence intends to offer higher stake category B 

gaming machines (categories B2-B4) including any Fixed Odds Betting Terminals (FOBTs), 
then applicants should consider the control measures related to the protection of 
vulnerable personspeople, highlighted in section 132. 

 
19.5 Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 

Gambling Commission Code of Practice or the applicant, the council may consider licence 
conditions to address such issues. 

 
20.  Tracks 
 
20.1 Tracks are sites (including racecourses and dog tracks) where races or other sporting 

events take place. Betting is a major gambling activity on tracks, both in the form of pool 
betting (often known as the “totaliser” or “tote”), and also general betting, often known as 
“fixed-odds” betting. Multiple betting outlets are usually located on tracks such as ‘on-
course’ betting operators who come onto the track just on race days to provide betting for 
the races taking place on that track. There can also be ‘off-course’ betting operators who 
may operate self-contained facilities at the tracks which offer customers the chance to bet 
on other events, not just those taking place on the track. 

 
20.2 All tracks will require a primary `general betting premises licence’ that the track operator 

will hold. It should be noted that track operators do not require an operating licence from 
the Gambling Commission although they may apply for one. This is because the various 
other gambling operators offering betting at the track will each hold an operating licence. 

 
20.3 Tracks may also be subject to one or more premises licences, provided each licence relates 

to a specified area of the track. This may be preferable for any self-contained premises 
providing off-course betting facilities at the track. The council will however assess each 
individual case on its merits before deciding if this is necessary. Where possible the council 
will be happy for the track operator to decide if any particular off-course operators should 
apply for a separate premises licence. 

 
 
20.4  If any off-course operators are permitted to provide betting facilities under the 

authorisation of the track operator’s premises licence, then it will be the responsibility of 
the premises licence holder to ensure the proper conduct of such betting within the 
premises boundary. 

 
 

Page 61



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 34 

20.5 Gambling Commission guidance also indicates that it would be possible for other types of 
gambling premises to be located at a track under the authorisation of separate premises 
licences, e.g. a casino premises licence or adult gaming centre premises licence. If you 
require further guidance on this provision please contact the Entertainment Licensing 
Section. 

 
20.6 Children and young personspeople will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities 

for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, 
although they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines and betting 
machines (other than category D machines) are provided. 

 
20.7 The council will consider the impact upon the protection of children licensing objective and 

the need to ensure that entrances to each type of betting premises are distinct and that 
children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

  
Betting machines 
 
20.8 The council is aware that Section 181 of the Act contains an express power for licensing 

authorities to restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances 
in which they are made available by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises 
licence. When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting 
machines in particular premises, the council, amongst other things, will take into account 
the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-person 
transactions and the location of the machines, in order to ensure they are in a properly 
segregated area where children are not permitted. 

 
20.9 Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default conditions, 

the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice or the applicant, the 
council may consider licence conditions to address such issues. 

 
21.  Travelling fairs 
 
21.1 Travelling fairs have traditionally been able to provide various types of low stake gambling 

without the need for a licence or permit provided that certain conditions are met and this 
provision continues in similar fashion under the new Act.  
 

21.2 Travelling fairs have the right to provide an unlimited number of category D gaming 
machines and/or equal chance prize gaming (without the need for a permit) as long as the 
gambling amounts to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair (see Appendix 1).  

 
21.3 The council will consider whether any fairs which take up the above entitlement fall within 

the statutory definition of a travelling fair. 
 
21.4 The council is aware that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair is 

per calendar year and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. The 
council will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses the 
council boundary is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 

Page 62



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 35 

 
22.  Provisional statements 
 
22.1 A provisional statement application is a process which allows a developer to examine the 

likelihood of whether a building which he expects to be constructed, to be altered or to 
acquire a right to occupy would be granted a premises licence.  A provisional statement is 
not a licence and merely gives the holder some form of guarantee that a premises licence 
would be granted so the developer can judge whether a development is worth taking 
forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence.  An applicant may also apply for a 
provisional statement for premises which already hold a premises licence (either for a 
different type of gambling or the same type). 

 
22.2 In terms of representations about premises licence applications, following the grant of a 

provisional statement, no further representations from responsible authorities or 
interested parties can be taken into account unless they concern matters which could not 
have been addressed at the provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in the 
applicant’s circumstances. In addition, the council may refuse the premises licence (or 
grant it on terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by 
reference to matters: 

 
a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or 
b) which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances. 

 
22.3 When determining a provisional statement application the council will operate in 

accordance with the Act and will not have regard to any issues related to planning consent 
or building regulations, e.g. the likelihood that planning consent will be granted.  

 

Page 63



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 36 

 
Part D  Permits, notices and lottery registrations 
 
23.  Unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming machine permits (UFECs) 
 
23.1 The term ‘unlicensed family entertainment centre’ is one defined in the Act and refers to a 

premises which provides category D gaming machines along with various other 
amusements such as computer games and penny pushers. The premises is ‘unlicensed’ in 
that it does not require a premises licence but does require a permit to be able to provide 
category D machines. It should not be confused with a ‘licensed family entertainment 
centre’ which requires a premises licence because it contains both category C and D 
gaming machines.  

 
23.2 The Gambling Act 2005 contains provision for local authorities to prepare a “Statement of 

Principles” that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a 
permit. Schedule 10, Para 7 of the Act states “In preparing this statement, and/or 
considering applications, it [the council] need not (but may) have regard to the licensing 
objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Commission. 

 
23.3 In line with the above provision the council has prepared a ‘Statement of Principles’ in 

relation to unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming machines as follows: 
 
Statement of Principles 
 
23.4 The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. 

 
23.5 The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, 

however, they may include: 
• appropriate measures and training for staff as regards suspected truant children on the 

premises 
• measures and training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young 

children being on the premises 
• measures and training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived 

problems on or around the premises. 
• the arrangements for supervision of premises either by staff or the use of CCTV.  Any 

CCTV system installed should both the interior and the entrance working to the latest 
Home Office and ACPO standards and to the satisfaction of West Yorkshire Police and 
the local authority.  The system must record images clearly and these recordings be 
retained for a minimum of 31 days.  If the equipment is inoperative the police and local 
authority must be informed as soon as possible and immediate steps taken to make the 
system operative.  Notices must be displayed at the entrances advising that CCTV is in 
operation. 

 
23.6 Due to the nature of these premises, which are attractive to children, applicants who 

employ staff to supervise the premises should consult with the Disclosure and Barring 

Page 64



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 37 

ServiceIndependent Safeguarding Authority to determine if their staff need to undertake a 
DBS checkbe CRB checked. 

 
23.7 The council will also expect, as per the Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants 

demonstrate: 
• A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 

permissible in unlicensed FECs 
• That the applicant has no relevant conviction (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of 

the Act), and  
• That staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

 
23.8 In line with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit, the 

council can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in the 
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application. 

  
23.9 Applicants only need to address the “Statement of Principles” when making their initial 

applications and not at renewal time.  
 
24 Gaming machine permits in premises licensed for the sale of alcohol 
 
24.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 

premises, to automatically have two gaming machines, of categories C and/or D. The 
premises merely need to notify the council. The council can remove the automatic 
authorisation in respect of any particular premises if: 

 
• provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing 

objectives; 
• gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of Section 282 of the 

Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the licensing authority, that 
a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine has been complied with) 

• the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 
• an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises. 

 
24.2 If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then it needs to apply for a permit 

and the council must consider that application based upon the licensing objectives, any 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 
2005,  and “such matters as they think relevant.” The council considers that “such matters” 
will be decided on a case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to 
protect children and vulnerable personspeople from harm or being exploited by gambling. 
The council will also expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be 
sufficient measures to ensure that children and young people under the age of 18 do not 
have access to the adult only gaming machines.   

 
24.3 All alcohol licensed premises with gaming machines must have regard to the need to 

protect children and vulnerable personspeople from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and provide sufficient  measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not use the adult 
only gaming machines.   

 

Page 65



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 38 

24.4 Measures which may satisfy the council that personspeople under 18 years will be 
prevented from using the machines may include the machines being in close proximity to 
the bar, or in any other area where they are capable of being adequately supervised. 
Notices and signage may also help. As regards the protection of vulnerable personspeople, 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets and or helpline 
numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
24.5 The council can decide to grant the permit with a smaller number of machines and/or a 

different category of machines than that applied for. Conditions (other than these) cannot 
be attached. 

 
24.6 The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission about the location and operation of the machine(s). 
 
24.7 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for 

their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would need to be dealt with under 
the relevant provisions of the Act. 

 
24.8 Alcohol licensed premises are able to provide some limited equal chance gaming.  

Licensees are referred to the advice provided by the Gambling Commission and Appendix 3 
of this document. 

 
25.  Prize gaming permits  
 
25.1  Section 288 defines gaming as prize gaming if the nature and size of the  
prize is not determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the 

gaming. The prizes will be determined by the operator before play commences. Prize 
gaming can often be seen at seaside resorts in amusement arcades where a form of bingo 
is offered and the prizes are displayed on the walls. 

 
25.2  A prize gaming permit is a permit issued by the licensing authority to  
authorise the provision of facilities for gaming with prizes on specified premises. 
 
25.3 The Gambling Act 2005 contains provision for local authorities to prepare a “Statement of 

Principles” that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a 
permit. Schedule 14, Para 8 of the Act states, “in preparing this statement, and/or 
considering applications, it [the council] need not (but may) have regard to the licensing 
objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under 
Section 25. 

 
25.4 In line with the above provision the council has prepared a Statement of Principles in 

relation to prize gaming permits as follows: 
 
Statement of Principles 
 
25.5 The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. 

 

Page 66



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 39 

25.6 The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, 
however, they may include: 

 
• appropriate measures and training for staff as regards suspected truant children on the 

premises 
• measures and training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young 

children being on the premises 
• measures and training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived 

problems on or around the premises. 
• the arrangements for supervision of premises either by staff or the use of CCTV.  Any 

CCTV system installed should both the interior and the entrance working to the Home 
Office and ACPO standards as described PSDB leaflet 09/05 and to the satisfaction of 
West Yorkshire Police and the local authority.  The system must record images clearly 
and these recordings be retained for a minimum of 31 days.  If the equipment is 
inoperative the police and local authority must be informed as soon as possible and 
immediate steps taken to make the system operative.  Notices must be displayed at the 
entrances advising that CCTV is in operation. 

 
25.7 Due to the nature of these premises, which are attractive to children, applicants who 

employ staff to supervise the premises should consult with the Disclosure and Barring 
ServiceIndependent Safeguarding Authority to determine if their staff need to undertake a 
DBS check. be CRB checked. 

 
25.8 The council will also expect, as per the Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants 

demonstrate: 
 

• A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible 

• That the gaming offered is within the law. 
 
25.9 In line with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit, the 

council can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in the 
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application. 

  
25.10 Applicants only need to address the “Statement of Principles” when making their initial 

applications and not at renewal time.  
 
25.11 There are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which the permit holder must comply. 

The conditions in the Act are: 
 

• the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 
• all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which 

the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on 
the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in 
the premises on the day that it is played; 

• the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and 

• participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.  

Page 67



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 40 

 

Page 68



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 41 

26. Club gaming and club machine permits 
 
26.1 Members clubs and miners’ welfare institutes may apply for a ‘club gaming permit’ or a 

‘club machine permit’. The ‘club gaming permit’ will enable the premises to provide 
gaming machines (three machines of categories B4, C or D), equal chance gaming. i.e. 
poker, bingo etc. A ‘club machine permit’ will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (three machines of categories B4, C or D). Commercial clubs may apply for a ‘club 
machine permit’ only. 

 
26.2 To qualify for these special club permits a members club must have at least 25 members 

and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming.  A 
members’ club must be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, 
and controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of 
the Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations. 

  
26.3 Clubs must have regard to the protection of children and vulnerable personspeople from 

harm or being exploited by gambling.  They must provide sufficient measures to ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not use the adult only gaming machines.   These measures may 
include: 

 
• the machines being in close proximity to the bar, or in any other area where they are 

capable of being adequately supervised 
• notices and signage  
• the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare. 
 
26.4 Before granting the permit the council will need to satisfy itself that the premises meets 

the requirements of a members’ club and that the majority of members are over 18. 
 
26.5 The council may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 
 

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit 
for which they have applied; 

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
personspeople; 

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.  

 
26.6 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available for premises which hold a club premises 

certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. Under the fast-track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the ground 
upon which the council can refuse a permit is reduced. The grounds on which an 
application under the process may be refused are: 

 
(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, 

Page 69



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 42 

(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or 

(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last 
ten years has been cancelled. 

 
27.  Temporary use notices 
 
27.1 Temporary use notices allow the use of premises on not more than 21 days in any 12 

month period for gambling where there is no premises licence but where a gambling 
operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. 
Premises that might be useful for a temporary use notice would include hotels, conference 
centres and sporting venues. 

 
27.2 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for any form of equal chance gambling 

where those participating in the gaming are taking part in a competition which is intended 
to produce a single, overall winner. 

 
27.3 Only personspeople or companies holding a relevant operating licence can apply for a 

temporary use notice to authorise the particular class of gambling permitted by their 
operating licence. 

 
27.4 A temporary use notice must be lodged with the licensing authority not less than three 

months and one day before the day on which the gambling is due to take place. Detailed 
information about how to serve a temporary use notice will be available in a separate 
guidance note.     

 
27.5 The Act makes a special reference, in the context of temporary use notices, to a “set of 

premises” to try and ensure that large premises which cannot reasonably be viewed as 
separate are not used for more temporary use notices than permitted under the Act. The 
council considers that the determination of what constitutes “a set of premises” will be a 
question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given. In considering 
whether a place falls within the definition of a “set of premises”, the council will look at, 
amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the premises. The council 
will be ready to object to notices where it appears that their effect would be to permit 
regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of premises. 

 
28.  Occasional use notices (for tracks) 
 
28.1 There is a special provision in the Act which provides that where there is betting on a track 

on eight days or less in a calendar year, betting may be permitted by an occasional use 
notice without the need for a full premises licence. Track operators and occupiers need to 
be aware that the procedure for applying for an occasional use notice is different to that 
for a temporary use notice.   The application may be made in writing, to the council by the 
person responsible for the administration of the events on a track or by an occupier of the 
track. 
 

28.2 The council has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring that the 
statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. The council will however 

Page 70



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 43 

consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is entitled to benefit from 
such notice. 

 
29.  Small society lottery registrations 
 
29.1 A lottery generally refers to schemes under which prizes are distributed by chance among 

entrants who have given some form of value for their chance to take part. 
 
29.2 The Act creates two principal classes of lotteries: Licensed lotteries and exempt lotteries. 

Licensed lotteries are large society lotteries and lotteries run for the benefit of local 
authorities. These will be regulated by the Gambling Commission. Within the class of 
exempt lotteries there are four sub classes, one of which is small society lotteries.  

 
29.3 A small society lottery is a lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial society as 

defined in the Act which also meets specific financial requirements set out in the Act. 
These will be administered by the council for small societies who have a principal office in 
Leeds and want to run such lottery.  

 
29.4 A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery is £20,000 or less 

and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a calendar year is £250,000 or less.   
 
29.5 To be ‘non-commercial’ a society must be established and conducted: 
 

• for charitable purposes, 
• for the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or a cultural 

activity; or 
• for any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain. 
 

29.6 The other types of exempt lotteries are ‘incidental non-commercial lotteries’, ‘private 
lotteries’ and ‘customer lotteries’. If you require guidance on the different categories of 
lotteries please contact the council. 

 
29.7 The National lottery is not licensed by the Gambling Act 2005 and continues to be 

regulated by the National Lottery Commission under the National Lottery Act 1993.    

Page 71



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 44 

   
Part E Enforcement 
 
30.   Enforcement principles 
 
30.1 The council will work closely with the responsible authorities in accordance with a locally 

established joint enforcement protocol and will aim to promote the licensing objectives by 
targeting known high risk premises following government guidance around better 
regulation.  Specifically the council is subject to the Regulators’ Code which provides the 
following six provisions which the Council should follow in its enforcement activities, unless 
it concludes, on the basis of material evidence, that a specific provision of the Code is 
either not applicable or outweighed by another relevant consideration. 
 
1. Regulators should carry out their activities in a way that supports those they regulate 

to comply and grow  
2. Regulators should provide simple and straightforward ways to engage with those they 

regulate and hear their views  
3. Regulators should base their regulatory activities on risk  
4. Regulators should share information about compliance and risk  
5. Regulators should ensure clear information, guidance and advice is available to help 

those they regulate meet their responsibilities to comply  
6. Regulators should ensure that their approach to their regulatory activities is 

transparent 
 

30.2 In carrying out its enforcement duties with regards to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers to institute criminal proceedings in respect of certain offences under the Act the 
council will endeavour to be: 
 
Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies should 

be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised; 
 
Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 

scrutiny; 
 
Consistent:    rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 
 
Transparent:   regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly; and 
 
Targeted:   regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 

effects. 
 
30.3 The council will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 

possible.   
 

Page 72



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 45 

30.4 Where there is a Primary Authority scheme in place, the council will seek guidance from 
the Primary Authority before taking any enforcement action.  At the time of the publication 
of this policy there were four Primary Authority arrangements with host local authorities: 

 
 Coral    London Borough of Newham 
 William Hill   City of Westminster 
 Ladbrokes   Milton Keynes 

Paddy Power   Reading 
 
30.5 Further information, including an index of all Primary Authority arrangements can be found 

at https://primaryauthorityregister.info/par/index.php/home 
 
30.6 The council will also adopt a risk-based inspection programme in line with government 

recommendations around better regulation and the principles of the Hampton Review.   
 
30.7 The main enforcement and compliance role for the council in terms of the Gambling Act 

2005 will be to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other permissions which 
it authorises. The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the operator and 
personal licences. Concerns about the manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines 
will not be dealt with by the council but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. In 
circumstances where the council believes a premises requires a premises licence for 
gambling activities and no such licence is in force, the council will alert the Gambling 
Commission.  

 
30.8 The council will also keep itself informed of developments as regards the work of the 

Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions of local 
authorities. 

 
30.9 The council’s enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available 

upon request.  
 
31.  Reviews 
 
31.1 A review is a process defined in the legislation which ultimately leads to a licence being 

reassessed by the Licensing Committee with the possibility that the licence may be 
revoked, suspended or that conditions may amended or new conditions added. 

  
31.2 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 

responsible authorities; however, it is for the council to decide whether the review is to be 
carried-out. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is:  

 
i) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
ii) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  
iii) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
iv) in accordance with this authority’s Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Licensing 

Policy. 
 

Page 73

https://primaryauthorityregister.info/par/index.php/home


Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 46 

31.3 In addition the council may also reject the application on the grounds that the request is 
frivolous, vexatious, will certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter, revoke or 
suspend the licence, or is substantially the same as previous representations or requests 
for review.  

 
31.4 The council can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks 

is appropriate. 

Page 74



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 47 

 
Appendix 1 Gaming machines 
 
This appendix describes the categories of gaming machine as set out in the Act (and in regulations) 
and the number of such machines that may be permitted in each type of gambling premises.  
 

• Table 1 below sets out the current proposals for the different categories with the 
maximum stakes and prizes that will apply. This table will be updated as soon as the 
proposals are confirmed. 

 
• Table 2 overleaf shows the maximum number of machines permitted and in the case of 

casinos the ratios between tables and machines. 
 
Table 1 

Category of machine Maximum Stake Maximum Prize 

A Unlimited Unlimited 

B1 £5 £10,000  
(with the option of a max £20,000 linked 

progressive jackpot on a premises basis only) 

1B2 £100 £500 

B3 £2 £500 

B3A £2 £500 

B4 £2 £400 

C £1 £100 

D – money prize 10p £5 

D – non-money prize  
(other than a crane grab machine) 

30p £8 

D – non-money prize (crane grab 
machine) 

£1 £50 

D – combined money and non-money 
prize (other than a coin pusher or 
penny falls machine) 

10p £8  
(of which no more than £5 may be a money 

prize) 

D – combined money and non-money 
prize (coin pusher or penny falls 
machine) 

20p £15  
(of which no more than £8 may be a money 

prize) 

                                                      
1 The category B2 is not actually a traditional slot machine. It refers to a type of gaming machine known as 
a fixed odds betting terminal (FOBTs). These are a new type of gaming machine which generally appear in 
licensed bookmakers. FOBTs have ‘touch-screen’ displays and look similar to quiz machines familiar in pubs 
and clubs. They normally offer a number of games, roulette being the most popular.  The Government has 
announced a reduction in the stakes of B2 machines to £2 in April 2018. 

Page 75



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 48 

Table 2 
 Machine category 

Premises Type A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

Large casino (machine/ 
table ratio of 5-1 
up to maximum)  

 

Maximum of 150 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A machines), 

within the total limit of 150 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Small casino 
(machine/table ratio of 
2-1 up to maximum) 

Maximum of 80 machines 
Any combination of machines in categories B to D (except B3A machines), 

within the total limit of 80 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Pre-2005 Act Casinos 
(no machine/table 
ratio) 

Maximum of 20 machines categories B to D (except B3A machines),  
or any number of C or D machines instead 

Betting premises and 
tracks operated by pool 
betting 

 

Maximum of 4 machines categories B2 to D (except B3A machines) 

Bingo Premises1 

 

Maximum of 20% of the 
total number of gaming 
machines which are 
available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or 
B4* 

No limit C or D machines 

Adult gaming centre2 

Maximum of 20% of the 
total number of gaming 
machines which are 
available for use on the 
premises categories B3 or 
B4* 

No limit C or D machines 

Licensed family 
entertainment centre3 

 

 

No limit C or D machines 

Family entertainment 
centre (with permit)  

No limit on 
category D 
machines 

Clubs or miners’ 
welfare institutes with 
permits4 

Maximum of 3 machines in categories B3A 
or B4 to D* 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises  

 

1 or 2 machines of 
category C or D automatic 

upon notification 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises with 
licensed premises 
gaming machine 
permit 

Number of category C-D 
machines as specified on 

permit 

Travelling fair  
No limit on 
category D 
machines 

 A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 
 

Page 76



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 49 

 
1. Bingo premises licence are entitled to make available for use a number of category B gaming machines 

not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines on the premises.   Where a premises 
licence was granted before 13 July 2011, they are entitled to make available eight category B gaming 
machines, or 20% of the total number of gaming machines, whichever is the greater. Category B 
machines at bingo premises are restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A machines. 

 
2. Adult gaming centres are entitled to make available for use a number of category B gaming machines 

not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available for use on the premises 
and any number of category C or D machines. Where a premises licence was granted before 13 July 
2011, they are entitled to make available four category B gaming machines, or 20% of the total number 
of gaming machines, whichever is the greater.  Category B machines at adult gaming centres are 
restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A machines. 

 
3. Only premises that are wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available may hold an 

unlicensed FEC gaming machine permit or an FEC premises licence. Category C machines may only be 
sited within licensed FECs and where an FEC permit is in force. They must be in a separate area to 
ensure the segregation and supervision of machines that may only be played by adults. There is no 
power for the licensing authority to set a limit on the number of machines under the FEC permit. 

 
4. Members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes with a club gaming permit or with a club machine 

permit, are entitled to site a total of three machines in categories B3A to D but only one B3A machine 
can be sited as part of this entitlement.  

 
5. Commercial clubs with club machine or gaming permits are entitled to a total of three machines in 

categories B4 to D. 

Page 77



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 50 

 

Appendix 2 Glossary of terms 
 
Term Description 

ATM Auto teller machine or cash machine. 

Betting Betting is defined as making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a 
race, competition or other event or process or on the outcome of 
anything occurring or not occurring or on whether anything is or is 
not true. It is irrelevant if the event has already happened or not and 
likewise whether one person knows the outcome or not. (Spread 
betting is not included within this definition). 

Betting Machines /  Bet Receipt 
Terminal 

Betting machines can be described as automated betting terminals 
where people can place bets on sporting events removing the need 
to queue up and place a bet over the counter.  

Bingo There are essentially two types of bingo: cash bingo, where the 
stakes paid make up the cash prizes that can be won and prize 
bingo, where various forms of prizes can be won, not directly related 
to the stakes paid. 

Book Running a 'book' is the act of quoting odds and accepting bets on an 
event. Hence the term 'Bookmaker'. 

Casino games A game of chance, which is not equal chance gaming. Casino games 
includes Roulette and black jack etc. 

Chip  Casinos in the UK require you to use chips to denote money. They 
are usually purchased and exchanged at a cashier's booth. 

Coin pusher or penny falls 
machine 

A machine of the kind which is neither a money prize machine nor a 
non-money prize machine 

Crane grab machine A non-money prize machine in respect of which every prize which 
can be won consists of an individual physical object (such as a 
stuffed toy) won by a person’s success in manipulating a device 
forming part of the machine so as to separate, and keep separate, 
one or more physical objects from a group of such objects. 

Default condition These are prescribed in regulations and will be attached to all classes 
of premises licence, unless excluded by the council. 

Equal Chance Gaming Gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank. 

Fixed odds betting If a gambler is able to establish what the return on a bet will be 
when it is placed, (and the activity is not 'gaming' see below), then it 
is likely to be betting at fixed odds. 

Fixed Odds betting terminals 
(FOBTs) 

FOBTs are a type of gaming machine which generally appear in 
licensed bookmakers. FOBTs have ‘touch-screen’ displays and look 
similar to quiz machines familiar in pubs and clubs. They normally 
offer a number of games, roulette being the most popular. 

Gaming Gaming can be defined as 'the playing of a game of chance for 
winnings in money or monies worth, whether any person playing the 
game is at risk of losing any money or monies worth or not'. 

Page 78



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 51 

Term Description 

Gaming Machine Any type of machine allowing any sort of gambling activity including 
betting on virtual events but not including home computers even 
though users can access online gaming websites.  

Licensing Objectives  The licensing objectives are three principal goals which form the 
basis of the Act. Stakeholders who have an interest in the Act need 
to try and promote these objectives: The licensing objectives are: 
• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, 

being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime. 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. 
• Protecting children and other vulnerable personspeople from 

being harmed or exploited by gambling. 

Lottery A lottery generally refers to schemes under which prizes are 
distributed by chance among entrants who have given some form of 
value for their chance to take part. A lottery is defined as either a 
simple lottery or a complex lottery. A simple lottery is one where 
personspeople are required to pay to participate and one or more 
prizes are allocated to one or more members of a class and the 
prizes are allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance. A 
complex lottery is where personspeople are required to pay to 
participate and one or more members of a class and the prizes are 
allocated by a series of processes where the first of those processes 
relies wholly on chance. Prize means money, articles or services 
provided by the members of the class among whom the prize is 
allocated. (It should be noted that the National Lottery is not 
included in this definition of lottery and is regulated by the National 
Lottery Commission). 

Mandatory condition 
 

A condition which will be set by the Secretary of State (some set out 
in the Act and some to be prescribed by regulations) which will be 
automatically attached to a specific type of premises licence. The 
council will have no discretion to alter or remove these conditions. 

Money prize machine A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a 
result of using the machine is a money prize. 

Non-money prize machine A machine in respect of which every prize which can be won as a 
result of using the machine is a non-money prize.  The winner of the 
prize is determined by:  

(i) the position in which the coin or token comes to rest after it has 
been inserted into the machine, together with the position of other 
coins or tokens which have previously been inserted into the 
machine to pay a charge for use, or  

(ii) if the insertion of a single coin to pay the charge for use enables 
the person using the machine to release one or more tokens within 
the machine, the position in which such tokens come to rest after 
being released, together with the position of other tokens which 
have previously been so released. 

Page 79



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 52 

 
Term Description 

Odds  The ratio to which a bet will be paid if the bet wins, e.g. 3-1 means 
for every £1 bet, a person would receive £3 of winnings. 

Off-course betting operator Off-course betting operators may, in addition to premises away from 
the track, operate self-contained betting premises within a track 
premises. Such self-contained premises will provide facilities for 
betting on both events taking place at the track (on-course betting), 
as well as other sporting events taking place away from the track 
(off-course betting). In essence such premises operate like a 
traditional high street bookmakers. They will however only normally 
operate on race days.    

On-course betting operator The on-course betting operator is one who comes onto on a track, 
temporarily, while races are taking place, and operates at the track 
side. On-course betting operators tend to offer betting only on the 
events taking place on the track that day (on-course betting). 

Pool Betting For the purposes of the Gambling Act, pool betting is made on terms 
that all or part of the winnings:  
1) Shall be determined by reference to the aggregate of the stakes 
paid or agreed to be paid by the personspeople betting  
2) Shall be divided among the winners or  
3) Shall or may be something other than money. For the purposes of 
the Gambling Act, pool betting is horse-race pool betting if it relates 
to horse-racing in Britain. 

Regulations or Statutory 
instruments 

Regulations are a form of law, often referred to as delegated or 
secondary legislation. They have the same binding legal effect as 
Acts and usually state rules that apply generally, rather than to 
specific personspeople or things. However, regulations are not made 
by Parliament. Rather, they are made by personspeople or bodies to 
whom Parliament has delegated the authority to make them, such 
as a minister or an administrative agency. 

Representations In the context of the Gambling Act representations are either 
positive statements of support or negative objections which are 
made in relation to a licensing application. Representations must be 
made in time, e.g. during a designated notice period.     

Responsible authority 
(authorities) 

Responsible authorities (RAs) are agencies which have been 
appointed by the Gambling Act or regulations to fulfil a designated 
role during the licensing process. RAs must be sent copies of all 
licensing applications and have the power to make representations 
about such applications. RAs also have the power to ask for licences 
to be reviewed. For Leeds the RAs include West Yorkshire Police, The 
local Safeguarding Children Board, Leeds City Council’s Development 
Department as well as several others.    

Page 80



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 53 

 
Term Description 

Skill machine / Skill with prizes 
machine 

The Act does not cover machines that give prizes as a result of the 
application of pure skill by players. A skill with prizes machine is one 
on which the winning of a prize is determined only by the player’s 
skill – any element of chance imparted by the action of the machine 
would cause it to be a gaming machine. An example of a skill game 
would be trivia game machines, popular in pubs and clubs, which 
require the player to answer general knowledge questions to win 
cash prizes. 

Spread betting A form of investing which is more akin to betting, and can be applied 
either to sporting events or to the financial markets. Spread betting 
is regulated by the Financial Services Authority. 

Stake The amount pledged when taking part in gambling activity as either 
a bet, or deposit to the bank or house where the house could be a 
gaming machine.  

Statement of principles 
document 

A document prepared by the council which outlines the areas that 
applicants need to consider before applying for gaming permits.  

Table gaming Card games played in casinos. 

Tote  "Tote" is short for Totaliser, a system introduced to Britain in 1929 
to offer pool betting on racecourses.   

Track Tracks are sites (including horse tracks and dog tracks) where races 
or other sporting events take place. Examples of tracks within the 
Leeds district would be Elland Road Football ground and Headingley 
Stadium.  

 

Page 81



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 54 

A  

Appendix 3 Summary of gaming entitlements for clubs and pubs 
 
 Members’ club 

or MW 
institute with 
club gaming 
permit 

Bridge or whist 
club 

Members’ club 
or commercial 
club with club 
machine 
permit 

Members’ club, 
commercial 
club or MW 
institute 
without a club 
gaming permit 

Pubs and other 
alcohol-
licensed 
premises 

Equal chance 
gaming 

Yes Bridge and/or 
whist only 

Yes Yes Yes 

Limits on 
stakes 

No limit No limit Poker 
£1000 per 
week 
£250 per day 
£10 per person 
per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Poker 
£1000 per 
week 
£250 per day 
£10 per person 
per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Cribbage & 
dominoes 
No limit 
 
Poker 
£100 per 
premises per 
day 
 
Other gaming 
£5 per person 
per game 

Limits on prizes No limit No limit Poker 
£250 per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Poker 
£250 per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Poker 
£100 per game 
 
Other gaming 
No limit 

Maximum 
participation 
fees – per 
person per day 

Bridge and/or 
whist* 
£20 
 
Other gaming 
£3 

£18 (without 
club gaming 
permit) 
 
£20 (with club 
gaming permit) 

Bridge and/or 
whist* 
£18 
 
Other gaming 
£3 (commercial 
club) 
£1 (members 
club) 

Bridge and/or 
whist* 
£18 
 
Other gaming 
£1 

None 
permitted 
 

Bankers or 
unequal 
chance gaming 

Pontoon 
Chemin de Fer 

None 
permitted 

None 
permitted 
 

None 
permitted 

None 
permitted 

Limits on bingo Maximum of 
£2,000 per 
week in 
stakes/prizes.  
If more then 
will need an 
operating 
licence. 

No bingo 
permitted 

Maximum of 
£2,000 per 
week in 
stakes/prizes.  
If more then 
will need an 
operating 
licence. 

Maximum of 
£2,000 per 
week in 
stakes/prizes.  
If more then 
will need an 
operating 
licence. 

Maximum of 
£2,000 per 
week in 
stakes/prizes.  
If more then 
will need an 
operating 
licence. 

 
* On a day when no other facilities for gaming are provided 
 

Page 82



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 55 

A  

Appendix 4 Large Casino 
 
The current status of the Large Casino is that a premises licence has been granted.  The following 
process will apply should the current licence cease to exist because it has either been surrendered 
or revoked. 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Act introduces three new categories of casino; one regional casino, eight large casinos 

and eight small casinos.  In 2006 the council submitted a proposal for a regional and large 
casino to the Casino Advisory Panel.   

 
1.2 On 15th May 2008 the Categories of Casino Regulation 2008 and the Gambling 

(Geographical Distribution of Large and Small Casino Premises Licences) Order 2008 was 
approved.  This specified which licensing authorities could issue premises licences for large 
and small casinos.  Leeds City Council was authorised to issue a large casino premises 
licence. 

 
1.3 On 26th February 2008 the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport issued the Code 

of Practice on Determinations Relating to Large and Small Casinos (Code of Practice).  The 
council will comply with this Code which sets out: 

 
a. the procedure to be followed in making any determinations required under Paragraphs 

4 and 5 of Schedule 9 to the Gambling Act 2005 and 
b. matters to which the Licensing Authority should have regard in making these 

determinations. 
 
1.4 The council recognises that applicants may either apply for a casino premises licence or a 

provisional statement.  As for all premises licences, applicants for a casino premises licence 
must fulfil certain criteria in that they must: 

 
a. hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission; and 
b. have the right to occupy the premises in question. 

 
1.5 Should an applicant be unable to meet these two criteria they should apply for a 

provisional statement. 
 
1.6 Unless otherwise specified, any reference to the application and procedures for a premises 

licence for a casino in the following parts of this section will also include the application 
and procedures for a provisional statement for a casino. 

 
1.7 Where a provisional statement application is successful, the council may limit the period of 

time for which the statement will have effect.  This period may be extended if the applicant 
so applies. 

 

Page 83



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 56 

1.8 The council will ensure that any pre-existing contract, arrangement or other relationship 
with a company or individual does not affect the procedure for assessing applications so as 
to make it unfair or perceived to be unfair to any applicant. 

 
1.9 In making a decision on both stages the council will take heed of any current Codes of 

Practice, current Regulations and guidance issued by the Secretary of State for the 
Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport and the Gambling Commission. 

 
1.10 The council has not passed a “no casino” resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 

2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so.  It may choose to exercise this option 
should there be only one application for a large casino premises licence or should, where 
there is more than one application, those applications fail to meet the council’s aspirations 
for benefit for the Leeds metropolitan area.  Should the council decide in the future to pass 
such a resolution, it will update this policy with details of that resolution and any such 
decision will be made by full Council. 

 
1.11 As per Part 8, Section 210 of the Gambling Act 2005 the council will not have regard to 

whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to be permitted in accordance with the 
law relating to planning or building and any licensing decision will not constrain any later 
decision by the council under the law relating to planning or building. 

 
1.12 The council does not have a preferred location for the new large casino. Applicants can 

submit proposals for any site or location within the Leeds metropolitan area and each will 
be judged on its own individual merits. 

  
2. Application Process 
 
Stage 1 
 
2.1 The council will publish an invitation calling for applications.  This invitation will be 

published in a trade newspaper, journal or similar publication.  It will state the latest date 
the application must be made and the place from which a person may obtain an 
application pack. 

 
2.2 The part of the application pack which relates to stage 1 will include, as a minimum, the 

following: 
 

• Guidance for applicants 
• Application form for Stage 1 
• Example notices 
 

2.3 With regard to stage 1 of the application process, the general principles as stated in Part C 
of this gambling policy will apply to all applications. 
 

2.4 At stage 1 the Licensing Committee or sub-committee, will determine, if there are valid 
representations, which applications would be granted if they were able to grant more than 
one application. 
 

Page 84



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 57 

2.5 At stage 1, the council will not consider whether any of the applications is more deserving 
of being granted. 

Stage 2 
 
2.6 Should more than one applicant pass through stage 1, the process will proceed to the 

second stage with each successful applicant being invited to submit information about how 
their application would, if granted, benefit the area. 

 
2.7 The part of the application pack which relates to stage 2 will include, as a  minimum, the 

following: 
• Stage 2 evaluation methodology, including scoring matrix 
• Details of current Licensing Committee 
• Details of the Advisory Panel 
• Terms of reference for Advisory Panel 
• Example Schedule 9 agreement 
• Glossary 
• Vision for Leeds 2011 to 2030 

 
2.8 At stage 2, the procedure will follow the DCMS Code of Practice.  However, the Code leaves 

individual councils to determine the detail of their own procedure. 
 
2.9 The council will not bear any abortive costs of the unsuccessful applicants and their 

participation in all phases of the licence process is conducted entirely at the applicants risk. 
 
Advisory Panel 
 
2.10 It is recognised that the Licensing Committee does not necessarily have specialised 

expertise required to fully evaluate each application.  It will seek professional expertise 
from officers of the council.  Where this expertise is not available, it may seek independent 
expertise from outside the council. 

 
2.11 For this purpose, the Licensing Committee will appoint a non-statutory panel to assist it in 

the evaluation of the stage 2 application process.  This panel will be called the “Advisory 
Panel”.  The Advisory Panel will evaluate each application using the evaluation 
methodology and scoring provided in the application pack. 

 
2.12 To ensure there are no conflicts of interest, applicants will be provided with a list of 

Advisory Panel members.  Where objections are made, it will be necessary to give details of 
the substance of such objection.  These objections will be considered by the Licensing 
Committee before the evaluation of stage 2 applications commence. 

 
2.13 The Advisory Panel will engage in discussions with each second stage applicant with a view 
 to the particulars of an application being refined, supplemented or otherwise altered so as 
 to maximise the benefits to the Leeds metropolitan area that would result from it (were it 
 granted). 
 

Page 85



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 58 

2.14 The Advisory Panel will report its findings to the Licensing Committee.  The report will be 
made available to the applicant before being submitted to ensure that the information 
provided within it is accurate.  Should the applicant disagree with the evaluation, this will 
be noted and reported to the Licensing Committee, together with any necessary changes 
to the Advisory Panel’s report. 

 
2.15 The Licensing Committee will consider all the applications at Stage 2, and the report of the 

Advisory Panel.  They will evaluate the proposals, in line with the principles below and 
determine which application, if granted, is likely to result in the greatest benefit to the 
area.  This will involve an evaluation both of the benefits and the likelihood of their 
delivery. 

 
2.16 The Licensing Committee will instruct officers to complete negotiations on any written 

agreements made under Paragraph 5(3)(b) of Schedule 9 of the Act.  Once the negotiations 
have been completed officers will report to Licensing Committee who will then grant the 
licence to the successful applicant and reject the remaining applications. 

 
2.17 In line with paragraph 5.7.4 of the Code of Practice, in determining the principles the 

council intends to apply in making any determination for a casino premises licence, the 
council has had specific regard to the following: 

 
a. The financial and other contribution a second stage applicant proposes to make to the 

Leeds metropolitan area, 
b. The likely effects of an application on employment, the local economy and 

regeneration within the authority’s area, 
c. Whether, and the extent to which, the benefits offered are pursuant to an agreement 

under paragraph 5(3)(b) of Schedule 9 or otherwise. 
 
2.18 In line with paragraph 3.3 of the Code of Practice, in determining the principles the council 

intend to apply at Stage 2, it disregarded the existence of any contract, arrangement or 
other relationship already in place; and will 

 
• put in place arrangements to ensure that any such contract, arrangement or other 

relationship does not, actually or apparently, prejudice its ability to conduct the 
procedure fairly; and will 

• prepare a register of interests disclosing their interest in any contract, arrangement or 
other relationship with an applicant or a person connected or associated with an 
applicant.  

 
3. Principles 
 
3.1 At stage 2 the applicant will be required to state and demonstrate the benefit that they can 

bring to Leeds metropolitan area. 
 
3.2 The council will seek to determine the greatest benefit through the following principles: 
 

Financial To seek to maximise the financial return to the council. 

Page 86



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 59 

Social  To use any financial return accrued to facilitate the delivery   
  of programmes and projects that support the Council’s    
  social and economic inclusion agenda, for the benefit of the   
  Leeds metropolitan area. 
 
Economic To secure a positive and significant economic impact for the   
  local economy through the provision of a Large Casino in    
  Leeds. 

 
4. Evaluation Criteria 
 
4.1 The council will publish a detailed evaluation methodology, which includes the information 

applicants are required to supply in order to support their application, and the weight that 
will be placed on each criterion.  This evaluation methodology will be included in the 
application pack. 

 
4.2 Applicants should carefully examine the evaluation methodology and tailor their 

application accordingly to ensure that they maximise benefits in accordance with this 
methodology. 

 
4.3 In line with paragraph 5.7.4 of the Code of Practice, and the principles stated at 16.37 of 

this policy, the council has selected the following criteria which they will use to evaluate 
and score applications: 

  
Financial Contribution  This criterion relates to 16.33a and the first and   
    second principles 
Socio-economic This criterion relates to 16.33b and the second and third 

principles 
 Risk and deliverability  This criterion relates to 16.33c and all three    

    principles 
 
Financial Contribution 
 
4.4 The council is seeking to identify and quantify the level of financial contribution that could 

be secured for the Leeds metropolitan area.  It is expected that the contribution will 
comprise a mixture of annual payments received from the applicant and a lump sum 
payable upon signing of any agreements and on specified dates and/or events thereafter. 

 
4.5 The financial contribution will be used by the council to establish and maintain the council 

administered Social Inclusion Fund (SIF) which will facilitate the delivery of programmes 
and projects that support the council’s social and economic inclusion agenda, for the 
benefit of the Leeds metropolitan area. 

 
4.6 The financial contribution will be evaluated in terms of its ability to fund a credible and 

sustainable SIF.  As such a mixture of upfront and annual payments is required. 
 

Page 87



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 60 

4.7 The scoring of financial contributions will be weighted as follows: 
 

1.0 1.0 Financial Contribution     33% 

1.1 Net Present Value of total financial offer 

1.2 Upfront capital payment paid to the council on completion of the 
Schedule 9 Agreement 

1.3 Net Present Value of annual cash sum offer 

1.4 Credibility of financial assumptions and offer 
 
4.8 Further detail including the information required, its format and how the submission will 

be evaluated can be found in the evaluation methodology included in the stage 2 
application pack. 

 
Socio-economic 
 
4.9 The council is seeking to identify and quantify the level of expected net socio-economic 

benefits that could be secured for the Leeds metropolitan area based on the projected 
gross levels applicants believe their proposals will generate. 

 
4.10 The council will expect to see that the applicant has tailored its proposals specifically to the 

requirements of Leeds through research and detailed assessment of the physical, social 
and economic position as outlined in its vision documents.  These documents will be made 
available in the stage 2 application pack. 

 
4.11 Applicants should have regard to the proposed location of the premises, with regard to 

meeting the licensing objective which seeks to protect children and vulnerable 
personspeople from being harmed or exploited by gambling.  Applicants will be asked to 
provide information related to the area in which their proposed developmented is situated 
in their strategy and vision documents. 

 
4.12 Applicants will be asked to provide information on how their development will impact on 

employment and training, including amongst others, graduate training, NEETs and 
vocational qualifications as well as opportunities for Leeds businesses and the local supply 
chain. 

 
4.13 Applicants must demonstrate a firm commitment to mitigation of negative impacts and 

ensuring residents’ safety and health is not put at risk by the large casino. In particular, 
attention should be focussed on mitigation for the most vulnerable in society and for those 
living closest to the proposed casino and applicants must ensure that problem gambling 
issues do not increase in the Leeds area. Applicants must provide an assessment of the 
social, equality and health impacts of their proposed casino developments and provide 
mitigation plans to minimise and eliminate negative impacts. Applicants should also 
commit to supporting the ongoing monitoring of negative social, equality and health 
impacts of the large casino and make contractual commitments in the schedule 9 
agreement on all mitigation measures proposed. 

 

Page 88



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 61 

4.14 The scoring of the socio-economic benefits will be weighted as follows: 
 

2.0 Socio-economic      34% 

2.1 Strategy and vision for proposed development 

2.2 Economic Benefits (Gross): 

- Net contribution to local economy (including direct employment 
and GVA) 

- Credibility of economic assumptions 

2.3 Net social impacts 

 
4.15 Further detail including the information required, its format, data requirements and how 

the submission will be evaluated can be found in the evaluation methodology included in 
the stage 2 application pack. 

 
Risk and deliverability 
 
4.16 At stage 2 the council will assess the risk and deliverability of the proposed scheme.  In 

particular the council will wish to consider what legal and financial assurances there are 
that the proposed development will be delivered within 5 years, and that the promised 
benefits will both materialise and be maintained.  Firm evidence is required that all 
benefits and development proposed can be funded and a contractual obligation with 
penalties for non-delivery is required. 

 
4.17 The application pack will include a template agreement under paragraph 5(3)(b) of 

Schedule 9 to the 2005 Act (‘a schedule 9 agreement’).  Such an agreement will be 
negotiated with the applicants during the stage 2 evaluation process.  This agreement will 
include a list of the benefits proposed, along with delivery targets and details of the 
penalties for non-delivery.  Applications where the benefits, including delivery of the 
development itself, are made subject of contractual obligation and where the applicant 
provides damages for non-delivery are likely to receive greater weight in the evaluation 
process. 

 
4.18 The council is aware that the casino application may form part of a wider development 

proposal or be a new development. A casino development with firm contractual 
commitment to be fully operational within a 5 year timescale with proof of funding and 
with meaningful payment proposed for late or non-delivery will score more highly than a 
casino development that is not supported by a contractual commitment and/or meaningful 
payments for late or non-delivery and/or proof of funding.  Any part of a wider 
development proposal which is not directly required for the delivery of the casino will 
score more highly if the applicant commits to completing the wider development within a 
5 year timescale, proposes meaningful payment for late or non-delivery and provides proof 
of funding.  These commitments will be contained within the schedule 9 agreement and 
the five year timescale will start from the signing of the schedule 9 agreement. Applicants 
must demonstrate that all development proposals are credible. 

 

Page 89



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 62 

4.19 The scoring of risk and deliverability will be weighted as follows: 
 

3.0 Risk and deliverability     33% 

3.1 Contents of the Schedule 9 Agreement 

3.2 Deliverability: 

- Financing 

- Financial Standing 

- Right to occupy the site/premises 

- Credibility of approach to implementation 
 
4.20 Further detail including the information required, its format and how the submission will 

be evaluated can be found in the evaluation methodology included in the stage 2 
application pack along with a template schedule 9 agreement. 

Page 90



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 63 
Page 91



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Produced by 
Entertainment Licensing 

Leeds City Council 
Civic Hall 

Leeds 

Page 92



Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-2021      Page | 65 

LS1 1UR 
 

Tel: 0113 247 4095 
Fax: 0113 224 3885 

 
Email: entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk 

Web: www.leeds.gov.uk 

Page 93

mailto:entertainment.licensing@leeds.gov.uk
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/licensing


This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Statement
Revised Gambling Act 2005

 Statement of Licensing Policy 

Appendix 3

Page 95



 

 

Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) 
Statement for Executive Board - October 2018 

Revised Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Licensing Policy 

Introduction 
 
1. Every three years the Council is required 

by the Gambling Act 2005 to review the 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Licensing Policy (Licensing Policy) and 
to consult upon any changes. 
 

2. This policy document also forms part of 
the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework.  Linked to this, there is a 
requirement in accordance with the 
Constitution of Leeds City Council for the 
Scrutiny of the development of key 
policies which form part of the Council’s 
Budget and Policy Framework.  
 

3. The revised Licensing Policy was 
therefore presented to the Scrutiny 
Board (Strategy and Resources) on 10th 
September 2018 for formal 
consideration.  

 
4. The purpose of this report is to inform the 

Executive Board of the deliberations and 
conclusions of the Scrutiny Board in 
order to meet constitutional requirements 
and support the decision making process 
of the Executive Board.  

Evidence and Information 
Considered 
 
5. The Chief Officer Elections and 

Regulatory submitted a report to the 
Scrutiny Board explaining that the three 
yearly review of the Council’s Licensing 
Policy was due this year and that 
officers had reviewed the current policy 
and made suggestions in line with 
changes to Gambling Commissions 
Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice.  
 

6. It was acknowledged that a public 
consultation had been undertaken in line 

with the requirements of the Act and that 
the policy had also been reviewed 
based on the comments received.  

 
7. A summary of the consultation 

responses and the Council’s resultant 
proposed changes were appended to 
the report, along with the amended 
Licensing Policy, with track changes, for 
the Scrutiny Board’s consideration. The 
associated Equality, Diversity, Cohesion 
and Integration Screening report, dated 
1st May 2018, was also appended for 
information.  

8. The following representatives were in 
attendance to participate in debate, 
provide information and to respond to 
Members questions and comments. 

• Cllr James Lewis - Executive Member 
for Resources and Sustainability 

• John Mulcahy – Chief Officer 
Elections and Regulatory 

• Susan Holden – Principal Licensing 
Officer 

 
9. During the meeting, it was also reported 

that the final draft policy and the 
consultation report had been presented 
for endorsement to Licensing 
Committee on the 4th September 2018.  
The Scrutiny Board was informed that 
no further changes had been proposed 
by the Licensing Committee. 

 
Deliberations and 
Conclusions 
 
Consultation Response Rate 
 
10. It was reported that the Council had 

received five responses to the public 
consultation. These included two 
gambling operators, two Parish Councils 
and one support organisation.  

Page 96



 

 

Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) 
Statement for Executive Board - October 2018 

Revised Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Licensing Policy 

11. We did raise some concerns in light of 
this apparent low response rate and 
therefore discussed the consultation 
strategy that had been applied in this 
regard. In doing so, we acknowledged 
that the consultation had run from mid-
June to early August 2018 and had 
been advertised by way of letters and 
emails to 696 businesses, Ward 
Councillors, MP’s, Parish and Town 
Councils and support organisations. 

 
12. It was also noted that the responses 

received were not from individuals, but 
came from wider representative bodies.  
As this would be the fifth time that the 
Council has reviewed and amended the 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Licensing Policy, we were advised that 
the current response rate was in fact 
deemed to be good. 

 
13. We were also advised that the Licensing 

Working Group had worked closely with 
support organisations during the review 
of the policy, which we accept may have 
been a contributing factor in terms of the 
response rate from such organisations.  
To help support this view, the Chief 
Officer Elections and Regulatory 
extended an invitation to all Scrutiny 
Board Members to attend a future 
meeting of the Licensing Working Group 
to observe this interaction with support 
organisations. 

 
Fixed Odds Betting Terminals 

14. In consideration of the main changes 
made to the Licensing Policy, we noted 
that a number of issues raised had 
come to the attention of councils 
nationwide, with the main issue being an 
increase in the number of Fixed Odds 
Betting terminals in deprived areas.   

 

15. We were advised that although there 
had been no significant change in the 
number of betting shops, there had 
been more premises opening in 
deprived areas, although not recently. In 
view of this, we are pleased that the 
Council continues to lobby against Fixed 
Odds Betting Terminals. 

 
Protecting vulnerable groups 

16. We acknowledged that since the last 
policy review, the city’s Large Casino 
has opened and linked to this, the 
Council had commissioned research 
from Leeds Beckett University to identify 
problem gambling in Leeds. This 
research detailed a number of groups 
that were vulnerable to problem 
gambling and we are very pleased to 
note that this information has now been 
included in the revision of the policy. 

 
17. In particular, we are pleased that the 

protection of vulnerable groups and 
particularly children forms part of the 
revised local risk assessment 
requirements set out within the policy. 

 
18. Linked to this, we also acknowledged 

the public consultation being launched 
by the Gambling Commission on age 
and identity verification procedures in 
online gambling and welcome the 
Council’s intention to respond to this 
accordingly. 

 

Conclusion 
 

19. In general we are supportive of the 
revisions made to the Gambling Act 
2005 Statement of Licensing Policy, as 
presented to Scrutiny. 

 
 
 

Recommendation  
The Executive Board is recommended to 
note the deliberations and conclusions of the 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) 
when considering the revised Gambling Act 
2005 Statement of Licensing Policy.   
 

Page 97



 

  
Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) 

Statement for the Executive Board 
Revised Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy  

October 2018 
 
 

www.scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk 
www.twitter.com/scrutinyleeds 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 98

http://www.scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk/
http://www.twitter.com/scrutinyleeds


EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Citizens and Communities Service area: Entertainment Licensing 

 
Lead person: Susan Holden 
 

Contact number: 0113 378 5331 

 
1. Title: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
Is this a: 
      Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority is required to 
prepare a statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their 
functions under this Act.  This process is to be repeated every three years from 31st 
January 2007.   
 
The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Gambling Act 2005, the Gambling 
Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2006 and the Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission 
(www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk). 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 99



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2 

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
• Advancing equality of opportunity 
• Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

Page 100



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3 

 
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The concerns relate to gambling and vulnerable people.  Vulnerable is defined in the policy as: 
 
The council is aware of the difficulty in defining the term “vulnerable person”.  In most recent 
literature it is not a term that is used, with the term “adults at risk or abuse or neglect” or “adults at 
risk” being the preferred terms.  
 
The Gambling Commission, in its Guidance to Local Authorities, does not seek to offer a 
definition for the term “vulnerable people” but will, for regulatory purposes assume that this group 
includes people: 
 
 “who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, elderly 

persons, and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, or because of the influence of alcohol or drugs.”  

 
The Care Act 2014 imposes a requirement on a local authority to “make enquiries if it has 
reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area, whether or not ordinarily resident there, has 
needs for care and support, is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and as a result of 
those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or neglect or the risk of it”.   
 
The local authority must make whatever enquiries it thinks necessary to enable it to decide 
whether any action should be taken in the adult’s case (whether under this Part or otherwise) 
and, if so, what and by whom.  “Abuse” includes financial abuse; and for that purpose “financial 
abuse” includes having money or other property stolen, being defrauded, being put under 
pressure in relation to money or other property, and having money or other property misused. 
 
Department of Health document “No Secrets” from 2000 offers a definition of a vulnerable adult 
as a person: 
 

“who is or may be in need of community care services by reason of mental or other 
disability, age or illness; and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, or 
unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or exploitation.” 

 
In 2016 Leeds City Council commission Leeds Beckett University to undertake research into 
Problem Gambling in Leeds (Problem Gambling in Leeds; Kenyon, Ormerod, Parsons and 
Wardle, 2016).  This research looked specifically at identifying groups of the society that could be 
considered vulnerable to problem gambling: 
 
Young people – rates of problem gambling among young people who gamble are higher than 
older adults and youth gambling behaviours are consistent with the harm paradox, whereby these 
age groups are less likely to gamble generally but those that do are more likely to experience 
difficulties with their behaviour (Wardle, 2015). 

 
Minority ethnic groups – There is consistent evidence that those from Asian or Black 
backgrounds are more vulnerable to gambling problems and there is clear evidence of the harm 
paradox (Wardle, 2015).   
 
 
 

Page 101



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4 

Unemployed and constrained economic circumstance – the generally those of lower income 
are less likely to gamble but those that do spend a higher proportion of their income on gambling.  
This is highlighted as a concern given the lesser ability of lower income households to protect 
themselves from financial instability (Brown et al, 2011).    
 
There is evidence that those in debt and those using money lenders and/or pawnbrokers are 
more likely to be problem or at risk gamblers (Meltzer et al, 2012).  The relationship between 
constrained economic circumstances and gambling problems is likely to be complex and multi-
faceted.  It may be mediated by other economic opportunities and personal feelings about how 
well off you are compared with others.  Despite this complexity, there is a consistent body of 
evidence showing that, for whatever reason, those who are unemployed and who gamble are 
more likely to experience adverse outcomes from their gambling than those in paid employment. 
 
Area deprivation – There are a number of British surveys that have consistently shown that 
those living in more deprived areas are more likely to experience problems with their gambling 
behaviour.  This was despite having roughly the similar levels of past year gambling participation 
to those who live in less deprived areas.   
 
Wardle (2015) looked at the distribution of machines and licensed betting offices and argues that 
there was clear and consistent evidence of a spatial skew, whereby high density machine zones 
or areas with licensed betting offices are more deprived than others.  Recent research has shown 
that among gamblers who held loyalty cards, rates of problem gambling (28%) were higher 
among those who lived within 400 metres of a concentration of betting offices than those who did 
not (22%) (Astbury & Wardle, 2016). 
 
Homeless – The rates of problem gambling are higher among those who are homeless than 
those who are not.  Although studies are small, they show that there is a significant relationship 
with gambling preceding homelessness.  Little is known about why rates of problem gambling 
among homeless population groups is higher than the general population but given associations 
with other mental health conditions, homeless people should be considered a vulnerable group. 
 
Mental ill health – There is a strong association between mental ill health and problem gambling.  
Associations were found between problem gambling and general anxiety disorder, phobia, 
obsessive compulsive disorder, panic disorders, eating disorders, probably psychosis, attention 
deficit hyperactivity disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, harmful and hazardous levels of 
alcohol consumption and drug addiction.  Overall three quarters of problems gamblers seeking 
treatment also experience co-morbid mental health disorders.   
 
Being a problem or at risk gambler is associated with latter onset of major depressive disorder, 
alcohol use and dependence, drug use and experience of any mental disorder.  Illegal drug use 
and experience of any mental disorder is also associated with the subsequent onset of at risk and 
problem gambling.  These findings seem to confirm that the conclusion that the relationship 
between problem gambling and mental ill health may be cyclical. 
 
Substance abuse/misuse – The evidence base relating to the relationship between substance 
abuse/misuse and experience of problem gambling broadly measures that o mental ill health.  
Evidence from British based surveys has shown that rates of problem gambling were higher 
among those with alcohol dependence (3.4%) or drug dependence (4.4%) that the general 
population (0.74%) (Wardle, 2015).  A systemic review of those seeking treatment for gambling 
problems showed that 15% also experience alcohol dependence and 7% have other substance 
abuse disorders (Dowling et al, 2015).  There is strong evidence that alcohol and substance 
misuse are associated with problem gambling.  As with other mental health conditions, these 
conditions can co-occur at the same time. 
 
 

Page 102



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5 

Personality traits/cognitive distortions – There is a strong body of evidence highlighting the 
relationship between various personality traits, such as cognitive distortions or impulsivity, with 
problem gambling.  Cognitive distortions, such as erroneous perceptions of gambling and illusion 
of control are well established risk factors for problem gambling (Johansson et al, 2009).  
However little research has been conducted to explore the complex interaction of personality 
traits with other factors and their combined influence on the experience of broader gambling 
harms.  Certain personality traits and/or cognitive distortions are just one potential aspect of 
vulnerability which is likely to be affected by a range of other factors. 
 
Problem gamblers seeking treatment – Because this group is in the process of attempting to 
recover from gambling problems they should be treated as a vulnerable group in their own right 
(Wardle, 2015). 
 
Problem gambling can affect anyone at any time.  Whilst rates of problem gambling among all 
adults in Britain tend to be less than 1% (1.4% in large metropolitan areas such as Leeds), there 
are some groups that are more likely to experience problems.  These groups could all be 
considered vulnerable to gambling problems.  Leeds City Council already works with many of 
these groups however operators should consider these groups in their Local Risk Assessments, 
especially in relation to identifying the people in these groups, and mitigating harm experienced 
by them. 
 
Vulnerable people, especially the elderly, people with disabilities, people who are ill can be 
considered at protected characteristics and have been forefront when reviewing the policy. 
 

• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The impact on vulnerable people specifically relates to gambling premises which are embedded 
within the community such as betting shops and adult gaming centres.  Betting shops in particular 
are plentiful and on every high street.  They also have fixed odds betting terminals which are 
considered to be highly addictive gaming machines, offering casino style games.  The increase in 
the availability of these machines is of concern nationally.  Additional requirements under the 
Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) seek to address risks 
to vulnerable people.   
 

• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
This is the fifth review of the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy.  At this review the 
council does not seek to remove any of the protections included in other versions of the policy.  It 
does seek to include additional requirements on licence applicants to consider their local area 
when making their application and for all existing gambling premises to undertake a similar 
review.  These measures are included in paragraph 13.10, on page 17 of the policy, onwards.  
The new policy provides more detail on groups that may be considered vulnerable, especially to 
problem gambling.  This work came from research commissioned by the Council from Leeds 
Beckett University. 
 

Page 103



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6 

 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Nicola Raper 
 

Section Head 
Entertainment Licensing 

1st May 2018 

Date screening completed 1st May 2018 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 05/10/2018 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 104

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


 

 1 

                                                           

Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services 

Report to Executive Board    

Date: 17th October 2018 

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2018/19 – Month 5 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of 
the authority in respect of both the revenue budget and the Housing Revenue 
Account at Month 5 of the financial year. 

 
2. The 2018/19 financial year is the third year covered by the 2015 Spending Review 

and again presents significant financial challenges to the Council. The Council to 
date has managed to achieve considerable savings since 2010 and the budget for 
2018/19 requires the Council to deliver a further £34m of savings.  
 

3. The current and future financial climate for local government represents a 
significant risk to the Council’s priorities and ambitions. Whilst the Council continues 
to make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services, it is clear 
that the position remains challenging.                                                                                                         
 

4. This is the fourth budget monitoring report of the year and Executive Board will 
recall that the 2018/19 general fund revenue budget, as approved by Council, 
provides for a variety of actions to reduce net spend through the delivery of £34m of 
budget action plans by March 2019. Whilst the majority of these actions are on track 
to be delivered, this report does highlight a potential overall overspend of £2.8m. It 
is incumbent upon respective Directors to identify and implement appropriate 
measures so that a balanced budget position can be delivered.  

Report author: Doug Meeson  
Tel: 88540 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



 

 2 

 
5. At Month 5, the Housing Revenue Account is projecting a balanced budget position.  

 

Recommendations 

6. Executive Board are recommended to: 
 

• note the projected financial position of the authority as at Month 5;  
 

• approve the release of £1.7m from the general fund reserve in 2018/19 to 
address the income pressure in the Children and Families budget arising as 
a consequence of the re-profiling of the final payment of the Partners in 
Practice Project by the DfE. This amount will be repaid to the reserve in 
2019/20 once received. The officer responsible for the implementation of this 
recommendation is the Chief Officer - Financial Services. The release from 
reserves will be actioned before the next reporting period; 

 
• approve the release of £1.0m from the general insurance reserve in 

2018/19, following review of the level of the reserve. The officer responsible 
for the implementation of this recommendation is the Chief Officer - 
Financial Services. The release from reserves will be actioned before the 
next reporting period; and 

 
• request that Directors identify and implement appropriate measures so that 

a balanced budget position can be delivered. 
 

 
1. Purpose of this report     
 
1.1 This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health 

position for 2018/19 at Month 5.  
 
1.2 Budget Monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report 

reviews the position of the budget and highlights potential key risks and variations 
after the first five months of the year. 

 
 
2. Background information 
 
2.1 Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund for 2018/19 was 

set at £510.9m.   
 
2.2 Following the closure of the 2017/18 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve 

stands at £25.7m.The 2018/19 budget assumes a further contribution of £1.0m to 
this reserve during this financial year. 

 
2.3 Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc.  

Page 106



 

 3 

This has again been reinforced through specific project management based support 
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans. 

 
 
3. Main Issues  
 
3.1 At Month 5 an overspend of £2.8m is projected, as shown in Table 2 below.   
 
 Table 2

 
 
3.2 The major variations are outlined below, with additional detail provided on the 

Directorate dashboards which are appended to this report;  
 
3.2.1 Adults & Health are currently projecting a balanced position. Within this projected 

balanced position it is anticipated that there is slippage in some budget action plans 
and there are a number of variations, including £1.0m of anticipated cost pressures 
associated with implementing a core hourly rate of £8.25 in line with the aims of the 
Ethical Care Charter and a £0.2m net cost pressure relating to demand pressures in 
Public Health commissioning, offset by £1.2m of projected savings relating to staff 
turnover and slippage in employing new staff. 

 
3.2.2 Children and Families – There are a number of budget pressures that mean it will 

be challenging for the directorate to contain spend within the approved budget 
without additional saving proposals being identified, agreed and implemented. The 
projected year-end position at Month 5 is an overspend of £1.65m.  

 
As in previous years the main budget pressures are the demand led budgets of 
Children Looked After (CLA) and transport. Significant demand and demography 
pressures on the CLA budget are resulting in an upward pressure in terms of costs, 
with both External Residential (ER) and Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) 

Summary Position  - Financial Year 2018/19 

Reporting Period: Month 5

Directorate Director Staffing Total Expenditure Income
 Total 

(under) 
/overspend

Previous 
month's 
Position

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adults  & Health Cath Roff (1,194) (53) 53 0 0

Children and Families Steve Walker 303 (69) 1,722 1,653 1,640

City Development Martin Farrington (1,261) (105) 455 350 0

Resources & Housing Neil Evans 388 2,993 (2,749) 244 233

Communities & Environment James Rogers 603 1,537 (1,163) 374 586

Strategic Doug Meeson (30) (1,374) 1,580 206 341

Total Current Month (1,191) 2,929 (102) 2,827 2,800

Previous month (under)/over spend (2,766) 4,856 (2,056) 2,800

(Under) / Over spend for the current period

Page 107



 

 4 

placements are both currently higher than the budgeted assumptions. The 
directorate has agreed a number of actions including reviewing ER placements in 
order to ensure that they are still appropriate. The number of children in ER 
placements has reduced since the start of the financial year, however at the end of 
August 2018 External Residential (ER) numbers were 65 compared to the budgeted 
number of 53 (this has subsequently reduced to 62 during September), whilst the 
number of Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) were 188 compared to the 
budgeted number of 179. It is anticipated that there will be some reductions in 
demand as a number of children currently in ER placements will turn 18 during the 
year. The ER budget is projected to overspend by £0.8m but there remains a risk 
that numbers do not reduce as assumed.  
 
There has been a notable increase in the number of children requiring transport 
during the first quarter and also an increase in contract prices. The actual increase 
in demand will be clearer with the start of the new school year but at this stage an 
increase in costs of £0.8m is projected, partly offset by savings of £0.35m, leaving a 
net pressure of £0.45m. There is a risk that demand continues to increase and 
costs increase further during the year. The Directorate is working with Civic 
Enterprise Leeds to mitigate these demand pressures. 
 
The Social Care staffing budget is projected to be overspent by £0.3m by the end of 
the year, net of staffing savings in Early Help. The Directorate is strictly controlling 
post releases to mitigate this pressure and the projected position assumes that not 
all vacant posts will be released. Additionally there are projected income pressures 
of £0.35m in regard to Trading and Commissioning budgets and it is projected that 
external legal disbursement costs will exceed budget by £0.45m. 
 
These pressures are offset by £0.2m of anticipated additional High Needs Block 
funding from the Dedicated Schools Grant towards the education costs of External 
Residential placements, increased income from Adel Beck of £0.25m and other 
additional income of £0.25m across services.  
 
The DfE has recently sought agreement to re-profile the final payment of the 
Partners in Practice Project. A final payment of just under £2.3m was due to be paid 
in 2018/19. However, the DfE has now requested to pay £0.3m in 2018/19 and the 
balance of £2m in 2019/20. Based on current spending plans this results in a 
projected budget variation of £1.7m. This report seeks Executive Board’s approval 
to meet this 2018/19 income shortfall from general fund reserves and to repay this 
£1.7m to reserves when the final payment is received from the DfE in 2019/20. As 
shown in Table 3, this decision would have no impact on the level of general fund 
reserves available to support the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.  
 
Table 3 

 
 

General Reserve 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£m £m £m £m

Brought Forward 1st April 25.7 25.0 23.7 20.7

Change in Incidence of Receipt of Innovation Grant (1.7) 1.7

Budgeted Contribution/(Use) In Year 1.0 (3.0) (3.0) 0.0

Carried Forward 31st March 25.0 23.7 20.7 20.7

Page 108



 

 5 

3.2.3 City Development – At Month 5 the Directorate is projecting an overspend of 
£0.35m. The Directorate currently has pressures totalling £3.6m but has identified 
£3.25m of savings and one off items of income to mitigate this.  

 
The budgeted return on the Council's commercial asset portfolio increased by £1m 
to £3.36m in the approved 2018/19 budget but the development of the Council's 
commercial asset portfolio has been slower than anticipated, largely due to a lack of 
suitable investment opportunities, creating a pressure of £1.58m. Mitigating actions 
of around £1.16m have been identified, including £0.3m of additional Arena income, 
£0.25m of savings across Asset Management, £0.1m from further anticipated road 
closures at Bridgewater Place and £0.5m for one off easements and covenant 
releases. Easements grant other parties a right to cross or use council land for a 
specified purpose, such as a developer requiring access to enable them to progress 
a development. When the Council sells land it sometimes attaches conditions 
(restrictive covenants) to the sale. Subsequently, interested parties may approach 
the Council to seek release of this covenant, for example to develop the land for an 
alternative purpose. 

 
In response to a projected £0.2m shortfall in advertising income the Directorate has 
established an Advertising Board to seek out new advertising opportunities and a 
company has been procured to provide specialist knowledge and expertise, thereby 
optimising income opportunities from existing and new contracts. Consequently a 
contract has been finalised with Clear Channel for 6 sheet advertising, which will 
deliver a six figure income sum this year.    
 
Street lighting electricity costs are projected to exceed budget by £0.38m and the 
Arts & Heritage service is reporting a pressure of £0.32m. A £0.35m shortfall is 
forecast against budgeted savings in Sport and Active Lifestyles. Further pressures 
of £0.74m include a reduction in the budgeted contribution for work done on the 
capital programme and other projects and a shortfall in Kirkgate Market income and 
increased security costs. 
 
The Directorate has identified around £1m of action plan savings, including 
utilisation of PFI street lighting balances and the implementation of revised rates for 
Highways engineering and technical staff supporting the Capital Programme. The 
Directorate has a rigorous approval process for the release of vacant posts and this 
will be strengthened to challenge all post release requests that are not income 
generating or public facing.  The Directorate is working to identify an additional 
£0.55m of action plan savings. Additionally, further staffing savings and use of S278 
balances will contribute £0.5m.  
 

3.2.4 Resources & Housing – the Directorate are projecting an overspend of £0.24m, 
arising as a result of a projected shortfall on court fee income of £0.16m and a 
£0.09m business rates pressure due to a delay in declaring some parts of the 
Westgate building vacant whilst a review of city centre accommodation was 
completed.  (Members will be aware that due to how the Collection Fund operates, 
this additional business rates spend in the general fund will appear as income into 
the collection fund and be included in the calculation of the total budget available for 
the Council in 2019-2020). 
 
In addition, there are a number of risks around the timely implementation of some of 
the savings incorporated as part of the 2018/19 budget strategy and ongoing 

Page 109



 

 6 

income pressures within HR which will require a directorate wide plan to deliver 
alternative savings of around £0.9m. It is anticipated that most of this gap can be 
closed through the management of vacancies across the Directorate. 

 
3.2.5 Communities & Environment– there is a projected budget pressure of £0.37m at 

Month 5. Within the Refuse Service it is currently anticipated that there will be an 
overspend of £0.72m, largely due to anticipated slippage of 9 months (to January) 
in respect of the budgeted route efficiencies, as the route review programme 
continues. However this pressure is partly offset by net savings against budget of 
£0.36m in HWSS & Waste Strategy. 

 
£0.16m relates to delays in delivering budgeted staffing efficiencies whilst 
maintaining performance levels in the Contact Centre and £0.12m reflects a 
projected shortfall in car parking income.  
 
The Directorate will work towards identifying appropriate actions to mitigate the 
projected overspend and savings of £0.25m have been assumed at this stage.   

 
3.2.6 Strategic & Central Accounts - At Month 5 the Strategic & Central budgets have a 

projected overspend of £0.2m. The key pressures are: 
 

• A £1.4m projected shortfall in S278 income as a result of lower levels of 
development activity; 
 

• projected shortfalls of £0.6m in business rates income and £0.2m in New Homes 
Bonus and;  

 
• £0.7m of additional debt costs as a consequence of an increase in interest rates, 

largely offset by additional prudential borrowing recharges of £0.6m. 
 
These pressures have been offset as follows: 
 
• Following review, the level of general capitalisation assumed in the 2018/19 

budget has been increased by £1m; 
 

• As at the 31st March 2018, the council held a General Insurance reserve of 
£2.9m.  This reserve is held not so much for claims which we have received, but 
to meet the costs of future insurance claims which would fall upon the council’s 
self -insurance arrangements and to recognise that claims relating to a particular 
year can arise many years later. The latest information on claim trends suggests 
that the Authority could review and reduce this reserve. Consequently, this 
report seeks Executive Board’s approval to release £1.0m from the General 
Insurance reserve in 2018/19.  
 

3.3 Other Financial Performance 
 
3.3.1 Council Tax 

 
 The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of August was 45.89% which is in 

line with performance in 2017/18.  At this early stage the forecast is to achieve the 
2018/19 in-year collection target of 96.1% collecting some £340m of income. 

Page 110



 

 7 

3.3.2 Business Rates  
 

The business rates collection rate at the end of July was 48.58% which is 0.12% 
behind performance in 2017/18.  The forecast is to achieve the 2018/19 in-year 
collection target of 97.7% collecting some £383m of income.  
 
The total rateable value of business properties in Leeds has increased from 
£921.06m at 1st April to £929.06m at the end of August, growth of £8.0m. To 
calculate Leeds’ actual income from business rates this total rateable value is 
multiplied by the national business rates multiplier (48.0p in the pound). After reliefs 
and adjustments this amount is then shared between Leeds City Council (99%) and 
West Yorkshire Fire Authority (1%). Following deductions for the Business Rates 
tariff and to meet the business rates deficit brought forward, Leeds’ actual business 
rates income is projected to be in the region of £207.0m, which is £2.1m below 
budgeted expectations.  
 

3.3.3 Business Rates Appeals 
 
 The opening appeals provisions for 2018/19 are £21.5m, made up of £11.5m 

relating to appeals received against the 2010 ratings list and £10m estimated costs 
in relation to the 2017 ratings list. Under the 100% Business Rates Retention pilot, 
Leeds’ budget is affected by 99% of any appeals provision made in this year but 
provisions brought forward from 2017/18 were made at 49%.  
 
On the 1st August 2018, there were 2,110 appeals outstanding against the 2010 
ratings list. During August 98 appeals have been settled, of which 83 have not 
resulted in changes to rateable values. 4 new appeals were received in August, the 
low number received reflecting that appeals are no longer accepted against the 
2010 list except in very specific circumstances. At 31st August there are 2,016 
outstanding appeals in Leeds, with 19.9% of the city’s total rateable value in the 
2010 list currently subject to at least one appeal.  

 
No appeals have been received to date against the 2017 list, with only 2.5% of the 
city’s total rateable value in the 2017 list currently subject to either a ‘check’ or a 
‘challenge’, the pre-appeal stages of the new appeals process introduced in 2017.  

 
3.3.4 Business Rates Retention Pilot 2019/20 

 
The Council was notified by MHCLG on 24th July that the Leeds City Region 100% 
business rates retention pilot would conclude on 31 March 2019. However, on the 
same date Government released its pilot prospectus for 2019/20 inviting authorities 
to submit applications to pilot 75% business rates retention. Whilst the change from 
100% retention in 2018/19 to 75% retention in 2019/20 is disappointing the 
opportunity to bid for pilot status in 2019/20 still presents the potential for significant 
additional funding for authorities in comparison to reverting to the standard 50% 
retention scheme. 
 
Following discussion with members of the existing LCR Pool (the five West 
Yorkshire Authorities, Harrogate and York) and with North Yorkshire County and 
Districts, the 2019/20 pilot bid encompasses all of the local authorities in North and 
West Yorkshire. It is hoped that a successful bid will demonstrate to Government 
that local government can work together to share the risks and rewards of 

Page 111



 

 8 

increased business rates retention across such a diverse region which includes 
both unitary and two tier authorities. The additional funds available to the North and 
West Yorkshire region for redistribution are estimated to be around £19m, of which 
one third would be retained by the new North and West Yorkshire Pool to support 
regional economic growth by providing support to and working in collaboration with 
regional partners and two thirds would be allocated to member authorities to 
support their financial stability, both at an individual and a regional level. In addition 
tariff authorities, including Leeds, will retain levy amounts that would otherwise be 
payable to Government. As a consequence the total gain to the North and West 
Yorkshire region is estimated to be £22.6m. 
 
Leeds, as the lead authority for the proposed pilot, submitted the application on the 
25th September 2018 and we expect to hear the outcome of 2019/20 pilot bids 
alongside the Provisional Local Government Settlement in December 2018.  Should 
the bid not be successful, the authorities of the current Leeds City Region Pool 
have agreed to continue with a pool, but this would only have access to the levies of 
the three tariff authorities within the pool, including Leeds. 
 
 

4.    Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

4.1 At the end of Month 5 the HRA is projecting a balanced position against the 2018/19 
Budget.  

 
5. Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation. 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2018/19 was subject to Equality Impact 
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on 
21st February 2018. 

5.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

5.3.1 The 2018/19 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities 
as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on the financial 
performance against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an 
efficient and enterprising organisation.   

5.4 Resources and Value for Money  

5.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are detailed 
in the main body of the report. 

 
5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 

Page 112



 

 9 

5.6 Risk Management 
 
5.6.1 There remains a risk that a balanced budget position is not delivered in year or that  

the reported projected overspend could worsen as a consequence of demand-led 
pressures, non-achievement of Budget Action Plans, price increases and other 
inflationary pressures. Failure to achieve a balanced budget position would impact 
on future years and thus require the Council to consider difficult decisions that will 
have a greater impact on front-line services, including those that support the most 
vulnerable, and thus on our Best Council Plan ambition to tackle poverty and reduce 
inequalities. 

 
5.6.2 An analysis of budget risks will continue throughout the year and is subject to 

monthly review as part of the in-year monitoring and management of the budget.  
Any significant and new risks/budget variations will continue to be included in these 
in-year financial reports brought to Executive Board. 

 
 
6. Conclusions 

 
6.1 This report informs the Executive Board of the financial health of the authority in 

respect of both the revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account at Month 5 
of the financial year, with an overspend of £2.8m against the approved 2018/19 
budget projected. Directors are requested to identify and implement appropriate 
measures so that a balanced budget position can be delivered. 

 
6.2 Further, the Report seeks the Board’s approval to release funds from reserves, as 

set out in paragraphs 3.2.2 and 3.2.6 above. Funds released from the general 
reserve will be repaid in 2019/20 once payment is received from the DfE.  

 
 
7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 Executive Board are recommended to:  

 
• note the projected financial position of the authority as at Month 5;  

 

• approve the release of £1.7m from the general fund reserve in 2018/19 to 
address the income pressure in the Children and Families budget arising as a 
consequence of the re-profiling of the final payment of the Partners in Practice 
Project by the DfE. This amount will be repaid to the reserve in 2019/20 once 
received. The officer responsible for the implementation of this recommendation 
is the Chief Officer - Financial Services. The release from reserves will be 
actioned before the next reporting period; 

 

• approve the release of £1.0m from the general insurance reserve in 2018/19, 
following review of the level of the reserve. The officer responsible for the 
implementation of this recommendation is the Chief Officer - Financial Services. 
The release from reserves will be actioned before the next reporting period; and 

 
• request that Directors identify and implement appropriate measures so that a 

balanced budget position can be delivered. 
 

Page 113



 

 10 

 
8. Background documents1  

8.1 None. 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 114



                                    

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate
Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Health Partnerships 1,286 (893) 393 (356) 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 (353) 320 (33)

Access & Care Delivery 260,335 (46,331) 214,004 (53) 131 (235) (1) (25) 453 513 0 0 784 (161) 622

Service Transformation 
Team

1,301 0 1,301 (130) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (129) 0 (129)

Commissioning 
Services

34,372 (47,043) (12,671) (584) 0 10 0 100 8 0 0 0 (467) (5) (472)

Resources and Strategy 4,906 (553) 4,353 107 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 112 (100) 11

Public Health (Grant 
Funded)

45,014 (44,607) 407 (179) 0 0 0 0 179 0 0 0 (0) 0 (0)

Appropriation Account 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 347,215 (139,427) 207,787 (1,194) 131 (222) 4 76 640 513 0 0 (53) 53 (0)

ADULTS AND HEALTH 
Financial Dashboard - 2018/19 Financial Year

Month 5 (August 2018)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES

The Directorate is projected to deliver a balanced position for the year.

Budget Action Plans for demand are showing some slippage, but it is noted that 85% of the plans are effectively delivered.

The main variations at Period 5 across the key expenditure types are as follows:
Staffing (-£1.2m – 2.3%)
There is a pressure within Access & Care which is being addressed with the service; savings are forecast across most areas but principally within Strategic Commissioning (however there is a review currently being undertaken) and 
there is still some slippage within the Leeds Plan team.
Community care packages (+£0.97m – 0.5%)
There is an anticipated cost pressure related to higher than budgeted fee increases and slippage in delivering the budgeted action plans.
Public Health Commissioning (+£0.18m - 0.4%)
It is currently assumed that staffing based savings will be recycled to meet demand pressures on commissioned services.
General Running Costs (-£0.001m- 0.04% )
A number of small overspends largely set off by savings evidenced against budgets relating to debt repayment.
Income (+£0.051m – 0.04%)
Additional client income and other external income is offset by lower forecasted contributions from partners due to slippage in the formation of the Leeds Plan team.

P
age 115



Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG
Action Plan 

Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. S Hume B 24.4 0.0

2. S McFarlane A 2.5 1.9

3. S McFarlane G 0.1 0.0

4. S McFarlane A 0.2 0.1

5. S McFarlane G 0.2 0.0

6. S McFarlane G 0.2 0.0

7. S McFarlane A 0.2 0.2

8. S McFarlane G 0.1 0.0

9. S McFarlane A 0.1 0.0

10. S McFarlane A 0.4 0.1

11. S McFarlane G 0.2 0.0

12. Various G 0.9 0.0

13. S Hume G 1.0 0.0

14. S Hume B 0.9 0.0

15. Various G 0.6 0.0

16. I Cameron B 1.2 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations

1. All (1.2)

2. Various (1.1)

3 General running costs All (0)

4 Use of reserves All 0.0

5 S Hume 0.1

Adults and Health Directorate - Forecast Variation 0.0

Savings primarily based on reduced borrowing costs

Demand Based Savings - Reablement

Recovery Model/Full Year Effect Of Phase III Recovery of unspent sums

Demand Based Savings - Direct Payment Trend

Mainly non-frontline servicesVacancy management

Community care packages Anticipated variation

Fees and charges Improved income collection and income recovery from direct payment audit

Review of commissioned servicesPublic Health

Staffing Relating to staffing turnover and slippage in employing new staff

Demand Based Savings - Recovery Beds

Demand Based Savings - Learning Disability

Demand Based Savings - Mental Health 

Demand Based Savings - Physical Impairment

Demand Based Savings - Telecare

Demand Based Savings - Chc / 117

Contribution to reserves

Income
Reduced income related to delay in setting up Leeds Care Plan Team, offset by additional income 
and client contributions based on current activity levels

Additional Comments

Additional funding iBCF, Spring Budget, War Pension Disregard Grant, Social Care Grant

Direct Payment Audit Team

Client Transport

Review non-essential spend Review and top-slicing of non-essential spend

P
age 116



Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total 
Expenditure

Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Demand Led Budgets:
In House placed CLA 19,994 (3,195) 16,799 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Independent Fostering Agency 7,446 7,446 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
External Residential 10,886 10,886 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 800 (200) 600
Other Externally placed CLA 2,599 2,599 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Non CLA Financially Supported 13,066 (2,389) 10,677 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transport 14,565 (467) 14,098 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 0 450 0 450

Sub total Demand Led Budgets 68,556 (6,051) 62,505 0 0 0 0 0 1,250 0 0 0 1,250 (200) 1,050

Other Budgets
Partnerships & Health 11,393 (6,014) 5,379 (1) 0 53 0 69 300 0 0 (37) 384 (341) 43
Learning 89,072 (83,102) 5,970 1 (8) 9 0 0 8 0 0 0 10 269 279
Social Care 116,642 (69,487) 47,155 303 (22) 4 8 (10) 224 (200) 0 (2,020) (1,713) 1,994 281

Sub total Other Budgets 217,107 (158,603) 58,504 303 (30) 66 8 59 532 (200) 0 (2,057) (1,319) 1,922 603
Total 285,663 (164,654) 121,009 303 (30) 66 8 59 1,782 (200) 0 (2,057) (69) 1,722 1,653

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2018/19 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - Period 5

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall Summary - At the end of August (period 5) the directorate is projecting an overspend of £1.65m against the approved budget of  £121.022m. The key budget risks are the Children Looked After (CLA) and financially supported non-CLA budgets, transport costs, external legal 
costs, some income targets and achieving the staff saving targets. Action plans covering these key budget risks have been developed and will be closely monitored by the Children and Families management team. There are some additional options that could help to mitigate the 
overspend but these are largely around appropriately charging on costs to other service areas so would need to be considered as part of the overall Council financial position.  

Children Looked After (CLA): - The Children Looked After budget (CLA) was increased by £4.9m in the 2018/19 budget. The budget took into account the level of supported children in the autumn of 2017 with only a small reduction in numbers anticipated in 2018/19 equivalent to a 
1.5% reduction in overall CLA numbers over the year. At 29th July 2018 the External Residential (ER) numbers were 65 compared to the budgeted number of 53 ( an increase of 2 since period 4) although during August this number has subsequently reduced to 62, whilst the number of 
Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) were 188 compared to the budgeted number of 179 (a reduction of 2 since period 4). It is anticpated that there will be some reductions in numbers as a number of children currently in ER placements turn 18 during the year. An action plan has 
been developed to ensure that the service is focused on delivering within budget.  However, at this stage of the year an overspend of £800k is projected. There is a risk that overall numbers continue to increase leading to higher spend than is currently projected. 

Staffing: Overall projected overspend of £0.3m. The Social Care staffing budget is projected to be overspent by £303k by the end of the year. This figure is net of staffing savings in Early Help  (YOS and TSL). The Directorate is strictly controlling post releases to try and mitiagte this 
pressure and the projected position assumes that not all vacant posts will be released. Both Partnerships & Health and Learning are currently projected to balance to their staffing budgets.  

Transport - An overspend of £450k is projected for this budget. There has been a notable increase in the number of children requiring transport during the first quarter and also an increase in contract prices. The actual increase in demand will be clearer in September with the start of 
the new school year but at this stage an increase in costs of £800k is projected partly offset by various savings of £350k leaving a net pressure of £450k. There is a risk that demand continues to increase and costs increase further during the year. The Directorate is working with CEL to 
mitigate potential demand pressures. 

Trading and Commissioning : Although the Trading areas of the directorate collectively underachieved their income targets in 2017/18,  action plans have been developed for the areas where income was below budget in 2017/18. An action plan has been developed to look at 
maximising income from Learning for Life, but a shortfall of £350k against net managed budget is now projected. 

Other Costs  - Legal disbursement activity has been higher than 2017/18 when there was an overspend of £443k. It is projected that external legal disbursement costs will exceed the 2018/19 budget by £450k.

Other Income - Additional Income of £450k is anticipated from the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant to contribute to the education costs of External Residential placements and from other contributions.  The DfE has recently sought agreement to re-profile the final 
payment of the Partners in Practice Project. A final payment of just under £2.3m was due to be paid in 2018/19. The DfE has now requested to pay £0.3m in 2018/19 and the balance of £2m in 2019/20. Based on current spending plans this leaves a cash-flow shortfall of £1.7m in the 

P
age 117



Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations: Lead Officer Action 
Plan Value

Forecast 
Variation

A. Significant Variations RAG £m £m

Children Looked After Steve Walker R 0.80

Staffing Related Costs CSLT R 0.092

Learning for Life A Richardson R 0.35

External Legal Disbursements CSLT R 0.45

Passenger Transport Sue Rumbold Increase in demand and prices net of various savings R 0.45

B. Key Budget Action plans (BAP's)  

CSLT A (1.27) 0.211

S Rumbold / S 
Martin G (0.25) 0.00

A Richardson G (0.25) 0.00

S Rumbold G (0.25) (0.25)

S Rumbold G (0.30) 0.00

S Tariq G (0.35) (0.25)

S Rumbold G (0.10) 0.00

S Tariq G (0.40) 0.00

S Tariq G (0.10) 0.00

various G (1.75) 0.25

 

C. Contingency Plans  

G (0.45)

Children and Families Directorate - Forecast Variation 1.653

Additional Comments

There is a projected net overspend of £350k.

Based on current spend the savings should be exceeded by £0.25m.

Various commissioning reviews are in progress. There is the risk that the level of savings will 
not be achieved.

Pressure on CLA demand led budgets (External Residential placements and Independent 
Fostering Agencies). 

Reflects the current high level of external legal disbursements

Savings likely to slip depending on MSR/ELI process. Stage 1 review complete. Stage 2 
reviews to be progressed once revised directorate structure has been implemented. Shortfall 
is in part offset by other savings.

Proposals in place to secure the savings, DDN to implement the new structure implemented.

Pilots are being established around alternative payment approach

At Period 5 it is assumed that savings in Partnerships and Health and Learning will partly 
offset pressures in Social Care with further savings from vacancy control.

This action is linked to the number of unaccompanied asylum seeker children

The Team is anticipated to continue high level of trading.

Achieve additional DfE Improvement Partner Income

Achieve additional Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children grant

Achieve Increased income from Adel Beck

In line with the agreement with Kirklees

Achieve Increased income from Child Protection: 
Education Safeguarding Team

Day rates at Adel Beck have been increased. Higher charges may impact on demand but 
current income levels suggest the budget will be exceeded.

Commissioning Reviews

Service Reviews / Restructures

Progress alternative Transport funding models

Family Services restructure and reduced funding

Reduced spend on Independent Support Workers

Other Action Plans which have been achieved. Includes continuation of School Improvement and Brokerage grant £0.7m ; Trading income 
shorfall at Activity Centres £50k ; SENSAP set up costs £50k

Utilisation of External Income Additional Dedicated Schools Grant funding (High Needs Block) contribution to area External 
Residential placements £0.2m and other additional income £250k.

P
age 118



DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - PERIOD 5
CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2018/19 FINANCIAL YEAR

Overall Summary - From 2018/19, the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is made up of 4 separate blocks - the Schools Block, Central School Services Block, Early Years Block and High Needs Block.  At month 5 there is a 
projected overspend of £500k, though a more detailed projection exercise is currently being carried out and will be reported in September.

Schools Block - This is the largest element of the DSG and mostly consists of  delegated funding to local authority maintained schools.  From this, there are a number of "de-delegated" services where schools have agreed for the 
local authority to retain funding back to cover some costs centrally which otherwise would need to be charged to schools (such as maternity costs, trade unions costs and the libraries service).  The Growth Fund budget remains part 
of this block.  Although there are no variances projected at this stage, there are risks over the levels of maternity pay costs within the de-delegated budgets.

Central School Services Block
This is a new block created from 2018/19 which covers costs such as prudential borrowing repayment, equal pay costs, the admissions service and the retained duties element of what used to be the Education Services Grant (which 
covers statutory and regulatory duties, asset management and welfare services).  There are no variances currently projected on these services.

Early Years Block - This element is concerned with provision to pre-school children.  The final grant amount received is largely based on the January 2019 census and so will not be confirmed until the 2019/20 financial year.  
Following the significant underspend in 2017/18, the unit rates paid to providers has been increased for both 2 year old and 3 & 4 year old providers.  However, it is still expected that there could be an underspend of up to £1m.
- for 2 year olds, the January census has usually been the lowest of the year and in order to not overspend this budget, the amount paid to providers is £5.10 an hour (an increase from £5.05 in 2017/18) while the funding is £5.20 

per hour to compensate for this, although the hourly rate received from the ESFA has not increased from 2017/18.  
- for 3 and 4 year olds, the hourly rate has been increased from £4.20 to £4.25, though the hourly rate received from the ESFA remains the same.
- the SEND Inclusion Fund budget has been reduced to £485k and the process for accessing this fund has been simplified for 2018/19 to encourage more providers to take up the available funding.
- the contingency fund did not have any calls on it during 2017/18 and so has been reduced from £400k to £170k.

High Needs Block - This element is used to support provision for pupils and students with special educational needs and disabilities.  This block is currently experiencing increasing costs due to high levels of demand and 
increasing complexity of cases.  There are a number of areas of risk in these budgets, including:-

- The deficit on the North West SILC budget is likely to be a charge during 2018/19. At the end of 2017/18 the deficit was £1.355m, though a deficit action plan is now being worked on, though there is a risk that this deficit could 
increase further.

- a high level assessment of the number and complexity of children with SEN suggests there could be a significant risk of up to £2.5m on this budget.
- due to the projected overspends listed above, the budgeted contribution to reserves is not expected to be made.

Grant Income - The initial  DSG grant for 2018/19 year was announced in December 2017.  However, there will continue to be changes to this figure during the year, in addition, the early years element will not be known until 
summer 2019.  At this early stage of the year there are no changes to the projected grant due.

P
age 119



Budget Projection Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000

Schools Block
   DSG Income (320,706) (320,706) 0 General De-delegated Total

 Individual Schools Budgets 313,490 313,490 0 £'000 £'000 £'000
 De-delegated budgets 4,316 4,316 0
Growth Fund 2,900 2,900 0 Latest Estimate

0 0 0  Balance b/fwd from 2017/18 3,379 (425) 2,954
 Net contribution to/from balances (946) 300 (646)

Central School Services Block Deficit c/fwd to 2019/20 2,433 (125) 2,308
   DSG Income (5,171) (5,171) 0

CSSB Expenditure 5,171 5,171 0 Projected Outturn
0 0 0  Balance b/fwd from 2017/18 3,379 (425) 2,954

 Net contribution to/from balances 500 300 800
Early Years Block Deficit c/fwd to 2019/20 3,879 (125) 3,754
   DSG Income (55,367) (55,367) 0

 FEEE 3 and 4 year olds 44,216 43,386 (830)
 FEEE 2 year olds 7,903 7,903 0
 Other early years provision 3,248 3,078 (170)

0 (1,000) (1,000)

High Needs Block
   DSG Income (60,300) (60,300) 0

 Funding passported to institutions 53,393 55,839 2,446
 Commissioned services 1,549 1,549 0
 In house provision 4,412 4,412 0

   Contribution to /from reserves 946 0 (946)
0 1,500 1,500

Total 0 500 500

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead 

Officer
RAG

Action Plan 
Value

Forecast Variation 
against Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

Transfer funding to High Needs Block B 2.50 0.00

Reduction in Funding for Inclusion unit value B 1.37 0.00

Reductions in mainstream funding for additional places G 0.49 0.00

B. Significant Variations  

Early Years Block (1.00)
High Needs Block 1.09
High Needs Block 1.36
High Needs Block (0.95)

0.50

The reduction in the unit rate from £684 to £600 has been applied.

Transfer of £2m from the schools block and £500k from the central school services block to the high needs block 
as detailed in report to Schools Forum in January 2018.

Additional Comments

DSG Grant ReservesBudget Management - net variations against the approved budget

Dedicated Schools Grant - Forecast Variation

Estiamted increase in payments to institutions due to increase in number and complexity of cases.

A change in the criteria before additional funding is due will be applied.

Budgeted contribution to reserves will not be made

Likely underspend on early years block.

Deficit balance on North West SILC as academy conversion due to take place during 2018/19.

P
age 120



Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises Supplies & 

Services Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation Total 

Expenditure Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning & 
Sustainable 
Development

9,219 (7,368) 1,851 (157) 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 (147) 0 (147)

Economic 
Development 1,859 (508) 1,351 (22) 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 (8) 197 189

Markets & City 
Centre 2,958 (3,612) (654) (9) 99 (40) 0 5 0 0 0 0 55 155 210

Asset 
Management & 
Regeneration

16,838 (20,461) (3,623) (180) 123 27 0 12 0 0 0 0 (18) 941 923

Employment & 
Skills 3,881 (2,166) 1,715 (15) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (15) 0 (15)

=
Highways & 
Transportation 62,256 (46,471) 15,785 (925) 369 374 0 14 0 0 0 0 (168) 300 132

Arts & Heritage 18,593 (8,307) 10,286 60 (12) 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 327 (3) 324
Active Leeds 24,526 (19,918) 4,608 (2) (20) (48) 0 0 (50) 0 0 0 (120) 413 293
Resources & 
Strategy 1,113 0 1,113 (11) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (11) (1,547) (1,558)

Total 141,243 (108,811) 32,432 (1,261) 559 616 0 31 (50) 0 0 0 (105) 455 350

CITY DEVELOPMENT 2018/19 BUDGET - PERIOD 5
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 5 (APRIL -  AUGUST)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

At Period 5 City Development are projecting an overspend of  £0.35M  made up of £3.6M  of headline pressures , largely offset by savings and  one-off items of income.

As per the Medium Term Financial Plan, the budgeted return on the Council's commercial asset portfolio has increased by £1m in 2018/19  to £3.36m.  The development of the Council's commercial asset portfolio is reliant upon suitable market opportunities with the right risk profile 
and as a result is currently projecting a £1.58M shortfall.   The Directorate  will seek to mitigate against this through savings within other areas of income and expenditure.    As such mitigating actions of circa £1.16m have been identified including £300k of additional  Arena income, 
£509k for one off easements and covenant releases, £248k savings across Asset Management, and £100k from further anticipated road closures at Bridgewater Place.  

Advertising income is another budget pressure rolling through from 2017/18.  Following the appointment of an external consultant and subsequent analysis and reporting an initial pressure of £200k has been identified but this is half the deficit of previous years.  Work is ongoing to 
strengthen and develop advertising opportunities.

In Highways a pressure of £0.38M has been reported in respect of electricity for Street Lighting.  The tariffs can be volatile and fluctuate significantly in response to energy market conditions,. The 2018/19 Budget Estimate Circular suggested provision for a 5% price increase however 
the first two months of billing has shown some tariffs rising as much as 18%.  This will continue to be closely monitored throughout the financial year.  

The Arts & Heritage service is reporting a pressure of £0.32M  of which £0.16M relates to  additional spending pressures around the carnival and reggae events .

Active Leeds is projecting an underachievement of income  of £400k of which £200k is due to  delays in the refurbishment of Airborough Swimming Pool  due to additional essential capital works over and above the original capital scheme estimate.  This pressure is partly mitigated by  
savings of £50k in respect of PFI charges (penalties)  .The refurbishment started in May 2017 and was expected to take 6 months to complete , however the latest estimate is that works will not be completed until January 2019.

The Directorate needs to contain its current position and  has identified circa £1M  of  mitigating action plan savings  including  utilisation of PFI street lighting balances to mitigate against the increase in street lighting electricity costs and the implementation of  a 3% increase in 
recharge rates for  Highways  engineering and technical staff  . The Directorate has a  rigorous approval process for the release of vacant posts  and this will now be strengthened to challenge all  post release requests that are not income generating or public facing. 

P
age 121



Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
RAG

Action 
Plan 
Value

Forecast Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
Lead Officer

A.  Budget Action Plans £'000 £'000
1. Tim Hill G (400) 0

2. Eve Roodhouse R (120) 183

3. Susan Upton G (70) 0

4. Angela Barnicle R (1,520) 1,000

5. Gary Bartlett G (810) 2

6. Cluny MacPherson G (400) 0

7. Employment and Skills Sue Wynne Staffing & running cost savings G (20) (14)

8. Cluny MacPherson R (1,585) 345

(4,925) 1,516

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Angela Barnicle 580

2. Gary Bartlett Street Lighting Electricity Costs 380

3. Angela Barnicle West Gate Rent 240

4. Angela Barnicle Advertising Income 200

5. Susan Upton Kirkgate Market Income and Security Costs 175

6. Angela Barnicle EX PPPU Income Recovery 140

7. Cluny MacPherson Staffing and Income Variations across Arts and Heritage 160

8. Cluny MacPherson 160

8. Angela Barnicle (509)

9. Resources & 
Strategy Ed Mylan Historic S278 balances (360)

10. Angela Barnicle (300)

11. Angela Barnicle (248)

12. Tim Hill Staffing Savings (147)

13. Ed Mylan (100)

14. City Development All Other Variations across the Directorate 10

15. Ed Mylan (1,547)

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation 350

Asset Management & Regeneration

Reduction in the net cost of service via increased income, operational cost reductions and VAT exemption

Arena Income

Additional Income - Symons House, Holdforth Court, Thornes Farm Way, ELOR Gas Easement, rents

Other savings across the service

Total Budget Action Plan Savings 

Shortfall in Strategic Investment Fund Income against 2017/18 Budget Action Plan

Arts and Heritage West Indian Carnival

Action Plans to mitigate net budget presssure including potential utilisation of balance of street lighting PFI balances to mitigate 
increase in street lighting costs, robust management vacancy management and increase in recharge rates for Highways 
professional/technical staff

Planning and Sustainable Development

Economic Development

Sport and Active Lifestyles

Resources & Strategy

Planning and Sustainable Development

Asset Management & Regeneration

Asset Management & Regeneration

Asset Management & Regeneration

Asset Management & Regeneration

Asset Management & Regeneration

Arts and Heritage

Highways and Transportation

Asset Management & Regeneration

Asset Management & Regeneration

Markets & City Centre

Resources & Strategy Bridgewater Place - assumed income from further closures

Strategic Investment Fund & fee income

Fees & Charges

Savings via increased income opportunities across the Service

Highways and Transportation

Arts and Heritage

Additional Comments

Expenditure savings

Additional income from charging

Markets & City Centre Additional income from events and speciality markets

P
age 122



Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 

Services
Transport Internal Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income Total (under) / overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Resources 93,713 (29,507) 64,206 578 (71) (39) 7 144 0 0 0 (242) 377 (221) 156

LBS 55,675 (65,286) (9,611) (1,828) 0 1,531 0 0 0 0 0 0 (297) 297 0

Housing & Property 26,576 (13,613) 12,963 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CEL 74,961 (64,284) 10,677 1,638 92 179 1,001 3 0 0 0 0 2,913 (2,825) 88

Total 250,925 (172,690) 78,235 388 21 1,671 1,008 147 0 0 0 (242) 2,993 (2,749) 244

RESOURCES AND HOUSING

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2018/19 FINANCIAL YEAR
MONTH 5

Overall
The month 5 position for the directorate is an overall projected overspend of £244k, which consists of a projected shortfall on court fees income of £156k, an increase of £11k from month 4 and a £88k NNDR pressure for 
Westgate.  In addition, there are a number of risks around the timely implementation of some of the savings incorporated as part of the 2018/19 budget strategy and ongoing income pressures within HR which will require a 
directorate wide plan to deliver alternative savings of around £0.9m. It is anticipated that most of this gap can be closed through the management of vacancies across the Directorate.

Resources
It is assumed that support services will achieve the almost £3.5m savings which form part of the 2018/19 budget strategy.  Most of these (£2.2m) centred on staffing savings and early projections indicate these will be delivered. 
Although an overall staffing pressure is being projected for the group, this is mainly as a result of recruitment within DIS and will be offset by additional projected income. However, there is a risk for those services which are 
experiencing a reduction in schools income, particularly HR. Plans will need to be implemented to compensate for this loss of income. There is a continuing pressure from court fees income within Finance and the latest figures 
suggest a projected shortfall of £156k against the budget.  

Leeds Building Services
A balanced position is projected for LBS. The budget assumes an additional surplus of £1.1m to be delivered through increased turnover of around £10m when compared to the 17-18 budget. Delays in the recruitment of front 
line staff are assumed to be offset by the additional use of sub contractors to deliver the 2018-19 programme.

Housing and Property Services
No variation is forecast within Housing and Property Services in 2018-19. Within Corporate Property Management an additional £0.5m has been included in the 2018/19 budget. Current projected spend assumes that £0.4m of 
works can again be capitalised in 2018/19 to balance the budget.

Civic Enterprise Leeds
At month 5 a £88k NNDR pressure for offices at Westgate is projected. The 2018/19 budget strategy assumed part year NNDR savings through no longer occupying the Westgate offices. However, due to delays in declaring the 
premises vacant, some additional costs will be incurred. In addition, Merrion House has recently undergone a NNDR valuation for which we are awaiting results but the month 5 projections do not assume any variation from the 
budget. No other pressures are identified at this stage although we will continue to closely monitor some of the significant income generating services within the group.

P
age 123



Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer RAG

Action Plan 
Value

Forecast Variation 
against Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1
G

(1.10)

2 G (0.15)

3
G

(0.08)

4 G (0.20)

5
G

(0.05)

6 G (0.20)

7 G (0.04)

8 G (0.12)

9 G (0.03)

10 G (0.05)

11 A (0.20) 0.20

12
G

(0.38)

13
G

(0.33)

14 A (0.07)

15 R (0.06)

16 G (0.05)

17 A (0.50)

18
G

(0.19) (0.27)

19
A

(0.10) 0.10

20 R (0.09) 0.09

21 G (0.05)

22 Lorraine Hallam G (0.04)

23 G (0.07)

24 G (0.02)

25 Helena Phillips G (1.10)

26 A (0.10)

27 G (0.13)

28 G (0.05)

B. Other Significant Variations

1 R 0.77
2 Finance A 0.15
3 CEL A 0.09
4 All other variations A (0.89)

0.24

HR

Fleet Services Sarah Martin Operational savings

Facilities Management Sarah Martin Operational cost review.

Fleet Services Sarah Martin Staffing restructure

Review of housing support costs that can be more appropriately charged to the capital programme

Annual equipment replacement programme & investment in kitchen facilities to deliver savings.

Simon Costigan

Jill Wildman

Jill Wildman

Simon Costigan

LBS

Housing

Cleaning/Catering

Sarah Martin

Operational cost savings within CEL  from ASC Better Lives programme

Cleaning Sarah Martin Additional income

Sarah Martin

Resources and Housing Directorate - Forecast Variation

Additional Comments

Cleaning/Catering

Financial Services

HR

HR

Strategy and Improvement

Housing

CPM

Shared Services

Additional turnover has been identified; budget reflects increased staffing to deliver turnover required 
and recruitment is underway;

Commissioning Contract Savings - FYE of existing savings

Target reduction in spend on repairs/security at Void properties

Mariana Pexton

Helena Phillips

Deliver £0.5m staffing savings to balance the 18/19 budget

Additional income  -mainly schools (price increases, fee on supply contract; Income from attendance/ 
disciplinary training)

P-card payments - agency contract

Mail and Print - cross cutting savings (found with alternative savings)

Deliver £0.13m staffing savings to balance the 18/19 budget

Lorraine Hallam

Lorraine Hallam Net shortfall against schools income

 Action plan required (£0.9m)Dir Wide

Shortfall against court fees income budget.Doug Meeson

Sarah Martin

Directorate wide All COs Staffing savings above amounts in service accounts

Reduction in licence costs, the continued rationalisation of printers and a review of telephone costs as 
Skype is fully rolled outDIS Dylan Roberts

DIS Dylan Roberts Review of staff & other costs that can be more appropriately charged to the capital programme

DIS Dylan Roberts Income from additional services to WY Joint Services; Alternative savings to be found.

DIS Dylan Roberts Charge for personal use of Mobile phones; Alterative savings to be found

Additional comms team income - mainly from Schools

DIS Dylan Roberts Mobile phone growth - additional budget required from Directorates

Doug Meeson

Lorraine Hallam

HR Lorraine Hallam
Deliver £0.19m staffing savings to balance the 18/19 budget; Additional staffing savings used to offset 
income shortfall

NNDR pressure for offices at Westgate.

HR Lorraine Hallam Replace HELP contract with telephone support service.

Low Carbon Polly Cook Charges to University for contribution towards salary costs

HR Secure £40k of income chargeable to the Apprentice Levy

Legal & Democratic Services Catherine Witham Deletion / Reconfiguration of posts or other cost savings 

Shared Services

Strategy and Improvement

Deliver £1.1m staffing savings to balance the 18/19 budget

Mariana Pexton

P
age 124



Summary By Service  Projected variances
Expenditure 

Budget Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate Staffing Premises Supplies & Services Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Communities 19,015 (14,036) 4,979 1 0 (23) (1) (220) 0 0 0 0 (243) 243 0
Customer Access 23,668 (4,192) 19,476 160 0 56 4 1 0 0 0 0 221 (61) 160

Electoral & Regulatory Services 6,194 (5,440) 754 (132) 70 45 (1) 22 0 0 0 0 4 (4) 0

Welfare And Benefits 252,566 (248,692) 3,874 73 6 486 8 56 0 0 0 0 629 (629) 0
Car Parking Services 4,936 (13,168) (8,232) 26 0 (140) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (114) 232 118
Community Safety 8,083 (5,912) 2,171 (61) 0 (36) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (97) 97 0
Waste Management 41,662 (7,861) 33,801 631 0 101 47 0 0 0 0 0 779 (411) 368
Parks And Countryside 31,420 (24,842) 6,578 104 33 380 (74) (18) 0 0 0 0 425 (425) 0

Environmental Action (City Centre) 2,011 (427) 1,584 (18) 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 (13) 0 (13)

Environmental Health 2,053 (561) 1,492 (41) 0 (6) (3) (4) 0 0 0 0 (54) 45 (9)
Cleaner Neighbourhood Teams 12,506 (4,561) 7,945 (140) 0 7 133 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Action Plan 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (250) (250)
Total 404,114 (329,692) 74,422 603 110 874 113 (163) 0 0 0 0 1,537 (1,163) 374

COMMUNITIES & ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE SUMMARY
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2018/19 FINANCIAL YEAR

Period 5 (August 2018)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

Overall Position (+£374k over budget)

Communities (nil variance)
This service is projecting a nil variance.  

Customer Access (+£160k over budget)
The projected overspend relates to the Contact Centre. This reflects the delays in 
delivering budgeted staffing efficiencies in respect of Channel shift/shove whilst 
maintaining performance levels in the face of increased call volumes.  This has been 
partially offset by projected additional income  within other areas of the service.

Electoral and Regulatory Services (nil variance)
The service is projecting a nil variance at period 5. The  Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
(TPHL) fee review will be implemented from the 1st October, the impact of this will be 
closely monitored . Registrar income to period 5 is down compared to previous years, 
although the projected figure assumes that this will recover in the second half of the 
year.

Environmental Health (£9k under budget)
The projected variance is due to delayed recruitment.(£41k) partially offset by 
reduction in income.

Welfare and Benefits (nil variance)
A balanced position is currently projected.  Although the service has secured 
additional grant funding, mainly in respect of Verify Earnings and Pensions Alerts 
(£327k),  this will be offset by additional expenditure to meet the grant requirements 
and other staffing variations across the service  including the cost of Immigration 
advice (£60k).  
The level of overpayment income will continue to be monitored as there remains a 
significant level of budgeted income to be achieved (c£7.6m). 

Parks and Countryside (nil variance)
The service is projecting an overall nil variance at period 5.  There is a projected income shortfall at 
Lotherton Hall, Tropical World and Temple Newsam (approx £0.4m), although it is anticipated that these 
shortfalls will be partially offset by expenditure savings and additional income in other areas of the service. 

Car Parking (+£118k over budget)
The projected overspend relates to shortfalls against phased budgets on the projected levels of 'on street' 
(+£328k) and 'off street' (+£77k) parking income.  Assumptions have been made that an element of this 
income will be recovered during the remainder of the year but will continue to be closely monitored to fully 
determine income trends.  It is also anticipated that these shortfalls will be partially offset by other 
expenditure savings by the year end. 

Cleaner Neighbourhoods Teams (nil variance)
The service is projecting a nil variance with projected staffing savings offset by additional overtime costs.  

City Centre (£13k under budget)
The service is projecting an underspend due to delays in recruitment.

Waste Management (+£368k over budget):

Refuse: (+£723k over budget)
Within the Refuse Service it is currently anticipated that there will be slippage of 9 months (to January) in 
respect of the budgeted collection route efficiency programme, as the route review continues. This will 
result in a projected overspend of £855k, although savings of £250k are anticipated to offset this. In 
addition, an extra collection route (+£231k) has been provided to meet the additional demand from new 
build properties; other staffing pressures within the service are projected to cost an additional £260k; and 
delays in the review of the medi-waste collection service are projected to cost an additional £85k. Partially 
offsetting these pressures is a £458k saving in respect of collection cost savings.   

HWSS & Waste Strategy: (£355k under budget)
The projected overspend relates to increased SORT disposal costs (+£261k), reflecting a reduction in market 
prices and increased contamination rates; a reduction in the level of disposal savings assumed from the 
rollout of the new garden waste routes (+£242k). Offsetting these pressures is additional recycling and 
weighbridge income of £176k, disposal savings of £260k, mainly at Household Waste Sites, and other 
anticipated disposal savings of £400k.

Community Safety (nil variance)
A projected shortfall in income  of £59k due to the loss of a contract with WY Police to maintain ANPR 
cameras, is offset by a projected net underspend in staffing. 

Directorate Wide (action plan savings £250k)
The directorate will work towards identifying appropriate actions to mitigate the projected overspend.

P
age 125



Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer RAG

Action Plan 
Value (£000s)

Forecast Variation 

Communities
Communities team Shaid Mahmood G (50) 0

Community Centres Shaid Mahmood G (60) 0

Third Sector Infrastructure Fund Shaid Mahmood G (34) 0

Customer Access
Libraries Lee Hemsworth G (50) 0

Compliments & Complaints Lee Hemsworth G (17) 0

Contact Centre Lee Hemsworth G (80) 0

Contact Centre Lee Hemsworth G (30) 0

Contact Centre Lee Hemsworth R (280) 200

Contact Centre Lee Hemsworth G (40) 0

Contact Centre Lee Hemsworth A (50) 12

Home Library Service Lee Hemsworth G (30) 0

Interpreting & Translation Service Lee Hemsworth G (180) 0

Staffing efficiencies Lee Hemsworth G (974) 0
Welfare & Benefits
Welfare and Benefits Lee Hemsworth G (50) 0
Welfare and Benefits Lee Hemsworth A (200) 60

Electoral & Regulatory Services
TPHL John Mulcahy G (438) 0

Waste Management
Refuse Helen Freeman R (1,350) 605

Refuse Helen Freeman R (170) 85

Environmental Action Services
Car Parking Helen Freeman A (130) 35

Parks and Countryside
Parks and Countryside Sean Flesher G (100) 0

Parks and Countryside Sean Flesher G (100) 0

Parks and Countryside Sean Flesher G (1,124) 0

Community Safety
Community Safety Paul Money G (50) 0

Directorate Wide All COs G (300) 0

Other Significant Variations
All services Other expenditure variations (373)

Directorate wide Action Plan (250)

Communities & Environment - Forecast Variation 374

Community Hubs & Libraries ELIs/Vacancy Factor

Additional CCTV and Tree Inspection works undertaken in 17/18, need to identify appropriate areas in 18/19

Increase charges at Woodhouse Lane car park by 50p for a full day

Undertake additional works for Housing Leeds 

Continue to progress Attractions Development Plan to achieve additional net surplus 

Increase turnover to achieve additional plant/retail income target (additional net £100k surplus) 
from the Arium
Staffing savings - achievement of vacancy factor (5% all services, 8.9% Parks Operations)

Identify efficiencies in use of Community Safety funding

Channel shift/shove - further savings due to fewer calls - saving of 12 ftes

Reduce service failure - saving of 1.3 ftes

Implement automated switchboard in Contact Centre - saving of 2.5 ftes

Transfer of Home Library Service to voluntary sector - transfer of 1 fte

Secure additional income (net) from Interpreting and Translation Service - Total Income budget 
£846k

Work with NHS colleagues to review medi-waste collection service to eliminate subsidy

Local Welfare Support Scheme - review eligibility for white goods and arrangements for carpet 
replacements in Council properties

Implement fee review to achieve additional income target of £438k to achieve balanced budget. 
Overall income target £2,241k

Continue with the re-design of collection rounds to deliver remaining £1.1m savings in base budget, 
plus additional lieu day savings of £0.25m

On track and should be delivered in year.

Business case approved at FPG, to be funded by Invest to Save reserve - £38k savings forecast due to delays.

Currently under review - advice being sought from HR, savings may be delivered from elsewhere.

Revising contract arrangements with Health Service. This could lead to a longer term arrangement, but may 
need to review pricing.
Expected to be achieved

To retender as part of a West Yorkshire Consortium. This will allow potential bigger savings but it is unlikely that 
the full amount can be delivered in year. Other savings to be identified to cover this in current year. 

Factored into proposed structure changes - Delivered

Lines migrated Friday 11th May so should be on line to deliver savings 

Savings now incorporated into Channel shift/shove target (see below re Ctax emails)

Whilst implementation is underway delays are putting delivery of full savings at risk. Added to this is the  
current adverse call answer rate and it may be that performance issues need to be addressed which could also 
impact on savings being delivered

Efficiencies have been identified, proposals to be approved by Safer Leeds Executive

Budget reduced by £200k. Funding & award approach revised such that we will operate within allocated budget 
for allocation of white goods. However service incurring additional costs of Immigration advisor £60k within the 
budget.

Fee review approved at Licensing Committee 25th May 2018, now out to consultation. Income levels being 
monitored to ensure increase in fees is sufficient to generate required income. £1.8m achieved in 17/18.

Route review ongoing - currently assuming 7 months delay. 

Ongoing discussions with NHS - assumed delayed implementation for 1/2 year

Price increase implemented 6th July 2018

Income to period 5 is below profile. To be monitored.

Additional net surplus built into budget. To be monitored in year.

Period 5 savings in line with profile. To be monitored in year.

Delivered

Communities Team - review management & leadership arrangements - saving of 1 fte

Community Centres: reduce net cost by reviewing lettings income and Facilities Management costs

10% saving on VAL contract

Re-tender Advice Consortium contract

Re-tender Library Management Systems contracts as single contract

Review structure to deliver staffing savings

Migration of telephone lines to new datelines'

Closer working between Council Tax Recovery and Contact Centre - saving of 1 fte

Review process ongoing, savings expected to be delivered in year

Additional income due in 18/19 from full year effect of Free Lets termination in 17/18. Meeting to be held with 
Facilities Management re delivery of remaining savings.

VAL have been informed of the decision and the contract is to be renegotiated

Additional Comments

P
age 126



Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Accounts (7,330) (34,073) (41,403) (1,000) (1,000) (2,000) 810 (1,190)
Debt 24,747 (1,167) 23,580 656 656 656
Govt Grants 9,740 (36,895) (27,155) 0 770 770
Joint Committees 36,913 0 36,913 0 0
Miscellaneous 5,930 (852) 5,078 (30) (30) (30)
Insurance 10,294 (10,294) 0 165 (165) 0 0

Total 80,294 (83,281) (2,987) (30) 0 (835) 0 0 0 0 656 (1,165) (1,374) 1,580 206

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2018/19 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - PERIOD 05

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall :

At month 5 the Strategic & Central budgets have a projected overspend of £0.2m

The key variations are;

- predicted shortfalls of £0.6m in S31 business rates income and £0.2m in New Homes Bonus income

- £1.4m less Section 278 income due to predicted lower levels of development activity, and additional external debt costs of £0.7m partially offset by additional prudential borrowing  recharges of £0.6m

- proposed use of £1m from the insurance reserve following a review of the level of the reserve

- an increase in the target level of general capitalisation of £1m

P
age 127



STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2018/19 FINANCIAL YEAR
Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

RAG Budget
Forecast 

Variation against 
Budget

Lead Officer

A.  Major Budget Issues £m  £m  

1. Doug Meeson R 22.6 0.7 

2. Doug Meeson G 1.0 0.0 

3. Doug Meeson A (11.2) 0.2 

4. Doug Meeson A (25.6) 0.6 

5. Doug Meeson R (3.9) 1.4 

6. General capitalisation target Doug Meeson Capitalisation of eligible spend in directorate/service revenue budgets.  Incr by £1m following review. G (4.5) (1.0) 

7. Schools capitalisation target Doug Meeson Capitalisation of eligible spend in school revenue budgets. G (4.0) 0.0 

8. Joint Committees Doug Meeson G 36.9 0.0 

G

B. Other Significant Budgets

1. Doug Meeson G 0.0 0.0 

2. Prudential Borrowing Recharges Doug Meeson G (14.1) (0.6) 

3. Earmarked Reserves Doug Meeson G 0.7 (1.0) 

4 Doug Meeson G (0.6) 0.0 

5 Miscellaneous Doug Meeson G 5.1 0.0 

6 Doug Meeson G 0.4 0.0 

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation 0.2 

Small surplus anticipated at this stage, incl recharge for Merrion.

Use of capital and other earmarked reserves. Proposal to release additional £1m from Insurance reserve 
following review.

Prompt paymernt discount savings target Achievement of target depends on getting sufficient suppliers enroled on PPD scheme

No significant variation anticipated at this stage.

Central recharges Recharges ref PPPU break-up to allocate to directorates

Insurance Slight overspend projected at this stage, will be funded from reserve.

Minimum Revenue Provision No variation is anticipated for 2018/19

New Homes Bonus Projected shortfall of £184k

Business Rates  (S31 Grants & retained income) Projected shortfall of £586k

S278 Contributions Potential risk of £1.4m shortfall

No significant variation anticipated at this stage.

Debt Costs and External Income External interest payments greater than anticipated

Additional Comments

P
age 128



Summary of projected over / (under) spends (Housing Revenue Account)

Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000
Income

Rents (212,042) (211,842) 199                  105                                   

Service Charges (7,774) (7,778) (4) (4)

Other Income (30,337) (30,228) 109                  77                                     

Total Income (250,153) (249,848) 304               178                             
Expenditure

Disrepair Provision 1,400                            2,050                            650                  412                                   

Repairs to Dwellings 43,548                          43,548                          -                   -                                    

Council Tax on Voids 654                                654                                -                   -                                    

Employees 28,733                          27,624                          (1,109) (818)

Premises 8,311                            8,412                            101                  14                                     

Supplies & Services 3,853                            3,801                            (52) (2)

Internal Services 40,287                          40,773                          486                  295                                   

Capital Programme 65,502                          65,502                          -                   -                                    

Unitary Charge PFI 9,476                            9,278                            (198) (198)

Capital Charges 44,476                          44,476                          -                   -                                    

Other Expenditure 6,716                            6,335                            (381) (44)

Total Expenditure 252,956                   252,453                   (503) (341)
Net Position 2,803                     2,605                     (198) (164)
Appropriation: Sinking funds (1,753) (1,555) 198                  198                                   

Appropriation: Reserves (1,050) (1,050) -                   (34)

(Surplus)/Deficit (0) (1) (0) 0                               
Proposed New Reserves -                   -                                    

Transfer to Capital Reserve -                   -                                    

Total Current Month (0) (1) (0) 0                               

Housing Management £873k. P&C part year savings due from Housing Growth restructure.

Disrepair compensation and fees

Reduction in required Provision for Bad Debt

Offset with Sinking Fund - see below

£207k legal services disrepair. Internal charges Communities & Environments. 

Capitalised salaries less than expected but offset by employee costs below

Housing Revenue Account - Period 5
Financial Dashboard - 2018/19 Financial Year

Directorate
Variance to 

budget
Previous period 

variance
Current Budget Projected Spend

Lower number of affordable lets than budgeted and average rents slightly less than budgeted.

Silk Mill Insurance less compensation costs. Seacroft rent & NNDR savings - offset in internal charges

P
age 129



Housing Revenue Account - Period 5
Financial Dashboard - 2018/19 Financial Year

Change in Stock Budget Projection
Right to Buy sales 530 530
New Build (PFI) 0 0
New Build (Council House Growth) (22) (22)
Total 508 508
*Actual sales to date 209
Right to Buy Receipts 2017/18 Actual 2018/19 Projection
Total Value of sales (£000s) 26,356 27,562
Average Selling Price per unit (£000s) 51.9 52.0
Number of Sales* 508 530
Number of Live Applications 1,417 1,598

£000 £000 £000

Dwelling rents & charges 2017/18  Week 22 2018/19  Week 22
Current Tenants 6,592                                     6,411                                     (181)
Former Tenants 4,383                                     4,808                                     425                                   

10,975                                   11,219                                   244                                   

Under occupation 2017/18    Week 52 2018/19    Week 18
Volume of Accounts 4,357                                     4,271                                     (86)
Volume in Arrears 1,873                                     1,975                                     102                                   
% in Arrears 43.0% 46.2% 3.3%
Value of Arrears 502                                        487                                        (15)

Collection Rates 2017/18    Week 52 2018/19    Week 18
Dwelling rents 97.44% 96.88% -0.6%
Target 97.50% 97.50%
Variance to Target -0.06% -0.62%

VarianceArrears 2017/18 2018/19

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

7000000

8000000

Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…Period…

Ar
re

ar
s

Comparison of Current Tenant Arrears  by  Financial Year

2018/19
2017/18
2016/17
2015/16
2014/15

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

Period
1

Period
2

Period
3

Period
4

Period
5

Period
6

Period
7

Period
8

Period
9

Period
10

Period
11

Period
12

Ar
re

ar
s

Comparison of Former Tenant Arrears  by  Financial Year

2018/19
2017/18
2016/17
2015/16
2014/15

P
age 130



Reserves b/f Use of Reserves Contribution to 
Reserves

Closing 
reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000
HRA General Reserve (6,495) 0 0 (6,495)
Earmarked Reserves

Insurance - large claims (137) (137)
Welfare Change (1,782) 684 (1,098)
Housing Advisory Panels (541) (541)
Sheltered Housing (Committed in capital programme) (3,238) (3,238)
Holdsforth Place - land purchase (64) (64)
Early Leavers' Initiative (408) (408)
Changing the Workplace (332) (332)
eFiles Box-It Project (262) (262)

New Earmarked Reserves 0
Wharfedale View (10) (10)
Concierge Pilot (400) 400 0
Sheltered Housing (Furniture and Carpets) (280) (280)

(7,453) 1,084 0 (6,369)
PFI Reserves

Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund (7,410) 2,512 0 (4,898)
LLBH&H PFI Sinking Fund (2,710) 0 (958) (3,668)

(10,121) 2,512 (958) (8,567)
Capital Reserve

MRR (General) (27,212) 64,027 (68,327) (31,512)
MRR (New Build) (4,258) 3,140 0 (1,118)

(31,470) 67,167 (68,327) (32,630)
Total (55,540) 70,763 (69,285) (54,061)

Projected Financial Position on Reserves

Housing Revenue Account - Period 5
Financial Dashboard - 2018/19 Financial Year

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of Director of Resources and Housing, Director of City Development, 

Director of Communities and Environment and Director of Public Health 

Report to EXECUTIVE BOARD 

Date: 17th October 2018 

Subject: IMPROVING AIR QUALITY WITHIN THE CITY 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):  All wards. 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 

integration?  
 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  

Appendix number:  

 

Summary of main issues 

1. Our ambition is to improve the air quality of Leeds to support a thriving and 
sustainable city for those that live, work or visit here, improving the health 
outcomes for the whole city. 
 

2. The Council is under a ministerial direction to provide a Full Business Case 
(FBC) to government which sets out detailed proposals for a scheme to 
deliver compliance with the legal limit value for nitrogen dioxide in the shortest 
possible time (subject to its legal and statutory obligations and in accordance 
with public law principles). The Council has undertaken consultation on a 
proposed scheme during which it has heard representations from numerous 
parties with varying views. The outcome of the consultation process has been 
reflected where possible in the revised proposal, consistent with our legal 
obligations. The proposal that the Council is recommending for approval is a 

Report author: Polly Cook 

Tel: 0113 3785845 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ), category B with additional measures, that will 
impose charges on those buses, coaches, Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) as 
well as taxi and private hire vehicles which are not compliant with the required 
emission standards. 
 

3. Significant concern has been raised by those impacted about the financial 
impact on their businesses because in many cases, they will need to replace 
their vehicles earlier than they would have planned and customers driving 
non-compliant vehicles may also choose to take their business elsewhere. 
Not only would this adversely affect the concerned business, there are 
potential ramifications for the economic performance of the City. For this 
reason the Council is asking for £27 million (based on our current best 
estimates) from the government’s Clean Air Fund to provide mitigation 
assistance to the sectors that are impacted.  
 

4. As part of our proposal the Council is requiring the taxi and private hire sector 
to meet emissions standards that are higher than the national standards.  
Analysis of the demographic profile of drivers in this sector indicate they are 
typically from areas of social deprivation and often are on lower than average 
incomes. This means that many drivers face barriers to accessing finance, or 
raising capital. On this basis a range of financial support packages have been 
developed to assist impacted drivers. 
 

5. The CAZ is just one part of an overall plan to improve citywide air quality and 
will complement all the work that is being undertaken to improve the city’s 
transport through the £173.5 million of funding from the Local Public Transport 
Investment Programme (LPTIP).  
 

6. Alongside the CAZ and the LPTIP, the Council will also roll out its anti-idling 
campaign with a particular focus outside schools and at taxi ranks. The 
Council will also continue to work with Highways England to develop a 
Regional Centre of Excellence for low emissions vehicles that will target the 
emissions from the van sector. 
 

Recommendations 

The Executive Board is recommended to: 

 
1. Delegate authority to the Director of Resources and Housing to approve the Final 

Business Case for submission to the government  
 

2. Approve (subject to Government funding approval) a capital injection of up to 
£24,000,000 to finance the taxi/private hire loan fund scheme. 
 

3. Delegate authority to spend to the Director of Resources and Housing in 
conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer and in consultation with the relevant 
Executive Members for the final taxi and private hire loan scheme, subject to 
approval of the Final Business Case by Government. 

Page 134



 
4. Delegate authority to the Director of Resources and Housing to approve any 

decisions required to issue the funding received from the Government. 
 

5. Delegate authority to the Director of Communities and Environment to enforce 
under the relevant legislation vehicle anti-idling and the Clean Air Charging Zone. 

 

6. Note that the draft Transport Charging Order for the Clean Air Zone will be 
submitted to the Executive in November with information around its operation for 
the proposals in the submitted Final Business Case. 

 

  

Page 135



1. Purpose of this report 
 

The report to Executive Board will: 
  

1.1. Provide an overview of the statutory consultation process undertaken on the 
CAZ proposal and the key findings; 

 
1.2. Outline the details of all of the proposed financial support packages for each 

affected Sector 
 
1.3. Detail the key dates up until the proposed “go live” date of the CAZ and the key 

risks to successful implementation; 
 
1.4. Outline details of the vehicle anti-idling scheme and other actions to improve air 

quality. 

 

2. Background information 

2.1. In June 2018 a report was bought to the Executive Board that outlined the 
proposed air quality solution for Leeds. Based on the National Clean Air Zone 
Framework, a CAZ B was proposed, which introduced a charge for buses, 
coaches, HGV’s and taxi/private hire vehicles entering the CAZ that do not 
meet pre-determined emission standards. 
 

2.2.  In July 2018 a second report was brought to the Executive Board that further 
clarified the citywide approach to improving air quality.  
 

2.3. NO2 concentrations at some specific locations across Leeds are exceeding the 
annual average limit of 40 µg/m3, making Leeds non-compliant with the UK 
objectives. As a result the Council received a Ministerial Direction that has 
placed it under a legal obligation to submit a full business case, setting out 
proposals for a scheme to achieve compliance in the shortest possible time, 
consistent with other legal obligations. 

 

2.4. The CAZ will improve public health by addressing the issue of air quality in the 
city. Both long- and short-term exposure to air pollution are known to adversely 
affect health. Short-term exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air 
pollution can cause a range of negative effects including exacerbation of 
asthma, effects on lung function, increases in hospital admissions and 
mortality. Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure (over 
several years) reduces life-expectancy, mainly due to increased risk of mortality 
from cardiovascular and respiratory causes and from lung cancer.1 
 

2.5. Between January and March 2018, the Council ran a non-statutory consultation 
(phase 1) to understand how the proposed Clean Air Charging Zone might 
affect the way people live and do business in Leeds. Alongside further work on 

                                            
1 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)  - Expert testimony from Public Health England to 
inform NICE  ‘Air pollution: outdoor air quality and health’ guideline 2017 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70  

Page 136



the transport and air quality modelling impacts, the findings of the non-statutory 
consultation helped to form the amended CAZ proposal. 
 

2.6. The key changes to the air quality proposal arising from the feedback received 
during the non-statutory consultation exercise are listed below: 

  
 Amended CAZ boundary;  
 Created a list of proposed exemptions and sunset periods for specific 

circumstances;  
 Further developed the financial support packages for the affected 

sectors; 
 Reduced the proposed charges as detailed in the table below: 

 

Category 
Original proposed 
charge  

New proposed charge 

Buses, coaches & HGVs £100 per day £50 per day 

Taxi & Private Hire 
Vehicles 

£12.50 per day 

£12.50 per day (non-
Leeds licensed drivers) 

£12.50 per day or £50 per 
week (Leeds licensed 
drivers only) 

 

2.7. The revised CAZ Boundary Map is featured below. The key change is the 
relocation of the outer boundary to the northern side of the M621 and the 
Enterprise Zone. Traffic modelling analysis demonstrates that reducing the 
boundary does not result in any displacement and areas south of the M621 still 
stand to benefit from cleaner vehicles entering the CAZ.  

 

Page 137



 

 

3. Main Issues 

  

Statutory Consultation 

3.1. The statutory consultation period ran between 29th June and 12 August 2018, 
during which consultation participants were asked to complete a questionnaire.   

3.2. We received 3532 questionnaire responses, the full analysis of the consultation 
questionnaires can be found at Appendix A.  

3.3. The business responses to the questionnaire were low when compared to the 
volume of responses from the public (6% businesses v 94% public). However, 
there have been numerous trade specific events held during both stages of 
consultation and some of the key concerns raised at these events are 
highlighted in the following sections. A list of all the engagement undertaken is 
included in the consultation report. The views expressed in the consultation 
events and via letters and our responses to them are captured in Appendix B. 

 

HGV Sector 

3.4. In line with the proposed implementation of a Class B Clean Air Charging Zone 
(CAZ) Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) must be Euro VI compliant to avoid 
paying daily charges for travelling within the zone. We proposed that there 
would be support offered to enable businesses based within the CAZ to retrofit 
their vehicles. 

3.5. Throughout the consultation periods, discussions have been held with key trade 
and sector representative organisations. Local operators have also been 
extremely helpful in sharing their views and possible impact of a CAZ on their 
businesses with the Council.  In addition, formal consultation responses have 
been submitted to LCC. Some of the key trade organisations that have 
responded include the Road Haulage Association (RHA), Freight Transport 

Page 138



Association (FTA) as well as the Federation of Small Businesses (FSB) and the 
Builders Merchant Federation (BMF).  

3.6. The announcement of CAZs across the country has resulted in a number of 
unintended consequences; 

 Inflated prices of new and second hand Euro VI HGVs (Road Haulage 

Association report increases as high as 3 fold); 

 Residual values for HGVs with a EURO standard lower than Euro VI are 

at a record low; 

 Lack of market availability of Euro VI HGVs as more companies, 

especially those with the capacity to upgrade are purchasing large 

numbers of vehicles as soon as they become available 

3.7. These factors have been key to informing our core proposal to develop a 
support package for HGVs. 
 

3.8. The HGV operators have been clear regarding their concerns about the 
proposals these are summarised as: 

 Lack of retrofit solution available for HGVs and a concern about the 

technical suitability of retrofits for HGVs; 

 EURO VI standard is too high – different charges should apply to 

different EURO standards; 

 Charge levels are still high despite the reduction; 

 Special consideration to be given to vehicles which are built for a very 

specific purpose and may do limited mileage – and thus have a normal 

working life in excess of the norm;  

 Risk of HGVs being switched to vans as these will not incur a charge; 

 National payment portal requested rather than multiple systems, leading 

to an administrative burden on firms; 

 Ensure key routes not involving most polluted areas can be exempted 
such as access to Authorised Testing Facilities (ATFs); 

 Degree of uncertainty makes it problematic for businesses to plan. 

 
3.9. Some of the requests from the HGV sector were for actions that are not within 

the Council’s control such as: 
 Regulatory or fiscal incentives for alternative fuelled HGVs; 

 Insufficient time to make changes; 

 No other financial burdens to be placed on this sector whilst they deal 

with the costs of compliance; 

Page 139



 Intercity charging still remains a concern (where an operator is charged 

in every CAZ that it enters during a 24 hour period). 

 

Buses/ Coaches 

3.10. As with HGVs a Class B Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) requires that buses 
and coaches must be Euro VI compliant to avoid paying daily charges for 
travelling within the zone. 
 

3.11. Throughout the process of discussion and design of non-scheduled bus and 
coach support packages LCC have been extremely grateful to local operators 
for their time, support and candour in exploring the issues for the sector. The 
Confederation of Passenger Transport (CPT) have also provided sector support 
in liaising with the local authority in planning for CAZ implementation while 
clearly advocating on behalf of and lobbying for their sector.  
 

3.12. The scheduled bus sector have benefitted greatly from the national 
Government backed Clean Bus Technology Fund (CBTF) with over £4m being 
available in Leeds and West Yorkshire alone to retrofit buses to Euro VI 
standard. With some commonality of engine type the coach sector have also 
benefitted indirectly from this scheme as it has enabled swift design and 
submission for accreditation of the first coach solution (due imminently). 
 

3.13. We estimate that there are around 137 non-scheduled buses and coaches 
based within the Leeds CAZ and around a further 100 operating in Leeds area. 
 

3.14. The coach and non-scheduled bus companies have raised the following 
concerns: 
 Retrofit solutions are currently not available for coaches and may not be 

suitable for all types of coach;  

 Coach companies see themselves as part of the CAZ solution as they 

can remove over 60 private cars from the road in one journey. They 

therefore feel they should not be penalised for operating in the zone 

especially where they operate Euro IV or V coaches;  

 Timescale for implementation is too short due to the high cost for 

replacement vehicles; 

 Coach & non-scheduled bus operators have highlighted that they provide 

a key service to schools and vulnerable groups enabling them to access 

social and sporting activities which are key to tackling other societal 

issues such as isolation and loneliness, obesity and reduced activity 

levels. 

 

Page 140



3.15. The scheduled bus companies have raised the following: 
 

 The short timescale to implementation: a sunset period is seen as 

critical whilst awaiting retrofit or new vehicle deliveries; 

 The risks associated with daily CAZ charges for non-compliant buses 

being passed onto passengers; which in turn could de-incentivise the 

modal shift away from cars to public transport; 

 The bus companies feel the Government CAZ framework is set in 

inverse proportion to the actual source of emissions and this should be 

addressed; 

 They would like to see more focus and proportionate charges on the 

emissions per passenger as they highlight these as being much higher 

with car use than bus use; 

 There is a small risk that the total funding available through the CBTF 

will not be sufficient; 

 The need to improve bus journey times through congestion measures 

such as traffic light sequencing and reducing car use etc. was 

highlighted as key to increasing bus patronage. 

Taxi/Private Hire Sector  

3.16. The proposed CAZ requires the taxi and private hire sector to be either petrol 
hybrid or electric. A number of sunset periods were proposed following 
concerns raised at the first stage of consultation. 
 

3.17. During the sector specific consultation events held during the second phase of 
consultation the sector raised the following key issues about the CAZ proposal: 

 The timescale for implementation is too short;  

 The Council should adopt the national standard, not the higher 

requirement for taxi and private hire of petrol hybrid or electric; 

 Work needs to be done to ease licensing conditions at Leeds City 

Council in order to prevent drivers having greater costs than those 

in surrounding authorities (more detail can be found at section 

3.63); 

Page 141



 Maximum age of vehicles at the point they are first licensed should 

also be increased to increase the pool of potential second hand 

vehicles drivers may purchase to become CAZ compliant; 

 Size of petrol-hybrid and electric vehicles has been raised as an 

issue. The majority cannot be used for some common taxi and 

private hire functions such as airport runs due to limited storage 

capacity; 

 Market availability of petrol-hybrids in the second hand market is 

limited. A suggestion was made that LPG should also be adopted; 

 Would prefer the full £3000 of grant funding towards electric 

vehicles to be extended towards petrol-hybrid as well as they are 

currently a more viable option based on the limited range 

capabilities of electric only vehicles; 

 Asked for the grant and loan to be made available upfront rather 

than retrospectively; 

 Representation was made on the basis that the support packages 

should be made available to individual drivers only, or at least be 

limited to a certain amount of vehicles per applicant. This, it was 

argued, would be to prevent larger companies claiming a majority of 

the funding, to the detriment of drivers who owned their own 

vehicles; 

 Limited availability of electric charge points across Leeds makes 

electric vehicles a more problematic consideration and less of a 

viable option. 

 

Environmental/ Health Interest Groups 

 

3.18. In the statutory consultation phase we have had responses from organisations 
such as Client Earth and Friends of the Earth.  
 

3.19. Client Earth would like us to: 
 Keep the higher level of daily charging in place detailed in the first 

consultation; 

Page 142



 Implement a CAZ D which includes lighter goods vehicles (vans) 

and private car. 

 

3.20. Friends of the Earth have asked us to:  
 

 Implement the CAZ as soon as possible in 2019; 

 Retain the larger boundary originally consulted on; 

 Consider the effectiveness of the proposed lower charge, their view 

is that this will not prompt the step change to less polluting vehicles; 

 Implement a CAZ D. 

 

Responses to key asks 

3.21. We have carefully considered all of the consultation responses received. Below 
we have highlighted some of the areas where significant comment was 
received from multiple parties and the Council’s responses to these. 

 

Timescales for implementation 

3.22. The Council had proposed a “go live” date of 1st January 2020. In the key 
sector asks outlined above, timing has been a key cause of concern for both 
those impacted by the changes and the environmental and health interest 
groups, with impacted sectors asking for longer to comply due to the severe 
financial impact and some of the interest groups asking for implementation to 
happen in early 2019. 

3.23. The Council is sympathetic to the requests from industry to allow more time for 
implementation, however the Council is under a legal obligation to achieve 
compliance in the shortest possible time (subject to its legal and statutory 
obligations and in accordance with public law principles) which is underscored 
by the Ministerial Direction issued by Government, which in turn was driven by 
various legal challenges by Client Earth against the Government in the 
Administrative Court. Due to this legal requirement, it is considered that there is 
no opportunity to defer the go live date. The official “go live” date will now be 
6th January 2020 to allow businesses to make any required administrative 
arrangements following the bank holiday period. 

3.24. Within the consultation questionnaire, we asked whether we should allow a 
lead-in period when the scheme is first launched. 81% of businesses were in 
support of this proposal. Therefore the Council is proposing that the scheme 
will “go live” on 6th January 2020, however, if a company that is liable for 
charges fails to pay, enforcement action will be deferred although the charge 
will remain payable up until and including 2nd February 2020. 

3.25. The facility to register vehicles for exemptions or to purchase advance passes 
will be available prior to the “go live” date.  

3.26. The Council has also included a sunset period for companies that have taken 
appropriate action such as ordering a new vehicle or booking a retrofit but 

Page 143



where the market cannot respond quickly enough. For a company to benefit 
from this sunset period, the company will have to be able to evidence that they 
have taken action within 6 months of the scheme approval by Government, 
anticipated to be December 2018. 

3.27. There is no realistic opportunity to bring forward the “go live” date due to the 
time required for the implementation of the infrastructure and issuing the 
support packages received from Government to impacted parties.  

 

Charge levels 

3.28. The responses from the consultation to the proposed charges are shown in the 
chart below: 

 

 

3.29. One suggestion from the HGV Sector has been to introduce tapered charging 
according to the Euro standard of the vehicle. The Council consider that there 
is not a significant enough reduction in emissions between Euro III-V to justify 
this approach. Please see graph below and footnotei to various links for a 
further evidence base: 

 

43%

31%

27%

30%

35%

43%

35%

46%

14%

19%

30%

17%

7%

7%

7%

7%

Buses £50
(n=3499)

Coaches £50
(n=3469)

HGVs £50
(n=3473)

Taxis &
Private hire

£12.50…

Too high Just right Too low Don't know

Page 144



 

3.30. If the council were to introduce tapered charging, it would be charging some 
vehicles less money to emit broadly equivalent levels of pollution. 

3.31. The work undertaken by a consultant on behalf of the council shows that the 
charges proposed maintain a significant incentive to companies to upgrade 
their vehicles. 

3.32. The charge levels will therefore be maintained at the level set out in section 2.6. 
 

Emissions Standards 

 

3.33. In light of consultation responses, the standard for taxi and private hire has 
been expanded to include not only petrol hybrid and electric but also Liquefied 
Petroleum Gas (LPG). The LPG conversion has to be undertaken by a garage 
registered with the DVLA as an approved UKLPG installer. This provides a 
lower cost route to compliance as second hand petrol cars are more readily 
available and retrofit is well established. There are also whole life cost savings 
through operating a car on LPG as opposed to diesel or petrol. 

3.34. The allowable standards are detailed in the table below: 
 

Page 145



Vehicle Options   Description  

Full Electric  A vehicle which is powered only by a battery charged 

from the electricity grid.  

Plug-In Hybrid Electric 

Vehicle (PHEV)  

A vehicle which is powered by a plug-in battery and an 

Internal Combustion Engine After the battery charge is 

used up the vehicle returns to a conventional hybrid 

operation (Minimum Euro 4 Petrol).  

Full Petrol Hybrid  A vehicle which is powered by an Internal Combustion 

Engine and can be powered solely using a battery and 

electric motor. The battery cannot be plugged in, and 

is charged by driving. (Minimum Euro 4 Petrol) 

LPG conversion (Petrol to 

LPG) 

A vehicle which is powered by an Internal Combustion 

Engine, and has been retrofitted to also run on LPG 

subject to accredited installs.   

Euro 6 Diesel or Euro 4 

Petrol  

Only allowable for vehicles that can carry 5 to 7 

passengers, Executive Vehicles, 8+ passenger 

vehicles or Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 

(please note sunset period for 8+ passenger vehicles 

and WAVs until 31st December 2021 detailed in 

section 3.36 below) 

 

 

3.35. We anticipate that out of 4951 Leeds licensed vehicles only 837 are already 
compliant.  

 

Sunset Periods/ Exemptions 

3.36. As well as support packages to aid upgrades, a number of sunset periods were 
proposed and these were supported by the trade as an outcome from Statutory 
Consultation and will therefore be retained as part of the final proposal. These 
are set out in the table below:    

 

Page 146



 

Vehicle Type Detail 

Wheelchair 

Accessible 

Taxi and 

Private Hire 

Vehicles 

(WAV) 

WAVs will be exempt from CAZ charges until 31st December 

2021. 

 WAVs will need to be Euro 6 by 31st December 2021. 

8+ passenger 

vehicles 

8+ passenger vehicles will be exempt from CAZ charges until 

31st December 2021. 

8+ passenger vehicles will need to be Euro 6 standard by 31st 

December 2021. 

Euro 6 diesel, 

or Euro 4 

petrol already 

licenced  

Already licenced by 17th October 2018 Euro 6 diesel, or Euro 

4 petrol will be exempt until 31st December 2021. 

Charges will apply from 1st January 2022.  

Finance 

Sunset Period 

Owners of taxi and private hire vehicles in an existing financial 

agreement (prior to 17th October 2018) where early 

replacement of vehicles is not possible. A sunset period will 

apply until the end of the finance deal or 31st December 2021, 

whichever is soonest. 

 

 

3.37. Within the National Clean Air Zone Framework, there are a number of standard 
exemptions from Clean Air Zone emission requirements. The following 
exemptions apply: 

 
 Vehicles with a historic tax class i.e. more than 40 years old 
 Military vehicles are exempt from charges by virtue of Section 349 of 

Armed Forces Act 2006 
 Certain types of non-road going machinery which are allowed to drive on 

the highway such as agricultural machines; digging machines; and mobile 
cranes. The Council will assess the nature of the specialist vehicle(s) 
concerned and provide for an exemption on a case by case, or by type, 
basis. 

Page 147



 
 

3.38. All of the exemptions below (paragraph 3.39 to 3.50) were determined locally 
and will be subject to review to ensure that the impact of the exemptions has 
been accurately estimated. 

 
3.39. Showmen 

 
3.40. These are highly specialised vehicles and are very expensive to replace with a 

long lead time for replacement. We have a very small number coming into the 
city centre and they do approximately 2,000 miles per annum and the impact on 
emissions reductions and achievement of concentration limits will be minimal. 

 
3.41. Vintage Buses 

 
3.42. These buses are aged between 20 - 39 years old and have limited technical 

options to make them compliant. They are typically operated by ‘hobby 
enthusiasts’ and normally attend community events. They do a very limited 
mileage and rarely travel into the city centre.  Their impact on emission 
reductions and achievement of concentration limits is minimal. The exemption 
would only be for a pre-determined number of days per year rather than a 
blanket exemption. This is currently anticipated to be 10 days. Vintage buses 
that are aged between 20 and 39 years and used for commercial purposes 
(such as weddings) would not be exempt from the charge. However, as a result 
of the representation received during the statutory consultation it is proposed 
that vintage buses that are over 39 years old and operated commercially will 
qualify for an exemption. 
 

3.43. Emergency Services 
 

3.44. By 2027 all fire service vehicles will be Euro VI compliant in line with their fleet 
replacement programme; currently 18 out of 74 vehicles are compliant. Lead in 
times to upgrade specialist vehicles are long and can cost up to £850,000 per 
vehicle. These vehicles represent a very small number of vehicles with low 
mileage and the impact on emission reductions and achievement of 
concentration limits will be minimal. 
 

3.45. School buses 
 

3.46. Due to the low mileage of school buses providing services for transport to state 
schools, it is intended to provide those transporting pupils living in Leeds to 
state schools with an exemption if they are above Euro 3 as a minimum. An 
impact on the costs in this sector would limit the ability of schools to be able to 
deliver any extra curriculum activities, impacting on children who would 
otherwise not have access to extracurricular activities or visits. 
 

3.47. Lack of market capacity 
 

3.48. Due to the late start in terms of developing retrofit solutions for HGVs and 
coaches as well as the over demand in the Euro VI market, Leeds is also 

Page 148



proposing an exemption that will allow those companies who have placed an 
order (by a pre-defined date) for a compliant vehicle or a retrofit to benefit from 
a ‘sunset period’ until the compliant vehicle arrives or the upgrade work is 
completed. The company will have to evidence that they have placed an order 
and a replacement compliant vehicle is due to be delivered of the retrofit 
completed within a reasonable time. This is considered appropriately 
reasonable in these circumstances as the CAZ proposals are not intended to 
be a revenue raising mechanism, but are intended as a means of securing 
compliance with the legal limit value for nitrogen dioxide in the shortest possible 
time. 
 

3.49. Diversions on the road network 
 

3.50. If there any incidents on the road network that lead to official diversions, any 
vehicles that are diverted into the CAZ would be exempt from the charge for the 
time period that the diversion is in place. If the vehicle is spotted at a different 
place or time within the same 24 hours, they would still incur the daily charge. 
 

3.51. The exemptions were consulted upon during the statutory consultation and the 
majority supported each of the proposed exemptions. The results can be seen 
in the table below: 

 

Type of vehicle  Agree (%) Disagree (%) Don’t know (%)
Showmen 47.2 44.9 7.9 
Vintage Buses 72.9 21.2 5.9 
School buses  63.5 32.2 4.3 
Lack of market capacity 65 21.5 13.4 
Diversions on the road network 88.4 7.7 3.9 

 

3.52. Support Packages 
 

3.53. The following support packages are proposed (subject to Government funding 
being confirmed): 

 An interest free loan of up to £10,000 for taxi and private hire 
 A small grant to cover the transition costs of changing vehicle for taxi and 

private hire 
 A grant of up to £16,000 per non-compliant vehicle for the HGV sector based 

within the CAZ– businesses will be required to bid for the funding via a 
competition to ensure that the funding is focused at those businesses that 
meet the pre-determined requirements 

 A grant for retrofit for the non-scheduled and coach industry for those 
operators who can evidence that they primarily operate with the CAZ and their 
impact on air quality – again funding will be distributed via a funding 
competition 

 
3.54. All of the above support will only be available to companies who can provide 

evidence that they will continue to operate the upgraded vehicles in the CAZ 

Page 149



and the Council will retain the right to recover funding from those who do not 
meet the eligibility criteria that are set out at the time the funding is issued. 
 

3.55. With regards the funding for the taxi and private hire loan, the funding will be 
reserved for anyone who has licensed a taxi and private hire in Leeds for a 
minimum of 1 year. However, the number of vehicles that will be supported will 
be capped per operator/ company (dependent on the final funding package 
received from government) to ensure that there is sufficient funding available 
for those individual drivers who will be most economically impacted. 
 

3.56. One of the key concerns of the HGV sector was that the support packages 
were focused on retrofit and that effective solutions are still under development. 
Although the Council will continue to work with retrofit providers and the 
Government to speed up the development of retrofit, the proposed support 
packages have been amended to allow companies to bid for up to £16,000 per 
non-compliant vehicle to be used as support towards the purchase of a new or 
second hand vehicle or to pay off the balance of a lease early to allow an 
earlier upgrade as well as for retrofit. The support will be particularly focused 
towards businesses that are located within the CAZ and who will be most 
financially impacted by the proposals.  
 

3.57. Industrial Areas 
 

3.58. Organisations such as the Federation of Small Businesses and the Road 
Haulage Association have stressed the impact that the CAZ will have on 
business. Although the Council is bidding for a substantial package from 
Government, there is recognition that this may still not be sufficient in some 
instances. As a result the Council has explored other ways to support 
businesses without impacting on achieving compliance in the shortest possible 
time. 
 

3.59. There are areas of the city, which are primarily industrial and have very low 
residential concentration and also have compliant levels of air quality. These 
limited areas have been included within the CAZ in order to ensure that there is 
a clear and readily understandable boundary which captures the primary non-
compliant areas. However, the Council is looking at whether areas that meet 
the following draft criteria could be excluded from the CAZ boundary (for a 
specified period), those which: 

 

 border the CAZ boundary; 

 have high industrial usage/ low residential; 

 have compliant air quality and are not within vicinity of areas of air quality 

concern; 

 can be accessed via a cul de sac principle, not creating displacement to 

other areas. 

 

Page 150



3.60. Two specific examples of areas that would meet these criteria are Pudsey 
Grangefield Industrial Estate and Limewood Approach, Seacroft.  
 

3.61. It should be noted that although the council operates sites in both of these 
estates, this exclusion will not benefit the council as it has already committed to 
upgrade all of its vehicles to be compliant for the CAZ by 2020. 
 

3.62. This would result in reducing the number of businesses impacted and allow the 
support packages to be allocated to businesses that remain within the CAZ. 
 

3.63. Licensing Review 
 

3.64. Following on from the feedback received during the statutory consultation, the 
review of vehicle licensing conditions has been expedited to specifically 
consider the areas raised in the CAZ consultation: 

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Age Criteria; 

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Emission Standards; 

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Minimum Engine Size Conditions; 

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Anti-Glare Glass (Window Tint) 
Conditions; 

 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Spare Wheel Conditions (to look at 
space requirements for a LPG engine conversion, etc.); and 

 Any other Vehicle Policy or Condition with a direct link to the CAZ 
proposals to support ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs) as identified by 
the Members’ Working Group 

3.65. The timetable for the review of these conditions will be as follows: 

 Consultation with Trade and other Stakeholders – September/October 
2018 

 Recommendations of Working Group to Licensing Committee – 
November 2018 

Additional Clean Air Measures 

3.66. In June and July’s Executive Board report the intention to reduce vehicle idling 
across the city was detailed as a way to reduce unnecessary emissions. In the 
second phase of consultation we asked for opinion on where the anti-idling 
measures would be most beneficial.  Schools and taxi ranks were a joint first at 
74% (three locations were suggested that could be ranked in order of priority). 
In response to this feedback an anti-idling scheme is being introduced at 
schools and taxi ranks across Leeds.  
 

Page 151



3.67. ‘Anti-idling’ posters will be erected on existing street furniture to inform road 
users that the area is an anti-idling zone. Initially, the 30 schools that are 
participating in the ‘scoot to school scheme’ will be prioritised with a further roll 
out to be planned in future.  To raise awareness, schools will hold competitions 
where pupils will design anti-idling signs with the best entry being turned into 
posters that will be erected outside the schools. This will also be supported by a 
focused communication campaign across all schools in Leeds. 
 

3.68. DfT approved advisory signs will be erected at taxi ranks and other idling hot-
spots around the city.  
 

3.69. Civil Enforcement Officers (CEO) will be patrolling these areas and handing out 
leaflets which will be intended to promote behavioural change and improving 
understanding of the consequences of poor air quality. This approach was used 
in London and has been successful in changing behaviours of drivers when 
they are parked up with their engines on. 
 

3.70. In addition to the clean air charging zone, several supporting measures were 
suggested as part of the statutory consultation. Additional measures to further 
reduce the level of air pollution were generally well favoured by respondents.  
 

3.71. Close to three quarters of respondents (74%) would like to see more electric 
charging points in and around Leeds. Popular suggestions for the location of 
these were at car parks or on street parking areas and supermarkets and 
shopping areas. Whilst half (50%) said they would consider getting an electric 
vehicle if there were more charging locations.  
 

3.72. There will be a programme to roll out electric charging across the city over the 
next 12 months to support this ambition. 
 

3.73. Respondents recognised the importance of reducing air pollution, but felt they 
needed access to more information such as real time air pollution level 
information, which was valued by two thirds (67%) of respondents. 
 

3.74. The Council is currently procuring more variable message signs that will be 
used to promote real time information, using grant funding from the 
Government. We are also exploring other ways to display real time information, 
using existing digital media. This will form one strand of our broader 
communications campaign to continue to increase public awareness of air 
quality. 
 

3.75. Charging private vehicles was once again touched upon in the Statutory 
consultation. Overall around two thirds (62%) said that in the future the Council 
should consider charging non-compliant private vehicles, with businesses being 
more likely to favour this option. Looking at when this should be introduced, 
overall, 44% said by 2025 and 18% said by 2030. Options were also provided 
to see car free days in the city centre during fixed periods, such as during every 
weekend (33% in support), peak times (43% in support), monthly (51% in 
support), public holidays (36% in support) or when pollution is at its highest 
(56% in support). 

Page 152



 
3.76. Opportunities for car free days to support community and sporting events as 

well as Clean Air Day and Car Free Day in 2019 will be explored as part of the 
Council’s ambition to raise awareness citywide.  

Charging Order 

3.77. The draft traffic charging order will be brought to Executive Board in November 
prior to its submission to the Secretary of State for comment and before being 
formally made by the Council.   
 

3.78. The charging order will provide full details of the scheme, including the 
boundary, exemptions, sunset periods etc. 
 

3.79. The plans for how the net proceeds from the implementation of the CAZ are 
proposed to be spent will also be detailed in this order. 
 

3.80. In summary, the revenue from the CAZ will be used in the first place to cover 
the cost of operating the CAZ, including the maintenance of cameras, 
operational staff etc. 
 

3.81. Any net proceeds will be then used to implement further clean air measures in 
line with the requirements of the national clean air framework. 

 

3.82. Measurement and verification process 
 

3.83. Following the proposed “go live” date, the air quality will continue to be 
monitored to assess the impact of the CAZ and other measures to ensure that 
compliance has been achieved. The composition of the fleet and its age profile 
will also be monitored to see what impact the CAZ has had on the fleet profile 
within the city. 

 

3.84. Infrastructure 
 

3.85. To enforce the Clean Air Charging Zone, the Council is procuring a contractor 
to design, build, operate, and maintain a network of ANPR cameras and 
supporting systems to capture all vehicles operating within the CAZ. This 
contractor will capture number plates of all vehicles operating within the CAZ, 
and interface with a National Payment Portal developed by Central Government 
which will determine which vehicles are not compliant with the Leeds CAZ 
standard. Over 140 sites have been selected to enforce the CAZ to ensure a 
comprehensive network of cameras is delivered to capture all non-compliant 
vehicles and prevent vehicular rat running. 
 

3.86. A preferred contractor will be selected in early November 2018 with the target 
price produced informing the Council’s bid for funds from the Government’s 
Implementation Fund.  
 
 

Page 153



 
3.87. Programme 

 
3.88. The table below shows the key dates from now until implementation: 

 

Draft Full Business case submitted to 
Government (with sign off pending 
Executive Board approval)  

15 September 2018 

Executive Board  17 October 2018 
Standstill period 17-27 October 2018 
Final business case submitted to 
government for approval  

End of October 

1st phase of grant for taxi/private hire from 
early measures funding  

October 2018 

Executive Board  21 November 2018 
Standstill period 1 December 2018 
Charging order submitted to government 2 December 2018 
Scheme approval and funding awarded 8 weeks after 

submission( anticipated 
to be December 2018) 

Contract award for infrastructure provider January 2019 
Loan/Grant schemes open February 2019 
Scheme Go Live 6th January 2020 

 

4. Corporate considerations 

4.1. Consultation and engagement 
 

4.2. We have undertaken a comprehensive consultation process over the two 
phases that is detailed in the main issues section. 
 

4.3. The report attached at Appendix A includes an appendix that sets out how the 
Council addressed lessons learnt from the non-statutory consultation to further 
strengthen the consultation process. 
 

4.4. Over the two phases we have engaged in a wide ranging awareness campaign 
that included advertisements on social media, the radio, buses and on 
electronic road signage along the main routes into and out of Leeds. 
 

4.5. We have worked with trade organisations and trade magazines as well as 
sending out a postcard to every household in Leeds; further details can be 
found here on all the promotion we did with all interested parties. 
 

4.6. We have also worked with key stakeholders such as Highways England to 
ensure that any interfaces are considered early on. 
 

4.7. We have closely liaised with the Joint Air Quality Unit on a weekly basis to keep 
them appraised of both our progress and any issues that are discovered. 

Page 154



 
4.8. There has been extensive Member consultation throughout the design of the 

scheme, with cross party briefings and presentations to cabinet and scrutiny at 
regular intervals. 
 

4.9. The scheme has been developed by a cross directorate team to ensure that it 
has been considered from all perspectives i.e. highways, environmental health, 
public health, corporate communications, legal and finance.  

 

4.10. Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 
 

4.11. The equality impact assessment is attached as Appendix C.     
 

4.12. As part of the phase 1 non-statutory consultation the consultation responses 
evidenced that there were parts of the population that were under-represented 
in the survey. The phase 2 consultation addressed this through targeted action 
aimed at increasing representation from under-represented groups -– namely 
women, BAME and those with disabilities. Information about the consultation 
and questionnaires were sent out to equality hubs (including women’s hub, Age 
Hub, Carers Hub, LGBT+ Hub, Disability Hub, Religion/Belief Hub) and 
Voluntary Action Leeds.  
 

4.13. Council policies and best Council plan 
 

4.14. The importance of air quality as an issue is reflected in the Council’s vision 
under our Best Council Plan. Our vision is for Leeds to be a healthy city in 
which to live, work and visit and we are working with partners to reduce 
emissions which will bring about health and wellbeing benefits including 
reducing premature deaths, improving health, promoting physical activity and 
reducing obesity levels.   
 

4.15. The Leeds Public Transport Improvement Programme is working to make 
improvements to the bus and rail networks which will enable reductions in 
congestion and greater modal shift, supporting a reduction in emissions.  
 

4.16. We are raising general health and environmental standards across the city 
through the promotion of walking and cycling. 
 

4.17. Resources and value for money 
 

4.18. As part of the Full Business Case submission, the Council will be requesting 
funding from the Clean Air Fund to support the impacted sectors: 

 

Sector Funding request 
HGV £13 million 
Non Scheduled Bus/Coach £2 million 
Taxi/private hire £12 million 
Infrastructure Funding £13 million 
Total £40 million 

Page 155



 

4.19. Developing the support packages for the impacted sectors is new ground for 
both local authorities and government and has proven challenging. However, 
the costs that are included are based on the best estimates of costs and take-
up but will be subject to further refinement as we work closely with government 
to secure the final support package. 
 

4.20. Support to the taxi and private hire sector will be delivered through a 
combination of grant and a repayable interest free loan. The Council is seeking 
financial support from the Government for the grant element and to cover the 
cost of the loans, which it will administer either directly or via a third party.  
 

4.21. As well as the money from the Clean Air Fund the Council will also be 
submitting a bid for funding from the implementation fund for the CAZ 
infrastructure. The total funding requirement for implementation is still under 
development but is anticipated to be circa £13 million to cover signage, camera 
infrastructure, communication campaign and resource to manage the support 
packages and creation of white lists. All costs for implementation should be 
covered by Government grant. 
 

4.22. As the operation and maintenance costs of the camera network are still 
unknown and the number of non-compliant vehicles still operating in the CAZ is 
an estimate, it is difficult to determine the level of income net of costs. However, 
the business case will be based on all costs being covered by revenue 
generated and a year on year reduction in revenue due to the improved levels 
of compliance. This will be the subject of review as the scheme progresses. 
 

4.23. Risk Management 
 

4.24. The Council has developed a scheme that aims to delivers compliance with the 
legal limit value for nitrogen dioxide in the shortest possible time whilst 
complying with its other legal and statutory obligations and in accordance with 
public law principles. It has also sought to mitigate the economic impacts with 
the support packages that it has developed. However, without adequate 
financial support from Government, the impact on industry would be 
unsustainable and there would be an impact on the compliance levels forecast 
as these are reliant on adequate support being provided. 
 

4.25. There are also a number of critical risks to implementation that are listed in the 
table below. None of these risks are within the direct control of the Council: 

Description  Consequences  Ownership 
The development of the national 
payment portal is delayed 

Delay to go live date Central 
Government 

Development of comprehensive 
DVLA database to enable 
accurate identification of compliant 
and non-compliant vehicles is 
delayed 

Delay to go live date/ Incorrect 
charges issued and associated 
ramifications 

Central 
Government  

Page 156



Availability of DVLA database at a 
local level to reduce comms costs 

Would significantly impact on 
income received and the support 
that could consequentially be 
provided.  

Central 
Government 

Development of a national taxi and 
private hire database is delayed. 

Taxi and private hire vehicles 
excluded from scheme until 
database is in place to avoid unfair 
penalisation of local drivers 

Central 
Government  

Required signage not installed on 
strategic road network 

Without appropriate signage in 
place, the go live will be delayed 

Highways 
England 

Approval of charging order and full 
business cases, and associated 
funding is delayed 

Any delay to approvals will impact 
on the go live date 

Central 
Government 

 

4.26. The lack of progress on the retrofit solution at a national level is a key concern 
as this is the most affordable way for a large number of businesses to achieve 
compliance. The Council will continue to work with retrofit providers and lobby 
Government to support the quicker delivery of solutions.  
 

4.27. Market capacity is a concern across all sectors of vehicles due to the 
substantial increase in demand for Euro VI and retrofit options. 
 

4.28. It is acknowledged that there is a high potential of challenges to the proposals 
for the Clean Air Charging Zone in Leeds, these could be from either 
environmental interest groups who do not consider that the proposals go far 
enough, from specific individuals or groups that may be adversely affected by 
the proposals. As this is the first scheme of its kind being advanced by the 
Council at this early stage it is difficult to predict the nature of these challenges. 
However, the Council considers that these proposals strike the right balance 
consistent with its legal and statutory obligations and in accordance with public 
law principles. 
 

4.29. The costs for implementation will be finalised when the procurement for the 
camera network is completed. However, a level of contingency will also be built 
into the funding request as it is recognised that there may be changes to 
requirements as the detailed scheme design is developed in terms of camera 
placement etc. It is also acknowledged that the timescales are incredibly 
challenging as the scale of infrastructure is comprehensive. 

 

4.30. As the Council is currently considering the potential for providing the capital for 
the taxi and private hire loans, it should be noted that there are a number of 
risks associated with this. Although it is anticipated that Government will cover 
the cost of interest, bad debt and administration of the loans, it is critical that 
the Council properly assess these costs in order to ensure that all its potential 
costs and losses are covered. 

 

4.31.  Research has been undertaken to assess likely levels of bad debt when 
lending to self-employed drivers, often with lower than average credit ratings. 

Page 157



Any unfunded bad debt will be the council’s risk to cover. An effective 
enforcement process would also have to be in place to ensure that bad debt is 
minimised.  

 

4.32. The consumer credit market is highly regulated and as a result the council is 
working closely with a legal advisor to ensure that the scheme is compliant with 
all requirements. 

 

4.33. The best route to provide the loan administration function is still being explored 
to determine how best value for money balanced against minimal risk exposure 
can be achieved. 

 

4.34. Due to the complexity of delivering the loan scheme, the proposed “go live” of 
early 2019 is acknowledged as being incredibly challenging. 
 

4.35. Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 
 

4.36. The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 (“the Regulations) have brought 
Directive 2008/50/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on 
Ambient Air Quality and Cleaner Air for Europe in to UK Law. Regulation 26 of 
the Regulations requires the Secretary of State to draw up and implement an 
air quality plan to achieve the relevant limit or target value of pollutants in 
ambient air within the shortest possible time.   

 

4.37. The Government’s Air Quality Plan (the UK Plan for Tackling Roadside 
Nitrogen Dioxide Concentration) was published in July 2017 and requires Local 
Authorities to set out their initial plans for improving air quality by the end of 
October 2017 and their final plan by the summer of 2018. 

 

4.38. As set out in this report, on 20th December 2017 Leeds City Council was 
issued with the Environment Act 1995 (Leeds City Council) Air Quality Direction 
2017 (“the Direction”). This directs the Council to prepare and submit to the 
Secretary of State a Full Business case in connection with its duties in respect 
of air quality under Part 4 of the Environment Act 1995 (“the Act”) and as part of 
the UK Plan.    The Council’s draft Full Business case will now set out detailed 
proposals for a scheme which is the Council’s preferred measure to deliver 
compliance in its area with the prescribed limits of nitrogen dioxide in the 
shortest possible time. Upon submission of this Full Business Case, the Council 
will have therefore discharged the requirements of section 85(7) of the Act. 

 

4.39. In finalising its Full Business Case, the Council has concluded its proposals will 
achieve compliance with prescribed limits of nitrogen dioxide in the shortest 
time possible (subject to its legal and statutory obligations and in accordance 
with public law principles). Under paragraph 5(b) of the Direction the Council is 
required to confirm that all public consultation necessary in respect of the 
scheme identified in the Full Business Case has been completed.  The Council 
has concluded both non statutory and statutory consultation to ensure that it is 

Page 158



both meaningful and fair in finalising its proposals.  The Council has taken 
detailed and conscientious account of the responses received during the 
consultation process in formulating its administrative decision for this proposal 
in accordance with R v N and E Devon Health Authority ex p Coughlan [2001] 
QB 213. 

 

4.40. The Statutory Consultation for the Clean Air Zone, which is part of the Council’s 
proposal is pursuant to section 170 of the Transport Act 2000, and has fully 
consulted with local people, as well as the relevant representatives of local 
persons with regard to business, language and accessibility to information, who 
are directly affected by the scheme in order that appropriate and material 
responses have been gathered during the six week consultation period. The 
requirements for consultation for charging schemes permit authorities to 
undertake consultation as they consider appropriate. 

 

4.41. Part 4 of the Direction states that the Council must seek the Secretary of 
State’s consent before holding a public Inquiry and only where it is necessary to 
do so. The question of whether an inquiry should be held under S170 of the 
Transport Act 2000 has been carefully considered. The Council considers that it 
has carried out full and meaningful public consultation. Having carefully 
considered the issues involved and the consultation responses received, the 
judgment is reached that the Council has sufficient information in front of it to 
make a decision without the need for an inquiry. Further, the Council does not 
consider that it is “necessary” (in the terms of the Ministerial Direction) to hold 
an inquiry for the same reasons.  The Council is also mindful that holding an 
inquiry would introduce substantial delay which is considered to be 
unwarranted.  

 

4.42. Alongside the Full Business Case the Council is continuing to finalise the draft 
Charging Order to meet the requirements of the Transport Act 2000.  The draft 
charging Order will be submitted to Executive Board in November 2018 in its 
draft form for submission to Government for any comments it has in review 
alongside the Council Final Business Case before being formally made by the 
Council. 

 

4.43. As set out in the report, the Council will implement a behavioural awareness 
campaign city wide informing the public of the consequence of vehicle idling 
with an emphasis to changing this behaviour in the locality of schools and Taxi 
Ranks in Leeds.  Where appropriate, the enforcement of anti-idling  will be 
initiated by authorised officer under regulations 6 and 12 of the Road Traffic 
(Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) (England) Regulations 2002 which permit 
authorised officers to stop the commission of stationary idling offences where 
there is reasonable cause to believe that the driver of a vehicle that is 
stationary on a road is committing a stationary idling offence and issue a fixed 
penalty notice in respect of such an offence committed in its area.  

 

Page 159



4.44. In introducing a clean air zone and either granting exemptions from it or providing 
assistance to mitigate against the effect of it, the Council must have regard to the 
European Commission’s rules as to the provision of State aid. State aid occurs 
where State resources are used in a way which provides undertakings with a 
selective advantage that could distort competition and trade in the European 
Union. 

 

4.45. Whilst the introduction of a clean air zone is not, in itself, State aid, the granting 
of exemptions from it and the provision of assistance to mitigate against the effect 
of it are subject to the State aid rules. 

 

4.46. As regards the proposed exemptions from the application of the Charging Order, 
these are not considered to be State aid on the basis that they will be available 
to all operators in a specific market and will not therefore confer an advantage 
on the recipient and will not distort competition. 

 

4.47. As regards the proposed ‘Sunset Period’ (whereby vehicles will be exempt from 
the Charging Order if …), State aid will only arise if these exemptions are likely 
to distort competition within the European Union. Careful consideration has been 
given to the exemptions to ensure that they will not give rise to impermissible 
State Aid to avoid distorting competition. 

 

4.48. Provision of assistance to mitigate against the effects of the Charging Order 
might give rise to State aid concerns, depending upon who the assistance is 
provided to and what activities they are engaged in. In so far as their activities 
are limited to Yorkshire and the Humber it considered this is no State aid will arise 
in those confined circumstances, but otherwise the assistance will be provided 
in a way which is compliant with the State aid rules. 

 

4.49. In so far as State Aid does arise, there are a number of exemptions which the 
Council could use to provide assistance in a compliant manner. 
 

4.50. Conclusions 
 

4.51. The proposed clean air charging zone achieves compliance in the shortest 
possible time whilst complying with its legal and statutory obligations and in 
accordance with public law principles. It has also sought to mitigate the 
economic impact on the city. 
 

4.52. The clean air zone is just one strand of a whole package of work that is being 
undertaken to drive air quality improvements citywide and works alongside the 
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme. 
 

4.53. This scheme is just the first step in improving the city’s air quality and the 
Council will continue to plan out its medium and long term vision to reduce 
pollution beyond that required in the Directive. 

 

Page 160



5. Recommendations       

5.1. The Executive Board is recommended to:    
  

5.2. Delegate authority to the Director of Resources and Housing to approve the 
Final Business Case for submission to the government.  
 

5.3. Approve (subject to Government funding approval) a capital injection of up to 
£24,000,000 to finance the taxi/private hire loan fund scheme. 
 

5.4. Delegate authority to spend to the Director of Resources and Housing in 
conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer and in consultation with the relevant 
Executive Members for the final taxi and private hire loan scheme, subject to 
approval of the Final Business Case by Government. 
 

5.5. Delegate authority to the Director of Resources and Housing to approve any 
decisions required to issue the funding received from the Government.  
 

5.6. Delegate authority to the Director of Communities and Environment to enforce 
under the relevant legislation Vehicle anti-idling and the Clean Air Charging 
Zone. 
 

5.7. Note that the draft Transport Charging Order for the Clean Air Zone will be 
submitted to the Executive in November with information around its operation 
for the proposals in the submitted Final Business Case. 
 

5.8. Background documents2 
 

5.9. None. 

 

i TNO report: https://www.tno.nl/media/3443/hdv_in_service_testing_tno_2014_r10641.pdf  
- The introduction of first generation Euro V vehicles did not lead to the presumed reduction of real-
world NOx emissions of diesel engines under urban driving conditions. The first generation of Euro V 
diesel vehicles emits, under urban driving conditions, on average as much NOx as Euro III 
vehicles.  (p55) 
  
Air Quality Consultants report: http://www.aqconsultants.co.uk/getattachment/Resources/Download-
Reports/Emissions-of-Nitrogen-Oxides-from-Modern-Diesel-Vehicles-210116.pdf.aspx 
-       On average, there does not appear to be any significant evidence of an appreciable reduction in 
emissions per vehicle between Euro III, Euro IV and Euro V standards. (para 9.8 p40) 
 
 
 
 

                                            
2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s 
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents 
does not include published works. 

                                            

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



     
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services        
Page 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Final report 

August 2018 

Charging Clean Air Zone 
Consultation Phase 2 
 

Leeds City Council 
 

 

 

Page 163



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 1 

 

 
 

	

Project details and acknowledgements .............................................................................................. 3 

Glossary .............................................................................................................................................. 4 

Executive summary ............................................................................................................................ 5 

Background....................................................................................................................................... 11 

Context .........................................................................................11 

Methodology ................................................................................12 

Sample and representativeness ...................................................12 

Analysis and reporting ..................................................................13 

Findings ............................................................................................................................................ 14 

Section 1: Who responded? .........................................................14 

Geographical spread of respondents ...........................................20 

Response rates by Postcode District ............................................25 

Composition of respondents’ fleets .............................................27 

Section 2:  The Clean Air Charging Zone .......................................28 

Section 3: Charging and supporting the policy .............................30 

Section 4: Additional measures to reduce air pollution in the City36 

Section 5: Business only section ...................................................42 

Section 5a: Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles ..................................44 

Section 5b: Heavy Goods Vehicles................................................49 

Section 5c: Buses and coaches .....................................................51 

Section 6: The future of clean air ‐ 2030 ambition .......................53 

Conclusions ....................................................................................................................................... 62 

The CAZ boundary ........................................................................62 

Charges to enter the CAZ ..............................................................62 

           Contents Page

Page 164



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 2 

What else Leeds can do to reduce air pollution? .........................62 

Including non‐compliant private vehicles ....................................63 

What can Leeds do to help businesses? .......................................63 

Questionnaire ...............................................................................65 

Copies of the questionnaires are available on request. ...............65 

Appendix A:  Data tables ..............................................................65 

Appendix B:  Summary of non‐survey responses .........................65 

Appendix C:  Lessons Learnt: Phase 1 and phase 2 of the CAZ consultation ......... 65 

Appendix D:  Consultation Activity Log ........................................65 

Appendix A: Data tables ................................................................................................................... 66 

Appendix B: Non‐survey responses .................................................................................................. 92 

Introduction ..................................................................................92 

Concerns about the charging zone – impacts on business...........93 

Insights on likely business response .............................................94 

Concerns about the charging zone – does it go far enough? .......95 

Positive reflections on the proposed option ................................96 

Conclusion ....................................................................................96 

Appendix C: Lessons Learnt: Phase 1 and phase 2 of the CAZ consultation ...................................... 98 

Appendix D: Consultation Activity Log ............................................................................................ 101 

 

Page 165



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 3 

Project details and acknowledgements 
 

Title  Clean Air Charging Zone Consultation Phase 2 

Client  Leeds City Council 

Project number  18032 

Client reference  DN322872 

Authors 

Sophi Ducie  (M∙E∙L Research) & David Birchby, Guy Whiteley and 

Sam Stephenson (Ricardo Energy & Environment) 

Assisted by Sam Jones (M∙E∙L Research) 

Research Manager  Sophi Ducie 

Reviewed by  David Chong Ping 

 

 

M∙E∙L Research  

2nd Floor, 1 Ashted Lock, Birmingham Science Park Aston, Birmingham. B7 4AZ  

Email: info@melresearch.co.uk  

Web:   www.melresearch.co.uk 

Tel: 0121 604 4664 

Page 166



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 4 

Glossary  
CAZ – Charging Clean Air Zone 

DEFRA – Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

JAQU – DEFRAs panel: Department for Transport Joint Air Quality Unit  

HGV – Heavy Good Vehicle  

N – the number of respondents in the sample size 

Icon key: 

 

‐ HGV driver, operative or owner 

 

‐ Taxi/Private Hire driver, operator or owner  

 

‐ Van driver, operative or owner 

 

‐ Coach driver, operative or owner 

 

‐ Bus driver, operative or owner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 5 

Executive summary 

Page 168



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 6 

 

 

Page 169



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 7 Page 170



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 8 

 

Page 171



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 9 Page 172



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 10 

 

Page 173



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 11 

Background 

Context 

Leeds was identified in 2015 by DEFRA as one of six locations in England that is not expected to meet 

air quality standards by 2020, which therefore required the introduction of a charging Clean Air Zone 

(CAZ), alongside other additional measures.  

Compliance with air quality targets requires a wide variety of actions to be taken, including but not 

limited  to  incentives  for  improvement of vehicle  fleets,  increasing public awareness of air quality 

issues which will  promote  behaviour  change,  investment  in  alternative modes  of  transport  and 

infrastructure to support the growth of alternative fuelled vehicles.  

In December 2017, the council’s Executive Board outlined a plan for a charging CAZ to cover the area 

within the outer ring road of Leeds. It was proposed that only commercial vehicles (excluding LGVs1) 

that did not meet the minimum emissions requirements would be affected.  

Map 1: Outline plan of the revised proposed Clean Air Zone 

    

                                                            
 

1 Light goods vehicle (LGV) or medium goods vehicle 

Page 174



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 12 

Between January and March 2018, the council ran an informal consultation (phase 1) to understand 

how the proposed Clean Air Zone might affect the way people live and do business in Leeds. Alongside 

data of the traffic impacts, emission information, independent economic analysis and guidance from 

the government, the findings of the informal consultation helped to form the current charging CAZ 

proposal. During the 28th July to the 12th August 2018, the council ran a formal (phase 2) consultation. 

This was to gain the views of people living, working and commuting in the City of Leeds and the wider 

region,  including businesses  in and outside of Leeds, on  the more detailed aspects  that had been 

developed for the charging CAZ, alongside the revised CAZ area. 

Based on this evidence the council will submit their preferred CAZ option to central Government later 

this year. The proposal at consultation was  to  introduce a charging system  for  the most polluting 

vehicles which fall  in the following classes: buses, coaches, HGVs, taxis and private hire vehicles. If 

approved by Government, the proposed scheme would come into force in 2020. 

The overarching aim of both consultation periods was to support a final business case for the CAZ 

proposal that will be presented to JAQU by Leeds City Council in September 2018. 

Methodology  

Leeds  City  Council  developed  the  questionnaire;  M∙E∙L  Research  managed  and  collected  the 

questionnaire  responses  for phase 2. The data was collected  through an online survey which was 

publicised from the 28th July to the 12th August 2018. Overall, 3,532 responses were received.  

Sample and representativeness   

The target population  for the phase 2 consultation was businesses and people  living, working and 

commuting in the City of Leeds and the wider region. These are very broad definitions, and for some 

of  these  groups,  the  profile  and  characteristics will  not  be  fully  known. Where  the  profile  of  a 

population  is unknown or  incomplete  (such as commuters and businesses),  then a  representative 

sample cannot be computed.  

Where the profile of a target population is known (such as for residents using census data), then a 

representative sample can be gathered (or derived from survey results using weighting). This means 

that  the  results  from  the  sample will have a  strong external  validity  in  relationship  to  the  target 

population the sample is meant to represent.  

It is clearly impractical to gather the views of all the target population and therefore a ‘sample’ of the 

population was  targeted, with  the aim of generalising views  (snapshot) back  to  that of  the wider 

Page 175



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 13 

population. As a non‐probability sampling approach was used, statistical significance testing  is not 

appropriate. 

As a snapshot of views has been obtained  for  this phase, data has not been weighted to derive a 

representative sample. Therefore, when  interpreting  the  responses,  the  results should be seen as 

indicative of  the wider population and any  identified  sub‐groups,  rather  than  representative. The 

table below summarises the phase 2 data collection approach: 

Target population 
Businesses and people  living, working and commuting  in  the City of 
Leeds and the wider region 

Consultation period  28th July to the 12th August 2018 

Sampling method  Open online link and existing networks 

Data collection method  Self‐completion online survey 

Total sample  3,532 

 

Analysis and reporting 

Within the main body of the report, where percentages do not sum to 100 per cent, this  is due to 

rounding. Similarly, percentages shown  in charts and  tables may  indicate a ±1% difference  to  the 

commentary and again will be due to rounding – the commentary values will be correct. 

The phase 2 analysis has included ‘unsure’ and ‘don’t know’ responses due to a higher proportion of 

respondents stating this for various questions. We feel these responses; given the questions asked 

and topic of the research, present a real finding and may have  important  implications for decision 

making.  

The ‘base’ or ‘n=’ figure referred to in each chart and table is the total number of people responding 

to the question with a response.  

Page 176



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 14 

Findings 

Section 1: Who responded?  

 

Leeds  needs  to  ensure  that  all  their  strategies,  policies,  service  and  functions,  both  current  and 

proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration. Therefore 

an Equality, Diversity Cohesion and Integration impact assessment will accompany the final proposal. 

As the consultation consisted of a self‐selected sample and is not representative of the population, it 

is important to understand the profile of those who responded. 

The majority  (94%)  who  took  part  in  the  consultation  responded  as  non‐businesses,  whilst  6% 

responded as a business.  

Of all those who responded as a business (n=199), 67% of businesses were located within Leeds and 

26% operated outside of Leeds but travelled into the city as part of their business operation.  

Business respondents were then asked what type of business they operated from a predefined list. 

Respondents were able to select multiple business types. It should be noted that 40% of the business 

respondents did not classify themselves as any of the options provided. It is not surprising that the 

majority of respondents to the survey are those who are likely to be directly, and hence more greatly 

affected by the CAZ proposal.  

 The majority (94%) responded in a non‐business capacity 

 Of those who responded as a business (6%), 67% were located within Leeds 

 Almost three‐quarters (74%) of respondents were aged between 30‐64 years old, this 

group was over‐represented when compared to the 2011 census profile of Leeds 

 Two thirds (62%) of respondents were male, this group was over‐represented compared 

to Leeds as whole 

 The  majority  (95%)  of  respondent  were  white,  this  group  was  over‐represented 

compared to Leeds as whole 

 Fewer than one out of ten respondents (7%) have a disability with ‘long standing illness 

or health condition’ and ‘physical impairments’ being most commonly mentioned 

 Just over half (55%) of respondents had also taken part in the phase 1 consultation 

 Half (50%) of respondents heard about the phase 2 consultation via email 

Page 177



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 15 

67%

26%

7%

Business inside
Leeds

Business outside
Leeds (who travel
into Leeds in a

business capacity)

None of the above

87%

11%
2%

Lives in LeedsJust works in
Leeds

Just visits Leeds

Of the 60% who selected a business type from the list, the majority (91%) selected just one option 

and 9% selected more than one option; mainly operating both HGVs and vans.  

Overall 22% were HGV drivers, operatives or owners, 19% were taxis/private hire drivers, operatives 

or owners and a further 19% were van drivers, operatives or owners. This  is to be expected given 

these groups are more populous than other business types, namely bus operators. (Please see Figure 

2). 

Figure 1: Are you responding as a business or non‐business? 

Base size – 3,536 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Base size ‐ 199  Base size – 3,337 

Page 178



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 16 

11%

32%

42%

14%

27% 26%
29%

18%

18 ‐ 29 30 ‐ 44 45 ‐ 64 65+

Sample profile

Leeds profile

Figure 2: Which best describes your business?  

 

   

 

 

 

 

Figure 3 below shows that the  largest age group  in the sample was 45‐64 year olds, with  just over 

two‐fifths (42%) responding from this group. This is a similar result to the phase 1 consultation period 

where 40% of respondents were 45‐64 years old.  

When comparing the age group of respondents to Leeds as a whole, the younger (18‐29) age groups 

were under‐represented, whilst the 46‐64 age group were over‐represented.  

Figure 3: Age group of respondents (excluding under 18 years old) 

Base size – 3,429 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4 shows that similar to the phase 1 consultation,  just over six out of ten (62%) respondents 

identified themselves as men whilst around four out of ten (37%) identified themselves as women. 

When  compared  to  Leeds  as  a whole, women were  under‐represented, whilst men were  over‐

represented.  

 

Base size ‐ 199 

22% 19% 19% 8%  2%

HGV driver, 
operative or 

owner 

Taxi/private hire 
driver, operative 

or owner 

Van driver, operative 
or owner 

Coach driver, 
operative or 

owner 

Bus driver, 
operative or owner 

40% 

Other 
business 
categories 

Page 179



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 17 

62%

37%

1%

49% 51%

Male (including Trans Male) Female (including Trans Female) Non‐binary/other

Sample profile

Leeds profile

95%

3% 1% 1% 0.4%

85%

8%
3% 3% 1%

White Asian Mixed Black Other

Sample profile

Leeds profile

Figure 4: Gender identity of respondents 

Base size – 3,293 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Similar to the phase 1 consultation, the majority (95%) of respondents were white; the group is over‐

represented when compared to Leeds as a whole. The largest group of BaME respondents were of 

Asian ethnicity (3%). 

Figure 5: Ethnicity of respondents 

Base size – 3,225 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6 shows that just fewer than one out of ten respondents (7%) have a disability, this is the same 

sample gained  for  the phase 1 consultation. Those with a disability have been under‐represented 

Page 180



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 18 

93%

7%

83%

17%

Do not have a disability Have a disability

Sample profile

Leeds profile

44%
39%

17%

12%

6% 4%

Long standing
illness or health

condition

Physical
impairment

Mental health
condition

Hearing
impairment

Learning
disability

Visual
impairment

when compared to Leeds as a whole. Figure 7 show that just over two‐fifths (44%) have a long standing 

illness or health condition and around four out of ten (39%) have a physical impairment. 

Figure 6: Respondents with a disability  

Base size – 3,281 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7: Respondents with a disability by type of disability (multi response) 

Base size ‐ 204 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 19 

52% 2% 22% 24%

Yes, filled in questionnaire Yes, attended event No I was not aware of the first consultation

50%

16%

15%

14%

11%

10%

7%

4%

3%

3%

3%

3%

2%

1%

Email

Postcard

Electronic road signs

Facebook

Leeds website

Word of mouth

Posters/Banners

Twitter

Radio

Other website

Newspaper

Television

Other

LinkedIn

All respondents were asked  if they had taken part  in the phase 1 consultation. Just over half (55% 

combined) said they had; either by completing the questionnaire (52%) or by attending an event (2%). 

A fifth (22%) said they didn’t take part and almost a quarter were not aware of the first consultation 

period.  

Figure 8: Did you take part in the phase 1 consultation?  

Base size – 3,526 

 

 

 

 

Respondents were then asked were they heard about the phase 2 consultations, half (50%) said they 

heard via email, this was followed by postcard (16%) and electronic road signs (15%) – see figure 9 for 

all awareness method responses.  

Figure 9: How did you hear about the phase 2 consultation? 

Base size – 3,517 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 182



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 20 

Geographical spread of respondents 

To understand where respondents were responding from, all participants were asked for their full 

postcode or where their business operates from. Only 3,201 respondents provided a valid postcode, 

the  postcodes were  then  run  through  a Geographical  Information  System which  assigned which 

district each of the valid postcodes fell into (please see table 1). 

 Overall, the majority (88%) of respondents lived inside the Leeds City Council boundary 

 When  compared by  respondent  type, 68% of business  respondents where  located within  the 

Leeds City Council boundary, followed by 11% being located in Bradford  

 

Maps 2 and 3 present the spread of non‐business and business respondents geographical in relation 

to the CAZ boundary.   

Page 183



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 21 

Table 1: Where respondents were responding from overall and by respondent type 

  
Business  Non‐business  Overall 

Count  %  Count  %  Count  % 

Leeds  113  68%  2701  89%  2814  88% 

Bradford  19  11%  94  3%  113  4% 

Wakefield  7  4%  69  2%  76  2% 

Kirklees  5  3%  47  2%  52  2% 

Harrogate  3  2%  25  1%  28  1% 

Selby  ‐  ‐  24  1%  24  1% 

Calderdale  2  1%  19  1%  21  1% 

Barnsley  3  2%  11  0%  14  0% 

York  ‐  ‐  10  0%  10  0% 

Craven  1  1%  9  0%  10  0% 

Sheffield  ‐  ‐  3  0%  3  0% 

East Riding of Yorkshire  ‐  ‐  3  0%  3  0% 

Doncaster  ‐  ‐  2  0%  2  0% 

Trafford  ‐  ‐  2  0%  2  0% 

Rugby  2  1%  ‐  ‐  2  0% 

Newcastle upon Tyne  ‐  ‐  2  0%  2  0% 

Ryedale  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

West Lindsey  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Southwark  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Hertsmere  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Rochdale  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Islington  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Elmbridge  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Kingston upon Hull, City 
of 

1  1%  ‐  0%  1  0% 

Bolsover  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Ashfield  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Derbyshire Dales  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Blackpool  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Coventry  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Bracknell Forest  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Chiltern  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Newcastle‐under‐Lyme  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

South Gloucestershire  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

North Lincolnshire  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Flintshire  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Nottingham  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Warwick  1  1%  ‐  ‐  1  0% 

Oldham  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Hambleton  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Redcar and Cleveland  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Richmondshire  ‐  ‐  1  0%  1  0% 

Total  167  100%  3034  100%  3201  100% 

 

Page 184



     
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services        Page 22 
 

Map 2: Plotted postcodes of non‐business respondents 

 

 

 

 

   

P
age 185



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 23 

Map 3: Plotted postcodes of business respondents by business type 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 186



     
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services        
Page 24 

 

The table overleaf presents the response rate by postcode district which by:  

 The overall responses by non‐business respondents by the base population for each postcode 

district 

 Overall response by business respondents with the percentage calculated by the base 

population for each postcode district 

 Business respondents classified as taxi or private hire calculated by the proportion of businesses 

responding 

 Overall respondents both businesses and non‐businesses calculated by the base population for 

each postcode district 

 

Only the top 25 postcode districts sampled ‐ based on the total population ‐ have been presented. A 

postcode district reference map has also been included. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 187



     
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services        Page 25 
 

Response rates by Postcode District 

Postcode 
District 

Base 
population of 
Postcode 
District 

Non‐business 
respondents 

% of non‐
businesses 
responding 

Business 
respondents 

% of 
businesses 
responding 

Taxi or private 
hire 

respondents 

Taxi or private 
hire 

respondent% 
(based on total 

business 
respondents) 

Total 
responses 

Total % 
responses 

LS16  36393  221 1% 2 0% 1 50% 223 1% 

LS 6  47424  209 0% 7 0% 1 14% 216 0% 

LS 8  47727  188 0% 3 0% 1 33% 191 0% 

LS17  43174  173 0% 5 0% 2 40% 178 0% 

LS 7  29635  153 1% 7 0% 0% 160 1% 

LS28  38292  152 0% 5 0% 0% 157 0% 

LS12  40762  135 0% 11 0% 1 9% 146 0% 

LS27  35672  135 0% 7 0% 0% 142 0% 

LS18  19179  131 1% 5 0% 1 20% 136 1% 

LS15  34779  130 0% 1 0% 0% 131 0% 

LS13  34713  125 0% 4 0% 0% 129 0% 

LS25  40193  101 0% 2 0% 0% 103 0% 

LS26  30409  90 0% 4 0% 0% 94 0% 

LS10  35555  84 0% 8 0% 0% 92 0% 

LS14  34040  84 0% 4 0% 1 25% 88 0% 

LS11  34804  67 0% 10 0% 1 10% 77 0% 

LS 9  37368  64 0% 9 0% 2 22% 73 0% 

LS19  19946  72 0% 0% 72 0% 

LS21  17835  68 0% 0% 68 0% 

LS 5  8804  61 1% 1 0% 0% 62 1% 

WF 3  32404  55 0% 0% 55 0% 

LS 4  8944  45 1% 1 0% 0% 46 1% 

LS22  15763  44 0% 0% 44 0% 

LS29  31752  35 0% 2 0% 0% 37 0% 

LS 2  9541  30 0% 6 0% 0% 36 0% 

* This should be based on the total base population of businesses by postcode district; therefore figures should be treated with caution. 

P
age 188



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 26 

Map 4: Postcode District reference map 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 189



     
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services        
Page 27 

 

Composition of respondents’ fleets 

Businesses that operated the type of vehicle subject to CAZ charges were also asked about their fleet 

size and the Euro standard of vehicles they operate. 

The results revealed that most respondents operated more than one vehicle. There were only five 

respondents  that  owned  or  operated  a  single  vehicle,  these  respondents  all  operated  HGVs.  

Considerable variation was seen in the types of operator responding to the survey. 

Taxi  and  private  hire  operator  fleets  ranged  from  2  to  94  vehicles  across  13  respondents  that 

responded  to  that question  (mean 17 vehicles). Bus  fleets  ranged  from 57‐90 vehicles but only 2 

respondents provided this information (mean 74 vehicles). We had one minibus respondent with 53 

vehicles. HGVs saw a considerable range of fleet size from 1 vehicle to 3,745 vehicles (mean of 121 

vehicles) across 37 respondents.  

Vehicle operators were split into six different categories of percentage compliance in their fleet.  It 

can be seen that the majority of fleets operated by respondents are largely non‐compliant with the 

CAZ.   

Table 2: Compliance of fleets (0% fleet compliance to 100% fleet compliance) 

 No compliant vehicle  1%‐20%  21%‐40%  41%‐60%  61%‐80%  81%‐100%

Total  38%  17%  17%  13%  6%  9% 

Taxis/PH  31%  15%  38%  15%  0%  0% 

Bus  0%  50%  0%  0%  50%  0% 

Minibus  0%  0%  0%  100%  0%  0% 

HGV  43%  16%  11%  11%  5%  14% 

 

 

   

Page 190



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 28 

Section 2:  The Clean Air Charging Zone 
Based on the results of the first consultation (phase 1), Leeds has now reduced the size of the CAZ 

area. Leeds has carried out detailed analysis and has concluded that the revised size of the CAZ area 

would:  

 Reduce  the economic  impact on  local businesses – 1,200  fewer businesses would be  located 

within the CAZ area 

 The new CAZ area would still achieve the improvements in air quality required within the shortest 

possible timescale 

 

The map below shows the previous CAZ boundary to the new revised CAZ boundary proposal. 

Map 4: Previous and revised CAZ boundary comparison 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All respondents were asked  if they think reducing the size of the proposed charging CAZ boundary 

was a good idea.  

Page 191



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 29 

44%

60%

43%

36%

27%

37%

20%
14%

20%

Overall (n=3512) Business (n=198) Non‐business (n=3,314)

Yes No Don't know

 Overall,  just over  two‐fifths  (44%)  felt  that  this was a good  idea, 36%  said  it wasn’t and 20% 

weren’t sure.  

 When compared by  respondent  type, more business  respondents  felt  reducing  the size was a 

good idea (60%) compared to non‐business respondents (43%). 

 

Figure 10: Do you think reducing the size of the proposed charging CAZ boundary is a good idea? 

 

 

 

 

   

Page 192



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 30 

Section 3: Charging and supporting the policy 

 

During the phase 1 consultation respondents were asked whether the charges proposed for London’s 

Ultra Low Emission Zone were suitable to use for the Leeds charging CAZ. Overall respondents felt the 

charges were about right, but when we looked at the results for the businesses around six in ten (59%) 

felt that the charges were too much. Based on the outcome of the first consultation and the results 

of the economic analysis, the proposed charges were revised to better reflect the context and risks in 

Leeds.  

Table 3: Original and new proposed charges 

Category  Original proposed charge   New proposed charge 

Buses, coaches & HGVs  £100 per day  £50 per day 

Taxi & Private Hire Vehicles  £12.50 per day 

£12.50  per  day  (non‐Leeds 
licensed drivers) 

£12.50 per day up  to £50 per 
week  cap  (Leeds  licensed 
drivers) 

 

   

 Across  all  survey  respondents,  the  new  charges  for  buses  were  deemed  too  high. 

However,  the majority  response  to charges  for HGVs, coaches,  taxis and private hire 

vehicles was  that  charges were  just  right.  Indeed  for  HGVs  the  number  suggesting 

charges were ‘too low’ outweighed those stating charges were ‘too high’ 

 Generally more  business  respondents  feel  the  proposed  new  charges  are  too  high 

compared to non‐business respondents 

 The majority of  respondents agreed with  the proposed vehicle exemptions, with  the 

exception of  showmen’s guild vehicles  , where  there was a  fairly even split between 

those agreeing and disagreeing  

 Over a  third  (36%) of  respondents  felt  there  should be  some exemptions  for certain 

vehicles, such as those with disabled/vulnerable passengers 

 Overall, 37% felt there should be a sunset period. More businesses were likely to agree 

with this compared to non‐business respondents 

Page 193



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 31 

As part of this consultation respondents were asked how they feel about the revised pricing charge. 

Figure 11 presents the overall responses and by respondent type. Results show that:  

 

 

 

Buses:  

 Overall a third (35%) felt the charges for buses were just right, whilst 43% 

felt the charges were too high 

 When compared by respondent type, businesses were more likely to feel 

the charges  for buses were  too high at 55%,  compared  to non‐business 

respondents at 43% 

  Coaches:  

 Overall  just over  two‐fifths  (43%)  felt  the  charges  for coaches were  just 

right, whilst 31% felt they were too high 

 When compared by respondent type, businesses were more likely to feel 

the charges for coaches were too high at 52%, compared to non‐business 

respondents at 30%. 

  Taxis & Private Hire: 

 Overall  just  under  half  (46%)  felt  the  charges  for  taxis  and  private  hire 

vehicles were  just right, whilst three out of ten  (30%) felt they were too 

high 

 When compared by respondent type, businesses were more likely to feel 

the  charges  for  taxis  and  private  hire  vehicles  were  too  high  at  47%, 

compared to non‐business respondents at 29%. 

  HGVs: 

 Overall a third (35%) felt the charges for HGVs were just right, three out of 

ten (30%) respondents felt they were too low and 27% felt they were too 

high. 

 When compared by respondent type, non‐businesses were more likely to 

think  the  charges  for  HGVs were  too  low  (31%)  compared  to  business 

respondents at 10%.  

 

When exploring the business results further we find that, except for those operating buses, that the 

most frequent “too high” response comes from the business that is subject to the charge.  This is not 

a surprising finding and points to two potential effects: 

1) Owners of each vehicle type have the best understanding of the affordability of the CAZ when 

considering their current cost of operations and costs of upgrading  

2) Owners of each vehicle type are less likely to want to impose a charge on themselves.  

Page 194



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 32 

As to be expected, those operators with a greater proportion of non‐compliant fleets were more likely 

to respond that the charges were too high for all vehicle types, as a greater proportion of their fleet 

would face charges to operate in Leeds.  

For  ‘Other  Businesses’,  those  that  did  not  identify with  a  particular  vehicle  type,  the  dominant 

response is that the charge is “just right” for Coaches and Taxis, while for Bus and HGVs the charge 

was felt to be “too high”. But for HGVs “Too Low” and “Just Right” exceed the “Too High” response.  

Figure 11: How do you feel about the revised pricing schedule overall and by respondent type? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Some vehicles will be exempt from paying charges when entering the charging CAZ in Leeds which is 

based on the National Clean Air Zone Framework produced by the government. These exemptions 

apply to the following vehicles:  

 Vehicles with a historic tax class (built before 1978) 

 Military vehicles 

 Specialist vehicles used by the emergency services 

 Certain types of non‐road going vehicles that may drive on the highway such as digging machines 

etc.  

43%

55%

43%

31%

52%

30%

30%

47%

29%

27%

51%

26%

35%

28%

36%

43%

33%

44%

46%

37%

47%

35%

30%

36%

14%

7%

15%

19%

8%

19%

17%

8%

17%

30%

10%

31%

7%

9%

7%

7%

7%

7%

7%

8%

7%

7%

8%

7%

Overall (n=3,499)

Business (n=179)

Non‐business (n=3,320)

Overall (n=3,469)

Business (n=178)

Non‐business (n=3,291)

Overall (n=3,488)

Business (n=185)

Non‐business (n=3,303)

Overall (n=3,473)

Business (n=183)

Non‐business (n=3,290)

B
u
se
s

C
o
ac
h
es

Ta
xi
s 
&
 P
ri
va
te

H
ir
e

H
G
V
s

Too high Just right Too low Don't know

Page 195



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 33 

 

In addition to the above, Leeds is proposing exemptions to the vehicles shown below and wanted to 

get respondents views. Respondents were asked  if  they agreed or disagreed that  the vehicle  type 

should be exempt at this stage. Figure 12 presents the results by the proposed vehicles exception 

types overall and by respondent type.  

Showman’s 

vehicles 

 Overall agreement that showman’s vehicles should be made exempt was 

spilt fairly evenly between those agreeing and those disagreeing, whilst 

8% were not sure.  

 There was little variation by respondent type.  

Vintage buses 

(non‐commercial) 

 Overall three quarters (73%) of respondents agreed that vintage buses 

should be exempt 

 When compared by respondent type, slightly more (74%) non‐businesses 

agreed that vintage buses should be exempt versus businesses at 62%.  

School buses 

 Overall just over two thirds (64%) agreed school buses should be exempt

 When  compared  by  respondent  type,  again  slightly more  (64%)  non‐

businesses agreed that school buses should be exempt versus businesses 

at 55%. 

Where there is a 

lack of market 

capacity2 

 Overall  65%  of  respondents  agreed  that  there  should  be  exemptions 

where there is a lack of market capacity, whilst 13% were unsure 

 There was little variation by respondent type. 

Diversion on the 

road network 

 Overall, respondents were most likely to agree with this option of charges 

being exempt where there is a diversion on the road network with 88% 

stating they agree. 

 There was little variation by respondent type. 

 

   

                                                            
 

2 Due to increased market demand, organisations who have placed an order for a compliant vehicle or a retrofit are subject to a sunset 

period until the compliant vehicles arrive or upgrade work is completed.  

Page 196



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 34 

47%

47%

47%

73%

62%

74%

64%

55%

64%

65%

66%

65%

88%

84%

89%

45%

41%

45%

21%

26%

21%

32%

38%

32%

22%

21%

22%

8%

12%

7%

8%

12%

8%

6%

11%

6%

4%

7%

4%

13%

13%

13%

4%

4%

4%

Overall (n=3,508)

Business (n=195)

Non‐business (n=3,313)

Overall (n=3,492)

Business (n=193)

Non‐business (n=3,299)

Overall (n=3,499)

Business (n=195)

Non‐business (n=3,304)

Overall (n=3,495)

Business (n=198)

Non‐business (n=3,297)

Overall (n=3,508)

Business (n=194)

Non‐business (n=3,314)

Sh
o
w
m
en

’s
 

gu
ild

 v
eh

ic
le
s

V
in
ta
ge
 b
u
se
s

(n
o
n

co
m
m
er
ci
al
)

Sc
h
o
o
l b
u
se
s

W
h
er
e 
th
er
e

is
 la
ck
 o
f

m
ar
ke
t

ca
p
ac
it
y

D
iv
er
si
o
n
s 
o
n

th
e 
ro
ad

n
e
tw

o
rk

Agree Disagree Don't know

Figure  12:  Do  you  agree  or  disagree  that  the  following  vehicles  or  circumstances  should  be 

exempted at this stage? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respondents were then asked if there should be a rule that allows exemptions and/or sunset periods 

to be granted on case by case bases. Figure 13 presents the results overall and by respondent type.  

 Around three out of ten (30%) respondents were not sure if exemptions and sunset exemptions 

should be granted on a case by case basis 

 Overall, 36% of respondents felt there should be exemptions, when asked to provide an example 

commonly mentioned were: 

 Exemptions for disabled/vulnerable passengers 

 Exemptions for vintage/classic cars 

 Exemptions for event vehicles/one‐off promotional visit 

 Overall, 37% of respondents felt there should be sunset periods. When assessing the responses 

provided for this question there seemed to be some variations in how respondents interpreted a 

sunset period as the term was not defined in the survey 

 Commonly cited was for sunset period to occur during specific timeframes in the day for 

example – “HGVs delivering to city centre say between 19.00 and 06.00” 

Page 197



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 35 

36%
46%

35% 37%
49%

37%

28%

25%

28% 26%

23%

26%

37%
29%

37% 37%
28%

37%

Overall
(n=3,482)

Business
(n=195)

Non‐business
(n=3,287)

Overall
(n=3,443)

Business
(n=185)

Non‐business
(n=3,258)

Exempt vehicles Sunset periods

Yes No Don't know

 Others cited actual lead in periods to becoming compliant such as ‐ “Sunset period can 

be varied from 6 months to a maximum of say 3 yrs on case by case.” 

 

Nearly  half  of  business  respondents  felt  there  should  be  exemptions  and  sunset  periods  to  the 

charging scheme but with such a high proportion of “don’t know” responses it appears more detail is 

required.  Free text fields indicated that there was a lack of understanding on the CAZ charging system 

as many  respondents  suggested exemptions  for vehicles  that would not be  subject  to  the charge 

including cars and Euro 6 vehicles.  

The comments also provided some insight into the type of vehicles respondents thought should be 

granted sunset clauses of exemptions. However, the responses highlighted a wide range of potential 

exemptions with very  little agreement on specific categories that should be eligible: e.g. across 55 

business  responses,  the  most  common  suggestions  were  exemptions/sunset  clauses  for 

recovery/breakdown vehicles (5 votes), vintage cars (4) and construction vehicles (3). 

Figure 13: Should there be a rule that allows exemptions/sunset periods to be granted on a case by 

case basis?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 198



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 36 

Section 4: Additional measures to reduce air 
pollution in the City 

 

Leeds City Council has already taken action to help clean up the city’s air, such as:  

 Moving their fleet of vehicles to ultra‐low or zero emissions vehicles 

 Investing in public transport and cycling infrastructure to make it easier to use less polluting ways 

of travelling in the city 

 Encouraging drivers to switch to ultra‐low emissions vehicles  (ULEV) by offering residents  free 

parking in the city centre at council car parks and supporting the development of charge points 

across the city for electric vehicles 

 They are working with  Innovate UK, Transport Systems Catapult and  industry partners  to help 

develop and trial new technology in their Electric Vehicle (EV) fleet to create a detailed map of 

the city's air quality as they drive around the city. This technology will automatically switch hybrid 

vehicles to electric‐only mode in more polluted areas. 

 

Respondents were  asked  a  series  of  questions  around  proposed  additional measures  Leeds  City 

Council are considering to further combat air pollution.  

 To reduce idling in cars by informing drivers to turn off their cars if they are not moving for more 

than two minutes 

Respondents were asked to select the top three places where the signs should be shown that would 

make the biggest impact.  

 Overall, most commonly mentioned were outside schools (74%), areas prone to traffic jams and 

queuing (58%) and at taxi ranks (46%) 

 Results were similar when compared with business responses 

   

 Almost three quarters (74%) of respondents felt that anti‐idling signs would make the 

most difference outside schools 

 Over seven out of ten (74%) respondents would like to see more electric charging points 

across the city, with car parks being the most popular location (57%) 

 Non‐businesses were more  likely  to  find  real  time pollution  information useful  (68%) 

compared to businesses (58%) 

 A quarter (26%) of businesses would consider submitting for funding to install electric 

charging points 

Page 199



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 37 

Figure 14: Top three places were anti idling signs should be placed 

Base size – 3,485 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Increase electric charging points across the city 

Respondents were asked if they would like to see more charging points made available in Leeds.  

 Overall, over seven out of ten (74%) respondents would like more electric charging points made 

available in Leeds and 9% said they don’t. Overall, some respondents (17%) were not sure 

 When compared by respondent type, more businesses didn’t know if they wanted more electric 

charging points at 28% compared to 17% stating they don’t know for non‐businesses. Businesses 

may be uncertain about the implication of more charging points for their business – for example 

mandated charging on their premises. In addition HGVs, coaches, buses have no widely available 

electric vehicle on offer.   The  ‘other business’ category were 76%  in  favour of more charging 

points.   

 

Respondents who said they would  like some more electric charging points were then asked where 

they would like to see them. Figure 16, presents the most commonly mentioned options such as at 

car parks/on street parking (57%), followed by at supermarkets/shopping areas (21%), all over Leeds 

(13%) and at service stations (10%).  

The responses of businesses prioritised the same locations identified by the overall population, with 

‘car parks or on‐street parking’ again being most favourable. 

   

Outside schools 

74%

At taxi ranks 

58% 46% 

Areas prone to 
traffic jams 

Page 200



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 38 

74%
63%

74%

9%

9%

9%

17%
28%

17%

Overall (n=3,515) Business (n=195) Non‐business (n=3,320)

Yes No Don't know

Figure 15: Do you want more electric charging points available in Leeds?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 16: Where would you like to see more electric charging points?  

Base size – 1,372 

 

 

 

 

 

Respondents were  then  asked  how  likely  they would  be  to  get  an  electric  vehicle  if  there were 

charging points.  

 Overall half (50%) of respondents said they were either very (18%) or fairly (32%) likely to get an 

electric vehicle 

 When compared by respondent type, non‐businesses were more  likely to consider this at 50% 

versus businesses with 38% stating very or fairly likely.  

 

Businesses  responses are  likely  to be heavily  influenced by  the  fact  that electric vehicles are not 

commonly commercially available for many types of commercial vehicles.  

Car parks/on‐street 
parking 

Supermarkets/shopping 
areas 

All over Leeds
Petrol stations/service 

stations 

57%  21%  13%  10% 

Page 201



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 39 

18%

18%

18%

32%

20%

32%

21%

21%

21%

18%

27%

18%

9%

11%

9%

Overall (n=3,518)

Business (n=196)

Non‐business
(n=3,322)

Very likely Fairly likely Not very likely Not at all likely Don’t know Already have EV

Total likely

Figure 17: How  likely would you be to consider getting an electric vehicle  if there were charging 

points across Leeds? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 To provide real time air pollution information 

Respondents were then asked how useful they would find real time air pollution information such as 

electronic signage on roads informing people if the pollution is high or forecast to be high.  

 Overall, 67% of respondents would find the real time air pollution information either very (35%) 

or fairly (32%) useful 

 When compared by respondent type, non‐businesses were more  likely to find this  information 

useful  (68%)  versus  businesses  (58%).  This  is  perhaps  because  non‐businesses  have  more 

flexibility in their activities to respond to periods of high air quality, whereas business activity and 

services is potentially viewed as more fixed 

 

   

50%

38%

50%

Page 202



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 40 

35%

30%

35%

32%

29%

32%

17%

19%

16%

14%

19%

14%

Overall (n=3,519)

Business (n=196)

Non‐business
(n=3,323)

Very useful Fairly useful Not very useful Not at all useful Don’t know

Total useful

Figure 18: How useful would you find real time air pollution information?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 [Businesses  only]  To  provide  financial  support  to  support  organisations  in  increasing  their 

power supply or creating smart grid technology to support a large number of electric vehicle 

charging points.  

Business respondents (n=196) were asked if their business would consider submitting for funding to 

install electric charging points.  

 Just 26% of businesses said they would consider funding and 40% said they wouldn’t. When asked 

why, the reasons most commonly mentioned were they ‘don’t need’ any electric vehicle points, 

in turn because they didn’t currently own any or enough electric vehicles. Again this is likely to be 

influenced by the current lack of commercial electric vehicles but also the practicality of having 

the space in which to install charging points. This also potentially reflects the views of businesses 

regarding the viability of alternative‐fuelled vehicles – businesses may only consider conventional 

fuelled vehicles in their upgrade plans to minimise perceived disruption to business activities. This 

is reflected in the responses:  

 

 

 

 

“Our vehicles are HGVs so no real scope for electric alternatives.” 

“We don't have the necessary parking adjacent to our building, as things stand.” 

“I don’t have any electric vehicles and until the cost of them comes into line I don’t plan on 

buying.” 

“Electric buses/coaches are not currently viable for the distances we cover” 

67%

58%

68%

Page 203



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 41 

26%

40%

34%

Yes

No

Don't know

34%
39%

28%

Yes

No

Don't know

 
Figure 19: Would you consider funding to install electric charging points? 

Base size – 196 

 

Why do you say that? 

Don't need them (n=37)  57% 

Rented/limited space (n=12)  18% 

Lack of investment/too 
expensive (n=11) 

17% 

Not based in Leeds (n=5)  8% 

Already have them (n=3)  5% 

 

 

Businesses were  then  asked  if  they were  allocated  funding, would  they  consider  increasing  the 

number of electric vehicles in their fleet.  

 Results were split between businesses stating yes (34%) they would consider this, no (39%) they 

wouldn’t or that they weren’t sure (28%). 

 

Figure 20: If you received funding would you increase your electric vehicle fleet size? 

Base size ‐ 196 

 

   

Page 204



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 42 

81%

14%

5%

Yes

No

Don't know

Section 5: Business only section  

 

Leeds City Council is considering a short lead‐in period where no charges will take place. Businesses 

were asked if they think this is a good idea. The majority (81%) thought that Leeds should consider a 

short  lead‐in period where no charges will  take place.  In some sense,  this  reduces  the burden on 

businesses in the short term. However, in practical terms this affords businesses additional time to 

adjust their operations to the CAZ, to better understand the impacts the CAZ (whether they will be 

charged) will have and therefore make more informed decisions around the likely impacts, and hence 

their optimal response. 

Figure 21: Do you think considering a short lead‐in period where no charges will take place is a good 

idea?  

Base size – 195 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Businesses are generally resistant to the charging proposals but are receptive to support 

packages to make upgrading to a compliant vehicle type more affordable 

 Eight out of ten (81%) businesses agreed that a short lead‐in period is a good idea 

 Seven out of ten (70%) businesses felt that their suppliers and/or customers would be 

affected by  the  introduction of  the charging CAZ; charges being passed on being  the 

main way 

 19% of business responses were classified as taxis and private hire, 22% were classed as 

a HGV driver, operative or owner and 8% were classed as a bus or coach driver, operative 

or owner 

Page 205



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 43 

70%

9%

22%

Yes

No

Don't know

Businesses were  asked  if  they  think  their  suppliers  and/or  customers would  be  affected  by  the 

introduction of the charging CAZ.  Seven out of ten (70%) businesses said that their suppliers and / or 

customers would be affected by the charging CAZ.   

As expected for those businesses that will be charged by the CAZ (taxis, private hire, coaches, buses, 

HGVs) the significant majority of respondents indicated that their suppliers and customers would be 

affected.  But in addition, just over half of businesses that did not operate any of the vehicles targeted 

by  the  CAZ  said  that  their  customers  and  suppliers would  be  affected  by  its  introduction.    This 

highlights that the impacts of the CAZ will not be limited to those who directly face the charge, but it 

will  impact on the supply chains and customers of those affected as costs are passed through the 

supply chain. 

Those that mentioned that their suppliers and/or customers would be affected were then asked how 

they would be affected. Two thirds (66%) stated that the charges would be passed on to customers, 

and 15% stated they would lose customers. 

Figure 22: Do you know if your suppliers and/or customers will be affected by the implementation 

of the charging CAZ?  

Base size ‐ 197 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Businesses were also asked what  they  thought  the  impact would be on businesses  following  the 

changes made in phase 2.  The majority of respondents felt that the impact would be reduced or stay 

the same for each of the changes, with over half (54%‐58%) of respondents feeling that the reduced 

boundary, reduced charges and the support packages offered would reduce the impact on businesses.  

How will they be affected 

Charges passed on to 
customer (n=86) 

66% 

Loss of customers/business 
(n=20) 

15% 

Change to delivery 
times/costs (n=10) 

8% 

Additional overhead (n=10)  8% 

Change of vehicle/fleet 
(n=10) 

8% 

Poorer/lack of service (n=8)  6% 

Page 206



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 44 

Figure 23: What do you think that the impact on businesses will be following the changes made in 

phase 2? 

Base size – 199 

 

Section 5a: Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles 

 

 

 

 

Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles can contribute to the level of air pollution due to the nature of work 

involved  e.g.  increased mileage  etc.  The  city would  therefore  like  to  encourage  drivers  to move 

towards a better standard of vehicle. Leeds City Council is proposing the following support packages 

to help Taxis and Private Hire drivers adjust to the CAZ charge. 

Table 4: Proposed support packages by vehicle type 

8%

7%

7%

7%

6%

5%

56%

58%

54%

50%

50%

51%

26%

25%

18%

28%

29%

30%

10%

10%

21%

15%

15%

14%

Reduced boundary

Reduced charges

Support packages

Sunset period

Exemptions

Lead‐in period

Increase the impact Reduce the impact Stay the same I don't know

9% 

ize ‐ 36 

 

 19% of business respondents were classified as Taxis 

and Private Hire 

 28% were still in a finance package with their current 

vehicle(s), with the packages due to run out between 

2019 and 2021 

Page 207



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 45 

Vehicle type  Details 

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle 

(WAV) 

All WAVs will be exempt from the CAZ charge for a period to 

be defined (likely to be required to be Euro 6 by 

31/12/2021). 

5‐7 seat passenger vehicles 

All vehicles need to be compliant with the national standard 

CAZ specification (diesel Euro 6; petrol Euro 4‐6; or Euro 6 

equivalent (e.g., LPG retrofit accredited under Clean Vehicle 

Retrofit Accreditation Schemes (CVRAS)), otherwise they will 

be charged to enter the CAZ 

8+ seat passenger vehicles 

8+ seat vehicles will be exempt from a CAZ charge for a 

period to be defined (likely to be required to be Euro 6 by 

31/12/2021) 

Executive Vehicles 
All vehicles non‐compliant with standard charging CAZ 

specification (diesel Euro 6; petrol Euro 4‐6) will be charged 

Standard (all vehicles that do not fall 

into one of the identified categories 

above) 

All vehicles other than petrol‐hybrids or electric will be 

charged unless it is a Euro 6 diesel or Euro 6 equivalent (such 

as LPG retrofit if accredited to CRVAS) first licensed in Leeds 

before 15th September 2018. These vehicles will be given a 

‘sunset period’ to 31st December 2021 

 

Taxis and private hire respondents were asked if they agree that the certain vehicles should be eligible 

for a sunset period. Caution should be taken when interpreting the results due to the small sample 

size. 

 The levels of agreement were high for the vehicles listed in figure 24, if eligible to be given a sunset 

period; namely those still in a finance packages (79%), wheelchair accessible vehicles (76%) and 

those that already meet the Euro 6 standard (86%). 

 

   

Page 208



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 46 

79%

76%

86%

11%

16%

8%

11%

8%

5%

Vehicles still in finance
packages (n=38)

Wheelchair accessible
vehicles (n=37)

Those that already meet
the European emission
Euro 6 standard (n=37)

Agree Disagree Don't know

58% 5% 16% 13% 8%

Very useful Fairly useful Not very useful Not at all useful I don’t know

Figure 24: Do you agree or disagree that the following vehicles should be eligible for a sunset period 

at this stage?  

Base ‐ 38 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leeds City Council intends to provide grant assistance for existing licensed drivers for those costs that 

go alongside upgrading to a cleaner vehicle (licensing fees, DVLA DBS checks, fitting, etc).   Caution 

should be taken when interpreting the results due to the small sample size. 

 Two thirds (63%) of taxi and private hire vehicles said they would find this type of assistance either 

very (58%) or fairly (5%) useful.  

 

Figure 25: How useful would you  find  this  type of assistance alongside  the  introduction of  the 

charging CAZ?  

Base size ‐ 38 

 

 

 

 

63%

Total 
useful

Page 209



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 47 

66% 16% 8% 5%

Very interested Fairly interested Neither Not very interested Not at all interested Don't know

Leeds City Council is also considering of offering interest free loans available to drivers that want to 

purchase a vehicle that meet the emission requirements of the charging CAZ. Caution should be taken 

when interpreting the results due to the small sample size. 

 The majority (82%) of respondents said they would be either very (66%) or fairly (16%) interested 

in the offer. 

 The  terms of  the  loan have not been provided, but  this  results  suggests  that  in principle  the 

majority of taxi and private hire drivers are not against taking on some form of debt (albeit zero 

interest)  to upgrade  to  cleaner vehicles. This also  follows  from  the Phase 1  consultation  that 

access to finance is a key barrier to non‐compliant vehicles from upgrading to a compliant vehicle. 

 

Figure 26: How interested would you be in taking up this offer? 

Base size ‐ 38 

 

 

 

 

Leeds City Council plan  to  run a separate consultation  in 2018 around  tightening vehicle  licensing 

conditions  permitting  only  licenced  approved  petrol  or  electric  vehicles.  Taxi  and  private  hire 

respondents were asked  if  they agree  that  tighter  licensing would encourage higher  standards of 

vehicles in the sector. Caution should be taken when interpreting the results due to the small sample 

size. 

 Almost two‐fifths (39%) said they either strongly (24%) or fairly (16%) agreed with this. 

 A fifth (21%) of respondents said they neither agreed nor disagreed and 11% were unsure. 

 Relative to the other support options above, it is not surprising that this option was viewed less 

favourably given  it  implies  it does not provide direct  financial  support  to vehicle owners, but 

rather reinforces the incentives of the CAZ. 

 

   

82%

Total interested

Page 210



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 48 

24% 16% 21% 11% 18% 11%

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor disagree Disagree Strongly disagree Don’t know 

59% 19% 8% 11%

Very useful Fairly useful Not very useful Not at all useful Don’t know

Figure 27: Do you agree that tighter vehicle licensing would encourage higher standards of vehicles 

in this sector?  

Base size ‐ 38 

 

 

 

 

Taxi and private hire respondents were then asked if the extension of the age and inspection criteria 

for petrol hybrid and electric vehicles would be useful e.g. encourage them to purchase your vehicle 

in order to help meet the higher vehicles standard required by the charging CAZ. Caution should be 

taken when interpreting the results due to the small sample size. 

 Almost eight out of ten (78%) of respondents would find the extension either very (59%) or fairly 

(19%) useful.  

 

Figure 28: How useful would you  find  it  if  the age and  inspection criteria  for petrol hybrid and 

electric vehicles were extended?  

Base size ‐ 37 

 

 

 

 

In conclusion significant majorities of taxi and private hire operators and drivers felt that the charges 

were too high, and that their customers (assuming they have no suppliers) will be affected by the 

introduction of the CAZ.  But they also favoured any approach that would lessen the impact of the 

CAZ  through  short  lead  in  times,  sunset  periods,  exemptions,  grants  and  interest  free  loans  for 

upgrades. 

39%

Total agreement 

78%

Total useful 

Page 211



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 49 

Section 5b: Heavy Goods Vehicles 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Through  previous  conversations  with  HGV  companies  and  operators,  Leeds  City  Council  has 

understood  that  it would  be more  costly  (and more  difficult  for more  specialised  operators)  to 

upgrade vehicles outside of any planned replacement vehicles3.This is made more problematic by the 

lack of accredited retrofit alternative. This is reflected in the fact that less than half of respondents 

thought that more than half of their fleets would be compliant by 2020. 

Therefore Leeds City Council may be able to get grant funding to help affected organisations located 

within the charging CAZ to support costs of upgrading eligible HGVs.  

HGV respondents were asked who they think should be prioritised for the support. Almost two‐fifths 

(38%) said that smaller companies should be prioritised and 24% said another response not on the 

list. Responses provided were:  

 

 

 

 

 

   

                                                            
 

3 At the time of the consultation there were no Clean Vehicle Retrofit Approval Schemes (CVRAS) accredited for HGV retrofit solutions. 

 

 22% of business respondents were classed as a HGV driver, 

operative or owner 

 Over half (56%) stated that their usual vehicle replacement 

cycle is between 5 and 10 years 

 57% of operators stated they already had Euro VI vehicles in 

their fleet, but only 38% of all vehicles in respondents’ fleets 

were Euro VI 

 53% stated that by 2020 less than half of their HGV fleet will 

be Euro VI and only 6 of 43 respondents suggested 100% of 

their vehicles would be compliant in 2020 

 

“Operators who deliver into the CAZ who cannot afford to upgrade in time.” 

“There is no retrofit and will be extremely unlikely a cost effective one will exist in 18 

months.” 

“Supporting improvements beyond Euro VI for all operators; gas & electric.” 

Base size ‐ 43 

22% 

Page 212



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 50 

38%

19%

19%

24%

Smaller companies only

All HGV operatives on a first come
first served basis

Only those with the worst polluting
engines (Euro IV and below)

Other

Figure 29: Who do you think should be prioritised for this support?  

Base size ‐ 42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HGV respondents were then asked how likely they would be to apply for grant funding if a solution 

was readily available.  

 The majority (84%) said they would be very (67%) or fairly (19%) likely to apply for grant funding. 

Hence although there are challenges for HGV operators to make their vehicles compliant, drivers 

and operators seem willing to take action if the support and solutions are available.   

 

Figure 30: If you were eligible for grant funding and a solution was available, would you apply? 

Base size ‐ 43 

 

 

 

 

 

   

67% 16% 5% 5% 7%

Very likely Fairly likely Neither likely or unlikely Not very likely Not likely at all Don't know

84%

Total likely

Page 213



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 51 

Section 5c: Buses and coaches 

 

 

 

 

Public  buses  have  been  awarded  funding  from  the  governments’  Clean  Bus  Technology  (CBTF)4. 

Within  the  scope of  the  funding,  the CBTF  grant will be prioritised  towards delivering  air quality 

improvements in key areas across West Yorkshire5.  

Bus and coach respondents were asked how  the grants  for retrofit solutions should be prioritised 

amongst organisations that provide transport service in Leeds. Due to the small sample size achieved 

for this group the results have been presented in Table 5. Further analysis of the ‘other suggestions’ 

response  suggests  that  the majority  response was  that  the allocation  should be applied on a per 

vehicle basis to all licensed operators. 

Six respondents suggested other options not listed such as:  

 

 
   

                                                            
 

4 Authorising a retrofit to a minimum of 231 buses across West Yorkshire.  
5 The BGTF grant consists of three tiers: Tier 1: The Leeds charging CAZ, granted priority over Tier 2 – air quality management area granted 

priority over Tier 3 – the rest of West Yorkshire. 

 

“Prioritise businesses most impacted by the CAZ.” 

“Based on the frequencies of vehicles going into the CAZ area.” 

“To all coach operators including people outside of Leeds who have contracts.” 

8% 

Base size ‐ 19 

 

 8% of business respondents were classed as a bus or 

coach driver, operative or owner 

 Of these, 13 (68%) were located outside of Leeds, but 

travel into Leeds as part of their business operation 

Page 214



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 52 

Table  5:  How  should  the  allocation  of  grants  for  retrofit  solutions  be  prioritised  amongst 

organisations who provide transport services in Leeds?  

  Count  % 

Other suggestions  6  33% 

For all coach and non‐scheduled bus operatives on a first come first served basis  4  22% 

For smaller coach and non‐scheduled bus operatives only  3  17% 

For all coach and non‐scheduled bus operatives with the worst polluting vehicles 
(pending technology availability) 

2  11% 

Don't know  2  11% 

For all coach and non‐scheduled bus operatives providing services to vulnerable 
groups 

1  6% 

Total  18  100% 

 

Respondents were then asked if they were eligible for a grant for a retrofit solution would they take 

up the offer. Thirteen respondents said they that they would.  

Table 6: If eligible, would you take up the offer of grant supported retrofit solutions?  

  Count  % 

Yes  13  72% 

No  1  6% 

Don't know  4  22% 

Total  18  100% 

 

Page 215



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 53 

Section 6: The future of clean air ‐ 2030 ambition  

 

Leeds City Council is starting to plan what else they should do after the CAZ is in place. In the phase 1 

consultation  respondents  thought  that  reducing  air  pollution  should  be  a  priority.  The  phase  2 

consultation explored what the city should consider.  

Current proposals do not  include plans to charge non‐compliant private vehicles from entering the 

charging CAZ. The council wanted to explore if this is something they should consider in the future.  

 Two  thirds  (62%)  of  respondents  said  they  should  consider  charging  non‐compliant  private 

vehicles either by 2025 (44%) or by 2030 (18%). A third (35%) felt that they shouldn’t be charged 

 When  compared  by  respondent  type,  results  are  fairly  consisted  across  businesses  and  non‐

businesses at 63% and 62% respectively stating non‐compliant private vehicles should be charged 

 During phase 1, just under half (45%) of respondents felt that non‐compliant private cars should 

be charged 

 This sentiment was also reflected in the comments provided to the open question: ‘Do you have 

any  other  ideas  that  you  want  us  to  consider  to  improve  the  air  quality  in  Leeds?’  where 

‘discouraging driving and tackling private vehicles too’ was one of the most frequent responses 

(17 of 134 respondents noted this). 

 

   

 Overall,  62%  of  respondents  felt  that  the  council  should  consider  charging  non‐

compliant private vehicles in the future 

 Just over a quarter (26%) of respondents overall want cars and vans being charged  if 

they  don’t meet  CAZ  rules  introduced  as  soon  as  possible,  10%  said  it  should  be 

introduced by 2020, 17% by 2025 and 17% by 2030. 27% didn’t support this action at all 

Over half  (56%) of  respondents agreed  that cars  should not be allowed  into  the city 

centre when pollution is expected to be high. A similar amount (51%) also agreed with 

one car free day a month  

 Overall  agreement with ULEVs only being  allowed  in  the  city during  certain  periods 

ranges from 40% to 51% stating they agree; days when pollution is expected to be high 

had the highest agreement 

Page 216



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 54 

44%

49%

44%

18%

14%

18%

35%

32%

35%

Overall (n=3,429)

Business (n=197)

Non‐business
(n=3,332)

Yes, by 2025 Yes, by 2030 No, I do not think we should include all cars and vans I don't know

Figure 31: Should the council consider charging non‐compliant private vehicles in the future?  

Base size – 3,429 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The current proposals do not include any plans to ban vehicles from the city centre. To explore this, 

respondents were asked how much they agree with cars not being allowed in the city centre during 

certain periods.  

 Just under six out of ten (56%) of respondents agreed that cars should not be allowed into the city 

centre when pollution levels are expected to the high with 33% stating they agree strongly or 23% 

fairly agree. 

 This was followed by just over half (51%) of respondents agreeing that the city should consider 

one car free day a month, with either 18% strongly or 14% fairly agreeing 

 Respondents were more likely to disagree with the council considering not allowing cars in every 

Saturday; with 61% disagreeing and Sunday with 60% disagreeing 

 When  compared  by  respondent  type,  the  proportions  agreeing  and  disagreeing  are  fairly 

consistent across all options; although a higher proportion of business respondents stating they 

weren’t sure  

 

 

 

 

 

62%

Total yes 

63%

62%

Page 217



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 55 

Figure 32: How much do you agree with cars not being allowed  in the city centre during certain 

periods? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respondents were then asked how much they agree with Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) only 

being allowed into the city centre during certain periods.  

 Overall agreement with ULEVs only being allowed in the city during certain periods ranges from 

40% to 51% stating they agree; the highest agreement being when days are predicated to have 

high levels of pollution 

 When compared by respondent type, businesses are slightly less in agreement for all options, but 

this  is  because  there  are  higher  proportions  stating  they  weren’t  sure  compared  to  non‐

businesses. 

 

   

33%

29%

33%

18%

15%

18%

19%

15%

19%

19%

15%

19%

31%

25%

31%

25%

27%

25%

23%

21%

24%

14%

9%

15%

15%

12%

15%

17%

12%

18%

20%

16%

20%

18%

16%

18%

19%

15%

19%

34%

33%

34%

33%

32%

33%

31%

30%

31%

19%

20%

19%

26%

20%

26%

20%

23%

19%

27%

30%

27%

26%

29%

26%

26%

30%

26%

22%

26%

22%

24%

27%

24%

6%

11%

5%

7%

12%

7%

7%

12%

7%

6%

13%

6%

8%

13%

7%

7%

11%

7%

Overall (n=3,473)

Business (n=192)

Non‐business (n=3,281)

Overall (n=3,377)

Business (n=181)

Non‐business (n=3,196)

Overall (n=3,382)

Business (n=182)

Non‐business (n=3,200)

Overall (n=3,356)

Business (n=176)

Non‐business (n=3,180)

Overall (n=3,376)

Business (n=179)

Non‐business (n=3,197)

Overall (n=3,420)

Business (n=188)

Non‐business (n=3,232)

W
h
en

p
o
llu
ti
o
n
 is

ex
p
ec
te
d
 t
o

b
e 
h
ig
h

Ev
e
ry

Sa
tu
rd
ay

Ev
e
ry
 S
u
n
d
ay

B
an
k

H
o
lid
ay
s

O
n
e 
ca
r 
fr
ee

d
ay
 a
 m

o
n
th

D
u
ri
n
g 
p
ea
k

ti
m
es

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree Don't know

56%

Overall total 
agreement 

32%

33%

36%

51%

43%

Page 218



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 56 

Figure 33: In the future, how much do you agree that only ULEVs should be allowed in the city centre 

during certain periods? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respondents were then asked, of all the options when they think the council should have them up 

and running by.  

 Just over a quarter (26%) of respondents overall want cars and vans being charged if they don’t 

meet CAZ rules introduced as soon as possible, 10% said it should be introduced by 2020, 17% by 

2025 and 17% by 2030. Whilst 27% didn’t support this action at all 

 Overall a third (32%) of respondents felt that car free days  in the city should be  introduced as 

soon as possible; 13% said it should be introduced by 2020 and 10% by 2025. A third (33%) didn’t 

support this action as all 

 Overall a fifth (20%) said only allowing ULEV, hybrid etc. in the city should be introduced as soon 

as possible, 15% said by 2025 and 17% said by 2030. Almost  two‐fifths  (36%) said  they didn’t 

support this action 

22%

19%

22%

21%

20%

22%

29%

23%

30%

26%

21%

26%

18%

14%

18%

19%

17%

19%

22%

20%

22%

19%

17%

20%

26%

24%

26%

26%

22%

26%

19%

17%

19%

22%

22%

22%

26%

26%

26%

26%

27%

26%

24%

26%

24%

25%

25%

25%

8%

16%

7%

8%

15%

8%

6%

14%

6%

8%

14%

7%

Overall (n=3,445)

Business (n=190)

Non‐business (n=3,255)

Overall (n=3,442)

Business (n=189)

Non‐business (n=3,253)

Overall (n=3,382)

Business (n=190)

Non‐business (n=3,292)

Overall (n=3,469)

Business (n=189)

Non‐business (n=3,280)

O
n
 w
e
ek
en

d
s

D
u
ri
n
g 
th
e 
w
ee
kd
ay

D
ay
s 
w
h
en

 p
o
llu
ti
o
n

is
 p
re
d
ic
te
d
 t
o
 b
e

h
ig
h

D
u
ri
n
g 
p
e
ak
 t
im

es

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly Disagree Don't know

40%

40%

51%

45%

Overall total 
agreement 

Page 219



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 57 

 The majority of businesses marginally favoured action albeit spread between as soon as possible 

and before 2030, but a significant chunk of the responses did not support additional action.  

 

Figure 34: When do you think we should have the above idea up and running?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lastly respondents were asked if there was anything else Leeds City Council should consider to help 

improve air quality. Overall, 2,163 respondents left a valid comment, with the most common themes 

being changes to public transport (41%), improvements to cycling (15%) and improvements to traffic 

flow (12%).  

 

Businesses echoed the responses from non‐business respondents.  There was significant support for 

public  transport:  27  out  of  134  business  respondents  proposed  investing  in  or  improving  public 

transport, or encouraging people to use public transport more. This was particularly common amongst 

HGVs, LGVs and ‘other’ businesses. Businesses also pointed to the fact that the level of congestion is 

26%

20%

27%

32%

20%

33%

20%

13%

20%

10%

13%

10%

13%

11%

14%

8%

9%

8%

17%

20%

17%

10%

11%

10%

15%

17%

14%

17%

12%

17%

7%

7%

7%

17%

15%

17%

27%

31%

27%

33%

43%

32%

36%

41%

36%

4%

4%

8%

4%

4%

6%

4%

Overall (n=3,516)

Business (n=196)

Non‐business (n=3,320)

Overall (n=3,486)

Business (n=190)

Non‐business (n=3,296)

Overall (n=3,500)

Business (n=192)

Non‐business (n=3,308)

A
ll 
ca
rs
 a
n
d
 v
an
s 
b
ei
n
g 
 

ch
ar
ge
d
 if
 t
h
ey
 d
o
n
’t
 m

ee
t 

C
A
Z 
ru
le
s

H
av
in
g 
ca
r 
fr
ee

 d
ay
s 
in
 t
h
e

ci
ty

O
n
ly
 a
llo
w
in
g 
U
LE
V
, h
yb
ri
d

et
c.
 in

 t
h
e
 c
it
y

As soon as possible By 2020 By 2025 By 2030 Don't support additional actions Don't know

Page 220



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 58 

very high around the city (29 of 134 suggested improving traffic flow, reducing traffic and changing 

the rules of the road (e.g. speed limits) and it is repeatedly mentioned that this should be fixed before 

pursuing more ‘radical’ charging options. Other common suggestions from businesses were: 

 Discouraging driving and tackling private vehicles too (17 of 134 responses) 

 Improve park and ride services and/or car parking (12 of 134) 

 Switch council vehicle fleet and/or public transport to hybrid, electric or green (11 of 134) 

 Improving or charging cycle ways, paths, facilities and safety (11 of 134) 

 Incentivise  and/or  encourage  green  vehicles  (e.g.  can  use  bus  lanes,  free/cheaper  parking, 

scrappage schemes, 10 of 134) 

 Tackle other large sources of pollution, such as heating systems and the airport (10 of 134). 

 

   

Page 221



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 59 

Table 7: Breakdown of additional comments 

  Count %

Invest in/improve/encourage the use of public transport  887  41% 

Improve or change cycleways/paths/facilities  325  15% 

Improve traffic flow/reduce traffic/change road rules  258  12% 

Discourage driving/tackle private vehicles too/tackle high emission vehicles  206  10% 

Other  202  9% 

Improve park & ride services/car parking  200  9% 

Councils vehicle fleet/public transport should be low emission   188  9% 

Encourage cycling/walking/active travel   182  8% 

Generally not happy with proposal/consultation/don't penalise drivers/don't want it 
to progress to private cars in future 

181  8% 

Problems with suggested charges/will be passed on to customers  139  6% 

More greenery/green spaces  135  6% 

Town planning/road improvements  121  6% 

Tackle businesses/large vehicles/airport/other sources of pollution/heating systems  113  5% 

Incentivise/encourage green vehicles e.g. can use bus lanes, free/cheaper parking, 
scrappage schemes 

98  5% 

Stop engines idling  93  4% 

Extend CAZ  83  4% 

Grants/scheme to change car  66  3% 

Education/awareness needed  62  3% 

Longer implementation period/exemptions  60  3% 

Low emissions vehicles (ULEV)/electric/green cars too expensive  59  3% 

Electric charging/H2 fuel points  57  3% 

Car free zones/low emissions zones  48  2% 

Ban wood/coal/other burning  47  2% 

Act now/get on with it  47  2% 

More information/research needed  40  2% 

Encourage working from home/staggered working hours/policies for businesses  34  2% 

Car sharing  27  1% 

Encourage motorcycle usage  23  1% 

Congestion charge  18  1% 

Smoke free zones/reduce smoking  18  1% 

Will just displace pollution elsewhere  17  1% 

Air quality information in public spaces/to show improvements  16  1% 

Generally good idea  16  1% 

Area is too large  12  1% 

 

 

   

Page 222



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 60 

A selection of comments is shown below. 

 Invest in/improve/encourage the use of public transport  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Improve or change cycleways/paths/facilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Improve traffic flow/reduce traffic/change road rules 

 

 

 

 

 

“Better quality cycling and e‐bike infrastructure 
and business providing appropriate facilities for 

their staff to cycle to work. Improvements to cycle 
to work schemes.” 

“If public transport was greatly improved, 
larger trains etc., I believe this would have 

a great impact on improving the air 
quality as people would be encouraged 

not to use their cars.” 

“A serious public transport network. 
That is the only way people will give up 
driving to Leeds. Tram, monorail or 
underground is the only way this city 

will move forwards.” 

“Improve focus on quality public transport 
that is reliable and affordable, while 

improving the journey to work in terms of 
speed and comfort.  Currently, public 

transport in Leeds is often overcrowded and 
is very expensive for the quality of the 

journey and the time it takes. While there 
have been steps taken in North Leeds 
regarding effective bus lanes, the same 
cannot be said in South Leeds where bus 

travel at peak times into the city centre is an 
excruciating journey.”

“Do more than at present to enhance cycling within the city. At present, many arterial 
routes into the city (ones for which there is no realistic alternative, such as Roundhay 

Road) are dangerous ‐ potholes, badly maintained road furniture, parked cars, 
unlawfully speeding motor vehicles, lack of ASLs. I know people who would cycle as a 

commute if the routes were substantially less life‐threatening than at present. 
Superhighways are fine but must always be restricted to routes where there is space 
for them. The Council needs to do far more than at present and in recent years to 

improve the narrower and more awkward arterial routes.” 

“Traffic lights need to be timed to 
coordinate better to allow traffic to 
flow more efficiently. Roads need to 
be looked at or redesigned to prevent 
pinch points, for example where two 

lanes merge into one.” 

“Arrange for traffic lights to be 
sequenced in congested areas to 
avoid stopping traffic backing up 
and blocking other junctions.” 

Page 223



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 61 

 Discourage driving/tackle private vehicles too/tackle high emission vehicles 

 

 
“It would be better to have a blanket 
ban on non‐certain vehicles in the 
city centre than to have different 
rules at different times affecting 
different types of non‐compliant 
vehicles in different zones. You are 
just moving the problem around and 

potentially adversely impacting 
specific groups of people instead of 
changing practice more generally.” 

“Whilst I am all in favour of a CAZ, I 
think there also needs to be an inner 
city CAZ that targets private cars. My 
guess would be that a significant 

amount of Leeds' air pollution comes 
from commuters stuck in slow moving 
traffic during rush hour periods in the 
morning and evening. Commuters, 
especially those who work in the city 
centre, need to be persuaded more to 
leave their cars either at home, train 
stations or park and ride facilities.” 

Page 224



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 62 

Conclusions 

The CAZ boundary 

Overall, a greater proportion of respondents agreed (44%) that the proposal to reduce the charging 

CAZ boundary is a good idea, than those that disagreed (36%), whilst a significant proportion (20%) 

were unsure.  The majority of businesses feel that reducing the CAZ area is a good idea (60%), with 

56% believing the proposal would reduce the impact on businesses. This suggests that the proposed 

reduction in the charging CAZ size would be acceptable. 

Charges to enter the CAZ  

Non‐business respondents were generally more likely to agree the proposed charges were ‘just right’ 

for all vehicle types, while businesses were more likely to feel the revised charges were still ‘too high’, 

even though they had been reduced. Nevertheless, almost six in ten businesses (58%) agreed that the 

reduced charges would reduce the impact on businesses.  

 

Looking at the specific vehicle types, the most negative response on the charge levels was for buses, 

where overall a majority of 43% of respondents felt the proposed charges for buses was ‘too high’, 

suggesting a concern about the impacts on the provision of this mode of public transport and/or the 

potential knock‐on  impacts  to public  transport users, who may  in  turn revert  to private modes of 

travel. That said, 35% felt they proposed charges were ‘just right’ and 14% felt that charges were ‘too 

low’. 

 

The  response  for other  vehicle modes was more balanced,  suggesting  these  levels of  charge  are 

appropriate. The greatest proportion of respondents felt that the charges for HGVs were ‘just right’ 

(35%). However, around approximately three in ten felt they were ‘too low’ (30%) or ‘too high’ (27%).   

 

Overall,  taxis and private hire vehicles had  the  largest proportion of agreement with  the charges 

being ‘just right’ (46%) compared to the other vehicle categories. This was followed by 43% overall 

stating they felt the charges for coaches were ‘just right’ (whist 31% felt they were ‘too high’).  

What else Leeds can do to reduce air pollution? 

Additional measures to further reduce the level of air pollution were well favoured by respondents. 

Respondent felt the best place for anti‐idling signs would be outside schools, at taxi ranks and areas 

prone to traffic jams. Close to three quarters of respondents (74%) would like to see more electric 

charging points in and around Leeds. Popular suggestions for the location of these were at car parks 

Page 225



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 63 

or on street parking areas and supermarkets and shopping areas. Whilst half (50%) said they would 

consider getting an electric vehicle if there were more charging locations. Real time air pollution level 

information was valued by two thirds (67%) of respondents.  

 

Respondents were invited to comment on what other measures Leeds should consider to improve air 

quality. Commonly mentioned were  improving the public transport system,  improving or changing 

cycle ways, paths and other facilities and improving traffic flow through the city.  

Including non‐compliant private vehicles 

Overall around two thirds  (62%) said  that  in the  future  the council should consider charging non‐

compliant private vehicles, with businesses being more likely to favour this option. Looking at when 

this should be introduced, overall, 44% said by 2025 and 18% said by 2030.  

What can Leeds do to help businesses? 

Seven  out  of  ten  (70%)  agreed  that  their  supplier  and/or  customers would  be  affected  by  the 

implementation of the CAZ, whilst 22% weren’t sure.  Those respondents with more compliant fleets 

still felt that the CAZ would impact suppliers and customers albeit with a lower majority than those 

with dirtier fleets. 

 

The majority (81%) of businesses felt that there should be a short lead in period where no charges 

should take place. Around half (51%) of business agreed that such a short lead in period would reduce 

the impact on businesses.  

 

Just over half (54%) of businesses felt that support packages would reduce the impact on businesses. 

 

Nearly half (49%) of business respondents felt there should be exemptions and sunset periods to the 

charging scheme but with such a high proportion of ‘don’t know’ responses it appears more detail is 

required about what a  sunset period means6.   Free  text  fields  indicated  that  there was a  lack of 

understanding on the CAZ charging system as many respondents suggested exemptions for vehicles 

that would not be subject to the charge including cars and Euro 6 vehicles.  

                                                            
 

6 
 Sunset periods commonly refer to that a policy has a fixed timeline and will not be implemented after a certain date. The 

questionnaire stated that it is a delay to a charge being applied if you meet certain agreed rules and ‘exemptions’ where 
you will not be charged if you have certain types of vehicle    

Page 226



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 64 

Half  (50%) of business agreed  that a sunset period and exemptions would  reduce  the  impact on 

businesses. It should be noted that a higher proportions of respondents stated that they weren’t sure 

what impacts sunset periods or exemptions would have for both aspects at 23% and 18% respectively.  

 

   

Page 227



                            

     
 

                                                 Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services            Page 65 

 
 

Questionnaire 

Copies of the questionnaires are available on request. 

Appendix A:  Data tables  

Appendix B:  Summary of non‐survey responses 

Appendix C:  Lessons Learnt: Phase 1 and phase 2 of the CAZ 
consultation 

Appendix D:  Consultation Activity Log 

 

 

 

   

Appendices 

Page 228



     
 

                                                     Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services          Page 66 
 

Appendix A: Data tables 
 

Table B1: How did you hear about the consultation? [tick all that apply] 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Email 50% 1751 51% 100 50% 1651

Postcard 16% 553 4% 8 16% 545

Electronic road signs 15% 528 12% 24 15% 504

Facebook 14% 477 9% 18 14% 459

Leeds.gov.uk website 11% 390 17% 34 11% 356

Word of mouth 10% 363 26% 52 9% 311

Posters/Banners 7% 258 5% 10 7% 248

Twitter 4% 131 3% 6 4% 125

Radio 3% 112 4% 8 3% 104

Newspaper 3% 96 3% 6 3% 90

Television 3% 88 5% 9 2% 79

Other website 3% 99 4% 7 3% 92

Other, please specify below 2% 84 7% 14 2% 70

LinkedIn 1% 29 4% 7 1% 22

Base 100% 3517 100% 198 100% 3319

Business Non‐businessOverall

P
age 229



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 67 

Table B2: Did you take part in the previous consultation that took place between 2nd Jan – 2nd Mar 2018, either by filling in a questionnaire or by attending 
any of the events? [tick all that apply] 
 

 
 
Table B3: Are you responding as a business? 
 

 
 
Table B4: Do you live in Leeds? (Do you pay your Council Tax to Leeds City Council) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Yes, filled in questionnaire 52% 1846 48% 96 53% 1750

Yes, attended event 2% 78 12% 24 2% 54

No 22% 793 26% 52 22% 741

I was not aware of the first consultation 24% 857 23% 46 24% 811

Base 100% 3526 100% 199 100% 3327

Overall Business Non‐business

% Count 

Yes 6% 199

No 94% 3337

Base 100% 3536

Overall

% Count 

Yes 87% 2898

No 13% 426

Base 100% 3324

Overall

P
age 230



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 68 

Table B5: Do you work in Leeds? 
 

 
 
 
Table B6: If you do not live in Leeds, do you visit Leeds? 

 
 
Table B7: Which best describes your business 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count 

Yes 82% 351

No 18% 75

Base 100% 426

Overall

% Count 

Yes 100% 75

No 0% 0

Base 100% 75

Overall

% Count 

Responding as a business or in a professional capacity located in Leeds 67% 131

Responding as a business or in a professional capacity located outside of Leed 26% 51

None of the above 7% 13

Base 100% 195

Business

P
age 231



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 69 

Table B8: Are you any of the following? [tick all that apply] 
 

 
 
Table B9: You selected coach driver, operative or owner. Which of the following Euro Standards do your coach(es) meet? 
 

 
 
 

% Count 

HGV driver, operative or owner 22% 43

Taxi/private hire driver, operative or owner 19% 38

Van driver, operative or owner 19% 38

Coach driver, operative or owner 8% 15

Bus driver, operative or owner 2% 4

None of the above 40% 79

Base 100% 199

Business

% Count 

Below Euro III 20% 3

Euro III 33% 5

Euro IV 53% 8

Euro V 47% 7

Euro VI 40% 6

Below Euro III WAV 13% 2

Euro III WAV 20% 3

Euro IV WAV 7% 1

Euro V WAV 20% 3

Euro VI WAV 27% 4

None of the above 7% 1

Base 100% 15

Coach

P
age 232



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 70 

Table B10: You selected bus driver, operative or owner. Do you drive, operate or own…? 
 

 
 
Table B11: You selected bus. Which of the following Euro Standards do your bus(es) meet? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count 

Bus 75% 3

Minibus 25% 1

Base 100% 4

Bus

% Count 

Below Euro III 0% 0

Euro III 67% 2

Euro IV 33% 1

Euro V 67% 2

Euro VI 67% 2

None of the above 33% 1

Base 100% 3

Bus

P
age 233



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 71 

Table B12: You selected minibus. Which of the following Euro Standards do your bus(es) meet? 
 

 
 
 
Table B13: You selected HGV driver, operative or owner. Which of the following Euro Standards do your HGV(s) meet? 
 

 
 

% Count 

Below Euro III 0% 3

Euro III 100% 1

Euro IV 100% 1

Euro V 100% 1

Euro VI 100% 1

Below Euro III WAV 0% 0

Euro III WAV 0% 0

Euro IV WAV 0% 0

Euro V WAV 100% 1

Euro VI WAV 100% 1

None of the above 0% 0

Base 100% 1

Bus

% Count 

Below Euro III 7% 3

Euro III 21% 9

Euro IV 43% 18

Euro V 67% 28

Euro VI 57% 24

None of the above 5% 2

Base 100% 42

HGV

P
age 234



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 72 

 
Table B14: By 2020, what proportion of your HGV fleet would be Euro VI? 
 

 
 
Table B15: You selected van driver, operative or owner. How many vans do you operate? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count 

Less than 25% 26% 11

25% ‐ 50% 28% 12

50% ‐ 75% 2% 1

75% ‐ 99% 14% 6

100% 14% 6

Don't know 16% 7

Base 100% 43

HGV

% Count 

1 ‐ 10 86% 30

11 ‐ 20 3% 1

21 ‐ 30 0% 0

31 ‐ 40 3% 1

41 ‐ 50 3% 1

50+ 6% 2

Base 100% 35

HGV

P
age 235



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 73 

Table B16: Do you think reducing the size of the proposed charging CAZ boundary is a good idea? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Yes 44% 1543 60% 118 43% 1425

No  36% 1269 27% 53 37% 1216

Don't know 20% 700 14% 27 20% 673

Base 100% 3512 100% 198 100% 3314

Non‐businessOverall Business

P
age 236



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 74 

Table B17: For the below, please tell us how you feel about the revised pricing charge? 
 

 
 
 

Too high Just right Too low
Don't 

know
Base

% 43% 35% 14% 7% 100%

Count  1517 1241 505 236 3499

% 55% 28% 7% 9% 100%

Count  99 50 13 17 179

% 43% 36% 15% 7% 100%

Count  1418 1191 492 219 3320

% 31% 43% 19% 7% 100%

Count  1077 1499 644 249 3469

% 52% 33% 8% 7% 100%

Count  93 58 14 13 178

% 30% 44% 19% 7% 100%

Count  984 1441 630 236 3291

% 30% 46% 17% 7% 100%

Count  1050 1611 585 242 3488

% 47% 37% 8% 8% 100%

Count  87 69 15 14 185

% 29% 47% 17% 7% 100%

Count  963 1542 570 228 3303

% 27% 35% 30% 7% 100%

Count  941 1226 1049 257 3473

% 51% 30% 10% 8% 100%

Count  94 55 19 15 183%

% 26% 36% 31% 7% 100%

Count  847 1171 1030 242 3290

Non‐

business

Buses

Coaches

Taxis & Private Hire

Non‐

business

Overall

Business

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

HGVs

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Overall

BusinessP
age 237



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 75 

Table B18: Do you agree or disagree that the following vehicles or circumstances should be exempt at this stage? 

 

Agree Disagree
Don't 

know
Base

% 47% 45% 8% 100%

Count  1655 1577 276 3508

% 47% 41% 12% 100%

Count  91 80 24 195

% 47% 45% 8% 100%

Count  1564 1497 252 3313

% 73% 21% 6% 100%

Count  2546 740 206 3492

% 62% 26% 11% 100%

Count  120 51 22 193

% 74% 21% 6% 100%

Count  2426 689 184 3299

% 64% 32% 4% 100%

Count  2223 1127 149 3499

% 55% 38% 7% 100%

Count  107 74 14 195

% 64% 32% 4% 100%

Count  2116 1053 135 3304

% 65% 22% 13% 100%

Count  2272 754 469 3495

% 66% 21% 13% 100%

Count  131 42 25 198

% 65% 22% 13% 100%

Count  2141 712 444 3297

% 88% 8% 4% 100%

Count  3101 269 138 3508

% 84% 12% 4% 100%

Count  163 23 8 194

% 89% 7% 4% 100%

Count  2938 246 130 3314

Diversions on the 

road network

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

School buses

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Where there is lack 

of market capacity

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Showmen's guild 

vehicles

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Vintage buses (non 

commercial)

Overall

Business

Non‐

businessP
age 238



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 76 

Table B19: Should there be a rule that allows exemptions/sunset periods to be granted as a result of a case‐by‐case basis? 
 

 
 
Table B20: We are considering a short lead‐in period where no charges will take place. Do you think this is a good idea? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes No
Don't 

know
Base

% 36% 28% 37% 100%

Count  1238 971 1273 3482

% 46% 25% 29% 100%

Count  90 48 57 195

% 35% 28% 37% 100%

Count  1148 923 1216 3287

% 37% 26% 37% 100%

Count  1287 888 1268 3443

% 49% 23% 28% 100%

Count  91 42 52 185

% 37% 26% 37% 100%

Count  1196 846 1216 3258

Exempt vehicles

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Sunset periods

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

% Count 

Yes 81% 157

No  14% 28

Don't know 5% 10

Base 100% 195

Business

P
age 239



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 77 

Table B21: Do you know if your suppliers and/or customers will be affected by the implementation of the charging CAZ? 
 

 
 
Table B22: Do you agree or disagree that the following vehicles should be eligible for a sunset period at this stage? – Taxis & Private Hire only 
 

 
 
Table B23: You selected taxi/private hire driver, operative or owner. Are you currently paying off your vehicle as part of a finance agreement?  
 

 
 

% Count 

Yes 70% 137

No  9% 17

Don't know 22% 43

Base 100% 197

Business

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Agree 79% 30 76% 28 86% 32

Disagree 11% 4 16% 6 8% 3

Don't know 11% 4 8% 3 5% 2

Base 100% 38 100% 37 100% 37

Those that already 

meet the European 

emission Euro 6 

standard

Vehicles still in 

finance packages

Wheelchair 

accessible vehicles

% Count 

Yes 28% 10

No  72% 26

Base 100% 36

Taxis & Private Hire

P
age 240



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 78 

Table B24: Leeds City Council intends to provide grant assistance help for existing licensed drivers exchanging a high emission vehicle for a low emission 
petrol hybrid or electric vehicle with driver licensing fees, DVLA and DBS checks, licensing checks, vehicle sticker conditions, meter checks and fitting. How 
useful would you find this type of assistance alongside the introduction of the charging CAZ?  
 

 
 
Table B25: Leeds City Council is also considering making interest free loans available to drivers that want to purchase a vehicle that will not be charged when 
entering or travelling within the CAZ. If you were eligible for the interest free loan, how interested would you be to take up this offer?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count 

Very useful 58% 22

Fairly useful 5% 2

Not very useful 16% 6

Not at all useful 13% 5

I don't know 8% 3

Base 100% 38

Taxis & Private Hire

% Count 

Very interested 66% 25

Fairly interested 16% 6

Neither interested or disinterested 3% 1

Not very interested 3% 1

Not at all interested 8% 3

Don't know 5% 2

Base 100% 38

Taxis & Private Hire

P
age 241



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 79 

Table B26: If vehicle licensing conditions were tightened by only permitting licence approval for petrol hybrid or electric vehicles, to what level do you agree 
this would encourage higher standard vehicles in your sector?  
 

 
 
Table B27: Would the extending of the age and inspection criteria for petrol hybrid and electric vehicles, encourage you to purchase and/or register / licence 
your vehicle in order to help you to meet the higher vehicle standard required as part of the CAZ?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count 

Strongly agree 24% 9

Agree 16% 6

Neither agree nor disagree 21% 8

Disagree 11% 4

Strongly disagree 18% 7

Don't know 11% 4

Base 100% 38

Taxis & Private Hire

% Count 

Very useful 59% 22

Fairly useful 19% 7

Not very useful 3% 1

Not at all useful 8% 3

Don't know 11% 4

Base 100% 37

Taxis & Private Hire

P
age 242



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 80 

Table B28: We may be able to get grant funding to help affected organisations located within the CAZ, to support with the costs of upgrading eligible HGVs 
to a Euro 6 with a retrofit solution. Who do you think we should prioritise for this support?  
 

 
 
Table B29: If you were eligible for grant funding assistance, and a solution was readily available, would you apply for the grant?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count 

Smaller companies only 38% 16

All HGV operatives on a first come first served basis 19% 8

Only those with the worst polluting engines (Euro 4 and above) 19% 8

Other suggestions (please specify below) 24% 10

Don't know 0% 0

Base 100% 42

HGV

% Count 

Very likely 67% 29

Fairly likely 16% 7

Neither likely or unlikely 5% 2

Not very likely 0% 0

Not likely at all 5% 2

Don't know 7% 3

Base 100% 43

HGV

P
age 243



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 81 

Table B30: How should the allocation of grant support for retrofit solutions be prioritised amongst those companies who provide transport services in 
Leeds?  
 

 
 
Table B31: If you are eligible for grant support for retrofit solutions, would you take up this offer? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count 

For all coach and non scheduled bus operatives on a first come first served 

basis 22%
4

For smaller coach and non scheduled bus operatives only 17% 3

For all coach and non scheduled bus operatives with the worst polluting 

vehicles (pending technology availability) 11%
2

For all coach and non scheduled bus operatives providing services to 

vulnerable groups 6%
1

Other suggestions (please specify below) 33% 6

Don't know 11% 2

Base 100% 18

Buses & Coaches

% Count 

Yes 72% 13

No 6% 1

Don't know 22% 4

Base 100% 18

Buses & Coaches

P
age 244



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 82 

Table B32: What do you think that the impact on businesses will be since we have reduced the boundary, reduced the CAZ daily charges, and propose to 
introduce exemptions, sunset periods, a lead‐in period and support packages offered? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Increase 

the 

impact

Reduce 

the 

impact

Stay the 

same

I don't 

know
Base

% 7% 58% 25% 10% 100%

Count  14 115 50 20 199

% 8% 56% 26% 10% 100%

Count  16 110 52 19 197

% 6% 50% 29% 15% 100%

Count  12 98 58 29 197

% 5% 51% 30% 14% 100%

Count  10 98 58 28 194

% 7% 50% 28% 15% 100%

Count  13 99 55 30 197

% 7% 54% 18% 21% 100%

Count  13 106 35 42 196
Support packages

Sunset period

Reduced charges

Reduced boundary

Exemptions

Lead‐in period

P
age 245



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 83 

Table B33: One of the ways we want to let people know about turning off their engines is by putting anti‐idling signs up around the city. Which of the 
following places do you feel that we should put signs up that would make the most difference? Please pick your top 3 choices 
 

 
 
Table B34: Do you want to see more charge points made available in Leeds? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Outside schools 74% 2568 73% 139 74% 2429

At taxi ranks 46% 1587 46% 87 46% 1500

At bus stops / stations 28% 966 31% 60 28% 906

Outside care / nursing homes 5% 181 2% 4 5% 177

Carparks / waiting areas 32% 1105 28% 54 32% 1051

Parades of local shops 24% 824 18% 35 24% 789

Loading Bays 11% 366 12% 22 10% 344

Areas of known queuing traffic / traffic jams 58% 2009 55% 106 58% 1903

Any other areas, please specify below: 5% 157 6% 11 4% 146

Don't know 3% 114 5% 9 3% 105

Base 100% 3485 100% 198 100% 3319

Business Non‐businessOverall

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Yes 74% 2590 63% 122 74% 2468

No 9% 318 9% 18 9% 300

Don't know 17% 607 28% 55 17% 552

Base 100% 3515 100% 195 100% 3320

Business Non‐businessOverall

P
age 246



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 84 

Table B35: How likely would you be to consider getting an electric vehicle if there were more charging locations across Leeds? 
 

 
 
Table B36: How useful would you find online information/electronic signage on roads letting you know if the pollution is high or is forecast to be high? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Very likely 18% 636 18% 36 18% 600

Fairly likely 32% 1110 20% 39 32% 1071

Not very likely 21% 726 21% 41 21% 685

Not at all likely 18% 638 27% 53 18% 585

Don't know 9% 332 11% 22 9% 310

Already have an electric vehicle 2% 76 3% 5 2% 71

Base 100% 3518 100% 196 100% 3322

Overall Business Non‐business

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Very useful 35% 1229 30% 58 35% 1171

Fairly useful 32% 1130 29% 56 32% 1074

Not very useful 17% 582 19% 37 16% 545

Not at all useful 14% 498 19% 38 14% 460

Don't know 2% 80 4% 7 2% 73

Base 100% 3519 100% 196 100% 3323

Overall Business Non‐business

P
age 247



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 85 

Table B37: Would your business consider submitting for funding to install electric charging points? 
 

 
 
Table B38: If your business was allocated funding, would you consider increasing the number of electric vehicles in your fleet as a result? 
 

 
 
Table B39: In the last consultation, 45% of people who responded agreed that private cars should be included in charging CAZ rules. Our proposals for 2020 
do not include plans to charge non‐compliant cars or vans. Should we consider charging them in the future? 
 

 
 
 
 

% Count 

Yes 26% 51

No 40% 78

Don't know 34% 67

Base 100% 196

Business

% Count 

Yes 34% 66

No 39% 76

Don't know 28% 54

Base 100% 196

Business

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Yes, by 2025 44% 1556 49% 97 44% 1459

Yes, by 2030 18% 621 14% 27 18% 594

No, I do not think we should include all cars and vans 35% 1243 32% 64 35% 1179

I don't know 3% 109 5% 9 3% 100

Base 100% 3529 100% 197 100% 3332

Business Non‐businessOverall

P
age 248



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 86 

 
Table B40: How much do you agree with cars not being allowed in the city centre during the following periods? 

 

Strongly 

agree
Agree Disagree

Strongly 

disagree

Don't 

know
Base

% 33% 23% 19% 20% 6% 100%

Count  1134 813 651 680 195 3473

% 29% 21% 15% 23% 11% 100%

Count  56 40 29 45 22 192

% 33% 24% 19% 19% 5% 100%

Count  1078 773 622 635 173 3281

% 18% 14% 34% 27% 7% 100%

Count  591 485 1148 911 242 3377

% 15% 9% 33% 30% 12% 100%

Count  28 17 60 54 22 181

% 18% 15% 34% 27% 7% 100%

Count  563 468 1088 857 220 3196

% 19% 15% 33% 26% 7% 100%

Count  630 498 1121 896 237 3382

% 15% 12% 32% 29% 12% 100%

Count  28 22 58 52 22 182

% 19% 15% 33% 26% 7% 100%

Count  602 476 1063 844 215 3200

% 19% 17% 31% 26% 6% 100%

Count  631 586 1046 883 210 3356

% 15% 12% 30% 30% 13% 100%

Count  27 21 53 52 23 176

% 19% 18% 31% 26% 6% 100%

Count  604 565 993 831 187 3180

% 31% 20% 19% 22% 8% 100%

Count  1042 683 655 736 260 3376

% 25% 16% 20% 26% 13% 100%

Count  44 29 36 46 24 179

% 31% 20% 19% 22% 7% 100%

Count  998 654 619 690 236 3197

% 25% 18% 26% 24% 7% 100%

Count  850 625 879 834 232 3420

% 27% 16% 20% 27% 11% 100%

Count  50 30 38 50 20 188

% 25% 18% 26% 24% 7% 100%

Count  800 595 841 784 212 3232

During peak times

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Bank Holidays

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

One car free day a 

month

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Every Saturday

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Every Sunday

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

When pollution is 

expected to be high

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

P
age 249



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 87 

 
Table B41: Our proposals for 2020 do not include plans to ban any vehicle from the city centre. In the future how much do you agree that we should 
consider allowing only ULEV cars in the city centre?  
 

 

Strongly 

agree
Agree Disagree

Strongly 

disagree

Don't 

know
Base

% 22% 18% 26% 26% 8% 100%

Count  767 614 905 894 265 3445

% 19% 14% 24% 26% 16% 100%

Count  37 27 46 50 30 190

% 22% 18% 26% 26% 7% 100%

Count  730 587 859 844 235 3255

% 21% 19% 26% 26% 8% 100%

Count  739 651 884 886 282 3442

% 20% 17% 22% 27% 15% 100%

Count  37 32 41 51 28 189

% 22% 19% 26% 26% 8% 100%

Count  702 619 843 835 254 3253

% 29% 22% 19% 24% 6% 100%

Count  1019 762 646 836 219 3482

% 23% 20% 17% 26% 14% 100%

Count  44 38 32 49 27 190

% 30% 22% 19% 24% 6% 100%

Count  975 724 614 787 192 3292

% 26% 19% 22% 25% 8% 100%

Count  889 675 774 868 263 3469

% 21% 17% 22% 25% 14% 100%

Count  40 33 41 48 27 189

% 26% 20% 22% 25% 7% 100%

Count  849 642 733 820 236 3280

Days when 

pollution is 

predicted to be 

high

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

During peak times

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

On weekends

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

During the 

weekday

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

P
age 250



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 88 

Table B42: For the above ideas, when do you think we should have them up and running?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

As soon 

as 

possible

By 2020 By 2025 By 2030

Don't 

support 

additiona

l actions

Don't 

know
Base

% 26% 10% 17% 17% 27% 3% 100%

Count  922 355 593 596 959 91 3516

% 20% 13% 20% 12% 31% 4% 100%

Count  39 26 39 24 60 8 196

% 27% 10% 17% 17% 27% 3% 100%

Count  883 329 554 572 899 83 3320

% 32% 13% 10% 7% 33% 4% 100%

Count  1127 470 357 245 1145 142 3486

% 20% 11% 11% 7% 43% 8% 100%

Count  38 20 21 14 82 15 190

% 33% 14% 10% 7% 32% 4% 100%

Count  1089 450 336 231 1063 127 3296

% 20% 8% 15% 17% 36% 4% 100%

Count  683 292 512 599 1260 154 3500

% 13% 9% 17% 15% 41% 6% 100%

Count  24 17 33 28 78 12 192

% 20% 8% 14% 17% 36% 4% 100%

Count  659 275 479 571 1182 142 3308

Having car free days 

in the city

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

Only allowing 

ULEV, hybrid etc. in 

the city

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

All cars and vans 

being charged if 

they don’t meet 

CAZ rules

Overall

Business

Non‐

business

P
age 251



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 89 

 
Table B43: Age of respondents 
 

 
 
Table B44: Gender of respondents 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Under 18 0% 7 0% 0 0% 7

18 ‐ 29 11% 392 3% 6 12% 386

30 ‐ 44 32% 1110 37% 69 32% 1041

45 ‐ 64 42% 1448 57% 107 41% 1341

65+ 14% 479 3% 6 15% 473

Base 100% 3436 100% 188 100% 3248

Overall Business Non‐business

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Male (including Trans Male) 62% 2042 76% 136 61% 1906

Female (including Trans Female) 37% 1215 24% 42 38% 1173

Non‐binary 1% 18 0% 0 1% 18

Other 1% 18 0% 0 1% 18

Base 100% 3293 100% 178 100% 3115

Overall Business Non‐business

P
age 252



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 90 

Table B45: Ethnicity of respondents 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / British    90% 2912 89% 149 90% 2763

Irish    1% 37 0% 0 1% 37

Gypsy or Irish Traveller    0% 4 0% 0 0% 4

Any other White background    3% 100 1% 1 3% 99

White and Black Caribbean    0% 9 0% 0 0% 9

White and Black African    0% 2 0% 0 0% 2

White and Asian    0% 6 0% 0 0% 6

Any other Mixed / Multiple ethnic background    1% 21 0% 0 1% 21

Indian    1% 31 1% 1 1% 30

Pakistani    1% 33 7% 11 1% 22

Bangladeshi    0% 4 1% 1 0% 3

Kashmiri    1% 17 2% 4 0% 13

Chinese    0% 10 0% 0 0% 10

Any other Asian background    0% 4 0% 0 0% 4

African    0% 6 0% 0 0% 6

Caribbean    0% 10 0% 0 0% 10

Any other Black / African / Caribbean background    0% 5 0% 0 0% 5

Arab    0% 2 1% 1 0% 1

Any other ethnic group  0% 12 0% 0 0% 12

Base 100% 3225 100% 168 100% 3057

Overall Business Non‐business

P
age 253



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                      Page 91 

Table B46: Do you consider yourself to be disabled?  
 

 
 
Table B47: What is the nature of your impairment? [tick all that apply] 
 

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Yes 7% 224 1% 2 7% 222

No 93% 3057 99% 179 93% 2878

Base 100% 3281 100% 181 100% 3100

Overall Business Non‐business

% Count  % Count  % Count 

Physical impairment (such as using a wheelchair to get around and/or 

difficulty using your arms)
39% 80 100% 2 39% 78

Visual impairment (such as being blind or partially sighted) 4% 8 0% 0 4% 8

Hearing impairment (such as being deaf or hard of hearing) 12% 24 0% 0 12% 24

Mental health condition (such as depression or schizophrenia) 17% 35 0% 0 17% 35

Learning disability (such as Downs syndrome or dyslexia) or cognitive 

impairment (such as autism or head injury)
6% 12 0% 0 6% 12

Long standing illness or health condition (such as cancer, HIV, diabetes, 

chronic heart disease, or epilepsy)
44% 90 0% 0 45% 90

Base 100% 204 100% 2 100% 202

Overall Business Non‐business

P
age 254



     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services  Page 92 
 

Appendix B: Non‐survey responses 

Introduction 

During the course of the second round of public consultation for the introduction of a Clean Air Zone 

(CAZ)  in Leeds, alongside  the  survey  responses,  the City Council also  received a number of direct 

written  submissions  giving  commentary  on  the  CAZ  and  indicating  their  opinions  regarding  the 

proposed option. 

The main departure  from  the online  questionnaire which  formed  the  bulk of  the  consultation  is 

twofold. Firstly, the type of respondent was noticeably different. The businesses that responded to 

the online questionnaire were primarily locally based and did the majority of their work within the 

city centre and would be personally affected. In contrast, the written responses saw a large number 

of national groups submit views on the CAZ, these were primarily split in to two groups, trade bodies 

who had a significant number of members that would be affected by the CAZ, this included groups 

such as  the Builders Merchant Federation and  the UK Confederation of Passenger Transport. The 

other group of note, were those generally writing  in support of the  introduction of the CAZ, these 

included national non‐profits such as Client Earth and Friends of the Earth, local resident groups and 

Leeds City Council Members. In total, LCC received 21 letters expressing an opinion on the CAZ; a full 

list is shown in Table C1 overleaf. 

The second thing of note in the written submissions is the tone. The letters strike a decidedly more 

even‐handed  approach  to  expressing  their  opinion  on  the  proposed  CAZ.  Most  of  the  letters 

acknowledge that air pollution is a problem and that something needs to be done but argue for some 

small change  that would benefit  their  respective  interests,  such as changing  the  charging area or 

lowering the charge.  

This may be a symptom of the type of organisations submitting written opinions. As discussed, many 

of the letters received came from groups that may be affected less directly by the CAZ but have more 

knowledge when dealing with government air quality regulation. This could have resulted in the less 

emotive and more responsive tone used in the letters. 

 

 

 
 

Table C1: Breakdown of respondents by business type  

Page 255



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 93 

Bus and Coach 
operators & 
associations 

Taxi & Private Hire 
operators & 
associations 

HGV operators & 
associations 

NGOs and interest 
groups 

Arriva  Barnsley Hackney 
Carriage Association 

Builders Merchant 
Federation 

Beeston Community 
Forum 

Confederation for 
Passenger Transport 
UK 

Blueline Taxis 
(Barnsley) Limited 

Freight Transport 
Association 

British Heart Foundation 

First Buses  Leeds Private Hire 
Drivers’ Organisation 

Road Haulage 
Association 

Client Earth 

Stage Coach    UPS  Councillor Blackburn 

Tetley’s Motor Services 
Limited 

    Friends of the Earth 

Transport Yorkshire 
Preservation Group 

    University of Leeds 

      Campaign for Better 
Transport West and 
North Yorkshire  

      West and North 
Yorkshire Chamber of 
Commerce 

 

Concerns about the charging zone – impacts on business 

A common theme among the written responses is a sense that respondents’ overall view of the CAZ 

reflects the direct (or indirect) impact on their own organisation‐ e.g. those that will face the charge 

respond negatively overall  to  the proposals. While unsurprising  it  is worth bearing  in mind when 

discussing some of the trends in the responses.  

Responses from or on behalf of businesses could generally be separated in to four categories: HGV 

drivers and their representatives, Taxi drivers and the associations representing them, bus and coach 

drivers, and other large business associations and organisations.  

The concerns of these groups with the CAZ can be summed up quite generally. 

 HGV drivers and associations that represent HGV drivers and owners are generally pleased with 

the changes to the CAZ implemented by LCC but remain concerned about the impact of the CAZ 

on  businesses,  and  propose  further  changes  are made.  Primarily  they  propose  delaying  the 

implementation of the CAZ citing concerns about the time required to upgrade and the availability 

Page 256



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 94 

of Euro VI vehicles to be purchased. Finally, HGV drivers and operators query what will happen if 

they can demonstrate an attempt to meet the CAZ conditions before  it comes  in to effect but 

have been unable to do so, either due to logistical, financial or external reasons.  

 Taxi drivers’ concerns fall in to two main groups. A number of taxi associations in and around the 

Leeds  area  have written  to  request  exemption  from  the  charge  given  that  they  rarely  bring 

passengers in to the city centre and should not be penalised when they do. The second concern 

is  the  cost  associated with  acquiring  a  compliant  car, moreover  that  the  proposed  funding 

available for a hybrid or electric car is not enough to allow them to upgrade.  

 Bus and Coach drivers: similar to HGV operators, bus and coach drivers are concerned about the 

financial outlay associated with upgrading to the compliant euro standard, particularly when this 

occurs part way through a replacement cycle. The other key concern raised by this group is that 

any additional costs that need to be passed on to customers would reduce the incentive for the 

public to use public transport and may lead to an increase in private vehicle usage and ultimately 

an increase in air pollution. 

 Other  associations  and  business  have  similar  concerns  to  those  discussed  above  including 

increased  costs  passed  on  to  customers  and  the  cost  of  upgrading  a  vehicle  to  a  compliant 

standard. However, here associations are concerned about the impact of having those additional 

costs passed on to them and the effect on their bottom line.   

 

There also seemed to be some disagreement as to what type of vehicles would be acceptable under 

the CAZ  scheme. One  lobbying organisation  reported  that  LCC  should not  require all private hire 

vehicles to be either hybrid or electric and that Euro 6 standards for diesel should be permissible. Such 

respondents were primarily Hackney Taxi organisations. 

Insights on likely business response 

The largest cost to business discussed in these responses was those felt by HGV, Bus and Coach drivers 

who would have  to upgrade  to  Euro VI  vehicles  if  they wanted  to  avoid paying  the CAZ  charge. 

However, many respondents suggested that upgrading would be so costly that they would either have 

to pay the charge or avoid the CAZ zone completely (this was particularly prominent among bus and 

coach  companies). A number of  respondents acknowledged  that  the 2020  implementation would 

occur part way through their typical lifecycle of a HGV, Bus or Coach (often 8 years), and hence would 

result  in upgrading at a  loss. Moreover, multiple bus companies noted that when they do upgrade 

they purchase second hand vehicles with an age of 7/8 years. Given that Euro VI standard were only 

introduced in 2014 bus companies would incur larger costs as they would be forced to purchase newer 

vehicles.  

Bus companies noted that this would have a knock on effect on the level of service that they would 

ultimately be able to provide and could result in service cuts or frequency reductions. It was further 

Page 257



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 95 

noted that the results could be counter intuitive with a charge increase for buses and coaches driving 

people away from using public transport and resorting instead to their private vehicles. 

“the cost to bus operators of ensuring compliance may prove so significant and disproportionate that 

financially marginal parts of the bus network will be scaled back through service cuts or frequency 

reductions, which will further disincentivise public transport use and worsen air quality” – Arriva 

A similar story was told by the owners of HGVs and their associated trade bodies who noted that the 

implementation of a charge could result in less supplies entering the city in order to avoid paying the 

fee. Alternatively, it was noted that suppliers and customers who would usually use HGVs could use 

multiple LDVs which could ultimately contribute to the congestion problem and exacerbate the air 

quality issue.  

Businesses  also  noted  that  there  were  occasions  where  an  above  usual  number  of  HGVs  and 

chargeable vehicles would enter the charging zone (such as during Leeds Festival) and asked for an 

exemption during these periods.  

Concerns about the charging zone – does it go far enough? 

A  further  source of  concern was voiced by groups  supporting action on air quality. These groups 

generally argue that the charging zone, particularly with the changes made after the first consultation 

period, do not go far enough to create the changes needed to tackle air pollution. They argue the CAZ 

should be brought back  in  line with  the government  recommended charging  levels and  include a 

broader range of vehicles including private cars and LGVs.  

“It must include charging for private cars and LGVs, be brought in as soon as possible in 2019, and be 

complemented by other measures” – Friends of the Earth 

 

Other responses also argued that other changes that had been suggested in the aftermath of the first 

consultation period should be rescinded, primarily the reinstatement of the higher charging level and 

the return to the original CAZ boundary.  

“If we are serious about doing something that benefits the health of our citizens and improves that 

environment that they work in then we need to reconsider the boundary.” – Email from Councillor 

Blackburn 

Page 258



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 96 

“We believe that Leeds City Council should maintain the higher level charges originally consulted 

upon in January to March 2018.” – Client Earth 

Positive reflections on the proposed option 

Many  responses, even  those negatively  impacted by  the CAZ, began by praising  the changes  that 

Leeds City Council (LCC) have made in response to the last consultation phase. Respondents looked 

favourably on both reducing the day charge of non‐compliant HGVs to £50 as well as removing a key 

industrial section of the city located to the south of the city. This was then quickly related to further 

improvements that could be implemented to benefit the respondent.  

As discussed, one of the main differences between the letters received and the survey responses was 

the acknowledgement that something has to be done about the air quality in the city and the positive 

responses received.  

Moreover, multiple letters noted that the Clean Air Zone was government led and acknowledged that 

such implementation was passed down from national government.  

Conclusion 

While  there  is  little additional new  information  represented  in  the  letters  received,  that was not 

conveyed in the consultation, these letters do offer a slightly different insight into the impacts of the 

CAZ. While LCC did receive letters from local resident groups and business owners, we also saw large 

trade bodies, associations and NGOs respond, a different cohort to those responding directly to the 

online survey. Furthermore, these respondents had more freedom in their letters to be more wide‐

ranging in their feedback on the CAZ, and gave the impression of having more experience engaging 

local councils during public consultations.  

Broadly, several key themes can be taken away from the letters: 

 Respondents  still  demonstrate  concerns  around  the  risks  of  the  CAZ  on  both  sides:  vehicle 

operators who will face the charge note risks to the viability of their businesses and knock on 

effects, whereas public interest groups worry that the proposals do not go far enough. 

 That said, there  is acknowledgement  that the changes made  to the scheme  following the  first 

consultation are an improvement (at least from the business lobby). 

 The majority of respondents (as expected) typically argue for their own financial self‐interest. But 

there is acknowledgement of the need to act on air pollution.  

Page 259



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 97 

 There is a broad belief (particularly within the business community) that cars bare a large portion 

of the blame for air pollution and as such should also be included in the CAZ. They do not see it 

as ‘fair’ that they must pay the charge while other forms of transport are exempt. 

   

Page 260



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 98 

Appendix C: Lessons Learnt: Phase 1 and 
phase 2 of the CAZ consultation 

 Actions –  

Phase 1 Consultation 

 Lessons Learnt   Actions Taken –  

Phase 2 Consultation 

 PUBLIC 

CONSULTATION 

 Questionnaire  linked 

through  Leeds  City 

Council  website  and 

distributed  as  paper 

on request 

 Some  groups  were 

underrepresented during 

the  post  consultation 

analysis. 

 Proactively  distributed  questionnaires 

to underrepresented groups 

 Promoted  the  consultation  through 

existing equality hub networks 

 The  consultation  plan 

was expanded to include 

other marketing routes. 

 A radio advert was played on the Radio 

Aire station to try inform commuters of 

the  consultation  being  open  and 

available to respond to. 

 Respondents  to  the  first  consultation 

who consented and had left their email 

address were directly emailed a link to 

the Phase 2 consultation. 

 CAZ consultation advertisements were 

displayed  on  buses  and  at  train 

stations. 

 Some  locations had very 

poor  attendance, where 

the public did not attend 

the event 

 Officer time was concentrated in areas 

where  there was better  response and 

greater footfall. 

 TAXI &  PRIVATE HIRE 

(T&PH) 

 Direct  consultation 

with  Taxi  and  Private 

Hire  sector,  through 

the  LCC  licensing 

department 

 Limited responses to the 

questionnaire  and  at 

attendance  of  events 

planned.  

 Additional  effort 

required  to  encourage 

more feedback. 

 

 In addition to directly emailing, as per 

the first consultation, we advertised all 

events  online  through  eventbrite  and 

on the LCC website 

 Leaflets were sent  to Leeds registered 

taxi and private hire companies  in the 

post 

 Leaflets were distributed to city centre 

taxi ranks 

 It  was  understood  that 

for a  large proportion of 

taxi  drivers,  English was 

not their first language. 

 Translation  services were  provided  at 

over 50% of the T&PH events planned 

 T&PH  specific  leaflets  included 

translations  in  the  top  3  community 

Page 261



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 99 

languages  were  included  within  the 

content 

 HEAVY  GOODS 

VEHICLES  (HGVs) 

 HGVs were  consulted 

through large national 

federations/networks. 

 Limited  responses 

recorded  in  the 

questionnaire. 

 Additional  effort 

required  to  encourage 

more feedback. 

 HGV  specific  events/meetings  were 

organised  along  with  attendance 

through existing national networks 

 HGV  organisations  were  emailed 

directly where  they  responded  in  the 

first consultation 

 Events  were  advertised  on  the  LCC 

website  and  through  HGV  networks. 

They  were  also  promoted  using  paid 

Facebook advertising. 

 There  was  some 

confusion  with  which 

vehicles were affected by 

the  implementation  of 

the CAZ 

 Changes were made  to  the  postcards 

and  poster  advertising  to  ensure  that 

the  infographics were  clearer  for  the 

HGV sector 

 BUSINESSES 

(GENERAL) 

 Businesses  were 

informed  about  the 

consultation  through 

existing contact lists 

 After  the  first  phase 

consultation,  it  was  felt 

that  we  needed  to 

encourage  more 

business feedback 

 Information  about  the  CAZ  was 

highlighted through trade magazines 

 More  business  networks  were 

contacted  to  share  information  about 

the CAZ 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 262



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 
100 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 263



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 
101 

Appendix D: Consultation Activity Log 

Event/Activity Initiation/ date 

Federation of Small Businesses 
(FSB) Pre-Consultation HGV 
Meeting 

05 June 2018 

Meeting with Tetley’s Motor 
Services 

06 June 2018 

Freight Transport Association 13 June 2018 

Non-schedule bus and coach 
operators 

13 June 2018 

Schedule bus operators 15 June 2018 
Press release 1 18 June 2018 
Media Briefing 18 June 2018 

Bus Operators (Confederation of 
Passenger Transport) 

21 June 2018 

FSB Meeting 22 June 2018 
Bus Rear Advertising 25 June 2018 

Internal Bus Panel Advertising 25 June 2018 

LinkedIn Advertising (7 weeks) 26 June 2018 

Executive Board 27 June 2018 
Send out postcards 02 July 2018 

City Advert Drums (2 weeks) 02 July 2018 

West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA), School Buses 

02 July 2018 

InLink Kiosk Advertising (6 weeks) 02 July 2018 

Posters at rail sites (4 weeks) 02 July 2018 

Banner on Radio Aire Website (1 
week) 

02 July 2018 

Page 264



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 
102 

HGV Roadshow 03 July 2018 
Retrofit providers 03 July 2018 
Stagecoach Meeting 04 July 2018 
Highways England 04 July 2018 
Community Engagement 05 July 2018 
South Ward Surgeries (Hunslet & 
Riverside) 

05 July 2018 

Radio Campaign on Radio Aire (1 
month) 

06 July 2018 

Unique email and reminder email 
sent out to phase 1 responders 

06 July 2018 

Community Engagement 06 July 2018 

Clean Air Zone consultation event 
(residents & businesses) 

06 July 2018 

South Ward Surgeries (Middleton 
Park) 

07 July 2018 

Letter to all staff networks  07 July 2018 

Environmental Programme Board 09 July 2018 

Schools 09 July 2018 
Community Engagement 11 July 2018 

Handed out sector specific leaflets 
to Taxis at taxi ranks 

11 July 2018 

Community Engagement 12 July 2018 
Leeds Manufacturing Alliance 
Steering Group 

12 July 2018 

InSite banners (2 weeks) 13 July 2018 
Facebook Advertising (3 and a 
half weeks) 

13 July 2018 

Strapline at the bottom of all 
Leeds City Council emails (1 
week) 

13 July 2018 

Taxi and Private Hire Session 16 July 2018 

Variable Road Signage (4 weeks) 16 July 2018 

Page 265



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 
103 

Email letter sent to Chief 
Executives of Neighbouring 
Authorities - go wider, can they 
promote on social media and 
business. Go through corporate 
communications. LCR 

17 July 2018 

Email to all LCC staff 17 July 2018 
Letter One to all Elected Members 
from Cllr Lewis 

17 July 2018 

Handed out sector specific leaflets 
to Taxis at taxi ranks 

17 July 2018 

Community Engagement 18 July 2018 

Taxi and Private Hire Session 19 July 2018 

South Ward Surgeries (Hunslet & 
Riverside) 

19 July 2018 

Bus Stop Displays (3 and a half 
weeks) 

20 July 2018 

Leeds Youth Council 21 July 2018 

Healthy Air Leeds Meeting 23 July 2018 

Health Protection Board 23 July 2018 
Chamber transport group 23 July 2018 
Civic Trust 24 July 2018 

Taxi and Private Hire Session 25 July 2018 

Executive Board 25 July 2018 
Commercial Estates Group (CEG) 
Meeting 

26 July 2018 

Clean Air Zone consultation event 
(residents & businesses) 

26 July 2018 

Scrutiny Board 26 July 2018 
Community Engagement 26 July 2018 
South Ward Surgeries (Beeston & 
Holbeck) 

27 July 2018 

Page 266



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 
104 

South Ward Surgeries (Beeston & 
Holbeck) 

27 July 2018 

Press release 2 27 July 2018 
Community Engagement 30 July 2018 

Taxi and Private Hire Session 31 July 2018 

FSB HGV Meeting 31 July 2018 

Taxi and Private Hire Session 01 August 2018 

South Ward Surgeries (Hunslet & 
Riverside) 

01 August 2018 

Road Haulage Association 02 August 2018 

Letter Two to all Elected Members 
from Cllr Lewis 

02 August 2018 

Clean Air Zone consultation event 
(residents & businesses) 

02 August 2018 

South Ward Surgeries (Middleton 
Park) 

04 August 2018 

Clean Air Zone consultation event 
(residents & businesses) 

07 August 2018 

Business Organisation Meeting 15 August 2018 

Social Media Posts 
Throughout 
Consultation 

 
 
 
 
   

Page 267



                            

     
 

                                             Measurement  Evaluation Learning: Using evidence to shape better services                    Page 
105 

 
 
 

Page 268



 

 

Appendix B: Responses to issues raised as part of our 

second consultation on the Clean Air Charging Zone 

(CAZ). 

Last updated: 8th October 2018 

Interactive Table of Contents: 

General 

1. Improving air quality within the shortest possible timescale should be a priority 

for Leeds. 

2. LCC should offer ‘sunset periods’ to help give some affected vehicle owners 

time to transition. 

3. LCC should provide ‘sunset periods’ to emergency service vehicles, charity 

vehicles, community transport vehicles and vehicles used by blue badge 

holders. 

4. LCC should exempt some vehicles from paying charges 

5. LCC should charge private vehicles that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standards by 2020. 

6. LCC should charge private vehicles that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standards by 2030. 

7. LCC are charging private vehicles that do not meet the minimum emissions 

(false).  

8. LCC should increase the number of low emissions vehicles in their own fleet. 

9. LCC should provide advice for affected vehicle owners to support air quality 

improvements. 

10. The CAZ will negatively impact businesses in Leeds. 

11. The CAZ will negatively impact tourism and the visitor economy in Leeds. 

12. LCC should provide more electric vehicle charging points. 

13. The purpose of the CAZ is to generate revenue for LCC 

Page 269



 

 

14. LCC should invest in cycling infrastructure to encourage modal shift. 

15. The CAZ will increase the average cost of bus fares. 

16. LCC need to improve public transport/congestion in Leeds/needs a mass 

transit system. 

Taxi/Private Hire Specific 

17. The CAZ is unfair to drivers who drive their vehicle within the city on non-

working days. 

18. The CAZ daily charge of £12.50 for affected taxi/private hire vehicles is too 

high. 

19. LCC should provide financial support (including grants and interest free loans) 

to help affected taxi/private hire owners upgrade their vehicles. 

20. Light goods vehicles (LGVs) that do not meet the minimum emission vehicles 

should also be charged. 

21. The CAZ is unfair to taxi/private hire owners as the minimum standard for 

emissions goes beyond those set out in the government’s Clean Air Zone 

Framework. 

22. The minimum standards for emissions proposed by LCC should be reduced, 

as existing electric charging infrastructure can’t support so many petrol-hybrid 

or electric vehicles by 2020. 

23. The timescales for taxi/private hire vehicles to upgrade their vehicles before 

the implementation of the CAZ is too short. 

24. LCC should include liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) fuelled vehicles as a 

compliant form of vehicle as the NOx reductions are significant. 

25. LCC should assist affected taxi/private hire owners by reducing costs 

associated with the licensing of new vehicles. 

26. LCC should raise the maximum age allowed for vehicles being first licensed, 

as there is a limited supply of second hand petrol-hybrid or electric vehicles. 

27. Many petrol-hybrid vehicles have limited luggage capacity and are impractical 

for some common taxi functions (for example, airport runs). 

Page 270



 

 

28. LCC should ensure that taxi/private hire vehicles registered outside the 

authority will also be charged, as to do otherwise would be unfair. 

29.  The CAZ will be unfair to drivers who take temporary leave from work but still 

drive within the CAZ boundary. 

30. LCC should ring-fence funding to ensure that it is shared equally among all 

taxi/private hire individuals and organisations rather than being dominated by 

larger companies. 

31. Private hire drivers should be allowed to use bus lanes to reduce their need to 

idle in traffic. 

32. The CAZ will be unfair to drivers of wheelchair-accessible vehicles as there 

are no petrol-hybrid of electric vehicles suitable for this purpose. Therefore, 

the policy will discriminate against disabled people.  

33. The CAZ is unfair to taxi and private hire owners that have bought their vehicle 

on finance and are still paying monthly instalments. They cannot afford to 

upgrade their vehicle or pay charges. 

Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) Operator Specific 

34. The CAZ daily charge of £100 (announced in December 2016) for affected 

vehicles is too expensive. 

35. The timescales for affected HGV operators to upgrade their vehicles before 

the implementation of the CAZ are too short and much shorter than typical 

replacement cycles. 

36. LCC should phase in the minimum emissions standards for HGVs until 2022 to 

mitigate this. 

37. A national intercity charging policy is essential for HGV operators. 

38. LCC should offer support packages that help operators to upgrade their 

vehicles, rather than fund a retrofit solution, as upgraded vehicles would have 

a higher residual value. 

39. There is a limited supply of second-hand EU6 vehicles and an increasing 

demand (partly due to the introduction of Clean Air Zones) which is raising 

Page 271



 

 

average prices and making them unaffordable for operators to buy without 

financial assistance. 

40.  The government should communicate with businesses at a national level and 

highlight the cities required to take action to encourage suppliers to upgrade 

their fleet, rather than passing on charges incurred or refusing to deliver to 

areas with CAZs. 

41. LCC should exempt specialist HGVs if specific retrofitting solutions are not 

available. 

42. LCC should ensure that HGVs registered outside the country will also be 

charged, as to do otherwise would be unfair. 

43. LCC should introduce tapered/phased charging according to the emissions 

standard of the vehicle. 

44. The CAZ will reduce the competitiveness of HGVs compared to LGVs. 

Buses/Coaches Specific 

45. The CAZ daily charge of £100 (announced in December 2016) for affected 

vehicles is too expensive. 

46. Less profitable bus services will receive service cuts as a result of the CAZ 

charges. 

47. The timescales for affected non-scheduled bus and coach operators to 

upgrade their vehicles before the implementation of the CAZ are too short and 

are much shorter than typical replacement cycles. 

48. The CAZ charges for bus and coaches are unfair as bus and coaches help to 

remove a large number of private cars away from the road network. 

49. It is unfair for the CAZ charges to affect buses and coaches but not cars. This 

will encourage more people to drive. 

50. The CAZ boundary would place operators with depots within the zone at a 

commercial disadvantage compared to operators outside of the zone, as they 

cannot choose which vehicles to send within it. 

Businesses Specific 

Page 272



 

 

51. The CAZ will negatively impact my business/businesses in Leeds. 

52. Businesses need funding to implement measures that would reduce air 

pollution. 

53. LCC should offer businesses ‘sunset periods’ to give them time to adjust to 

charges. 

54. The CAZ will negatively impact charities based in and working within Leeds 

and could threaten their operation. 

Environmental Group Specific 

55. LCC should charge private vehicles that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standards by 2020. 

56. LCC should charge light goods vehicles (LGVs) that do not meet the minimum 

emissions standards by 2020. 

57. LCC should not have reduced the proposed £100 daily charge to £50 for 

buses, coaches and HGVs that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standards. LCC should offer more financial support instead. 

58. LCC should minimise exemptions as much as possible to ensure that 

reductions in air pollution are maximised.  

59. The proposed charge exemption for school buses EU3 and above is too 

lenient. Children are the worst affected by air pollution. 

60. LCC should minimise diversions that enter the CAZ area to best improve air 

quality. 

61. LCC should deliver anti-idling signage as well as effectively enforce idling 

offences—particularly in areas where members of society are most vulnerable 

to the effects of air pollution dwell (i.e. outside schools and hospitals). 

62. LCC should invest in public transport infrastructure and promote active travel. 

63. LCC should introduce more electric vehicle charge points in the city. 

64. LCC should offer subsidised car club membership, free public transport 

season tickets, and/or interest-free loans for residents to purchase e-bikes. 

Page 273



 

 

65. LCC should introduce more ambitious policies to achieve further air quality 

improvements in the future, including the introduction of a ULEV zone and car-

free days. 

66. LCC should implement the CAZ in 2019 to improve air quality sooner. 

67. LCC should not have reduced the proposed CAZ area as this will reduce the 

health impacts of the CAZ in some of the most deprived areas in Leeds. 

68. LCC should encourage major employers in Leeds to reduce the need for 

individual travel by supporting car share, work from home, flexible working 

policies. 

69. LCC should invest in broadband infrastructure to enable the wider rollout of 

work from home policies. 

70. LCC should implement a workplace parking levy (like Nottingham) and invest 

the revenue in subsidised transport and infrastructure investment. 

71. LCC should increase greenery across the city centre to absorb air pollution. 

72. LCC should encourage schools to promote walking buses. 

73. LCC should encourage cycling amongst staff by providing showering facilities 

and secure cycle storage in our workplaces.  

Page 274



 

 

General 

1. Improving air quality within the shortest possible timescale should be a 

priority for Leeds. 

Our plans for a Clean Air Charging Zone will improve air quality in Leeds 

within the shortest possible time, reducing air pollution and protecting the 

health of everyone in the city. Tackling air pollution will require a citywide effort 

so whilst Leeds City Council has an important role to play, so do residents, 

local businesses, schools and those who work in the city. 

Back to contents. 

 

2. LCC should offer ‘sunset periods’ to help give some affected vehicle 

owners time to transition. 

In some cases, LCC believe it is practical and fair to offer ‘sunset periods’ and 

exemptions. In our latest plans we outlined plans to offer ‘sunset periods’ 

which temporarily exempt vehicles from charges in the following 

circumstances: 

 

1) Organisations or individuals who have placed an order for a compliant 

vehicle or retrofit solution within six months of our proposals being approved 

by the government but, due to increased market demand or a limited supply, 

have not been able to receive the compliant vehicle or retrofit solution before 

6th January 2020. This sunset period will apply until the order has been 

delivered; 

 

2) Taxi and private hire vehicles that have purchased their vehicle as part of a 

financial agreement prior to 17th October 2018 and who have an outstanding 

balance on this agreement as of January 2020. This sunset period will apply 

up to and including the 31st December 2021 or until the financial agreement is 

scheduled to end, whichever is soonest; 

 

Page 275



 

 

3) Taxi and private hire vehicles that can carry 8 or more passengers. This 

sunset period will apply up to and including 31st December 2021, after which a 

Euro 6 minimum emissions standard may apply; 

 

4) Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVS) used for taxi and private hire. This 

sunset period will apply up to and including the 31st December 2021, after 

which a Euro 6 minimum emissions standard may apply. 

  

For information on proposed exemptions, go to #4. 

Back to contents. 

 

3. LCC should provide ‘sunset periods’ to emergency service vehicles, 

charity vehicles, community transport vehicles and vehicles used by 

blue badge holders. 

Leeds City Council have reflected upon this feedback in our final proposals for 

the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) and our plans minimise and/or exempt 

these vehicle from charges:  

 

1) Community transport and vehicles used by charities which are classified as 

minibuses or other light goods vehicles (LGVs) would not be subject to 

charges;  

 

2) Emergency services vehicles will be fully exempt from charges;  

 

3) All Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) used for taxi and private hire, 

will benefit from a sunset period up to and including 31st December 2021;  

 

4) Private vehicles used by blue badge holders, like all private vehicles, will 

not be subject to charges.  

Back to contents. 

 

Page 276



 

 

4. LCC should exempt some vehicles from paying charges  

Leeds City Council’s plans for a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) follow 

government guidance (the National Clean Air Zone Framework) and exempt 

the following vehicles from charges: 

 

1) Vehicles with a historic tax class (see https://www.gov.uk/historic-vehicles 

for eligibility); 

 

2) Military vehicles; 

 

3) Specialist vehicles that are non-road going but may drive on the public 

highway occasionally such as agricultural machines, digging machines, mobile 

cranes, etc. 

 

In addition, our plans will also exempt the following vehicles from charges: 

 

4) Showmen’s guild vehicles (e.g. fairground and funfair vehicles); 

 

5) Non-commercial vintage buses aged between 20 – 39 years old (for a fixed 

number of days per year—currently anticipated to be 10 days); 

 

6) School buses above Euro 3 emissions standards; 

 

7) Vehicles driving within the zone because of a road diversion who would 

otherwise not have entered the CAZ; 

 

8) Emergency services vehicles. 

Back to contents. 

 

5. LCC should charge private vehicles that do not meet the minimum 

emissions standards by 2020. 

Page 277

https://www.gov.uk/historic-vehicles


 

 

Leeds City Council’s plans for a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) in 2020 will 

not charge private vehicles of any emissions standard for driving within the 

zone for numerous reasons.  

 

1) Our modelling shows that charging private vehicles is not necessary to 

reduce air pollution to within strict legal limits within the required timescale. By 

not charging private vehicles, we can reduce the economic impact of the 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) on the city whilst still achieving improvements 

in air quality. 

 

2) Due to the sheer number of vehicles that would need to be replaced before 

2020, charging private vehicles that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standard would simply be impractical.  

 

3) By limiting the CAZ charge to a smaller group of vehicles we are able to use 

any government funding we receive to provide more generous support that will 

better help owners of affected vehicles upgrade to cleaner models. To 

maximise the effectiveness of this support it is logical to target the most 

polluting vehicles. On a per vehicle basis private cars tend to be less polluting 

than taxis, buses and HGVs due to their small engine size and relatively low 

mileage. 

 

4) Independent testing of small vehicles has identified that the real-world 

emissions of many Euro 6 diesel cars are broadly similar to those of older 

vehicles. Therefore, encouraging drivers of older cars to switch to a Euro 6 

diesel vehicle through charges would not significantly reduce their emissions. 

On the other hand, Euro 6 emissions engines in HGVs and buses have been 

demonstrated to be much less polluting. 

 

5) The financial burden of charging private vehicles would disproportionately 

affect the city’s less affluent communities who are more likely to have an older, 

Page 278



 

 

non-compliant vehicle. We do not think it would be acceptable to pass such a 

regressive policy. 

 

6) There are some circumstances in which travelling by private car is the only 

realistic transport option, e.g. those who work irregular hours or who aren’t 

frequently served by nearby public transport services. We do not believe that it 

would be fair to charge private vehicles until feasible and practical alternatives 

to driving are widely and easily available. 

 

7) Charging private vehicles would encourage owners of non-compliant 

(mostly diesel) vehicles to purchase Euro 4 petrol vehicles as these would be 

the cheapest second-hand vehicles compliant with the minimum emission 

standards of the CAZ. While Euro 4 petrol vehicles do emit significantly less 

air pollution than diesel vehicles they also emit much greater levels of carbon 

dioxide (CO2) — a greenhouse gas that contributes to climate change. This 

would work against the council’s ambition of reducing carbon emissions 

across the city.  

Back to contents. 

 

6. LCC should charge private vehicles that do not meet the minimum 

emissions standards by 2030. 

We will begin to consider the future of the zone and additional measures to 

improve air quality in 2020. Any changes or additional measures we propose 

will be subject to further public consultation. 

Back to contents. 

 

7. LCC are charging private vehicles that do not meet the minimum 

emissions standard. 

This is incorrect. Private vehicles will not be charged for driving within the 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ). Only the worst polluting buses, coaches, 

taxis, private hire, and heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) that do not meet our 

Page 279



 

 

minimum emissions standards will be subject to charges.  

Back to contents. 

  

8. LCC should increase the number of low emissions vehicles in their fleet. 

Leeds City Council recognise that we must lead the way in reducing our own 

contributions to air pollution and we are doing just that. Currently, the council 

have more electric vehicles in our fleet than any other local authority in 

England and we will be continuously moving our fleet to cleaner vehicles. We 

have a bold ambition to fully transition our fleet to zero or ultra-low emission 

vehicles by 2025.  

Back to contents. 

 

9. LCC should provide advice for affected vehicle owners to support air 

quality improvements. 

Leeds City Council believe that it is important to support affected businesses 

in order for the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) to be most successful and 

have the greatest impact on reducing air pollution. 

 

Before and after the CAZ goes live in 2020, we will be working closely with all 

affected businesses to provide them with advice, recommendations and 

support. In our plans, we outlined a number of different financial support 

packages to help businesses upgrade or retrofit their vehicles, subject to 

funding by national government. More information about this support will be 

available on our website. 

 

In addition, charge revenue collected from the implementation of the CAZ (in 

excess of any administration costs) will be used to further support affected 

businesses move to cleaner vehicles. 

Back to contents. 

 

Page 280



 

 

10. The CAZ will negatively impact businesses in Leeds. 

Like other cities, Leeds City Council has a legal obligation directed by the 

government to reduce air pollution levels to within legal limits in the shortest 

possible timescale. As the first major city to announce and consult on our 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) proposals we have done our best to give 

affected businesses as much time to prepare as possible.  

 

Nevertheless, we acknowledge that without adequate support there is a risk 

that some businesses could be financially affected by these proposals. We 

believe that it is important to support these businesses and that by doing so 

we can ensure that the CAZ most effectively improves air quality in the city. 

 

Before and after the CAZ goes live in 2020, we will be working closely with all 

affected businesses to provide them with advice, recommendations and 

support. In our plans, we outlined a number of different financial support 

packages to help businesses upgrade or retrofit their vehicles, subject to 

funding by national government. More information about this support will be 

available on our website.  

Back to contents. 

 

11. The CAZ will negatively impact tourism and the visitor economy in 

Leeds. 

Every year, tourists come from far and wide to experience everything Leeds 

has to offer—including our many world-class events. This visitor economy has 

a hugely positive impact on local businesses and helps to create and sustain 

jobs for people who live here. 

 

Thankfully, we do not believe the Charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ) will have any 

significant impact on this valuable visitor economy. 

 

The vast majority of tourists travel to—and within—Leeds by methods not 

Page 281



 

 

affected by the proposed CAZ. In 2017, 72% of visitors came by plane, train or 

private car and when travelling around the city only 1% of visitors choose to 

get around by bus. 

  

Before and after the CAZ goes live in 2020 we will be working closely with all 

affected businesses (including bus and coach companies) to provide them 

with advice, recommendations and support. In our plans, we outlined a 

number of different financial support packages to help businesses upgrade or 

retrofit their vehicles, subject to funding by national government. More 

information about this support will be available on our website. 

 

We believe that by improving air quality across Leeds and making the city a 

cleaner and healthier place to dwell, Leeds’ CAZ will make our city an even 

more attractive place to visit. 

Back to contents. 

 

12. LCC should provide more electric vehicle charging points. 

Leeds City Council are working hard to do this. The council are working with a 

range of organisations, including the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

(WYCA), to support the development of charge points for electric vehicles 

across the city. Procurement is currently underway for the installation of up to 

88 new rapid electric vehicle charge points across West Yorkshire by 2020—

30 of which will be installed in Leeds—as a result of a successful joint funding 

bid submitted to the government by the WYCA on behalf of the county’s 

district councils. 

Back to contents. 

 

13. The purpose of the CAZ is to generate revenue for LCC.  

This is incorrect. The purpose of the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) is to 

reduce air pollution and protect the health of everyone in Leeds. Any net 

revenue from the CAZ over and above the expenses incurred in connection 

Page 282



 

 

with the scheme can only be used to facilitate the achievement of our local 

transport policies. Government legislation restricts the council from using 

charge revenue for any other purpose. 

 

Our objective is to encourage owners of the worst polluting, non-compliant 

vehicles upgrade or retrofit their vehicles to comply with the minimum 

emissions standards and therefore not be subject to charges. Therefore, we 

are proposing a range of support packages (subject to government funding) 

that will be available to owners of affected vehicles to assist them in doing this. 

More information about this support will be available on our website.  

Back to contents. 

 

14.  LCC should invest in cycling infrastructure to encourage modal shift. 

Leeds City Council has a long-term ambition to make Leeds a cycle-friendly 

city by investing in cycling infrastructure and embracing cycling as a normal, 

everyday activity for everyone. Published in June 2017, the “Leeds Cycling 

Starts Here Strategy” outlines the ambition of Leeds City Council and partners 

to develop a full network of cycle routes within the city and encourage more 

people to cycle regularly. Leeds is currently constructing the next phase of the 

CityConnect Cycle Route that delivers segregated cycle facilities between the 

Leeds Outer Ring Road at Cross Gates to Bradford. 

Back to contents. 

 

15.  The CAZ will increase the average cost of bus fares. 

As part of the city’s “Connecting Leeds” transport strategy, all three major bus 

companies (First Leeds, Arriva and Transdev) have committed to ensuring 

their vehicles meet the latest emissions standards by 2020. Each company 

has already begun to phase in these newer, less polluting vehicles. These 

vehicles comply with the minimum emissions standards set out by the Clean 

Air Charging Zone (CAZ) and therefore would not be subject to CAZ charges. 

It is also worth noting that bus passengers are exposed to some of the highest 

Page 283

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/CSH%20Report%20Appendix%20A%20210617.pdf
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/CSH%20Report%20Appendix%20A%20210617.pdf


 

 

levels of air pollution and therefore will experience some of the biggest health 

benefits resulting from the CAZ. 

Back to contents. 

 

16. LCC need to improve public transport/congestion in Leeds/need a mass 

transit system. 

Leeds City Council are working hard to improve public transport and 

congestion in Leeds as part of the “Connecting Leeds” transport strategy 

developed in partnership with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

(WYCA).  

 

We’ve made a good start with cleaner buses, park and ride hubs, major 

highways improvements, cycling infrastructure and new train stations but the 

council has even more ambitious plans including more train stations, new bus 

stops, a new high frequency bus network, increased park and ride space, the 

East Leeds Orbital Road and much more. 

 

As part of the “Connecting Leeds” and longer-term transport strategy for the 

wider region led by the WYCA, work continues on proposals for a mass transit 

system with initial findings due to be released later this year. 

Back to contents. 

 

Taxi/Private Hire Specific 

17. The CAZ is unfair to drivers who drive their vehicle within the city on 

non-working days. 

Leeds City Council have listened to these concerns and developed a solution 

that takes them into account. As an alternative to paying daily charges, drivers 

licensed by Leeds City Council will also have the option of instead paying an 

advance charge of £50 to cover a seven-day period. This represents a 

discount equivalent to three days of daily charges.  

Page 284



 

 

 

However, it remains our preference that no taxi or private hire vehicle will need 

to be charged. Subject to government funding, we will be offering a range of 

support packages to affected drivers. This includes an interest-free loan up to 

the value of £10,000 and an additional grant up to the value of £3,000 to help 

drivers upgrade to a petrol-hybrid or electric vehicle. Alternatively, we will be 

offering an interest-free loan to help drivers convert their vehicle to run on 

liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) should they prefer this option. 

Back to contents. 

 

18. The CAZ daily charge of £12.50 for affected taxi/private hire vehicles is 

too high. 

Leeds City Council have set the daily charge for non-compliant taxi and private 

hire vehicles driving within the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) at £12.50 per 

day as this will effectively incentivise drivers to upgrade their vehicles. As an 

alternative to paying daily charges, drivers licensed by Leeds City Council will 

also have the option of instead paying an advance charge of £50 to cover a 

seven-day period. This represents a discount equivalent to three days of daily 

charges. However, it remains our preference that no taxi or private hire vehicle 

will need to be charged. Subject to government funding, we will be offering a 

range of support packages to affected drivers. This includes an interest-free 

loan up to the value of £10,000 and an additional grant up to the value of 

£3,000 to help drivers upgrade to a petrol-hybrid or electric vehicle. 

Alternatively, we will be offering an interest-free loan to help drivers convert 

their vehicle to run on liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) should they prefer this 

option. 

Back to contents. 

 

19. LCC should provide financial support (including grants and interest free 

loans) to help affected taxi/private hire owners upgrade their vehicles. 

Leeds City Council have announced multiple support packages (subject to 

Page 285



 

 

government funding) that will help owners upgrade their non-compliant 

vehicles and help reduce their contribution to air pollution. These support 

packages include an interest-free loan up to the value of £10,000 and an 

additional grant up to the value of £3,000 to help drivers upgrade to a petrol-

hybrid or electric vehicle. Alternatively, we will be offering an interest-free loan 

to help drivers convert their vehicle to run on liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) 

should they prefer this option. 

Back to contents. 

 

20. Light goods vehicles (LGVs) that do not meet the minimum emission 

vehicles should also be charged. 

Leeds City Council have taken the decision not to charge LGVs because our 

modelling shows that doing so is not necessary to reduce air pollution to within 

strict legal limits within the required timescale, and this will reduce the 

economic impact of the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) on the city. In addition, 

by limiting the charge to a smaller group of vehicles we will be able to use any 

government funding we receive to provide more generous support packages 

that will better help owners of affected non-compliant vehicles upgrade to 

cleaner models. 

Back to contents. 

 

21. The CAZ is unfair to taxi/private hire owners as the minimum standard 

for emissions goes beyond those set out in the government’s Clean Air 

Zone Framework. 

Leeds City Council have decided to set the minimum emissions standard for  

most taxi and private hire vehicles capable of carrying four passengers or 

fewer beyond the standard set out in the National Clean Air Zone Framework 

because our modelling shows that doing so is necessary. If we did not set the 

minimum emissions standard for these taxi and private hire vehicles at ultra-

low emission vehicle (ULEV) level or equivalent, the proposed Clean Air 

Charging Zone (CAZ) would not reduce air pollution levels to within strict legal 

Page 286



 

 

limits in the required timescale. 

 

By limiting the charge to a smaller group of affected vehicles we are able to 

use any government funding we receive to provide more generous support 

packages that will help drivers upgrade their affected non-compliant vehicles 

to cleaner vehicles that will not be charged. These support packages include 

an interest-free loan (up to the value of £10,000) and an additional grant (up to 

the value of £3,000) to help drivers upgrade to a hybrid or electric vehicle. 

Alternatively, we will be offering an interest-free loan to help drivers convert 

their vehicle to run on liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) should they prefer this 

option. 

 

Furthermore, the council had concerns about the environmental benefits of the 

Euro 6 diesel and Euro 4 petrol minimum emission standards set out by the 

national framework. Owners of non-compliant diesel taxi/private hire vehicles 

would be most likely to replace their vehicle with Euro 4 petrol vehicles as 

these would be the least expensive second-hand vehicles that comply with the 

standards required by the CAZ. Euro 4 petrol vehicles do emit significantly 

less air pollution than diesel vehicles, however, they also emit much greater 

levels of carbon dioxide (CO2) which is a major contributor to climate change. 

This would therefore obstruct the council’s ambition to reduce CO2 emissions 

across the city. Similarly, the environmental benefits of transitioning to Euro 6 

vehicles is insignificant as independent testing has identified the real-world 

emissions of many Euro 6 diesel cars as broadly similar to those of older 

vehicles.  

 

To support drivers with the transition to the ULEV minimum emission standard, 

Euro 6 diesel and Euro 4 petrol vehicles that are already licenced will be 

temporarily exempt from charges up to and including the 31st December 2021.  

 

Finally, the council recognises that there is a limited supply of ultra-low 

Page 287



 

 

emission or electric vehicles capable of carrying 5 or more passengers and we 

have reflected this feedback in our final proposals. Because of this, we have 

set the minimum emissions standard for Leeds licensed executive vehicles 

and vehicles capable of carrying between 5 and 7 passengers at Euro 6 diesel 

and Euro 4 petrol emissions standard rather than ultra-low emission standard. 

Our proposals also include sunset periods for all taxi/private hire vehicles 

capable of carrying 8 or more passengers. This sunset period will only apply to 

vehicles licensed before or on the 17th October 2018 and is proposed to expire 

after 31st December 2021. 

Back to contents. 

 

22. The minimum standards for emissions proposed by LCC should be 

reduced, as existing electric charging infrastructure can’t support so 

many petrol-hybrid or electric vehicles by 2022. 

There are four types of vehicle that will comply with the Clean Air Charging 

Zone’s (CAZ) minimum emission standards that will apply to most taxi and 

private hire vehicles capable of carrying four or fewer passengers by 2022: 

petrol-hybrid vehicles, plug-in hybrid vehicles, electric vehicles and liquefied 

petroleum gas (LPG) fuelled vehicles. 

 

 

Petrol and LPG are widely available at existing fuel stations. The council are 

working with a range of organisations, including the West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority (WYCA), to support the development of charge points for electric 

vehicles across the city. Procurement is currently underway for the installation 

of up to 88 new rapid electric vehicle charge points across West Yorkshire by 

2020—30 of which will be installed in Leeds—as a result of a successful joint 

funding bid submitted to the government by the WYCA on behalf of the 

county’s district councils. 

 

Each of the rapid charge points in this scheme will have two parking bays: one 

Page 288



 

 

bay available for use by the general public and another for the sole use of 

taxi/private hire operators. This new infrastructure will make it easier and more 

practical for taxi and private hire operators to switch to ultra-low emission 

vehicles (ULEVs). 

Back to contents. 

 

23. The timescales for taxi/private hire vehicles to upgrade their vehicles 

before the implementation of the CAZ is too short. 

Leeds City Council understand the concerns that many taxi and private hire 

drivers have, and we are working hard to support all affected businesses. 

 

Like other cities, Leeds has a legal obligation directed by the government to 

reduce air pollution levels to within legal limits in the shortest possible 

timescale.  

 

Working within these parameters, we have done our best to give affected 

businesses as much time to prepare as possible. We were the first major city 

to announce and consult on our CAZ proposals and are giving affected 

businesses the maximum time to prepare. 

 

We have also announced multiple support packages that will help drivers 

upgrade their affected non-compliant vehicles to cleaner vehicles that will not 

be charged. These support packages, subject to government funding, include 

an interest-free loan up to the value of £10,000 and an additional grant up to 

the value of £3,000 to help drivers upgrade to a petrol-hybrid or electric 

vehicle. Alternatively, we will be offering an interest-free loan to help drivers 

convert their vehicle to run on liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) should they 

prefer this option. To further support drivers with the transition to the ULEV 

minimum emission standard, Euro 6 diesel and Euro 4 petrol vehicles that are 

already licenced will be temporarily exempt from charges up to and including 

the 31st December 2021. 

Page 289



 

 

 

Finally, the council recognises that there is a limited supply of ultra-low 

emission or electric vehicles capable of carrying 5 or more passengers and we 

have reflected this feedback in our final proposals. Because of this, we have 

set the minimum emissions standard for Leeds licensed executive vehicles 

and vehicles capable of carrying between 5 and 7 passengers at Euro 6 diesel 

and Euro 4 petrol emissions standard rather than ultra-low emission standard. 

Our proposals also include sunset periods for all taxi/private hire vehicles 

capable of carrying 8 or more passengers. This sunset period will only apply to 

vehicles licensed before or on the 17th October 2018 and is proposed to expire 

after 31st December 2021. 

 

Back to contents. 

 

24. LCC should include liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) fuelled vehicles as a 

compliant form of vehicle as the NOx reductions are significant. 

Leeds City Council have listened to and considered this suggestion and we 

have updated our final proposals to accept liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) 

fuelled vehicles as compliant with the minimum emissions standards for the 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ). Additionally, we have updated our support 

packages (subject to government funding) to include interest-free loan support 

for LPG conversions. 

Back to contents. 

 

25. LCC should assist affected taxi/private hire owners by reducing costs 

associated with licensing of new vehicles. 

Leeds City Council’s licensing department is currently reviewing areas raised 

in feedback from the CAZ consultation including age criteria, emission 

standards, engine size conditions, spare wheel conditions and anti-glare glass 

(window tint) conditions. We have also announced multiple support packages, 

subject to government funding, that will help owners upgrade their non-

Page 290



 

 

compliant vehicles and reduce their contribution to air pollution. These support 

packages include an interest-free loan up to the value of £10,000 and an 

additional grant up to the value of £3,000 to help drivers upgrade to a petrol-

hybrid or electric vehicle. Alternatively, we will be offering an interest-free loan 

to help drivers convert their vehicle to run on liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) 

should they prefer this option. 

Back to contents. 

 

26. LCC should raise the maximum age allowed for vehicles being first 

licensed, as there is a limited supply of second hand petrol-hybrid or 

electric vehicles. 

Leeds City Council’s licensing department is currently reviewing areas raised 

in feedback from the CAZ consultation including age criteria, emission 

standards, engine size conditions, spare wheel conditions and anti-glare glass 

(window tint) conditions. We have also announced multiple support packages, 

subject to government funding, that will help owners upgrade their non-

compliant vehicles and reduce their contribution to air pollution. These include 

an interest-free loan up to the value of £10,000 and an additional grant up to 

the value of £3,000 to help drivers upgrade to a petrol-hybrid or electric 

vehicle. Alternatively, we will be offering an interest-free loan to help drivers 

convert their vehicle to run on liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) should they 

prefer this option. 

Back to contents. 

 

27. Many petrol-hybrid vehicles have limited luggage capacity and are 

impractical for some common taxi functions (for example, airport runs). 

There are four types of vehicle that will comply with the Clean Air Charging 

Zone’s (CAZ) minimum emission standards that will apply to most taxi and 

private hire vehicles capable of carrying four or fewer passengers by 2022: 

petrol-hybrid vehicles, plug-in hybrid vehicles, electric vehicles and liquefied 

petroleum gas (LPG) fuelled vehicles. 

Page 291



 

 

 

Like any vehicle, each of these vehicle types has its own advantages and 

disadvantages. We recommend that drivers choose the most suitable vehicle 

type for them based on their typical journeys and the way they work. 

 

Additionally, the council’s licensing department is currently reviewing spare 

wheel conditions as part of an expedited licensing review. If these conditions 

are relaxed, capacity for luggage would be increased in all taxi/private hire 

vehicles licensed by Leeds City Council. 

Back to contents. 

 

28. LCC should ensure that taxi/private hire vehicles registered outside the 

authority will also be charged, as to do otherwise would be unfair. 

Leeds City Council agree that it would be unfair to charge local taxi/private hire 

drivers without ensuring that non-compliant vehicles licensed by other local 

authorities will also be charged. Therefore, we will not charge any taxi/private 

hire vehicles until we can do so fairly using a national taxi database.  

 

The council is currently making representations to the government on the 

essential nature of a national taxi database being ready for the CAZ live date: 

6th January 2020. Without a national taxi database provided by the 

government, our automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) systems will not 

be able to identify—and therefore we would not be able to charge—non-

compliant taxi/private hire vehicles licensed by other authorities.  

Back to contents. 

 

29.  The CAZ will be unfair to drivers who take temporary leave from work 

but still drive within the CAZ boundary. 

Unfortunately, there is currently no practical way for our automatic number 

plate recognition (ANPR) system to recognise when a taxi or private hire 

vehicle is being driven for work or for private use. As a result, any non-

Page 292



 

 

compliant taxi or private hire vehicle driving within the Clean Air Charging 

Zone (CAZ) will be subject to either the daily or weekly charge. 

 

It remains our preference, however, that no taxi or private hire vehicle will 

need to be charged. Subject to government funding, we will be offering a 

range of support packages including an interest-free loan up to the value of 

£10,000 and an additional grant up to the value of £3,000 to help drivers 

upgrade to a petrol-hybrid or electric vehicle. Alternatively, we will be offering 

an interest-free loan to help drivers convert their vehicle to run on liquefied 

petroleum gas (LPG) should they prefer this option. 

Back to contents. 

 

30. LCC should ring-fence funding to ensure that it is shared equally among 

all taxi/private hire individuals and organisations rather than being 

dominated by larger companies. 

Leeds City Council understand the concerns that some smaller operators and 

individual drivers in the taxi and private hire sector have fed back to us. We 

are currently developing a policy that will enable us to distribute support for the 

sector to achieve compliance in the most equitable way possible and also 

comply with all relevant regulation and legislation. 

Back to contents. 

 

31. Private hire drivers should be allowed to use bus lanes to reduce their 

need to idle in traffic. 

Both the emissions per passenger and the road space taken up per passenger 

of buses is much lower than other vehicles; they help tackle both air pollution 

and congestion in the city. Because of this, it is a key ambition of Leeds City 

Council to double bus patronage by 2027. 

 

Whilst we understand that bus lanes are sometimes less convenient for 

drivers, we believe that limiting the number of vehicles that can use bus lanes 

Page 293



 

 

is vital to their effectiveness to ensure that buses are as quick, reliable and 

attractive as possible. That way, traffic congestion will be minimised for the 

benefit of everyone. 

Back to contents. 

 

32. The CAZ will be unfair to drivers of wheelchair accessible, vehicles as 

there are no petrol-hybrid of electric vehicles suitable for this purpose. 

Therefore, the policy will discriminate against disabled people.  

Leeds City Council have listened to the concerns and we agree that it would 

be unfair to force drivers of wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAVs) to pay a 

daily charge as there is a very limited supply of ultra-low emission vehicles 

(ULEV) suitable for wheelchairs currently available. We also recognise the 

valuable service these vehicles offer to disabled people. Therefore, our final 

proposals exempt from charges all WAVs used for taxi/private hire up to and 

including the 31st December 2021.  

Back to contents. 

 

33. The CAZ is unfair to taxi and private hire owners that have bought their 

vehicle on finance and are still paying monthly instalments. They cannot 

afford to upgrade their vehicle or pay charges. 

Leeds City Council have listened to the concerns of drivers who have 

purchased their vehicles on finance agreements and are still paying monthly 

instalments. As a result, we have announced sunset periods for drivers who 

have entered into an existing financial agreement prior to 17th October 2018 

and have an outstanding balance on their finance agreement as of January 

2020. This sunset period will apply up to and including the 31st December 

2021 or until the financial agreement is scheduled to end, whichever is 

soonest. 

Back to contents. 

 

Page 294



 

 

Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) Operator Specific 

34. The CAZ daily charge of £100 (announced in December 2016) for affected 

vehicles is too expensive. 

Leeds City Council have listened to these concerns and halved the daily 

charge to £50 per day for non-compliant heavy goods vehicles (HGVs), buses 

and coaches. Additionally, we have also announced several financial support 

packages—including grants worth up to £16,000—that will help non-compliant 

HGV operators transition to less polluting vehicles. These support packages 

are subject to government funding. 

Back to contents. 

 

35. The timescales for affected HGV operators to upgrade their vehicles 

before the implementation of the CAZ are too short and much shorter 

than typical replacement cycles. 

Leeds City Council understand the concerns that many HGV operators have 

and we are working hard to support all affected businesses. 

 

Like other cities, Leeds has a legal obligation directed by the government to 

reduce air pollution levels to within legal limits in the shortest possible 

timescale. Because of this, a phased in approach will not be possible. 

 

Working within these parameters we have done our best to give affected 

businesses as much time to prepare as possible. We were the first major city 

to announce and consult on our CAZ proposals and, by proposing for it go live 

from January 2020, we are giving affected businesses the maximum time to 

prepare. 

 

Our latest proposals also include several financial support packages—

including grants worth up to £16,000—to help affected businesses transition to 

cleaner vehicles within these short timescales. These support packages are 

Page 295



 

 

subject to government funding. 

Back to contents. 

 

36. LCC should introduce tapered/phased in charging for HGVs based on 

the minimum emissions standards of vehicles. 

Leeds City Council have considered requests for the implementation of either 

a phased in or tapered approach to charging heavy goods vehicles (HGVs). 

However, as there are only small differences in the emissions between Euro 3 

to Euro 5 emissions standards a tapered or phased in approach would mean 

charging some vehicles less money (or at a later date) despite vehicles 

emitting broadly equivalent levels of pollution. A tapered or phased in 

approach would therefore impact on the effectiveness of the Clean Air 

Charging Zone (CAZ) to reduce air pollution levels in Leeds to within legal 

limits in the shortest possible timescale. Subject to government funding, we 

will be offering financial support packages worth up to £16,000 to HGV 

operators affected to help them transition to less polluting vehicles. In addition 

to using funding towards retrofit solutions, operators may alternatively be able 

to use our financial assistance towards the cost of a new vehicle should the 

government accept our latest proposals. 

Back to contents. 

 

37. A national intercity charging policy is essential for HGV operators. 

We understand and appreciate these concerns. Leeds City Council is currently 

making representations to the government—who are taking responsibility for a 

national payment system—on the essential nature of an intercity charging 

policy. 

Back to contents. 

 

38. LCC should offer support packages that help operators to upgrade their 

vehicles, rather than fund a retrofit solution, as upgraded vehicles would 

have a higher residual value. 

Page 296



 

 

Leeds City Council have heard these concerns and we have proposed giving 

operators of affected heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) greater flexibility in how 

they use our financial support, worth up to £16,000. As an alternative to using 

our funding towards retrofit solutions operators will also be able to use the 

money towards the cost of a new vehicle. Applications for funding will each be 

assessed on a case by case basis and all financial support is subject to 

government funding. 

Back to contents. 

 

39. There is a limited supply of second-hand EU6 vehicles and an increasing 

demand (partly due to the introduction of Clean Air Zones) which is 

raising average prices and making them unaffordable for operators to 

buy without financial assistance. 

Leeds City Council have heard these concerns and, subject to government 

funding, we will be offering financial support packages worth up to £16,000 to 

affected heavy goods vehicle (HGV) operators to help them transition to less 

polluting vehicles. In addition to using funding towards retrofit solutions, 

operators may alternatively be able to use our financial assistance towards the 

cost of a new vehicle should the government accept our latest proposals. 

Back to contents. 

 

40.  The government should communicate with businesses at a national 

level and highlight the cities required to take action to encourage 

suppliers to upgrade their fleet, rather than passing on charges incurred 

or refusing to deliver to areas with CAZs. 

Leeds City Council have listened to these concerns and have fed them back to 

the government for their consideration. 

 

Back to contents. 

 

Page 297



 

 

41. LCC should exempt specialist HGVs if specific retrofitting solutions are 

not available. 

Leeds City Council have heard these concerns and we have proposed giving 

operators of affected heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) greater flexibility in how 

they use our financial support, worth up to £16,000. As an alternative to using 

our funding towards retrofit solutions or where retrofit solutions are not 

available, operators will also be able to use support funding towards the cost 

of a new vehicle. Applications for funding will each be assessed on a case by 

case basis and all financial support is subject to government funding. 

Back to contents. 

 

42. LCC should ensure that HGVs registered outside the country will also be 

charged, as to do otherwise would be unfair. 

Leeds City Council agree that it would be unfair to charge British heavy goods 

vehicles (HGVs) without ensuring that non-compliant vehicles licensed 

overseas will also be charged. We have received assurances from the 

government that there is a working party currently looking at the best solution 

to resolve this issue. Without a solution, our automatic number plate 

recognition (ANPR) systems will not be able to identify—and therefore we 

would not be able to charge—non-compliant HGVs that were licensed 

overseas. 

Back to contents. 

 

43. LCC should introduce tapered/phased charging according to the 

emissions standard of the vehicle. 

Leeds City Council have considered requests for the implementation of either 

a phased in or tapered approach to charging heavy goods vehicles (HGVs). 

However, as there are only small differences in the emissions between Euro 3 

to Euro 5 emissions standards a tapered or phased in approach would mean 

charging some vehicles less money (or at a later date) despite vehicles 

emitting broadly equivalent levels of pollution. A tapered or phased in 

Page 298



 

 

approach would therefore impact on the effectiveness of the Clean Air 

Charging Zone (CAZ) to reduce air pollution levels in Leeds to within legal 

limits in the shortest possible timescale. Subject to government funding, we 

will be offering financial support packages worth up to £16,000 to HGV 

operators affected to help them transition to less polluting vehicles. In addition 

to using funding towards retrofit solutions, operators may alternatively be able 

to use our financial assistance towards the cost of a new vehicle should the 

government accept our latest proposals. 

 

44. The CAZ will reduce the competitiveness of HGVs compared to LGVs. 

Like other cities, Leeds City Council has a legal obligation directed by the 

government to reduce air pollution levels to within legal limits in the shortest 

possible timescale. 

 

Throughout this process we will be working closely with all heavy goods 

vehicle (HGV) operators to provide them with advice, recommendations and 

support to ensure their competitiveness. We will be offering financial support 

packages worth up to £16,000 to affected HGV operators to help them 

transition to less polluting vehicles. In addition to using funding towards retrofit 

solutions, operators may alternatively be able to use our financial assistance 

towards the cost of a new vehicle should the government accept our latest 

proposals. More information about these support packages will be available on 

our website. 

 

In addition, charge revenue collected from the implementation of the CAZ (in 

excess of any administration costs) will be used to further support affected 

businesses move to cleaner vehicles. 

Back to contents. 

Buses/Coaches Specific 

Page 299



 

 

45. The CAZ daily charge of £100 (announced in December 2016) for affected 

vehicles is too expensive. 

Leeds City Council have listened to these concerns and have halved the daily 

charge to £50 per day for non-compliant heavy goods vehicles (HGVs), buses 

and coaches. Additionally, we have also announced several financial support 

packages, subject to government funding, that will help non-compliant bus and 

coach operators transition to less polluting vehicles. 

Back to contents. 

 

46. Less profitable bus services will receive service cuts as a result of the 

CAZ charges. 

This is very unlikely. As part of the city’s Connecting Leeds transport strategy, 

all three major bus companies (First Leeds, Arriva and Transdev) have 

committed to ensuring their vehicles meet the latest emissions standards by 

2020. With the help of £4.2 million in financial support managed by the West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA), each of the three major bus 

companies have already begun to phase in their newer, less polluting vehicles. 

These vehicles comply with the minimum emissions standards set out by the 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) and therefore would not be subject to CAZ 

charges. Additionally, bus passengers are exposed to some of the highest 

levels of air pollution and therefore will experience some of the biggest health 

benefits resulting from the CAZ. 

Back to contents. 

 

47. The timescales for affected non-scheduled bus and coach operators to 

upgrade their vehicles before the implementation of the CAZ are too 

short and are much shorter than typical replacement cycles. 

Leeds City Council understand the concerns that many bus and coach 

operators have regarding timescales and we are working hard to support all 

affected businesses. 

 

Page 300



 

 

Like other cities, Leeds has a legal obligation directed by the government to 

reduce air pollution levels to within legal limits in the shortest possible 

timescale. Because of this, a phased in approach will not be possible. 

 

Working within these parameters we have done our best to give affected 

businesses as much time to prepare as possible. We were the first major city 

to announce and consult on our CAZ proposals and, by proposing for it go live 

from January 2020, we are giving affected businesses the maximum time to 

prepare. 

 

Our latest proposals also include financial support packages (subject to 

government funding) worth up to £16,000 that will help affected businesses 

retrofit their vehicles to achieve compliance within these short timescales. 

Back to contents. 

 

48. The CAZ charges for bus and coaches are unfair as bus and coaches 

help to remove a large number of private cars away from the road 

network. 

Leeds City Council recognise that coaches and buses offer a vital service to 

residents in Leeds and play an important role in reducing the number of 

private cars on our roads. 

 

However, the council also recognise that buses and coaches are some of the 

worst polluting vehicles on the city’s roads in terms of pollution per vehicle. If 

we did not charge the worst polluting buses and coaches our modelling shows 

that the proposed Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) would not reduce air 

pollution to within legal limits.  

 

It remains our preference that no bus or coach will need to be charged. We will 

be offering a range of support packages (subject to government funding) to 

help operators upgrade their older vehicles to compliant vehicles and avoid 

Page 301



 

 

charges. 

Back to contents. 

 

49. It is unfair for the CAZ charges to affect buses and coaches but not cars. 

This will encourage more people to drive. 

Leeds City Council’s plans for a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) in 2020 will 

not charge private vehicles of any emissions standard for driving within the 

zone for numerous reasons.  

 

1) Our modelling shows that charging private vehicles is not necessary to 

reduce air pollution to within strict legal limits within the required timescale. By 

not charging private vehicles, we can reduce the economic impact of the 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) on the city whilst still achieving improvements 

in air quality. 

 

2) Due to the sheer number of vehicles that would need to be replaced before 

2020, charging private vehicles that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standard would simply be impractical.  

 

3) By limiting the CAZ charge to a smaller group of vehicles we are able to use 

any government funding we receive to provide more generous support that will 

better help owners of affected vehicles upgrade to cleaner models. To 

maximise the effectiveness of this support it is logical to target the most 

polluting vehicles. On a per vehicle basis private cars tend to be less polluting 

than taxis, buses and HGVs due to their small engine size and relatively low 

mileage. 

 

4) Independent testing of small vehicles has identified that the real-world 

emissions of many Euro 6 diesel cars are broadly similar to those of older 

vehicles. Therefore, encouraging drivers of older cars to switch to a Euro 6 

diesel vehicle through charges would not significantly reduce their emissions. 

Page 302



 

 

On the other hand, Euro 6 emissions engines in HGVs and buses have been 

demonstrated to be much less polluting. 

 

5) The financial burden of charging private vehicles would disproportionately 

affect the city’s less affluent communities who are more likely to have an older, 

non-compliant vehicle. We do not think it would be acceptable to pass such a 

regressive policy. 

 

6) There are some circumstances in which travelling by private car is the only 

realistic transport option, e.g. those who work irregular hours or who aren’t 

frequently served by nearby public transport services. We do not believe that it 

would be fair to charge private vehicles until feasible and practical alternatives 

to driving are widely and easily available. 

 

7) Charging private vehicles would encourage owners of non-compliant 

(mostly diesel) vehicles to purchase Euro 4 petrol vehicles as these would be 

the cheapest second-hand vehicles compliant with the minimum emission 

standards of the CAZ. While Euro 4 petrol vehicles do emit significantly less 

air pollution than diesel vehicles they also emit much greater levels of carbon 

dioxide (CO2) — a greenhouse gas that contributes to climate change. This 

would work against the council’s ambition of reducing carbon emissions 

across the city. 

 

Back to contents. 

 

50. The CAZ boundary would place operators with depots within the zone at 

a commercial disadvantage compared to operators outside of the zone, 

as they cannot choose which vehicles to send within it. 

Leeds City Council understand the concerns of operators based within the 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ). 

 

Page 303



 

 

Having listened to the concerns of many businesses expressed as part of our 

first consultation, we have reduced the boundary of the CAZ to mitigate the 

economic impact on businesses whilst still ensuring improvements in air 

quality both inside (and outside) of the CAZ.  

 

We are currently exploring whether minor adjustments can be made to the 

proposed boundary to further support businesses by excluding a small number 

of non-residential areas on the borders of the boundary with compliant levels 

of air quality. These adjustments will only be implemented if we are confident 

that they will not impact the effectiveness of the CAZ. 

 

Other than minor adjustments, the council cannot reduce the boundary any 

further without impacting the effectiveness of the CAZ. We are unable to make 

this trade-off due to our legal obligation to improve air quality. 

 

Like other cities, Leeds City Council has a legal obligation directed by the 

government to reduce air pollution levels to within legal limits in the shortest 

possible timescale. 

 

Throughout this process we will be working closely with all affected 

businesses to provide them with advice, recommendations and support. We 

have outlined a number of different financial support packages to help 

businesses upgrade or retrofit their vehicles and avoid charges, subject to 

funding by the government. Importantly, this support will be prioritised to help 

business located within the CAZ boundary. More information about these 

support packages will be available on our website.  

Back to contents. 

 

Businesses Specific 

Page 304



 

 

51. The CAZ will negatively impact my business/businesses in Leeds. 

Leeds City Council believe that it is important to support affected businesses 

in order for the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) to be most successful at 

reducing air pollution in the city. 

 

Having listened to the concerns of many businesses expressed as part of our 

first consultation, we have reduced the boundary of the CAZ to mitigate the 

economic impact on businesses whilst still ensuring improvements in air 

quality inside (and outside) of the CAZ.  

 

We are currently exploring whether minor adjustments can be made to the 

proposed boundary to further support businesses by excluding a small number 

of non-residential areas on the borders of the boundary with compliant levels 

of air quality. These adjustments will only be implemented if we are confident 

that they will not impact the effectiveness of the CAZ. 

 

Other than minor adjustments, the council cannot reduce the boundary any 

further without impacting the effectiveness of the CAZ and we are unable to 

make this trade-off due to our legal obligation to improve air quality. 

 

Like other cities, Leeds City Council has a legal obligation directed by the 

government to reduce air pollution levels to within legal limits in the shortest 

possible timescale. 

 

Throughout this process we will be working closely with all affected 

businesses to provide them with advice, recommendations and support to 

ensure the competitiveness of businesses based inside the zone. We have 

outlined a number of different financial support packages to help businesses 

upgrade or retrofit their vehicles and avoid charges, subject to funding by the 

government. Importantly, this support will be prioritised to help business 

located within the CAZ boundary. More information about these support 

Page 305



 

 

packages will be available on our website. 

Back to contents. 

 

52. Businesses need funding to implement measures that would reduce air 

pollution. 

Before and after the CAZ goes live in 2020, we will be working closely with all 

affected businesses to provide them with advice, recommendations and 

support.  

 

In our proposals, we have outlined a number of different financial support 

packages to help businesses upgrade or retrofit their vehicles, subject to 

funding by national government. More information about these support 

packages will be available on our website. 

Back to contents. 

 

53. LCC should offer businesses ‘sunset periods’ to give them time to adjust 

to charges. 

In some cases, LCC believe it is practical and fair to offer ‘sunset periods’ and 

exemptions (see below). In our latest plans we outlined plans to offer ‘sunset 

periods’ in the following circumstances: 

 

1) Organisations or individuals who have placed an order for a compliant 

vehicle or retrofit solution within six months of our proposals being approved 

by the government but, due to increased market demand or a limited supply, 

have not been able to receive the compliant vehicle or retrofit solution before 

6th January 2020. This sunset period will apply until the order has been 

delivered; 

 

2) Taxi and private hire vehicles that have purchased their vehicle as part of a 

financial agreement prior to 17th October 2018 and who have an outstanding 

balance on this agreement as of January 2020. This sunset period will apply 

Page 306



 

 

up to and including the 31st December 2021 or until the financial agreement is 

scheduled to end, whichever is soonest; 

 

3) Taxi and private hire vehicles that can carry 8 or more passengers. This 

sunset period will apply up to and including 31st December 2021, after which a 

Euro 6 diesel/Euro 4 petrol minimum emissions standard may apply; 

 

4) Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) used for taxi and private hire. This 

sunset period will apply up to and including the 31st December 2021, after 

which a Euro 6 diesel/Euro 4 petrol minimum emissions standard may apply. 

 

Whilst not everyone will be eligible to qualify for sunset periods, we will be 

working closely with all affected businesses before and after the CAZ goes live 

to provide them with advice, recommendations and financial support. In our 

plans, we outlined a range of generous support packages to help businesses 

upgrade or retrofit their vehicles, subject to funding by national government.  

Back to contents. 

 

54. The CAZ will negatively impact charities based in and working within 

Leeds and could threaten their operation. 

Leeds City Council have identified that most vehicles used by charities are 

classified as either private vehicles or light goods vehicles (LGVs) and 

therefore will not be subject to charges. 

 

We have also outlined a number of different financial support packages to help 

affected organisations upgrade or retrofit their vehicles and avoid charges, 

subject to funding by the government. Importantly, this support will be 

prioritised to help those located within the CAZ boundary. More information 

about these support packages will be available on our website. 

Back to contents. 

Page 307



 

 

Environmental Group Specific 

55. LCC should charge private vehicles that do not meet the minimum 

emissions standards by 2020. 

Leeds City Council’s plans for a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) in 2020 will 

not charge private vehicles of any emissions standard for driving within the 

zone for numerous reasons.  

 

1) Our modelling shows that charging private vehicles is not necessary to 

reduce air pollution to within strict legal limits within the required timescale. By 

not charging private vehicles, we can reduce the economic impact of the 

Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) on the city whilst still achieving improvements 

in air quality. 

 

2) Due to the sheer number of vehicles that would need to be replaced before 

2020, charging private vehicles that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standard would simply be impractical.  

 

3) By limiting the CAZ charge to a smaller group of vehicles we are able to use 

any government funding we receive to provide more generous support that will 

better help owners of affected vehicles upgrade to cleaner models. To 

maximise the effectiveness of this support it is logical to target the most 

polluting vehicles. On a per vehicle basis private cars tend to be less polluting 

than taxis, buses and HGVs due to their small engine size and relatively low 

mileage. 

 

4) Independent testing of small vehicles has identified that the real-world 

emissions of many Euro 6 diesel cars are broadly similar to those of older 

vehicles. Therefore, encouraging drivers of older cars to switch to a Euro 6 

diesel vehicle through charges would not significantly reduce their emissions. 

On the other hand, Euro 6 emissions engines in HGVs and buses have been 

Page 308



 

 

demonstrated to be much less polluting. 

 

5) The financial burden of charging private vehicles would disproportionately 

affect the city’s less affluent communities who are more likely to have an older, 

non-compliant vehicle. We do not think it would be acceptable to pass such a 

regressive policy. 

 

6) There are some circumstances in which travelling by private car is the only 

realistic transport option, e.g. those who work irregular hours or who aren’t 

frequently served by nearby public transport services. We do not believe that it 

would be fair to charge private vehicles until feasible and practical alternatives 

to driving are widely and easily available. 

 

7) Charging private vehicles would encourage owners of non-compliant 

(mostly diesel) vehicles to purchase Euro 4 petrol vehicles as these would be 

the cheapest second-hand vehicles compliant with the minimum emission 

standards of the CAZ. While Euro 4 petrol vehicles do emit significantly less 

air pollution than diesel vehicles they also emit much greater levels of carbon 

dioxide (CO2) — a greenhouse gas that contributes to climate change. This 

would work against the council’s ambition of reducing carbon emissions 

across the city. 

 

 

Leeds City Council’s plans for a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) in 2020 will 

not charge private vehicles of any emissions standard for driving within the 

zone. Due to the sheer number of vehicles that would need to be replaced 

within such a short timescale, charging private vehicles that do not meet the 

minimum emissions standard within this timeframe would be impractical. In 

addition, the financial burden of doing so would also disproportionately affect 

the city’s less affluent communities who are more likely to have an older, non-

compliant vehicle. 

Page 309



 

 

Back to contents. 

 

56. LCC should charge light goods vehicles (LGVs) that do not meet the 

minimum emissions standards by 2020. 

Leeds City Council have taken the decision not to charge LGVs because our 

modelling shows that doing so is not necessary to reduce air pollution to within 

strict legal limits within the required timescale and this will reduce the 

economic impact of the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) on the city.  

 

In addition, by limiting the charge to a smaller group of vehicles we are able to 

use any government funding we receive to provide more generous support 

packages that will better help owners of affected non-compliant vehicles to 

upgrade or retrofit their vehicles. 

Back to contents. 

 

57. LCC should not have reduced the proposed £100 daily charge to £50 for 

buses, coaches and HGVs that do not meet the minimum emissions 

standards. LCC should offer more financial support instead. 

Leeds City Council believe that it is important to support affected businesses 

in order for the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) to most effectively reduce air 

pollution in the city. We have outlined a range of generous support packages 

to help businesses upgrade or retrofit their vehicles.  

 

As a council, we believe that the primary objective of CAZ charges is to create 

an economic incentive that encourages business to reduce their own 

contribution to air pollution; it is not to punish businesses who cannot afford to 

upgrade their vehicle. 

 

Dozens of businesses from across the bus, coach and HGV sectors have 

raised concerns that daily charges of £100 for non-compliant vehicles would 

have a serious financial impact on their business. Our own analysis suggests 

Page 310



 

 

that a £50 charge would be just as effective at encouraging businesses to 

upgrade their vehicles. Therefore, we believe that reducing the daily charge to 

£50 is the best approach. 

 

Any financial support that we are able to offer is based on a finite amount of 

government funding. We cannot spend more than the funding we receive. 

Consequently, there are practical limits on the level of financial support that we 

are able to provide. 

Back to contents. 

 

58. LCC should minimise exemptions as much as possible to ensure that 

reductions in air pollution are maximised.  

Leeds City Council will only grant exemptions in cases where we believe it is 

practical and fair to do so. These exemptions will not significantly affect our 

ability to achieve air quality improvements in the shortest possible timescale. 

 

Our plans for a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) follow government guidance 

(the National Clean Air Zone Framework) and exempt the following vehicles 

from charges: 

 

1) Vehicles with a historic tax class (see https://www.gov.uk/historic-vehicles 

for eligibility); 

 

2) Military vehicles; 

 

3) Specialist vehicles that are non-road going but may drive on the public 

highway occasionally such as agricultural machines, digging machines, mobile 

cranes, etc. 

 

In addition, our plans will also exempt the following vehicles from charges: 

 

Page 311

https://www.gov.uk/historic-vehicles


 

 

4) Showmen’s guild vehicles (e.g. fairground and funfair vehicles); 

 

5) Non-commercial vintage buses aged between 20 – 39 years old (for a fixed 

number of days per year—currently anticipated to be 10 days); 

 

6) School buses above Euro 3 emissions standards; 

 

7) Vehicles driving within the zone because of a road diversion who would 

otherwise not have entered the CAZ; 

 

8) Emergency services vehicles. 

 

Back to contents. 

 

59. The proposed charge exemption for school buses EU3 and above is too 

lenient. Children are the worst affected by air pollution. 

School buses provide a vital service for schools and due to their low mileage, 

their overall contribution to air pollution is minimal.  

 

Any financial impact on this sector would mean schools diverting spending 

away from local students and would directly impact the ability for schools to 

deliver extracurricular activities for pupils, many of whom would not otherwise 

have access to these opportunities. As such, we believe that this proposed 

exemption is reasonable.  

 

In addition, any net revenue from the CAZ over and above any expenses 

incurred in connection with the scheme will only be used to facilitate the 

achievement of local transport policies. Government legislation restricts the 

council from using charge revenue for any other purpose. Upgrading school 

buses to cleaner vehicles is one of our top priorities for this money. 

Page 312



 

 

Back to contents. 

 

60. LCC should minimise diversions that enter the CAZ area to best improve 

air quality. 

Leeds City Council will only divert motorists into the Clean Air Charging Zone 

(CAZ) area where it is the most reasonable diversion to make. We expect that 

briefly diverting vehicles into the CAZ on occasion will have an insignificant 

impact on the city achieving its air quality targets. 

Back to contents. 

 

61. LCC should deliver anti-idling signage as well as effectively enforce 

idling offences—particularly in areas where members of society most 

vulnerable to the effects of air pollution dwell (i.e. outside schools and 

hospitals). 

Leeds City Council are taking a range of action to raise awareness and reduce 

the number of vehicles idling at schools and taxi ranks across the city: 

 

1) To raise awareness, schools will hold competitions where pupils will design 

anti-idling posters with the best entry being used for posters erected outside of 

schools. This will also be supported by a focused communications campaign 

across all schools in Leeds. 

 

2) Department for Transport (DfT) approved advisory signs will be erected at 

taxi ranks and other idling hot-spots around the city.  

 

3) Leeds City Council’s civil enforcement officers will be patrolling these areas 

and handing out leaflets intended to promote behaviour change and improve 

understanding of the consequences of poor air quality. This approach has 

been used in London and has been successful in changing the behaviour of 

idling drivers. By working together as a city to stop idling, we can all help 

tackle air pollution and protect the health of people in Leeds. 

Page 313



 

 

Back to contents. 

 

62. LCC should invest in public transport infrastructure and promote active 

travel. 

Leeds City Council are working hard to improve public transport and 

congestion in Leeds as part of the “Connecting Leeds” transport strategy 

developed in partnership with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

(WYCA).  

 

We’ve made a good start with cleaner buses, park and ride hubs, major 

highways improvements, cycling infrastructure and new train stations but the 

council has even more ambitious plans including more train stations, more bus 

stops, a new high frequency bus network, increased park and ride space, the 

East Leeds Orbital Road and much more. 

 

As part of the “Connecting Leeds” and longer-term transport strategy for the 

wider region led by the WYCA, work continues on proposals for a mass transit 

system with initial findings due to be released later this year. 

Back to contents. 

 

63. LCC should introduce more electric vehicle charge points in the city. 

Leeds City Council are working with a range of organisations, including the 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA), to support the development of 

charge points for electric vehicles across the city. Procurement is currently 

underway for the installation of up to 88 new rapid electric vehicle charge 

points across West Yorkshire by 2020—30 of which will be installed in 

Leeds—as a result of a successful joint funding bid submitted to the 

government by the WYCA on behalf of the county’s district councils. 

Back to contents. 

 

Page 314



 

 

64. LCC should offer subsidised car club membership, free public transport 

season tickets, and/or interest-free loans for residents to purchase e-

bikes. 

Leeds City Council fully support and actively encourage the use of car clubs, 

public transport and active travel as great ways for individuals to reduce their 

own impact on the environment. However, our support packages are based on 

a limited amount of government funding and we believe that it is fairest to 

prioritise financial support on those businesses and individuals directly 

impacted by the Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ). 

Back to contents. 

 

65. LCC should introduce more ambitious policies to achieve further air 

quality improvements in the future, including the introduction of a ULEV 

zone and car-free days. 

Our second consultation explained that Leeds City Council intended to take 

additional measures to further reduce air pollution by 2030 and asked 

respondents to share their views on a range of different ideas. 

 

We will begin to consider the future of the zone and additional measures to 

improve air quality in 2020. Any changes or additional measures we propose 

will be subject to further public consultation. 

Back to contents. 

 

66. LCC should implement the CAZ in 2019 to improve air quality sooner. 

Due to the scale of implementing a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) that covers 

more than half of Leeds, it is not practical to implement the CAZ in 2019. 

Back to contents. 

 

67. LCC should not have reduced the proposed CAZ area as this will reduce 

the health impacts of the CAZ in some of the most deprived areas in 

Leeds. 

Page 315



 

 

Before reducing the boundary of the proposed Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) 

Leeds City Council undertook detailed modelling and analysis to determine 

what impact this would have on air pollution. We found that reducing the 

boundary would not have a significant impact on air quality improvements 

(inside or outside of the zone) but would mitigate the economic impact on 

businesses within Leeds. Therefore, we believed that reducing the original 

boundary was the most reasonable action. 

Back to contents. 

 

68. LCC should encourage major employers in Leeds to reduce the need for 

individual travel by supporting car share, work from home, flexible 

working policies. 

Leeds City Council agree that businesses and other employers in the city have 

an important role to play in helping to realise our ambition for cleaner air in 

Leeds. 

 

Many businesses within the city have already pledged their commitment to 

tackling air pollution as a result of our ongoing engagement with the private 

sector and our work continues. We are currently putting together an employer 

toolkit with lots of advice and information on what businesses can do to help 

improve air quality in Leeds. This will include promoting car share, work from 

home and flexible working options. 

 

By working with local business and employers, we can protect the health of 

everyone in Leeds from the effects of polluted air. 

Back to contents. 

 

69. LCC should invest in broadband infrastructure to enable the wider 

rollout of work from home policies. 

As well as working in partnership with Openreach to deliver the Superfast 

West Yorkshire and York programme across Leeds and West Yorkshire, 

Page 316



 

 

Leeds City Council is working with broadband infrastructure providers to 

encourage investment in extensive broadband infrastructure networks so that 

households and businesses benefit from faster and more reliable internet 

connections. We are also encouraging employers to follow the council’s lead 

and implement work from home policies where appropriate. By helping to 

reduce commuter journeys into the city where appropriate, businesses can 

help reduce air pollution and protect the health of everyone in Leeds. 

Back to contents. 

 

70. LCC should implement a workplace parking levy (like Nottingham) and 

invest the revenue in subsidised transport and infrastructure investment. 

Our second consultation explained that Leeds City Council intended to take 

additional measures to further reduce air pollution by 2030 and asked 

respondents to share their views on a range of different ideas. We will 

consider this idea, and others, after we have successfully delivered and 

implemented the Clean Air Charging Zone in 2020. 

Back to contents. 

 

71. LCC should increase greenery across the city centre to absorb air 

pollution. 

Leeds City Council understand that access to nature and open spaces helps 

brings cities to life, improves our wellbeing and can also absorb air pollution. 

The council have already announced plans for more than 4 hectares of new 

green space in the city centre as part of South Bank Leeds, and we will be 

soon be announcing a new ‘Our Spaces’ strategy that sets out our vision for a 

greener, more accessible and more sustainable city centre. Finally, it remains 

the long-term ambition of the council to further develop green space in Leeds’ 

wider communities as well as the city centre. 

Back to contents. 

 

Page 317



 

 

72. LCC should encourage schools to promote walking buses. 

Leeds City Council are working closely with schools to raise awareness of air 

quality and encourage pupils and staff to travel sustainably. Every state school 

and academy in Leeds has a school travel plan setting out how the school will 

promote safe and sustainable school travel. Walking buses are one of many 

initiatives included within these plans. Other initiatives include Walk on 

Wednesday, Scootember, bike week, the Schools Yorkshire Tour and many 

more. 

 

The council are developing a toolkit for primary schools, to be downloadable 

from the Clean Air Leeds website that is packed with curriculum related lesson 

plans and handouts that can be used throughout the year to educate children 

about air pollution and its effects. 

 

We’re encouraging schools in Leeds to sign up to the Modeshift STARS 

accreditation scheme which encourages schools across the country to join in a 

major effort to encourage sustainable and active school travel in order to 

improve the health and wellbeing of children and young people. The council is 

also offering practical skills, training and travel plan support to schools. 

 

We regularly run competitions and other incentives for Leeds schools to get 

involved with. Dozens of schools participated in our Schools Yorkshire Tour, 

‘Green Miles’ and ‘Clean Air Leeds Champions’ competitions to encourage 

sustainable travel and raise awareness of air pollution, respectively. 

 

Finally we’re giving hundreds of scooters to primary schools across Leeds as 

part of the ‘Scoot the Route’ scheme, which will encourage children to swap 

four wheels for two and scoot to school instead of being driven. 

 

By working together as a city, we can best protect the health of everyone in 

Leeds. 

Page 318



 

 

Back to contents. 

 

73. LCC should encourage cycling amongst staff by providing showering 

facilities and secure cycle storage in our workplaces. 

Leeds City Council recognizes the many benefits of cycling, including its 

positive health effects and its role as an emission-free way to travel. To make 

it easier for our staff to leave the car at home and cycle to work instead a 

majority of our workplaces are equipped with cycle storage and showering 

facilities. In addition, council employees can also access an annual cycle to 

work scheme. 

Back to contents. 

 

 

 

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1. Title: Clean Air Zone – Final submission  

Is this a: 

       Strategy /Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 

If other, please specify 

Stakeholders 

        Services users                         Employees                         Trade Unions 

        Partners                                     Members                           Suppliers 

        Other please specify 

Potential barriers.                 

          Built environment                                 Location of premises and services 

          Information & Communication            Customer care 

         Timing                                                     Stereotypes and assumptions   

         Cost                                                        Consultation and involvement 

         Financial exclusion                               Employment and training 

         specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function 

Please specify 

 

 

This document is a supporting document (Appendix C) of the Executive Board report 
titled “Improving Air Quality within the city” published in October 2018.  

 

Directorate: Resources & Housing Service area: Sustainable Energy & Air 
Quality (SEAQ) 

Lead person: Polly Cook Contact number: 0113 3785845 

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment: 
21/09/18 

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment 

X   

  X 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

X 

X 

X

 

 

Page 321



1. What we assessed  

Leeds has been named as one the cities in the UK that will not be compliant with the 
mean annual average emission levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) required by regulations 
by 2020, in line with EU air quality minimum requirements. As a result, Leeds City 
Council is required to implement a solution to achieve compliance with EU & National air 
quality targets within the shortest possible timescale to deliver improvements to air 
quality in Leeds, consistent with other legal responsibilities. Whilst the need to achieve 
compliance is a legal requirement Leeds are in any event committed to improving the 
health and wellbeing of everyone in the city and taking appropriate steps to reduce 
pollution improves air quality and benefits us all. 

In September 2018, Leeds has proposed the implementation of a Clean Air Charging 
Zone (CAZ) Category B across a part of the cities geographical area to meet air quality 
national standards in the shortest possible timescales and improve the air quality for the 
whole city. This option would require buses, coaches, Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs), 
and taxi/private hire (T/PH) vehicles to comply with pre-determined emission standards 
or pay a daily charge if they travel in the zone. It is proposed that T/PH vehicles be 
required to move to a cleaner vehicle than a Euro 6 diesel or Euro 4 petrol such as a 
petrol hybrid, Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) or electric to avoid a CAZ charge.  

Category Proposed charge 

Buses, coaches & HGVs £50 per day 

Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicles  

£12.50 per day (non-Leeds licensed drivers) 

£12.50 per day up to £50 per week cap (Leeds licensed 

drivers)* 

 

For all of the impacted categories of vehicles there will be a package of measures 
(subject to Government funding) of support in order to mitigate the economic impact of 
the CAZ and assist companies in making the transition to cleaner less polluting vehicles.  

We submitted Executive Board reports in December 2017 and June 2018 which were 
both accompanied by interim Equality Impact Assessments (EIA). This EIA will bring 
together both of those with new information from the statutory consultation.  

 

2. Consultation with possible impacted groups 

Since January 2018 we have held two consultations with the people that live, work or 
visit Leeds. This included an initial consultation between 2nd January – 2nd March 2018 
and the statutory consultation which took place between 28th June – 12th August 2018.  

Page 322



During both consultations we carried out an online survey as well as holding face to face 
meetings with companies, trade organisations and events targeted at the business 
sectors that could be directly impacted if the proposed CAZ is approved. These sessions 
included ones held for the HGV sector, T/PH, bus and coach businesses1.We also held 
public events in the city that were open to all. 

Through the initial and statutory consultations we also raised awareness of the survey 
questionnaire by advertising throughout the city with postcards to every household and 
business in Leeds, over social media, in our community hubs, libraries and one stop 
shops. A dedicated email contact was also offered for anyone wishing to ask specific 
questions regarding the proposals.  

Engagement was also undertaken with children and young people through a schools 
specific questionnaire during the initial consultation, awareness raising through the 
Learning Improvement Service and Headteachers Forum. The Leeds Youth Council 
were also consulted on all the proposals during both the initial and statutory 
consultations. 

We had our highest response to any consultation in the city with over 8,500 responses 
to the first phase survey questionnaire. Even with this high number of responses, 
analysis of the results showed that there was under representation of the businesses 
that could be impacted if the CAZ was approved but we felt with all the qualitative work 
we had done with the business sector with events, meetings and working with the trade 
or representative organisations we were able to get a good understanding of the views 
of this sector. The questionnaire analysis also showed that there was an under 
representation in the respondents of some of the key equality characteristics such as 
gender, ethnicity, disabled and certain age groups. 

Equality 
characteristic 

Response % Leeds census % Difference % 

Age 18 – 29 13 27 14 
Age 65 + 15 18 3 
Gender – Female 37 51 14 
Disabled  7 17 10 
Ethnicity group 
Asian 

5 8 3 

Phase one consultation gaps2  

As part of the statutory consultation, we reviewed our methodologies to try to encourage 
those that were under represented to take part in the second consultation. When we 
again held consultation events for the impacted sectors we made sure that we removed 
barriers such as language by providing translators at T/PH events because English is 
not the first language for a large proportion of those engaged in this sector. We handed 
out leaflets at taxi ranks in the city centre to ensure T/PH drivers would be aware of the 
consultation events targeted specifically at their sector and included information in Urdu 

                                      
1 Further details can be found in Executive Board report appendix A.  
2 Only shown gaps that relate to EIA 

Page 323



and Punjabi, having identified from demographic data and consultation with voluntary 
sector groups, working with the relevant communities, that Urdu and Punjabi would be 
the most appropriate languages to include in written and spoken communications with 
T/PH drivers. 

In the city we have equality hubs which are based on the Equality Act 2010 protected 
characteristics of Lesbian Gay Bisexual and Trans (LGBT+), age, women, disability and 
religion/belief in Leeds. We asked the hubs to distribute the survey to their members. 
The hubs help ensure Leeds City Council is engaging with and involving the full range of 
citizens that live in Leeds in the consultation process and decisions it makes. We 
provided the consultation questionnaire in large font, audio cd, braille and paper on 
request.   

As with the first consultation we had many interactions with Leeds residents at the 
events that were held throughout the city as part of the statutory consultation and we 
held more targeted events and meeting to engage with the potentially impacted sectors. 
Full information on the survey results, demographic analysis and the detailed 
engagement we did can all be found in the appendices of the Executive Board report.3  

Exposure to air pollutants has been linked to adverse health effects. On average air 
pollution reduces life expectancy of every resident in the UK by 7-8 months4. Public 
Health England modelled that 29,000 deaths and 307,000 lost life years5 are attributed 
to annually to Particulate Matter (PM) 2.5 and NO2

6
.        In Leeds PM is not a factor in 

terms of non-compliance, we already meet the requirements standards and are close to 
meeting the higher standard set by the World Health Organisation (WHO) for PM 2.5 ; the 
focus for Leeds is NO2 reductions. However, improvement beyond compliance will 
continue to deliver further health benefits. 

The rest of this document will look at the positive and negative impacts on the protected 
characteristics and other areas that could be impacted by the introduction of a CAZ in 
Leeds. 

One of the impacts that is a positive impact for the city and wider region is the bus sector 
has benefited from the government funding with the Clean Bus Technology Fund 
(CBTF). Over £4m has been made available in Leeds and West Yorkshire to retrofit 
buses Euro VI standard. This would mean that over 200 buses would become compliant. 

 

3. Age 

Leeds has an projected population of almost 787,000 across 331,000 household making 
it the third largest city in the UK. Recent population projections show that Leeds is 

                                      
3 Link to appendices  
4 H. Brunt, et al – Air pollution, deprivation and health: understanding the relationships to add value to 
local air quality management policy and practice in Wales, UK, 2016 
5 Public Health England - Estimating Local Mortality Burdens associated with Particulate Air Pollution, 
2014 
6 Particulate Matter and Nitrogen dioxide 

Page 324



projected to increase to just over 826,000 by 2026. The biggest projected increases are 
in the age bands 15 and below and 65 and above.  Both these groups have been shown 
to be particularly vulnerable to poor air quality as well as pregnant women and those 
who have chronic conditions7.  

Leeds projected population increase 2017-2027 

Age band 2017 2027 % increase Number increase 

All Ages 786,846 826,332 5.0%  39,486  

Aged 0 to 15 150,830 161,947 7.3%  11,117  

Aged 16 to 64 513,941 526,090 2.3%  12,149  

Aged 65+ 121,398 138,511 14.0%  17,113  

ONS 2016 

The age groups are spread throughout the city and certain areas may have higher 
concentrations of a certain group but the modelling has shown that even though the 
proposed CAZ defined boundary only covers a proportion of the city, the air quality 
improvements will be felt throughout the city. 

For younger people we are aware that there could be an impact on school buses and we 
are looking to exempt state school buses that are above Euro 3 standard and we are 
offering grants to mitigate the cost of upgrading to a compliant vehicle. We have also 
sought to mitigate other journeys undertaken by schools to educational and sporting 
events, we are proposing that these journeys will also be exempt. Ensuring that school 
related travel by children and young people is not negatively impacted by the CAZ 
ensures an enriched curriculum can be maintained and specific activities to tackle 
childhood obesity and activity levels can continue. Further school bus compliance is 
intended to form part of future work.  

Leeds City Council is not just looking at the CAZ to improve the air quality. We have a 
number of initiatives that we are implementing throughout the city that will improve air 
quality further than the National or EU targets. Scoot to school is one of these initiatives 
which will provide a scooter to school children so they can use that instead of travelling 
by car to school, training on usage and educating both the children and parents on the 
advantages of not using the car for the school run. This initiative is targeted at school 
where there is a high number of vehicles used for the school run.  

Another strand of the work to improve air quality in the city is the creation of anti-idling 
zones which will be in place around schools and taxi ranks in the first instance to help 
improve the air quality. Vehicles stopped or parked will need to switch off their engines 
so reducing emissions and improving air quality in these locations.  

                                      
7 Royal College of Physicians – Every breath we take; The lifelong impact of air pollution, 2016 

Page 325



Children in each school will be involved in the publicising of the anti-idling zones with 
each school holding a competition to design a poster that will go up around their school 
and educating both parents, local drivers and children on the impact of idling on the air 
quality and subsequent negative impact on health.  

We also know that because we have an aging population that condition such as stroke 
and cardiovascular disease are more common in older people so this number could 
have increased since the last census and will continue to increase in the future. 
Improving air quality will have a positive impact on this group of people and we are 
currently exploring at how we can measure this nationally with the support of Public 
Health England. 

 

4. Carers 

No direct impact. 

 

5. Disabled 

Being disabled covers a wide range of people. This includes people with mental health 
conditions and those who are physically disabled. Some disabled people will have 
chronic conditions which can be impacted by air pollution. The European Environment 
Agency recently said: 

“Air pollution is the single largest environmental health risk in Europe and the disease 
burden resulting from air pollution is substantial (Lim et al., 2012; WHO, 2014). Heart 
disease and stroke are the most common reasons for premature death attributable to air 
pollution and are responsible for 80 % of cases; lung diseases and lung cancer follow 
(WHO, 2014). In addition to causing premature death, air pollution increases the 
incidence of a wide range of diseases (e.g. respiratory and cardiovascular diseases and 
cancer), with both long- and short-term health effects, including at levels below the 
existing WHO guideline values (WHO, 2016a, and references therein). The International 
Agency for Research on Cancer has classified air pollution in general, as well as PM8 as 
a separate component of air pollution mixtures, as carcinogenic (IARC, 2013).”9 

Below is a graphic that shows that all the broad types of chronic conditions that are 
impacted by poor air quality.  

                                      
8 Particulate Matter 
9  Air quality in Europe — 2017 report 

Page 326



 

Source EEA10 

By improving air quality we could improve the instances of some of the most common 
conditions that impacted by PM2.5

, PM10 and NO2. 

In Leeds as an example below this many people have the following conditions: 

Type of disease No. of people  % of Leeds 
population 

Chronic heart 
disease  

25557 2.90 

Stroke/TIA* 14532 1.65 
COPD** 17307 1.97 
Asthma 93175 10.58 

Data from GP practice systems in Leeds collected from the CCG Data Extraction Programme, 2018 
*transient ischemic attack, ** Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 

There has been lots of research into the impact of air pollution on heath and this area is 
being prioritised across the world. In the UK, the Chief Medical Officer used her latest 
annual report to talk about the health impacts of all pollution and it shows that more 
research needs to be done to make sure we learn as much as we can to counter this 
public health risk.11 

We know from the most recent census available in 2011 that 17% of the population 
stated that their day-to-day activities were limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months.  

Charging T/PH drivers may have had an impact on the availability of wheelchair 
accessible vehicle (WAV) and an increase in fares. To mitigate these impacts we are 
proposing to exempt WAV from the charge until the end of 2021. Disabled people may 
use T/PH but would not necessarily require a WAV, therefore to reduce the risk of any 

                                      
10 EEA, Air quality in Europe — 2017 report   
11 Annual report of the Chief Medical Officer 217 Health Impacts of All Pollution 

Page 327



charges being passed on disproportionately to disabled users support measures are 
available to all Leeds T/PH drivers to make the transition to cleaner vehicles. Once the 
CAZ is operational any net profits from the scheme will look at supporting WAV if in the 
future they were no longer exempt . 

 

6. Gender reassignment  

No direct impact. 

 

7. Race 

When it comes to race we know that poor air quality has an impact on some of the 
health conditions that are more prevalent in minority ethnic groups. When we last 
collected equality data from the T/PH drivers as part of the licensing process we had 
55% of the forms that had ethnicity data completed and it showed that 69% of drivers 
had identified themselves as British Pakistani/Kashmiri. 

As part of the proposed CAZ we have asked that T/PH vehicles meet a higher standard 
than is set out in the national CAZ Framework.   

There is a financial impact to this group but we are mitigating this by offering interest free 
loans to enable the purchase of compliant vehicles, transition grant to support the cost of 
switching to a new vehicle, LPG conversion grant which enables petrol vehicles to be 
converted to LPG. We are prioritising consultation on some licensing changes that would 
facilitate the transition to cleaner vehicles such as the age of first registration which will 
assist in supporting this sector as well so we can further mitigate any impact. 

There is also a list of exemptions detailed in the table in section 3.36 of the executive 
board. This includes vehicles that are under finance packages and already licensed 
Euro 6 diesel and Euro 4 petrol vehicles. Any exemption will be reviewed or be in place 
for a limited time to ensure that the shift to lower emission vehicles within the T/PH 
sector continues. 

There is also the positive impact of improving the impact of the air quality inside motor 
vehicles. Research12 is showing that emissions from exhaust fumes carried by 
ventilation system in motor vehicles are a significant source of air pollution. This is 
reflected in recently published research by Kings College London that has shown that 
diesel black cab drivers are exposed to nearly twice as much pollution as those driving 
an electric model.12b 

                                      
12 Bin Xu, Xiaokai Chen and Jianyin Xiong - Air quality inside motor vehicles’ cabins: A Review, 2016  
12bResearch funded by the Institute of Occupational Safety and Health and LEVC 

Page 328



We already know from the equality monitoring data for T/PH licensees that the majority 
of drivers have a South Asian heritage and they have a higher prevalence of certain 
diseases that can be impacted by poor air quality such as heart disease and stroke.13  

 

8. Religion 
 

No direct or indirect impact. 

 

9. Gender 

We know from the latest data from the Department for Transport14 that women use taxis 
more often than men but because of the support packages that we are proposing there 
should be no negative impact. 

The World Health Organisation (WHO)15 has shown that air pollution has been linked to 
health impact on fertility, pregnancy. These include negative effects on neural 
development and cognitive capacities which can continue to have an impact in later life. 

Improving air quality with the introduction of the CAZ and the other measures to improve 
air quality will benefit pregnant women. 

 

10. Sexual Orientation  

 

No direct impact. 

 

11. Economic disadvantage 

We are offering support packages for all three sectors to mitigate any economic 
disadvantage that could be caused by the introduction of the CAZ. 

Support packages (subject to Government funding) vary by sector but include access to 
interest free loans (T/PH), grants to support the transition to cleaner vehicles (T/PH, 
HGV, buses & coaches), weekly charge rates for Leeds based T/PH only, financial 
support for adding accredited retrofit technologies to vehicles (HGV, buses & coaches). 

                                      
13 https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/your-ethnicity-and-heart-disease 
14 Department for Transport, Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles Statistics: England 2017  
15 WHO, Regional office for Europe – Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution, 2013 

Page 329



With the range of support measures it is expected that the number of vehicles needing 
to pay daily charges will be reduced so mitigating economic impact and supporting local 
businesses. 

The revenue generated by the CAZ will be used to cover the costs of running the 
scheme in the first instance. Net proceeds will be used to implement further clean air 
measures in line with the requirements of the national clean air framework. The high 
level spending objectives for these net proceeds include mitigating economic impact to 
vehicles incurring the charge by offering support packages to upgrade and retrofit their 
vehicles and support the upgrade/retrofit of vehicles that have either been exempted or 
provided a sunset period. 

Support and mitigation will be offered to businesses in Leeds impacted by the CAZ 
through the administration of Government Clean Air Fund (CAF) grant money as well as 
through appropriate local exemptions. 

It is expected that even where a non-compliant vehicle is driven and charged within the 
zone in many instances the cost of the daily charge will be spread across multiple 
commercial sites or users. In the case of multi-drop deliveries for example the one £50 
would be ‘shared’ by all those receiving goods so reducing the pass on costs. Similarly a 
coach trip with over 50 passengers would see a price increase of less than £1 per 
person. 

More detailed information on the economic impact can be found in the Final Business 
Case16. 

12. Deprivation 

The government’s Indices of Deprivation (IoD) 2010 are the official measure of 
deprivation in England. Data from the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) indicates that 
over 150,000 people in Leeds live in areas that are ranked amongst the most deprived 
10% nationally. The health of people in Leeds is generally worse than the England 
average, which is strongly associated with the high levels of deprivation experienced by 
the 150,000 people in Leeds who are living in areas ranked amongst the most deprived 
10% nationally.17 There are significant health and wellbeing inequalities across Leeds 
with the gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived in the city of over 10 
year. One of the key priorities in our Best Council Plan is reducing the health inequalities 
and improving the health of the poorest fastest. 
 
Below is a map of the city which shows the areas are the most deprived in Leeds in red. 

                                      
16 Final business case : Economic case 
17 LCC – Deprivation, Deprivationhttps://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s62979/appendix 

Page 330



 
 
 
A recent study has shown that deprivation and health are inextricably linked18 . The CAZ 
will positively improve the air quality which is disproportionately experienced by the most 
deprived areas of the city. However, the CAZ will improve the air quality in the whole city 
as well as our ambition to improve the air quality further than the targets that have been 
set nationally and form the EU. 
 
 

                                      
18 H. Brunt, et al – Air pollution, deprivation and health: understanding the relationships to add value 
to local air quality management policy and practice in Wales, UK, 2016 

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report author: Andrew Molyneux 

Tel: 3787590 

 
Report of Director of City Development 
 
Report to Executive Board    
 
Date: 17 October 2018 
 
Subject: Street Lighting Energy Saving Programme  
 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  
Appendix number:  

 
 
Summary of main issues 

1. The street lighting energy saving programme supports the Council’s ambition to be 
an efficient and enterprising organisation and contributes in particular to the Best City 
priority on 21st-Century Infrastructure as set out in the Best Council Plan 2018/19 – 
2020/21.  

2. The council currently spends around £4.8m per annum on electricity to run the City’s 
street lights. Opportunities to reduce this annual cost are constantly sought.  

3. Executive Board approved a programme of selective part-night operation of street 
lights in 2013. Since that time over 3,700 of the 92,000 street lights have been 
converted to switch off at midnight and back on at around 5:30am. The majority of 
these are in residential streets. Around 1,500 street lights have been converted to 
LED technology. These changes have reduced the energy costs by around £140,000 
per annum 

4. As LED technology has improved and becomes more efficient there is now a 
compelling case to invest in this technology across the majority of the street lighting 
stock at an estimated cost of £25.4m providing savings of £3.4m per annum at 
current energy prices.  

5. Conversion of the majority of the lanterns to LED provides an opportunity to install 
remote monitoring and connectivity of street lights (CMS) to add Smart City 
capabilities at an estimated additional cost of £5m. This would bring the added 
benefit of increased energy savings in the region of £200,000 per annum, remote 
switching/dimming of lights and support the Council’s Smart City programme. 

Recommendations 

6. Executive Board is requested to: 

i. Consider and approve the business case to invest in the conversion of street 
lights to LED at an estimated cost of £25.4m. 

Page 333

Agenda Item 9



2 of 15 

ii. Consider and approve the business case and additional benefits to invest in the 
addition of remote control (CMS) at an estimated additional cost of £5m. 
Subject to assurances from the CMS provider that the data collected can be 
made openly available to the council. 

iii. Inject £25.4m into the Capital Programme and grant approval to spend to 
deliver the conversion of 86,000 street lighting units to LED technology. 

iv. Inject an additional £5m into the Capital Programme and grant approval to 
spend to add ‘Smart City’ remote control (CMS).  

v. Grant approval to the Director of City Development to conclude the contractual 
changes required in the Street Lighting PFI contract (and agree any related or 
ancillary documents) and implement the conversion to LED street lighting with 
or without remote control. 

vi. Note that the Chief Officer Highways and Transportation will be responsible for 
implementation. 

Page 334



 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

i. Seek approval to design and implement a scheme to convert existing street 
lighting to LED technology.. A programme costing an estimated £25.4m over 
4 years and resulting in estimated gross savings in energy and maintenance 
of £3.4m per annum and net savings of £29.78m over 20 years. 

ii. Seek approval to provide added benefit of incorporating ‘Smart City’ remote 
connectivity (CMS) to the street lights at the same time. Costing an additional 
£5m over 4 years and resulting in additional energy savings in the region of 
£200,000 per annum and opening up opportunities for city wide sensor and 
data capabilities.  

iii. Seek approval to conclude contract negotiations with the Street Lighting PFI 
provider and implement the conversion of street lights to LED technology. 

2. Background information 

2.1 Leeds City Council has responsibility for around 92,000 street lights, which 
consume approximately £4.8m of energy per annum. The service is delivered 
through a Private Finance Initiative agreement with Tay Valley Lighting (Leeds) 
Limited (TVL). TVL are responsible for the maintenance and replacement of street 
lights in Leeds over the 25 year period of July 2006 to July 2031. The outcomes to 
be achieved during the contract include improved road safety and a reduction in the 
fear of crime. Any proposals to reduce energy requirements need to be balanced 
with the continuing ability of the lighting to meet these objectives. 

2.2 In June 2013, Executive Board approved a spend-to-save initiative to convert up to 
8,000 street lights to part-night operation (turned off between midnight and 5:30am) 
where it was considered appropriate to do so. 3,759 street lights have now been 
converted to part-night operation at a cost to the council of £159,800, saving energy 
costs averaging £136,000 per annum. There has been no direct evidence of an 
increase in crime or an adverse effect on road safety in areas where street lights 
have been converted to part-night operation. 

2.3 In June 2017 Executive Board supported a public consultation to establish the views 
on the project so far and to inform next steps to exploring further energy savings. 
This consultation is now complete. The findings are summarised below and a 
comprehensive report is included at Appendix C to this report. 

2.4 The service has reviewed the cost benefit of low energy LED lighting. The 
increasing efficiency of lanterns coupled with escalating energy prices now makes it 
attractive to invest in replacing significant numbers of lanterns with LED units. This 
report presents the detail of this preferred option to pursue long term energy and 
maintenance savings 

2.5 Replacing the street lighting lanterns provides an opportunity to install smart lighting 
units that will facilitate the remote control of the street lights (allowing for greater 
energy savings). This will also provide connectivity to other sensors such as CCTV, 
air quality monitoring and other data uses. This connectivity comes at an extra cost 
which is further considered below.   

Page 335



 

3. Main issues 

3.1 Since the report to Executive Board in June 2017 a broader analysis of the costs 
and savings of converting the majority of the 92,000 lights across the district has 
been undertaken. TVL, the service provider has provided an outline business case 
that shows that the majority of standard lanterns (around 86,000 in number) could 
be converted to LED technology at a cost of £25.4m. This would result in annual 
energy savings in the region of £2.85m and as LED lighting requires less 
maintenance, further maintenance savings estimated at £0.57m per annum. A 
summary financial profile of this proposal is included in Appendix A.  

3.2 The remaining 6,000 street lights are already included to be replaced by LED units 
within the PFI contract over the remaining term of the contract.  

3.3 To develop the outline case into a workable investment requires a legal process to 
adjust the PFI obligations to reflect the difference in life cycle maintenance activities 
across the infrastructure and work with the supply chain to prepare for the potential 
delivery and exchange of around 90 lights every working day for a 4 year period. 

3.4 Subject to approval of the recommendations in this report the Director of City 
Development will develop the final legal agreement between the council and the 
street lighting service provider and proceed with the conversion to LED. It is hoped 
to be able to complete the process to begin the conversion of lighting units in 
Summer 2019. 

Smart Lighting Units 

3.5 The change to LED lanterns provides an opportunity to add a computer controlled 
Central Management System (CMS). Such a system would provide optimum, real 
time remote control and monitoring of street lights with the added benefit of 
providing connectivity to a greater number of sensors and devices to provide a 
Smart City network wherever there is a street light.  

3.6 The added benefit to street lighting control means that changes in policy around 
switching off, part-night switching, delayed switching or dimming can be 
implemented at no additional cost instantly and cheaply. Planned and reactive 
adjustments, due to events or incidents, will also become possible. The current 
system requires a visit to each lamp to alter its switching options and may require 
additional equipment to be fitted to each lamp. Furthermore, details relating to the 
operation of each street light will become available and may assist when dealing 
with accident claims, incident reviews and the like. 

3.7 Leeds City Council’s Smart Leeds programme is designed to deliver new innovative 
services and solutions which improve citizens’ lives, promote Leeds as a city ‘test 
bed’ where innovation is embraced, and build on existing foundations which have 
made Leeds a city where people want to live, visit and work. The Smart Lighting 
programme will directly support this agenda through providing a city wide 
infrastructure and connectivity allowing a range of sensor based services to be 
developed. Potential applications include: 

 Improved property monitoring contributing to lower social housing repair costs 

 Road Temperature assessment leading to more effective gritting 

 Environmental monitoring including air quality and temperature 

Page 336



 

 Gully sensors leading to better flood alleviation 

 A range of consumer health applications leading to reducing demand on social 
care and health services 

 

Opportunities that the use of CMS and Smart Cities technology have presented 
elsewhere include: 

 Newport City Council; winter road surface temperature monitoring 
 Halton Housing monitoring CO2, temperature and humidity in 

properties.  
 Bristol City Council allowing companies to test new smart technologies 

in a real world environment through street lighting connectivity and 
other networks. 

 Manchester City Council investing in 56,000 smart street lights to 
facilitate greater control of lighting energy and access to data from 
connected sensors. 

3.8 As the network is ‘open’ it will allow the digital sector of independent Developers 
and SMEs to create new innovative city wide solutions meeting major challenges 
and outcomes. 

3.9 An essential aspect of connectivity deployed at this scale is access to the 
underpinning data. The Council will insist and want assurance that the data 
collected from sensors utilising the Smart Lighting CMS system is made openly 
available, near real time so that further applications and services can be built on top 
of it. The deployment will not progress if this assurance cannot be met. 

3.10  A complete CMS system is estimated to cost around £5m for the whole of the 
street lighting network plus running costs of £92,000 per annum. The potential 
financial benefit to the authority and community is realised from lower management 
costs of the street lights (self-diagnosis, less need to inspect, more responsive 
repairs), greater energy savings from policy changes such as dimming (in the region 
of £200,000 per annum) and the unquantifiable benefit of connectivity to the 
increasing array of data sensors. 

3.11 The change to LED lanterns will facilitate the addition of a CMS system at any time 
in the future. The estimated cost of £5m above assumes the installation at the time 
of exchanging the lanterns to LED. The fitting of the system as a separate operation 
will incur an additional cost of just under £1m. 

Financial Plan 

3.12 Appendix A shows the anticipated profile of capital expenditure for each programme 
together with the net revenue cash inflows and outflows in respect of the prudential 
borrowing costs and savings in electricity/maintenance costs.    

3.13 On completion of the programme, the LED conversion programme is expected to 
deliver energy savings of circa £2.85M per annum (equivalent to circa 60% of the 
budgeted electricity costs for the overall street lighting function)  

3.14 Should the final business case meet with approval, the authority could take 
advantage of a proportion of the cost being met from interest free government 
backed funding through Salix Finance Limited (Salix). Salix will provide finance to 
the limit of the first five years energy savings. A specific technical case has been 

Page 337



 

submitted to Salix and on the basis of the resulting energy and carbon savings they 
have provisionally agreed to provide the full amount of funding for the conversion to 
LED.  

3.15 Any move to LED lighting will require a formal change to the PFI agreement. The 
beneficiaries of any change mechanism is dependent on which party instigates the 
change and how it is financed. If the change is funded entirely by the council (even 
with the support of Salix) then all of the savings on energy and maintenance will be 
retained by the council.  

LED lighting specification 

3.16 Some LED lighting can appear to be stark in nature, appearing to give off a whiter 
light than the current lighting systems. LED lights more readily represent daylight 
conditions.  

3.17 There has been a lot of press coverage regarding the deployment of LED light 
sources, this has mainly been aimed at the public lighting sector and, despite the 
obvious energy benefits, it relates to ‘concerns’ over the potential effect of these 
light sources on people as well as fauna and flora. When considering the effect of 
public lighting on people a major reference document to consider is the ‘Human 
responses to lighting based on LED solutions”. This was commissioned by the 
Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers and the Society of Light and 
Lighting and was undertaken by Public Health England. The resulting report advises 
that in normal use at normal viewer distances and exposure times then there is no 
concern with regard to public LED lighting installations. 

3.18 The white light has the benefit of increased vision and hence road safety but 
increased exposure to daylight conditions may have health concerns. How near 
artificial lighting is to daylight is measured by the Correlated Colour Temperature 
(CCT). On a clear day daylight has a temperature in excess of 6,000Kelvin (K). 
Generally, the standard LED offering used by most local authorities is 4,000K 
(neutral). Considering the guidance within the Public Health England Report, CCTs 
of around 4000K are likely to be more suitable for street lighting. The recommended 
CCT value for the lighting proposed in Leeds is 4,000K on Traffic routes for the 
maximum road safety where there is increased traffic interaction and 3,000K in 
residential streets where the risks are lower. Street lights of a CCT of 3000K 
consume slightly more energy than 4000K lights and whilst there is no evidence of 
4000k being detrimental to health it is considered appropriate to deliver the softer 
light in the less busy residential streets. 

4. Corporate considerations 

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 A formal public consultation on the options the Council is considering for the long 
term provision of street lighting in Leeds took place between 26 November 2017 
and 26 January 2018. The full report is included at Appendix C to this report. 

4.1.2 The options within the consultation included turning off more lights during the night, 
upgrading to more efficient LED lanterns, doing both, or making no changes. There 
were 2,106 responses submitted. This was an open public consultation. The 
demographic makeup was broadly in proportion to the Leeds population but 

Page 338



 

younger people (18 to 29) were underrepresented. The consultation gathered views 
on two options, a combination of both and some supplementary views. More than 
half (52.2%) of respondents preferred a combination of expansion of Part-Night 
lighting and conversion to LED lighting. Only 5.2% wanted no change to existing 
arrangements. 

4.1.3 The consultation results support limited expansion of part-night lighting. This would 
have the benefit of increased energy savings but offers little scope for any 
significant increase in numbers and hence benefit in this approach. There is clearly 
concern for crime and the feeling of being ‘less safe’. A limited increase in part-night 
operation alone is unlikely to meet the long term energy saving aspirations of the 
council and for this reason it is recommended not to extend part-night operation at 
this time. Part-night operation will be kept under review as part of the wider 
programme of energy savings.  

 

4.1.4 The Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning has given support 
to explore further energy saving measures. 

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

4.2.1 An equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment is included at 
Appendix B within this report.  

 

4.3 Council policies and best council plan 

4.3.1 Energy saving measures support the Council’s ambition to be an efficient and 
enterprising organisation and contributes in particular to the Best City priority on 
21st-Century Infrastructure as set out in the Best Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21. 

4.3.2 The addition of remote lighting control and wireless connectivity included with a 
CMS system supports the Council’s Smart City ambitions.  

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The capital investment required to convert 86,000 street lights to LED over a 4 year 
time-scale is estimated at £25.4m with resultant saving in energy and maintenance 
costs post completion of circa £3.4m per annum. 

4.4.2 The above savings are based on current budgeted tariffs, however, these tariffs are 
expected to come under increasing inflationary pressure. A £400K pressure on 
street lighting energy tariffs is already being forecast for 2018/19 with similar (if not 
greater) potential increases in energy costs expected over the medium to long term. 
The LED conversion programme will enable the council to significantly mitigate 
against these inflationary pressures.   

4.4.3 It is estimated that the programme of LED conversion will deliver 100% payback on 
the £25.4M capital investment during the first quarter of the 2028/29 financial year  
(circa 5 years after the completion of the 4 year conversion programme)  

Page 339



 

4.4.4 The conversion of street lighting to LED can be funded from Salix Finance Ltd with 
nil percent interest repayments over the subsequent five year period. The funding is 
reserved for Leeds project should we wish to accept. 

 

4.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

4.5.1 Under the current PFI agreement TVL have taken responsibility for all liabilities 
arising from the street lighting provision and apparatus. The proposal to alter the 
routine functioning of the lighting system will result in partial liabilities being returned 
to the council. 

4.5.2 An amendment to the PFI specification to permit a large scale roll-out of LED 
lanterns will require a formal change to the contract. Such notice will take into 
consideration the legal and financial implications of the proposal such as changes to 
maintenance regimes, guarantee periods and design risk.  

4.5.3 The energy saving cost estimates included within this report are based on energy 
charges at current tariff. All indications are that energy costs are likely to increase in 
future, making a more positive case to invest.  

4.5.4 The decision of Executive Board in relation to the recommendations is subject to 
call-in. 

 

 

4.6 Risk management 

4.6.1 The selection of any street lights previously converted to part-night operation is 
controlled by selection criteria and on-site risk assessment to manage the potential 
impact on fear of crime and road safety. 

4.6.2 The outcome of the measures so far taken has been monitored and to date there 
has been no direct evidence of any negative impact on crime and road safety. 

4.6.3 Contractual changes to the PFI agreement to facilitate large scale use of LED 
lanterns will be protected by a formal change notice. There will be limited changes 
to the risk allocation, particularly during the 4-year installation period and in relation 
to lifecycle to the extent that the LED change directly impacts on service delivery. 
The approval of Department for Transport/HM Treasury will be obtained before any 
changes to the PFI contract are agreed or implemented. 

4.6.4  A formal certification process for signing-off the installation of the LED lanterns will 
be incorporated to ensure that the LED lanterns are of satisfactory quality. 

4.6.5 The estimated savings within this proposal are based on current energy rates. This 
is considered to be conservative and any future increase in energy prices will result 
in a greater avoidance of expenditure noted here. 

4.6.6 Dialogue is on-going with TVL, however, TVL have indicated that they wish to seek 
to resolve a number of unrelated contractual disputes as part of this dialogue. Whilst 
the Council have stated a willingness to discuss these disputes separately, we have 
confirmed that they should not prevent the progression of any LED related contract 

Page 340



 

change. If we are unable to agree how best to move forward on these unrelated 
disputes, it could delay agreement relating to the LED formal contract change to the 
PFI agreement and therefore the start of works on site. 

5. Conclusions 

5.1 In excess of 3,700 street lights have been converted to part-night operation since 
2013 at a cost of £159,800, saving the council around £136,000 per annum. There 
is an opportunity to convert 86,000 street lights to LED lanterns at a cost of £25.4m. 
There is an option to add a CMS system that will facilitate greater control of the 
lighting and offer Smart City connectivity at an estimated additional cost of £5m. A 
public consultation has taken place to gather views on the existing energy saving 
measures and the potential to make further savings. The views expressed support 
limited increase in part-night lighting and conversion to more efficient LED lanterns. 
The conversion to LED offers greater savings but higher investment costs. 
Expansion of part-night lighting alone is unlikely to make savings in line with council 
aspirations. This report recommends the LED option subject to agreement with the 
PFI provider which is not expected to be unreasonably withheld. The conversion to 
LED could commence in Summer 2019 and is expected to take 4 years to 
complete. 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is requested to: 

i. Consider and approve the business case to invest in the conversion of 
street lights to LED at an estimated cost of £25.4m. 

ii. Consider and approve the business case and additional benefits to invest in 
the conversion of street lights to LED with remote control (CMS) at an 
estimated additional cost of £5m. Subject to assurances from the CMS 
provider that the data collected can be made openly available to the council. 

iii. Inject £25.4m into the Capital Programme and grant approval to spend to 
deliver the conversion of 86,000 street lighting units to LED technology. 

iv. Inject an additional £5m into the Capital Programme and grant approval to 
spend to add ‘Smart City’ remote control (CMS). 

v. Grant approval to the Director of City Development to conclude the 
contractual changes required in the Street Lighting PFI contract (and agree 
any related or ancillary documents) and implement the conversion to LED 
street lighting with or without remote control. 

vi. Note that the Chief Officer Highways and Transportation will be responsible 
for implementation.  

 

7. Background documents1  

7.1 None. 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 341



 

  

Page 342



 

Street Lighting Energy Saving Programme – Provisional Financial Plan Appendix A 
Conversion to LED (with and without Central Monitoring System) 
 

 

  

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
6

1
7

1
8

1
9

2
0

1
9
/2
0

2
0
/2
1

2
1
/2
2

2
2
/2
3

2
3
/2
4

2
4
/2
5

2
5
/2
6

2
6
/2
7

2
7
/2
8

2
8
/2
9

2
9
/3
0

3
0
/3
1

3
1
/3
2

3
2
/3
3

3
3
/3
4

3
4
/3
5

3
5
/3
6

3
6
/3
7

3
7
/3
8

3
8
/3
9

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

P
ro
gr
am

m
e
 C
o
st
s 
(C
ap
it
al
)

To
ta
l P

ro
gr
am

m
e
 C
o
st
s

7
.8
8

8
.2
5

4
.5
9

4
.7
2

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

2
5
.4
3

P
ru
d
e
n
ti
al
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
R
ep

ay
m
en

ts

To
ta
l P
ru
d
e
n
ti
al
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
C
o
st
s

0
.5
5

1
.1
3

1
.4
5

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.7
8

1
.2
3

3
2
.7
5

Sa
vi
n
gs

En
e
rg
y

(0
.7
9
)
(1
.3
9
)
(2
.2
1
)
(2
.4
2
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)

(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(2
.8
5
)
(5
2
.4
1
)

M
ai
n
te
n
an
ce

(0
.0
6
)
(0
.1
7
)
(0
.3
5
)
(0
.4
2
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)

(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(0
.5
7
)
(1
0
.1
2
)

Su
b
‐T
o
ta
l S
av
in
gs

(0
.8
5
)
(1
.5
6
)
(2
.5
6
)
(2
.8
4
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)

(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(3
.4
2
)
(6
2
.5
3
)

N
e
t 
C
as
h
fl
o
w

(0
.3
0
)
(0
.4
3
)
(1
.1
1
)
(1
.0
6
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)

(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(2
.1
9)

(2
9
.7
8
)

A
ss
u
m
e
 4
 y
e
ar
 p
ro
gr
am

m
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ci
n
g 
1
st
 A
p
ri
l 2
0
1
9
 ‐
 8
6
,0
0
0
 la
n
te
rn
s 
to
 b
e
 r
e
p
la
ce
d
 (
2
1
,5
0
0
 p
e
r 
an
n
u
m
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ci
n
g 
1
/4
/1
9
)

8
6
,0
0
0
la
n
te
rn
s

P
ru
d
e
n
ti
al
 b
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
co
st
s 
b
as
e
d
 o
n
 a
n
 in
te
re
st
 r
at
e 
o
f 
3
%
 o
ve
r 
a 
u
se
fu
l a
ss
e
t 
lif
e
 o
f 
1
9
 y
ea
rs
 

£
6
9
,8
1
4
b
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
co
st
s 
p
e
r 
£
M
 c
ap
it
al
 o
u
tl
ay
 p
e
r 
an
n
u
m

En
e
rg
y 
sa
vi
n
gs
 ‐
 a
ss
u
m
e
 £
2
.8
5
m
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
al
l 4
 p
h
as
es
 (
8
6
,0
0
0
 li
gh
ts
)

£
3
3
.1
4
A
ve
ra
ge
 e
n
e
rg
y 
sa
vi
n
g 
p
er
 la
n
te
rn
 p
e
r 
an
n
u
m

M
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 s
av
in
gs
 ‐
 £
0
.5
7
M
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
al
l 4
 p
h
as
e
s

£
6
.6
3
A
ve
ra
ge
 m

ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 s
av
in
g 
p
e
r 
la
n
te
rn
  p
e
r 
an
n
u
m

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
6

1
7

1
8

1
9

2
0

1
9
/2
0

2
0
/2
1

2
1
/2
2

2
2
/2
3

2
3
/2
4

2
4
/2
5

2
5
/2
6

2
6
/2
7

2
7
/2
8

2
8
/2
9

2
9
/3
0

3
0
/3
1

3
1
/3
2

3
2
/3
3

3
3
/3
4

3
4
/3
5

3
5
/3
6

3
6
/3
7

3
7
/3
8

3
8
/3
9

N
et
 C
as
h
 F
lo
w

(0
.3
0
)
(0
.4
3
)
(1
.1
1
)
(1
.0
6
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)

(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(1
.6
4
)
(2
.1
9
)
(2
9
.7
8
)

D
is
co
u
n
te
d
 C
as
h
 F
lo
w
 (
u
si
n
g 
a 
D
F 
o
f 
3
.5
%
)

(0
.3
0
)
(0
.4
2
)
(1
.0
4
)
(0
.9
6
)
(1
.4
3
)
(1
.3
8
)
(1
.3
4
)
(1
.2
9
)
(1
.2
5
)
(1
.2
1
)
(1
.1
7
)
(1
.1
3
)

(1
.0
9
)
(1
.0
5
)
(1
.0
2
)
(0
.9
8
)
(0
.9
5
)
(0
.9
2
)
(0
.8
9
)
(1
.1
4
)
(2
0
.9
5
)

D
is
co
u
n
t 
Fa
ct
o
r 
(3
.5
%
)

1
.0
0
0

0
.9
6
6

0
.9
3
4

0
.9
0
2

0
.8
7
1

0
.8
4
2

0
.8
1
4

0
.7
8
6

0
.7
5
9

0
.7
3
4

0
.7
0
9

0
.6
8
5

0
.6
6
2

0
.6
3
9

0
.6
1
8

0
.5
9
7

0
.5
7
7

0
.5
5
7

0
.5
3
8

0
.5
2
0

ST
R
EE
T 
LI
G
H
TI
N
G
 ‐
 C
O
N
V
ER

SI
O
N
 T
O
 L
ED

 ‐
 P
R
U
D
EN

TI
A
L 
B
O
R
R
O
W
IN
G
 B
U
SI
N
ES
S 
C
A
SE
 (
D
R
A
FT
) 
‐ 
Ex
cl
u
d
in
g 
C
e
n
tr
al
 M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g 
Sy
st
e
m

T
o
ta
l

T
o
ta
l

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
6

1
7

1
8

1
9

2
0

1
9
/2
0

2
0
/2
1

2
1
/2
2

2
2
/2
3

2
3
/2
4

2
4
/2
5

2
5
/2
6

2
6
/2
7

2
7
/2
8

2
8
/2
9

2
9
/3
0

3
0
/3
1

3
1
/3
2

3
2
/3
3

3
3
/3
4

3
4
/3
5

3
5
/3
6

3
6
/3
7

3
7
/3
8

3
8
/3
9

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

(£
M
)

P
ro
gr
am

m
e
 C
o
st
s 
(C
ap
it
al
)

To
ta
l P

ro
gr
am

m
e
 C
o
st
s

8
.7
0

9
.3
4

6
.1
4

6
.2
7

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

0
.0
0

3
0
.4
4

P
ru
d
e
n
ti
al
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
R
ep

ay
m
en

ts

To
ta
l P
ru
d
e
n
ti
al
 B
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
C
o
st
s

0
.6
1

1
.2
6

1
.6
9

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

2
.1
2

1
.5
2

3
9
.0
7

Sa
vi
n
gs

En
e
rg
y

(0
.8
4
)
(1
.4
9
)
(2
.3
7
)
(2
.5
9
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)

(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(3
.0
5
)
(5
6
.0
9
)

M
ai
n
te
n
an
ce

(0
.0
4
)
(0
.1
3
)
(0
.2
8
)
(0
.3
4
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)

(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)
(0
.4
8
)

(8
.4
7
)

Su
b
‐T
o
ta
l S
av
in
gs

(0
.8
8
)
(1
.6
2
)
(2
.6
5
)
(2
.9
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)

(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(3
.5
3
)
(6
4
.5
6
)

N
e
t 
C
as
h
fl
o
w

(0
.2
7
)
(0
.3
6
)
(0
.9
6
)
(0
.8
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)

(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(2
.0
1)

(2
5
.4
9
)

A
ss
u
m
e
 4
 y
e
ar
 p
ro
gr
am

m
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ci
n
g 
1
st
 A
p
ri
l 2
0
1
9
 ‐
 8
6
,0
0
0
 la
n
te
rn
s 
to
 b
e
 r
e
p
la
ce
d
 (
2
1
,5
0
0
 p
e
r 
an
n
u
m
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ci
n
g 
1
/4
/1
9
)

8
6
,0
0
0
la
n
te
rn
s

P
ru
d
e
n
ti
al
 b
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
co
st
s 
b
as
e
d
 o
n
 a
n
 in
te
re
st
 r
at
e 
o
f 
3
%
 o
ve
r 
a 
u
se
fu
l a
ss
e
t 
lif
e
 o
f 
1
9
 y
ea
rs
 

£
6
9
,8
1
4
b
o
rr
o
w
in
g 
co
st
s 
p
e
r 
£
M
 c
ap
it
al
 o
u
tl
ay
 p
e
r 
an
n
u
m

En
e
rg
y 
sa
vi
n
gs
 ‐
 a
ss
u
m
e
 £
2
.8
5
m
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
al
l 4
 p
h
as
es
 (
8
6
,0
0
0
 li
gh
ts
)

£
3
3
.1
4
A
ve
ra
ge
 e
n
e
rg
y 
sa
vi
n
g 
p
er
 la
n
te
rn
 p
e
r 
an
n
u
m

M
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 s
av
in
gs
 ‐
 £
0
.5
7
M
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
al
l 4
 p
h
as
e
s

£
6
.6
3
A
ve
ra
ge
 m

ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 s
av
in
g 
p
e
r 
la
n
te
rn
 p
e
r 
an
n
u
m

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
6

1
7

1
8

1
9

2
0

1
9
/2
0

2
0
/2
1

2
1
/2
2

2
2
/2
3

2
3
/2
4

2
4
/2
5

2
5
/2
6

2
6
/2
7

2
7
/2
8

2
8
/2
9

2
9
/3
0

3
0
/3
1

3
1
/3
2

3
2
/3
3

3
3
/3
4

3
4
/3
5

3
5
/3
6

3
6
/3
7

3
7
/3
8

3
8
/3
9

N
et
 C
as
h
 F
lo
w

(0
.2
7
)
(0
.3
6
)
(0
.9
6
)
(0
.8
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)

(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(1
.4
1
)
(2
.0
1
)
(2
5
.4
9
)

D
is
co
u
n
te
d
 C
as
h
 F
lo
w
 (
u
si
n
g 
a 
D
F 
o
f 
3
.5
%
)

(0
.2
7
)
(0
.3
5
)
(0
.9
0
)
(0
.7
3
)
(1
.2
2
)
(1
.1
8
)
(1
.1
4
)
(1
.1
0
)
(1
.0
7
)
(1
.0
3
)
(1
.0
0
)
(0
.9
6
)

(0
.9
3
)
(0
.9
0
)
(0
.8
7
)
(0
.8
4
)
(0
.8
1
)
(0
.7
8
)
(0
.7
6
)
(1
.0
5
)
(1
7
.8
9
)

D
is
co
u
n
t 
Fa
ct
o
r 
(3
.5
%
)

1
.0
0
0

0
.9
6
6

0
.9
3
4

0
.9
0
2

0
.8
7
1

0
.8
4
2

0
.8
1
4

0
.7
8
6

0
.7
5
9

0
.7
3
4

0
.7
0
9

0
.6
8
5

0
.6
6
2

0
.6
3
9

0
.6
1
8

0
.5
9
7

0
.5
7
7

0
.5
5
7

0
.5
3
8

0
.5
2
0

ST
R
EE
T 
LI
G
H
TI
N
G
 ‐
 C
O
N
V
ER

SI
O
N
 T
O
 L
ED

 ‐
 P
R
U
D
EN

TI
A
L 
B
O
R
R
O
W
IN
G
 B
U
SI
N
ES
S 
C
A
SE
 (
D
R
A
FT
) 
‐ 
In
cl
u
d
in
g 
C
e
n
tr
al
 M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g 
Sy
st
e
m

T
o
ta
l

T
o
ta
l

Page 343



 

Street Lighting Energy Saving Programme  Appendix B 

 

 

 

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Highways and 

Transportation 
Lead person: Ian Moore 
 

Contact number: 0113 3853120 

 
1. Title: Street Lighting Energy Saving Programme 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify 
 

 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Leeds City Council operates around 92,000 street lights, which used approximately 
£4.8million of energy during 2018/19. The service is already providing significant 
efficiencies in energy consumption through the use of low energy lamps and new lantern 
technology however, due to recent increases in the financial and environmental cost of 
electrical energy and the need to seek efficiencies across the provision of all council 
services, an exploration of ways to further reduce street lighting energy is required. 

This EIA assesses the impact of the proposals set out in the Report of the Director of 
City Development, entitled Street Lighting Energy Saving Programme 
 

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 344



 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users, 
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a 
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

  

Page 345



 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Andrew Molyneux 
 

Head of Highways 
Infrastructure 

5 September 2018 

Date screening completed 5 September 2018 
 

 
  

Page 346



 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 347



This page is intentionally left blank



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 1 of 32 
 

 

Appendix C  
Street Lighting Public Consultation 2017-18 

Report of Results 
 

Table of contents 
1. Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

2. Approach .................................................................................................................................. 1 

3. Executive summary .................................................................................................................. 2 

4. Analysis of respondents ........................................................................................................... 4 

5. Option A – Expansion of part-night operation .......................................................................... 5 

6. Option B – Conversion of street lights to LED lanterns .......................................................... 10 

7. Overall preferred option ......................................................................................................... 13 

8. Other ideas for the future of street lighting in Leeds .............................................................. 14 

9. Other questions ...................................................................................................................... 15 

10. Copy of public consultation document and questionnaire .................................................... 17 

 

1. Introduction 
 
A formal public consultation on the options the Council is considering for the long term provision of 
street lighting in Leeds took place between 26 November 2017 and 26 January 2018. The options 
included switching-off more lights during the night, upgrading to LED lanterns, doing both, or 
making no changes. 
 

2. Approach 
 
A consultation document was created to explain the proposals to the general public. A survey 
questionnaire accompanied this, allowing people to express their views on the options being 
considered by the Council. The design of these balanced the need to explain technical 
background information about each option against the need to make the content as engaging as 
possible to the average resident. 
 
The consultation document and questionnaire were available on the Council’s website. Paper 
copies were available on demand and were also sent to postal members of the Leeds Citizens’ 
Panel. A publicity campaign was run using a mixture of channels to reach a wide range of 
respondents from different backgrounds. These included bus advertising, social media 
advertising, press releases, Leeds Citizens’ Panel, the council’s website and social media 
channels, and screens in council buildings. 
 
The questionnaire included a mixture of closed ‘tick box’ questions and comments boxes. In this 
report, responses to the closed questions are presented as a proportion of the respondents 
choosing a particular answer option, excluding those who did not answer the question. Comments 
have been grouped into themes and counted. 
 
Public consultations help the Council to understand a range of opinions and gather evidence from 
stakeholders. When interpreting results, we should bear in mind that public consultations are 
different to surveys where a controlled sample is used, for example in political polling. Public 
consultations tend to attract responses from those with strong opinions. 

Page 349



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 2 of 32 
 

 

 

3. Executive summary 
 
Overall 
 
Respondents were asked what was their most preferred option overall. More than half (52.2%) of 
all respondents preferred Option C, a combination of options A and B: both more part-night 
operation and conversion to LED. Only 5.2% wanted no change to existing arrangements. 
 
Option A – Expansion of part-night operation 
 
More than two thirds of all respondents (69.8%) were supportive of expanding part-night operation 
of street lights in Leeds, while 28.2% were opposed. 
 
One of the main barriers to expanding part-night operation is the current criterion to avoid areas 
where crime levels are anything above average, which excludes half of all areas. Respondents 
were quite cautious about how crime should be taken into account. A third (33.6%) wanted the 
criterion to remain the same. More than half of all respondents (52.5%) would accept “somewhat 
above average” while only around a quarter (26.9%) would accept “considerably above average”. 
 
Among those supporting more part-night operation, the top reason was to “save money which can 
be spent on other public services” (91.7%), followed by “help reduce carbon emissions” (75.8%). 
 
Among those opposing more part-night operation, the top reason was “feeling less safe walking 
on a street without lighting” (88.7%), followed by concerns about crime (87.8%). 
 
Respondents aged 18 to 29 years and those who were out regularly during part-night period were 
more likely to be opposed to expansion. 
 
Option B – Conversion to LED lanterns 
 
More than three quarters of all respondents (77.8%) were supportive of the proposal to convert 
street lights in Leeds to LED lanterns, while 16.5% were opposed. 
 
Among those supportive of Option B, the top reason was “the money saved in the long term would 
be spent on other public services” (81.0%), followed by “reduce carbon emissions” (77.1%). 
 
Among those opposed to Option B, the top reason was “the upfront cost required is too high” 
(79.4%), closely followed by “payback period is too long…” (74.8%), and “existing street lights are 
too new to replace…” (72.2%). 
 
Other questions 
 
59.4% of all respondents opposed a rise in council tax “to fund street lighting as electricity costs 
rise” while 33.6% supported this idea. 
 
Ideas suggested by respondents for the future of street lighting in Leeds included: 
 A smart internet-connected system of street lights allowing changes to be made on-demand 
 Putting motion sensors or manual controls on each light 
 Switching-off alternate / a proportion of lights 
 Installing solar panels and batteries in each street light to power them 
 The Council generating its own cheap energy (e.g. solar farm) 
 

Page 350



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 3 of 32 
 

 

The vast majority of respondents (87%) found the information the Council provided for the public 
consultation very or quite useful.  

Page 351



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 4 of 32 
 

 

4. Analysis of respondents 
 
A total of 2,106 responses were received with most of these completed online (86%). There was a 
wide range of respondents from different age groups, ethnic groups, gender, and areas of Leeds. 
 
The make-up of respondents was broadly in proportion with the Leeds population (as compared to 
Census 2011), but the 18-29 age group and East North East area of Leeds were considerably 
underrepresented. Ethnic minorities were also somewhat underrepresented. 
 
A quarter of respondents said they went out between midnight and 5:30 am at least once per 
week. This is the switch-off period for street lights set for the part-night operation. 
 
Gender 
Table 1 

Answer choice Percent Count Comparison with Census 2011 

Female 45% 936 52% Residents of Leeds, aged 18 
and over only Male 54% 1128 48% 

Other 1% 15 No data 

answered 2079  
skipped 27 

 
Age group 
Table 2 

Answer choice Percent Count Comparison with Census 2011 

18 - 29 9% 172 27% Residents of Leeds, aged 18 
and over only 30 - 44 24% 500 26% 

45 - 64 44% 900 29% 

65 + 23% 477 18% 

answered 2049  
skipped 28 

There were also 29 respondents aged under 18 years. The consultation was not aimed at children. 
 
Ethnic group 
Table 3 

Answer choice Percent Count Comparison with Census 2011 

BME* 10% 196 17% Residents of Leeds, aged 18 
and over only White British 90% 1817 83% 

answered 2013  
skipped 93 

* This refers to all responses other than White: English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / British 
 
Disabled 
Table 4 

Answer choice Percent Count Comparison with Census 2011 

No 88% 244 92% All Leeds residents - day to day 
activities limited a lot Yes 12% 1832 8% 

answered 2076  
skipped 30 

 

Page 352



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 5 of 32 
 

 

Area of Leeds 
Table 5 

Wedge Percent Count Comparison with Census 2011 

East North East 16% 210 27% All Leeds residents 

South South East 38% 510 33% 

West North West 46% 618 40% 

answered 1338  
postcode invalid/skipped 768 73 of these did not live in Leeds.

 
Participation method 
Table 6 

Answer choice Percent Count 

Online form 86% 1812 

Paper form 14% 294 

 
Contact details provided 
Table 7 

Answer choice Percent Count 

Provided 45% 955 

Not provided 55% 1151 

 
On average, how often are you out between midnight and 5:30 am? 
Table 8 

Answer choice Percent Count 

More than 3 times a week 6% 123 

Between 2 and 3 times a week 8% 156 

Once a week 11% 231 

Between 1 and 4 times a month 16% 334 

Less than once a month 59% 1236 

answered 2080 
skipped 26 

 

5. Option A – Expansion of part-night operation 
 
The first section of the consultation document explained the option to switch off more street lights 
between midnight and 5:30 am. Respondents were provided with information about the amount of 
money that could be saved, the current criteria used for selecting suitable street lights, and 
academic research which indicates that reduced street lighting is not associated with road traffic 
collisions or crime. Respondents were then asked a series of questions. 
 
  

Page 353



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 6 of 32 
 

 

5.1 Support and opposition to part-night operation expansion 
 
More than two thirds of respondents (69.8%) were supportive of expanding part-night operation of 
street lights in Leeds, while 28.2% were opposed. 
 
Overall, do you support or oppose turning off more street lights in Leeds between midnight 
and 5:30 am (part-night operation)? 
Table 9 

Answer choice Percent Count 

1 Strongly support 29.6% 623 

2 Support 40.2% 847 

3 Oppose 13.3% 281 

4 Strongly oppose 14.9% 313 

5 Don’t know / not applicable 2.0% 42 

answered 2106 
skipped 0 

 
Differences by demographic groups 
 
Respondents were much more likely to be opposed to part-night operation if they went out 
regularly between midnight and 5:30 am. Among respondents who were out more than 3 times a 
week, 61% were opposed. Only 17% of those who went out less than once a month were 
opposed. 
 
Respondents aged 18-29 years were much more likely to oppose part-night operation, 48% of 
them compared with 23% of the 65+ age group. 28% of the 30-44 age group were opposed. 
 
5.2 Acceptability of crime levels when considering part-night operation 
 
One of the main barriers to expanding part-night operation is the current criterion to avoid areas 
where crime levels are anything above average during the switch-off period, which excludes half 
of all areas. This would need to be relaxed to allow significant expansion. Given this, respondents 
were asked: 
 
How cautious should we be around crime levels when thinking about part-night operation 
of street lighting? We should not consider a street for part-night operation if… 
Table 10 
Answer choice Percent Count 

1 Crime levels are considerably above average 26.9% 567 

2 Crime levels are somewhat above average 25.6% 539 

3 Crime levels are slightly above average 9.9% 208 

4 Crime levels are anything above average 33.6% 708 

5 Don't know / not applicable 4.0% 84 

Answered 2106 
Skipped 0 

 
Even though respondents had been shown academic research indicating reduced street lighting is 
not associated with crime, respondents remained quite cautious about how crime should be taken 
into account when choosing street lights for part-night operation. A third (33.6%) wanted the 

Page 354



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 7 of 32 
 

 

criterion to remain at “anything above average”. More than half of respondents (52.5%) would 
accept “somewhat above average” while only around a quarter (26.9%) would accept 
“considerably above average”. 
 
Comments about how crime should be treated when considering part-night operation 
 
More than a quarter of respondents made a comment about crime. The most common theme was 
a belief that streets are safer when lit (172 comments) while others were sceptical of the effect of 
street lights on crime (70). There were many comments about the way crime should be taken into 
account: 93 stating the type/context of crime needed considering, while some (32) were critical of 
the Council’s methodology. A desire for more police activity (56) and careful monitoring of the 
effects of switching-off street lights (48) were also expressed repeatedly. 
 
Table 11 
Theme of comment Count Example 

Believe streets are safer if 
lights are on at night 

172 "Public safety should be the first consideration. 
Removal of street lighting is likely to increase crime" 

Want type or context of 
crimes to be taken into 
account 

93 "It depends on the type of crime. I should think that 
absence of street lighting has little or no effect on 
burglaries, but it might well help muggers, rapists, and 
others who assault persons." 

Doubts that street lights 
reduce crime 

70 "Crime sadly is a fact of life. I do not believe there 
would be a huge increase in crime if we raised the 
level to allow more lights to be switched off." 

Desire for more police activity 56 "Turn lights off no matter the level of crime.  Have 
more police to deal with crime if necessary." 

Want effects on crime to be 
carefully monitored (then 
street lighting changed 
accordingly) 

48 "Is it possible to have a system which could be easily 
reversed if crime levels were affected? If so I think 
local people could be better reassured." 

Criticism or question about 
methodology 

32 "Average is flawed as a measure. If all areas are 
troubled with significant crime being below average 
does not equal safe." 

Generally concerned about 
crime and anti-social 
behaviour 

31 "People's safety should be the first priority and no price 
put on that." 

Believe residents/businesses 
should buy their own crime 
prevention measures 

27 "Crime prevention is not just about adequate lighting. 
Individuals have an obligation to put other crime 
prevention measures in place." 

Desire for more CCTV 23 "CCTV is more likely to deter crime than street lighting. 
It also works 24/7 in deterring crime." 

Believe crime will move to 
areas switched to part-night 
lighting (even if low crime 
now) 

15 "If current low crime areas went to part-time lighting, 
then they could turn into higher crime areas." 

Call for stronger penalties for 
criminals 

9 "A slap on the wrist doesn't work anymore whether 
lights are on or off." 

Page 355



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 8 of 32 
 

 

Want other sources of light in 
area to be taken into account 

9 "Maintain lighting in dark back streets...lessen lighting 
in residential streets which are used regularly by cars." 

Other / not applicable 41   
  Total comments 626 

 
5.3 Reasons for supporting part-night operation 
 
Respondents who were supportive of expanding part-night operation were asked for their reasons 
for this, ticking as many as they like. The most selected reason was “save money which can be 
spent on other public services” (91.7%), followed by “help reduce carbon emissions” (75.8%), and 
then knowing lighting would remain lit where it is “essential, e.g. hospitals, major junctions” 
(70.9%). 
 
One in ten respondents gave an ‘other’ reason which were grouped into themes. The most 
common theme was not a reason but a condition of their support: “as long as effects on safety are 
carefully considered” (29 comments). The next most frequent themes were a belief that night-time 
lighting was unnecessary (27) and a concern for the effects on wildlife of light at night (25). 
 
What are your reasons for supporting the expansion of part-night operation? (Tick all that 
apply) 
 
Table 12 
Answer choice Percent Count 

 It would save money which can be spent on other public services 91.7% 1348 

 Using less electricity would help reduce carbon emissions (climate 
change) 

75.8% 1114 

 Streets where lighting is essential (e.g. hospitals, major junctions) 
would remain lit regardless of the expansion 

70.9% 1042 

 Prefer to be able to see the night sky (reduces light pollution) 54.1% 796 

 Don’t like the artificial light at night when going to bed 29.0% 427 

 It is unlikely to have an effect on crime or road safety 30.0% 441 

 Other (please specify): 11.6% 170 

answered 1470 
skipped 636 

 
Other reasons for supporting 
Table 13 
Theme of comment Count 

Support as long as effects on safety are carefully considered 29 

Believe night-time lighting to be unnecessary / disproportionate 27 

Believe switch-off is better for wildlife and environment 25 

Support as long as money saved is spent wisely 13 

Like the reduction in light pollution 12 

Call for people to use their own lights / bring a torch 11 

Other / not applicable 18 

Total comments 135 

Page 356



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 9 of 32 
 

 

5.4 Reasons for opposing part-night operation 
 
Respondents who opposed expanding part-night operation were asked for their reasons for this, 
ticking as many as they like. The most selected reason was “feel less safe walking on a street 
without lighting” (88.7%), followed by concerns about crime (87.8%) and anti-social behaviour 
(81.2%). 
 
One in five respondents gave an ‘other’ reason which were grouped into themes. These were 
mainly used to emphasise reasons already ticked, e.g. worried about crime. Some respondents 
were concerned about the invisibility of hazards on footpaths or roads without lighting (18). 
 
What are your reasons for opposing the expansion of part-night operation? (Tick all that 
apply) 
Table 14 
Answer choice Percent Count 

 Feel less safe walking on a street without lighting 88.7% 524 

 Concerned about crime 87.8% 519 

 Concerned about anti-social behaviour 81.2% 480 

 It would unfairly affect people who need to be up at night or early in the 
morning 

65.3% 386 

 Concerned about road traffic accidents 55.7% 329 

 Feel that street lighting should be provided on all streets without 
restrictions 

48.1% 284 

 Feel that council tax would be less value for money if street lighting is 
reduced 

46.9% 277 

 Other (please specify): 19.8% 117 

answered 591 
skipped 1515 

 
Other reasons for opposing 
Table 15 
Theme of comment Count

Concerned about crime / fear for safety 33 

Believe part-night is poor value for money for taxpayers 24 

Concerned about road and footpath safety / hazards 18 

Concern for people who need to out (e.g. night workers) 17 

Prefer option B upgrading to LEDs 9 

Other / not applicable 17 

Total comments 118 

 
5.5 General comments about part-night operation 
 
Respondents had a further opportunity to comment on part-night operation in general. Most chose 
to emphasise their support or opposition. In addition, some asked for particular types of area to be 
avoid, e.g. residential areas, busy roads (46 comments), but there was no pattern: arguments 
were made both for and against the same types of areas to be lit. Some respondents (45) called 
for the selection or monitoring of effects to be done carefully, and others (23) preferred a different 
part-night period to the existing midnight to 5:30 am. 

Page 357



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 10 of 32 
 

 

 
Table 16 
Theme of comment Count 

General support or opposition (covered in previous questions) 279 

Prefer particular types of area to be avoided (e.g. residential, busy roads) 46 

Want careful selection of part-night lights and effects to be monitored 45 

Prefer a different part-night period (e.g. shorter, longer) 23 

Call for money to be saved / raised elsewhere 21 

Asks a question 13 

Other / not applicable 54 

Total comments 481 

 

6. Option B – Conversion of street lights to LED lanterns 
 
The second section of the consultation document explained the option to convert street lights to 
more energy efficient LED lanterns. Respondents were provided with information about the 
amount of money that could be saved in the long term, the upfront costs, and last street lights 
upgrade programme. Respondents were then asked a series of questions. 
 
6.1 Support and opposition to conversion to LED lanterns 
 
More than three quarters of respondents (77.8%) were supportive of the proposal to convert street 
lights in Leeds to LED lanterns, while 16.5% were opposed. 
 
Overall, do you support or oppose the proposal to convert street lights in Leeds to LED 
lanterns? 
Table 17 
Answer choice Percent Count 

1 Strongly support 42.5% 894 

2 Support 35.3% 743 

3 Oppose 10.9% 230 

4 Strongly oppose 5.6% 118 

5 Don’t know / not applicable 5.7% 121 

answered 2106 
skipped 0 

 
Differences by demographic groups 
There were no notable differences in opinion between different demographic groups (e.g. age). 
 
6.2 Reasons for supporting conversion to LED lanterns 
 
Respondents who were supportive of the conversion to LED were asked for their reasons for this, 
ticking as many as they like. The most selected reason was “the money saved in the long term 
would be spent on other public services” (81.0%), followed by “reduce carbon emissions” (77.1%), 
and then “electricity prices could use” (75.6%). 
 

Page 358



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 11 of 32 
 

 

Some respondents gave an ‘other’ reason which were grouped into themes. Many simply re-
emphasised their support (61 comments) while others stated their support was conditional on the 
projected savings being realised (51). 
 
What are your reasons for supporting the proposal to convert street lights to LED 
lanterns? (Tick all that apply) 
Table 18 
Answer choice Percent Count 

 The money saved in the long term would be spent on other public 
services 

81.0% 1324 

 Using less electricity would help reduce carbon emissions (climate 
change) 

77.1% 1260 

 Electricity prices could rise so we should use the most efficient lighting 
available 

75.6% 1235 

 The money saved in the long term would be worth the large upfront cost 67.6% 1104 

 Other (please specify): 17.2% 281 

answered 1634 
skipped 472 

 
Other reasons for supporting 
Table 19 
Theme of comment Count

General support for LED 61 

Support cost savings (as long as realised) 51 

Support but prefer incremental, not en-masse 34 

Prefer to option A (part-night) 29 

Like less light pollution / environmental benefits 24 

Support but worry about PFI / debt 10 

Other / not applicable 12 

Total comments 221 

 
6.3 Reasons for opposing conversion to LED lanterns 
 
Respondents who were opposed to the conversion to LED were asked for their reasons for this, 
ticking as many as they like. The most selected reason was “the upfront cost required is too high” 
(79.4%), closely followed by “the payback period is too long before the savings can be spent on 
other public services” (74.8%). Many of those opposed (72.2%) felt that the existing street lights 
were too new to replace at present. The consultation document included information that the 
Council had only recently completed upgrading its street lights following a programme which 
started in 2006. 
 
Some respondents gave ‘other’ reasons which were grouped into themes. The most common 
theme was a desire for LED replacements to be made as each light fails rather than en-masse. 
Others were concerned about the aesthetic and effectiveness of LED lights. 
 
  

Page 359



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 12 of 32 
 

 

What are your reasons for opposing the proposal to convert street lights to LED lanterns? 
(Tick all that apply) 
Table 20 

Answer choice Percent Count 

 The upfront cost required is too high for the Council to take on such a 
debt 

79.4% 274 

 The ‘payback’ period is too long before the savings can be spent on 
other public services 

74.8% 258 

 Street lights in Leeds are relatively new so the Council should wait until 
these are older before replacing them 

72.2% 249 

 The Council should wait a few years to see if the cost of LED lanterns 
falls further 

56.8% 196 

 Other (please specify): 31.0% 107 

answered 345 
skipped 1761 

 
Other reasons for opposing 
Table 21 
Theme of comment Count 

Replace each light with LED as it fails rather than en-masse 23 

Concern about effectiveness / aesthetic of LED light 22 

Lack confidence in savings estimates / value for money 17 

Concerned about PFI or outsourcing 15 

Even better / cheaper lighting technology will be developed soon 13 

LED light may have negative health affects (humans/wildlife) 8 

Other / not applicable 10 

Total comments 108 

 
6.4 General comments about conversion to LED lanterns 
 
Respondents had a further opportunity to comment on part-night operation in general. 
 
A desire for the conversion to be done gradually rather than en-masse (starting with the oldest or 
most costly to run lights) was the most common theme but also appeared in earlier questions. 
Overall 7.7% (163) of all respondents expressed this with a spread across both those who 
opposed and supported the proposal, and those who were unsure. 
 
The next most common theme was “concern about Private Finance Initiatives or debts” (50 
comments) followed by concerns about the type of light emitted by some types of LED lights, e.g. 
blue light effects on biological functions, light pollution (43 comments). 
 
Table 22 
Theme of comment Count 

General support or opposition (covered earlier) 229 

Convert to LED gradually starting with oldest or most costly lights 113 

Concern about PFI / debts 50 

Concern about type light emitted (white vs blue light, health effects, light pollution) 43 

Want more information / asks question 36 

Page 360



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 13 of 32 
 

 

Other / not applicable 50 

Total comments 521 

 

7. Overall preferred option 
 
After being provided with information and asked questions about each proposed option, 
respondents were then asked: 
 
Thinking about all the options explained in this public consultation, please select the one 
that you support the most. 
Figure 1 
 

 
 
More than half (52.2%) of respondents preferred Option C, a combination of options A and B: both 
more part-night operation and conversion to LED. Only 5.2% wanted no change to existing 
arrangements. All 2,106 respondents answered the question. 
 
On the other hand, this should be set in the context of the other questions in the consultation 
questionnaire. The majority of respondents remained quite cautious about how crime should be 
taken into account when choosing street lights for part-night operation (see section 5.2) which 
would limit the size of the expansion. Some respondents have concerns about the details of the 
LED lighting such the en-masse vs. incremental, debt, type of light, and quality (see sections 6.2 
and 6.4). 
 

  

16%

27%

52%

5%

1%
Option A – Expansion of part-
night operation to more street 
lights in Leeds

Option B – Conversion of 
street lights to LED lanterns

Option C – Combination of 
option A and option B

Option D – No changes to 
existing arrangements

Don't know / not applicable

Page 361



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 14 of 32 
 

 

8. Other ideas for the future of street lighting in Leeds 
 
As well as commenting on the Council’s proposed options, some respondents also made 
suggestions of alternative or supplementary ideas for the future of street lighting in Leeds. 
 
Switch-off alternate / a proportion of street lights in each street 
A frequent idea was turning off a proportion of lights on a street, for example 1 in 3 or removing 
these entirely. This also appeared in the last public consultation in 2013. This is primarily avoided 
because of concerns that drivers’ vision is unable to adapt quickly enough to the on/off different in 
light levels along a street leading to a potential increase in accidents. 
 
Put sensors or manual controls on each street light 
There were various suggestions about putting motion sensors or manual controls on each street 
light so they are only switched-on when pedestrians or cars are nearby. 
 
Smart internet-connected system of street lights allowing changes to be made on-demand 
based on live data 
A detailed suggestion was submitted for a smart lighting system where lampposts would be part of 
a network of city-wide sensors communicating with each other. For example, as motion is 
detected on the first lamppost on a road, the others will light up to provide a stable source of light 
until the vehicle or pedestrian leaves. The sensor data could also be put to other uses. The 
respondent noted a few companies are already providing this in some UK cities and towns. 
 
Council to generate its own green electricity for lights 
There were some suggestions that the cost of electricity for street lighting could be reduced if the 
Council generated its own power on a large scale (e.g. solar farm) and there would be additional 
benefits in lowering carbon emissions. 
 
Use solar panels on each street light to power it (with a battery for night-time usage) 
A frequent suggestion was to make the street lights self-powering by attaching solar panels and 
batteries. The costs of installation, additional maintenance costs, and reliability would need to be 
examined carefully. 
 
Dim the street lights to reduce the electricity usage 
This was another fairly frequent suggestion. 
 
Encourage / support / subsidise home security measures 
Some respondents wished the Council to encourage or even support (financially) residents to 
install home security measures, e.g. security lights. 
 
Make some street lights electric vehicle charging points 
Some respondents made the suggestion which has been done in some UK cities, e.g. London. 
 

  

Page 362



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 15 of 32 
 

 

9. Other questions 
 
9.1 Rise in council tax 
 
Would you support or oppose an increase in council tax to fund street lighting as 
electricity costs rise? 
 
59.4% opposed a rise in council tax “to fund street lighting as electricity costs rise” while 33.6% 
supported this idea. 
 
Table 23 
Answer choice Percent Count 

1 Strongly support 5.9% 125 

2 Support 27.7% 584 

3 Oppose 34.2% 720 

4 Strongly oppose 25.2% 531 

5 Don’t know / not applicable 6.9% 146 

answered 2106 
skipped 0 

 
9.2 General comments about the future of street lighting in Leeds 
 
At the end of the consultation questionnaire, respondents were given a final opportunity to make 
further comments about the future of street lighting in Leeds. Many of these re-emphasised points 
made earlier and many were ideas covered in section 8. A selection of comments is shown below. 
 
"Leeds Climate Commission...are looking at schemes that could help Leeds to meet its carbon 
emission reduction targets and are interested in how these schemes could be financed too." 
 
“Hold on chaps before you spend millions on new lamps…Go to the Hong Kong International 
Lighting Fair in April and find out the real cost before committing to a PFI type price that will be 
brutally high.” 
 
“I'm wondering why LED lights were not installed when many lights were changed recently [2006 
replacement programme]. Need to be thinking long term when so much money is at stake.” 
 
“I am in favour of taxation to pay for services, but opposed to increases to pay for non-essential 
services such as street lighting which would be considered a luxury in a lot of places. Leeds has 
many needs that should take priority.” 
 
“I don't think it is acceptable to raise council tax in order to fund something which is a necessity. If 
anything, the council should be trying to find ways to pressure electricity suppliers into a fairer 
supply and cost scheme.” 
 
“Please consider the impact [of lighting] on nature. This is not a side issue, but essential to our 
wellbeing.” 
 
  

Page 363



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 16 of 32 
 

 

9.3 Awareness of street lighting as a council service 
 
Just 2.2% of respondents said they were unaware that Leeds City Council provides street lighting. 
 
Before hearing about this consultation, did you know that Leeds City Council provides 
street lighting? 
Table 24 
Answer choice Percent Count 

1 Yes – I did know 97.8% 2060 

2 No – I didn't know 2.2% 46 

answered 2106 
skipped 0 

 
9.4 Experience of participating in the public consultation 
 
The vast majority of respondents (87%) found the information provided for the consultation very or 
quite useful. When given the opportunity to comment, some respondents said that more detailed 
information would help and while others would prefer less. Some were not confident that the 
Council would take public views into account when making the decision. 
 
How useful was the information provided in this public consultation? 
Table 25 
Answer choice Percent Count 

1 Very useful 47.2% 995 

2 Quite useful 39.9% 840 

3 Slightly useful 8.7% 183 

4 Not useful at all 0.6% 13 

5 Don't know / not applicable 3.6% 75 

answered 2106 
skipped 0 

 
Table 26 
Theme of comment Count Example 

Desired more detail / 
information missing 

33 "Information on the lifetime and maintenance costs of 
current lighting would put the LED proposals into context." 

Found information useful 30 “An excellent document describing the issues and options 
clearly.” 

Grateful to have been 
consulted 

24 "It's great to see a council engaging with its public and 
demonstrating they care about our thoughts, as opposed to 
just making large choices without the public's voice.” 

Not confident the Council 
will properly consider the 
responses 

19 "My experience of public consultations is that matters are 
already decided and it is just lip service, hope I am wrong." 

Felt too much 
information was provided 

10 "There is quite a lot to read which might put some people 
off." 

Other / not applicable 32   
  Total comments 148 

 
 

Page 364



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 17 of 32 
 

 

10. Copy of public consultation document and questionnaire

 

Page 365



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 18 of 32 
 

 

 

 

Page 366



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 19 of 32 
 

 

 

 

Page 367



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 20 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 368



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 21 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 369



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 22 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 370



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 23 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 371



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 24 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 372



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 25 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 373



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 26 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 374



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 27 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 375



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 28 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 376



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 29 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 377



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 30 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 378



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 31 of 32 
 

 

 

Page 379



Street Lighting Public Consultation Report  Page 32 of 32 
 

 

 
 

Page 380



 

 

Report of the Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 17 October 2018 

Subject: ESTABLISHMENT OF A JOINT URBAN TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT AND 
CONTROL SERVICE FOR WEST YORKSHIRE 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Guiseley and Rawdon, Otley and 
Yeadon, Horsforth, Kirkstall 

  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? 

 

  Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to provide information to the Council’s Executive 
about the proposals for establishment of a combined Urban Traffic Management 
and Control service for West Yorkshire (West Yorkshire UTMC).  It sets out the 
background to the development of the proposal, arrangements for its funding 
both in terms of initial development and future operation and requests 
endorsement to the strategic principle of a combined service and its hosting by 
Leeds City Council.  Approval is sought to progress with arrangements for 
establishing the service including the initiation of  formal processes and 
consultation with staff and Trade Unions  pursuant  to the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment ) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). 

2. The establishment of an agreed West Yorkshire UTMC Service would benefit 
Leeds and the West Yorkshire authorities in delivering a more resilient and cost-
efficient service using capital funding allocated from the West Yorkshire 

 
Report author:  Andrew Hall  

Tel:  0113 378 7589 

Page 381

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Combined Authority’s West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund to facilitate the 
changes needs and new investment in the core UTMC system infrastructure. 

3. The new service would take over responsibility for the design of new traffic 
signal installations for all of West Yorkshire and would be responsible for their 
operation, coordination and maintenance under the governance of a Service 
Level Agreement.  The Local Authority would however retain ownership of the 
traffic signal asset together with continuing responsibility for payment of 
associated energy costs. 

4. The key benefits of the West Yorkshire UTMC Service would be: 

a. Provision of a resilient, well resourced, UTMC service able to maximise the 
opportunities afforded by economies of scale and efficiency at a time of 
economic austerity; 

b. Clearly demonstrating to the Department for Transport that the West 
Yorkshire authorities can work together; 

c. Provision of a consistent UTMC service across West Yorkshire; 

d. Provision of better management of congestion to unlock capacity over the 
highway network with greater capability to exploit and develop new and 
emerging technologies; 

e. Improved journey time reliability for highway travel; 

f. A more resilient service which has the capacity and ability to respond and 
better manage unplanned events and incidents, including the potential to 
expand operational hours;  

g. Improvements to air quality; and 

h. Increased employment and promotion of economic growth by the completion 
of transport schemes across West Yorkshire regardless of administrative 
boundaries. 

5. Initial discussions into the possibility of establishing a joint service have taken place 
between the Council Leaders and Chief Executives. As a result of these discussions 
agreement in principal has been reach to support the development of a joint service 
solution.  The Executive Board is requested to approve the proposed creation of the 
West Yorkshire UTMC Service. 

Page 382



 

 

 

Recommendations 

6. Executive Board is requested to: 

i) Approve in principle the establishment of a joint West Yorkshire UTMC service 
subject to the outcome of the consideration of the Outline Business Case by the 
Combined Authority. 

ii) Approve in principle that should a joint West Yorkshire UTMC service be 
established Leeds City Council will become the host authority for service delivery. 

iii) Approve the development with the West Yorkshire Councils of a combined joint 
service operational resource budget (less traffic signal energy costs) for 2019/20 
and agree in the annual budget round the contribution from the Leeds City Council 
annual budget for this service and note that arrangements for annual review will 
be captured in the proposed Service Level Agreement between the West 
Yorkshire councils and the City Council as the Host Authority. 

iv) Approve the proposed creation of an organisational unit within the City 
Development Directorate of the Council to host the West Yorkshire UTMC service 
and undertake the development, operation and maintenance of the traffic signal 
systems in West Yorkshire.   

v) Note the commencement  of  formal processes, including informing and consulting 
with Trade Union representatives leading up to the  transfer  of identified staff via 
TUPE from Bradford, Kirklees and Wakefield Councils into the employment of 
Leeds City Council to form the new functional West Yorkshire UTMC service.  

vi) Note the proposal that any potential West Yorkshire UTMC service may be based 
at the Joint Services building in Morley and that the capital costs for the 
establishment of the combined service will be met by the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority subject to approval of the Business Case and completion of 
all necessary legal agreements. 

vii) Note the actions described in this report to progress the establishment of the West 
Yorkshire UTMC service and that once final agreement has been reached in 
relation to the operational and revenue financial arrangements for this service a 
further report be presented to the Executive Board for consideration. 

viii) Note that the Chief Officer Highways & Transportation will be responsible for 
further progression of this proposal in consultation with counterparts in the four  
West Yorkshire councils involved 

Page 383



 

 

1 Purpose of this report  

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Executive Board about the proposals for 
establishment of a West Yorkshire Urban Traffic Management and Control (West 
Yorkshire UTMC) Service.  It sets out the background to the development of the 
proposal, arrangements for its funding both in terms of initial development and 
future operation and requests endorsement to the principle of Leeds City Council 
hosting the proposed service and authority to progress with arrangements for 
establishing the service.  

2 Background information 

2.1 Currently, UTMC services are delivered independently by each of the West 
Yorkshire authorities with the exception of Calderdale who procure their services 
from Leeds City Council.  The four West Yorkshire UTMC teams work in different 
locations to varying service level agreements, with some limited formal cross-
boundary operations (e.g. shared external maintenance contracts, shared supply 
and installation contracts).   

2.2 The West Yorkshire UTMC project comprises 3 distinct parts: 

a) The joining up of all districts UTC/UTMC computer systems into one 
comprehensive system located in the “cloud” (c£2.3m); 

b) The undertaking of on-street improvements to UTC equipment facilities at key 
junctions on the West Yorkshire Key Route Network (c£4.0m); and 

c) The re-organisation of the West Yorkshire UTMC services to provide a better 
day to day management and co-ordination across the network including key 
transport partners (public transport operators, emergency services, Highways 
England etc) through the consolidation of the four West Yorkshire UTC teams 
amalgamated under TUPE provisions (c£1.0m). 

2.3 Discussions in relation to the principle of exploration of establishing a joint West 
Yorkshire – UTMC service were held with respective Council Leaders and Chief 
Executives as the development of an Expression of Interest for the project was 
shaped.  These discussions were positive to the proposal and an in principle 
agreement was reached supporting the further exploration of this proposal. 

2.4 The project was included by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority in the 2015 
West Yorkshire-plus Transport Fund (WYTF) submission to government.  Based on 
a £7.3m capital cost and journey time benefits for all modes valued at £28.5m the 
project produced a GVA/£ spent score of 3.9 which ranked it in the top 3 highest 
scoring schemes in the final programme list of 33 West Yorkshire agreed projects.  

2.5 An Outline Business Case for elements (a) through (c) was considered by the 
Combined Authority on 5 April 2018 and approval was given to progress the project 
to Full Business Case (FBC).  The FBC submission for elements (a) and (b) is 
currently anticipated to be submitted in September 2018 with a separate FBC 
submission for element (c) being submitted in December 2018. 

Page 384



 

 

2.6 Key stakeholders have been briefed about the work of the project board to ensure 
that they understand the direction of travel towards a joint service. Regular briefings 
will continue to be produced. 

2.7 Each Local Authority will have key staff in the areas of Legal, IT, HR, Finance, 
Procurement, Communications, Business Support involved in progressing the joint 
service development.  The formal process of engagement with staff, elected 
members and the key officers, who will establish the service has not commenced 
as the governance model needs to be agreed. 

2.8 The staffing structure and funding model for the new joint service is being 
developed jointly by the districts via the project board. This will require fuller 
discussion regarding arrangements for staff transfer under TUPE, pension 
implications etc. and consultation with trade unions once initial proposals have been 
agreed. 

2.9 The planned implementation date for the West Yorkshire UTMC service is currently 
Autumn 2019; the exact date to be confirmed in due course once the detailed 
planning has advanced further; the outstanding capital resources have been 
released and agreements made in principle for the resource costs of the service 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Traffic signals design and operation is a specialised area of traffic engineering 
and as a small niche sector the recruitment and retention of staff with the 
necessary skills is a key issue.  As of December 2017, there were 27 staff across 
the region employed by the four UTMC teams and several vacancies.  The 
average age of staff employed is 48 years of age with 19 members of staff (70%) 
above the age of 45.  Consequently it is likely that staff and skills shortages could  
be exacerbated in the near future as experienced staff retire.   

3.2 The establishment of a West Yorkshire UTMC service would facilitate the creation 
of a “centre for excellence” within West Yorkshire that would enable positioning of 
a larger service with greater technical capacity towards the forefront of the sector, 
exploiting and adopting the latest changes in new and emerging traffic 
management technologies.  In particular the refocussed capacity of a combined 
service that allows the potential of new and emerging systems and technologies 
will be a key priority.  This will include progressing towards the early adoption of 
new adaptive traffic control and integrated systems and the development of new 
approaches to data gathering and the use of “big data” which potentially could in 
the future have spin off benefits for service areas out-with the immediate traffic 
system and control arena.  

3.3 The current proposal for the West Yorkshire UTMC Service would see the service 
led by a senior manager with a staffing structure designed around three core 
service functions, namely scheme design, maintenance & operation and research 
& development.  Detailed proposals are still currently being developed by Leeds 
City Council in conjunction with the partner councils and are drawing on research 
and best practice identified from the sector across the UK. 

3.4 Implementation of the West Yorkshire UTMC Service proposal would see staff 
from Bradford, Wakefield and Kirklees transferred into the employment of Leeds 

Page 385



 

 

City Council; the proposal does not affect any staff in Calderdale MBC as their 
UTMC service is currently provided by Leeds City Council.  Any transfer of staff 
requires detailed HR processes to address TUPE, assimilation, due diligence etc. 
as well as formal consultation with the staff and trade unions in the coming 
months.  Bradford, Kirklees and Wakefield council employees who could be TUPE 
transferred to Leeds City Council would retain their existing West Yorkshire 
Pension Fund arrangements and their benefits would be unaffected by the 
transfer.  

 

3.5 There has been informal engagement with the affected staff and trade unions by 
each local authority throughout the development of the Outline Business Case 
submission.  Unions have been approached at a regional level to advise of the 
intention to explore creation of a joint West Yorkshire UTMC Service. 

3.6 It is anticipated that under the proposed arrangements Leeds City Council will be 
employing around 36 full time equivalent (FTE) staff to discharge this function. 
This will include both existing Leeds employees and approximately 18 staff 
transferred from the other 3 West Yorkshire local authorities. This will include 
employing a senior manager for the function.    

3.7 Subject to securing the Outline Business Case capital funding later this year and 
completing all associated legal and operational finance agreements it is currently 
proposed that the West Yorkshire UTMC Service will be based in the West 
Yorkshire Joint Services building in Morley.  Using mobile and flexible working 
arrangements it is also envisaged that staff will be deployed to districts when 
engaged on the design of projects as part of a wider project team. Appropriate 
arrangements will be put in place to ensure that they have adequate resources. 

3.8 All of the 5 West Yorkshire councils are the designated Highway Authority and 
Local Traffic Authority for their own geographical area, with their responsibilities 
being laid down in the Highways Act 1980, Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and 
Traffic Management Act 2004.  The Combined Authority is not a Highway 
Authority, nor a Local Traffic Authority, but it does have powers for integrated 
transport in West Yorkshire. Under the Local Transport Act (2008) districts can, 
with agreement, transfer local highway powers to a Combined Authority or other 
district Council as an Executive decision.  The receiving authority then becomes 
responsible for the legal obligations for the function transferred e.g. urban traffic 
control. Alternatively, informal, non-legally binding service level agreements, or 
formal co-operation contracts could be put in place between districts or a “host” 
authority to cover the UTC functions.  Currently the use of non-legally binding 
service level agreements is being promoted as the preferred approach to 
governance of the joint service. 

3.9 The Full Business Case submission to the Combined Authority for the West 
Yorkshire UTMC Service is currently anticipated to be submitted in December 
2018.   Approval of this submission will release the requisite capital funds 
necessary for the investment required to establish the service and configuration of 
the Joint Services building at Morley. 

 

Page 386



 

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The senior elected members and officers from the five West Yorkshire authorities 
have been consulted and have given their in principle support to the proposals.  
Endorsement to progress the further development of the proposals was given by 
the Leaders and Chief Executives at their respective joint meetings in April 2018.  
The West Yorkshire Combined Authority support the proposal and has given in 
principal support subject to the proposals being confirmed. 

4.1.2 The staff expected to be affected by the creation of a West Yorkshire UTMC Service 
have been informally consulted within each authority and the Trade Unions have 
been notified of the proposals.  

4.1.3 The project development and detailed staff engagement project is being supported 
by the relevant senior HR and financial officers within each authority on an ongoing 
basis.  With the relevant Leeds HR Head of Service taking a lead on the overall 
engagement with staff across the authorities. 

4.1.4 Joint meetings have been held and staff have had the opportunity to visit the 
proposed base location.  Formal consultations will be commenced subject to the 
approval of the proposals by each of the Council’s involved. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 
 

4.2.1 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening has been completed 
and given that this is an organisational change for staff in four Local Authorities with 
relocation issues, an Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken to ensure 
impact on the staff is considered and identified actions are managed. The screening 
document is attached as an Appendix. 
 

4.2.2 Due consideration has been given in writing this report to the Council’s duties under 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 These proposals are consistent with the ongoing development and planning of the 
Leeds UTMC system and will provide for the increased resilience and operational 
capacity of more sustainable and advance system for the whole of West Yorkshire.  
It is therefore considered that creating a joint service for the whole of West Yorkshire 
which embraces the joint arrangements that already exist between Leeds and 
Calderdale will play an important future role in achieving the Best Council city 
priority on 21st century infrastructure and Best Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21.   
 

4.3.2 The proposals align with the objective of the Leeds Interim Transport Strategy and 
the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy.. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 In July 2016 when the establishment of a joint West Yorkshire UTMC service was 
first considered by the Chief Executives it was proposed that the value of each 
district’s 2016/17 revenue budget at that time would form the basis for calculating 
the base budget on which the new service could be based.  In view of the time that 
has now elapsed the Project Board has recommended that the 2018/19 base 

Page 387



 

 

budgets for each authority should now be used for this purpose, pending 
confirmation of the 2019/20 budget round. 
 

4.4.2 The final base expenditure budget for the service once established will also take 
full account of anticipated income arising from the UTMC activities associated with 
the respective authorities’ capital programmes including recharging of staff time and 
associated costs and charges for temporary works at traffic signals to facilitate 
works by third parties.   

 
4.4.3 A detailed business plan is being prepared on behalf of the Project Board by 

Wakefield MDC which includes establishing the base budget expenditure 
requirements and future assumptions on income accruing to the proposed service.  
Once established the service budget will be subject to review and agreement 
between the partner Councils and Leeds City Council as part of the annual budget 
round. 

 
 
4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

 

4.5.1 Responsibility for the governance of this project rests with the Calderdale MBC as 
the jointly nominated Project Executive and project board chair.   The wider UTC 
project is being funded under the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund funding and 
project approvals are controlled under the West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s 
Assurance Framework. A rigorous project management system is in place for all 
West Yorkshire+ Transport Fund projects based around the OGC PRINCE2 
(Projects in Controlled Environments) and MSP (Managing Successful 
Programmes) methodologies.  

 
4.5.2 Subject to approval of the Outline Business Case submission the proposals 

contained within this report would involve a transfer of staff from Bradford, Kirklees 
and Wakefield councils to Leeds City Council.  It is considered that the Transfer of 
Undertaking (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (“TUPE”) would apply 
to such a transfer.  If collective redundancies are envisaged, informing and 
consultation duties under Trade Union and Labour Regulations (Consolidation) Act 
1992 may also apply. The Council should also bear in mind any relevant collective 
agreement, policy and/or procedure.  It is important to inform the recognised trade 
unions long enough before the proposed transfer of staff to enable effective 
consultation with representatives of any affected employees to take place. 
 

4.5.3 Executive Board has the power to approve the Key Decisions recommended in this 
report.   

4.6 Risk Management 

 

4.6.1 As part of the management of this project a Project Board has been established 
comprising representatives of each of the constituent districts and representatives 
of the Combined Authority. 

Page 388



 

 

4.6.2 As part of the Assurance Process a detailed risk assessment has been undertaken 
for each element of the project (a) through to (c).  These risks are reviewed monthly 
by the Project Board and corrective actions directed where necessary. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 The proposal for establishing a combined UTMC service are expected to provide a 
stronger, more resilient and capable technical service for the operation, 
management and development of traffic signals and informatics across West 
Yorkshire.  In particular looking forwards it will be important in helping to enhance 
and extend the present capabilities for systems development and the application of 
new technologies, including the emerging field of dynamic and adaptive traffic 
control systems.  Work to prepare the joint service in organisational, property, 
financial and human resources is ongoing alongside the preparation of the 
necessary business cases to confirm the final allocations of funding identified in the 
West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund with the Combined Authority.   

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is requested to: 

 
i) Approve in principle the establishment of a joint West Yorkshire UTMC 

service subject to the outcome of the consideration of the Outline Business 
Case by the Combined Authority. 
 

ii) Approve in principle that should a joint West Yorkshire UTMC service be 
established Leeds City Council will become the host authority for service 
delivery. 
 

iii) Approve the development with the West Yorkshire Councils of a combined 
joint service operational resource budget (less traffic signal energy costs) for 
2019/20 and agree in the annual budget round the contribution from the 
Leeds City Council annual budget for this service and note that 
arrangements for annual review will be captured in the proposed Service 
Level Agreement between the West Yorkshire councils and the City Council 
as the Host Authority. 

 
iv) Approve the proposed creation of an organisational unit within the City 

Development Directorate of the Council to host the West Yorkshire UTMC 
service and undertake the development, operation and maintenance of the 
traffic signal systems in West Yorkshire.  
 

v) Note the commencement for formal processes to transfer identified staff via 
TUPE from Bradford, Kirklees and Wakefield Councils into the employment 
of Leeds City Council to form the new functional West Yorkshire UTMC 
service.  
 

vi) Note the proposal that any potential West Yorkshire UTMC service may be 
based at the Joint Services building in Morley and that the capital costs for 
the establishment of the combined service will be met by the West Yorkshire 

Page 389



 

 

Combined Authority subject to approval of the Business Case and 
completion of all necessary legal agreements. 

 
vii) Note the actions described in this report to progress the establishment of the 

West Yorkshire UTMC service and that once final agreement has been 
reached in relation to the operational and revenue financial arrangements for 
this service a further report be presented to the Executive Board for 
consideration. 

 
viii) Note that the Chief Officer Highways & Transportation will be responsible for 

further progression of this proposal in consultation with counterparts in the 
four West Yorkshire councils involved. 

 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None. 

8 Appendices 

8.1 Appendix A - Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening. 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 390



Use from October 2015    1

 
Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening – 
organisational change impacting on the workforce  
 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all organisational change arrangements 
impacting on the workforce have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration. 
 
Equality and diversity will always have relevancy to organisational changes which impact on 
a diverse workforce. If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact 
on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration then you have already carried out an impact 
assessment.  
 
A screening process is a short, sharp exercise, which completed at the earliest opportunity 
will help to determine:   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has already 
been considered, and therefore 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

 
 
 
Directorate: 
City Development  

Service area: 
Highways and Transportation  

Lead person: 
Andrew Hall  
 

Contact number: 
0113 3787 589 

 
 
1. Please provide a brief description of the organisational change arrangements that 
you are screening 
 
 
The 2015 WY+TF submission to Government included the West Yorkshire Integrated Urban 
Traffic Management Control (UTMC) project.  At present, there are four Urban Traffic 
Control (UTC) teams which operate in West Yorkshire and they use various systems and 
technologies. Whilst the teams share resources where possible, the service levels and 
standards vary across boundaries.  
To deliver on the vision above, it will be necessary to bring together the staff from the 3 
other LA’s into the proposed WYUTMC and which will be based and hosted by Leeds  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 391



Use from October 2015    2

 
 
2. Consideration of equality, diversity, cohesion and integration checklist 
 
Questions Yes No 
Have you already considered equality and diversity within your 
current and future planning? 

Y  

 Where you have made consideration does this relate to the 
range of equality characteristics  

Y  

Have you considered positive and negative impacts for 
different equality characteristics  

Y  

Have you considered any potential barriers for different groups 
   

Y  

Have you used equality information and consultation where 
appropriate to develop your proposals 

Y  

 Is there a clear plan of how equality areas identified for 
improvement will be addressed   

Y  

 
 
 
If you’ve answered no to the questions above, there may be gaps in your equality and 
diversity considerations and you should complete an equality and diversity, cohesion and 
integration impact assessment (organisational change). Please go to section 4. 
 
If you’ve answered yes to the questions above and believe you’ve already considered the 
impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to 
section 3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 392



Use from October 2015    3

 
 
3. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate that you’ve considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 
 
How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected. 
 
 
Structural Change  
Whilst the project does include a management change there will be no impact on the LCC 
staff other than a possible change to line manager  
The impact of any structural changes will be on the transferred staff – their individual issues  
will be identified through working with the HR managers in the other LA’s and the LCC HR   
 
Geographical Change  
The site of the proposed UTMC base is based 5 miles west of the current base (15 minutes 
by car, 1 hour 10 mins by train) 
Free parking is still on offer for those that travel by car however considerations will need to 
be given to those who will commute via public transport as the possible extended journey 
time will/may have an impact on anyone with mobility issues or caring commitments  
 
The authority offers flexible working to ease these situations however this will be around the 
service needs first  
  
Consultation and information gathering is to commence from November onwards. 
Regular updates will be provided to the stakeholders involved 
Individual interviews will be held with staff in all LA’s and provided to the LCC HR Manager  
 
 
 
Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality characteristics, 
potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, potential to bring 
groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception that the proposal 
could benefit one group at the expense of another). 
Positive 
Faith: The building has prayer room to meet faith needs 
DDA: The building is fully compliant to the required standards with 2 disabled parking bays 
For those with any health issues that may be impacted on by the layout and lighting in the 
building will be identified as the project progresses and a Supporting Colleagues at Work 
form will be completed 
General: the vision and delivery of a “centre of excellence” will mean higher standards of 
development and learning to meet this goal   
 
Negative 

Page 393



Use from October 2015    4

DDA: Possible change to commute -  initial familiarisation for bus routes, parking and 
access to building will need to take place  
Carers: Changes to travel pattern and journey will have an impact on caring commitment 
and time at home.  
 
 
Actions 
(think about how you’ll promote positive impact and remove or  reduce negative impact) 
 

 Proceed to Equality Impact Assessment  
 Meetings with Leeds staff to take place in November to establish any specific and 

equality needs  
 HR and line managers in other LAs will be requested to undertake a similar exercise 

using the SCAW form to ensure we have captured all issues relating  DSE, faith, 
wellbeing and within the other protected characteristic requirements  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.  If you’re not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you’ll need to carry out an impact assessment 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

12/11/18 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

TBC  

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Claire Hyde/Fiona Jones  

 
 
5. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
 
Name Job title Date 
 
Andrew Hall 

Head of service  19/09/18 

Date screening completed 13/09/18  
 

 

Page 394



Use from October 2015    5

 
6. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to executive board, full council, key delegated decisions or a 
significant operational decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision making 
report: 
 

 governance services will publish those relating to executive board and full council 
 the appropriate directorate will publish those relating to delegated decisions and 

significant operational decisions 
 a copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent to 

equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record 
 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening was 
sent 
 
For executive board or full council – sent to governance 
services 
 

Date sent: 

For delegated decisions or significant operational 
decisions – sent to appropriate directorate 
 

Date sent: 

All other decisions – sent to the equality team 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 395



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report author: Mike Diskin, Angela 
Lawson  

Tel: 07891 278 061 

 
Report of the Director of City Development 
Report to Executive Board 
 
Date: 17th October 2018 
 
Subject: Update on the HS2 growth strategy, HS2 and Leeds Integrated Station 
Masterplan  
 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):  

Beeston & Holbeck 

Hunslet & Riverside 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3) 

Appendix number: 1 – STATION MASTERPLAN Strategic Outline Business Case 

 
 
Summary of main issues 

1. High Speed Two (HS2) has the potential to transform the economy of Leeds and Leeds 
City Region. However we will not realise the full benefits of HS2 unless we have a 
coherent and proactive plan for doing so. HS2 is part of a coherent strategy for rail 
improvements for the Leeds City Region, which includes upgrades of existing routes 
and services, and Northern Powerhouse Rail a new fast east-west rail route across the 
north. 

2. Improving and expanding Leeds Station is essential to ensure HS2 is integrated 
seamlessly with other rail services to create new rail capacity to support growth in 
Leeds, and to provide a high quality gateway to, and catalyst for, regeneration in the 
city. This paper seeks approval to the emerging proposals for a long term masterplan 
for Leeds Station. 

3. It will also be important to ensure Leeds city centre, and our people and businesses are 
HS2 ready. This paper also seeks approval for the final amendments to the Leeds City 
Region HS2 Growth Strategy, which will set out proposals for:  

3.1 enhancing people’s awareness of the future employment opportunities that will be 
created and their skills to enable them to access these jobs;  

Page 397

Agenda Item 11



3.2 actions to support businesses and universities innovate and exploit the supply chain 
opportunities from HS2;  

3.3 the strategy for improving connectivity across the city region to spread the benefits of 
HS2; and  

3.4 the plans for improving infrastructure to support the growth of the economy of the 
Leeds City Region, including the regeneration of the South Bank, and the Innovation 
District project. 

4. Leeds Station is the busiest transport hub in the north of England and one of the most 
important pieces of transport infrastructure in the UK.  

5. The Executive Board report of 18th October 2017 set out the details of the HS2 Growth 
Strategy and the Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan (Station Masterplan) and 
committed to provide a report in 2018 with an update on progress. 

6. The Southbank Regeneration Framework has now been adopted as Supplementary 
Planning Guidance (SPD) and Station Masterplan has been finalised. 

7. A Market Led Proposal has been submitted to Department for Transport (DfT) setting 
out the ambitions for Station Masterplan and seeking support to develop the proposals 
further. 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is asked to: 
 

i) Note the progress update in respect of the HS2 Growth Strategy, responding to the 
HS2 design and preparing for the Hybrid Bill process, and the South Bank 
Regeneration Framework; 

ii) Approve that the Council and partners submit the Station Masterplan Strategic 
Outline Business Case (SOBC) based on the principles set out in confidential 
Appendix 1 to the Department for Transport (DfT) and Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), and grant delegated authority to 
the Director of City Development (in consultation with the Council’s Executive 
Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning, the Chief Financial Services 
Officer as section 151 officer, West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) and 
Network Rail) to approve the submission of the final SOBC; 

iii) Approve the principle of the Council entering into Joint Venture Agreements (JVA) 
with London and Continental Railways (L&CR) subject to a report on the heads 
of terms being brought back to Executive Board for approval; 

iv) Endorse the principles set out at Appendix 2 to the HS2 Growth Strategy and grant 
delegated authority to the Director of City Development to endorse the final 
document; 

v) Approve the injection of £150k into the capital programme for 2018-19 to support 
the establishment of a dedicated delivery team.. 

 
1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 This paper provides an update on the preparations for bringing HS2 to the region, and 
delivering transformational change of the existing station to put Leeds integrated 
station at the centre of the city, the City Region and the Northern Powerhouse.  This 
includes an update on the South Bank SPD, Station Masterplan, the HS2 Growth 
Strategy, and delivery arrangements. 

Page 398



2. Background information 

2.1 Leeds station is the busiest station in the north of England, with nearly 31 million 
passengers a year. The station is one of the most important pieces of transport 
infrastructure in the UK and passenger demand is expected to more than double with 
growth of over 135% anticipated in the next 30 years. 

2.2 In order to meet future capacity growth, including our ambitions for Northern 
Powerhouse Rail, and to create a gateway befitting of the station’s national 
importance, there is a need for investment into the station to secure its redevelopment. 
Furthermore, the proposed HS2 Station will integrate with the existing station – further 
driving a need for a proactive plan for the station’s redevelopment. 

2.3 Executive Board will recall that HS2 Ltd’s original proposal for a Leeds HS2 station, 
was 500 metres away from the existing Station, in response the Council submitted that 
the city and city region deserved better. We worked closely with Sir David Higgins and 
HS2 Ltd to review the Leeds proposals. 

2.4 In late 2014, Sir David Higgins and the then Prime Minister launched in Leeds Civic 
Hall, Sir David’s Rebalancing Britain Report, recommending there should be an 
integrated Leeds Station. He recommended that “further work by HS2 Ltd, Network 
Rail, and above all Leeds City Council” should be undertaken to find the right transport 
solution in line with the city’s vision. The report also recommended that HS2 should be 
integrated into a national transport strategy which should include a fast east-west rail 
link across the north. 

2.5 Following further close joint working between the Council and HS2 Ltd, in late 2015, 
Sir David Higgins’ Yorkshire Hub report was published recommending the “T” solution 
for Leeds Station bringing together the HS2 and existing station into an integrated 
station, and the designs for HS2 are being developed to reflect this together with the 
need for a southern entrance to the HS2 station.  Given the importance of Leeds 
station already and the plans for future growth, on the arrival of HS2 and emerging 
proposals for Northern Powerhouse Rail there is a transformational opportunity to 
secure a transport hub at the centre of Leeds critical to the positioning of Leeds as a 
city of international importance and at the centre of the Northern Powerhouse. 

2.6 Against this background and negotiated opportunity, there is a need for a long term 
strategic planned approach, and there are a number of key components which need to 
be carefully coordinated to ensure the scale of the opportunity is not lost. 

These key components include: 

 A Supplementary Planning Document – the adoption of the South Bank 
regeneration framework SPD to ensure there is a clear spatial framework to inform 
shared comprehensive delivery; 

 Station Masterplan – an integrated masterplan for the station ensures that it 
continues to act as an enabler for economic growth and future demand.  To deliver 
the transformational change outlined in the masterplan, a SOBC and Market Led 
Proposal have been developed which begin to define the next steps for delivery; 

 HS2 Growth Strategy – this is the strategy previously reported to Executive Board 
which sets the context for economic growth as a result of HS2 and has now been 
endorsed by key stakeholders including local businesses; 

 Delivery arrangements – this is a complex programme which requires delivery 
across a wide range of partner organisations and it is proposed that we formalise 
the collaborative working arrangements with L&CR into JVAs. 

Page 399



3. Main issues 

3.1 South Bank Regeneration Framework Supplementary Planning Document and 
Station Masterplan 

3.1.1 Members will recall that a SPD had been developed to provide the spatial 
framework for the South Bank and Station Masterplan and this has now been 
adopted as planning guidance under the authority of the Chief Planning Officer on 
19th July 2018.  The document provides a sound platform within which future 
development proposals can be considered. 

3.1.2 A six week statutory consultation was held between 8 November - 20 December 
2017 on both the Station Masterplan and the South Bank Leeds Regeneration 
Framework SPD. During the consultation drop-in events were held at locations 
across the South Bank and twice weekly pop-up information sessions were held at 
various locations within the train station. These were supported by staff from the 
Council, WYCA, Transport for the North (TfN) and HS2. The relevant documents 
were made available for inspection at locations in South Bank, Hunslet and Holbeck 
as well as at Central Library and the Development Enquiry Centre. Information was 
made available on both the Council’s website and the South Bank website and a 
Social Media campaign promoted the consultation on Facebook and Twitter and 
directed people to complete a tailored snap survey online.  

3.1.3 The consultation period generated 137 responses via the online survey, 22 
responses from organisations, and a further 6 responses from individuals via direct 
email to the South Bank address. 

3.1.4 The feedback from the consultation was broadly supportive of the plans for South 
Bank and the Station Masterplan. 92% of respondents to the survey agreed or 
strongly agreed that it is important that there are a number of entrances to the 
station and 84% agreed or strongly agreed that it is important for each entrance to 
the station to be served by high quality public realm. The proposed points of access 
for pedestrians, buses, cars and taxis were less strongly endorsed but 61% of 
respondents still agreed or strongly agreed with the proposals. In terms of the role 
of Neville Street and its proposed pedestrianisation (with passive provision for mass 
transit) this was endorsed by the respondents to the survey with 75% agreeing or 
strongly agreeing however key stakeholders highlighted the importance of Neville 
Street as a public transport route and asserted that the lack of natural light would 
pose problems, particularly in regards to making it an attractive retail environment, 
stressing that the ‘harsh underpass environment’ would be better saved for bus 
services rather than pedestrianisation.  

3.1.5 The South Bank Leeds Regeneration Framework SPD is available via the following 
link: https://southbankleeds.co.uk/assets/documents/2018.07.19-SBRF-SPD-low-
res.pdf 

3.1.6 As a result of the consultation feedback the key change to the Station Masterplan 
plans within the SPD has been to retain public transport access (buses and 
potential future mass transit) through Neville Street. There were also a number of 
minor changes made to ensure consistency with other plans within the SPD 
including adjusting the shape of the City Park and the Sovereign Square footbridge 
to reflect current proposals. The wealth of consultation feedback and the many 
detailed comments received have been used by officers to inform the discussions 
with stakeholders relating to the integrated station and to support the council in its 
response to the emerging design of the high speed rail infrastructure as it arrives in 
Leeds. 

Page 400



3.2 Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan 

3.2.1 The Council has undertaken a leadership role and brought together public sector 
stakeholders who have an interest in redeveloping Leeds Station.  They are 
Network Rail, HS2, WYCA, TfN, MHCLG, DfT and L&CR. The Council has provided 
coordination and leadership of this work through the Leeds Station Board, chaired 
by the Council’s Director of City Development.  The results of the South Bank 
Regeneration Framework consultation in 2016 has informed the approach (in 
particular to ensure the views of children and surrounding communities inform the 
approach), as has continued dialogue with the Chamber of Commerce, Leeds Civic 
Trust and the Leeds Access Forum. 

3.2.2 The masterplan has responded to the five objectives set out by Sir David Higgins, 
the guidance set out in the draft South Bank Regeneration Framework and seeks to 
create a: 

 World Class Hub – from quality of architecture and urban design to intermodal 
connectivity, clarity and delivery; 

 Distinctive Gateway – that celebrates travel, proudly announced arrival into Leeds 
and speaks to the unique characteristics of the city; 

 Destination Station – an attractive place to visit in Leeds City Centre, where South 
Bank meets City Square; and 

 Connected Place – that seamlessly integrates national, regional and local transport 
modes and optimises every form of connectivity for users. 

3.3 Station Masterplan Strategic Outline Business Case 

3.3.1 With the spatial vision for Station Masterplan now adopted in Council policy, 
attention is now focussing on the delivery of the masterplan. This includes setting 
out clearly the case for investment into the station to secure the necessary funding 
to deliver the vision.  

3.3.2 Working with partners, a SOBC is in development and subject to Executive Board 
approval, this will be submitted in autumn to the Department of Transport. 

3.3.3 The SOBC details how Station Masterplan enables the continued development of 
an efficient transport system for the City Region, the delivery of benefits from not 
just the integrated station but unlocking the benefits from other major infrastructure 
projects, it enables commercial development leveraging investment and enhances 
the user experience. Given the critical importance of the station to Leeds, the 
fulfilment of Station Masterplan will ensure that Leeds Station can continue to drive 
growth so that capacity constraints at the station do not become a barrier to 
unlocking future growth.  

3.3.4 In summary, the SOBC details the strategic importance of the Station to the nation’s 
economy. It sets out how Leeds Station: 

 is the busiest in the North of England and is of national significance as the third 
busiest station outside of London;  

 is a gateway to the North of England, and its redevelopment can promote the  
region and its placemaking potential, supporting economic growth across the South 
Bank, Leeds City core and the City Region; 

 is likely to fail without significant investment. It is critical for investment to be made 
into the current Station to meet forecast passenger demands – passenger numbers 

Page 401



are due to more than double in the next 25 years from the current base of c30m 
passengers per annum;  

 will enable the full realisation of benefits from HS2, Transpennine Rail Upgrade 
(TRU) and Northern Powerhouse Rail. Without major investment, current capacity 
constraints in Leeds Station will inhibit expected demand on these routes into Leeds 
and economic growth across the region will be curtailed; 

 will accelerate a programme of transformational connectivity across the city and city 
region; helping to reshape the regional economy and tackling productivity 
challenges as set out on the Strategic Economic Plan; 

 will directly deliver just under 3 million square feet of new development within the 
Station Masterplan red line, as proposed in Local Planning Policy Guidance;  

 will bring land value uplift of c£9million a hectare within ‘the red line’ of the station 
development work; 

 will contribute to the delivery of 24,000 new jobs in Leeds city centre and £55bn of 
additional Gross Value Add across the city region by 2050; 

 will contribute to doubling the size and economy of Leeds City Centre by 2050:  
helping to deliver additional 26,000 homes over a 30 year period, with 8,000 
forecast to be delivered by 2028 in the South Bank area. 

3.3.5 The investment case for the station will not only achieve objectives in Council and 
WYCA strategies, but will deliver major objectives of the National Industrial 
Strategy, and Northern Powerhouse Rail proposals.  

3.3.6 The overall Integrated Station concept has been shaped in the Station Masterplan, 
the adaptation of the existing Network Rail owned estate is being refined through 
the stages of business case development. This will divide into a series of 
investment packages, each forming a valuable part of the Integrated Station design 
framework and business cases development. Thus, once the SOBC is finalised, 
more detailed business cases will be produced to move component parts of Station 
Masterplan towards delivery.  

3.3.7 At this stage, and subject to more detailed technical work and business case 
development, the SOBC outlines how the Station will  

a) By 2033, deliver a joined-up and wholly integrated Station Masterplan programme 
of works so that the benefits of HS2, Northern Powerhouse Rail and other transport 
related investments can be optimised and economic growth accelerated across the 
North of England; 

b) Complete the enabling works, decant traffic from Neville Street and install a new 
river crossing as a temporary diversion of pedestrians / cyclists as part of the 
delivery of Zone 0, by April 2023; 

c) By 2023 to have begun the development of future Zones of the Station Masterplan  

d) By 2033, create a single, integrated station that is easy to understand and navigate 
with a strong and purposeful common concourse, and an impressive entrance that 
creates a gateway to the Leeds City Region 

3.3.8 Members are also asked to note that the DfT sought proposals under the Market 
Led Proposal process for rail related schemes and in consultation with Network Rail 
the Council submitted a proposal to log this significant investment opportunity. 

 

Page 402



3.4 HS2 Growth Strategy 

3.4.1 Executive Board has already agreed the principle of the ‘HS2 Growth Strategy – 
Draft for Engagement’.  This was published for consultation on 15th January 2018 
and responses were accepted up until April. The consultation was primarily targeted 
towards stakeholders, but responses from the public were also welcomed. The 
consultation process was managed by WYCA with support from the Council. 

3.4.2 The responses to the strategy were broadly positive and showed strong support for 
the visions and principles in the document. Objections tended to be against the 
principle of HS2 rather than criticism of the strategy and its objectives. Following the 
period of consultation the strategy has been updated to reflect the comments 
submitted. The main change to the document is a greater emphasis on business 
and stakeholder support, some of which have been incorporated into a new 
Partners page within the strategy. Work is continuing to further engage with 
businesses moving forwards. 

3.4.3 Accordingly, Executive Board are asked to endorse the principles set out at 
Appendix 2 with any final modifications being delegated for approval to the Director 
of City Development. 

3.5 Consultation on the HS2 Working Draft Environmental Statement 

3.5.1 HS2 Ltd are preparing an Environmental Statement for the scheme, as required by 
the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) regulations, which will be submitted to 
Parliament in support of the planning element of the Hybrid Bill.  The Environmental 
Statement will provide a description of the environment as it is at the moment; an 
evaluation of the anticipated significant environmental impacts of the scheme and 
the measures proposed to avoid or reduce these impacts.  

3.5.2 HS2 Ltd have indicated that the working draft Environmental Statement will be 
submitted to the Council sometime this autumn. The Council will then have eight 
weeks in which to respond.  HS2 Ltd has advised that they will consult ward 
members on the document as part of this process.   

3.6 Hybrid Bill Process and Petitioning 

3.6.1 The Hybrid Bill is the method of granting HS2 the necessary powers to undertake 
phase 2b (e.g. in relation to construction, CPO, planning and railway regimes). 

3.6.2 The Council and partners continue to work collaboratively with HS2 Ltd to mitigate 
and minimise the impact of the proposed scheme.  The delay to the submission of 
the Hybrid Bill from autumn 2019 to June 2020 is a benefit as it gives more time for 
joint working.  Should the Council need to submit a petition then section 239 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (s239) requires that such submission is approved by 
full Council (on a majority basis). Therefore, it should be noted that a resolution of 
the full Council (which complies with the procedural requirements of s239) is 
required before any Hybrid Bill petition may be submitted. 

3.6.3 Following submission of a petition, the Council would continue to work with HS2 Ltd 
with a view to reaching a satisfactory position relating to the Council’s “asks” and 
achieve appropriate amendments to the Hybrid Bill, but should this not be achieved, 
the petition will be heard by a Parliamentary select committee who will form a view 
on the merits (or otherwise) of the Council’s “asks”. At present it is not possible to 
predict when the Committee would hear the Council’s petition, as it depends among 
other things, on whether the Committee decides to prioritise issues relating to the 
Western or Eastern leg of the Phase 2b route first and whether it decides to 
proceed North to South, or South to North along each leg thereafter. 

Page 403



3.7 Delivery Arrangements 

3.7.1 In March 2015, Executive Board approved the proposal for the Council to formalise 
its working arrangements with L&CR through a Collaboration Agreement.  Since 
then the Council has been working closely and proactively with L&CR on how 
Leeds may develop its proposals for delivery of the HS2 station, the current station 
redevelopment and other related commercial ventures. 

3.7.2 L&CR is a UK Government (DfT) owned company which specialises in railway led 
regeneration. L&CR played a leading role in facilitating the exemplar transformation 
around Kings Cross station and, as a publicly owned body, has national and 
international expertise in delivering complex regeneration associated with major 
infrastructure. L&CR has a skill set that is not is available in house but that is 
complementary to the Council’s expertise and leadership role in driving forward 
regeneration. In addition, L&CR has unique access to HS2, Network Rail and DfT to 
support and promote the Council’s ambitions. 

3.7.3 The Collaboration Agreement anticipated that as we move towards delivery of 
projects, the parties would develop JVAs which would map out their various roles 
and responsibilities moving forward, in order to be able to maximise the economic 
growth, job creation and regeneration opportunities, and to facilitate the station 
development to meet increasing demand.  

3.7.4 The principles of an overarching contractual JV with L&CR are set out below: 

An overarching contractual JV between the Council and L&CR to deliver the 
following: 

 adoption of overarching strategic plan, and regular business plans for 
redevelopment of the station; 

 clear definition of roles, responsibilities and contribution of the Council and 
L&CR, and governance processes; 

 day to day management of the projects under development (i.e. meetings, 
delivery of operational plans etc.); 

 strategic oversight of any subsequent formal JV vehicles; 

 provide a framework for evolution of intended approach to delivery of a further 
contractual JV for current station (Network Rail, L&CR, the Council, and in due 
course potentially HS2 Limited) (see paragraph 3.8.4.3, below); 

 agreed triggers for action on certain future activities; 

 agreed compensation for value or resource contributed by the parties (including 
value contributed to date) or ability for both parties to roll-up as equity stake in or 
loan to formal JV vehicles, and ability to make investments in future projects. 

3.7.5 In essence, this contract provides a legally binding, overarching framework which 
allows for early progress in delivering benefits relating to the station regeneration. It 
provides clarity on the core principles governing future activities and establishes an 
appropriate level of control for a 20 year partnership (noting the anticipated HS2 
delivery date of 2033), while being sufficiently flexible to respond to the particular 
circumstances that may arise in due course or adopt alternative structures. This 
flexibility includes the ability for the Council to pursue its own development 
activities, or activities with other partners.  

3.7.6 Looking forward to how the programme of projects may develop, there is potential 
for formal property JV entities to be developed as detailed work comes forward. 

Page 404



3.7.7 It is proposed that an over-arching collaboration agreement be entered into 
between the Council, L&CR and Network Rail.  In anticipation of this being 
developed, L&CR and Network Rail are entering into an initial collaboration 
agreement which provides a duty of care to the Council. 

3.7.8 Members are asked to note the principles of entering into JVAs and a report will be 
brought back to Executive Board seeking approval to the heads of terms for the 
agreements. 

3.7.9 In addition to developing delivery arrangement with L&CR, the Council has also 
established a dedicated team to support the delivery of this programme.  Approval 
is sought to inject £150k into 2018-19 capital programme to support this. 

4 Corporate considerations 

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 The proposals in the HS2 Growth Strategy have been updated to reflect the 
feedback from consultation. Station Masterplan has been updated to reflect 
consultation with city partners to refine plans ahead of implementation commencing 
on the proposals. 

4.1.2 Consultation with the Executive Member for Regeneration Planning and has taken 
place who has confirmed support for the proposals. 

4.1.3 Consultation with key stakeholders, businesses and the public has taken place in 
respect of the Southbank Regeneration Framework SPD and HS2 Growth Strategy 
and this is outlined at sections 3.1 and 3.4 above. 

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

4.1.1 Themes running through this report have an impact on equality and diversity. The 
Council aims to improve the lives of all its citizens and foster good relations 
between different groups in the community. The HS2 Growth Strategy encourages 
inclusive growth, aiming to ensure that the benefits of a prosperous economy 
impact on all Leeds citizens, this includes supporting young people, increasing 
women and BME groups into HS2 related jobs (that are currently 
underrepresented), also supporting career changes and those returning to work. 

4.1.2 An Equality Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been undertaken to 
assess the impact of this report on equality and diversity and is attached as 
Appendix 3. 

4.2 Council policies and best council plan 

4.3.1 The vision from the Best Council Plan is for Leeds to be a compassionate, caring 
city that helps all its residents benefit from the effects of the city’s economic growth. 
These values frame the HS2 Growth Strategy which will be a complementary 
addition to the council plan.  The proposals build upon themes contained within the 
Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy. 

4.3.2 The proposed investments in the station and infrastructure to drive growth will make 
a direct contribution to the Best Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21 priorities on 21st-
Century Infrastructure (notably the focus on improving transport connections and air 
quality) and Housing.  The proposals will also help to support the delivery of the 

Page 405



Best Council Plan outcome of ‘Move around a well-planned city easily.  This 
includes objectives around Tackling Poverty and Reducing Inequalities / Strong 
Economy Compassionate City. 

4.3.3 The proposed investments in the Station and infrastructure to drive growth will 
make a direct contribution to the Best Council Plan Priority of ‘Transport & 
Infrastructure’ - Connecting people and places, improving air quality, meeting 
housing needs. The proposals will also help to support the delivery of the Best 
Council Plan outcome of ‘Move around a well-planned city easily’. 

4.3 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The SOBC development is being funded by the Leeds Public Transport Investment 
Programme and Network Rail.  At this stage, the Council is not making any financial 
commitments to deliver any aspects of the plan and any such decisions will be 
made as per the Council’s constitution and decision making procedures. 

4.4.2 The work is being delivered through a mix of Council, L&CR, Network Rail and 
WYCA personnel. A dedicated delivery team has been established in the Council 
and is integrated with colleagues in these partner organisations. 

4.4 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

4.5.1 This report is eligible for Call-In. 

4.5.2 Squire Patton Boggs (supported by Bircham Dyson Bell in respect of Hybrid Bill 
issues) have been appointed to advise in respect of these complex parliamentary 
and commercial arrangements. Appropriate advice and support will be sought 
throughout, and will underpin the actions of the Council (including in respect of the 
proposed regeneration activities, and feeding into/submitting a petition in respect of 
the Hybrid Bill process). In terms of the Hybrid Bill process, the need to comply with 
the provisions of s239 (i.e. process for approval of petition by full Council) should be 
noted. 

4.5.3 The proposed JV arrangements with L&CR and the proposed additional 
collaboration with Network Rail, is considered to be development activity, in order to 
maximise the economic growth, job creation and regeneration opportunities, and to 
facilitate the station development to meet increasing demand. To the extent that it 
may be considered that any of the parties involved are providing services to the 
other parties, given that all parties concerned are public bodies for the purposes of 
the Public Contract Regulations, it is considered that the parties are able to do so 
as public contracts between entities within the public sector. 

4.5.4 Confirmation of continued compliance with legal requirements (including 
procurement law, vires and state aid/competition) will be undertaken as part of the 
decision making process in respect of individual regeneration projects. 

4.5.5 The information in Appendix 1 of this report has been identified as being exempt 
from publication in accordance with Access to Information rule 10.4(3) because it is 
commercially sensitive relating to the business affairs of the Council and third 
parties, publication of which at this time may prejudice the Council’s negotiating 
position if published at this stage. It is therefore considered that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption at this time outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

Page 406



4.5 Risk management 

4.6.1 Failure to progress the Station Masterplan proposals would reduce the growth of 
the city significantly.   

4.6.2 Leeds station is the busiest station in the north with capacity projected to increase 
by 49% by 2023 and 135% by 2043 it also needs to adapt to receive additional 
services from Norther Powerhouse Rail and TRU.  Incremental changes to the 
station would not be sufficient to meet this increasing demand, it requires 
comprehensive redevelopment phased to minimise disruption for passengers, to 
support the needs of the city. 

4.6.3 Failure to submit the SOBC in November 2018 could result in the city not being 
ready for HS2 construction to commence in 2024 as programmed, and could also 
result in increasing capacity pressures at the existing station. 

4.6.4 The SOBC identifies the need for a phased approach over 15 years for the delivery 
of the programme projects.  It is proposed that the overall cost envelope for the 
programme will be offset by future funding and income streams and it is proposed 
that the Council meet the early funding gap.  The next stage of the programme will 
analyse and value engineer the costs as well as reviewing the potential funding 
sources and this will be reported back to Executive Board with individual project 
outline business cases. 

4.6.5 A risk register exists for the programme and risks are reported to the Station 
Programme Board via the Highlight Report on a monthly basis. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 The next stage of the proposals for the integration and redevelopment of the existing 
station with HS2 station are progressing and a SOBC is being developed. 

5.2 Further design development is being procured by L&CR and Network Rail including a 
review of costs to enable the development of OBCs. 

5.3 The JV arrangements with L&CR support the development of the Station Masterplan 
proposals. 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is asked to: 
6.1.1 Note the progress update in respect of the HS2 Growth Strategy, responding to the 

HS2 design and preparing for the Hybrid Bill process, and the South Bank 
Regeneration Framework; 

6.1.2 Approve that the Council and partners submit the Station Masterplan SOBC based 
on the principles set out in confidential Appendix 1 to the DfT and MHCLG, and 
grant delegated authority to the Director of City Development (in consultation with 
the Council’s Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning, the 
Chief Financial Services Officer as section 151 officer, WYCA and Network Rail) to 
approve the submission of the final SOBC; 

6.1.3 Approve the principle of the Council entering into JVAs with L&CR subject to a 
report on the heads of terms being brought back to Executive Board for approval; 

6.1.4 Endorse the principles set out at Appendix 2 to the HS2 Growth Strategy and grant 
delegated authority to the Director of City Development to endorse the final 
document; 

Page 407



6.1.5 Approve the injection of £150k into the capital programme for 2018-19 to support 
the establishment of a dedicated delivery team.. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

8 Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Confidential SOBC executive summary 

Appendix 2 – HS2 Growth strategy executive summary 

Appendix 3 - Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening form 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 408



Document is Restricted

Page 409

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
 Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



10 LEEDS CITY REGION HS2 GROWTH STRATEGY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

This strategy sets out how Leeds City Region will work 

with Government, business, schools, colleges and 

universities to maximise the benefits of HS2. The HS2 

Growth Taskforce recommended in 2014 that HS2 could 

transform city region economies, but only if concerted 

action is taken to get our people, businesses, cities and 

local transport networks ready to make the most of the 

opportunity. It reflects the priorities in the Government’s 

Industrial Strategy.

With a population of 3 million and a £66.5 billion annual 

economy, Leeds City Region is significant in the context 

of the national economy and the Northern Powerhouse. 

Our economy is growing, with recent private sector jobs 

growth in cities such as Leeds and Wakefield amongst 

the highest levels nationally. Productivity levels are 

also increasing in comparison to the national average. 

We have a young, entrepreneurial population, excellent 

universities and real strengths in sectors such as 

manufacturing, financial and professional services, 

health and life sciences, and digital.

TRANSFORMING THE CITY REGION ECONOMY

HS2 and other transport improvements will bring new 

markets within reach of our businesses, connect people 

to new and more productive jobs, and support the 

clustering of high growth firms in our urban centres. 

We will position HS2 at the centre of a coherent strategy 

for improving the rail and transport network serving 

Leeds City Region. It will be integrated with enhanced 

inter-urban links across the north (Northern Powerhouse 

Rail), particularly a new fast east-west link between York, 

Leeds, Bradford and Manchester, and also between Leeds 

and Sheffield. Our strategy includes upgrades to existing 

rail lines, to secure improvements before HS2 is built, and 

to spread the benefits of HS2 and utilise the capacity it 

releases.

We estimate that the interventions set out in this HS2 

Growth Strategy will result in the creation of around 

40,000 additional jobs in Leeds City Region by 2050. This 

job creation relates to the local connectivity, regeneration, 

skills and supply chain initiatives set out in this strategy; 

it does not include the jobs that will be created by HS2 

itself, jobs that will be created by more general growth 

in the economy, and jobs displaced from elsewhere. It 

is a conservative estimate, but one we believe is robust. 

However, building on the positive forecasts for the 

Northern Powerhouse Independent Economic Review and 

for the Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy, it is plausible 

that the HS2 Growth Strategy interventions could 

contribute to productivity gains and regeneration benefits 

that would result in up to 50,000 further additional jobs in 

Leeds City Region by 2050.

A STEP CHANGE IN CONNECTIVITY FOR THE CITY REGION

We will spread the benefits of major national transport 

investment through achieving a step change in 

connectivity within our city region. This will enable the 

separate towns and cities of Leeds City Region to function 

as a more integrated economic area, bringing significant 

productivity gains and enabling people to access a wider 

range of jobs. There will be more capacity on the rail 

and public transport network, faster and more frequent 

services, improved interchanges, better ticketing and 

travel information, and widespread use of new technology 

to improve transport.

CREATING A WORLD CLASS GATEWAY AT LEEDS 

STATION

We will transform Leeds Station, already the busiest 

transport hub in the north, to create a world class 

gateway providing seamless interchange for people 

changing trains, increased rail capacity, and improved 

concourse areas. 

The Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan sets out a long 

term framework for the future development of Leeds 

Station. It has been produced through commissioning of 

a world class design team by Leeds City Council, HS2 Ltd, 

Network Rail, and Transport for the North, with input from 

the Department for Transport, and the Department for 

Communities and Local Government.

The scheme will incorporate commercial development, 

which will contribute to the financing of the project. It 

will support the growth of Leeds City Centre through 

development adjacent to the station and enhanced public 

realm.

A CATALYST FOR REGENERATION

We will use HS2, Northern Powerhouse Rail and 

improvements to our city region transport network to 

accelerate regeneration and development in our urban 

P
age 413



11LEEDS CITY REGION HS2 GROWTH STRATEGY

centres, next to our main transport hubs. Through 

the South Bank Leeds and the Leeds Innovation 

District projects we will double the size and economic 

contribution of Leeds City Centre. We will deliver major 

regeneration projects at York Central, Bradford’s City 

Centre Growth Zone, at Merchant Gate and Rutland Mills 

in Wakefield, in Halifax (building on the momentum 

created by the renovation of the Piece Hall), at HD One 

and the town centre in Huddersfield, and major retail and 

leisure schemes in Harrogate.

INSPIRING OUR PEOPLE

We will use HS2 as a catalyst and focus for raising 

awareness of young people to the range of jobs that will 

be available in transport, engineering, infrastructure 

and the future knowledge economy. We will work with 

our businesses, universities, colleges (including the HS2 

College at Doncaster) and schools to support people 

into these jobs, with a particular focus on increasing the 

proportion of women working in these sectors.

DEVELOPING OUR BUSINESSES AND SUPPLY CHAIN

We will establish Leeds City Region as a world leading 

hub for innovation and expertise in rail engineering. We 

will support supply chain development and attract inward 

investment from firms that want to co-locate alongside 

the University of Leeds Institute for High Speed Rail and 

Systems Integration, the University of Huddersfield Rail 

Institute, and York’s concentration of rail engineering firms.

 

A MAGNET FOR INVESTMENT AND A CULTURAL 

DESTINATION 

We will use HS2 to continue to enhance the image and 

profile of our city region as a place to invest, to visit 

and to build a career, making the most of our fantastic 

cultural assets.

IMPACT AND IMPLEMENTATION

We have set out a series of detailed proposals to 

implement this strategy, bringing together investments 

across a wide range of different national, city region and 

local funding programmes, encompassing transport, 

housing, regeneration, education and skills, and economic 

development projects.

An integrated approach to funding and implementation 

will be needed across Government and local partners. 

We have set out how we will bring together local funding 

streams, how we could capture some of the value uplift 

in Leeds from HS2, and the funding from Government 

needed to progress the projects set out in this HS2 

Growth Strategy. 

P
age 414



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: 
City Development 

Service area: 
Asset Management and Regeneration 

Lead person: 
Angela Lawson 

Contact number: 
0113 378 5832 

 
1. Title:  
Update on the HS2 growth strategy, HS2 and Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
Programme for integrating HS2 into Leeds City Centre including the existing classic 
station, the surrounding urban environment and the mechanism for delivery 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Review impact of proposed scheme on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration and 
whether an impact assessment is required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendix 3 - Equality, 
Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  X 

Page 415



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users, 
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a 
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

X  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 
 

Page 416



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

To be confirmed 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

To be confirmed 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Mike Diskin – Senior Project 
Officer 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
 
 

  

Date screening completed  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 417



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 418



 

Report author: Chris Musgrave 

Tel: 0113 3787579 

 
Report of Director of City Development  
 
Report to Executive Board  
 
Date: 17th October 2018 
 
Subject: City Centre Vehicle Access Management Scheme Phase Two 
 

Are specific electoral wards affected?  Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Little London and Woodhouse; Hunslet and Riverside 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  

Appendix number:  

 
 
Summary of main issues 

1. This report sets out the details of a scheme being prepared to significantly increase 
the safety and security of all users of the city centre by means of controlling all 
vehicular access at key locations through the deployment of security-rated bollards 
and other measures. In light of the current security situation within the UK, this 
scheme will promote the city centre core as a safe, accessible environment which is 
welcoming for all. 

  
2  The report seeks an injection of an additional £490,000 into the 2018/19 Capital 

Programme to cover the increase in material costs incurred during the 
implementation of the Phase One automated vehicle access system in the city 
centre pedestrian core. 

 
3 The report seeks a further injection of £270,000 into the 2018/19 Capital 

Programme and authority to spend for the detailed design and implementation of a 
vehicle access system to manage and control vehicle access at Leeds Playhouse 
courtyard, and authority to undertake feasibility studies and option appraisals for 
Millennium Square, Greek Street, Call Lane, Merrion Street East and other 
locations deemed at risk. 

 
4 The report also highlights the revenue cost of operating the system estimated at 

£205,000 per annum, which is required to facilitate the successful future operation, 
staff costs, power, and annual maintenance of the installed apparatus. 

Page 419

Agenda Item 12



2 of 8 

 

Recommendations 

 Executive Board is recommended to: 
 
i) Approve the injection and expenditure of an additional  £490,000 into the 

2018/19 Capital Programme to cover the shortfall in funding for the 
implementation of Phase One;  

  
ii) Approve the injection and expenditure of a further £270,000 into the 2018/19 

Capital Programme for the detailed design and implementation of Phase Two 
along with works to the Leeds Playhouse;  

 
iii) Authorise the undertaking of feasibility studies and option appraisals of an 

automated vehicle access system to control vehicle access at other key 
locations within the City Centre as identified in section 3.2 of this report 
where vehicle access is restricted;  

 
iv) Instruct the Director of City Development to expedite the implementation of 

all reasonable measures in the most timely manner as possible and delegate 
authority to approve, consult and implement such measures as should be 
identified in section 3.2 of this report; and  

  
v)  To note that the Chief Officer Highways & Transportation will be responsible 

for implementation. 
 

 
 

Page 420



 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1. The report seeks an injection of £490,000 into the 2018/2019 Capital Programme to 
cover the budget shortfall for Phase 1 of the City Centre Vehicle Access 
Management Scheme following an increase in material prices received during 
procurement.  
 

1.2 The report also seeks an injection of £270,000 into the 2018/2019 Capital 
Programme and authority to progress the detailed design and implementation of a 
system to manage and control vehicular access at Leeds Playhouse courtyard and 
Greek Street and authority to undertake feasibility studies and option appraisals for 
other locations deemed at risk. 

2 Background information 

2.1   The image and environment of the city centre is important in terms of attracting 
investors, employers, employees, residents, shoppers, visitors and tourists to the 
city. The quality of the street scape, public realm and safety is therefore 
fundamental to the city centre's ability to compete successfully with other cities and 
to raise its ambition of being the Best City. Access management has been an 
essential element of achieving this success. However, in light of the evolving UK 
security situation these measures are being reviewed with our key partners on an 
on-going basis in order to ensure they remain fit for purpose.  

  
2.2  The pedestrianised areas within the city centre were first created in 1990 when 

most of Briggate and the surrounding shopping streets and arcades were 
pedestrianised. They were controlled by the creation of a series of Traffic 
Regulation Orders (TROs) with restricted vehicular access (uncontrolled). Traffic is 
also prohibited from using Millennium Square except for servicing. Part time 
pedestrianisation and access restrictions have been introduced on Merrion Street 
East, Greek Street and Call Lane. 

  
2.3    The pedestrianisation scheme for this area is a great success story and has 

improved the urban core markedly, which has been the catalyst of retail growth and 
investment within these areas and the city centre.  

  
2.4     The current TROs, which restrict vehicular access, were modified in 2015 to extend 

the restricted access period to Monday to Sunday inclusive - 10:30 to 19:00hrs. 
This was primarily due to shopping opening periods being extended and pedestrian 
usages within the area. During these periods no vehicles are permitted apart from a 
small number of specially “exempted” vehicles.  

  
2.5    The current TROs restricting vehicular access have had limited success; however, 

without regular Police enforcement, a substantial number of vehicles continue to 
illegally traverse these streets.  

  
2.6    Members will be aware of recent terrorist incidents in Nice, Berlin, Stockholm and 

London involving hostile vehicles, in addition to the Manchester bomb attack. 
Accordingly, a review of existing arrangements in Leeds has been undertaken. 
Following concerns raised by both public and private sector city centre stakeholders 
and in the context of the current security situation, Executive Board approved the 
implementation of a permanent intervention in the form of a physical vehicle control 

Page 421



 

system to effectively control vehicle access to the pedestrian core on 21st June 
2017. The construction of this control system commenced in August 2018. 

 
2.7 Through the design of the Phase One element of works and wider consultation, 

areas of increased pedestrian numbers associated with events and the city’s night 
time economy have been highlighted as would benefit from similar automated 
measures currently under construction in the pedestrian core. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 Phase One – Increased Costs 
 
3.1.1 In order to effectively manage and control vehicular access, it was necessary to 

introduce a robust access control system which balanced security and day-to-day 
operational requirements; correct product selection is vital to achieve a successfully 
designed scheme that provides a safe and efficient means of vehicle control and 
balances this primary purpose with general access, especially servicing business 
needs.  

  
3.1.2  A comprehensive option appraisal has therefore been undertaken which concluded 

that the automated 'rise and lower' bollard option was the most appropriate system 
to implement within Leeds, which has included taking specialist advice from the 
police, suppliers and other local authorities. The system chosen will be accredited 
to comply with PAS 69 impact standards (7.5t vehicle driving at 50mph) when 
installed.  

  
3.1.3  With the ongoing threat of international and domestic terrorism, the procurement 

and delivery of these systems, as well as increased demands on the manufacturers 
to produce them, has seen an significant uplift in the cost of these products both 
here and overseas, which was not fully realised in the production of the initial cost 
estimates. As a result, the equipment cost for this scheme has increased by 
approximately 62%, and with the inclusion other essential equipment required to 
successfully operate the apparatus, has resulted in a budget shortfall of £490,000 
on the original authorised value of £1.4 million.  

 
3.1.4  Phase One is currently under contract and progressing on site and, subject to the 

approval of this decision, is due to be operational by the end of January 2019. 
 
3.1.5 Once Phase One is fully operational, the existing city centre gates would be made 

available for deployment as temporary control during events or as interim measures 
in other key locations.  

 
3.2 Phase Two 
 
3.2.1 Design and Operational Considerations 
 
3.2.2 Operational requirements: - A full site assessment of the working day, weekend and 

night time economy periods has been undertaken to identify the business needs, 
pedestrian usage period and environmental constraints, taking particular account of:  

 
i) Local environment (e.g. geography, current one way systems, entry and exit 

point and potential diversionary route for vehicles refused access);  

Page 422



 

ii) Traffic management (including vehicle access control, loading requirements 
and time period of protection);  

iii) Protocols and planning (e.g. unauthorised vehicle rejection procedures, 
emergency access and ongoing maintenance plans).  

 
3.2.3 Unlike the area of operation covered by the Phase One scheme, namely the city 

centre pedestrian core, the areas and streets identified as part of the Phase Two 
design have different time periods where vehicular traffic is restricted as below:- 

 
i) Greek Street is currently closed between 11:30 and 00:00; 
ii) Call Lane is closed Friday to Monday between 22:00 and 05:00; 
iii) Merrion Street East is closed at all times with loading permitted between 

06:00 and 11:00; and  
iv) Millennium Square does not permit traffic at any time with the exception of 

licensed vehicles for events.  
 
 

v) The proposed area associated with the Leeds Playhouse is not part of the 
carriageway and is required to provide protection to crowds likely to gather 
within this area.   

 
3.2.4 The proposals with respect to those schemes on the highway is to augment as 

necessary the existing TROs with physical measures to control vehicular access in 
the form of two rising bollards at the entry/exit points along with some additional 
street furniture.  

 
3.2.5  Emergency service access will be maintained at all times, through any street 

controlled by rising bollards. This will be in the form of a push button camera 
operated system that has been agreed with the City Watch service and can be best 
integrated within their operation.  

 
3.2.6 The undertaking of a robust maintenance programme will be required to ensure the 

bollards remain operational and effective. This will require a contract with a 
specialist external contractor to undertake this task to ensure the timely response to 
faults and cyclical maintenance.  The cost of this work is included in the revenue 
figure referred to in the recommendation and any additional costs arising from the 
Phase 2 proposals will addressed once the scope of the scheme is finalised. 

 
3.2.7 Programme 
 
3.2.8 A detailed delivery programme is being developed for the Phase Two scheme 

proposals, which will be prepared for the expeditious delivery of the measures and 
early dialogue with the contract teams. This will provide a phased programme of 
works for the sequenced introduction of the proposed physical measures and 
control systems to provide early benefits to the safety and comfort of users, whilst 
maintaining essential access for service and delivery vehicles. Therefore timescales 
are not yet confirmed; however, it is intended that the works associated with the 
Leeds Playhouse will form part of the scheme’s existing delivery schedule. The 
programme for the Phase Two works will be reviewed on an ongoing basis with a 
view to bringing works on stream as soon as possible. This will be subject to a 
further board report once the proposals have been fully developed and costed. 

   

Page 423



 

3.3 Operational Costs 
 
3.3.1 Once installed, the vehicle access management scheme will generate an ongoing 

revenue pressure of £205,000 per annum to facilitate the successful future 
operation, staff costs, power, and annual maintenance of the installed apparatus.  
These costs will be incorporated into the Directorate’s budget as part of the 2019/20 
budget setting process. 

 
4 Corporate considerations 
 
4.1 Consultation and engagement 
 
4.1.1 Consultation has taken place with West Yorkshire Police and all key stakeholders 

for Phase One of the scheme through a formal consultation process. Local 
businesses are supportive and welcome the added security the scheme will provide; 
however, there has been firm resistance to any financial contribution from the 
private sector. 
 

4.1.2 West Yorkshire Police have also been consulted to help develop proposals for 
Phase Two. An extensive consultation exercise will be undertaken for Phase Two 
once the proposals are suitably advanced. 

 
4.2      Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 
 
4.2.1 A screening document has been prepared and an independent impact assessment 

is not required for the approvals process. 

4.3  Council policies and best council plan 

4.3.1 Improving the streetscape environment within the city centre accords with the aims 
and visions of the Council’s Corporate Plan for the public realm, to make Leeds a 
good place to live, work or visit, with a clean, safe and sustainable environment. 

 
4.3.2 The introduction of vehicular access control systems supports the objectives of the 

City Transport Strategy in terms of minimising the impact of vehicular traffic on the 
city centre, reducing traffic congestion and contributing to the effective management 
of the transport network. 

4.4 Resources and value for money 

 Capital Funding and Cashflow 
 

Page 424



 

Estimated Capital TOTAL

Expenditure by type 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 660.0 490.0 170.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 0.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 90.0 25.0 75.0
OTHER COSTS (7) 0.0

TOTALS 760.0 515.0 245.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total overall Funding TOTAL

(As per latest Capital 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Programme) £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

LCC Supported Borrowing 760.0 515.0 245.0
LCC Departmental Borrowing 0.0
Revenue Contribution 0.0
Government Grant 0.0
Other Grant 0.0
Private Sector Contributions 0.0
Section 106 / 278 0.0
Any Other Income ( Specify) 0.0

Total Funding 760.0 515.0 245.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance / Shortfall = 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

FORECAST

FORECAST

   
REVENUE EFFECTS Total 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000's £000'S £000'S £000'S £000'S £000'S

EMPLOYEES 157.0 157.0 157.0 157.0 157.0 157.0

PREMISES COSTS 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

SUPPLIES & SERVICES 48.0 48.0 48.0 48.0 48.0 48.0

EXTERNAL INCOME GENERATED 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

TOTAL NET REVENUE EFFECTS 205.0 205.0 205.0 205.0 205.0 205.0

Forecast 

 

4.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

4.5.1  There are no legal implications for the contents of this report. 
 

4.6 Risk management 

4.6.1 There are no major risks in the proposals as set out in the report as it seeks to 
improve the safety of streets for pedestrians by restricting access to vehicles during 
the busy parts of the day. The access to emergency vehicles will be permitted.  

 
4.6.2  The works will take place in a complex pedestrian street environment within the city 

centre and will be managed through careful design, planning, phasing and 
management of the works to minimise inconvenience to the public and businesses. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 These proposals will provide for the enhanced management and control of vehicles 
to the core pedestrianised area of Leeds city centre and other public locations 
where vehicle access is either prohibited or restricted to improve comfort and safety 
of users at these locations.  The use of automated rising bollards is considered the 
most appropriate solution to achieve effective access control. These systems are 

Page 425



 

successfully used by other Local Authorities, are robust, easy to use and maintain, 
and their designs are sympathetic to city centre streetscapes. 

 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to: 
 
i) Approve the injection and expenditure of an additional £490,000 into the 

2018/19 Capital Programme to cover the shortfall in funding for the 
implementation of Phase One;  

  
ii) Approve the injection and expenditure of a further £270,000 into the 2018/19 

Capital Programme for the detailed design and implementation of Phase Two 
along with works to the Leeds Playhouse;  

 
iii) Authorise the undertaking of feasibility studies and option appraisals of an 

automated vehicle access system to control vehicle access at other key 
locations within the City Centre as identified in section 3.2 of this report 
where vehicle access is restricted;  
 

iv) Instruct the Director of City Development to expedite the implementation of 
all reasonable measures in the most timely manner as possible and delegate 
authority to approve, consult and implement such measures as should be 
identified in section 3.2 of this report; and  

  
v)  To note that the Chief Officer Highways & Transportation will be responsible 

for implementation. 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 
 
 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 426



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Highways & 

Transportation 
 

Lead person: Nicholas Hunt 
 

Contact number: 0113 3787487 

 
1. Title: Accessibility to Pedestrianised Area following introduction of vehicle Access 
Control measures 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
This report specifically focuses on the function of Briggate and the surrounding 
streets that make up Leeds city centre’s pedestrian zone in terms of future 
accessibility following the introduction of a vehicle access control system.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 427



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 428



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected). 
 
In 2010 a review of the pedestrianised area was conducted and this ECDI builds on that 
review and the outcomes raised. 
 
Background Information 
 

 Shared Surfaces Report (TNS-BMRB Report JN:197369 March 2010) 
commissioned by the Guide Dogs for the Blind Association  

 Shopmobility Service User Information and the National Federation of 
Shopmobility UK’s web site 

 DfT Blue Badge Scheme  
 Parking Services Enforcement  
 Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) for Leeds city centre pedestrian zone 

 
Road Accident Statistics  
  
Our records of personal injury (PI) accidents go back to 1/1/79, so I have been able to 
carry out a comprehensive search of the accident history of Briggate during the relevant 
periods. 
  
The information below relates to the pedestrianised section of Briggate between the 
Headrow and Boar Lane, excluding terminal junctions as they still carry traffic.   
 
Please note that the years in which refurbishment works were carried out have 
been excluded. 
  

 During the 14 year period 1/1/79 to 31/12/92, when Briggate was open to all 
traffic, there were 94 personal injury accidents (6.7 accidents per year) 

  
 In the 3 full years 1/1/94 to 31/12/96, with buses and taxis only, there were 

           8 personal injury  accidents (2.7 accidents per year) 
  

 In the 19 years 1/1/98 to 31/12/19 there were 3 personal injury  accidents 
           (0.15 accidents per year) 
 
Additional Information 
 
All stakeholders agreed in the 2010 review that the pedestrianisation provided a safe, 
accessable and appealing area for all residets and visitors to Leeds. 

Page 429



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

4

 
The additional introduction of a physical vehicle access control system to complement 
the existing TRO will provide gaps between the features of 1.2m to ensure an 
unrestricted passage is retained for all pedestrians and wheelchair users. 
 
All bollards will be mounted at the correct height to ensure these meet current standards 
for partially sighted residents and visitors of Leeds. No adverse effects have been 
identified from an equality perspective as part of this review. Access/ servicing 
arrangement for the businesses enclosed with this area will change and this will be 
developed with partners and stakeholders. 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Previous a review in relation to vehicles access into the pedestrianised area of Briggate 
was conducted in 2010, where support from all was received at the time to maintain the 
car free pedestrianised areas.  These key stakeholders who were previously involved in 
this review process include: 

 Leeds City Council Officers 

 Officers from other Local Authorities, including Manchester, Bristol, Liverpool and 
Newcastle  

 The Leeds Hubs e.g. Disability; BME; Age/Older People and Carers 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

Further consultation with these groups will be undertaken as part of the detailed 
design and consultation process. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment  

Page 430



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

5

(Include name and job title) 
 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Nicholas Hunt 
 

Traffic Engineering 
Manager 

8th June 2017 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed  

 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 431



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report author: Sally Goodwin-Mills 

Tel: 07712214867 

 
Report of Director of Public Health & Director of Children and Families   
Report to Executive Board 
 
Date: 17th October 2018 
 
Subject: Leeds Breastfeeding Plan 2016-2021 
 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  

Appendix number:  

 
Summary of main issues 

1. The UK government recommends exclusive breastfeeding for around six months, 
thereafter alongside solid foods, ongoing for at least one year. The World Health 
Organisation recommends exclusive breastfeeding for six months, thereafter alongside 
solid foods, ongoing for two years and beyond. 
 

2. Breastfeeding is a fundamental public health issue: it promotes health, prevents 
disease and contributes to reducing health inequalities. It is accepted by the World 
Health Organisation as the optimal method for infant feeding. It provides the foundation 
for a healthy start in life and prevents disease in the short and long term for both babies 
and their mothers. Breastfeeding is one of the World Cancer Research Fund Ten 
Recommendations for reducing the risk of developing cancer. 
 

3. In Leeds around 70% of women choose to start breastfeeding (just below the national 
average of 74%), with around 50% (higher than the national average of 44%) 
continuing to do so at 6-8 weeks. The influences on breastfeeding rates are complex 
and a woman’s decision to breastfeed is influenced by many factors including her own 
experiences, friends and family, culture, the media as well as through health advice.  
 

4. The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan was developed in 2016 to provide direction and 
strategic support to programmes aiming to increase breastfeeding initiation and 
duration rates in Leeds. This plan builds on the previous strategic plan (Food for Life – 
Leeds Breastfeeding Strategy 2010-2015) and includes key recommendations for 
moving forward with current and new work programmes. Within Leeds, breastfeeding is 
a key element of the Leeds Best Start Plan, which is a top commitment of the Leeds 

Page 433

Agenda Item 13



2 
 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Best Start is also a priority within the Leeds Children & 
Young People’s Plan and the Best Council Plan. 

 
5. Breast feeding rates have increased steadily over the years that the City has had a 

Breast Feeding Plan and continuation rates are good. During this time Leeds has 
successfully implemented a range of programmes. In July 2018 Leeds Community 
Health Care Services, supported by Public Health, achieved the Unicef Baby Friendly 
Initiative Gold Award, demonstrating that high quality care is being provided. 
 

6. It is increasingly acknowledged that government, policy makers, communities and 
families all share responsibility for supporting breastfeeding. It is therefore proposed 
that a greater emphasis be placed on actions to inform the public about the importance 
of breastfeeding and to normalise breastfeeding in a society where formula feeding is 
often seen as the norm.    
 
Recommendations 

 
Members of the Executive Board are asked to:  

(i) Acknowledge the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan and the impact of implementing 
the priority actions to date  

(ii) Support a wider environmental and cultural approach to promoting 
breastfeeding 

(iii) Consider the proposed Leeds Breastfeeding Plan priority actions 2018/19 
and provide feedback to support  the delivery of the priorities throughout 
Council work programmes e.g. Increasing Breastfeeding Friendly venues 
and spaces within the Local Authority 

(iv) Note the opportunity to be involved in consultation and engagement about 
the plan priorities for 2019/20 

(v) Support further preventive health initiatives targeting Leeds most deprived 
communities in line with the Health and Wellbeing Board’s commitment and 
plan to improve the health of the poorest fastest and the Leeds Plan.  

(vi) Agree to lobby government to passport the tax raised from the advertising of 
infant formula to provide more funding for peer support and public health 
initiatives that support breastfeeding 

(vii) Note that the Director of Public Health and the Director of Children and 
Families will be responsible for its implementation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 434



3 
 

 
1. Purpose of this report 

The purpose of this report is to provide a mid-term update and to share information 
about successes and progress that has been made in delivering the Leeds 
Breastfeeding Plan (Appendix 1). The report also outlines plans to develop further 
work, based on consultation, and offers the opportunity for involvement, to maintain 
progress by gaining support for a wider environmental and cultural approach to 
promoting breastfeeding. Delivering the priority actions in the Leeds Breastfeeding 
Plan will contribute to Leeds City Council’s priority to give every child in Leeds the 
best start in life and thereby improve the health, wellbeing and outcomes for 
children, young people and families in Leeds.   

 

2. Background information 

2.1 Ensuring the ‘best start’ for every child in Leeds is one of the top commitments of 
the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Breastfeeding is a key factor in ensuring 
that all babies have the best start in life. There is clear evidence that babies who are 
breastfed are likely to experience better health outcomes. They are less likely to 
suffer with chest, ear and gastrointestinal infection, requiring less visits to see the 
doctor and reduced hospital admissions. They are also at reduced risk of childhood 
obesity, sudden infant death, childhood leukaemia and type 1 diabetes. There is 
also evidence that breastfeeding positively impacts on oral health by reducing the 
risk of dental caries and malocclusion. For mothers who breastfeed they have 
reduced risk of developing breast and ovarian cancer, osteoporosis, type 2 diabetes 
and postnatal depression. Not only does breastfeeding confer this wide range of 
short and long term health benefits it also promotes infant brain development and 
the formation of healthy attachment relationships, which forms the emotional and 
social bedrock for all future development.   

2.2 The UK has some of the lowest breastfeeding rates in the world. The National Infant 
Feeding Survey 2010 (now discontinued by the Department of Health), and the 
more recent Scottish Maternal and Infant Nutrition Survey (2017) show that eight 
out of ten women stop breastfeeding before they want to, often because of issues 
that could have been prevented or easily resolved with the right help and support. 
Improving support for breastfeeding mothers, therefore increasing breastfeeding 
rates would have a profoundly positive impact on child health. Increasing the 
number of babies who are breastfed could cut the incidence of common childhood 
illnesses such as ear, chest and gut infections and save the NHS up to £50 million 
each year. 

2.3 Breastfeeding rates in comparable European countries, with similar population sizes 
and demographics, show that it is possible to increase rates with a supportive 
breastfeeding culture and the political will to do so. For example, in Norway during 
the 1970s, breastfeeding rates were as low as those in England today. Norway then 
took a number of actions such as: banning all advertising of artificial formula milk 
completely; and offering a year's maternity leave on 80% pay and, on the mothers' 
return to work, an hour's breastfeeding break every day. Today 98% of Norwegian 
women start out breastfeeding, and 90% are still nursing four months later. This 
evidence highlights how a difference can be made with government will and policy 
development and how actions such as limiting or banning advertising of formula 
milk can have a powerful effect. 

Page 435



4 
 

2.4 In recognition of the need to address the low breastfeeding trend, the Leeds 
Breastfeeding Plan was developed with input from families, colleagues across 
public health, academics and policy makers. The aim is to provide a framework to 
support and guide cross sector working in Leeds to ensure all babies in Leeds are 
given the best start right from the start, by receiving breastmilk and building positive 
relationships. There will continue to be ongoing consultation with stakeholders to 
inform annual priority setting. 

2.5 In 2006 the Unicef Baby Friendly Initiative standards (Appendix 2) were 
implemented by the Leeds Health Visiting Service (provided by Leeds Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust), and the Leeds Maternity Service (provided by Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust). The Unicef Baby Friendly Initiative is an evidence 
based, staged accreditation programme to support maternity, neonatal, health 
visiting and children’s centre services to transform their care. It aims to enable 
public services to better support families with feeding and developing close, loving 
relationships, ensuring that all babies get the best possible start in life. 

2.6 In July 2018 Leeds Community Healthcare Health Visiting services became one of 
only six providers to achieve the Baby Friendly Initiative Gold Award. Baby Friendly 
Initiative Gold accreditation (Appendix 3) is awarded to services where they can 
evidence that the standards have been embedded permanently, and that the four 
themes (Leadership, Culture, Monitoring and Progression) that underpin high quality 
care for the long term are in place. Since the development of the Leeds 
Breastfeeding Plan, Leeds Children’s Centres have started their journey to 
accreditation. Leeds Maternity Service has been Baby Friendly accredited since 
2014. 

2.7 Breastfeeding rates increased steadily over the years that the Baby Friendly 
Initiative standards were implemented. However, they have remained fairly static 
over recent years, suggesting that more needs to be done alongside this to further 
increase breastfeeding rates.  

3. Main issues 

3.1 Breastfeeding is a highly emotive subject in the UK because so many families have 
not breastfed, or have experienced the trauma of trying very hard to breastfeed and 
not succeeding. In their 2016 Call to Action, Unicef Baby Friendly Initiative suggests 
‘it is time to stop laying the blame for the UK’s low breastfeeding rates in the laps of 
individual women and instead acknowledge that this is a public health imperative for 
which government, policy makers, communities and families all share responsibility’.  

3.2 Breastfeeding rates vary greatly across the city and are based on many things other 
than choice. In Leeds, the lowest breastfeeding rates are among the young white 
British population where formula feeding is seen as the cultural norm.  

3.3 Not breastfeeding can have major long-term negative effects on the health, nutrition 
and development of children and on women’s health. This includes conditions 
detailed previously such as breast and ovarian cancer and diabetes which can 
require lifelong treatment. This has huge cost implications for local and national 
health services. 

3.4 In order to protect babies from harmful commercial interests, the World Health 
Organisation led on the development of the Code of Marketing of Breastmilk 
Substitutes in 1981 to restrict the advertising of food and drink intended for babies. 
This Code has never been fully adopted in the UK. However, services working 

Page 436



5 
 

towards or accredited with Unicef Baby Friendly Initiative must adopt the Code in 
full. The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan strives to raise awareness of the Code with all 
stakeholders and to gain a wider commitment to adopting it. 

3.5 The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan recognises the important role of partnership working. 
The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan is a vehicle to take the sort of whole-systems 
approach needed to tackle such complex and emotive issues. For example, the 
Leeds Breastfeeding Plan could have an impact raising awareness of the Code 
across Local Authority departments, ensuring that the Council works as one to 
achieve maximum impact, and by working with other local partners to have an 
impact beyond Council services. 

3.6 The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan Partnership group was convened in January 2016 to 
provide strategic direction for organisations and professional groups charged with 
improving support for breastfeeding mothers and their families. Women and families 
voices are heard via consultation and engagement and by two-way feedback via the 
Peer Support Coordinator who is a member of the group .The group is collectively 
responsible for implementing the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan and monitoring the 
outcomes. Group membership includes: Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust; 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust; Leeds City Council and the Third sector.  

3.7 The purpose of the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan is to provide a framework to support 
and guide cross-sector working in Leeds to ensure all babies in Leeds are given the 
best start right from the start, by receiving breastmilk and building positive 
relationships. The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan Partnership group reports at quarterly 
meetings and via a bi-annual monitoring report to the Best Start Strategy Group, 
Maternity Strategy Implementation Board and the Child Health Weight Partnership. 

3.8 A new Leeds City Council Infant Feeding Policy was developed and implemented in 
2016. Leeds Community Healthcare and Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust also have 
Infant Feeding Policies in place. All Children’s Centres in Leeds have adopted an 
Infant Feeding Policy as part of working towards Baby Friendly Initiative 
accreditation. It is a priority action of the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan that these 
policies are in place and are implemented effectively. 

3.9 It is a requirement from Unicef Baby Friendly Initiative to have a Baby Friendly 
Guardian. The Executive Member for Health, Wellbeing and Adults, Councillor 
Charlwood, has adopted the role of BFI Guardian. The role is about acting as an 
advocate for breastfeeding and taking responsibility for promoting, protecting and 
supporting the Baby Friendly standards, including compliance with the International 
Code of Marketing of Breastmilk Substitutes. There is also a Guardian for Leeds 
Community Healthcare, Marcia Perry, Executive Director of Nursing and Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals Trust are in the process of recruiting someone for the role.  

3.10 This new position of Guardian has been pivotal in ensuring Baby Friendly Initiative 
Gold Award accreditation for the Health Visiting service and stands other 
organisations in good stead for achieving the same award. Having Guardians who 
will advocate at a senior strategic level is required because of the complexities 
surrounding breastfeeding. It has enabled the information to be heard in arenas 
where previously it has not been, and has sparked interest and conversation. 

3.11 A celebration event has been organised for October 2018 in recognition of Leeds 
Community Healthcare Health Visiting Service achievement of becoming Gold 
accredited. This will provide the opportunity to showcase the achievement, share 
success and congratulate all involved in the Baby Friendly Initiative process. This 
will also be an opportunity to hear from mothers and families who have benefited 

Page 437



6 
 

from this excellent standard of care. The event is also intended to highlight 
successes and drive other priority actions of the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan. 

3.12 Key highlights and achievement for the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan currently include:  

 Growth and development of the Peer Support offer in Leeds meaning more 
women receive mother to mother support in their local community. This is an 
evidence based approach to improve breastfeeding rates. 

 Peer support in the work place – A Leeds City Council group looking at ways 
to improve infant feeding support for women and partners returning to work 
after maternity, paternity or adoption leave 

 Children’s Centres working towards Baby Friendly accreditation, with the first 
assessment planned for November 2018 

 Breast pump loan scheme – breast pumps are now available to loan from 
Children’s Centres. So far this has supported over 200 families to provide 
more breastmilk for their baby 

 

3.13 At  this mid-term point further consultation work has been undertaken on the   
forthcoming priority actions for the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan for 2018/19 which are as 
follows, however there remains scope for further development of these actions 

 Growth of the “Leeds is Breastfeeding Friendly” project, encouraging businesses, 
venues, shops and organisations to be more breastfeeding friendly, with a particular 
focus of local authority venues. This aims to ensure women who choose to 
breastfeed feel supported in their local communities to breastfeed when out and 
about in public.  

 Better support for women returning to education or work while breastfeeding. This 
will require support for all managers to fully implement the Leeds City Council Infant 
Feeding Policy, along with further development of Leeds City Council breastfeeding 
peer support for those returning from maternity, paternity and adoption leave. Use 
learning from this as best practice to offer to organisations looking to improve 
support in this area. 

 Implementation of Leeds Schools Breastfeeding Guidance and breastfeeding 
awareness raising sessions in schools. This aims to support young mothers and 
school staff returning to school and work while breastfeeding, to ensure they have 
the support required to enable breastfeeding to continue. 

 Continue to drive the Baby Friendly Initiative with all relevant services to ensure 
standards are maintained and improved where needed. Specific work with Leeds 
Children’s Centres will support work progress the accreditation process, Stage 1 
accreditation is planned for November 2018. Full accreditation will be achieved in 
the next priority phase 2019/20. 

4. Corporate considerations 

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 Consultation and engagement was undertaken throughout the development of the 
Leeds Breastfeeding Plan. It has and will continue to do so throughout the life of the 
Leeds Breastfeeding Plan. The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan was developed by Public 
Health, Leeds City Council alongside partners from the Health Service and the third 

Page 438



7 
 

sector. The plan draws on the wide range of evidence and policy available. Initial 
consultation on the draft plan was engaged through strategic groups including the 
Best Start Strategy Group, Children’s Healthy Weight Partnership, the Infant 
Feeding Professional Issues group, and the Breastfeeding Lead group.   

4.1.2 In January 2016 the Breastfeeding Plan Partnership Group was convened; 
incorporating internal and external partners, and was active and influential in the 
development of the plan. A consultation phase took place during winter 2015-16 to 
allow consultation with a range of professional groups and engagement of pregnant 
women and families through guided discussions at parent and baby groups, 
antenatal and postnatal groups and by using paper questionnaires. It is recognised 
now that we can develop this further using electronic surveys to reach a wider 
selection of the community.  

4.1.3 A report and presentation on the progress of projects underpinned by the Leeds 
Breastfeeding Plan was produced and delivered for the Health and Wellbeing Board 
to inform Councillors and the public. The response was very positive and 
supportive. 

4.1.4 Consultation for the next phase of the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan 2019-2020 is 
planned for late 2018 with the Maternity Strategy Implementation Board, young 
mums at the YUMs group in South Leeds and with the Maternity Voices 
Partnership. We will also be talking with young men and fathers about their 
influencers and about their role in supporting breastfeeding.      

                                                                               

4.1.5 This community involvement work will continue, using asset based and participatory   
approaches to obtain young people’s and families’ views on the needs and assets 
relating to the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan and to identify opportunities and next 
steps. 

 

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

4.2.1 Evidence has demonstrated that a child from a low-income background who is 
breastfed is likely to have better health outcomes than a child from a more affluent 
background who is formula-fed (Wilson et al, 1998). We also know that some 
vulnerable mothers – including young mothers and mothers from lower 
socioeconomic groups, who are least likely to breastfeed (McAndrew et al, 2012; 
Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition, 2008) – have the worst health and social 
outcomes for themselves and their babies. Implementing the Leeds Breastfeeding 
Plan provides one solution to this long-standing problem, as an intervention to 
increase breastfeeding rates and ultimately help tackle health inequality.  

4.2.2   In Leeds, breastfeeding data consistently show that young white women living in 
deprived areas are least likely to breastfeed. However, of all descriptive factors (e.g. 
age, deprivation and ethnicity), in Leeds it is the single category of white (British and 
Irish) ethnicity which captures the largest part (81.7%) of the population that does 
not initiate breast feeding. Mothers over the age of 28 years from BME and white 
European communities are the most likely to initiate breastfeeding with a mean 
initiation rate for these groups of 83.8%.    

 

 

 

Page 439



8 
 

4.3  Council policies and Best Council Plan                                                                  

4.3.1 The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan can positively impact on two of the Leeds Best 
Council Plan priorities: Health and Wellbeing and Child-Friendly City. This can be 
achieved by enabling all Directorates across the Council to recognise the value of 
breastfeeding for providing the best start in life for children and the families, and by 
acknowledging and supporting the ways in which breastfeeding help reduce health 
inequalities. The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan will also contribute to the outcomes of 
the Best Start Plan, Children and Young People’s Plan, Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, and Leeds Health and Care Plan.  

4.3.2 The Leeds City Council Infant Feeding Policy ensures support for expectant and 
new mothers (including adopters and carers) and their partners to feed and care for 
their baby in ways which support optimum health and well-being. The Policy 
ensures staff members are supported to breastfeed and / or express breastmilk for 
their babies, including upon their return to work. The Policy outlines commitment to 
ensuring space to enable this to happen. 

4.4      Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Not breastfeeding is associated with economic losses of about $302 billion annually 
or 0·49% of world gross national income, according to Nigel Rollins et al 2016 
report ‘Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices?’ It also 
states that breastfeeding provides short-term and long-term health, economic and 
environmental advantages to children, women, and society.  

4.4.2 The Baby Friendly Initiative report ‘Preventing disease and saving resources: the 
potential contribution of increasing breastfeeding rates in the UK’ found that 
moderate increases in breastfeeding would translate into cost savings for the NHS 
of many millions, and tens of thousands of fewer hospital admissions and GP 
consultations.  

4.4.3 Breastfeeding protects both mothers and babies from a wide range of common 
illnesses, many involving life-long healthcare costs. Implementing the Leeds 
Breastfeeding Plan provides opportunities to further increase breastfeeding rates 
which could help realise potential cost savings locally. 

4.4.4 The cost of Baby Friendly Initiative in Leeds is included in service specifications and 
managed within the individual service budgets. Once a service is accredited to 
Gold, the cost reduces significantly as the process changes from large costly 
assessments to an annual subscription.  

4.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

4.6 Risk management 

4.5.1 There are no significant risk management issues.  

5 Conclusions 

5.4 The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan provides a framework to support an increase in the 
number of women starting and continuing to breastfeed for as long as they wish. It 

Page 440



9 
 

is essential to change the conversation around breastfeeding and acknowledge that 
this is a public health imperative for which everyone, including communities, families 
and organisations share responsibility.   

5.5 Implementing the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan will ensure that the right framework is 
in place to create a supportive, enabling environment for women who want to 
breastfeed, and to protect all babies, whether breast or formula fed, from harmful 
commercial interests. This will support an increase breastfeeding rates and 
ultimately improve the health and wellbeing of the local population. Success in this 
will raise the profile of the Council, highlight good work and significantly contribute 
towards Leeds being the best city for health and wellbeing and being a Child-
Friendly City. 

6 Recommendations 

Members of the Executive Board are asked to: 

  

(i) Acknowledge the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan and the impact of implementing 
the priority actions to date  

(ii) Support a wider environmental and cultural approach to promoting 
breastfeeding 

(iii) Consider the proposed Leeds Breastfeeding Plan priority actions 2018/19 
and provide feedback to support  the delivery of the priorities throughout 
Council work programmes e.g. Increasing Breastfeeding Friendly venues and 
spaces within the Local Authority 

(iv) Note the opportunity to be involved in consultation and engagement about 
the plan priorities for 2019/20 

(v) Support further preventive health initiatives targeting Leeds most deprived 
communities in line with the Health and Wellbeing Board’s commitment and 
plan to improve the health of the poorest fastest and the Leeds Plan.  

(vi) Agree to lobby government to passport the tax raised from the advertising of 
infant formula to provide more funding for peer support and public health 
initiatives that support breastfeeding 

(vii) Note that the Director of Public Health and the Director of Children and 
Families will be responsible for its implementation 

7 Background documents1  

None 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 441



10 
 

Appendix 1.  

Leeds Breastfeeding Plan 2016-2021 
Vision: Mothers are empowered to breastfeed for as long as they wish and parents are supported to have close and 
loving relationships with their baby. The significant value of breastfeeding and early relationship building are 
recognised for the immediate and future health and well-being of mother and baby. 
Principles: 

 Every mother / family has the opportunity to have a full and meaningful discussion about breastfeeding and 
relationship building while they are pregnant to enable them to make an informed decision about how to feed 
and respond to their baby. 

 Every mother / family is provided with the information, support and help they require with breastfeeding in 
hospital and community settings.  

 All sectors, services and settings in Leeds welcome and support breastfeeding mothers. 
 
Indicator: Increase in the number of babies receiving breastmilk at birth and at 6-8 weeks of age 

Objectives Priority Actions Indicators –  
Outcomes and Process 

1. Leeds is a 
breastfeeding friendly 
city and breastfeeding 
and relationship 
building is a cross 
sector priority   

1. Raise awareness across sectors of the 
value of breastfeeding and the impact 
for mother and baby and promote 
coordinated and positive messages 
about breastfeeding e.g. re-launch 
Leeds is Breastfeeding Friendly project 

2. LCH and LCC senior leaders and key 
stakeholders support the breastfeeding 
agenda and implementation of 
organisational Infant Feeding policies 

3. All partners are included in actively 
supporting delivery of the agenda 

4. Raise all stakeholders awareness of 
the WHO International Code of 
Marketing of Breastmilk Substitutes  

 Increase in numbers of businesses 
and venues signed up to Leeds is 
Breastfeeding Friendly project  

 LCC and LCH Infant Feeding 
Policies effectively implemented with 
continued strategic support and 
adherence to the WHO Code. 

 Increase in breastfeeding 
continuation rates  

 Women actively supported to return 
to work breastfeeding  

2. Knowledgeable and 
confident practitioners 
are able to support 
women and families to 
 build effective 

relationships and 
facilitate trust 

 feel empowered 
and confident to 
breastfeed 
  
 

5. Health Visiting Midwifery and Neonatal 
services maintain the Baby Friendly 
accredited status; Children’s Centres 
work towards accreditation  

6. Breastfeeding and relationship building 
awareness and training are available 
for allied services  

7. Increase access for  all women (and 
their partner / other) to an antenatal 
programme appropriate to their needs 

8. Further develop and deliver peer 
support city wide 

 Health Visiting, Midwifery and 
Neonatal unit maintain full BFI 
accreditation  

 Children’s Centres progress towards 
full accreditation 

 Improved antenatal intention and 
confidence to breastfeed 

 Increase in breastfeeding initiation 
rates 

 Increase in the numbers of mothers 
and fathers / significant other 
attending antenatal programmes 

 Decrease in the number of babies 
under aged one year admitted to 
hospital with gastroenteritis and 
respiratory tract infection   

 Quarterly reporting on peer support 
reach and activity 

3. Increase the number of 
babies in Leeds given 
the best start in life by 
prioritising 
breastfeeding and 
relationship building 
activity with the most 
deprived communities 
and groups 

9. Breastfeeding data collection is 
effective and supports the delivery of 
interventions 

10. Promote and support interventions 
specifically tailored to the needs of 
young mothers (24 years and under) 

11. Improve practices to support fathers 
and grandparents 

12. Identify strategies to ‘normalise’ 
breastfeeding within white, low income 
and deprived communities   

 Increase in breastfeeding initiation 
and continuation rates among key 
groups 

 Increase in numbers of young 
women, fathers and grandparents 
downloading the Baby Buddy App 

 A reduction in the gap in 
breastfeeding rates between 
deprived and non-deprived Leeds  
 

Page 442



11 
 

Appendix 2.  
 
Baby Friendly Initiative Standards 
 
Standard 1: a firm foundation 

1. Have written policies and guidelines to support the standards. 
2. Plan an education programme that will allow staff to implement the standards 

according to their role. 
3. Have processes for implementing, auditing and evaluating the standards. 
4. Ensure that there is no promotion of breastmilk substitutes, bottles, teats or 

dummies in any part of the facility or by any of the staff. 
 
Standard 2: an educated workforce 

1. Educate staff to implement the standards according to their role and the service 
provided. 

 
Standard 3: Parents experiences (Health Visiting) 

1. For health visiting and public health nursing services, Stage 3 assessment involves 
assessing that mothers are supported with their feeding, given useful and accurate 
information and that parents are supported to recognise the importance of 
relationships and how to build these. 

 
Re-accreditation  
Once your organisation has passed Stage 3, it will be accredited as Baby Friendly. The 
initial accreditation typically lasts for two years; after this, re-assessments will take place 
on a regular basis to ensure that the standards are being maintained and to explore how 
the service is building on the good work it has already done. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 443



12 
 

Appendix 3. 
 
Achieving Sustainability Standards: Gold Award 
 
Theme 1: Leadership: Develop a leadership team that promotes the Baby Friendly 
standards 

 There is a named Baby Friendly lead/team with sufficient knowledge, skills and 
hours to meet their objectives 

 There is a mechanism for the Baby Friendly lead/team to remain up-to-date with 
their education and skills 

 A Baby Friendly Guardian with sufficient seniority and engagement is in post 
 The leadership structures support proportionate responsibility and accountability 
 All relevant managers are educated to support the maintenance of the standards. 

Theme 2: Culture: Foster an organisational culture that protects the Baby Friendly 

standards 

 There is support for ongoing staff learning 
 There are mechanisms in place to support a positive culture, such as staff 

recognition schemes, mechanisms for staff to feedback concerns and systems to 
enable parents’ and families’ feedback to be heard and acted upon. 

Theme 3: Monitoring: Construct robust monitoring processes to support the Baby 

Friendly standards – mechanisms to ensure that: 

 Baby Friendly audits are carried out regularly according to service needs 
 All relevant data is available and is accessed 
 Data is analysed effectively and collectively to give an overall picture 
 Action plans are developed in response to findings 
 Relevant data is routinely reported to the leadership team 
 Relevant data is routinely reported to Unicef UK. 

Theme 4: Progression: Continue to develop the service in order to sustain the Baby 

Friendly standards 

 The service demonstrates innovation and progress 
 There is evidence to demonstrate that outcomes have improved 
 The needs of babies, their mothers and families are met through effective integrated 

working 

 

 

 

Page 444



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

1 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Public Health 
 

Service area: Infant Feeding 
 

Lead person: Sally Goodwin-Mills 
 

Contact number: 07712214867 
 

 
1. Title: Leeds Breastfeeding Plan 2016-2021 

 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
The Leeds Breastfeding Plan has 3 objectives and 12 priority actions. It provides 
strategic direction and support for all programmes of work aiming to increase 
breastfeeding rates. The Plan is inclusive of actions facilitated by partners across the 
city including Leeds City Council, Leeds Community Health Care, Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals Trust and Third Sector oganisations. 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The purpose of the report is to screen the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan, which was 
developed to provide direction and strategic support to programmes aiming to 
increase breastfeeding initiation and duration rates in Leeds. As it is intended to 
positively enhance health across the whole population, including vulnerable groups, 
this screening is intended to establish whether the equality and diversity needs of 
and impacts on all groups with protected characteristics have been adequately 
considered. 
 
Breastfeeding is a fundamental public health issue; it promotes health, prevents 
disease and contributes to reducing health inequalities. Evidence has demonstrated 
that a child from a low-income background who is breastfed is likely to have better 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 445



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

2 

health outcomes than a child from a more affluent background who is formula-fed 
(Wilson et al, 1998). There is also evidence that some vulnerable mothers – 
including young mothers and mothers from lower socioeconomic groups, who are 
least likely to breastfeed (McAndrew et al, 2012; SACN, 2008) – have the worst 
health and social outcomes for themselves and their babies. There is also clear, 
robust evidence that demonstrates a relationship between breastfeeding and 
improved health outcomes. 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

X  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
X 
 

       X 
X 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 

Page 446



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

3 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan was developed to provide direction and strategic support 
to programmes aiming to increase breastfeeding initiation and duration rates in Leeds. In 
addition, it  includes actions  to inform the public about the importance of breastfeeding 
and to normalise breastfeeding in a society where formula-feeding is common. It is a 
platform to connect partners from a wide range of services and backgrounds , bringing 
them together to raise awareness about the importance of breastfeeding, infant feeding 
and relationship building and to deliver interventions.  
 
Local breastfeeding data has been used to identify the characterisitics of which mothers  
choose to breast feed and which mothers do not . This includes consideration of of age, 
socio-economic status and race. Local monitoring information from third sector 
organisations commissioned to provide services underpinned by the Leeds Breastfeeding 
Plan regarding other characteristics including disability, gypsies and travellers, carers 
and refugees and asylum seekers is also collected. 
 
Consultation about the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan was completed when drafting the plan 
to obain mothers, families and practitioners views and to gain a better understanding of 
their needs. Ongoing consultation at events, in groups and one to one with young 
mothers, grandparents, fathers and practitioners is undertaken on an ongoing basis as 
part of developing, delivering and monitoring the impact of the actions included in the 
plan. For example focus groups held in communities known for low breastfeeding rates, 
at young mens and fathers groups and with older adults and grandparents at community 
luncheon groups. The consultation sessions have been, and will continue to be designed 
to ensure the views of those least likely to breastfeed and their significant others have 
been considered.  
 
In January 2018 a small group of Leeds City Council employees formed a Leeds City 
Council Breastfeeding Peer Support group. This was as a direct result of the Leeds city 
Council Infant Feeding policy and an employee returning to work while still breastfeeding 
and looking for support. This group has since, working with Human Resources, looked at 
how this support can be improved. A One Minute Guide and Frequently Asked Questions 
have been developed and there are plans to share wider across the city as best practice. 
This offers further evidence that due regard to equality and diversity have been given 
during ongoing consultation of the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan. 
 
Partnership work, developed through the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan Partnership Action 
Group, with teams supporting young parents who are still at school has led to the 
development of the Leeds Schools Breastfeeding Guidance (this is voluntary guidance 

Page 447



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

4 

and is applicable to staff and pupils) which will be launched in September 2018. 
Consultation on the guidance was undertaken by teams with young parents who have 
experienced this and those currently at school and pregnant, and fathers to be, as well as 
with Head Teachers and school staff. This guidance recognises that there is a need for 
improved support and information about breastfeeding for this group in a way that is 
responsive of individual circumstances and needs. It also requires that this is supported 
by managers, staff and teams. 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
In Leeds, breastfeeding data consistently show that young white women living in 
deprived areas are least likely to breastfeed. However, of all descriptive factors (e.g. age, 
deprivation and ethnicity), in Leeds it is the single category of white (British and Irish) 
ethnicity which captures the largest part (81.7%) of the population that does not initiate 
breast feeding. Mothers over the age of 28 years from BME and white European 
communities are the most likely to initiate breastfeeding with a mean initiation rate for 
these groups of 83.8%.   
 
The findings from all the consultation work undertaken to date have been used to shape 
the plan and the services offered  by  partners engaged in the plans development and 
delivery. For example consultation work was carried out with the YUMS group.This is a 
co-created evidence based group intervention targeted at young, white mothers with 
more complex lives. This group supports young pregnant women and mothers to develop 
relationships with their babies, with a focus on health and wellbeing topics including 
infant feeding. Qualitive data is captured in case studies, along with reach and impact 
information using monitoring and evaluation meetings. Learning from these sources, and 
in consultation with group memebers regarding their needs, informs quarterly action 
plans for the service and,along with consultation findings, were used to shape the Leeds 
Breast Feeding Plan.   
                                                                      
Much of the 1 to 1 information and support provided to families during pregnancy and the 
early years regarding feeding is provided by the Early Start Service (Health Visiting and 
Children Centre services) who deliver a progressive universal offer, whereby those 
families with more complex lives (including related to the protected characteristics), are 
able to access more tailored  and indepth support. The reach and impact of the early 
start breastfeeding offer on all families is monitored as part of the performance 
management of the 0-19 contract. A new contract has been developed which specifies 
the requirement for more detailed demographic data to be  collected to enable the take 
up and impact of the service by those families with protected characteristics to be 
monitored.  
 
At this stage based on current information, the Leeds Breastfeeding Plan itself appears to 
have no negative impact on people with protected characteristics, however as work 
progresses assessment will  continue to ensure that all sections of the community benefit 
from work programmes outlines by the Plan.  
 
 

Page 448



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

5 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
The Leeds breast feeding plan includes action to further develop data collection to better 
understand the impact of this offer on breastfeeding rates among those families with 
protected characteristics. The plan includes as  key indicators a reduction in the gap in 
breast feeding rates between deprived and non–deprived leeds and increasing  
breastfeeding initiation and continuation rates among key groups including young 
mothers. A key priority action is ‘Breast feeding data collection is effective and supports 
the delivery of interventions’. Any new actions to better our understanding of 
breastfeeding prevalence, including among relevant  groups with protected 
characteristics, will be delivered as part of this priority.   
 
The plan includes a specifc objective to increase the number of babies in Leeds given the 
best start in life by prioritising breastfeeding and relationship building activitiy with the 
most deprived  communities; priority actions already identified are to further develop and 
deliver breastfeeding peer support city wide and strategies to normalise breast feeding 
within white ,low income and deprived communities. Any further actions that are identified 
from ongoing montitoring and consultation work to  promote EDCI will be taken account 
of in shaping future priorities and actions. 
 
The Leeds Breastfeeding Plan action group will monitor and annually review progress in 
delivering  the 3 objectives and 12 priority actions detailed in the plan. This group reports 
annually to the Leeds Best Start Strategy Group . 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
At this stage it is felt that the impact on EDCI has been sufficiently considered in the 
development of this plan. Ongoing consultation work  eg. further work with the YUMs 
group, young fathers and grandparents, will provide more insight into particular needs of 
these vulnerable groups. Depending upon their feedback this screening form will be 
updated to incorporate any positive or negative impact found. Then, at this stage, if found 
necessary a full equality impact assessment will be completed, reviewed and updated at 
regular intervals. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 449



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

6 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Sally Goodwin-Mills Advanced Health 

Improvement Specialist 
30th August 2018 

 
 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed 30th August 2018 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 450



 

Report authors: Helen Laird and Joanne 
Volpe 
Tel: 0113 5350545

Report authors: Lucy Jackson, Helen Laird 
and Joanne Volpe 
Tel: 0113 5350545 

 
Report of: Director of Adults and Health  
 
Report to: Executive Board 
 
Date: 17th October 2018 
 
Subject: Making Leeds the Best City to grow old in– Progress report on Age Friendly Leeds 
including our partnership with the Centre for Ageing Better  
 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  
Appendix number:  

 
Summary of main issues 

It is to be celebrated that Leeds has an ageing population, where people are living longer. Older 
people bring many assets to the City, however the ageing population can also bring challenges for 
individuals, communities and services. This is particularly true for older people living in the most 
deprived communities in Leeds. Building on these strengths and addressing these challenges, 
highlights the central importance of creating a city where everyone can age well. This report 
provides an update on work in Leeds around Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In and on 
the partnership work to support this, through the Memorandum of Understanding signed by the 
Council, Leeds Older People’s Forum (LOPF) and the national Centre for Ageing Better. The work 
supports the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy ambition for ‘Leeds to be an Age Friendly City 
where people age well’ and the MoU demonstrates the significant profile this work now has 
nationally and locally. A detailed annual report for the project is attached to this report (Appendix 
A).   

Recommendations 

Executive Board is asked to: 

 Note and celebrate the impact of the age friendly programme of work as part of the 
International Day of Older People (1st October), detailed in the ‘Making Leeds the 
Best City to Grow Old in’ Annual Report.  

Page 451

Agenda Item 14



    

2 
 

 Note and celebrate the contribution that the partnership with the Centre for Ageing 
Better has already brought to the delivery of plans for Making Leeds the Best City to 
Grow Old In. 

 Consider key priorities for how this partnership could develop further in the future. 

 Note the discussions on the key priorities for how this partnership could develop 
further in the future. 

 Note that suggested priorities for the partnership and agreed timescales will be 
discussed by the Director of Adults and Health, Director of Public Health, Directors at 
the Centre for Ageing Better and Leeds Older People’s Forum at the formal review of 
the partnership in November. The agreed priorities will be implemented by the 
authors of this report. 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 To demonstrate the impact of the ‘Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old’ project as 
one strand of work to achieve the priority of Leeds being an age friendly city where 
people age well. 

1.2 To provide a progress update on our partnership jointly with Leeds Older People’s 
Forum, with the national independent charitable foundation – the Centre for Ageing 
Better and its contribution to the Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In project plan. 

1.3 To celebrate work around ‘Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in’ and the 
partnership with the Centre for Ageing Better as part of the International Day of Older 
People (1st October). 

 

2. Background information 

2.1 There are almost 122,000 people in Leeds aged 65 and over. By 2032 this is predicted to 
increase to 156,000, representing a 32.5% rise from 2014. The number of over 65 year 
olds in Leeds is growing faster than those under 65. 

2.2 The over 85s population is projected to almost double between 2014 and 2037 from 15.4 
to 30.3 thousand people. There is an increase in the prevalence of long term conditions 
and multiple long term conditions with increasing age, impacting on a person’s 
independence and ability to live a fulfilling life, as well as their use of health and care 
services. 

2.3 The Health and Well Being Strategy (2016-21) has a clear vision that Leeds will be a 
healthy and caring city for all ages, with priority 2 stating that “Leeds will be an Age 
Friendly City where people age well”. To achieve this aim there are many work streams 
taking place across all partners. A key programme of action to achieve this is the 
Council’s ‘Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in’ project. This takes a citizenship 
approach, applying to the entire population, focusing on the strengths of individuals and 
the assets in our communities and uses the framework from the World Health 
Organisation to address the key wider determinants of health and wellbeing (e.g. 
housing, transport, social participation, outdoor spaces etc.). 

Page 452



    

3 
 

2.4 The second annual report for this project details actions and is attached as appendix A. 
This reports an update on progress, following the Executive Board Report ‘Making Leeds 
the Best City to Grow Old in Annual Report’ on 8th February 2017. 

2.5 To move further and faster on some specific priorities Leeds City Council and Leeds 
Older People’s Forum secured a partnership with the Centre for Ageing Better in October 
2017. The Centre for Ageing Better is an independent charitable foundation with a vision 
of society in which everyone enjoys a good later life. Ageing Better’s work is informed by 
evidence which includes research, lived experience and the views of practitioners. They 
are funded by an endowment from the Big Lottery and are part of the national ‘What 
Works’ network.  

2.6 Leeds City Council, Leeds Older People’s Forum and the Centre for Ageing Better signed 
a five year partnership agreement in October 2017. The Memorandum of Understanding 
(MoU) states that the partnership will apply, implement and roll out evidence-based 
approaches to specific local ageing issues as well as identifying opportunities for 
innovation and new delivery models within new and existing structures and services. 

2.7 The Centre for Ageing Better’s partnership with Leeds is one of two partnerships 
nationally, the other being with Greater Manchester. The Centre for Ageing Better also 
manages the UK Network of Age Friendly Communities.   

2.8 The MoU detailed an initial three key areas of work – Transport, Housing and Community 
Contributions for the partnership to develop. 

2.9 The International Day of Older People (1st October) provides an opportunity to celebrate 
work around ‘Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in’ and the partnership with the 
Centre for Ageing Better. 

3. Main issues 

3.1 Why is it important? 

3.1.1 Ensuring Leeds is an age friendly city was identified as a priority area by older people 
in Leeds. 

3.1.2 Inequalities in health are a key issue for older people with ill health and social impacts 
affecting the poorest in the city disproportionately.  

3.1.3 There are almost 122,000 people in Leeds aged 65 and over. By 2032 this is 
predicted to increase to 156,000, representing a 32.5% rise from 2014. The number of 
over 65 year olds in Leeds is growing faster than those under 65. 

 

3.2 Our approach  

3.2.1 The approach to Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in is a citizenship approach, 
applying to the entire population. The World Health Organisation domains for Age 
Friendly cities provide a framework for this programme of work. The annual report 
(Appendix A) provides an update on actions that contribute to the following domains: 

 Outdoor spaces and buildings 
 Transport 

Page 453



    

4 
 

 Housing 
 Civic Participation and Employment 
 Social Participation 
 Respect and Social Inclusion 
 Communication and Information  
 Community Support and Health Services  
 

3.2.2 The strategic direction for the project is led by a project board chaired by the 
Executive Member for Health, Wellbeing and Adults and includes chief officers from 
across the council and representatives from Leeds Older People’s Forum and the 
Centre for Ageing Better. Key officer leads have been identified for each of the Age 
Friendly domains and quarterly updates are provided on progress to the Project 
Board. The action plan was initially developed in 2015, and a review of the plan is 
currently underway. 

3.2.3 Wider partnership working takes place through the Age Friendly Leeds Partnership 
which has good representation from across the Council and partners (including older 
people, the third sector and universities).  

3.2.4 Leeds also actively engages with partner cities in the UK through our membership of 
the UK Age Friendly Communities Network and across Europe through the Urban 
Ageing Network, part of Eurocities. Leeds is also a member of the World Health 
Organisation’s network of age friendly cities. 

3.2.5 The recently published Age UK report – ‘All the Lonely People: Loneliness in Later 
Life’ supports the broad approach being taken forward with in the Making Leeds the 
Best City to grow old in, stating that ‘Tackling loneliness is about building communities 
with the social and physical infrastructure that can help build resilience; ensuring 
widespread awareness of and access to organisations, activities and support; creating 
neighbourhoods that are welcoming and feel safe; enabling people to identify, work 
with and develop tailored support for lonely individuals’.  

Age UK report (2018) – ‘All the Lonely People: Loneliness in Later Life’ 
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2018/october/all-the-lonely-
people-report/ 

 

3.3 Centre for Ageing Better Partnership 

3.3.1 The partnership with the Centre for Ageing Better has been in place for one year, with 
a Partnership Manager employed by Ageing Better being hosted by the council. This 
section provides an update on the work delivered through this partnership, with a 
focus on the initial three priority areas supported by the Centre for Ageing Better 
(community transport, community contributions and housing). It will also provide an 
overview of the additional support delivered through the Centre for Ageing Better and 
potential areas for support over the next year. 

 

 

Page 454



    

5 
 

3.4 Community Transport  

3.4.1 Older people in Leeds have told us that they find travelling between communities 
difficult which can result in social isolation and missed medical appointments. A task 
and finish steering group was established as a sub-group of the Making Leeds the 
Best City to Grow Old In project board to tackle the issue; chaired initially by Cllr 
Wakefield, and now by Cllr Groves, (in their capacity as chair of WYCA transport 
committee).  

 The Centre for Ageing Better commissioned transport consultants, STC, to carry 
out a capacity analysis of community transport provision within Leeds; to assess 
any capacity within the system; to suggest solutions to access any under-
utilisation of vehicles and to co-ordinate any demand integration to meet the 
unmet demand for transport amongst older people.  

 STC worked with the range of community transport providers, including local third 
sector such as Health for All, Leeds Alternative Travel, Holbeck Elderly Aid; 
Leeds Passenger Transport; Access Bus and non-emergency passenger 
transport. 

 In producing the outline business case, STC conducted further consultation with 
older people to test their ideas. 

 STC produced an outline business case for capital funding from Leeds Public 
Transport Improvement Programme to develop and pilot a brokerage solution in 
Leeds 10 and 11, named the ‘Door to Door Transport Hub’.  It will start with a trial 
in one small area in Beeston. This will then develop into a larger pilot area across 
Leeds 10 and 11 to test one point of contact (call centre / web portal) for trip 
requests, allowing different providers (LCC passenger transport, WYCA (access 
bus), Non-Emergency Passenger Transport and third sector transport providers) 
to make use of one another’s vehicles’ downtime, in order to cover currently 
unserved or underserved routes. 

 The outline business case (OBC) was submitted to the Leeds Passenger 
Transport Improvement Programme at the West Yorkshire Combined Authority in 
July. Funding was approved to release £339,000 from the Connecting 
Communities element of the programme to establish a Project Management 
Office (PMO) to develop the OBC to Full Business Case (FBC). The next stage to 
take the OBC to FBC will take place from October 2018 to June 2019, with a 
small trial starting in Beeston during this period.  

 

3.5 Community Contribution 

3.5.1 We want more people in later life to be able to participate and contribute their skills, 
knowledge and experience in their communities.  

 Good quality voluntary contributions in later life is good for our wellbeing, our 
social connections and positively impacts our mental health (self-esteem, 

Page 455



    

6 
 

confidence & purpose). But we know that the poorest in later life are three times 
less likely than the richest and those in poor health are five times less likely than 
those in excellent health to volunteer. 

 The Centre for Ageing Better employed OPM Group consultants to do a 
community research piece in four areas nationally to explore the motivations, 
barriers and enablers, with a focussing on those underrepresented. One of those 
areas was the Holbeck and Beeston ward in Leeds. 

 
 OPM recruited seven community researchers from Bangladeshi, Indian and 

Pakistani backgrounds. In turn they interviewed a total of 24 individuals. 
 

 The key findings in Leeds show high levels of neighbourliness and that informal 
support networks exist. The motivators identified were faith, feelings of sympathy 
and reciprocity. Enablers being faith based venues and organisations; moments 
of transitions which prompt a change and trust and familiarity.  There was a 
desire for inter-faith opportunities to mix. Barriers were identified as health 
related; language; structural (transport and lack of neutral space) and unease or 
mistrust about the wider community. 

 

 Early findings were shared in June with key stakeholders including local ward 
members. Plans are now being developed as to how the Centre for Ageing Better 
will work with colleagues from across sectors on how the findings used and to 
identify routes to action. To date this includes employing an Asset Based 
Community Development worker who will work with communities to enable them 
to identify their skills, knowledge and experience and support them to contribute 
these to their communities; sharing findings with Leeds Volunteer Managers 
Network and third sector colleagues are starting to develop projects where older 
people can share skills and which prompt acts of neighbourliness.   

 

3.6 Housing 

3.6.1 Leeds Older Peoples Forum, supported by Care and Repair (England and Leeds) 
have been progressing work on this issue for a number of years. Following a 
workshop hosted by Cllr Charlwood and Cllr Coupar with older people the ‘Me and My 
Home’ action plan was developed, which now sits as one theme within both the Leeds 
Housing Strategy and the Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In Action Plan. The 
“Me and My Home” Steering Group oversees this action plan. This group is led by 
Housing and jointly chaired with the Public Health Older People’s Team, with 
representation in addition to housing, from Adults and Health, Public Health, Planning, 
Centre for Ageing Better, Care & Repair England and Leeds Older Peoples Forum. 
The Group’s terms of reference were reviewed at their meeting in August 2018.  

3.6.2 One of the four key issues within the ‘Me and My Home ‘action plan is the need for 
information and advice on housing options for people in later life. The Centre for 
Ageing Better has commissioned a consultant to undertake a piece of research to 
identify what housing options information and advice for older people is already 

Page 456



    

7 
 

available in the city. They are holding a number of workshops during September with a 
range of older people from different areas, tenures, ages, ethnicities and socio-
economic backgrounds to understand what information and advice they want and 
need; when and how they want to get it and what they need to act upon it. The 
consultant will then look at best practice to recommend what may be needed to fill any 
gap identified in the findings. Early findings will be available at the end of November 
2018 and recommendations generated by the ‘Me and My Home’ group will be 
reported to the Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In Board. A Strategic Housing 
Board has also been recently established, which will oversee a review of the Housing 
Strategy. The research commissioned by the Centre for Ageing Better and priorities in 
the ‘Me and My Home’ plan will also be used to inform a themed workshop on older 
people’s housing issues that will take place as part of the review of the Housing 
Strategy. 

3.7 Additional support delivered through the Centre for Ageing Better  

 Neighbourhood Network Evaluation – The Centre identified an opportunity for providing 
support to the council in relation to the evaluation of the impact of the Neighbourhood 
Networks within Leeds. This would support the development of an evidence base that 
can be used at a local and national level, also enabling other parts of the country to 
learn from Leeds, given the interest there is in Neighbourhood Networks. The Centre for 
Ageing Better have commissioned an independent researcher to scope out potential 
options for this evaluation. The scoping report will be completed by November 2018 with 
the aim of commissioning an evaluator by January 2019. 

 
 The Centre for Ageing Better have delivered presentations (for example on inequalities 

and poverty, and employment in later life) relating to a number of the themes of the 
Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In project. These have encompassed national 
data, evidence and best practice. This has supported the Project Board and its partners 
to take an evidence based approach to review whether projects and plans are aligned to 
best practice around what makes a better later life. 

 
 The Centre for Ageing Better provided Leeds City Council with a review of the evidence 

for home independence, which informed the Health Needs Assessment used for the 
commissioning of the soon to be launched ‘Home Independence and Warmth Service’ ( 
covering home adaptations and warm homes programmes). 

 

3.8 Areas for further support over the next year 

3.8.1 In addition to delivering the initial identified priorities there is scope for the Centre for 
Ageing Better to provide further support to Leeds in delivering the Making Leeds the 
Best City to Grow Old In project. As part of the review of the project plan with the 
themed leads, Leeds City Council, the Centre for Ageing Better and Leeds Older 
People’s Forum will formally agree the areas / projects where Centre for Ageing Better 
can add most value in terms of local priorities, and where they connect with  the 
Centre for  Ageing Better’s new strategic priority goals: 

Page 457



    

8 
 

a) Connected communities: more people in later life are living in connected 
communities. 
b) Fulfilling Work: more people over age 50 are in fulfilling work. 
c) Safe and Accessible Homes:  people in later life live in homes that maintain their 
independence. 
d) Healthy Ageing - more people reach later life in good health and disability free. 

 

3.9 Age Friendly Charter 

3.9.1 The latest Age Friendly Leeds charter was developed by Leeds Older People’s Forum, 
on behalf of the Age Friendly Leeds Partnership through consulting with older people 
as part of the Time to Shine Age Friendly work. . A steering group of older people 
formed in January 2017 to help move the Charter forward. The group meets monthly 
to identify priorities and develop strategies for bringing those priorities to life. 

3.9.2 The Charter aims to make the City Age Friendly in practical ways, which support older 
people feeling safe to leave their home and therefore reducing social isolation. To 
date 29 organisations have signed up to the Charter including many of the 
neighbourhood networks, Leeds Museums and Galleries, Care and Repair, and North 
Leeds Medical Practice. A key focus for the Time to Shine Age Friendly work by Leeds 
Older People’s Forum this year is the ‘Come in and Rest’ campaign which encourages 
local businesses to offer a seat for older people needing a rest, which they advertise 
through a sticker in the window. To date 150 organisations and businesses have 
signed up. The Time to Shine Age Friendly campaign has meant that leisure 
opportunities and activities around the city are more accessible to older people, such 
as canal trips and Pride. Again encouraging people to be active, involved and 
connected. 

4. Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation, and engagement 

4.1.1 Building on the consultation detailed in the report to the Executive Board on 8th 
February 2017, on-going consultation has taken place on the Project action plan. 
These include:  

 
 June 2017 – A workshop with older people to explore older persons housing 

requirements to feed into the Strategic Housing Market Assessment and 
complement the household survey and stakeholder consultation. 

 
 June/July 2017 – A series of workshops with older people to identify the different 

challenges and aspirations around travel for people in later life in Leeds to inform 
the scoping of new community transport and volunteer driver options.  

 
 August 2018 – meetings have taken place between Leeds Older People’s Forum 

and representatives from Leeds City Council’s Planning Department focusing on 
the plans for accessible homes following the Selective Review (housing) of the 
Leeds Core Strategy. 

Page 458



    

9 
 

 

 

4.1.2 Initial discussions between the three partners: Leeds City Council, Leeds Older 
People’s Forum and Centre for Ageing Better identified the priority areas for early 
collaboration. Each of these priority areas has encompassed engagement and 
consultation with citizens and stakeholders: 

 Community transport:  

o With support from Leeds Older People’s Forum we held three community 
insight workshops with older people to understand and add definition to 
the problems they have with transport.  

o Neighbourhood Networks providing community transport were consulted 
on the capacity they had in the transport they provided.  Further 
consultation has been conducted with providers on the outcomes the 
project is trying to achieve. 

o A prototype workshop was held with local older people, including older 
people whose first language isn’t English, to understand what they thought 
about transport in their community and proposals for an integrated hub. 

 Community Contribution:  

o  Researchers recruited 7 peer community researchers with Sikh, Indian 
and Pakistani backgrounds. These researchers then interviewed a total of 
24 people in later life in their locality. 

o A consultation was held with local providers (public, third and funding 
sectors) to ‘sense check’ the findings, whether they would be expected 
and what recommendations they point towards. 

 Housing:  

o Research has been commissioned to identify what older people need in 
relation to housing advice and information in later life.  Focus groups will 
be held with people in different locations in the city, with people who are 
50+, across tenures. 

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

4.2.1 Inequalities in health are a key issue for older people with ill health and social impacts 
affecting the poorest in the city disproportionately. Work delivered through the MOU 
with the Centre for Ageing Better and as part of our Making Leeds the Best City to 
Grow Old In project to create an age friendly city will contribute to addressing 
inequalities experienced by older people. An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening Assessment has been conducted (Appendix B).   

Page 459



    

10 
 

4.3 ‘Council policies and Best Council Plan’   

4.3.1 The Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In project supports the Best Council Plan 
2018/19 – 2020/21 outcomes and priorities, notably the priorities around Health and 
Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth, Housing and Safe, Strong Communities. Furthermore, it 
directly delivers plans that will contribute to the Health and Wellbeing Strategy priority 
for ‘Leeds to be an Age Friendly City where people age well’.  

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In project was initiated to make best use 
of existing resources by working innovatively as a team for Leeds.  

4.4.2 Officers working on the project are part of Public Health, within the Adults and Health 
Directorate of LCC. Costs for events are kept to a minimum through support from 
partners. The Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In project is led by the Chief 
Officer from Public Health. The Ageing Well Officer has day to day responsibility for 
developing the project, and is line managed by the Public Health Service Manager for 
Older People. The Ageing Well Officer provides the main resource for the project; with 
other officers covering key areas as part of their roles.  

4.4.3 Lead officers have been identified from other parts of the council including Parks and 
Countryside, Planning, Highways, Housing, Communications, ICT, Employment & 
Skills and Communities & Environment to support the implementation of the project. 
We are taking a citizen and asset based approach, working with partners to deliver 
projects. Key to the delivery of the project is older people themselves and the 
organisations that represent them. 

4.4.4 The Centre for Ageing Better employs a Project and Partnership Manager who is 
based in Leeds.  The Council provide a laptop, phone and office base.  Leeds Older 
People’s Forum also offer an office base and support engagement with older people. 

4.4.5 The Centre for Ageing Better has commissioned consultants to work in Leeds to 
provide suggested solutions to ongoing problems for older people and their use of 
transport. £339,000 has been secured from West Yorkshire Combined Authority to 
establish a PMO and a bid will be developed for capital funding for £1.2 million (minus 
£339K already approved) to the Leeds Passenger Transport Improvement 
Programme.  There will be revenue implications for the initial pilot, which will still need 
to be determined when working from outline business case to full business case. 
However any additional cost will enable unmet demand with the aim of reducing social 
isolation and attendance at medical appointments and improvement in health.  As the 
project develops the possibility of an integrated transport unit could lead to 
efficiencies. 

4.4.6 The Centre for Ageing Better have commissioned a number of pieces of work drawing 
in additional funding to enhance the Age Friendly agenda in Leeds. This includes: 
commission of the housing advice and information research, scoping the 
neighbourhood networks evaluation and conducting research on community 
contributions. 

 

Page 460



    

11 
 

4.5 Legal Implications, access to information and call In 

4.5.1 There are no specific legal implications associated with the issues identified in this 
report. The report is subject to call in.  

 

4.6 Risk management 

4.6.1 The scope of this programme of work is enormous, and has ambitions to engage with 
all sectors through a citizenship approach. The issues we are tackling are complex 
and we need to be mindful of inequalities and the more vulnerable older people living 
in the city. For this programme to succeed it is essential that we have sustained buy in 
from across the council, and from external partners. 

4.6.2 A key challenge for this project is creating a strong joint narrative to promote the aims 
of this project positively both within the council and to external partners and the 
general public in a climate of cuts to services.  

4.6.3 The outline business case produced for the community transport programme has a 
whole section on risk allocation and transfer. The consultants, STC, have suggested 
an outcomes based procurement process to give all partners an influence in how the 
pilot develops.  This is to mitigate any organisational barriers to partnership working.   

5. Conclusions 

5.1  The Making Leeds the Best city to Grow Old in project takes forward a long history of work 
with older people in Leeds and aims for Leeds to be a city where ageing is seen as a 
positive experience that brings new changes and opportunities and older people have 
access to the services and resources they require to enable them to live healthy and 
fulfilling lives.  

5.2 Signing the MoU with the Centre for Ageing Better has brought additional resource, support 
and innovation to enable Leeds City Council and Leeds Older People’s Forum to take 
forward key areas of work. 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board are asked to: 

 Note and celebrate the impact of the age friendly programme of work as part of the 
International Day of Older People (1st October), detailed in the ‘Making Leeds the Best 
City to Grow Old in’ Annual Report.  

 Note and celebrate the contribution that the partnership with the Centre for Ageing 
Better has already brought to the delivery of plans for Making Leeds the Best City to 
Grow Old In. 

 Consider key priorities for how this partnership could develop further in the future. 

 Note the discussions on the key priorities for how this partnership could develop further 
in the future. 

 Note that suggested priorities for the partnership and agreed timescales will be 
discussed by the Director of Adults and Health, Director of Public Health, Directors at 

Page 461



    

12 
 

the Centre for Ageing Better and Leeds Older People’s Forum at the formal review of 
the partnership in November. The agreed priorities will be implemented by the authors of 
this report. 

7. Background documents1  

None.  

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works. 

Page 462



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Annual Report 2017/18 

Page 463



 

1 
 

Introduction to the breakthrough project 

 
Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in is one of eight 
breakthrough projects established to drive some of the work to fulfil 
our ambition for Leeds to be a city which is both compassionate and 
has a strong economy,  
 
The breakthrough projects are designed to identify new ways of 
working within the council and with our partners to achieve the best 
outcomes for the city. 

Crucially, we see this ambition as fundamentally connected to 
prioritising the needs of older people - a city which sees older 
people being valued and as assets. This is also reflected in the 
Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021. Creating an Age 
Friendly City where people age well is highlighted as one of our key 
priorities in the city-wide plan.  

This is our second Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in Annual Report, and I 
am pleased to see how the breakthrough project has progressed since it began.  

This work is vital for several reasons: 

 We have an ageing population; the 2011 Census shows that there are almost 
150,000 people in Leeds are aged 60 and over (accounting for almost 20% of 
the total population). This number will continue to increase with the number of 
people aged 50+ expected to rise to 256,585 by 2021, with those aged 80+ 
increasing to 39091. 

 Leeds older people have already told us that they want Leeds to be an Age 
Friendly City.  

 Inequalities in health are a key issue for older people with ill health and social 
impacts affecting the poorest in the city disproportionately.  

 Making Leeds the ‘Best City to Grow Old’ will have a hugely positive impact 
on our ability to deliver other breakthrough projects and supports an ‘invest to 
save’ approach, notably across health and social care. 

 
Our approach one of citizenship. This means everybody can do something to 
support this project and help to achieve also the wider ambition we have set for the 
city. We are working across the council and with our external partners as we 
recognise that to achieve our ambition for Leeds to be the Best City to Grow Old in, 
this cannot be accomplished by the Council alone. Everyone has a part to play and 
everyone has a stake in making this city a place where our older people are seen as 
assets in our communities who are fundamentally valued. 
 

In 2017 the council and Leeds Older People’s Forum signed an important 
partnership with the Centre for Ageing Better which is bringing additional resources 
to the city to help us achieve our ambitions, and test out new ways of working, 
particularly in housing and community transport. Leeds was selected as a partner for 
the Centre for Ageing Better because of this breakthrough project, which 
demonstrates our commitment to making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in.  

Cllr Rebecca Charlwood 

Page 464



 

2 
 

Our approach
 

Our approach to Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in is a citizenship 
approach, applying to the entire population. This approach ensures that there is a 
strong focus on social networks within neighbourhoods and the city; promotes social 
capital and participation; age-proofs and develops universal services; reduces social 
exclusion and works to change social structure and attitudes. 

It therefore does not include all the programmes of work in relation to health and 
social care for older people whilst recognising that there are obvious links and 
synchronicities. 

 

Building on previous work
 

The project takes forward Leeds’ long history of working with older people. Leeds 
Older People’s Forum came into existence in 1994 and we have celebrated the 
International Day of Older People in Leeds since 1998. The Time of our Lives 
Charter and action plan, 2012 to 2016, built on the previous work around ‘Healthy 
and Active Lives for Older People’ and ‘Older Better’. Work progressed under the 
Time of Our Lives action plan on key priorities, most notably work led by Public 
Health and Adult Social Care, but also in Parks, Sports, Libraries Museums and 
cultural organisations in the city.  
 

Partnership Working 
 

 
Age Friendly Leeds Partnership 
 
The Age Friendly Leeds Partnership (AFLP) is a system wide, place-based 
partnership that brings together the statutory, voluntary and private sectors to: 
 

 Address the priorities identified by older people in relation to making Leeds an 
Age Friendly City; 

 To build awareness of Age Friendly priorities and actions; 
 Assess how Age Friendly the city is against the World Health Organization’s 

eight Age Friendly domains; Outdoor Spaces and Buildings, Housing, 
Transportation, Social Participation, Civic Participation and Employment, 
Community Support and Health Services, Communication and Information, 
Respect and Social Inclusion; 

 To support Age Friendly initiatives in our communities and other broader 
initiatives which help us to work towards Leeds becoming an Age friendly City. 

 Support staff training and development, including increasing awareness of the 
issues around ageing so that they can improve their services and plan their 
own ‘Ageing Well’;  

Page 465



 

3 
 

 Developing key linkages with other groups that enhance health and social 
care services for older people e.g. integrated health and social care, and 
mental health;   

 Work to challenge and remove the structural and social barriers faced by 
older people to independence, inclusion and equality. 

 

 
Centre for Ageing Better 
 
The Centre for Ageing Better is an independent charitable foundation working for a 
society where everybody enjoys a good later life.  
 
All Ageing Better’s work starts from the perspective of people in later life. Ageing 
Better is driven by evidence, including evidence from lived experience, and focused 
on change for better later lives. It is part of the What Works Network – an initiative 
which aims to improve the way government and other organisations create, share 
and use high quality evidence for decision-making. 
 
With a ten-year endowment from the Big Lottery Fund, Ageing Better is independent 
from government and works collaboratively with a diverse range of organisations to 
create measurable change for the long-term. Further information can be found at: 
www.ageing-better.org.uk    
 
Ageing Better works on a range of priority topic areas, with the aim that as many 
people as possible are able to say: 
 
I feel prepared for later life 

 I feel confident to manage major life changes 
 I have a plan for my finances, my home, my care needs, and what happens 

when I or my partner dies 
 I have the skills I need for later life 

 
I am active and connected 

 I am in fulfilling work and/or I am making a valued contribution to my 
community 

 I have regular social contact with other people and some close relationships 
 I keep physically and mentally healthy and active 

 
I feel in control 

 I live in a home and a neighbourhood suited to me  
 I have care, support and services that help me live my life 

Ageing Friendly Leeds Partnership members
 
Age UK Leeds | Care and Repair Leeds | Centre for Ageing Better | Feel Good Factor | Groundwork Leeds| 
Leeds Beckett University | Leeds City Council | Leeds Older People’s Forum | Leeds Dementia Action 
Alliance | University of Leeds | West Yorkshire Combined Authority | West Yorkshire Playhouse 

Page 466



 

4 
 

 
The Centre for Ageing Better has selected Leeds as a partner and has entered into a 
five year partnership agreement with the Council and Leeds Older People’s Forum.  
The purpose of the partnership is to enable Leeds to adopt evidence-based practice, 
to pilot innovative approaches and to generate new evidence of ‘what works’ for ageing 
well that can be disseminated locally, regionally, nationally and internationally by 
Ageing Better, the council, LOPF and other stakeholders. 

 
Together we aim to go further and faster towards creating a better later life for people 
in Leeds, now and in the future, and to the benefit of older people in the city and further 
afield.  We will ensure the voices, needs and preferences of older people are reflected 
in what we achieve, and how we achieve it. 
 
This agreement complements the strategic commitment by the council and the Leeds 
Health & Wellbeing Board to become the Best City in the UK to Grow Old In, and its 
work as an Age-friendly City. Though the council, LOPF and Ageing Better are the 
lead partners, through these initiatives the partnership seeks to engage a broad 
network of stakeholders whose engagement and activities matter for a good later life 
in Leeds, including the NHS, voluntary and community, and private sectors. 
 

 The Centre for Ageing Better, the council and LOPF share the following goals: 
 

 For more people in Leeds to enjoy a good later life, in terms of better health, 
financial security, social connections and wellbeing  

 For Leeds to be better recognised locally, regionally, nationally and 
internationally for its work in ‘Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In’, and 
as an Age-friendly City 

 For the partners and others in Leeds and the region to apply evidence-based 
practices, and to develop and test innovative approaches to ageing to address 
inequalities in later life. 

 This partnership has brought additional resource into Leeds including a 
programme and projects manager based in Leeds to work on the three 
identified priorities which are: 

The initial priorities for this partnership are: 

 Addressing older people’s housing needs through an Older People’s Housing 
Strategy; 

 Addressing gaps in public transport by developing innovative community 
transport solutions; 

 Community research to explore the motivations, barriers & enablers older 
people face in contributing to their community.  

 

Page 467



 

5 
 

 

 

National and international partnerships 

Leeds is a member of: 
 
UK Network of Age Friendly cities - a group of cities from across the UK that are 
collaborating to bring about change in the way that cities respond to population 
ageing. By developing and sharing policy and best practice, network members are 
working together to improve the experience of growing older in cities, and help 
people age better.  
 
Eurocities - the network of major European cities which brings together the local 
governments of over 130 of Europe's largest cities and 40 partner cities. Relevant to 
this breakthrough project is Leeds participation in the EuroCities Urban Ageing 
Network. Leeds hosted the January 2017 meeting of this network which provided an 
opportunity to showcase some of our Age Friendly work including smart cities, arts 
and culture and the neighbourhood networks.   
 
World Health Organisation (WHO) Age Friendly Cities - The WHO Global Network 
for Age-friendly Cities and Communities (the Network) was established to foster the 
exchange of experience and mutual learning between cities and communities 
worldwide. Leeds has been a member since 2013.  

 

 

 

 

Celebrating the signing of the partnership agreement, Lord Geoffrey Filkin (Centre for Ageing Better), 
Cllr Rebecca Charlwood (Leeds City Council), Bill Rollison MBE (Leeds Older Peoples’ Forum) 

Page 468



 

6 
 

Action Plan 

 

The Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In 
action plan has been developed to take account of 
what we have already achieved and to take forward 
the ideas and actions from our ‘Best City to Grow 
Old in’ event which took place in March 2015. The 
event brought together a wide range of 
organisations across the public, private and third 
sector to engage them in the development of the 
breakthrough project using outcome based 
accountability methodology as a framework for 
discussion. 

Using the eight World Health Organisation (WHO) Age Friendly City domains, 
delegates worked in groups to identify the outcomes we should be working towards, 
explored the underlying issues and ideas for action, and considered how we 
measure our progress.  

Structured around the eight WHO domains, the action plan sets out the overall 
ambition for each domain together with ‘I statements’ which describe how older 
people have told us they want to feel.  

Officers from across the council bring quarterly updates to the breakthrough project 
board on how their services are contributing to the breakthrough project action plan. 
This section of the report provides an overview of progress and next steps for each 
of the eight domains which form the action plan. 

Outdoor spaces 
and buildings 

Our ambition: 
Leeds is a welcoming city, accessible to all where older 
people feel, and are, safe. 
 

Older people tell us… 
“When I go out I want to feel safe and enjoy public spaces and buildings that are 
clean and accessible”.  
“I want to feel confident that I will be able to take a rest and use a toilet when I 
need to”.  
 

 
Progress so far: 
 
A Dementia Friendly Garden was launched at Springhead Park in Rothwell on 17 
May. Features include dementia friendly parking, hand rail, benches with arm rests, 
wide flat path, trail leaflet and a noticeboard. Peter Smith of Dementia Friendly 
Rothwell won ‘Partner of the Year’ at the LCC Environment and Communities award 
for his work on this garden.  

World Health Organisation Domains

 Outdoor spaces and buildings;  

 Transportation;  

 Housing;  

 Social participation;  

 Respect and social inclusion;  

 Civic participation and 
employment;  

 Communication and 
information;  

 Community support and health 
services.

Page 469



 

7 
 

 
 
Older people are one section of the population benefiting from work to improve 
access at a number of parks and open spaces including:  
 

 Five disabled parking bays recently created at Middleton park 
 Footpath improvements and benches installed at Bramley Falls Wood Park 
 Access improvements including footpaths at Churwell Park, Morley  
 Footpath improvements at Blenheim Square, Farnley Hall Park, Kirk Lane 

Park, Queen’s Park, Scarth Park and Chapel Allerton Park 
 Improvements to the footpath which links Yeadon Banks with Chevin Forest 

Park  
 Stanningley Park footpaths have been refurbished so they are more 

accessible. 
 Access improvements to Ledston Luck nature reserve, Keswick Bridleway No. 

2, the Trans-Pennine trail at the Royal Armouries and Dartmouth park 
 The three mobility scooters that are available to hire at Golden Acre Park 

have been replaced with brand new ones! 

Temple Newsam Golf Course – one course has been reduced to nine holes to 
provide a more playable facility for those struggling to play 18 holes.  
 
Outdoor gyms have been installed in Roundhay Park, Nunroyd Park and 
Drighlington Moor  
 
Wade’s Charity is providing funding in partnership with the Parks & Countryside to 
bring a part-time Ranger to Gotts Park. The Wade’s Ranger, started work at the 
beginning of May 2017. Using Gott’s Mansion as his base, he is working with the 
Friends Group and Golf Club to run a range of events and practical volunteering 
activities in the two Parks.  
 
Seven major parks achieved the National Green Flag award which means they have 
achieved certain standards expected of a high quality park including being 
welcoming, safe and providing equal access for all.  

Dementia Friendly Garden, Rothwell 

Page 470



 

8 
 

 
The majority of ‘In Bloom’ volunteers are 
aged 60+. During 2017 Leeds was very 
successful in the Yorkshire in Bloom 
competition including receiving gold 
medals and being the category wins for 
the city of Leeds, City Centre, Barwick in 
Elmet, Kippax and Horsforth.  Several of 
the local parks also won awards including 
Horsforth Hall park, The Hollies, Churwell 
Urban Woodland and Cross Flatts park 
which all won platinum (the highest) awards.  
 
The Arium – the new Parks and Countryside plant nursery has now opened.  As well 
as providing a means to grow the plants for the city’s flower beds in a more efficient 
and sustainable way, it’s much more visitor friendly – fully accessible and with 
accessible parking and toilet, dementia friendly flooring etc and has a shop selling 
surplus plants and a café – it’s already proved really popular with people of all ages 
but specifically with older people. 
 
Road safety  
 
Schemes to reduce the number of accidents and improve access for pedestrians, 
particularly young children and older people, have been implemented Road safety 
schemes have been implemented on Dewsbury Road, Kirkstall Road and Harehills 
Road  
 
Next steps: 

 Access and other site improvements to parks will continue to be made where 
funding allows. 

 A new park is being developed in Moortown – this will provide local people 
access to a new public green space in an area where there isn’t currently a 
park within walking distance. 

 Parks & Countryside are currently working with Leeds Parks Bowls 
Partnership to promote bowling, and encourage more use of the bowling 
greens in our parks, as they are decreasing in popularity yet offer a great 
opportunity for gentle exercise and social interaction. 

 The 2017 Pedestrian Crossing Review Includes eight proposed Zebra 
crossings, two specifically aimed at assisting older pedestrians.15 new 20mph 
zones/ limits to be implemented in 2017-18. 

 

 

In bloom volunteers 

Page 471



 

9 
 

Transport Our ambition: 
Older people are able to access a broad range of affordable 
and accessible transport options to get about the city easily” 
 

Older people tell us… 
When I waiting for a bus I want to wait in a shelter and I want to feel safe. 
I want to get on and off a bus easily.  
When I am on a bus I want to be treated with respect by the driver and offered 
help if I need it; 
I want to travel to places on accessible and affordable public transport.  
 

 
Transport can have a range of positive outcomes for older people including 
maintaining access to friends and family and enabling access to vital services such 
as healthcare and also leisure and retail activities. All of which contribute to the 
health and wellbeing of older people and reduce social isolation.  
 
Progress so far: 
 
Transport is one of the priority areas that the Centre for Ageing Better are 
supporting. The problem to be solved has been defined as: 

How can we make the journeys in and between communities around Leeds easier 
for people in later life through integrating community transport provision and 
expanding volunteer driver schemes?  

This work is managed by an Older Person’s transport group chaired by Cllr 
Wakefield (Chair of WYCA transport committee) with representatives from the 
council, Centre for Ageing Better, WYCA, University of Leeds and Leeds Older 
People’s Forum.  
 
Residents from different parts of Leeds have had the opportunity to discuss the 
issues at three transport workshops in Horsforth, Richmond Hill and Swillington to 
draw out the issues for residents in different parts of Leeds. Key findings from the 
workshops are: 

 There is clear demand and need for flexibility and choice in modes of 
transport to cater for different needs and preferences. This requires an 
integrated solution- community transport and volunteer car schemes should 
both be considered as part of the same intervention to address gaps in 
existing provisions.  

 The variety of user needs makes it important that there is a diverse enough 
fleet to accommodate these needs- including sufficient wheelchair accessible 
options. 

 There are some clear gaps in existing provision that could be targeted- 
medical journeys and personal leisure trips were where the main gaps were 
evident. 

Page 472



 

10 
 

Next Steps: 

Innovative solutions to address the identified problems will be developed with the 
support of transport consultants STC commissioned by the Centre for Ageing Better 
focusing on: 

1. Capacity analysis- assessing and mapping the supply of vehicles, volunteer 
drivers and latent capacity of community transport provision within Leeds  

2. Technological- sourcing of or identification of requirements for a technological 
solution to enable the management, scheduling and booking of community 
transport across multiple providers and the coordination of volunteer drivers 

3. Organisational development- working with organisations to identify existing 
capacity and develop their ability and motivation to engage with the developed 
solution. 

 
Housing Our ambition: 

Older people are able to access a broad range of affordable 
and accessible transport options to get about the city easily” 
 

Older people tell us… 
When I am at home I want to feel safe and free of anti-social behaviour.   
I want to have the support and advice I need to remain as independent as 
possible.  
I want to feel financially secure in my home 
I want to be able to go out when I want to.  
 
 

 
The Strategic Housing Market Assessment anticipates that Leeds will have a 
significantly greater proportion of older people by 2026 than in 2010, with a 16% 
increase in households aged over 65, a 30% increase in over 75s and a 70% 
increase in households aged over 85 years. In absolute terms the projection 
suggests that across Leeds there will be an additional 22,000 households with a 
head of household aged over 65. Most households over 65 are likely to continue to 
live in standard housing which needs to be capable of adaptation. 75% of older 
people live in private sector housing. 

Me and My Home 

Housing is the second of the priority areas that the Centre for Ageing Better is 
supporting. Feedback from previous consultations with older people and housing 
providers has informed the key priorities which are:  

 A need for clear information on the  housing advice and support options for 
older people; 

 A need for support / advice available to private renters / owner occupiers; 
 Ensuring that social prescribers are aware of housing options / issues; 
 Knowledge of accessibility housing; 

Page 473



 

11 
 

 Opportunity for older people to influence planning developments. 
 
The work to put these priorities into action is managed by an Older People’s Housing 
Group, led by the council’s Older People’s Team (Public Health) with representatives 
from the council’s housing service, Leeds Older Peoples Forum, the Centre for 
Ageing Better, and Care and Repair England.  Leeds Older Peoples’ Forum have 
also developed their own Housing Strategy from their own experience and 
workshops with older people and work with the council.  
 
Housing Need 
 
A Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was undertaken through a 
household survey to understand the housing needs of Leeds up to 2033. As part of 
this assessment the consultants ran a workshop was to explore older persons 
housing requirements to feed into the SHMA and complement the household survey 
and stakeholder consultation. 

 
Sheltered Housing 
 
Residents of Bennett Court Sheltered Scheme were moved out of their homes to 
allow extensive remodelling work to take place to remove shared bathrooms and 
improve accessibility. Work is now completed and people have moved back into their 
modern remodelled apartments.  
 
Residents in 53 sheltered housing schemes across Leeds now have improved 
access into and round the communal areas of their schemes to enable them to be 
more independent and feel safer in their home environment. This includes 
modernisation of communal rooms to create a friendlier environment.  
 
Housing Leeds has social inclusion at the forefront of its support model with a key 
focus on developing and promoting wellbeing activities. Activities taking place in the 
77 schemes where there is a communal room have increased during the year and 

SHMA older people’s workshop

Page 474



 

12 
 

there are now 1600 different activities taking place every month. Activities include 
social events, meals and keep fit.  Links with the Neighbourhood Network Schemes 
are being increased to encourage networks to use the communal facilities and 
integrate residents of the sheltered schemes into the wider community.  
 
In November 2017 the trial of a new support model, Retirement LIFE (Living in a 
Friendly Environment) was launched in three areas of Leeds. The model aims to 
modernise sheltered housing schemes to offer more on site support to complexes 
with higher levels of need and a greater focus on wellbeing activities to promote 
social inclusion.  Early feedback is positive. 
 
Extra Care Housing 
 
The Leeds vision for extra care housing is to work with partner organisations to 
deliver more than 1000 units of extra care housing by 2028.  To support this vision, 
in July the Council’s Executive Board gave approval to support the delivery of an 
Extra Care Development Programme, giving agreement to the dedication of sites for 
the development of extra care housing.  The Council has made available £30 million 
in Housing Revenue Account Resources to support the delivery of the programme.  
A Project Team has been established which has been working on the development 
of an extra care specification and proposed procurement model and documentation 
for the programme.   
 
Next steps 
 

 Develop an action plan for the Council’s Housing Strategy priority area on 
older people. 

 
 Issue of invitations to tender for the next sites for extra care housing. 

 
 Remodelling work has now begun at Union Court, Otley and is planned to 

take around 12 months to complete.   
 

 A more detailed evaluation of LIFE will take place prior to rolling out across 
the city. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 475



 

13 
 

Civic 
Participation and 
Employment 

Our ambition:  
Older people in Leeds actively participate in the city through 
education, employment training and volunteering. 
 

Older people tell us… 
 
I want to contribute to my community through volunteering, helping family friends 
and neighbours, supporting local businesses; 
I want to be involved in decisions concerning my community;  
 

 
Our ideas about ageing are changing. People are living longer and continuing to 
contribute to their communities in all areas of life - working longer, helping with child 
care, volunteering and providing strong community leadership. 

Volunteering is a way of keeping a life for older people – it’s good for their well-being 
as well as an important contribution to community life. A national study1 suggested 
that older people currently provide informal volunteer services to their community of 
over £10 billion – each year – and that figure is predicted to grow as our older 
population increases. Approximately 39% of 65-74 year olds volunteer. 

Progress so far: 

Adult Learning 

The Adult Learning Programme provides a broad 
range of learning that brings together adults of 
different ages and backgrounds. Older learners 
are included as a priority group with a particular 
focus on social isolation and digital. Recruitment 
of older learners, aged 50+ continues to be 
successful. To date, 928 older learners have 
commenced courses this academic year. 409 
(44%) of those older learners reside in Leed’s 
most deprived neighbourhoods (20% LSOAs), 60 
of which reside in the 1% most deprived LSOAs.  
 
The Leeds Adult Learning course finder website was launched on 11 September and 
has been an incredible success with much positive feedback from providers, 
stakeholders and potential learners. In the first three weeks 4,937 people searched 
for courses resulting in 22,551 Page Views of more than 400 Courses that were 
being advertised for the start of academic year 2017-18 autumn term. 
 
Employment 
 
Reed In Partnership (RiP), delivering the Back to Work programme (funded by the 
European Structural and Investment Fund), has a weekly presence in a number of 

                                            
1 The Value of Older People's Volunteering 2015 

Digital skills courses targeted at older 
people such as those offered by Age UK 
Leeds are helping to address the digital 
divide in the city.  
 
 Silver Surfers digital inclusion for people 

aged 55+  
 Digital Angels helping isolated people 

aged 50+ in south Leeds to get funded 
through Time to Shine. 

Page 476



 

14 
 

Community Hubs and use the Jobshops and other Council services to recruit to their 
programme. This is working well so far and their integration into Jobshops has 
resulted in a number of referrals to their provision, including existing Jobshop 
customers who are 50+.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The ESIF funded Skills, Training and Employment Pathways (STEP) Project started 
in May. The aim of the project is to provide a targeted but flexible programme of 
activities enabling long term unemployed people to get back into sustainable 
employment. This targeted provision will support around 1500 long term unemployed 
people in Leeds, and all participants receive as a minimum: 
 

 an initial assessment to establish level of capability, skills and aptitude  to 
identify any specific barriers to employment; 

 information, advice and guidance; 

 job/sector-specific training or support and an element of work experience if 
appropriate; 

 mentoring support including referral to other relevant agencies; 

Overcoming barriers  

58 year old Mark had been unemployed for more than five years, suffered with health 
problems and was struggling to use a computer to find work. Through the Back to Work 
programme Mark has received support to overcome his health problems and learn new 
skills, and he is now in paid work. Read more about Mark’s story on the Reed in 
Partnership website.  

Page 477



 

15 
 

 job search support (linking to the Council’s Community Hubs/Jobshop 
provision where appropriate); 

 guaranteed job interviews; 

 specialist support to tackle specific barriers e.g. mental health, drug or alcohol 
problems;  

 in-work support 

To date we have had 383 starts on to the programme, of which 149 were 50 or over 
when they started the 12 month programme. Of those starting 65 have already 
progressed in to work 17 of whom were 50+. 
 
Volunteering 
 
During 2017 VAL analysed data it had collected from nearly 700 people volunteering 
in Leeds, this showed that more than third of people volunteering in Leeds were 
aged 55-84 and 68% of these older volunteers were actively volunteering at least 
once a week.  
 
This data showed that older volunteers were involved in a wide range of activities 
including classroom support, museums and libraries, lunch clubs, advice work, 
befriending and many more activities. 98% of older volunteers said they were 
satisfied with the amount of support they were receiving while volunteering, and the 
same number, 98%, said they felt that their volunteering was contributing to their 
community. 
 
Older volunteers were asked: “What are the main reasons you started volunteering” 
and the three most popular reasons given were: 
 

1. To Support a cause/organisation that they cared about 
2. To give back to the community. 
3. Because helping others improve your wellbeing. 
 

Older volunteers were asked: “What are the best things about volunteering to you?”  
The four most popular answers were: 
 

1. I Enjoy it. 
2. It gives me a chance to make a difference. 
3. I feel like I’m giving back 
4. Being able to meet new people 

 
98% of older volunteers said they felt their volunteering was successfully contributing 
to their organisation. Some of the things that older volunteers said to us in this 
survey included: 

Page 478



 

16 
 

 
 “It's great - even when you've been out in the cold for a couple of hours, or have a 
10 page form to fill in.” 
“I am a volunteer in a volunteer led and volunteer run organisation and the 
motivation is great. The newest volunteer is in 5th year with us and others 6, 7 and 8 
years.” 
 
“I am 82 years old and volunteered because my daughter had Difficulty reading 
fluently. She was afraid of the teacher, went on to Nottingham University and a 1st 
class degree.” 
 

Next steps: 

 Increased focus on recruiting adults into learning from the 6 priority localities 
and disadvantaged groups. 

  

 Continue to engage older people in adult learning.  
  

 Continue to develop the STEP programme and increase referals, programme 
starts and job outcomes.  

 
 
 
Social 
Participation 

Our ambition: 
No-one is lonely; there are a range of opportunities for 
people to live healthy, active and fulfilling lives in Leeds 
 

Older people tell us… 
I enjoy a range of leisure and social activities; 
I enjoy taking part in physical activities;  
I enjoy having time to read, watch TV and do what I choose.  
I don’t want to feel lonely; 
 

 
There are 38,326 one person households where the lone occupant is aged 65 and 
over. It is estimated that around 15%, or 37000 older people can be described as 
lonely or socially isolated, due to factors including fear, living alone, retirement, 
personal and financial circumstances, the digital divide and ill equipped outdoor 
spaces. 
 
National studies show that physical activity decreases with age. 75% of men and 
76% of women over 65 are in the low activity group. Participating in regular physical 
activity helps to prevent or slow down the development of the major challenges to 
health and wellbeing that people face as they grow older ( Heart disease; type 2 
diabetes, loss of muscle strength, reduction in bone density – leading to fractures,  

Page 479



 

17 
 

Osteoporosis; Loss of mobility; Memory problems and dementia; Increased risk of 
injury due to falling. 
 
Dancing in Time  
 
The community contemporary dance programme ‘Dancing in Time’ has had its 
feasibility study published in the open access journal Biomed Central Geriatrics. 
Outcomes have been positive in particular the evidence that participants increased 
their activity levels and were able to statistically reduce Timed Up and Go (TUG) 
times which is the time it takes to stand from sitting and walk around a cone placed 3 
meters away and sit back down on their chair. The reduced time taken to complete 
the TUG test is an important measure to evidence the feasibility of the programme.   
 
Bat and Chat 
 
A further 14 Bat and Chat activators have completed the short course on 9th 
February delivered through Table Tennis England.  Activators are provided with the 
knowledge and skills to facilitate a fun and inclusive session to older adults. 
Activators receive advertising material, session manual and free equipment to 
support the delivery of regular sessions. The second course had seen activators 
from existing Bat and Chat centres for example libraries, Carers Leeds and from new 
organisations. Therefore increasing the provision of Bat and Chat sessions across 
Leeds.    
 
Active Ageing  
 
A bid submitted to the Active Ageing Fund (Sport England) to develop, trial and roll 
out a new physical activity programme aimed at inactive older people was 
unsuccessful. Partners involved agreed to continue to work together to focus on 
increasing capacity in areas of priority to offer older people the opportunity to access 
physical activity provision such as table tennis, netball and cricket.  
 
£50,000 Public Health funding has been secured to increase sustainable fun activity 
for older people, a further £9,000 for an older people physical activity campaign and 
finally £4,250 to devise a short training course for existing physical activity 
providers.   
 
 
Time to Shine – Tackling Social Isolation -  
 
As this programme entered its second year the projects have 
been able to identify what works/doesn’t work and make 
changes so that they can reach people who are more 
isolated.  
 

Page 480



 

18 
 

Learning from the projects has been gathered and shared with partners across the 
city. A video training module on social isolation has been developed for West 
Yorkshire Fire Service as part of its ‘safe and well’ visit.  

 

In September Time to Shine, launched 'Loneliness through a Lens' a photographic 
display looking at Social Isolation and Loneliness through the eyes of Leeds 
residents aged fifty and over. 
  
All the people in the photographs live in Leeds and partake in activities provided by 
at least one of the Neighbourhood Network Schemes. All have experienced feelings 
of isolation and loneliness, either personally or through friends, but the causes and 
how these feelings manifest themselves are all different. 
  
The display gave a snapshot into people's lives and to show that feelings of isolation 
and loneliness can happen at any time, to anybody. 

The second commissioning round of Time to Shine went live on 9th October and 
closed on 1st December.  Eleven bid development sessions were held to support 
potential applicants, with 26 separate organisations attending.  
 
Twenty two applications were received in total; fifteen for the Creating Supportive 
Opportunities strand, five for the Connections strand and two for the Changes.  

An application process to find older people to be involved in the decision-making 
panels resulted in eighteen older people coming forward. Of these, thirteen had not 
been involved in our commissioning processes before. Following a support and 
training session, eleven of these older people became panel members, and took part 
in assessing the applications and agreeing which ones should go forward to the 
interview stage.  
 

Page 481



 

19 
 

Leeds hosted the annual Ageing Better conference in October. This conference 
brings together the 14 areas with lottery funding to reduce loneliness and social 
isolation. Representatives from Manchester and the Isle of Wight have also visited 
Leeds to learn about some of the Time to Shine projects.  
 
Arts and culture  

Heydays, its long-standing creative programme for over 55s, taking place on 
Wednesdays since 1990. It is the largest and longest-running arts programme for 
older people in UK theatre. Around 300 older people attend each week to take part in 
everything from drama and dance to sculpture and creative writing, supported by a 
team of professional artists. Heydays is a vibrant, creative community where skills 
are developed and stories are shared. 
The Museums and Galleries have a range of activities for older people including: 
 
The Sociable History Club and the 1152 Club at Leeds City Museum and Kirkstall 
Abbey which provide regular opportunities for people over 55 to meet and enjoy talks 
and presentations on a wide variety of local history topics. The clubs now attract up 
to 40-50 people for each session.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Spinners of Aire and the Knit and Natter groups meet weekly at Leeds Industrial 
Museum 
 
Lotherton History Group meets every Monday to research the local area and 
connections to the Estate. The group worked with a group of ex- miners to research 
the Gascoigne Mines, in partnership with the Swillington Elderberrries Group.  
“I feel like I’ve come back to life again” (One of the ex-miners) 

 
Outreach and In Reach Workshops including tours and visits by older peoples 
groups and handling sessions/bespoke workshops on topics of interest related to the 
collections and exhibitions.  
 

25 people attended a 1940’s themed street 
party the Abbey House museum with a 
slide show, objects to reminisce over, 
singing and afternoon tea. 

 

Page 482



 

20 
 

Leeds Libraries have a number of facilitated groups within libraries including Golden 
days at Morley Library and Rothwell Community Hub, Hunslet Remembered at 
Hunslet Library, and a shared reading group at Seacroft Library.   

There are a large number of Readers groups where people can get together and talk 
about and review their most recent book and craft groups from knit and natter, book 
art, colouring cafés. 

Libraries offer a wide and varied book selection in different formats from large print to 
talking books, eBooks, eAudio and online magazines. 

For people who can’t get out Library At Home Volunteers will choose some books 
and deliver them to their home.  

Digital drop in sessions and IT learning sessions aimed at older people hopefully 
teach them skills to enable them to access a world of culture via the World Wide 
Web.  

Working with people with dementia 

The Leeds branch of the Dementia Action Alliance (DAA) supports 
groups and organisations to help make Leeds a dementia-friendly 
city, and brings together everyone in Leeds who wants to make a 
difference for people living with dementia, including families and 
carers, so people can still participate in everyday life and maintain 
as much independence as possible.  

Leeds DAA is a partnership between Leeds Older People’s Forum and Alzheimer’s 
Society working with Leeds City Council, sponsored by the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

Peer support for people with dementia and their carers is available through groups, 
cafes and memory drop in sessions. There are 49 ‘Memory Cafes’ offering the 
opportunity to meet up, enjoy activities and know that they are not alone in living with 
dementia. There are also a further 17 groups focused on singing and music that also 
give these opportunities.  

More information is available at www.leeds.gov.uk/dementia 

Arts funding has been secured to enable the Leeds based artist Paul Digby to lead a 
creative project of mosaic workshops with people living with dementia, their carer’s 
and families. Mosaic Leeds involves many community groups and local services, 
including the NHS, as partners:  Dementia Cafes and Neighbourhood Networks 
across the city, the Council’s Peer Support Service for People Living with Dementia, 
Leeds Memory Service and Leeds Museums & Galleries. 

This project will engage people living with dementia and carers in the city’s rich and 
cultural heritage, create opportunities for new experiences, re-connect people with 
lost experiences and interests, and aims to inspire community spirit.  People will 

Page 483



 

21 
 

make a positive contribution to making Leeds a great place for culture and a 
Dementia-Friendly City.  

West Yorkshire Playhouse has been awarded £99,950 from Arts Council England 
National Lottery funding to produce a Festival of Theatre and Dementia. Exploring 
the experience of living with dementia through creative activity, the Festival will 
create new opportunities for older people living with dementia, collaborating with 
them as curators and performers. 

Community Contribution Research  
 
The Centre for Ageing Better has employed OPM, a research company, to look at 
the main motivations of people aged 50 and over making a contribution to their 
community through voluntary activity and what the main barriers are for preventing 
people aged 50 and over from contributing more, or at all.   
 
It has been agreed with OPM that this research will take place in the Recreations 
(part of Holbeck and Beeston) in Leeds, as well as three other areas nationally (in 
Bristol, Settle and Scarborough).  OPM has recruited two community researchers 
within the locality, who will be trained to conduct peer research. 
 
Next steps:  
 
Establish priorities of work for physical activity across Leeds and develop an Active 
Ageing course and brand. Active Leeds is developing the older people physical 
activity training course to be delivered in March 2018 aimed at activity providers 
across Leeds. In parallel ‘fun’ activity for older people will be developed with a view 
to recruit champions and facilitate sessions from May 2018 onwards.   
 
Yorkshire Dance will deliver three more Dancing in Time programmes at Holbeck 
Elderly Aid, Belle Isle Winter Aid OPAL Holt Park. These will be twice weekly 
contemporary dance sessions over ten weeks.    
 
The next round of commissioning for the Time to Shine Programme will be completed 
with contracts negotiated to allow successful projects to start in April 2018.  
 
The research company, OPM, will recruit and train more community researchers, 
who in turn will interview their peers locally.  Initial findings will be analysed and 
published in Spring 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 484



 

22 
 

Respect and 
Social Inclusion 

Our ambition: 
Ageing is promoted positively and older people feel 
worthwhile and valued as citizens of Leeds 
 

Older people tell us… 
I want to be respected and included socially in my community; 
I don’t want to see stereotypes of older people; I want images to reflect the 
diversity of the older population.  
It’s not a crime to be old 
 

 
Attitudes towards older people can be characterised by stereotypes and prejudices 
that can be highly negative. There is a need for cities to challenge such prejudices 
and nurture a culture of respect and inclusion towards older people in their society. 
Older people in deprived neighbourhoods are at particular risk of social exclusion 
due to issues of poverty, deprivation and material disadvantage.  
 
Leeds is committed to tackling these stereotypes through reducing inequalities and 
promoting positive images and stories about older people. A key part of this work is 
the continued development of intergenerational projects and activities which bring 
young and old together with the purpose of developing understanding and respect 
between generations.  
 
Work to promote Age Friendly Leeds and positive ageing –  

A ‘Want to know more’ session on Age Friendly Leeds was held in May. These 
sessions hosted by the Public Health Resource Centre are aimed at professionals to 
improve their awareness and practice around the subjects covered. The session was 
well received with positive feedback.  

International Day of Older People (IDOP) 
 
International Day of Older People is celebrated worldwide on the 1 October each 
year; in Leeds we stretch the celebration over a longer period to allow organisations 
to hold events to celebrate the contribution that older people make to the city. The 
theme for 2017 was Diversity of Older People and a range of events took place over 
the course of 15 days. Sixteen of these events received a small grant from the IDOP 
Leeds Community Events fund which is provided by the council and managed by 
Leeds Older People’s Forum. Read about some of the projects in the final report.  
 

It was wonderful to see young people with learning disabilities and us old people have 
fun and laughter together. Everybody has been so welcoming and willing to join in with 
the fun and games. Thank you for a wonderful day,  
 
Older person at Armley Helping Hands IDOP event.   

Page 485



 

23 
 

Leeds City Museum had an overwhelming response to the invitation to people to 
make Forget Me Not flowers for a display in the City Museum’s Brodrick Hall to 
celebrate the International Day of Older People Thousands of hand crafted flowers 
were created by people and organisations across Leeds.  

 
Leeds City Museum also ran its first poetry competition around the theme of 
‘Growing Older’. The winners were read out at a celebration event at the museum on 
1 October.  

Age Friendly Charter 

Following the production of a new Age Friendly Charter in October 2016, a steering 
group of older people has been formed, supported by the Time to Shine Campaign 
Officer to facilitate the roll out of the Charter. With fifteen active members from 
across the city, the group meets monthly. The group has welcomed a presentation 
from Highways on how pavement repairs are prioritised and resourced, and fed into 
the Leeds Health and Care Information Portal recommissioning consultation.  

Most recently the group has developed a campaign to 
encourage businesses in Leeds to offer a seat to older 
people, modelled on the successful ‘Take a Seat’ 
campaign in Nottingham and Manchester. The campaign 
for Leeds will be called ‘Come in and Rest’ and was 
launched in Moortown in January 2018. 

 

 

Forget me nots displayed on the giant map in the Brodrick Hall, Leeds City Museum 

Page 486



 

24 
 

 

 

 

 

Intergenerational work 

 

Generations United is a new publication, produced by Leeds Older People’s Forum, 
showcasing these amazing intergenerational projects across the city. The report was 
officially launched on 25 September at the LOPF Celebration Event.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Come in and Rest scheme officially launched on 25 January 2018 

Fall into place Community Theatre 
Generation Squad  

Leeds Grand Theatre  
The Fashionable Lounge  

University of Leeds 
Writing Back 

The Writing Squad

Second hand stories  

South Leeds Independence Centre, 
Kissing it Better  

Abbey House Museum and The Vintage Youth Club  
Decades of youth   M & S Company Archive 

Sparkling Memories  

MAECare – Adopt a grandparent  

Page 487



 

25 
 

A Happy Baby ‘want to know more’ session was held in September at the Public 
Health Resource Centre to coincide with Happy Baby week for workers who have 
direct contact with grandparents. Workers were provided with four important 
messages to enable grandparents to have up to date knowledge and skills to support 
new parents.  

Next steps: 

 A Come in and Rest toolkit will be developed and launched to engage with 
local businesses.  

 Further Happy Baby sessions are planned.  

Communication 
and Information 
 

Our ambition: 
In Leeds all older people, their friends, family and support 
networks have easy access to information (in a format they 
are comfortable with) which makes their lives better.   
 

Older people tell us… 
I know where to go for information about services, events and activities when I 
need it. 
I want information to be from a trusted source. 
I want information which is easy to understand and in a format to suit my needs.  
I want on port of call for information about what is going on in my area.  
 

 
Having easily accessible information in a range of formats on all available services 
for older people and their support networks is vital. This also allows smart city 
solutions and products to be co-created and progress shared. It is also important that 
awareness of information sources and opportunities for local community participation 
are widely promoted in order for opportunities to be fully taken up leading to people 
having greater choice and control over their lives.  
 
Progress so far: 

Communications – 
 
Work is ongoing to improve and promote on-line information about Age Friendly 
Leeds to showcase the work of the breakthrough project, share best practice and link 
with partner age friendly cities and encourage organisations and services to pledge 
and sign up to the campaign.  
 
A new URL has been purchased to better identify the web page and improve access 
- www.agefriendlyleeds.net - and this has been promoted across the Leeds.gov site 
and with partners. A proto-type of a new web page has been produced and is 
awaiting go-live, as part of the overall updated Leeds.gov site.  
 
Social media is used to promote Age Friendly Initiatives including: 

Page 488



 

26 
 

 
 The Age Friendly Leeds Twitter account @AgeFriendlyLDS which has 

steadily grown its membership and currently has nearly 1,118 followers.  
 Better Lives blog 
 LCC LinkedIn page 

 
An e bulletin is also sent out regularly with information about activities, events, 
volunteering opportunities and news items to an Age Friendly mailing list. A 
summary of the quarterly update to the breakthrough project board is shared via this 
bulletin.  
 
Digital Technology 
 

Activage is a 42 month European project which uses digital technology including 
wearable tech, smartphones, watches, and a home hub with sensors to prolong and 
support the independent living of older adults in their living environments. The project 
started in January 2017 and has 300 sets of equipment, with 1000 people involved 
including carers and professionals. The three main uses for the technology are: 

1. Daily Activity Monitoring At Home  

 Website for individuals, Doctors , family and care givers to access health 
records 

 Prescription exercise, calorie/water intake and medication reminders from 
Doctors and care givers 

 Exportable data for National Health Service Personal Health Records  

2. Emergency Trigger 

 Fall detection system working on a smart watch  

 Fall Risk alert system – based on gait analysis over period 

 Identify lack of activity and notify named carer 

3. Prevention of Social Isolation 

 Social isolation risk alert system – based on behaviour analysis done using 
energy data 

 Social games and community engagement using Council’s open data set 

 

Proactive Telecare –started in June 2017 and is being piloted for one year 
alongside Telecare talk, it has funding from NHS England, and the equipment is from 
Tunstall. More than just a daily ‘are you alright’ phone call, the service offers two 
types of calls: support to changes to lifestyle to improve wellbeing, and general 
health messages.  

Page 489



 

27 
 

The aims of this pilot are to: 

• Work with individuals with multiple long term conditions, socially isolated, frail 
older people, mental health conditions and people in early stages of dementia  

• Encourage service users to meet their personal health and wellbeing goals 

• Provide generic health promotion messages 

• Signpost service users to resources in their local communities to improve 
wellbeing  

• Link to strength based Social Care/Health Adult Social Care Integration 
approaches  

The project will be evaluated by Leeds Beckett University.  

 
Leeds Directory 
 
A review of the Leeds Directory, to inform future commissioning of the resource, is 
taking place. Soft market testing and consultation exercises have been completed, 
including service user testing of the existing site. Commissioning and outline Design 
Model have been agreed. 
 

CareView app 
 
A 12 month, academically evaluated trial is being carried out with funding of £70,000 
from NHS England Integrated Care Pioneers –New Care Models, plus an additional 
£10,000 from winning the Medipex Innovation Awards 2017 in the GP and 
Community Care category. 
 
The original digital developers, Dyhaan Design, have created a full working model of 
the CareView app from the prototype including a digital social isolation guide for 
users of the app. The academic evaluators of this project are mHabitat, a trading arm 
of Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, and are specialists in 
researching digital innovation. 
 
The trial involves outreach teams from the Better Together city wide teams logging, 
or ‘pinning’ concerns via the CAREVIEW digital platform in the six, top 1%, most 
deprived priority neighbourhoods. A concern may be a building in disrepair, untidy 
card or post piling up. This may indicate the presence of a socially isolated resident. 
‘Pinning’ puts a blob of light on a heat map. The heat maps are then followed up by 
door knocking and leafleting through the Better Together Outreach teams. This 
activity is to ascertain whether local community members require any help and 
support with their health and wellbeing. The council’s communities teams, graduates 
and public health officers plus the police have been assisting with this process. This 
activity helps the digital technical team to develop the heat maps in terms of colour 

Page 490



 

28 
 

resonance and reach, this is working well. This has a significant impact on their 
effectiveness. 
 
Next steps: 

 A communications plan has been developed to promote the web page as 
soon as it goes live.  

 a monthly Better Lives blog feature putting the spotlight on Leeds 
Neighbourhood Networks – first article will be on Bramley Elderly Action.   

 Activage -Recruitment of Older People and Carers to commence 
 Further use of Telecare Talk 
  

 Look to develop a digital literacy strategy (across staff in house and 
commissioned) and citizens 

 Detailed work on Leeds Directory model to start.  
 

Community 
Support and 
Health Services  
 

Our ambition:  
Older people have an increased healthy life expectancy 
supported by integrated health and social care services  

Older people tell us…  
 
I want prompt, accessible medical support:  
I want to be taken seriously; 
I want practical and emotional support where needed.  
 

 
Health promotion and illness prevention are important measures of increasing the 
healthy life expectancy of older people in Leeds. Improving health may mean that 
they can retain their independence for longer thus improving their quality of life and 
reducing their requirement for services.  
 
Progress so far: 

 

Healthy Ageing 

A Healthy Ageing workshop has taken place which has identified three key work 
streams: 

 Active and independent – going forward, physical activity and the fall proof 
project will be reported under this stream.  

 Nutrition and Hydration 
 Mental Health and Wellbeing – there is an identified need to conduct an older 

peoples’ mental health needs assessment and audit of local activity against 
NICE guidance.  

Page 491



 

29 
 

Make it Fallproof is a council and NHS led 
campaign to help people stay on their feet and 
reduce the risk of falling.  

 
It includes: 
 

 An information campaign with leaflets, dvds and information on the council 
website on how to reduce the risk of falling.   

 
 Postural stability classes - a structured 20 week programme of exercise for 

people at risk of falls delivered by qualified instructors in a range of leisure 
centres and community centres across Leeds. The programme is designed for 
people with low mobility and focuses on improving balance, confidence and to 
reduce the fear of falling.  

 
 Assessments for community based exercise providers to ensure they are 

delivering safe and effective exercise classes to people who are at risk of 
falls. A successful assessment gives a 'Make it Fall Proof' accreditation, which 
gives providers a range of support to enhance their programmes and allows 
them to bid for small grants to enhance their service. Details of accredited 
courses are on the Active Leeds webpage. 

 
As part of a review of Single Point Urgent Referral (SPUR) there is a roll out of 
additional pathways for referral in to Gateway through Yorkshire Ambulance Service 
(YAS), Telecare and Care Homes to prevent and reduce accident and emergency 
attendances. The impact and outcomes are being monitored.  
 
New initiatives for the Fallproof programme currently in development include: 

 a water based exercise programme 
 ‘Falls Champions’ for Care Homes  
 ‘Community Falls Ambassadors’ to raise awareness and prevent falls.  
 Roll out of single referral point for falls services and an integrated service 

between Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust and Leeds Teaching 
Hospital NHS Trust; 

 Supporting urgent care work, including the frailty unit which opened in 
December 2017 at St James Hospital to provide dedicated care for older 
people who come into hospital (people aged 80+ or 65+ with frailty needs);  

 Additional funding secured to increase staffing within the Community Falls 
Service to support the enhancement of the service and to provide further 
community based falls classes. 

 
Funding has been agreed through Integrated Better Care Fund to support the falls 
prevention programme of work to April 2020. 
 

Page 492



 

30 
 

 Supported Wellbeing and Independence for Frailty (SWIFt)  
 
SWIFt focuses on frail older people and is funded by Time to Shine and by the three 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). Contracts have been signed with the 
delivery partners who are:  
 

 Age UK Leeds - working as the city wide provider  
 Bramley Elderly Action (Neighbourhood Network Scheme) -focusing on 

Bramley, Swinnow and parts of Stanningley (West CCG)  
 OPAL (Neighbourhood Network Scheme)- working in the LS16 and LS17 

areas of Leeds (North CCG area)  
 Crossgates Good Neighbours (Neighbourhood Network Scheme)- focusing on 

Crossgates, Halton and Colton (SECCG area) 
 Health for All - working in Inner South with a BME focus (SECCG area)  

The project is receiving referrals from a range of sources with most coming from the 
hospital to home services. Clients are older people with poor health/complex health 
needs. Experience so far is that clients are experiencing multiple barriers requiring a 
high level of practical assistance before resolving underlying issues. 318 older 
people have been supported by the five projects since Autumn 2016. 

The interim evaluation has been completed, based on a sample of 88 records, and 
has established that: 

 There is evidence that the service has started to targeting the correct groups 
of people as the clients have higher levels of frailty and more long term 
conditions than expected for a similar cohort of people; 

 Overall this group of people consume more health and care resources than a 
seemingly similar group selected using a control matching procedure; 

 It is too early to evaluate the system impact of the service as the current 
sample is too small for meaningful analysis in the time scales allowed; less 
than 50 service users have been through the service for less than three 
months at the time of evaluation; 

 The proposed methodology and approach of using the Leeds Data Model and 
Controlled Matching can be used in the evaluation of the service. 

Regular meetings with SWIFt providers are held to ensure the service model is 
joined up across the city.  The meetings also offer an opportunity to share successes 
and challenges.  The providers have also received training on non-clinical frailty 
assessment tools to support their work. 

Further funding will be needed to continue this service beyond October 2018, and 
options are currently being explored. 

Page 493



 

31 
 

 

  

Minimising the impact of cold weather and cold homes  
 
Winter Friends is a public health initiative which has been ongoing 
in Leeds for the past three years. It is a citywide network of 
professionals and organisations all aiming to prevent excess winter 
deaths and reduce cold weather related illnesses among vulnerable 
people in our communities, with a particular focus on older people 
through the use of the winter wellbeing checklist and other free 
resources.  
 
Tying in with the national Public health England campaign Stay Well This Winter, 
winter friends combat social isolation and fuel poverty which both remain a large 
concern for older people across the UK. The campaign is delivered in partnership 

SWIFt case study:  Mr and Mrs H previously attended a lunch club together on a regular 
basis.  Unfortunately, Mr H suffered a fall and had to have a hip replacement. Due to this, 
he was unable to leave the house. Regardless of being in his early 90s, Mr H made 
remarkable progress; the only thing that stood in his way was the long wait for grab rail that 
was needed for their front door.  
 
Mr and Mrs H are a very close couple and rarely did things without each other. Mrs H also 
stopped going to lunch club. Before a recent diagnosis of dementia Mrs H, used to meet up 
with friends for coffee and attended a poetry club.  However, after getting lost on the bus a 
few times, she decided she was not going out again on her own. 
 
The family referred the couple to the project because they were worried that they were 
becoming isolated. Mr H enjoyed watching television and playing on his computer, however 
they were worried that Mrs H was not doing anything around the house. 
 
The project worker started to visit the couple. Mr H was unable to come out due to the issue 
around the handrail and Mrs H did not want to engage initially. After a few visits, Mrs H 
agreed to go for walks with the project worker.  
 
The project worker succeeded in building a positive relationship with the couple and 
eventually Mrs H agreed to come to the lunch club, first with the worker and eventually with 
assistance from volunteers. Mrs H enjoyed this and started coming on a regular basis. She 
also expressed an interest in the chair-based exercise and now attends regularly. Attending 
these groups alone, without her husband, has been a big step in improving Mrs H’s 
confidence in doing things alone without relying too much on her husband. 
 
In the meantime, the family had made a referral for grab rails. They were advised that the 
waiting list could be up to 6 months.  The project worker assisted with chasing up the 
referrals and in reiterating the need for the grab rails. Mr H is now able to leave the house 
(assisted by the handrail) and now regularly attends the lunch clubs again. 
 
The project has helped both Mr and Mrs H to be able to leave the house again and attend 
regular social and physical activities to reduce their social isolation and improving their 
overall health and wellbeing. 

Winter Friends’ owl  

Page 494



 

32 
 

with the Warmth for Wellbeing service alongside Groundworks Green Doctors who 
are specialist environmental consultants and Care and Repair’s home adaptation 
service. 
 
Planning for winter starts in the summer, an event was held on Tuesday 11th June in 
Leeds Civic Hall. 98 delegates attended representing the council, health and third 
sector organisations and heard from a series of guest speakers who shared their 
knowledge and experiences on the importance of interventions to keep people warm 
through the winter.  
 
There are over 122 registered winter friends in Leeds from third sector organisations, 
statutory services such as the police and fire services, adult social care and housing 
departments. Winter Friends receive training to increase basic knowledge of high 
impact interventions such as flu vaccinations, medicine intake, falls and feeling 
connected to your community. In autumn 2017 33 winter friends briefing sessions 
and a further 19 electronic briefings were delivered to new organisations.   
 
Free resources are available including:  
 

 a thermometer card to be left in the home to raise 
awareness of the adverse effects of cold homes,   

 prompt cards for professionals to act as a reminder to 
ask open questions when they have contact with a 
potentially vulnerable person.  

 A winter wellbeing checklist which is to be left with 
the vulnerable person detailing the high impact 
interventions and contact details for different support 
and advice services across the city.  

 A winter friends badge;  
 
Nutrition and hydration  
 
The Older People Food Matters Group (OPFMG) established 2010 is a multi-agency 
group promoting food and drink messages and interventions relevant to older people 
The OPFMG has developed the Leeds Food Consensus which seeks to ensure 
consistent evidence based, person centred food messages for older people through 
four key messages embedded within the consensus: 

Page 495



 

33 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Older People’s Food Matters Group (OPFMG) promoted the Nutrition and 
Hydration Week across Leeds (13th – 17th March). Nutritional champions and partner 
organisations from across Leeds created a verity of awareness activities, and an 
open access Nutritional Champions training course was delivered to 17 people from 
various organisations.  
 
Leeds Hydration week took place from 12th – 16th June and the OPMFG completed 
another raising awareness of good hydration.  Partners were asked to consider their 
own hydration practice ensuring staff can practice their 6 – 8 drinks.  2000 ‘Eating 
Well as You Age’ booklets were distributed.   
 
A second open access Nutritional Champions training course took place on 27th 
September to workforce from the third sector, home care and self- management 
champions.   
 
Work has been completed to identify nutritional needs across Leeds which includes 
the audit of nutritional courses currently provided and gaps in provision. Information 
gathered from the audit has enabled a successful bid to the Integrated Better Care 
Fund (IBCF) to deliver a Malnutrition Prevention programme for one year across 
Leeds focusing on improving knowledge of malnutrition and dehydration for older 
people. This will include training to health and social care workforce, campaign 
materials and nutrition literature and a malnutrition hot line ensuring the Leeds 
system can receive further support on matters of malnutrition and dehydration. 
 
Health and social care support 
 
Neighbourhood Networks  
 
A review of the council’s Neighbourhood Network Schemes has taken place which 
provided the opportunity to fully evaluate how well the current arrangements have 
worked, what changes have taken place within the market place during the lifespan 
of the current contract and how best to move forward from 1st October 2018 
onwards. Workshops have been held with the Neighbourhood Network Schemes to 
discuss Dementia and Frailty.   
 
 

Page 496



 

34 
 

The outcome of the Neighbourhood Network review is an uplift on the annual value 
of the contract of £564,967. This model will see a five year + five year grant award 
being made to individual organisations.  
 
Care Homes  
 
A major piece of work to review and re-commission care homes is taking place which 
aims to improve the experience of residents of care homes, to ensure there is a 
resilient provider market, and to make the most effective use of resources. The 
process includes extensive consultation with residents, families and older people and 
will be used to inform the service specification before going out to procurement.  
Consultation is being analysed, and a cost of care exercise for Care Homes to agree 
future fees is ongoing.  
 
The Green Care Home was closed and re-opened as Community Intermediate Care 
beds. 
 
Work with the Alzheimer’s Society on a project to examine how care homes can be 
community assets is ongoing; three care homes have signed up to participate.  
 
Research work with the University of Birmingham on the implementation of the Care 
Act has commenced and will focus on neighbourhood networks and an Asset Based 
Community Development approach. Three neighbourhood networks have been 
identified to participate in the research.  
 
Next steps:  
 

 Work on the SWIFt evaluation will continue.  
 Start a mental health needs assessment and audit of local activity against 

NICE guidance.  
 Secure funding to enable SWIFt continue past October 2018. 
 Develop a grant agreement and application process for the Neighbourhood 

Networks funding. The grant application process is anticipated to commence 
in March 2018 and the new agreements will be in place for 1st October 2018.  

 Undertake an options appraisals with Care Home providers to shape the 
future commissioning model.  

 Carry out the research work with the University of Birmingham on the 
Implementation of the Care Act.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 497



 

35 
 

To Conclude 
 

 
This breakthrough project takes forward a long history of work with older people in 
Leeds and aims for Leeds to be a city where ageing is seen as a positive experience 
that brings new changes and opportunities and older people have access to the 
services and resources they require to enable them to live healthy and fulfilling lives.  
It recognises the need to address the inequalities facing older people in different 
parts of the city.  
 
Much progress has been made already but more remains to be done. Leeds exciting 
new partnership with the Centre for Ageing Better brings new resources to take 
forward older people’s housing, community transport and community contributions.  
We will continue to work with all our partners during 2017 and beyond to achieve our 
ambition for Leeds to be the Best City to Grow Old In.  

For further information about this report please contact: 
Carole Clark 

Older People, Long Term Conditions and Cancer 
Leeds City Council 
Tel: 011 3783831 

Email: carole.clark@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Page 498



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Adults and Health  Service area: Older people, Long Term 

Conditions and Cancer (Public Health) 
Lead person: Lucy Jackson 
 

Contact number: 07712214794 

 
1. Title: Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in  
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify    Breakthrough Project  
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old in is one of the council’s eight breakthrough 
projects. A way of working across directorates that engages partners and 
communities differently. 
 
The breakthrough project takes a citizenship approach, applying to the entire 
population. It therefore does not include all the programmes of work in relation to 
health and social care for older people, which are picked up elsewhere, whilst 
recognising that there are obvious links and synchronicities.  

The approach ensures that there is a strong focus on social networks within 
neighbourhoods and the city; promotes social capital and participation; age-proofs 
and develops universal services; reduces social exclusion and works to change 
social structure and attitudes. 

As part of the action plan, LCC and Leeds Older People’s Forum have signed a joint 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 499



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

MoU with the Centre for Ageing Better. The initial 3 priority areas of work are 
Housing; Community contributions and transport. 

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 
How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 

Page 500



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The 2011 Census showed that almost 150,000 in Leeds aged 60 and over.  This 
accounts for 1 in 5 of our population (20%).  This is higher than other core cities such as 
Nottingham (9%) and Manchester (12%).  
 
By 2021 it expected that those aged 50+ will rise to 256,585 and those aged 80+ 
expected to rise to 39,091.  As more people in the city live longer there presents 
challenges in terms of the complex needs they are living with.  In Leeds the number of 
frail older people requiring health and social care support is increasing while the financial 
situation sees budgets decreasing or stopping. Leeds is also the most ethnically diverse 
city outside of London in the UK. This requires local organisations to think and work 
differently to provide targeted services based on need and utilising the assets within the 
growing population.   
 
We have mapped where older people live in the city which shows that as people age they 
tend to migrate from the city centre to live in more rural, less deprived wards on the edge 
of the city.   
 
Using pension credit as an indicator of older people’s deprivation we can see that income 
deprived older people live in the inner areas of the city.  The wards with a higher 
proportion of older people receiving pension credit correspond largely with the most 
deprived wards within the city.   
 
Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Older people living within the  more deprived areas of the city will experience the 
following challenges: 
 

 Inequalities through the life course – low income, poor work conditions, poor 
access to services. 

 Older people tend to be living within social or private housing which can be of poor 
quality and inadequate for their needs 

 They experience social isolation, fear of crime and ageism 
 Fuel poverty 
 The impact of this include excess winter deaths, reduced disability free life years, 

high fractures and people not dying in a place of choice 
 
Older people living in the outer, more rural areas of the city may be perceived to have 
good quality living standards, but they still face a number of challenges including: 
 

 Poor transport links which can lead to social isolation and loneliness 
 Difficulty accessing services – health services, shops, post offices etc. 
 Poorly maintained homes which may be fuel inefficient 

Page 501



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 They may be asset rich, cash poor therefore experience financial exclusion 
 Fuel Poverty 

 
 
Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
A strategic partnership between The Centre for Ageing Better, Leeds City Council and 
Leeds Older People Forum was signed in October 2017.   
 
The partnership is working collaboratively for an initial period of five years across a range 
of activities to support the parties’ shared objectives.  The work will add to the 
commitment by the council and the Leeds Health & Wellbeing Board, led through the 
Breakthrough project, to become the Best City in the UK to Grow Old In, and its broader 
work as an Age-friendly City. We will also be working to make sure that the voices, needs
and preferences of older people are reflected in what we achieve, and how we achieve it. 
The initial programmes of work are focussed on transport, housing and community 
contributions – all will have a focus on equality and diversity. The Centre for Ageing 
Better are funding a post which is hosted in the Public Health Older Peoples team (Adults 
and Health).  
 
There are a number of key opportunities for older people within the city, examples are 
listed below. The Board will ensure that these are targeted appropriately to maximise 
impact and mitigate against any negative impact on different equality groups.   
 

 The plethora of well-established third sector organisations offering services 
developed for older people by older people. These include the 37 Neighbourhood 
Networks across the city and locally based branches of national organisations 
such as Age UK, British Red Cross and MHA. These organisations are supported 
by Leeds Older People’s Forum, which is the voice of older people in the city and 
supports the third sector, as well as overseeing Time to Shine – focused on 
tackling loneliness and social isolation. The needs of different equality groups has 
been a key part of the review of NNs 

 Leeds is a member of the World Health Organisations Age Friendly Cities Network 
and a member of the UK Network of Age Friendly Communities.   

 An inclusive cultural offer offered through libraries, museums and cultural 
organisations such as West Yorkshire Playhouse. In addition an Arts and Older 
People’s group has been established consisting of artists, practitioners and 
cultural organisations that work with older people, to support the further 
development of this work across the city.   

  4000 hectares of green space across Leeds, ensuring that the city remains one of 
the greenest and most attractive places to live in Europe.  Leeds parks are well 
used by older people and satisfaction is high. Engagement will focus on those 
equality groups who are not using this resource  

Page 502



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

 Support for healthy, active ageing through a range of activities provided in the 
community, quality assured through the Make It Fallproof scheme. Any gaps in 
relation to geographical gaps will be prioritised. 

 A range of volunteering, employment and learning opportunities where older 
people are a key target group/audience allowing them to actively participate in the 
city and to live healthy, active and fulfilling lives in Leeds.   

 A focus on intergenerational projects ensuring ageing is promoted within the city 
and older people feel worthwhile and valued as citizens of Leeds. 

 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Lucy Jackson Chief Officer – Public 

Health 
29/8/18 

Date screening completed 29/8/18  
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 

Page 503



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6

For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 504



 

 

Report of the Director of Children and Families  

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 17th October 2018 

Subject: Families First ‘Earned Autonomy’ – the plan to use new 
freedoms to transform early help services for children and families 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to update Executive Board on Leeds’ success in gaining 
‘Earned Autonomy’ from central government for its work to support public sector   
transformation as part of the ‘Families First’ programme. This report is to seek the 
Board’s approval for implementation plans developed with local partners.  

2. Leeds is one of only 13 Local Authorities to have won ‘Earned Autonomy’ status. This 
was through a competitive process judged by central government and is a result of the 
high performance and strong leadership of Leeds’ Family First programme. Leeds has 
been a national example of good practice for a long period, with frequent visits to learn 
from Leeds’ approach from senior civil servants, politician and local government 
leaders.  

3. Earned Autonomy will give more freedom to transform the way we deliver early help for 
children and families, supported by funding from central government via upfront 
payment of ‘Payment By Results’ (PBR) monies. Earned Autonomy status for Leeds is 
recognition for the improved outcomes, sustained high performance and strong 
leadership of children’s services in the city. 

4. Leeds’ Families First has made a huge difference to the lives of local children and 
families. Since 2014 the expanded Families First programme has helped 935 children 
improve their attendance, helped 579 adults into continuous employment (in most 
cases this has been for 6 months or more) and also supported 1242 adults to make 

 Report author:  Julie Longworth 

Tel:  0113 37 86386 

Page 505

Agenda Item 15



 

 

progress to work; 1566 families have demonstrated a sustained reduction in domestic 
violence incidents and 713 families have demonstrated a sustained reduction in crime 
and antisocial behaviour incidents. This shows the value and impact of a whole family 
approach to improving lives and communities, contributing across Council-wide 
agendas on learning, skills, crime and wellbeing. 

5. Earned Autonomy is a great opportunity to accelerate and support  integrated working 
for children and families at both a citywide and locality level with partners.   It is an 
important part of our ongoing conversation with local schools and services about how 
we can strengthen the Council’s offer of support and investment to these vital local 
partnerships. Earned Autonomy can also be used to support and inform wider 
innovation and reform in local services, from Community Hubs and Priority 
Neighbourhoods to NHS Child and Family Health Hubs. It is clear that in the context of 
demographic and funding pressures that significant change is needed and our Earned 
Autonomy plans can help support that change and help reshape a sustainable future 
for local services.  

6. Plans for using the money and freedoms of Earned Autonomy to support further reform 
and investment have been developed in consultation with local partners across the 
Council and in the NHS, Police and local schools and organisations. It is proposed to 
use the Earned Autonomy funding in concert with wider plans for new locality and 
citywide approaches such as Child and Family Health Hubs and the West Yorkshire 
Police Early Intervention Strategy. The main areas of change are designed to help 
strengthen existing working in clusters and wider locality working. The areas are as 
follows: 

 Three Early Help Hubs, one for each area of the city. These multi-disciplinary 
hubs will include experienced practitioners in crucial areas such as mental 
health, substance misuse, worklessness and domestic violence. They will 
provide direct early help to children and families but will also work with cluster 
partners to enhance confidence, knowledge and skills in key areas. This model 
builds on emerging national best practice in areas such as Hertfordshire. The 
Hubs will also include additional capacity for the support, performance 
management and quality assurance of Early Help working across the city. 
 

 New approach to adolescent services. This will be a commissioning fund linked 
to wider work to support reform and reshaping of local services, again building 
on national best practice such as the North Yorkshire ‘No Wrong Door’ initiative. 

 

 For capacity building in key areas such as workforce development; predictive 
analysis and performance management; developing practice to better support 
the Three As – attendance, attainment and achievement. 

 

Recommendations 

7. The Board is recommended to: 

Page 506



 

 

 Note and approve the plans for Earned Autonomy 

 Delegate responsibility for implementation to the Director of Children and Families 

Page 507



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Executive Board on Leeds’ success in 
gaining ‘Earned Autonomy’ from central government for its work in support of the 
national ‘Troubled Families’ programme and to seek the Board’s approval of 
delegated responsibility for the Director of Children and Families to manage the 
implementation plans developed with local partners.  

2 Background information 

2.1        The ‘Troubled Families’ initiative was launched by central government in 2011 and 
has been a high profile national programme of intensive support for families that 
focused on families with multiple needs including worklessness, poor school 
attendance, substance abuse, anti-social behaviour and crime.  

2.2 Leeds chose to rebrand Troubled Families as ‘Families First’ to emphasise the 
more positive implementation of the programme in the city and avoid some of the 
criticism and negativity in some elements of national rhetoric and debate.  

2.3 The city has a long history of successful work in family support projects and the 
programme built on this existing good practice across the city including the work 
of Targeted Services and the existing cluster partnership arrangements. The 
programme is supported by a multi-agency team with secondments from Police 
and the DWP which forms the bedrock of the programme.   

2.4 Leeds is one of only 13 Local Authorities to have won ‘Earned Autonomy’ status. 
This was through a competitive process judged by central government and is a 
result of the high performance and strong leadership of Leeds’ Family First 
programme. Leeds has been a national example of good practice for a long 
period, with frequent visits to learn from Leeds’ approach from senior civil 
servants, politician and local government leaders.  

2.5 Leeds’ Families First programme has a very good track record, with consistently 
high levels of performance and improved outcomes for local families. Leeds’ 
Families First programme has received national praise and awards for its work 
over recent years and is frequently cited as an example of best practice, receiving 
visits from central government and other Local Authorities. 

2.6 Leeds’ Families First has made a huge difference to the lives of local children and 
families. Since 2014 the expanded Families First programme has helped 935 
children improve their attendance, helped 579 adults into continuous employment 
(in most cases this has been for 6 months or more) and also supported 1242 
adults to make progress to work; 1566 families have demonstrated a sustained 
reduction in domestic violence incidents and 713 families have demonstrated a 
sustained reduction in crime and antisocial behaviour incidents. This shows the 
value and impact of a whole family approach to improving lives and communities, 
contributing across Council-wide agendas on learning, skills, crime and wellbeing. 

2.7 Leeds work is held in high regard nationally, having attracted visits and praise 
from senior politicians, civil servants and colleagues from local authorities across 

Page 508



 

 

the UK and other countries. For example, after a central government spot check 
the feedback from a Director at DCLG was that staff were ‘very impressive’ who 
all demonstrated the ‘high quality of work that Leeds is carrying out with your 
families’, supported by ‘extremely impressive’ data systems’ and a central team 
that were ‘doing a fantastic job’. 

2.8 In November 2017 the national Troubled Families national team announced there 
would be a new way of delivering the programme called “earned autonomy”.  This 
would allow local Authorities the freedom and flexibility to receive up front funding 
of all ‘Payments By Results’ (PBR) funding and develop a local framework for 
measuring outcomes. The aim of this new approach to funding was to give Local 
Authorities the opportunity to innovate and accelerate the pace of change. Local 
Authorities were asked to bid for earned autonomy, with success dependent on 
prior good performance, strong local leadership and performance management 
and a commitment to using the programme to promote further public service 
transformation 

2.9 Leeds’ bid was developed in partnership and the final proposal was approved by 
key strategic leads including LCC CEO, Director of Children and Families 
Services, DWP, Health and Police. Leeds bid was successful and Leeds is one of 
only thirteen local authorities to have been granted Earned Autonomy. 

2.10 Funding and audit arrangements have now been agreed with central government. 
It is important to note that the use of the term ‘autonomy’ is somewhat over-
generous as the scheme will continue to require considerable close performance 
management and audit of the implementation of the scheme.  

3 Main issues 

3.1 Leeds’ bid was based on the following plan for funding and change: 

a) Firstly enhancing our Early Help offer at a cluster level by strengthening our 
local partnerships with multi-disciplinary Hubs (Families First Hubs) in each 
of the three areas of the city, with investment in additional practitioners and 
expertise in key areas of need e.g. mental health and housing. 
Practitioners based in the hubs will have a range of knowledge and 
experience in key areas of need e.g. mental health, substance misuse, 
Domestic Violence. They will provide direct early help to children and 
families and will work with cluster partners to enhance confidence, 
knowledge and skills in key areas. This model builds on emerging national 
best practice in areas such as Hertfordshire.  

b) Secondly, innovation in key areas including work with adolescents, building 
on existing work with W Yorkshire Police and the Early Intervention 
Foundation. Existing provision will be re shaped and realigned to develop 
this service building on existing work with West Yorkshire Police, the Early 
Intervention foundation, health, education, social care and voluntary sector 
partners in Leeds. The model will apply learning from other successful 
approaches such as the North Yorkshire ‘No Wrong Door’ project 

c) Thirdly,  capacity building, including: 

Page 509



 

 

i. Roll out of the national qualification framework for Early Intervention, 
Troubled Families Core Cities management training, and the Leeds 
Practice Model which includes motivational interviewing, formulation 
and outcome based supervision. 

ii. Investment in intelligence, analysis, performance management and 
quality assurance. We will develop the use of predictive analysis and 
intelligent use of analytical data to develop a targeted and proactive 
approach to addressing needs and vulnerabilities. We will enhance 
and progress our top 100 methodology ensuring a targeted outcome 
focussed approach to delivering support services. This work will 
build on the lessons that have been learnt through Families First in 
Leeds and the success that we have had in this area. It will also 
build on a recent project undertaken by Social Finance to explore 
how existing data and management information systems in Leeds 
can be used to best effect to target support for children at risk of 
poor outcomes – such as exclusion from school. 

iii. Developing a stronger focus on the three As (attendance, attainment 
and achievement) and engagement with schools to achieve 
improved outcomes for children and young people. 

3.2 Since being awarded Earned Autonomy status Children and Families Directorate 
has been consulting with local partners at both a citywide and local 
neighbourhood level about how best to implement these new proposals, and how 
best to link the Earned Autonomy proposals with wider new ways of working in the 
city and local communities.  

3.3 It is important that Earned Autonomy plans are developed and implemented in 
such a way as to complement and coordinate with the extensive wider changes in 
services and practice across the city, including: the next steps for Clusters of 
schools and services; the development of Child and Family Health Hubs in the 
NHS; the development of Community Hubs in Citizens and Communities; Locality 
‘Core Groups’ and the West Yorkshire Police’s Early Intervention Strategy. 

3.4 New approaches are being  tested in ‘2Gether Cluster’ in the Inner North-East 
Leeds, bringing together all local agencies to trial novel approaches to further 
integration and joined up working. The findings from this ongoing work will inform 
the next steps of implementation for Earned Autonomy. 

3.5 These plans will be progressed through a multi-agency working group that will 
report into the Early Help Board (currently being established) and in turn the 
Children and Families Trust Board. The Early Help Board will be responsible for 
strategic leadership of the programme it will report to the Children and Family 
Trust Board and DHCLG.  The Early Help Board will have representation from a 
wide range of partners including:  

 LCC: Children and Families Services; Communities and Environment; Resources 
and Housing; Adults and Health 

 Clinical Commissioning Group 

Page 510



 

 

 West Yorkshire Police 
 Schools 
 Third Sector 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The plans for Earned Autonomy have been developed in partnership with a wide 
range of local partners, and formally supported by all leading public service 
organisations in the city. Further consultation will be undertaken in the next three 
months to inform implementation and ensure these proposals fit with the local 
needs and aims of neighbourhood level partnerships like clusters and NHS Health 
Hubs. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 As an important citywide initiative to support children and families this programme 
has important equalities and cohesion implications. Existing work has been 
underpinned by equalities monitoring but local partners agree that it is now timely 
to undertake a review to ensure that the revised programme under Earned 
Autonomy meets the Council’s full expectations. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 This report is primarily aligned to the ‘Child Friendly Leeds’ priority but, as 
previously mentioned, has an important role in supporting wider aims on 
worklessness, skills, health and wellbeing. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.2 The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) have 
announced funding of £2.7m p.a. for 2 financial-years (2018-19 & 2019-20); Total 
£5.4m. This new agreement under Earned Autonomy will bring additional funding 
to Leeds, as previous budgets were based on achieving a realistic 65% success 
rate for Payments By Results but Earned Autonomy will provide 100% PBR 
funding upfront. No decision has been made regarding funding for 2020-21 and 
beyond. As mentioned in 2.10 above, performance targets and audit requirements 
have been agreed with the MHCLG. 

4.4.3 Under the new Earned Autonomy agreement there are new spending 
commitments, outlined in 3.1 above that will need to be delivered. These can be 
managed within existing financial plans for the directorate.  

4.5 The Earned Autonomy proposals are a key element of ensuring sustainability for 
the child welfare system in Leeds. The proposals are designed to support 
continued partnership working and joint investment and to help reduce demand 
for costly specialist services and care over time.  

4.6 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

Page 511



 

 

4.6.1 No known issues. 

4.7 Risk Management 

4.7.1 The new programme will undertake a full risk analysis and a risk management 
plan will be a responsibility of the new Early Help Board. Risks will be assured by 
central government oversight and LCC corporate monitoring. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Leeds’ approach to joined up working with families has made a significant 
difference to local children and families – helping children engage with school and 
learn well, helping parents into work and helping to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in some of the more deprived neighbourhoods of the city. The success 
of Family First has led to continued recognition and praise from national 
government, and the award of Earned Autonomy status, which will enable the city 
to further accelerate the pace of change. 

5.2 Plans for Earned Autonomy are part of a wider strategy for Early Help for children 
and families, which in turn is part of a wider citywide transformation programme 
driving integration and localisation of services. It is important that these proposals 
are now progressed, ensuring at every stage that we are working with local 
children, families and partner organisations to build new ways of joint working and 
new restorative relationships across the city. 

5.3 These plans are vital to ensuring the child welfare system in Leeds is sustainable 
in the medium term and continues to provide good support to children and 
families. Demographic pressures and continued reductions in public service 
budgets mean that the status quo cannot continue and new ways of working 
together need to be found. These Earned Autonomy proposals, properly linked to 
wider change in other citywide and locality working, can help ensure that success 
can continue into the next decade.  

6 Recommendations 

6.1 The Board is recommended to: 

 Note and approve the plans for Earned Autonomy 

 Delegate responsibility for implementation to the Director of Children and Families 

 

7 Background documents1  

7.1 None 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 512



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children and Families Service area: Early Help 

 
Lead person: Julie Longworth 
 

Contact number: 0113 37 86386 
 

 
1. Title: Families First ‘Earned Autonomy’ – the plan to use new freedoms to transform 
early help services for children and families 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
This document is screening the EDCI implications of the proposed plans for use of 
Earned Autonomy funding to change and develop early help support for children and 
families. The main elements of this include: Early Help Hubs, new adolescent services 
and capacity building (workforce development, predictive analytics and performance 
management). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 513



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2

 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

X  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 

Page 514



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3

 
As mentioned in the Executive Board Report, existing work has considered equalities 
issues, principally ongoing local and national performance monitoring and evaluation of 
the ‘Troubled Families’ programme. 
 
In addition, Leeds has recently undertaken a comprehensive review of family support 
services. This was undertaken by the commissioning team and involved extensive data 
analysis, engagement with partners and consultation over six month of intensive work. 
This review has informed the recent recommissioning of family support services and has 
also influenced the development of plans for Earned Autonomy.  
 
Of course more work always needs to be done on this important issue so as such we will 
be undertaking more work as part of implementation and review of these new 
developments to more deeply understand the potential impacts of these new proposals.  
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

 Variability in the consistency and quality of equalities monitoring across providers 
 Issues with access to services for families with a child with SEND 

 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 Improve equalities monitoring across all LCC provided and commissioned services
 Develop and implement an initial equalities and cohesion plan to be included as 

part of implementation plan in Q3/4 2018/19 
 Ongoing evaluation and review of equalities and cohesion impacts during roll out 

of the Earned Autonomy plan – review in March 2019 and 2020. 
 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 

Page 515



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

4

Name Job title Date 
 
Lesley Wilkinson 

 
Programme Manager  

 
5th October 2018 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed  

 
Date sent to Equality Team 
 

 

Date published 
(To be completed by the Equality Team) 

 

 

Page 516



 

 

Report of the Director of Children & Families 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 17th October 2018 

Subject: Healthy Pupil Capital Programme (HPCP) 2018-19 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. Leeds City Council has been allocated £635,210 of capital grant funding for 2018-
19 only, for its community Local Authority schools. This funding has been generated 
from the Soft Drinks Industry Levy, and is to help pupils benefit from healthier, more 
active lifestyles. 
 

2. In addition, the Authority’s voluntary aided schools will be provided with capital 
grant funding of £129,850 for its 41 VA schools. 
 

3. The Local Authority grant is for distribution across 160 non-VA schools and 5 SILC 
settings. The terms of the grant funding suggest that schools can pool funding or 
take advantage of match-funding opportunities where appropriate, but schools are 
responsible for providing assurances on how their allocation has been spent. The 
VA schools grant will be spent in consultation with the local dioceses.  

Recommendations 

The Executive Board is required to: 
 

a. Approve the proposal to agree a model for allocation of the capital grant programme 
for community schools in Leeds in accordance with DfE requirements around the 
Healthy Pupil Capital Programme. 

 
b. Give approval to incur capital expenditure of £635,210 from the approved capital 

programme. 

 Report author:  Andrea Richardson 

Tel:  0113 3783634 

Page 517

Agenda Item 16



 

 

 
c. To note that the officer responsible for implementation is Head of Learning for Life 

by March 2019. 

Page 518



 

 

 
 
1 

 
Purpose of this report 

 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to identify an implementation plan for the capital grant 

programme for community and voluntary aided schools in Leeds in accordance with 
DfE requirements around the Healthy Pupil Capital Programme.  

 
2 Background information 

2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 

This capital funding scheme has been provided from the Soft Drinks Industry Levy for 
2018-19 only. Schools have been allocated £415 million nationally to help pupils 
benefit from healthier, more active lifestyles. The fund is intended to improve 
children’s and young people’s physical and mental health by improving and increasing 
availability to facilities for physical activity, healthy eating, mental health and wellbeing 
and medical conditions. 
 
Direct allocations for HPCF has been made to bodies responsible for individual 
institutions, for example academies, Multi-academy Trusts and local authorities. 
Single and small academy trusts and sixth-form colleges have had the opportunity to 
bid for HPCF through the Condition Improvement Fund in 2018-19. The bidding round 
ran from 19 October to 14 December 2017.  

Voluntary Aided (VA) schools are notionally assigned to their local authority which is 
responsible to coordinate the administration of their group funding allocation through 
the Locally Coordinated Voluntary Aided Programme (LCVAP) and will be spent in 
consultation with the local dioceses.  For Leeds £129,850 is allocated to 41 VA 
schools (39 primary and 2 secondary). 

Local authorities are responsible and receive funding for community, foundation and 
voluntary controlled schools.  Leeds City Council has been allocated £635,210 of 
capital grant funding for 2018-19 only.  The terms of the grant funding suggest that 
schools can pool funding or take advantage of match-funding opportunities where 
appropriate, but schools are responsible for providing assurances on how their 
allocation has been spent. The grant is to be for those activities, or similar, listed in 3.3 
and is not time bound. 
 
Leeds can flexibly distribute funding based on local priorities and need, but the 
funding must be passed to schools to be used as capital spend to improve children’s 
and young people’s physical and mental health by improving and increasing 
availability to facilities for physical activity, healthy eating, mental health and wellbeing 
and medical conditions. The local authority are required to consider any staffing and 
future maintenance costs of facilities and the number and characteristics of pupils 
who would benefit from the investment. Also guidance suggests that the following 
questions are considered: 
 

 What are your local priorities and needs for pupil health and wellbeing?  
 What existing facilities are there?  
 How will the HPCF be used to complement existing or new funding  

opportunities?  
 How will the investment be sustainable? 

Page 519



 

 

  
 
3     Main issues 

3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 
 

City priorities for health and wellbeing in Leeds are identified in The Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and Children and Young People Plan.  The key priority being to 
reduce health inequalities across the city. For our children and young people this is 
identified as enjoying healthy lifestyles, having fun growing up and being active 
citizens with voice and influence. Indicators for achieving this include increased 
consumption of fruit and vegetables, reduced consumption of sugary drinks and 
increased levels of physical activity. 
 
Although this is a small capital granting process potentially accessible to a large 
number of schools, the capacity and impact to promote Leeds city health and 
wellbeing priorities is high.  
 
Possible Funding Categories identified to support Leeds Health and Wellbeing 
Plan:  
 
Creation or renovation of e.g. : Garden spaces for growing produce, improvements 
to facilities, such as floodlighting, security fencing, pitch drainage  
 
Provision of equipment, such as:  Permanent goalposts (£500), Defibrillators 
(£1,200). 
 
Examples of smaller scale expenditure are included below, these may be of 
particular relevance to recipients of smaller grant amounts.  
• Water fountains (£400 to £500 plus ongoing maintenance costs)  
• Playground markings to facilitate active play  
• Cooking equipment such as table-top hobs and food processors (£1000)  
• Gardening planters and equipment (£1000 to £2,500)  
• Fixed sports equipment, such as wall-mounted basketball boards (£1,500)  
 
Projects not consistent with the intended use of the HPCF: 

 Operational costs, including hiring or leasing of facilities  
 Viewing stands  
 Car parks, roads or landscaping  
 Bars, sleeping accommodation, offices or other parts of a project that have little 

or no health and wellbeing content  
 Projects (or elements of projects) where work has already been completed.  
 The repayment of loans  
 The purchase of land or buildings  

 
Pooling and match-funding  
HPCF will be paid directly to the local authority for community, foundation and 
voluntary controlled schools. Schools bids will be encouraged and if they use match-
funding opportunities or pooling of budgets across schools, clusters or other funding 
streams.  
 
Accountability and reporting  
HPCF will be paid under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003 - it is ring-
fenced and not time-bound, it is for capital expenditure only. The local authority will be 

Page 520



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

required to report on how they have spent their HPCF in the same way they report on, 
and alongside, their School Condition Allocation. 
 
Options for allocation 
 
A number of views have been sought from colleagues in Public Health; school head 
teachers; Active Leeds colleagues; Health and Wellbeing Service; Active Schools 
Service; Finance; Elected members. Communication with other local authorities has 
identified a range of approaches from: 
 

 One large capital project;   
 School kitchen projects;  
 A limited grant allocation process with a level of school match funding;  
 Targeting to areas of deprivation and low take up of UFSM offer; 
 Per pupil allocation.  

 
In consideration of our local priorities  the following two strand approach is 
recommended: 
 

 A universal offer for all 160 eligible schools plus the 5 SILC settings. This 
ensures some benefit for every child to have an active and healthy lifestyle. It is 
easily administrated across the eligible 160 primary, secondary schools and the 
5 SILCs. An allocation of £1000 for 146 primary and £2000 for 14 secondary 
schools and £2000 for each SILC equates to £184k; 

 

 A granting process to allocate £306k through bids up to £20k, open to the 32 
schools identified in the health inequality index as Band 1 and Band 1 * schools 
(this is used and recognised by school city wide through the Health and 
Wellbeing Service offer). See Appendix A.  

 
 
 
3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
3.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bids will be invited around the following: 

 Creation or renovation of:  
• Spaces for mental health support  
• Garden spaces for growing produce  
• Playgrounds and active play spaces, such as resurfacing, climbing walls or 
multi-use sports panels  

 
Provision of equipment, such as:  

• Permanent goalposts  
• Outdoor table tennis tables  
• Gym equipment  
• Bike stands  
• Water fountains  
• Playground markings to facilitate active play  
• Cooking equipment including table-top hobs and food processors  
• Gardening planters and equipment   
• Fixed sports equipment, such as wall-mounted basketball boards  
• Fixed sports equipment, such as wall-mounted basketball boards  

Page 521



 

 

 
4.0 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 
5 
 
5.1 
 
 
 
 

Corporate Considerations 

      Consultation and Engagement  

A range of views have been sought from Public Health; school head teachers; 
Active Leeds; Health and Wellbeing Service; Finance; Elected Members. Also 
communication with other local authorities has identified a diverse range of 
approaches from one large capital project, to a universal, per pupil allocation. 

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

An impact assessment screening has been undertaken and is attached. 

Council policies and best council plan 

This capital grant programme has the ability to have an impact on every child in 
the city, with a targeted approach on health inequalities. This meets the Best City 
Plan priorities of improving the health of the poorest, fastest and supporting 
healthy physically active lifestyles. 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Leeds in terms of supporting measures to 
reduce childhood obesity and the promotion of mental health and emotional 
wellbeing. It is also supportive of the Childrens and Young Peoples Plan priorities 
of children and young people benefitting from healthy lifestyles, that they have fun 
growing up and who are active citizens who have a voice and influence. 

 
Resources and value for money  

Allocations for HPCF are published on gov.uk alongside the School Condition 
Allocation (SCA) allocations and is paid under the Section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003, and is for capital expenditure only. The value of the capital 
grant being provided to Leeds in 2018/19 is £635,210, and is not time bound. The 
local authority is required to report on how we have spent the HPCF alongside 
the reporting of the SCA.  

 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Risk Management 

Budget management and allocation is to be managed within the Health and 
Wellbeing Service, reporting into  the Good Learning Places Board and Children 
& Families Asset Management Board where required. 

Conclusions 

Leeds has been allocated £635,210k capital funding scheme from the Soft Drinks 
Industry Levy for 2018-19 only. This is to help pupils benefit from healthier, more 
active lifestyles. 

Page 522



 

 

 
 
5.2 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
6. 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. 

 

Voluntary aided schools are notionally assigned to their local authority. For Leeds 
£129,850 is allocated to 41 VA schools.  

The grant is for the local authority to distribute across 160 non-VA schools and 5 
SILC settings. The terms of the grant funding suggest that schools can pool 
funding or take advantage of match-funding opportunities where appropriate, but 
schools are responsible for providing assurances on how their allocation has been 
spent.  

Recommendation  

The Executive Board is requested to: 
 

a) Approve the proposed model for allocation of the HPCF capital grant for 
community schools in Leeds in accordance with DfE requirements around the 
Healthy Pupil Capital Programme. 

b) Give approval to incur capital expenditure of £635,210 from the approved 
capital programme. 

c) To note that the officer responsible for implementation is Head of Learning for 
Life by March 2019. 

Background documents1  

 
7.1 None 
 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 523



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthy Children - Capital Funding from Sugar Tax

Funding Allocation

Cost 
Centre LAESTAB School Name Band Total Primary Total 

Secondary Grand Total
£1,000 to each primary & 
£2,000 to each secondary 

school

Schools funded from money allocated directly to dioceses
1 56254 3833902 Adel St John the Baptist Church of England Primary School 208 0 208
2 56347 3833909 All Saint's Richmond Hill Church of England Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 215 0 215
3 56447 3833913 Beeston Hill St Luke's Church of England Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 335 0 335
4 56549 3833054 Bramley St Peter's Church of England Primary School 360 0 360
5 56179 3833915 Brodetsky Primary School 260 0 260
6 56546 3833046 Calverley Church of England Voluntary Aided Primary School 389 0 389
7 56149 3833357 Collingham Lady Elizabeth Hastings' Church of England Primary School 207 0 207
8 56249 3833903 Cookridge Holy Trinity Church of England Primary School 417 0 417
9 56395 3834752 Corpus Christi Catholic College Band 1/ Band 1* 0 958 958

10 56366 3833370 Corpus Christi Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 314 0 314
11 56248 3833351 Hawksworth Church of England Primary School 103 0 103
12 56567 3833372 Holy Family Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 201 0 201
13 56166 3833383 Holy Rosary and St Anne's Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 209 0 209
14 56448 3833914 Hunslet St Mary's Church of England Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 237 0 237
15 56167 3833381 Immaculate Heart of Mary Catholic Primary School 445 0 445
16 56259 3833904 Kirkstall St Stephen's Church of England Primary School 201 0 201
17 56350 3835200 Lady E Hastings CofE Primary School 129 0 129
18 56150 3833356 Lady Elizabeth Hastings' CofE VA Primary School, Thorp Arch 137 0 137
19 56250 3833907 Meanwood Church of England Primary School 218 0 218
20 56396 3834753 Mount St Mary's Catholic High School Band 1/ Band 1* 0 914 914
21 56367 3833376 Our Lady of Good Counsel Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 208 0 208
22 56470 3833364 Rothwell St Mary's RC Primary School 211 0 211
23 56152 3833329 Roundhay St John's Church of England Primary School 212 0 212
24 56267 3833377 Sacred Heart Catholic Primary School 186 0 186
25 56466 3833367 St Anthony's Catholic Primary School, Beeston 210 0 210
26 56368 3833368 St Augustine's Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 417 0 417
27 56168 3833358 St Edward's Catholic Primary School, Boston Spa 152 0 152
28 56467 3833362 St Francis Catholic Primary School, Morley 190 0 190
29 56468 3833371 St Francis of Assisi Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 207 0 207
30 56469 3833374 St Joseph's Catholic Primary School, Hunslet Band 1/ Band 1* 204 0 204
31 56169 3833366 St Joseph's Catholic Primary School, Wetherby 206 0 206
32 56153 3833908 St Matthew's Church of England Aided Primary School 408 0 408
33 56372 3833375 St Nicholas Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 293 0 293
34 56258 3833350 St Oswald's Church of England Primary School 412 0 412
35 56373 3833382 St Patrick Catholic Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 212 0 212
36 56170 3833378 St Paul's Catholic Primary School 209 0 209
37 56354 3833911 St Peter's Church of England Primary School, Leeds Band 1/ Band 1* 210 0 210
38 56471 3833379 St Philip's Catholic Primary and Nursery School Band 1/ Band 1* 240 0 240
39 56374 3833385 St Theresa's Catholic Primary School 426 0 426
40 56271 3833373 St Urban's Catholic Primary School 210 0 210
41 56353 3833912 Whinmoor St Paul's Church of England Primary School 199 0 199

Total 144,277.39                      Allocated Separately 

No of Pupils - Oct 17 School Census

P
age 525



Funding Allocation

Cost 
Centre LAESTAB School Name Band Total Primary Total 

Secondary Grand Total
£1,000 to each primary & 
£2,000 to each secondary 

school

No of Pupils - Oct 17 School Census

Schools eligible for general funding allocation
1 56346 3833030 Aberford Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 99 0 99 1,000
2 56200 3832416 Adel Primary School 209 0 209 1,000
3 56155 3833931 Allerton CofE Primary School 497 0 497 1,000
4 56181 3834032 Allerton High School 0 1,065 1,065 2,000
5 56100 3832436 Alwoodley Primary School 423 0 423 1,000
6 56501 3832484 Armley Primary School 177 0 177 1,000
7 56201 3832401 Ashfield Primary School 216 0 216 1,000
8 56444 3832512 Asquith Primary School 359 0 359 1,000
9 56303 3832463 Austhorpe Primary School 207 0 207 1,000

10 56102 3832385 Bardsey Primary School 182 0 182 1,000
11 56348 3833033 Barwick-in-Elmet Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 195 0 195 1,000
12 56203 3832407 Beecroft Primary School 272 0 272 1,000
13 56400 3832470 Beeston Primary School 605 0 605 1,000
14 56280 3834106 Benton Park School 0 1,133 1,133 2,000
15 56401 3832369 Birchfield Primary School 209 0 209 1,000
16 56451 3833918 Blackgates Primary School 372 0 372 1,000
17 56205 3832408 Blenheim Primary School 413 0 413 1,000
18 56182 3834114 Boston Spa School 0 689 689 2,000
19 56206 3832406 Bramhope Primary School 278 0 278 1,000
20 56503 3832485 Bramley Primary School 301 0 301 1,000
21 56207 3832398 Broadgate Primary School 295 0 295 1,000
22 56208 3832409 Brudenell Primary School 275 0 275 1,000
23 56256 3833052 Burley St Matthias Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 195 0 195 1,000
24 56514 3832301 Calverley Parkside Primary School 208 0 208 1,000
25 56404 3832308 Carlton Primary School 315 0 315 1,000
26 56184 3834041 Carr Manor Community School, Specialist Sports College 306 912 1,218 2,000
27 56106 3832437 Carr Manor Primary School 468 0 468 1,000
28 56107 3832427 Chapel Allerton Primary School 446 0 446 1,000
29 56547 3833055 Christ Church Upper Armley Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 190 0 190 1,000
30 56405 3832286 Churwell Primary School 421 0 421 1,000
31 56406 3832482 Clapgate Primary School 384 0 384 1,000
32 56505 3832487 Cobden Primary School 205 0 205 1,000
33 56306 3832453 Colton Primary School 212 0 212 1,000
34 56210 3832418 Cookridge Primary School 312 0 312 1,000
35 56307 3832458 Cross Gates Primary School 206 0 206 1,000
36 56123 3832347 Crossley Street Primary School 211 0 211 1,000
37 56109 3832400 Deighton Gates Primary School 205 0 205 1,000
38 56452 3833921 Drighlington Primary School 397 0 397 1,000
39 56533 3832505 Farsley Farfield Primary School 419 0 419 1,000
40 56521 3832338 Farsley Springbank Primary School 416 0 416 1,000
41 56310 3832469 Fieldhead Carr Primary School 212 0 212 1,000
42 56526 3832492 Five Lanes Primary School 422 0 422 1,000
43 56455 3833926 Fountain Primary School 405 0 405 1,000
44 56415 3832336 Gildersome Primary School 393 0 393 1,000
45 56111 3832428 Gledhow Primary School 509 0 509 1,000
46 56344 3833925 Great Preston VC CofE Primary School 204 0 204 1,000

P
age 526



Funding Allocation

Cost 
Centre LAESTAB School Name Band Total Primary Total 

Secondary Grand Total
£1,000 to each primary & 
£2,000 to each secondary 

school

No of Pupils - Oct 17 School Census

47 56416 3832473 Greenmount Primary School 422 0 422 1,000
48 56509 3832303 Greenside Primary School 315 0 315 1,000
49 56212 3832270 Guiseley Primary School 375 0 375 1,000
50 56282 3834108 Guiseley School 0 1,177 1,177 2,000
51 56148 3833037 Harewood Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 105 0 105 1,000
52 56213 3832417 Hawksworth Wood Primary School 274 0 274 1,000
53 56113 3832438 Highfield Primary School 449 0 449 1,000
54 56211 3832283 Horsforth Featherbank Primary School 211 0 211 1,000
55 56221 3832363 Horsforth Newlaithes Primary School 422 0 422 1,000
56 56420 3832483 Hugh Gaitskell Primary School 561 0 561 1,000
57 56215 3832420 Ireland Wood Primary School 410 0 410 1,000
58 56216 3832410 Iveson Primary School 303 0 303 1,000
59 56115 3832434 Kerr Mackie Primary School 423 0 423 1,000
60 56217 3832411 Kirkstall Valley Primary School 208 0 208 1,000
61 56512 3832497 Lawns Park Primary School 211 0 211 1,000
62 56284 3834006 Lawnswood School 0 966 966 2,000
63 56510 3832496 Lower Wortley Primary School 314 0 314 1,000
64 56511 3832365 Lowtown Primary School 211 0 211 1,000
65 56323 3832464 Manston Primary School 210 0 210 1,000
66 56453 3833916 Methley Primary School 414 0 414 1,000
67 56351 3833040 Micklefield Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 102 0 102 1,000
68 56118 3832439 Moor Allerton Hall Primary School 445 0 445 1,000
69 56119 3832440 Moortown Primary School 213 0 213 1,000
70 56429 3832382 Morley Victoria Primary School 417 0 417 1,000
71 56324 3832397 Ninelands Primary School 412 0 412 1,000
72 56262 3832513 Otley All Saints CofE Primary School 216 0 216 1,000
73 56229 3832405 Otley the Whartons Primary School 190 0 190 1,000
74 56431 3832327 Oulton Primary School 365 0 365 1,000
75 56513 3832488 Park Spring Primary School 360 0 360 1,000
76 56251 3833051 Pool-in-Wharfedale Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 205 0 205 1,000
77 56103 3832389 Primrose Lane Primary School 208 0 208 1,000
78 56502 3832331 Pudsey Bolton Royd Primary School 417 0 417 1,000
79 56583 3834102 Pudsey Grangefield School 0 987 987 2,000
80 56222 3832413 Quarry Mount Primary School 209 0 209 1,000
81 56223 3832356 Queensway Primary School 182 0 182 1,000
82 56286 3834062 Ralph Thoresby School 0 831 831 2,000
83 56219 3832271 Rawdon Littlemoor Primary School 316 0 316 1,000
84 56252 3833031 Rawdon St Peter's Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 304 0 304 1,000
85 56516 3832489 Raynville Primary School 403 0 403 1,000
86 56432 3832309 Robin Hood Primary School 381 0 381 1,000
87 56224 3832415 Rosebank Primary School 295 0 295 1,000
88 56418 3832313 Rothwell Haigh Road Infant School 133 0 133 1,000
89 56433 3832506 Rothwell Primary School 311 0 311 1,000
90 56185 3834063 Roundhay School 427 1,312 1,739 2,000
91 56487 3834104 Royds School 0 878 878 2,000
92 56239 3832002 Rufford Park Primary School 273 0 273 1,000
93 56329 3832275 Scholes (Elmet) Primary School 300 0 300 1,000

P
age 527



Funding Allocation

Cost 
Centre LAESTAB School Name Band Total Primary Total 

Secondary Grand Total
£1,000 to each primary & 
£2,000 to each secondary 

school

No of Pupils - Oct 17 School Census

94 56436 3832293 Seven Hills Primary School 411 0 411 1,000
95 56121 3832441 Shadwell Primary School 210 0 210 1,000
96 56442 3832510 Sharp Lane Primary School 530 0 530 1,000
97 56240 3833929 Shire Oak VC Primary School 207 0 207 1,000
98 56520 3832335 Southroyd Primary and Nursery School 415 0 415 1,000
99 56228 3832414 Spring Bank Primary School 208 0 208 1,000

100 56151 3833045 St James' Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 77 0 77 1,000
101 56261 3833038 St Margaret's Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 426 0 426 1,000
102 56147 3833047 St Mary's Church of England Controlled Primary School Boston Spa 131 0 131 1,000
103 56522 3832490 Stanningley Primary School 208 0 208 1,000
104 56343 3833917 Strawberry Fields Primary School 310 0 310 1,000
105 56523 3832491 Summerfield Primary School 200 0 200 1,000
106 56332 3832468 Swarcliffe Primary School 306 0 306 1,000
107 56524 3832503 Swinnow Primary School 212 0 212 1,000
108 56122 3832432 Talbot Primary School 451 0 451 1,000
109 56387 3834046 Temple Moor High School Science College 0 1,135 1,135 2,000
110 56319 3832465 Templenewsam Halton Primary School 417 0 417 1,000
111 56154 3833044 Thorner Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School 192 0 192 1,000
112 56437 3832312 Thorpe Primary School 233 0 233 1,000
113 56231 3832348 Tranmere Park Primary School 355 0 355 1,000
114 56540 3833928 Valley View Community Primary School 427 0 427 1,000
115 56232 3832421 Weetwood Primary School 211 0 211 1,000
116 56233 3832334 West End Primary School 241 0 241 1,000
117 56234 3832364 Westbrook Lane Primary School 216 0 216 1,000
118 56237 3832403 Westgate Primary School 210 0 210 1,000
119 56529 3832302 Westroyd Primary School and Nursery 139 0 139 1,000
120 56186 3834111 Wetherby High School 0 547 547 2,000
121 56530 3832493 Whingate Primary School 408 0 408 1,000
122 56336 3832456 White Laith Primary School 212 0 212 1,000
123 56531 3832494 Whitecote Primary School 371 0 371 1,000
124 56338 3832466 Whitkirk Primary School 412 0 412 1,000
125 56124 3832390 Wigton Moor Primary School 444 0 444 1,000
126 56441 3832314 Woodlesford Primary School 417 0 417 1,000
127 56235 3832358 Yeadon Westfield Infant School 174 0 174 1,000
128 56236 3832324 Yeadon Westfield Junior School 228 0 228 1,000

Total 140,000
Schools eligible for general funding and to apply for additonal money

1 56180 3834040 Allerton Grange School Band 1/ Band 1* 0 1,244 1,244 2,000
2 56101 3832425 Bankside Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 629 0 629 1,000
3 56304 3832444 Beechwood Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 419 0 419 1,000
4 56104 3832433 Bracken Edge Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 488 0 488 1,000
5 56105 3832329 Bramham Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 147 0 147 1,000
6 56195 3834751 Cardinal Heenan Catholic High School Band 1/ Band 1* 0 898 898 2,000
7 56504 3832486 Castleton Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 253 0 253 1,000
8 56314 3832447 Grange Farm Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 410 0 410 1,000
9 56508 3832499 Greenhill Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 400 0 400 1,000

10 56318 3832448 Grimes Dyke Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 255 0 255 1,000

P
age 528



Funding Allocation

Cost 
Centre LAESTAB School Name Band Total Primary Total 

Secondary Grand Total
£1,000 to each primary & 
£2,000 to each secondary 

school

No of Pupils - Oct 17 School Census

11 56112 3832449 Harehills Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 636 0 636 1,000
12 56535 3833922 Hollybush Primary Band 1/ Band 1* 453 0 453 1,000
13 56320 3832450 Hovingham Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 706 0 706 1,000
14 56421 3832474 Hunslet Carr Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 389 0 389 1,000
15 56422 3832475 Hunslet Moor Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 316 0 316 1,000
16 56423 3832476 Ingram Road Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 319 0 319 1,000
17 56456 3832000 Lane End Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 268 0 268 1,000
18 56218 3832412 Little London Community Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 581 0 581 1,000
19 56425 3832481 Low Road Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 144 0 144 1,000
20 56342 3833923 Meadowfield Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 407 0 407 1,000
21 56428 3832477 Middleton Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 431 0 431 1,000
22 56449 3833053 Middleton St Mary's Church of England Voluntary Controlled Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 404 0 404 1,000
23 56125 3833930 Mill Field Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 393 0 393 1,000
24 56327 3832467 Parklands Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 320 0 320 1,000
25 56330 3832452 Seacroft Grange Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 208 0 208 1,000
26 56331 3832462 Shakespeare Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 380 0 380 1,000
27 56548 3833056 St Bartholomew's CofE Voluntary Controlled Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 646 0 646 1,000
28 56454 3833927 The New Bewerley Community Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 409 0 409 1,000
29 56434 3832342 Victoria Junior School Band 1/ Band 1* 165 0 165 1,000
30 56439 3832478 Westwood Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 283 0 283 1,000
31 56440 3832471 Windmill Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 429 0 429 1,000
32 56339 3832457 Wykebeck Primary School Band 1/ Band 1* 404 0 404 1,000

Total 34,000                             

Funding Available 635,000.00                      
Dioceses Funding 144,277.39                      
Funding Allocated to Schools Outside Band 1 140,000.00                      
Funding Allocated to Schools Band 1/Band 1* 34,000.00                        
Remaining  Funding 316,722.61                      

P
age 529



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 1

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment. 
 
This form: 

 can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment 
 should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion 

of the assessment 
 should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable  

 
Directorate: Children and Families Service area: Health and Wellbeing 
Lead person: Saira Mumtaz 
 

Contact number: 3784500 

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:  
30/06/2018 
 
 
1. Title:  Allocation of Healthy Pupil Capital Programme (HPCP) 2018-19 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy /Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify direct allocation from DfE under Section 31 of Local 
Government Act 
 
 
 
2.  Members of the assessment team:    
Name Organisation Role on assessment team  

e.g. service user, manager of service, 
specialist 

Saira Mumtaz Health and Wellbeing Manager of service 
Andrea Richardson Learning for Life Head of service 
Sally Lowe Learning Systems Built Environment Lead 
   
   
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Impact Assessment 

 

  x 

Page 531



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 2

 
 
3.  Summary of strategy, policy, service or function that was assessed:   
 
 
The model for allocation of the capital grant programme for community and voluntary aided 
schools in Leeds in accordance with DfE requirements around the Healthy Child Capital 
Programme 

 
 
4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment  
(complete - 4a. if you are assessing a strategy, policy or plan and 4b. if you are assessing 
a service, function or event) 
 
4a.  Strategy, policy or plan   
(please tick the appropriate box below) 
 
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes 
 

            

 
The vision and themes, objectives or outcomes and the supporting 
guidance 
 

 

 
A specific section within the strategy, policy or plan 
 

 

This capital funding scheme has been provided from the Soft Drinks Industry Levy for 
2018-19 only. The fund is intended to improve children’s and young people’s physical and 
mental health by improving and increasing availability to facilities for physical activity, 
healthy eating, mental health and wellbeing and medical conditions. 

 
Local authorities are responsible and receive funding for community, foundation and 
voluntary controlled schools. Voluntary aided schools are notionally assigned to their local 
authority. The local authority is required to coordinate the administration of their group 
funding allocation through the Locally Coordinated Voluntary Aided Programme (LCVAP). 
Responsible bodies will be required to report on how they have spent their HPC.  
 
As part of this fund Leeds has been allocated £635,000 for distribution across 209 
maintained/voluntary aided schools/settings. The terms of the grant funding suggest that 
schools can pool funding or take advantage of match-funding opportunities where 
appropriate, but are responsible for providing assurances on how their allocation has been 
spent.  
 
Leeds can flexibility  distribute funding based on local priorities and need, but the funding 
must be used to improve children’s and young people’s physical and mental health by 
improving and increasing availability to facilities for physical activity, healthy eating, 
mental health and wellbeing and medical conditions. We are required to consider any 
staffing and future maintenance costs of facilities and the number and characteristics of 
pupils who would benefit from the investment. Also guidance suggests that the following 
questions are considered: 
 

 

 

x 

Page 532



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 3

 What are your local priorities and needs for pupil health and wellbeing?  
 What existing facilities are there?  
 How will the HPCF be used to complement existing or new funding opportunities?  
 How will the investment be sustainable? 

 
 
4b. Service, function, event 
please tick the appropriate box below 
 
The whole service  
(including service provision and employment) 

            

 
A specific part of the service  
(including service provision or employment or a specific section of 
the service) 

 

Procuring of a service 
(by contract or grant) 
 

 

 
In consideration of our local priorities  the following two strand approach is to be 
implemented: 
 

 A universal offer for all eligible schools dependant on number of pupils on roll that 
ensures some benefit for every child to have an active and healthy lifestyle. For 
ease of administration and delivery and ensure a universal entitlement for every 
child; 

 
 A grant allocation process open for schools to bid into in areas of highest 

deprivation, ie the 76 schools in the areas with greatest health inequality. 
 
 
5. Fact finding – what do we already know 
Make a note here of all information you will be using to carry out this assessment.  This 
could include: previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception 
surveys, equality monitoring and customer/ staff feedback.  
 
(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information) 

A range of views have been sought from Public Health; school head teachers; Active 
Leeds; Health and Wellbeing Service; Finance; Elected member. Also communication 
with other local authorities has identified a diverse range of approaches from one large 
capital project, to a universal, per pupil allocation. 

The list of schools eligible for the bidding process is based on IMD data of health 
inequality across the city. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 533



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 4

Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information 
Please provide detail:  

None 

 
 
Action required:  
 
 
 
 
6.  Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to 
be affected or interested  
 
          Yes                                   No 
 
Please provide detail:  
 
 
A range of views have been sought from Public Health; school head teachers; Active 
Leeds; Health and Wellbeing Service; Finance; Elected member. Also communication with 
other local authorities has identified a diverse range of approaches from one large capital 
project, to a universal, per pupil allocation. 
 
 
Action required:  
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.  Who may be affected by this activity?   
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers 
that apply to your strategy, policy, service or function  
 
Equality characteristics 
 
            
                  Age                                                  Carers                               Disability         
             
 
               Gender reassignment                   Race                                Religion  
                                                                                                                      or Belief 
 
                 Sex   (male or female)                     Sexual orientation  
 
 
                 Other   

X  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 534



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 5

                 
(Other can include – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, and those 
areas that impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-
being) 
Please specify: 
 
 
Stakeholders 
 
                   
                  Services users                                  Employees                    Trade Unions 
 
 
                 Partners                                          Members                          Suppliers 
           
 
                 Other please specify schools 
 
Potential barriers.                 
 
 
                    Built environment                                 Location of premises and services 
 
     
                     Information                                           Customer care         
                     and communication 
      
                     Timing                                             Stereotypes and assumptions   
              
 
                     Cost                                                       Consultation and involvement 
 
 
                     Financial exclusion                              Employment and training 
 
 
                  specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function 
 
Please specify 
 
                       
 
 
8.  Positive and negative impact   
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential 
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the 
barriers 
8a. Positive impact: 

x 

x 

x 

  

x 

 
x

x 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

Page 535



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 6

 

Action  required: 

 

 
8b. Negative impact: 

 
 

Action  required: 

 
. 

 
 
 
 
9.  Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the 
groups/communities identified? 
 
                 
                   Yes                                                  No 
 
Please provide detail: 
 
 
Action required:  
 
 
 
 
 
10.  Does this activity bring groups/communities into increased contact with each 
other? (e.g. in schools, neighbourhood, workplace) 
 
        
                   Yes                                                  No   
 
 
Please provide detail: 

  

 x 

Page 536



EDCI impact assessment                                                                       Template updated January 2014 7

 
Families with children under 5 will  have increased opportunities to interact with each other 
in the immediate Cottingley area 
 
Action required:  
 
 
 
 
11.  Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of 
another? (e.g. where your activity/decision is aimed at adults could it have an impact on 
children and young people) 
 
                   Yes                                                  No 
 
 
Please provide detail: 
 
   Particular areas of the city          
 
 
Action required:   
None 
 
 
 

 x 

Page 537



 

 8 

 
12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan 
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action) 
 
Action 
 

Timescale Measure Lead person 

    
    
    

P
age 538



 

 9

13. Governance, ownership and approval 
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration impact assessment 
Name Job Title Date 
 
 

  

Date impact assessment completed 
 

 

 
14.  Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
actions  (please tick) 
 
            As part of Service Planning performance monitoring 
 
  
                  As part of Project monitoring 
 
                  Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board 
                  Please specify which board 
 
             
                  Other (please specify) 
 
 
15. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality impact assessment should be attached as an appendix to the 
decision making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality impact assessments that are not to be published 
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
assessment was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 539



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report author: Geoff Turnbull 

Tel: 0113 3789044 

 
Report of the Director of Communities and Environment 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 17th October 2018 

Subject: International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance Definition on Antisemitism 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  

Appendix number:  

 
Summary of main issues –  

1. Antisemitism, alongside Islamophobia, racism, homophobia and other forms of 
discrimination, remains a significant national challenge, impacting upon cities and 
towns across the UK and our communities here in Leeds. 

2. The issue has sadly increased in prominence again over the last few years.  Whilst 
numbers of serious recorded incidents remain low, national reports point to a general 
rise in ‘casual’ antisemitism.  There have been a number of widely publicised incidents 
of antisemitic graffiti on religious buildings over the last few years; most recently in 
Leeds, Nazi symbols were daubed at the entrance to the Harrogate Road Synagogue.   

3. The council, through its work on the equality, diversity, inclusion and the cohesion 
agenda is working to eradicate all forms of discrimination.  Adopting the International 
Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) definition on antisemitism is one important 
element in a much wider programme of work to do this.  

Recommendations 

Executive Board is recommended to: 

1. Adopt the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance Working Definition on 
antisemitism for use across the council.  

2. Note that the Director of Communities and Environment will be responsible for its 
implementation.   

Page 541

Agenda Item 17



 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report provides the context for recommending the council adopts the 
International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance’s working definition on antisemitism.  
It presents an overview of the Jewish community in Leeds and explains some of its 
significant contributions to the city.  It also defines ‘hate crime’ and the latest picture 
in Leeds and includes the full IHRA definition on antisemitism with the IHRA’s 
accompanying examples.   

2. Background information 

2.1 Leeds is a growing and richly diverse city, with people of different ages and from 
many different backgrounds, cultures and beliefs living and working alongside each 
other.  The council plays an important role, working with partners across all sectors, 
in supporting people and communities from these different backgrounds and of 
different ages to feel comfortable living together.  We welcome all communities in 
Leeds and value the contributions that our citizens make to our city.   

The Jewish community in Leeds 

2.2 The Jewish community in Leeds came to the city in large numbers in the later part 
of the 19th century and early years of the 20th.  It reached a high of approximately 
20,000 in the post-war years though, like many communities outside of London and 
Manchester, numbers have since declined. Traditional industries reduced in size 
after the war, with some facilities considered essential for Jewish life such as a 
Jewish education, not available in the city.  For many smaller communities held 
together via cultural and religious observance, the attraction of moving to a larger 
city such as London or Manchester with a wider range of opportunities to live a 
‘Jewish’ life proved compelling.  

2.3 The community today numbers almost 7,000 based on the 2011 Census in which 
0.9% of the Leeds populated identified as Jewish (compared to 0.5% of people 
across England and Wales).  However, this is widely believed to be something of an 
underestimate as completion of the question, ‘What is your religion?’ was the only 
voluntary question on 2011’s Census.  Many Jews who do not observe/are secular 
may not answer this question and there are also historical reasons why Jewish 
people may be reticent to disclose religion on public surveys, including ongoing 
antisemitism and the legacy of the Shoah1. 

2.4 The Leeds Jewish community is mostly based in North Leeds with the majority living 
in Alwoodley, Moortown, Roundhay and Chapel Allerton, with the neighbouring 
Harrogate community continuing to grow.  There are three main Orthodox 
Synagogues, located on Harrogate Road (Etz Chaim), Street Lane (Beth Hamidrash 
Hagadol), Shadwell Lane (United Hebrew Congregation) and one Reform 
Synagogue on Roman Avenue in Roundhay. 

2.5 The community has significant and well developed communal organisations such as 
the Jewish Representative Council, the Marjorie and Arnold Ziff Community Centre, 
the Jewish Housing Association, Jewish Welfare Board and Donisthorpe Hall, as 
well as the Jewish Free School. 

                                            
1 The Hebrew term for the Holocaust.   

Page 542



 

2.6 The Jewish community has taken a strong role and lead in interfaith work over 
many years.  The Jewish Representative Council provides an effective 
representative voice which engages with the other faith communities within the city.  
The current interfaith lead for the Council is Simon Phillips who is also a Hub 
Representative for Leeds City Council’s Religion or Belief Hub. The Hub was 
launched in 2016 and acts as a consultation and engagement forum with members 
of faith, religion or belief communities.  It aims to provide a platform for members of 
these communities to provide constructive challenge to the local authority and other 
organisations in how they consider religion or belief around the planning and 
delivery of their services.  The Jewish community have been strong supporters of 
the Hub since its inception.   

2.7 The work of the Nisa-Nashim organisation is one example of an interfaith initiative 
which has proved extremely successful.  The Leeds branch of this Muslim-Jewish 
women’s network - which seeks to bring Muslim and Jewish communities closer 
together through its women - launched at the Shine Centre in Harehills in 2016.  It 
has since undertaken work which has received national recognition from the Board 
of Deputies of British Jews and the Jewish Leadership Council.     

2.8 The Representative Council has also been working with the Sikh community 
through the Chapeltown Gurdwara.  

2.9 The issue of genocide commemoration – specifically the Shoah or Holocaust – 
remains a very important issue for the Jewish community in Leeds.  The community 
is prominent in its support for the city’s Holocaust Memorial Day celebration which 
takes place each year in January, one of a number of events that take place in 
towns and cities across the country.  In Leeds, the council has a long-standing 
relationship with the Holocaust Memorial Day Trust – a charity set up and funded by 
the Government - and works to its guidance.   

Hate crime 

2.10 The council works with all communities to ensure people are treated with dignity 
and respect and the causes of unfairness are understood and addressed.  We also 
work with organisations across Leeds to promote a clear and consistent message 
that prejudicial views or behaviour that could result in hate incidents or crimes are 
not tolerated or condoned.  

2.11 A hate crime is defined as a crime which is committed against someone due to their 
race, religion, gender, sexual orientation, age or disability.  Tackling hate crime – 
which includes antisemitism - is important for the city, not just because of the 
devastating consequences it can have for victims and their families, but also 
because it can divide communities. 

2.12 2,432 incidents were reported across the city in the 12 months to March 2018, up by 
11% on the year before (2,192 incidents reported) but considerably lower than the 
rate of increase of 27% two years ago.  During 2017/18, Police in Leeds recorded 
1,892 Race hate incidents, 280 Sexuality hate incidents, 258 Disability hate 
incidents, 168 Faith hate incidents, and 51 Transphobic hate incidents (NB a single 
incident may be recorded in more than one category).  In March 2018, 257 hate 
incidents were reported compared to 199 in March 2017.  Such increases in hate 

Page 543



 

crime reporting have gone hand in hand in recent years with national and 
international events.   

2.13 Work is taking place in Leeds to increase awareness and understanding of hate 
crime and reduce both its occurrence and impact.  Safer Leeds’ Strategic Action 
Plan includes a focus on preventing hate crime, increasing reporting, responding to 
hate crime in our communities and supporting the victims affected.  As part of 
National Hate Crime Awareness Week in October 2017, Councillor Debra Coupar 
(the Executive Member for the council’s Communities portfolio) officially launched 
the updated Leeds Hate Crime Strategy, ‘Responding to hate’.  A series of events 
took place across the city where residents were able to discuss and offer their 
thoughts on hate crime with representatives of the council’s Safer Leeds team, 
West Yorkshire Police and partners, and also find out more about the support which 
is available in the city to tackle the issue.  The events promoted Leeds’ clear no 
tolerance message towards hate crime and stressed the importance of immediately 
reporting any instances.  In July 2018, West Yorkshire Police led an event to help 
Faith communities become more aware and vigilant of hate crime.  The annual Hate 
Crime week will be held in October this year.   

2.14 Despite progress, the issue of antisemitism has sadly not gone away.  Whilst 
numbers of serious recorded incidents remain low, national reports point to a 
general rise in ‘casual’ antisemitism.  There have been a number of widely 
publicised incidents of antisemitic graffiti on religious buildings over the last few 
years; most recently in Leeds, Nazi symbols were daubed at the entrance to the 
Harrogate Road Synagogue.   

3. Main issues 

3.1 In May 2016 the plenary session of the IHRA resolved to adopt the following non-
legally binding working definition on antisemitism: 

“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as 
hatred toward Jews.  Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism 
are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, 
toward Jewish community institutions and religious facilities.” 

3.2 Manifestations might include the targeting of the state of Israel, conceived as a 
Jewish collectivity.  However, criticism of Israel similar to that leveled against any 
other country cannot be regarded as antisemitic.  Antisemitism frequently charges 
Jews with conspiring to harm humanity, and it is often used to blame Jews for ‘why 
things go wrong’.  It is expressed in speech, writing, visual forms and action, and 
employs sinister stereotypes and negative character traits. 

3.3 The IHRA definition specifies eleven ‘contemporary examples of antisemitism’ in 
public life, the media, schools, the workplace, and in the religious sphere which 
could, taking into account the overall context, include but are not limited to: 

1. Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the name of a 
radical ideology or an extremist view of religion. 

2. Making mendacious, dehumanising, demonising, or stereotypical allegations 
about Jews as such or the power of Jews as a collective — such as, especially 

Page 544



 

but not exclusively, the myth about a world Jewish conspiracy or of Jews 
controlling the media, economy, government or other societal institutions. 

3. Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined wrongdoing 
committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even for acts committed by 
non-Jews. 

4. Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or intentionality of the 
genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of National Socialist Germany and its 
supporters and accomplices during World War II (the Holocaust). 

5. Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or exaggerating 
the Holocaust.   

6. Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the alleged priorities 
of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own nations.   

7. Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by claiming that 
the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavor.   

8. Applying double standards by requiring of it a behavior not expected or 
demanded of any other democratic nation. 

9. Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism (e.g., claims 
of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterise Israel or Israelis. 

10. Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the Nazis. 

11. Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel. 

3.4 In addition the IHRA states: 

 Antisemitic acts are criminal when they are so defined by law (for example, 
denial of the Holocaust or distribution of anti-Semitic materials in some 
countries). 

 Criminal acts are antisemitic when the targets of attacks, whether they are 
people or property – such as buildings, schools, places of worship and 
cemeteries – are selected because they are, or are perceived to be, Jewish or 
linked to Jews. 

 Antisemitic discrimination is the denial to Jews of opportunities or services 
available to others and is illegal in many countries. 

3.5 The IHRA definition has had significant public and media attention over the last 
twelve months with considerable debate and discussion over the definition and its 
attached examples.  These have particularly focused on the right to free speech and 
ongoing debate and discussion over the Israel/Palestine conflict and whether the 
definition or its examples may restrict legitimate views being expressed in this area.  

3.6 It is the view of the UK government and other public bodies that have adopted the 
definition and its examples that this does not restrict debate about the situation in 
Israel/Palestine or the holding of views supportive of either side in the conflict. 

3.7 31 countries, including the UK, have now adopted the IHRA definition on 
antisemitism.  In the UK, the Police, Crown Prosecution Service and Judiciary and 
the devolved administrations in Scotland and Wales have also adopted it.  In 2017, 
Lord Bourne, Minister for Faith, wrote to local authorities suggesting they adopt the 
definition in their work; 130 councils across the UK have now done so.  In Leeds, 
council staff apply this definition in their work to support Holocaust Memorial Day.  

Page 545



 

There is now an opportunity for the council to formally adopt the IHRA definition for 
use across its services.   

4. Corporate considerations 

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 The council consults with communities, including faith communities, through a 
variety of mechanisms including its Equality Assembly and Equality Hubs.  Adoption 
of the IHRA definition of antisemitism has been strongly urged by a number of 
Jewish organisations; it has already been adopted by the Government and a 
number of public bodies in the UK.   

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

4.2.1 This report supports the council’s work on the equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration agenda as outlined in our Equality and Diversity Policy, our Equality and 
Diversity Improvement Priorities (recently updated and approved by this Board at its 
July 2018 meeting) and our approach to Cohesion via the Stronger Communities 
Breakthrough Project.   

4.2.2 An equality, diversity cohesion and integration screening form has been completed 
and is attached to this report.   

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 We know that some of our communities have poorer outcomes than others and this 
affects them individually as well as the city as a whole.  We are committed to 
making equality a reality for all the citizens of Leeds, as described in our Equality 
and Diversity Policy and accompanying Equality Improvement Priorities 2018-22. 

4.3.2 The Priorities complement the ‘Best City’ ambition set out in our Best Council Plan 
2018/19 – 2020/21: one that is compassionate with a strong economy, which 
tackles poverty and reduces the inequalities that still exist.  This report supports in 
particular our Best Council Plan priority around ‘Safe, Strong Communities.’   

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 There are no specific resource implications associated with this report. 

4.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

4.5.1 There are no specific legal implications associated with this report. 

4.6 Risk management 

4.6.1 Failure to adopt the IHRA definition could have a significant impact on the council’s 
reputation and relationship with communities In Leeds; in particular the Jewish 
community. There is a clear steer from central government for local authorities to 
adopt the definition in their work. 

5. Conclusions 

Page 546



 

5.1 Leeds City Council welcomes all communities in Leeds and values the contributions 
our citizens make to this vibrant, diverse city.  We engage with organisations across 
Leeds to promote a clear and consistent message that prejudicial views or 
behaviour that could result in hate incidents or crimes are neither tolerated nor 
condoned.  However, antisemitism, alongside other forms of discrimination, remains 
a significant challenge, impacting upon cities and towns across the UK and our 
communities here in Leeds.   

5.2 Adopting the IHRA working definition on antisemitism for use across the council is 
one important element in a wider programme of work to tackle all forms of 
discrimination in Leeds.  

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to: 

1. Adopt the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance Working Definition on 
antisemitism for use across the council.  

2. Note that the Director of Communities and Environment will be responsible for its 
implementation.   

7. Background documents2  

7.1 None. 

 
 
 

                                            
2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 547



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Communities and 
Environment 

Service area: Communities Team 
 

Lead person: Geoff Turnbull 
 

Contact number: 0113 3789044 

 
1. Title: International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance Definition Adoption 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The Council is adopting the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance 
Definition on antisemitism: 
 

“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as 
hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism 
are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, 
toward Jewish community institutions and religious facilities.” 

 To guide IHRA in its work, the following examples have been developed to serve 
as illustrations: 
  
Manifestations might include the targeting of the state of Israel, conceived as a 
Jewish collectivity. However, criticism of Israel similar to that leveled against any 
other country cannot be regarded as antisemitic. Antisemitism frequently charges 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x   

Page 549



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

Jews with conspiring to harm humanity, and it is often used to blame Jews for 
“why things go wrong.” It is expressed in speech, writing, visual forms and action, 
and employs sinister stereotypes and negative character traits. 
  
Contemporary examples of antisemitism in public life, the media, schools, the 
workplace, and in the religious sphere could, taking into account the overall 
context, include, but are not limited to: 

 Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the name of a 
radical ideology or an extremist view of religion. 
  

 Making mendacious, dehumanising, demonising, or stereotypical allegations 
about Jews as such or the power of Jews as a collective — such as, especially 
but not exclusively, the myth about a world Jewish conspiracy or of Jews 
controlling the media, economy, government or other societal institutions. 
  

 Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined wrongdoing 
committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even for acts committed by 
non-Jews. 
  

 Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or intentionality of the 
genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of National Socialist Germany and its 
supporters and accomplices during World War II (the Holocaust). 
  

 Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or exaggerating 
the Holocaust. 
  

 Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the alleged priorities 
of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own nations. 
  

 Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by claiming that 
the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavor. 
  

 Applying double standards by requiring of it a behavior not expected or 
demanded of any other democratic nation. 
  

 Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism (e.g., claims 
of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterise Israel or Israelis. 
  

 Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the Nazis. 
  

 Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel. 

Page 550



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 In addition the IHRA states: 

Antisemitic acts are criminal when they are so defined by law (for example, 
denial of the Holocaust or distribution of anti-Semitic materials in some 
countries). 
  
Criminal acts are antisemitic when the targets of attacks, whether they are 
people or property – such as buildings, schools, places of worship and 
cemeteries – are selected because they are, or are perceived to be, Jewish or 
linked to Jews. 
  
Antisemitic discrimination is the denial to Jews of opportunities or services 
available to others and is illegal in many countries. 

 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users, 
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a 
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

x  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

Page 551



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 

Leeds is a growing and richly diverse city, with people of different ages and from 
many different backgrounds, cultures and beliefs living and working alongside each 
other. 

 
 The council is committed to responding to the challenges of tackling inequality in 

Leeds. 
 
 The council produces and publishes Equality Improvement Priorities and annual 

updates to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010 Duty.  These are 
developed to compliment the Best Council Plan priorities and help to underpin the 
ambition to be the best city in the UK: one that is compassionate with a strong 
economy, which tackles poverty and reduces the inequalities that still exist.   

 
 The council’s equality improvement priorities have taken into account the protected 

characteristics as required under the Equality Act 2010. Some examples of the 
work being undertaken through our Equality Improvement Priorities includes: 

 
  

 Improving housing options for young people and disabled people 
 Improving the health of the most vulnerable in Leeds specifically supporting 

Page 552



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

migrant communities to be healthy and have strong social connections 
 Improving access to cultural opportunities and sport 
 Improved access to transport and quality of service for all to enable people to 

use public transport 
 Reduce the gaps in learning outcomes for vulnerable learners 
 Support people out of financial hardship 
 Develop a skilled and diverse council workforce 

 
It’s not just about meeting our legal duties, it’s also about improving outcomes for 
the citizens of Leeds. Included in this wider work are actions to remove and reduce 
barriers that may prevent some people from fully participating in the social, 
cultural, political and economic life of the City. 

 
 We know that some of our communities have poorer outcomes than others and 

this affects them individually as well as the city as a whole. We are committed to 
making equality a reality for all the citizens of Leeds. It is important for everyone to 
benefit from being part of a strong economy and our focus on a compassionate city 
approach will help us do this. We will support people from different backgrounds 
and ages to feel comfortable living together.  

 
 We work with organisations across Leeds to promote a clear and consistent 

message that prejudicial views or behaviour that could result in hate incidents or 
crimes are not tolerated or condoned. We work with communities to ensure people 
are treated with dignity and respect and the causes of unfairness are understood 
and addressed. 

 
 We welcome all communities in Leeds and value the contributions that our citizens 

make to our city. Specific work taking place includes:- 
 

 Work on the Stronger Communities Breakthrough Project which aims to:- 
 

 Keep people safe from harm and protecting the most vulnerable 
 Helping people out of financial hardship 
 Tackling crime and anti-social behaviour 
 Being responsive to local needs, building thriving resilient communities 
 Promoting community respect and resilience 

 

 Work with Faith Communities includes the Council’s Religion or Belief Hub 
whose mission statement is considering ‘faith, religion or belief in the planning 
of Council and partner services’.   
 

 Delivering on our LGBT+ Inclusive City approach agreed by Executive Board in 
June 2018. 

 
 Working with the councils Access and Usability Group to ensure access needs 

are taken into account when delivering infrastructure projects. 
 

 Work is taking place to increase awareness and understanding of hate crime 
and reduce the occurrence and impact of hate crime.   Tackling hate crime is 

Page 553



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6

important for the city, not just because of the devastating consequences it can 
have for victims and their families, but also because it can divide communities. 
This has become increasingly evident as well publicised increases in hate 
crime reporting has gone hand in hand in recent years with national and 
international events.  A ‘Responding to Hate’ Strategy launch in October 2016 
and the annual Hate Crime week will be held in October this year. 

 
 Faith communities also came together in July 2018 led by West Yorkshire 

Police.  The purpose of the event was for Faith communities to be more aware 
and vigilant of hate crime.  

 
 A further example of work being undertaken is our support for the annual 

Holocaust Memorial Commemoration Event.  The council have a long standing 
relationship with the Holocaust Memorial Day Trust, work to their guidance and 
are already using the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) 
definition of antisemitism in this area. 

 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

Over 30 countries internationally including the UK Government have adopted the 
IHRA definition on antisemitism and Lord Bourne, Minister for Faith, wrote to local 
authorities in 2017 suggesting they adopt the definition in their work. In addition the 
definition has been adopted by the devolved administrations in Scotland and 
Wales, by the Police, Crown Prosecution Service and Judiciary and by over 130 
local councils in the UK. 

 
The council consults with communities, including faith communities through a 
variety of mechanisms including its Equality Assembly and Equality Hubs. The 
IHRA definitions adoption has been suggested by central government who have 
already adopted it alongside many other public bodies in the UK. Adoption of the 
definition has been strongly urged by national Jewish communal organisations.  

Failure to adopt the IHRA definition would have a significant impact on our 
reputation and relationship with communities In Leeds and in particular the Jewish 
community. There is a clear steer from central government for the council to adopt 
the definition in it work. 

The IHRA definition has had significant public and media attention over the last 
twelve months. There has been considerable debate and discussion over the 
definition and its attached examples, in particular in regards to the right to free 
speech and ongoing debate and discussion over the Israel/Palestine conflict and 
whether the definition or its examples may restrict legitimate views being 
expressed in this area. Some communities may therefore be concerned re the 
adoption of the definition. 

Page 554



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

7

 It is the view of the UK government and other public bodies that have adopted the 
definition and its examples that this does not restrict debate about the situation in 
Israel/Palestine or the holding of views supportive of either side in the conflict. The 
IHRA definitions adoption by Leeds City Council is related to challenging 
antisemitism in the city across all the work that the council undertakes. 

 
 Actions 

(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

Once adopted the definition will be in use across all the areas of the Councils work 
and services will consider its implementation where relevant to the work that they 
deliver. 
To assist with this implementation work a full EIA will be completed to accompany 
it. 
Further work will be undertaken with communities where required to understand 
the adoption of the definition. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

November 2018 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

November 2018 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Geoff Turnbull 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
James Rogers 
 

Director of Communities 
and Environments 

14th September 2018 

Date screening completed 14th September 2018  
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

Page 555



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

8

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 20th September 2018 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 556



 

 

Report of: Director of Children and Families 

Report to: Executive Board 

Date: 17 October 2018 

Subject: Outcome of School Admissions Arrangements 2018 and 
upcoming consultation on Admissions Policy for 2020 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. This report aims to inform Executive Board of the outcomes of the Admissions Round 
for 2018 entry into Reception and Year 7, and the Admissions Service functions and 
outcomes relating to in-year school transfers in 2017/18.  

2. The growth seen in previous years in the number of children entering Primary School 
has stabilised, with a similar number of children joining Reception in 2018 as in 2017. 
88% of children were offered their 1st preference (87% last year) and 95.5% were 
offered one of their top 3 preferences (95% last year).  

3. The number of young people joining Secondary School in 2018 has risen by 4.5% 
since last year, reflecting the historical increase in birth rate since 2009 and these 
children now reaching secondary age. 82% of children were offered their 1st preference 
school, which is lower than the 85% first preference rate achieved in 2017 but the 
same as the 2016 first preference rate. 92.4% of applicants were offered one of their 
top 3 preferences (95.5% last year).  

4. The number of requests for in-year school transfers continues to rise, and particular 
areas of the city have seen a large number of new arrivals to the area, leading to a 
pressure on school places in-year.  

 

Report author:  Rebecca McCormack 

Tel:  0113 37 87217 

Page 557

Agenda Item 18



 

 

Recommendations 

5. That Executive Board note: 

5.1. 88% of Reception children and 82% of Year 7 children were offered a place at their 
first preference school  

5.2. The number of children receiving an offer at one of their top 3 preferred schools 
was 95.5% for Reception and 92.4% for Year 7 

5.3. Requests for in-year transfers continues to rise, with 7909 (+454 compared to the 
previous year) children requesting new school places between September 2017 
and July 2018 – some being new arrivals in the city and some being requests to 
move within the city.  

5.4. A consultation on the Leeds City Council Admissions Policy for 2020/21 will be 
launched in October 2018  

5.5. The officer responsible for this area of work is the Lead for the Admissions and 
Family Information Service  

      

      

   

   

   

   

   

  
    

      

      

   

   

   

   

   

  

  

  

 

Page 558



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report provides a summary of the outcomes of the Admissions functions 
undertaken by the Local Authority in the academic year 2017/18. It includes 
statistical information on the annual admissions round for entry to Reception and 
year 7 for September 2018, including the number of allocations and also the 
percentage of families receiving a preferred school offer. In addition, information is 
provided about the admission of pupils ‘in-year’ where pupils have moved into, or 
within the city during the academic year 2017/18.  

2 Background information 

2.1 The Local Authority (LA) is required to coordinate admissions to Reception and 
Year 7 in the ‘normal round’, ie. for entry in September, for all schools in the area 
– community, foundation trust, faith schools and academies (including free 
schools). In addition the LA coordinates applications to enter the two Leeds junior 
schools at Year 3.   

2.2 For entry in September 2018, 8881 Year 7 places and 9595 Reception places 
were offered on the respective offer days.  

2.3 The growth in children entering primary school, seen since 2009, peaked in 2016 
as seen in the graph at 3.3. An additional 240 places were made available for 
September 2018 before offer day to ensure sufficient capacity across the city. 
These were a combination of permanent expansions to existing schools (creating 
150 places) bulge cohorts (45 places) and the opening of Elements Primary 
Academy in Middleton which created an additional 60 places. Brodetsky Primary 
reduced its admission number by 15 places for September 2018.  

2.4 The number of children offered places to start Year 7 in 2018 has risen again by 
426. The additional pressure generated by the rising birth rate since 2009 is now 
impacting on the need for school places in the Year 7 cohort. There has also been 
an increase in the number of children living in the city, year on year. The 
Sufficiency and Participation Team engaged with secondary schools throughout 
the city to explore opportunities for places to be created, resulting in an additional 
459 places being available for Year 7 in 2018. These were a combination of 
permanent expansions to existing schools (100 places), the opening of the 
Secondary Phase of Dixon’s Trinity Chapeltown Academy (112 places) and 
temporary expansions to existing schools (247 places). The Morley Academy 
reduced its admission number by 56 in 2018, however this was offset by the 
increase in places offered across the multi-academy trust at Bruntcliffe Academy.  

2.5 The LA does not currently coordinate applications for school places outside the 
normal annual cycle round. Parents are required to approach schools directly to 
request places. The Admissions Team continues to support schools with this 
responsibility, ensuring that places are available to families when they need them 
and families are supported to fulfil their duty to secure an appropriate education 
for their child. Where parents do not secure an offer in the normal way, the LA 
works with schools and parents to ensure places are secured as quickly as 
possible.   

Page 559



 

 

3 Main issues  

3.1 Annual Cycle Secondary - On 1st March offer day, there were 308 vacancies in 
Secondary Schools throughout the city which allowed for pupil movement and late 
applicants to be offered a place between offer day and the start of term.  

3.2 Own admitting authority schools (Academies, Trust Schools and Voluntary Aided 
schools) can notify the local authority that they wish to offer additional places at 
their school at any time. After national offer day six schools asked the Local 
Authority to admit children over their published admission number, resulting in 123 
additional places being available. We have outlined the potentially detrimental 
impact of these decisions on their neighbouring schools for their consideration, as 
some schools raised concern that the more popular schools were expanding and 
reducing the number of children on roll at the lower preference schools. The 
parental order of preference has a significant impact during this process, as the 
Local Authority is obliged to offer the family their highest possible preference.  

3.2.1 Places available and offered in Year 7 for past 5 years: 

 

3.3 By 26 September the number of Year 7 places offered in Leeds had increased to 
8960 (+35 since offer day in March). 85% of applicants have received a first 
preference offer (+3% since offer day in March) due to appeals, pupil movement, 
the waiting list process and the additional places mentioned above.   

3.4 Annual Cycle Primary – The graph below shows the offer day position for the past 
5 years. There were 1065 vacancies in Primary Schools in April 2018, which is the 
surplus aimed for to provide places for families moving into the area and ensure 
sufficiency. New applications continued to be received over the summer, and by 
26 September the number of offers made had increased to 9882 (+288 since offer 
day in April). This number is expected to continue to rise over the autumn term. 
89% of applicants have received a first preference offer by the end of September 
(+1% since offer day in April).  

 

6000

6500

7000

7500

8000

8500

9000

9500

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
p
la
ce
s 

Year of entry

Year 7 Entry

Y7 1st preference offers Y7 Top 3 preference offers

Y7 Total offers Y7 Total places available

Page 560



 

 

3.4.1 Graph showing offer day position for Reception for past 5 years 

 

3.5 Appeals - Whenever an application is refused, the applicant has the right of 
appeal against the decision. The number of appeals lodged and heard for places 
in Reception was slightly lower in 2018/19 than in 2017/18. The percentage of 
appeals granted was also lower than previous years. Although a greater 
percentage of Reception parents received an offer of their first preference school, 
more appeals were lodged with the local authority, as outlined in the table below. 
Parents state being unhappy with the school allocated as their reason for appeal – 
despite being offered a school they expressed a preference for. This reflects 
parental perception that they can choose which school their child attends, while in 
law they only have the right to express a preference.  

3.5.1 Table showing appeals lodged and heard for Reception entry 2015 - 2018 

*16th April – 1st 
September* 

Rec 2015/16 Rec 2016/17 Rec 2017/18 Rec 2018/19 

Appeals lodged 
with LCC*          

730 479 463 357 

Appeals heard * 352 (48% of 
those lodged) 

301 (62.8% of 
those lodged) 

309 (66.7% of 
those  lodged) 

245 (68.6% of those 
lodged) with 17 remaining 
outstanding and to be heard 
in September 2018

Appeals granted* 40 (11% of those 
heard) 

18 (6% of those 
heard) 

18 (5.8% of those 
heard) 

9 (3.7% of those heard) 

Appeals not 
granted* 

312 (88.6% of 
those heard) 

283 (94% of 
those heard) 

291 (94.2% of those 
heard) 

219 (89.4% of those 
heard) 

Number of offers 
made 

9,854 10,051 9,683 9,595 

1st Preferences 
met 

8,383 (85%) 8,789 (87%) 8,458 (87%) 8460 (88%) 

Placements (no 
pref met) 

550 (5.5%) 301 (3%) 284 (3%) 279 (3%) 

*The appeals reported here relate to the appeals arranged and heard by the Local Authority.  
  

7000

7500

8000

8500

9000

9500

10000

10500

11000

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
p
la
ce
s

Year of entry

Reception entry offer day position

Rec 1st preference offers Rec Top 3 preference offers

Rec Total offers Rec Places Available

Page 561



 

 

3.6 The number of appeals lodged and heard for entry into Year 7 has increased 
compared to last year.  This increase was unexpected as the number of children 
offered their first preference school is the highest it has been in Leeds for many 
years. After national offer day six schools also asked the Local Authority to admit 
children over their published admission number, resulting in 123 additional places 
being available.   However, the number of applications for entry into year 7 has 
increased overall by 4.8% and there was also an increase in the number of 
children who were not offered a preferred place, with 474 children (5.3%) 
receiving a placement offer (in 2017 this figure was 279 children (3.3%).     

3.6.1 Table showing number appeals lodged and heard by LCC for Year 7 entry 2015-
2018 

*1st March – 1st September* High 2015/16 High 2016/17 High 2017/18 High 2018/19 
Appeals lodged with 
LCC*          

443 438 304 396 

Appeals heard * 208 (46% of 
those lodged) 

314 (71.7% of 
those lodged) 

208 (68.4% of 
those lodged) 

258 (65.2% of 
those lodged) 
with 17 
remaining 
outstanding and 
to be heard in 
September 2018
 

Appeals granted* 29 (14% of those 
heard) 

41 (13.1% of 
those heard) 

36 (17.3% of 
those heard) 

45 (17.4% of 
those heard) 

Appeals not granted* 179 (86% of 
those heard) 

273 (86.9% of 
those heard) 

172 (82.7% of 
those heard) 

198 (76.7% of 
those heard) 

*The appeals reported here relate to the appeals arranged and heard by the Local Authority.   
 

3.7 Office of the Schools Adjudicator - All Trust schools, Academy, Free Schools and 
Voluntary Aided schools are an own admitting authority and are wholly 
responsible for the admissions functions within the school. 50.5% of Primary 
Schools (n=113) and 86% of Secondary Schools (n=36) are own admitting 
authority schools. The LA role with own admitting authorities is to provide support 
and challenge to ensure that they are meeting their statutory duty.  

3.8 As part of this role, and in line with the duties outlined in the Admissions Code, the 
Admissions Team referred 2 secondary academy policies and 4 primary academy 
policies to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator, due to concerns that the school’s 
published admissions policy was not compliant with the School Admissions Code 
(2014). Referrals were made as the policies did not meet the statutory 
requirement to be fair, clear, objective and easy for parents to understand. All 
referrals were upheld by the Office of the Schools Adjudicator and the 6 schools 
were obliged to make amendments to their admissions policy. The Office of the 
Schools Adjudicator determinations are published publicly and feature in the 
annual report to the DfE. The Admissions Team will continue to focus on this area 
of work to ensure own admitting authority policies are compliant with the Code.  

3.9 Summer Born children - In September 2015, an open letter from Nick Gibb MP, 
indicated that there was an imminent change to be made to the Admissions Code 
to allow all parents of summer born children free choice about when their children 

Page 562



 

 

started school. Since this letter, there have been no progress in making changes 
to the law. The DfE continue to indicate that this will be included in the next 
refresh of the School Admissions Code, however there are still no timescales for 
when this will be. The Admissions Code, which we must comply with, states that 
all requests for deferred summer born admission must be considered on a case 
by case basis and any agreement must only be made if the decision is in the best 
interests of the child. We will continue to review our procedures each year to 
ensure they are fit for purpose and in line with legislation.  

3.10 Parental Preference - Leeds has a high proportion of children in both Reception 
and Year 7 who are offered one of their preferred schools. Some of this is due to 
the number of schools judged as good or outstanding by Ofsted, leading to 
greater positive choice for families.  

3.11 Parents are advised by the Admissions Team to always consider how likely they 
are to be offered a place at a school before including it as one of their 
preferences. Historically this has included the Local Authority informing parents 
which was their ‘nearest priority school’ as this was a priority offered across the 
majority of admission policies.        

3.12 In some areas, there is a polarisation of parental opinion about local schools. 
Despite sufficient places being available across areas for the number of children 
living locally, some parents choose not to include a preference for a local school 
and preference patterns therefore impact on the first preference rates achieved. In 
some areas this has resulted in a public perception that there are insufficient 
places, with some parents reporting that an offer of a place at a less popular 
school is ‘unreasonable’.    

3.13 Historically, all parents have been notified that the application window is open for 
Reception and Y7 applications via a letter which included information about where 
their application would receive a ‘priority’. The wide range of admission 
oversubscription criteria used by own admitting authority schools and academies 
has led to this letter becoming less meaningful for parents.  For entry in 
September 2019 the invitation to apply letter lists the closest 5 schools to the 
home address, regardless of status of that school.  Parents are encouraged to 
find out about the admission arrangements for those schools they are interested 
in.  Admissions staff are providing drop in sessions at the City Centre Hub and 
also support secondary school open days to offer parents advice.  Maps showing 
catchments for secondary schools and ‘nearest polygons’ have been published on 
the website for clarity. 

3.14 In Year school moves - Mobility within and into the city continues to create 
pressure on school places and an increased pressure on the Admissions team to 
ensure that up to date information regarding vacancies in schools is accurate. 
Schools are statutorily required to notify the Admissions Team within 5 days of 
any pupil leaving or starting at their school. Due to the administrative burden, 
particularly in areas where there is high mobility, schools do not routinely meet 
this requirement and we are working with our digital information service 
colleagues to progress an automatic live data feed from schools to the Local 
Authority meet this need more efficiently.   

Page 563



 

 

3.15 Schools are required to notify the admissions team of any in-year application 
received and the decision made by the school regarding whether they can admit 
the child. We have been working closely with schools to encourage more timely 
returns of information, however we still receive regular contact from families who 
report they have applied for school places and had no response for significant 
periods of time – these are children that the Admissions Team are not aware are 
seeking a school place prior to the parents contacting us.   

3.16 Throughout the 2017/18 academic year, over 7909 children requested an in-year 
transfer, many of them preferencing three or four schools, resulting in over 25,000 
transfer requests being dealt with by the Admissions Team.  

3.17 Particular pressure continues to be seen in areas of the city where there are high 
levels of mobility. The Admissions Team and the Sufficiency and Participation 
Team work in partnership with schools in these areas to ensure that solutions are 
found as quickly as possible when pressures arise. This includes negotiating with 
schools to offer additional bulge cohorts when needed.  

3.18 During 2017/18 over 240 bulge places were created in the Harehills / Burmantofts 
area where demand for places was high. This included the creation of an annex 
site to Shakespeare Primary School, where the Headteacher and his staff team 
showed great commitment in successfully providing over 120 places for children 
who had moved into the area and had been unable to secure a school place offer 
– many were new to the country and speak little or no English.  

3.19 The Harehills area has a high number of primary schools, high mobility, and 
families with large sibling groups. The decision was taken early in the academic 
year to coordinate in-year applications for the area, to ensure that siblings were 
being allocated places in the same school wherever possible, and that families 
were receiving more targeted support to take up the places they were being 
allocated. This will continue into the 18/19 academic year while the scale of 
demand is monitored.  

3.20 Although the Local Authority does not coordinate in-year admissions, we still 
retain a duty to ensure that children have a school place offered within a 
reasonable time. The Local Authority is not always aware that a child has 
requested a place at a school and been unsuccessful in securing one. During 
2018/19 we will explore with all schools and academies whether they agree to the 
LA Admissions Team taking an increased role around the in-year process to 
ensure efficiency.  

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.2 Consultation is a statutory requirement to be undertaken on any changes to the 
local admission policies, and where additional school places are being provided 
through permanent expansion.   

Page 564



 

 

4.1.3 Consultation on admissions arrangements takes places late in the autumn term 
and will be informed by the outcomes of the 2017/18 in year rounds and the 
2018/19 Annual Cycle round.  

4.1.4 The remaining community secondary schools moved to catchment area priorities 
for admission from September 2017.  There are a number of benefits and this was 
implemented without any issues.  For the forthcoming consultation on admission 
arrangements for community and voluntary controlled schools, we will be 
consulting on defining ‘catchment areas’ for primary schools that reflect local 
geography and population data in place of ‘nearest priority’.  This will mean there 
is a more consistent approach across the Secondary and Primary admissions 
policies.   

4.1.5 These proposed changes would allow parents to have a clearer understanding of 
whether their home address falls within the schools priority area by consulting a 
map. This makes the oversubscription criteria clearer to parents and consequently 
allows parents to make more informed decisions about how likely it is that they will 
be offered a place at their preferenced school(s).   The changes have been 
modelled to increase meaningful priorities, where previously in some areas some 
families would have been very unlikely to gain a place at the priority school. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

This report is for information only.    

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

The admissions policy and arrangements continues to ensure children receive fair 
and consistent treatment, and have reasonable access to local schools. In doing 
so it supports the council’s obsession with improving attendance, contributing to 
good educational outcomes for children. These are important factors in the drive 
to become a child friendly city.  

4.3.1 A key objective within the Best Council Plan to 2020/21 is to build a child friendly 
city. The delivery of pupil places through the Admissions Arrangements is one of 
the baseline entitlements of a Child Friendly City. A good quality school place 
contributes to the achievement of targets within the Childrens and young People’s 
Plan such as our obsession to ‘improve school attendance’.  

4.3.2 The admission arrangements contribute to the Best Council Plan outcomes for 
everyone in Leeds to ‘Do well at all levels of learning and have the skills they 
need for life’; Be safe and feel safe’ and ‘Enjoy happy, health and active lives’.  It 
also supports the vision of the Children and Young People’s Plan 2018 – 2023 to 
build a child friendly city with a focus on ensuring all children and young people 
are safe from harm, do well at all levels of learning and have the skills for life.  

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 With changing statutory responsibilities in relation to admissions, all opportunities 
to explore the development of traded services are being explored. At present, the 

Page 565



 

 

Appeals Service is operating at full cost recovery for those appeals arranged and 
heard on behalf of own admitting authority schools, as a traded service.   

4.4.2 The published guide for parents applying for the normal admission round remains 
a statutory document and must be available as a printed document upon request, 
however maximum use of the LCC website is used to provide a wider range of 
information for parents to support their application for school. Higher uptake of 
online applications reduces the administrative costs associated with manually 
inputting written requests.  

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The admission policy which was applied to applications for entry in 2018 was 
determined at the February 2017 meeting of the Executive Board.  

4.5.2 This report provides information on the outcome of the admission arrangements in 
place.  All requirements for the coordination of the admission process have been 
carried out in line with all relevant legislation and the criteria of the policy for 
community and voluntary controlled schools.  The local authority received copies 
of all admission arrangements from own admitting authority schools. 

4.5.3 The report is subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 This paper is for information only and there is no risk management requirement. 
The risk around managing sufficiency of school places is managed through the 
city’s corporate risk register.   

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Despite changing numbers of children requesting and being offered a school 
place, the percentage of children receiving a 1st preference offer is stable.  

5.2 Although in-year applications and offers are not coordinated by the Local 
Authority, the Admissions Team continues to receive a large number of 
applications and is required to support schools and families to ensure that places 
are offered in a timely way.  

5.3 The appeals process continues to meet all statutory deadlines and provide 
parents with their right to appeal to an independent panel following any decision to 
refuse an application for a place.   

6 Recommendations 

That Executive Board note: 

6.1 88% of Reception children and 82% of Year 7 children were offered a place at 
their first preference school  

6.2 The number of children receiving an offer at one of their top 3 preferred schools 
was 95.5% for Reception and 92.4% for Year 7 

Page 566



 

 

6.3 Requests for in-year transfers continues to rise, with 7909 (+454 compared to the 
previous year) children requesting new school places between September 2017 
and July 2018 – some being new arrivals in the city and some being requests to 
move within the city.  

6.4 A consultation on the Leeds City Council Admissions Policy for 2020/21 will be 
launched in October 2018  

6.5 The officer responsible for this area of work is the Lead for the Admissions and 
Family Information Service  

7 Background documents1  

7.1    None 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 567



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Director of Children and Families 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 17th October 2018 

Subject: Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning 
places at Benton Park Secondary School from September 2021. 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Guiseley & Rawdon 

 
  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the local authority’s duty 
to ensure sufficiency of school places. The changes that are proposed form prescribed 
alterations under the Education and Inspections Act 2006. The School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 and 
accompanying statutory guidance set out the process which must be followed when 
making such changes.  The statutory process to make these changes varies according to 
the nature of the change and status of the school and the process followed in respect of 
the proposal is detailed in this report. The decision maker in these cases remains the local 
authority (LA). 
 
A consultation on a proposal to expand Benton Park Secondary School from a capacity of 
1225 to 1500 students by increasing the admission number from 245 to 300 with effect 
from September 2021 took place between 29th June and 27th July 2018. The schools 
current SEN and 6th Form provision is unaffected by this proposal. 
 
A total of 223 consultation responses were received of which 75% either strongly or 
somewhat supported the proposal. 19% strongly opposed or somewhat opposed the 
proposal and 6% neither supported nor opposed, or were unsure about the proposal. 
Further details about the responses and issues identified by stakeholders and respondents 
during the consultation period are detailed in the main body of this report. 
 

 Report author:  Viv Buckland 

Tel:  83588 

Page 569

Agenda Item 19



 

 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is asked to: 
 

 Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently expand 
secondary provision at Benton Park Secondary School from a capacity of 1225 
pupils to 1500 pupils with an increase in the admission number from 245 to 300 with 
effect from September 2021; 
 

 Note that implementation of the decision is subject to feasibility and planning 
permission as indicated at 4.4.1 of this report and that the proposal has been 
brought forward in time for places to be delivered for 2021; and  

 
 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Systems. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 570



 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report contains details of a proposal brought forward to meet the LA’s duty to 
ensure a sufficiency of school places, which supports the achievement of the Best 
Council priority to improve educational achievement and close achievement gaps. 
This report describes the outcome of a consultation regarding a proposal to 
expand secondary school provision at Benton Park Secondary School and seeks 
a decision to publish a statutory notice under the Education and Inspections Act 
2006 and in accordance with the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 in respect of this proposal.   

2 Background information  

2.1      The increase in the birth rate over the last decade in Leeds, which prompted the 
need to embark on a programme of primary provision expansion, has so far led to 
the creation of over 12,000 new primary places across the city. The large increase 
in existing primary school pupils is now beginning to feed through into the 
secondary sector, with demand anticipated to grow markedly across most parts of 
the city until at least 2023-24. The available demographic data has identified that 
additional secondary school places are required across the North West of the city 
to meet demand from families.  

2.2  In June 2018 an initial stakeholder engagement event was undertaken which 
involved local secondary schools, ward members and other interested parties in 
order to share demographic data and gather views regarding the best approach to 
be taken to address future secondary demand in the North West. The proposal to 
expand Benton Park School formed one of the options put forward at the event 
and this consultation closely followed. 

2.3 Consultation on this proposal took place between 29th June 2018 and 27th July 
2018. To maximise stakeholder engagement a variety of consultation methods 
were used, including: email; an online survey; several informal drop-in sessions 
(for parents, residents and other interested stakeholders to attend), held at the 
school, offering an opportunity to discuss the proposal with Leeds City Council 
representatives and providing the opportunity to complete a consultation response 
form. As well as distributing letters to 700 residents in the local area, details of the 
proposals and the consultation activity were also advertised to parents and carers; 
local residents and other interested parties; via letters sent out to parents by 
Benton Park School; posters and consultation booklets displayed and available 
from Early Years providers in the local area; via the Leeds City Council website; 
through various social media platforms and accounts; and by local community 
groups and organisations active in the Guiseley and Rawdon ward. 

 
2.4 Consultation meetings were held with the school’s governing body, staff and the 

pupils of Benton Park School. A banner was also placed at the school site to 
advertise the consultation and consultation response forms were available for 
collection and drop off at the school’s reception throughout the consultation period.    

3 Main issues 

Page 571



 

 

3.1 The expansion of Benston Park Secondary School is proposed as it is an Ofsted 
rated ‘Good’ school in an area of high need and is popular with local families. The 
school benefits from strong leadership and management and a dedicated staff 
team who are very positive about the potential permanent expansion. They are 
confident that existing high standards of teaching and learning can be maintained, 
resulting in improved outcomes for a greater number of local children. 

3.2 During the consultation period there were 112 written survey responses received 
and 111 responses submitted via the online survey; a total of 223 respondents. 

3.3 In total, 104 of the 223 respondents (47% of the total) strongly support the 
proposal and a further 64 are somewhat in support of it. In comparison there were 
27 respondents strongly opposed to the expansion proposal (12% of the total) and 
a further 14 who somewhat opposed the proposal. 13 respondents stated that 
they neither support nor oppose, or were not sure about the expansion proposal.  

3.4 A large number of those who support the proposal do so on the proviso it involves 
a new school building or a rebuild of the existing building. 

3.5 168 of the 223 respondents stated that they found the consultation process was 
useful.  

3.6 Of the total number of responses received, 57 were from students of Benton Park 
School. 26 strongly supported the proposal, 28 somewhat supported the proposal, 
3 somewhat opposed and 2 were not sure whether they supported the proposal. 

3.7 Comments are summarised below. A copy of the responses received can be 
requested from the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team at 
educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk 

3.8 A summary of the main themes from comments submitted by those who strongly 
or who somewhat supported the proposal is bulleted below; 

 122 respondents voiced support for the notion that additional secondary school 
places are required in this area and that this proposal will help to address this 
need.   

 Respondents commented that new housing being built in the area will increase 
demand for school places further in the future.  

 109 of the survey respondents stated that the current school would need to be 
demolished and rebuilt in order to address existing building condition issues and 
to create the required teaching facilities for a larger intake. 
 

 19 respondents suggested that more places will be available for young people 
living in the local area, reducing the distance they may otherwise have to travel 
to attend secondary school. 

 
 11 respondents felt that an increase in student numbers at Benton Park would 

benefit the school financially and lead to the availability of improved facilities.  

Page 572



 

 

 
 

3.9 The main concerns raised by respondents and a response to those concerns are           
summarised as follows; 

3.9.1 Concerns raised about location and the sufficiency of school places: 
Concern that additional places are not actually required in this area and that any 
expansion would lead to a widening of the school’s current catchment area rather 
than serving the local area.   

Response: Secondary schools do tend to draw pupils from a wider area than 
primary schools and, therefore, projections take account of the previous academic 
year’s Year 7 allocations and any population growth across all the areas that 
pupils actually travel from to attend at a particular school. Expanding provision at 
Benton Park School would not only provide more places for children living near to 
the school, but would also provide additional capacity to support increased need 
in the wider surrounding area from which it traditionally draws its intake. 

3.9.2 Concerns raised regarding the existing school site: Concern that the existing 
site is not large enough to accommodate the proposed increase in pupils. Some 
respondents also raised concerns that the school is in too poor a condition to 
cope with increases in the number of pupils and that there may be a negative 
impact on SILC students due to overcrowding, 

Response: Early feasibility works carried out by City development colleagues has 
concluded that the Benton Park School site is large enough to accommodate the 
proposed increase in pupil numbers. However, to manage the proposed increase 
in pupil numbers, and to prevent overcrowding, a build scheme would need to be 
developed and agreed to provide the required additional teaching accommodation 
and other school facilities needed. 

3.9.3 Concerns raised regarding school operational issues: Concern that the 
school will be too big leading to issues with bullying, a decline in behavioural and 
educational standards and a reduction in educational and pastoral support for 
pupils requiring additional assistance. Similarly, some commented that there may 
be a lack of resources available to manage an increase in pupil numbers (i.e. 
teaching staff) and others held concerns that the proposed expansion would be 
disruptive for existing pupils. Respondents also raised concerns that the Hub may 
close as a result of expansion and that staff retention rates may be negatively 
affected. 

Response: The Head teacher and Governing Body are confident that the school 
can manage an expansion whilst maintaining current good educational standards. 
The Learning Improvement team within Leeds City Council have been fully 
consulted on the proposed expansion and will continue to offer support the 
leadership and staff to achieve good outcomes as the school grows.  

Funding for schools is set by central government on a per pupil basis. However, 
where we expand schools there is additional top up funding available for the first 

Page 573



 

 

year to ensure the school has the financial support necessary to recruit additional 
teaching and support staff.  

Should the proposal to expand the school be approved, suitable measures to 
mitigate the risk of disruption to teaching and learning would be developed 
throughout the design stage of any agreed build solution and in consultation with 
key stakeholders, including the school’s senior management team and governing 
body. Phasing of any works in accordance with school shut-down periods as well 
as robust site separation arrangements would assist in minimisation of disruption 
for pupils and staff. There are no plans to reduce or close down any of the schools 
current facilities or services offered. 

3.9.4 Concerns raised in regard to highways and the environment: Several 
respondents raised concerns about an increase in road traffic at school drop-off 
and pick-up times. Others expressed concerns about an increase in on road 
parking around the school site and an inability of the roads around the school to 
cope with more traffic. Some respondents also raised a general concern that road 
safety would be reduced as a result of the proposed expansion. Other 
respondents were worried about increased levels of air pollution, that an increase 
in pupil numbers would lead to more littering and anti-social behaviour within the 
vicinity of the school and that the expansion of Benton Park may have a negative 
impact on other nearby secondary schools. 

Response: Planning approval requires officers from Highways to formally 
comment on all applications. A complete reassessment of traffic management 
measures would be carried out as part of the proposal, the School Travel Plan 
would also be updated, and measures identified by highways colleagues as 
required for approval would be incorporated into any final scheme. Requirements 
deemed necessary may include increased parking enforcement, reduced speed 
limits and other traffic management measures. Additional on-site parking would be 
required to accommodate an increase in staffing levels should the proposal go 
ahead. 

The school’s leadership team will continue to work with the local community to 
address any issues that may arise as a result of the proposed expansion, should it 
be approved.  

Demand for secondary school places is projected to rise significantly over the next 
6 years. Current forecasts show that there will be insufficient places available 
across schools located in the outer North West unless more places are created. 
Therefore, the proposed expansion is unlikely to have a negative impact on any 
nearby schools. 

3.10 The proposed scheme for Benton Park School is to rebuild the school. The school 
has significant condition issues and along with providing the additional places 
needed, a rebuild would ensure that the school could continue to operate without 
the need to continually inject significant condition funding over a period of several 
years. As the building has reached the end of its lifespan, it can never be 
repaired, just maintained year on year. A new build would also ensure that 
disruption to students, school staff and the wider community was managed within 
a shorter timeframe and that the impact on teaching and learning was minimised 

Page 574



 

 

to allow the school to deliver its curriculum and ensure positive outcomes for its 
students. The cost of the proposed scheme is anticipated to be circa £20m, 
funded from a combination of the Learning Places and Planned Maintenance 
Programmes, reflecting the increase in admission numbers whilst addressing 
existing building condition issues. Funding streams would be primarily through 
Basic Need Grant, council borrowing, Community Infrastructure Levy and School 
Condition funding. An approach will be made to Central Government for additional 
funding support based on our latest survey information.  

3.11 There are two other Leeds Secondary Schools which have similar conditional 
issues. The Council is committed to seeking a resolution to this as a priority. We 
are exploring options to deliver the necessary improvements and separate 
discussions will be held concerning this.   

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 The process in respect of all the proposals has been managed in accordance with 
the relevant legislation and with local good practice.   

4.1.2 The consultation was carried out over four week period and included use of an on-
line forum and an on-line survey. A number of drop-in sessions were held at the 
school supported by officers from Highways, Sufficiency and Participation, and the 
City Development Teams, to discuss the proposals. These were attended by 
parents, carers, school staff, and local residents. Information was distributed 
widely, including via the school, to other local schools (primary and secondary), 
via local Early Years providers, on the Leeds City Council website, the Family 
Information Service website, Twitter and Facebook. Meetings were held with the 
governors, staff and student parliament of Benton Park Secondary School.  
Banners were placed at the entrance to the school to advertise the consultation 
and leaflets highlighting the consultation, and the timings of the consultation drop-
in meetings were distributed to approximately 700 local residents.  

4.1.3 Local ward members were consulted and are supportive of the proposals provided 
that highways and parking concerns are adequately addressed.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 The EDCI screening form for the proposal is attached as an appendix to this 
report. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 This proposal offers good value for money through its capacity to support 
achievement of the Best Council outcome to give everyone the chance to do well 
at every level of learning, gaining the skills they need for life. 

4.3.2 This proposal is being brought forward to meet the LA’s statutory duty to ensure 
that there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing 
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and 

Page 575



 

 

desirable school places, is an efficient use of resources and reduces the risk of 
non-attendance. 

4.3.3 This proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to be the best council, the best 
city in which to grow up and a child friendly city. The delivery of pupil places 
through the Learning Places Programme is one of the baseline entitlements of a 
child friendly city. By creating good quality local school places we can support the 
priority aim of improving educational achievement and closing achievement gaps. 
In turn, by providing young people with the skills they need for life, this proposal 
provides underlying support for the council’s ambition to produce a strong 
economy by compassionate means. A good quality school place also contributes 
towards delivery of targets within the Children and Young People’s Plan such as 
our obsession to improve behaviour, attendance and achievement.  

4.3.4 It is important when bringing any proposals forward that there is a degree of 
certainty that any change would not have a negative impact on teaching and 
learning. The Headteacher and Governing Body are confident that they can 
manage the expansion of the school. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The proposed schemes would be subject to planning permission which would 
need to be granted prior to the commencement of construction works. Once the 
feasibility stage was complete and schemes proceeded to the detailed design 
phase, budgets would be realigned to reflect that all parties have agreed the final 
design and cost estimates, which would take account of site investigations and 
survey information, in accordance with standard project and risk management 
principles.  Schemes would also be subject to relevant stakeholder consultation.  

4.5 The cost of the proposed scheme is anticipated to be circa £20m, funded from a 
combination of the Learning Places and Planned Maintenance Programmes, 
reflecting the increase in admission numbers whilst addressing existing building 
condition issues as noted at 3.10. Funding streams would be primarily through 
Basic Need Grant, council borrowing, Community Infrastructure Levy and School 
Condition funding and an approach will be made to Central Government for 
additional funding support based on our latest survey information. The precise 
funding packages would be confirmed at the design freeze stage, and detailed in 
the relevant Design and Cost reports.   

4.6 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.6.1 The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, and 
amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013. 

4.6.2 This report is subject to call in. 

4.7 Risk Management 

Page 576



 

 

4.6.1 These proposals have been brought forward in time to allow secondary places to 
be delivered for 2021. A decision not to proceed at this stage may result in fresh 
consultations on new proposals, and places may not be delivered in time. It may 
also result in further bulge cohorts being delivered in other local schools which 
would be more costly in the longer term. The LA’s ability to meet its statutory duty 
for sufficiency of school places in the short term may be at risk.  

 
4.6.2 There is also a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient 

school/learning places in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local 
communities.                                                                                          

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough 
school/learning places, including SEN places, for children is one of our top 
priorities. These proposals have been brought forward to meet that need, and 
following the appropriate statutory process being followed we now seek to move 
them to the next stage. This would ensure that children in Leeds have the best 
possible start to their learning, and so deliver our vision of Leeds as a child 
friendly city. 

5.2 The majority of the respondents support the expansion of Benton Park Secondary 
School. However a large proportion of respondents stated that they would only 
support the expansion if it involved a rebuild of the exiting school. Concerns 
raised during consultation have been considered, and on balance, the proposal 
remains strong and addresses the need for school places in the area. 

5.3 The additional places are required to ensure the authority meets its legal 
requirement to ensure sufficiency of secondary provision for September 2021. 
There is evidence of local need for places in the area and it is therefore 
recommended that the proposal be approved. 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is asked to: 

    Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently 
expand secondary provision at Benton Park Secondary School from a 
capacity of 1225 pupils to 1500 pupils with an increase in the admission 
number from 245 to 300 with effect from September 2021; 

    Note that implementation of the decision is subject to feasibility and 
planning permission as indicated at 4.4.1 of this report and that the 
proposal has been brought forward in time for places to be delivered for 
2021; and 

    Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning 
Systems. 

Page 577



 

 

7 Background documents1   

7.1     None 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 578



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children and Families  Service area: Sufficiency and Participation  

 
Lead person: Richard Amos  
 

Contact number: 0113 37 87232 

 

 
 
Title: Assessing the consultation process on a proposal to permanently expand Benton 
Park Secondary School from September 2021 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify 

The proposal seeks to ensure a sufficiency of school places in the area. 

 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The Education Act 1996 places a duty on local authorities to ensure there are sufficient 
school places for all children living in its area.  The local authority (LA) is also required to 
promote choice and diversity, and therefore must also ensure that there are a range of 
options available to parents.  
 
The proposal is to permanently expand Benton Park School on its existing site from a 
capacity of 1225 pupils to 1500 pupils with an increase in the admission number from 
245 to 300 with effect from September 2021. 
 
This screening form looks at the equality considerations that have taken place in order to 
ensure that the consultation and stakeholder engagement process that is required for this 
proposal is fair and addresses equality, diversity, cohesion and integration from the 
outset and throughout.  

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 579



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users, 
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a 
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The proposal is to permanently expand Moor Allerton Hall PS on its existing site from a 
capacity of 1225 pupils to 1500 pupils with an increase in the admission number from 245 to 
300 with effect from September 2021. The demographics of the Outer North West 

Page 580



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

Secondary Planning Area were considered in developing the proposal, along with parental 
preference trends and projections, and it was concluded that additional capacity is required.  
 
We consulted with stakeholders through the informal/pre-consultation, which took place from 
29th June 2018 to 27th July 2018. This was to ensure maximum engagement. During this 
period we consulted with various stakeholders, including; parents and carers of pupils, 
pupils at the school, governors and staff at the school, nearby schools, the Diocese, 
children’s centres, the MP and local Councillors, and local residents including local 
community groups.  
 
To ensure maximum engagement with families we asked the schools to promote the 
consultation on the proposals through their usual methods of communication such as the 
school website, texts and any newsletters. In order to engage the wider community in the 
consultation, we promoted it through posters in the local area; letters posted to 700 local 
residents; and posters and consultation documents being shared with local early years 
providers. Emails were also sent out with information about the consultation to local 
organisations and community groups as well as to the North West SILC who deliver 
inclusive SEN provision in partnership with the school. There were also a number of digital 
promotions including via Leeds City Council Social media and the Leeds City Council 
website.   
 
Stakeholders were able to give their views on the proposals by completing a consultation 
response form available from the school office, online or at the drop in sessions, via email, 
or via an online survey. The length of consultation and the variety of methods in which 
people could respond to the consultation were intended to make the consultation open to all 
and was in line with DfE guidance. 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality characteristics, 
potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, potential to bring 
groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception that the proposal 
could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
From the equality impact screening the sufficiency and participation team found that these 
proposals would have a positive effect on some of the 6 categories listed below; 
 

 Age 
 Gender 
 Religion 
 Ethnicity 
 Disability 
 Sexual orientation 

 
These additional learning places would create more opportunities for more pupils to be 
supported in a way that meets their individual needs, regardless of gender, religion, 
ethnicity, disability or sexual orientation, in an inclusive school setting. This proposal 
supports that aim and would not have an adverse impact on any child or young person who 
attends the school included in this proposal.  
 

Page 581



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

The school existing ethos and any new accommodation provided would both help to ensure 
that all children and young people who attend can take a full part in the school curriculum in 
an environment that supports and protects their own individual equality characteristics. 
Expansion of the existing school will ensure that it continues to support the needs of its 
community by providing more places for local children.   
 
 
Any new accommodation would meet the Equality Act 2010 and would therefore be 
accessible for all.  

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposals are taken forward, the extra secondary places will be made available in 
Year 7 from September 2021.  
 
During the consultation process, all views and responses were considered equally. If the 
proposal is approved, during the design process for new school accommodation, the plans 
would be shared with stakeholders and consulted on. Through the design process, any new 
accommodation to facilitate the expansion of the school would be compliant with the 
Equality Act 2010. This would ensure that the building is accessible to all users; students, 
staff and visitors. 
 
 

 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Richard Amos 
  
 

Sufficiency and 
Participation Manager 

3rd  August 2018 
 

Date screening completed 3rd August 2018 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

Page 582



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 583



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report author: Simon Hodgson 

Tel: 0113 3950800 

 
Report of Report of the Director of Environment and Communities 
 
Report to Executive Board 
 
Date: 17th October 2018 
 
Subject: Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy (2018-2021) 
 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes  No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 
 
Summary of main issues 

1. As the city’s Community Safety Partnership, the Safer Leeds Executive (SLE) has a 
statutory requirement to prepare and implement a local Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Strategy, referred to locally as the Safer Leeds ‘Community Safety 
Strategy’ (appendix I).  

 
2. There is a requirement, in accordance with the Constitution of Leeds City Council, 

for key strategies identified in the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework to be 
made available for Scrutiny, before they are agreed by full Council. Consultation 
has taken place with the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) 
and feedback (appendix II) has been incorporated into the strategy. 

 
3. Of note, following the introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners in November 

2012, local Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategies are required to have regard to 
the objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan for the wider police area. The 
first West Yorkshire Police and Crime Plan 2013-2018 was published in March 
2013, and was subsequently updated in 2014 and currently the Police and Crime 
Plan for 2016-21 is in operation. 
 

4. Safer Leeds has an overarching outcome that the Partnership seeks to achieve this 
being: People in Leeds are safe and feel safe in their homes, in the streets and the 
places they go. For the new community safety strategy (2018-21) the SLE have 
agreed the following shared priorities that the partnership will concentrate on over 
the term of the strategy:  

Page 585

Agenda Item 20



 

 Keeping people safe from harm (victim) 
 Preventing and reducing offending (offender) 
 Creating safer, stronger communities (location)  
 

5. The partnership’s shared priorities of ‘victim, offender and location’ denotes both 
a universal and targeted approach to addressing community safety issues, 
regardless of the issue, with a recognition that to achieve the desired outcomes the 
emphasis has to be on ‘People and Place’. 

 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is recommended to: 
 
 Formally endorse the Safer Leeds ‘Community Safety Strategy’ for 2018-21 as 

submitted, and refer the Strategy to full Council with a recommendation that it is 
formally adopted by the Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 586



 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report sets out the high level ambitions and intentions of the partnership over 
the next 3 years as outlined in the Safer Leeds ‘Community Safety Strategy’ (2018-
21) for formal approval.  In addition, the strategy reflects the outcomes of 
consultation exercise with other partnership Boards and the deliberations by the 
Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities). 

1.2 The overarching outcome that the Partnership seeks to achieve: 

 People in Leeds are safe and feel safe in their homes, in the streets and the 
places they go.  

The Partnership’s Shared Priorities over the term of the strategy will be: 

 Keeping people safe from harm (victim) 
 Preventing and reducing offending (offender) 
 Creating safer, stronger communities (location) 

 
With a focus on: 

 Anti-social behaviours and criminal exploitation  
 Crime and disorder related to drugs, alcohol and mental health  
 Hate crime and community tensions 
 Safeguarding including domestic violence and abuse, sexual violence and 

abuse, forced marriage and honour based abuse and modern slavery abuse 
 Serious and organised crime  

 
1.3 In addition, Safer Leeds will work with and support other partnership boards and 

delivery groups on the following issues: 

 Community cohesion  
 Pupil/ Student Safety 
 Safer Travel/ Road Safety/ Vehicular anti-social behaviour 
 Other relevant Safeguarding issues pertinent to crime and disorder 

 
1.4 The partnership’s shared priorities of ‘victim, offender and location’ denotes both 

a universal and targeted approach to addressing community safety issues, 
regardless of the issue, with a recognition that to achieve the desired outcomes the 
emphasis has to be on ‘People and Place’. 

2. Background information 

2.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 replaced Police Authorities 
with Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs), and introduced Police and Crime 
Panels (PCPs) to scrutinise the decisions and actions of the PCCs and assist them 
in carrying out their functions.  

2.2 In November 2016, Mark Burns-Williamson was re-elected as the West Yorkshire 
Police and Crime Commissioner and will hold office to May 2021. He published his 
five year Police and Crime Plan in March 2016.  

2.3 Community Safety Partnerships have a statutory requirement to prepare and 
implement a local Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy every 3 years. In doing 
so, these local strategies are expected to have regard to the objectives set out in 
the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan.  

Page 587



 

2.4 Safer Leeds is a long standing partnership body with statutory representation from 
Leeds City Council; West Yorkshire Police; West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 
Service; National Probation Trust; Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group and is 
augmented by representatives from the Voluntary & Community Sector, West 
Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company; HM Prison Service,  Leeds 
Children’s Trust Board; Leeds Health and Welling Board, Leeds Safeguarding 
Adults Board and Leeds Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

2.5 SLE has a statutory requirement to: 

 Establish information sharing arrangements 
 Produce an annual Joint Strategic Assessment  
 Prepare and implement a Plan 
 Produce a strategy to reduce reoffending 
 Be responsible for establishing Domestic Homicide Reviews and applying 

learning 
 Be responsible for establishing anti-social behaviour reviews and applying 

learning   
 Regular engagement and consultation with the community  

 
2.6 Over recent years, the partnership has focused much of its efforts on reducing 

domestic burglary, which was significantly higher in Leeds than in other comparable 
cities and has significant public concern. The partnership has successfully delivered 
against this ambition to date.  Although burglary remains an issue, the volume and 
prevalence of domestic burglary has been significantly reduced, from a peak of over 
16,000 to around 5,000 a year.  

2.7 In the last 4 years the partnership has also focussed its attention on Domestic 
Violence and Abuse, linked in with the Councils breakthrough project.   Of note, 
innovation programmes include the Front Door Safeguarding Hub, notifications to 
schools, roll out Routine Enquiries (at GP practices) and the extension and 
increased take-up of the organisational and service Quality Mark have been 
progressed, developed and sustained. 

2.8 Over the past 2 years there has been an increased ‘shift’ towards the Safeguarding 
agenda, with a particular emphasis on reducing repeat domestic violence/abuse 
incidents for victims, protecting vulnerable children and adults from exploitation and 
improving support and access to service for victims as well as interventions for 
offenders to support a change a behaviour.  There is a recognition that more needs 
to be done in localities of concern and within communities of interest on these 
agendas. 

2.9 After sustained periods of crime reductions both nationally and locally, crime levels 
have started to increase.   In Leeds, we have seen total recorded crime rise in the 
last three years.  In 2017, there were 95,011 crimes, an increase of 11.7% on the 
previous year.  The reasons for these increases are not straight forward.  There 
have been changes in how crimes are recorded but also real positive changes in 
the way victims are supported, encouraged to report crimes as well as 
improvements in recording practice. At the same time the nature and type of crime 
has also changed; cyber related crime has become more prevalent and there are a 
multitude of platforms that are now used to facilitate, exploit and groom vulnerable 
people.  

 

Page 588



 

3.      Main Issues 

3.1 Like other cities, Leeds faces significant challenges and pressures.  To tackle 
existing, new and emerging risks, threats and harms, there must be a collective 
emphasis on meeting the needs and demands of people in this dynamic city, as well 
as preventing future victimisation and offending; ensuring we make every contact 
count. 

 
3.2 Everyone has the right to live in a safe, clean and tolerant society and everyone has 

a responsibility to behave in a way that respects this right. As a collective we should 
never be complacent as there is always room for improvement.   

 
3.3 The need to deliver results more efficiently and cost effectively, with clear 

accountability, across services and agencies is key. As a partnership, there are 
examples of integration and co-location, but also a recognition of the need to 
continue to be ambitious and take risks to maximise all opportunities, to review and 
refresh where needed, and apply lessons learnt to day to day practice. The Safer 
Leeds ‘Community Safety Strategy’ provides all partners with an opportunity to 
‘refocus’ on some critical challenges; of which 3 are highlighted here: 
 Problem Solving ~ requires a breakthrough in prevention, early intervention and 

vulnerability at an individual, family and community level 
 Acute Safeguarding Risks ~ diverse & complex issues requires transformation in 

service delivery models 
 Invest to Save ~ addressing sources of demand through partnership activity and 

community led policing, that builds trust & confidence 

4. Safer Leeds Review ~ Main issues 

4.1 During January and March 2018, a review of Safer Leeds Executive was conducted 
with the intention of putting in place refreshed arrangements that:  

 Detail the membership, function and roles of the Board 
 Formalise the governance and accountability framework of the Board 
 Enable the Board to delivery on its business requirements and 
 Manage the delivery of the new Safer Leeds Strategy (2018/21) 

 
4.2 In March 2018, SLE considered the findings of the review, sanctioned the change 

proposals and recommendations and is now working on progressing on its 
implementation.  During the consultation phase it was clear that stakeholders 
acknowledge the mature partnership that already exists and how they could take 
SLE onto its next phase of development. Throughout the consultation there was a 
real sense of commitment to work together to address community safety issues.  
There was a clear enthusiasm and passion to continually improve both policy and 
practice in order to achieve better outcomes for individuals, families and 
communities.   Of significance to this report the following were agreed: 

 Refreshed terms of reference ~ including membership from partners previously 
not on SLE 

 New Governance and Accountability arrangements ~ including the 
establishment of Operational Delivery Boards and Placed Based Boards  

 Revised Information Sharing Protocol and refocus on Performance and 
Outcomes and 

 The development of a Communications and Engagement Plan 

Page 589



 

 
4.3 The new governance arrangements will ensure work across the shared priorities 

and community safety issues are managed more effectively, with clear lines of 
accountability and opportunities to escalate risk.  The ‘Operational Delivery Boards’ 
and ‘Placed Based Boards’ will be chaired by a member of the SLE who be 
responsible for developing, implementing and reporting back on progress of plans. 

4.4 In the strategy, for each of the shared priorities is a high level narrative with a set of 
intentions (direction of travel) for the next 3 years.  The key deliverables have 
ascribed actions that named lead organisations/ agencies or bodies have made a 
commitment to taking forward this year.  This does not include core services and/ or 
current provision but focuses on the ‘additionality’ that partnership working brings, in 
terms of activity and innovation.  Each ascribed primary lead will be held 
accountable to SLE on implementation of these actions.    

5.     Consultation Feedback ~ Main issues  

5.1 The strategy has been developed in conjunction with representatives of all the 
‘Responsible Authorities’ and ‘Cooperating Bodies’ of SLE, including 
representatives from the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board, Leeds Safeguarding 
Children Partnership and Leeds Adults Safeguarding Board.   Following 
consultation with the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) the 
strategy also reflects their considerations and feedback. 

5.2 Stakeholders were advised that the new strategy is not intended to be prescriptive 
and limiting in terms of delivery but to enable the SLE to respond to emerging 
issues through work streams and to enable more effective working with and across 
other Boards on cross cutting agendas. 

5.3 During the consultation phase it was clear that stakeholders acknowledged the 
mature partnership that already exists, the areas that require further development 
and the links to numerous cross cutting agendas and work with other Boards.  In 
particular stakeholders welcomed:  

 An increased focus on the safeguarding agenda issues relating to victims, 
offenders and locations regardless of crime type, with a sense and commitment 
to continually improve both policy and practice, in order to achieve better 
outcomes for individuals, families and communities.   

 An increased focus on early intervention and prevention particular around the 
‘Think Family/ Work Family’ approach as part of local problem solving; including 
early years and prevention models, recognising that for this to be sustainable 
there has to be an emphasis on working with communities within priority 
neighbourhoods across all sectors. 

 
5.4 The strategy sets out high level intent and as with all strategies it’s about the 

delivery of those intentions.  The SLE were keen in this strategy to have ascribed 
actions (additionality) that named lead organisations/ agencies or bodies would 
commit to taking forward this year, above existing core provision. 
 

Page 590



 

5.5 Areas that are now incorporated and/ or enhanced in the strategy following 
consultation and feedback include: 
 
 Sexual violence and abuse  
 Road safety and vehicular anti-social behaviour  

 
5.6 In relation to sexual violence and abuse this has now been named as an area that 

will have focus.   This was incorporated within criminal exploitation and following 
feedback, it is recognised and rightly deserves to be made clearer.  Sexual violence 
and abuse is any harmful sexual behaviour which is unwanted and takes place 
without consent or understanding. This type of crime can have a devastating effect 
on the person’s health and wellbeing. As such, the strategy has been adjusted and 
as a partnership we will continue to work with the police and partners to target 
offenders, give victims the confidence to come forward and report these crimes, and 
make all forms of sexual abuse and violence unacceptable 
 

5.7 On road safety, following discussion at the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing 
and Communities), the issues relating to wider community concern around 
improving road safety, reducing road casualty, enforcement of speed limits and 
vehicular related anti-social behaviour, was accepted. In line with new SLE 
governance structure, an Anti-Social Behaviour Operational Delivery Board will be 
established, this agenda will be included as an area of focus.  Of note, the 
connections will be reflected in the Place Based Operational Boards delivery plans 
as they are developed and at a neighbourhood level through West Yorkshire Police, 
Neighbourhood Policing Teams and the Safer Leeds work.  The Executive Board 
Member for Communities agreed to progress this issue as a priority, at a local level, 
through the Community Committees and via the Community Safety Champions.   

 
5.8 The Scrutiny Board’s (Environment, Housing and Communities) comment around 

identifying and/ or providing a link to information which defines the responsibilities of 
each Operational Delivery Board and their specific objectives has been taken on 
board and will be clarified as part of the new communications and engagement 
formwork as the Delivery Boards develop and/ or refocus their work stream. 
 

5.9 With the development of the Safer Leeds Street Support Team, there are strong 
synergies with the Best City Centre Vision, Our Spaces Strategy and ongoing work 
to create a Child Friendly city centre.  All show combined consideration for both 
People and Place, with new opportunities and proposals to create a placed based 
architecture.   Connections have been made as part of the community safety 
strategy and dialogue will continue to ensure that work supports and compliments 
both strategic, operational and tactical responses. 
 

6.      Funding ~ From the West Yorkshire Police Crime Commissioner  

6.1 Since coming to Office in November 2012, the West Yorkshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner has provided funding to Safer Leeds on an annual basis to support 
the partnership's priorities.  For 2018/19 the confirmed local allocation being 
£1,275,959 of which £464,892 is specifically for the Community Safety Fund 
element. 

 

Page 591



 

6.2 Accountability for the delivery of the funds, sits with the SLE who seek to ensure 
value for money and excellence in service delivery. The table below outlines the 
proposed local funding allocation for 2018/2019.  This will be reviewed in line with 
the new strategy for 2019/20. 

Programme 
of activity 

 
Safer Leeds Priority 

Funding 
Allocation 
2018/19 

Community 
Safety - 
Safer 
Leeds 
 

Creating safer, stronger communities (location) 
 

 Supporting the Front Door Safeguarding Hub 
 Delivery of a domestic violence campaign  
 Delivery and dissemination of lessons learnt from the DHR 

reviews 
 Support the prevention  of nuisance and anti-social behaviour 

and Reduce the occurrence and impact of hate crime through 
the Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team (LASBT) 

 Providing extra capacity to support intelligence products to 
inform the deployment of resources (via the Safer Leeds 
Intelligence Team)  

 Mental Health additional provision 
 Prevent domestic violence and abuse for those at risk 
 Implement partnership referral processes and pathways and 

approaches to tackle domestic violence and abuse 
 Enhanced security provision via Leedswatch (CCTV) 

 

464,892 

DIP Drug 
and 
Alcohol 
Programme 

Keeping people safe from harm (victim) 
 

 Reduce the aggravating effects of alcohol and drugs on crime 
and ASB 

 Support delivery of Integrated Offender Management 

£613,000 

Youth 
Offending 
Service 

Preventing and reducing offending (offender) 
 

 Breaking cycles of offending 
 Early identification and interventions for those at risk of 

becoming involved in criminality 
 

£198,067 

 Total £1,275,959
6.3 A breakdown of the planned expenditure for the Community Safety Fund can be 

viewed here: 

Community Safety – Safer Leeds 
Front Door Safeguarding Hub 115,130 
Publicity Campaign 10,000 
DV Structure 94,000 
WYP Analysts 36,500 
Mental Health additionality support provision 38,000 
50% Contribution to Inspector 36,548 
Contribution to Drug and Alcohol Post 14,850 
Additional CCTV provision 12,000 
Contribution to Caring Dads secondment 21,000 
LASBT 50,000 
Locally determined priorities 36,864 
Total 464,892 

 

6.4 A clear outcome framework is in place to facilitate effective budget management        
and reporting to the Office of the Police Crime Commissioner. 

Page 592



 

6.5 In addition to the funding outlined above, the Police Crime Commissioner has also 
been running the West Yorkshire POCA (Proceeds of Crime Act) Community Safety 
Fund, which provides resources for predominately 3rd sector organisations 
community groups and partners to support delivery of the Police and Crime Plan. 
Applicants can apply for up to £5k as part of funding rounds.  For more information 
see https://www.westyorkshire-pcc.gov.uk/safer-communities-fund.aspx 

7. Corporate considerations 

7.1 Consultation and engagement 

 The SLE has a statutory requirement to produce an annual Joint Strategic 
Assessment (JSA) to assess the scale and nature of crime and disorder in the 
city and to identify medium to long term issues affecting community safety.  The 
JSA includes analysis of a range of both quantitative and qualitative data from 
across the partnership.  It identified a number of reoccurring themes and this 
information and intelligence has therefore been used to inform delivery plans 
that underpin the overarching Strategy. 

 Evidence from public consultation via the Office of the Crime and Commissioner 
and intelligence collated from residents accessing services delivered by 
Community Safety, such as the Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team, have been 
used to inform the contents of the strategy along with a range of Outcomes 
Based Accountability sessions held with operational professionals and service 
users during 2016 and 2017. 

 Partners and representatives from a range of stakeholders (Leeds City Council; 
West Yorkshire Police; West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service; National 
Probation Trust; Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group, the Voluntary and 
Community Sector, West Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company; HM 
Prison Service,  Leeds Children’s Trust Board; Leeds Health and Welling Board, 
Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board; Leeds Safeguarding Children Board and the 
Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) have helped shape 
and contributed to the new Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy). 

 

7.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

 The Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy (2018-21) makes reference to the 
Partnership’s commitment to serve all members of its communities effectively 
and acknowledges that all of its actions and plans should give due regard to 
implications for different groups and sections of the community. 

 A key aim of the strategy is to work closely with a range of communities of 
interest, and in particularly to improve all forms of hate crime reporting and 
domestic violence and abuse related incidents both of which are under reported. 
The Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening document is 
attached to this report. 

 

 

 

Page 593



 

7.3 Council policies and best council plan 

 The Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy links directly to the Councils 
ambition of a Strong Economy and a Compassionate City, with an emphasis on 
People and Place and will contribute both directly and indirectly to all the Best 
City Priorities, including the Best Council Plan 2018/19 – 2020/21 priority, ‘Safe 
Strong Communities’ and the Inclusive Growth Strategy which, alongside the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy city’ strategies supports the Best Council Plan 

 The partnership also plays a key role in monitoring community tensions and 
promoting community cohesion, by supporting communities and tackling 
poverty. 

7.4 Resources and value for money 

 Since coming to Office in November 2012, the West Yorkshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner has provided funding to Safer Leeds on an annual basis to 
support the partnership's priorities.  For 2018/19, the confirmed local allocation 
being £1,275,959 of which £464,892 is specifically for the Community Safety 
Fund element, to deliver a range of community safety related activity to support 
the Safer Leeds Strategy. 

 Accountability for the delivery of these funds, sits with the SLE though Leeds 
City Council, who seek to ensure value for money and excellence in service 
delivery. Financial and performance reporting occurs on a quarterly basis. 

 Leeds City Council invests through its core functions to the community safety 
agenda across all Directorates, contributing funding directly and indirectly to 
service provision and delivery, on this cross cutting agenda. It is estimated that 
the actual spend, for 2018/19, equates to £8.5m investment. A high level 
breakdown is provided here: 

Expenditure by Service Area 
 

£000s 

LASBT 2,902 

Leedswatch 3,188 

Partnership 663 

PCSOs 635 

Safeguarding 605 

Community Safety Fund/ Grant Funding 490 

 Total  8,483 
 

7.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

 This report does not contain any exempt or confidential information. The report 
is ineligible for Call In, as the Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules 
state: ‘The power to call in decisions does not extend to decisions made in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules’. This is 
one such decision. In line with the Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules, 
the matter has been considered by the relevant Scrutiny Board. 

 

Page 594



 

7.6 Risk management 

 National changes to government legislation and prioritisation will bring both 
challenges and opportunities for the city. SLE will continue to explore additional 
funding opportunities where this adds value to its local priorities as part of 
ongoing committed to support programmes of change through an ‘invest to save’ 
approach. 

 There are significant risks associated with budget reductions beyond the current 
financial year.   Work will take place with partners to better understand what the 
implications and risks associated with budget reductions on the partnerships 
endeavours are to deliver against it shared priorities.  Also, further negotiations 
will take place with regards to the Community Safety Fund for 2019/20 to ensure 
where possible, funding is aligned to local priorities set out in the strategy. 

 

8. Conclusions 

8.1 The Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy (2018-2021) sets out the city’s 
approach to reduce crime and disorder and deliver the partnerships ambition to be 
“the best city in the UK with the best community safety partnership and services” 

 A city that is inclusive and safe for all 
 A compassionate city that protects and safeguards the vulnerable 
 A city that challenges and seeks to change behaviours that negatively impact on 

safer and cleaner streets 

9. Recommendations 

Executive Board is recommended to: 
 
 Formally endorse the Safer Leeds ‘Community Safety Strategy’ for 2018-21 as 

submitted, and refer the Strategy to full Council with a recommendation that it is 
formally adopted by the Council. 

 

10. Background documents1  

10.1 None 

 

 

 
 
 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 595



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                            www.leeds.gov.uk/saferleeds 
                                                                            community.safety@leeds.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 597



1 

  

  

 

 

 

 

About Leeds 
 
Leeds is a growing city with a population estimated at 781,700 (ONS 2016), an increase of around 50,000 
in the last decade. However, it is the shift in the make-up of our population at local levels that is most 
striking. There have been rapid demographic changes during this time, particularly in some of our most 
deprived communities which are the fastest growing and with the youngest age profile.   
 
This population increase reflects the success of the Leeds economy, both within the city and in 
neighbouring localities. Leeds has seen the fastest private sector jobs growth of any UK city in recent years 
and has the largest concentration of financial and professional services and digital jobs in any city in the 
UK outside London. We also have one of the highest rates of business start-ups and scale-ups in the 
country. Leeds is a major hub for health innovation, data analytics, innovative manufacturing and 
knowledge-intensive jobs: for example, the University of Leeds spins out more listed companies than any 
other UK university, and the city experiences a “brain gain” with more undergraduates and graduates 
moving into the city than leaving.  
 
Leeds is now a top five UK tourism destination, attracting over 26 million visitors a year, and was ranked 
fifth by the Lonely Planet in its list of the best places to visit in Europe in 2017, with the city’s urban 
regeneration efforts and flourishing cultural scene highlighted.  
 
However not everyone is benefiting fully from this economic success. There remain significant issues of 
poverty and deprivation in the city. Low pay is an increasing problem, with people caught in a trap of low 
pay and low skills, with limited opportunities for career progression. Our education and skills system does 
not work for everyone, and we need to continue to make progress in improving our schools so that they 
are equipping young people with the learning, attributes and awareness of opportunities they will need 
to succeed in work.  
 
Looking forward, overall the prospects for economic growth in Leeds remain robust, supported by the 
city’s skilled workforce, the growth and innovation of its firms and universities, and the progress being 
made with infrastructure. However, we will only fulfil this potential for growth if we sustain the progress 
we are making, and by taking action on areas where we could perform better. This includes tackling 
poverty, improving health and wellbeing, supporting greater resilience across the city, boosting housing 
growth and regeneration, continuing to define and express our culture, increasing productivity, attracting 
and retaining a skilled workforce, and enhancing transport and infrastructure.  
 

(Source: Leeds City Council, Best Council Plan 2018-2021:  
Tackling poverty and reducing inequalities, Feb 2018).   

 
NB: The current ONS updated population, 2017 mid-year estimates,  

indicates that the Leeds population has now grown to 784,800. 
 

Page 598



2 

 

 

CONTENTS 

Foreword .............................................................. 2 

Ambition ............................................................... 3 

Critical Themes & Issues ....................................... 4 

Shared Priorities (2018-21) ................................... 5 

 Keeping people safe from harm ................... 6 

 Preventing and reducing offending .............. 7 

 Creating safer, stronger communities .......... 8 

Key Deliverables ~ I (Year 1) ................................. 9 

Key Deliverables ~ II (Year 1) .............................. 10 

Governance ........................................................ 11 

Plan on a page .................................................... 12 

 

FOREWORD 

Welcome to our new Safer Leeds Community 
Safety Strategy (2018-21) which sets out our 
intent and what we will collectively focus on over 
the next three years. 
 

After sustained periods of crime reductions both 
nationally and locally, crime levels have started to 
increase.   In Leeds, we have seen total recorded 
crime rise in the last three years.  In 2017, there 
were 95,011 crimes, an increase of 11.7% on the 
previous year.  The reasons for these increases are 
not straight forward…yes there have been 
changes in how crimes are recorded but also real 
positive changes in the way victims are supported 
and encouraged to report crimes as well as 
improvements in recording practice. At the same 
time however, the nature and type of crime has 
also changed; cyber related crime has become 
more prevalent and there are a multitude of 
platforms that are now used to facilitate, exploit 
and groom vulnerable people.  
 

Like other cities we face significant challenges and 
pressures.  In Leeds, to tackle existing, new and 
emerging risks, threats and harms, we must have 
a collective emphasis on meeting the needs and 
demands of people in this dynamic city, as well as 
preventing future victimisation and offending; 
ensuring we make every contact count. 
 

Everyone has the right to live in a safe, clean and 
tolerant society and everyone has a responsibility 
to behave in a way that respects this right. As a 

collective we should never be complacent as there 
is always room for improvement.   
 

The need to deliver results more efficiently and 
cost effectively, with clear accountability, across 
services and agencies is key. As a partnership, we 
have examples of integration and co-location, but 
we need to continue to be ambitious and take risks 
to maximise all opportunities, to review and 
refresh where needed, and apply lessons learnt. 
 

Knowing what success looks like is critical, as is 
strong leadership and accountability at every level 
of delivery, and this has to be clear and visible.   As 
such, Safer Leeds Executive has undertaken a 
review, in terms of governance, accountability and 
functionality, in order to make it ‘fit for purpose’ 
and support the delivery of this strategy.   
 

Moving forward, Safer Leeds have agreed three 
partnership shared priorities: 

1 Keeping people safe from harm  
(Victim) 

2 Preventing & reducing offending  
(Offender) 

3 Creating Safer, stronger communities  
(Location) 

 
The shared priorities of ‘victim, offender and 
location’ are strongly connected as one impacts 
on the other both directly and indirectly.  They also 
denote both a universal and targeted approach to 
addressing community safety issues, regardless of 
issue, with a recognition that to achieve the 
desired outcomes the emphasis has to be on 
‘People and Place’.   
 

Finally, we would like to thank all staff and 
volunteers across the partnership for your 
continued commitment and passion to serve the 
people and communities of Leeds. We strongly 
believe we are better when we work together. 
 

We are therefore pleased to introduce the Safer 
Leeds Community Safety Strategy and ask you to 
consider your offer in supporting and securing 
better outcomes for Leeds. 
 

Kind regards 
Councillor Debra Coupar 
Deputy Leader of Leeds City Council and  
Executive Board member for Communities 
 

James Rogers 
Director of Communities & Environment (LCC) & 
Chair of Safer Leeds  
 

Page 599



3 

  

AMBITION 

Safer Leeds is the city’s statutory Community 
Safety Partnership, responsible for tackling crime, 
disorder and substance misuse.  

Our Ambition 
 

To be the best city in the UK with the best 
community safety partnership and services: 
 

 A city that is inclusive and safe for all 
 A compassionate city that protects and 

safeguards the vulnerable 
 A city that challenges and seeks to change 

behaviours that negatively impact on safer 
and cleaner streets. 
 

 

Our Outcome 
 
 

 People in Leeds are safe and feel 
safe in their homes, in the 
streets, and the places they go. 

 

 

Accountability 
The Safer Leeds Executive has a statutory 
requirement to: 
 Establish information sharing arrangements 
 Produce an annual Joint Strategic Assessment  
 Prepare and implement a Plan 
 Produce a strategy to reduce reoffending 
 Be responsible for establishing Domestic 

Homicide Reviews and applying learning 
 Be responsible for establishing anti-social 

behaviour reviews and applying learning   
 Regular engagement and consultation with 

the community  
 

Recognising that no single agency can address 
these complex risks, threats and harms alone, the 
following are committed to working collectively 
through the Safer Leeds Executive in line with 
agreed terms of reference and information 
sharing protocols. 

Responsible Authorities 
Leeds City Council; West Yorkshire Police; West 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service; National 
Probation Trust and Leeds Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Co-operating Bodies 
Voluntary & Community Sector, West Yorkshire 
Community Rehabilitation Company; HM Prison 
Service,  Leeds Children’s Trust Board; Leeds 
Health and Welling Board, Leeds Safeguarding 

Adults Board and Leeds Safeguarding Children 
Partnership. 

Safer Leeds aims to serve all members of its 
communities, giving due regard to implications for 
different groups to ensure people are not 
excluded or disadvantaged because of Age, 
Disability, Gender, Race, Religion and Belief, or 
Sexual Orientation.  

Record of achievements 
Leeds is proud of its strong record of partnership 
working, which was embedded as part of the 
Crime and Disorder Act (1998) and subsequent 
legal enhancements.   

 

Think Family/ Work Family ~ All practitioners 
across Adult’s, Children’s and Safer services, in line 
with protocols, are required to identify, consider 
and appropriately respond to the safeguarding 
needs of all family members. People rarely live in 
isolation so the approach promotes practitioners 
to “Think Family” by considering the needs of the 
whole family regardless of whether it is an adult or 
child that they are working with. Practitioners are 
also supported to “Work Family” by 
communicating with others working with different 
family members and coordinating efforts for the 
best outcomes for the whole family.  
 

  

Reassurance  

85% of people feel 
safe in their 

neighbourhoods 
Source: ‘Your View’ OPCC 

 

People 

Places 

Partnerships 

Page 600



4 

 

 

CRITICAL THEMES & ISSUES  

A number of reoccurring themes and issues were 
identified when combining results from 
consultation with the annual Joint Strategic 
Assessment, these are summarised below: 
 Violent Crime: on-street violence and knife/ 

gun crime; online harassment and abuse; 
alcohol related violence. 

 Sexual Crime: sexual violence and abuse; 
registered sex offenders. 

 Domestic Violence and Abuse: high levels of 
reported repeat domestic abuse; threats of 
escalation and increased violence; risks and 
vulnerabilities among families often linked to 
vulnerable children, substance misuse, 
financial pressures and housing conditions. 

 Vulnerability and Exploitation:  coercive 
sexual and criminal exploitation; organised 
exploitation/ trafficking; street users; missing 
persons; high levels of demand impacting on 
services and responses. 

 Serious and Organised Crime: organised 
crime groups; street gangs; stolen goods 
markets; perpetrators operating across 
different offence types; fluid and flexible 
offending patterns; use of violence and 
intimidation to maintain control of individuals 
and/ or areas.  

 Offending Behaviours: re-offending; 
ingrained behaviours exacerbated by mental 
health and substance misuse; prolific 
offenders linked to various crimes; new or 
changing offending patterns; youth and 
“upcoming” offenders. 

 Community Tensions: radicalisation and 
extremism; hate crime; youth related 
nuisance; neighbourhood ASB; varying levels 
of tolerance and willingness to report 

 Community Crime: social and environmental 
impact on communities and feelings of safety; 
prolific levels in some localities; opportunistic 
stealing; lack of victim empathy; impacts of 
acquisitive crime on residents and businesses. 

 Illegal Drugs: cannabis production and supply; 
new and emerging substances (NPS); Class A 
drug use; open drug markets, related crime 
and disorder; health impacts and deaths  

  
 
 
 
 

It is clear that: 
 These complex issues interrelate and  interlink 

with wider social and economic determinants  
 All have ‘Victim-Offender-Location’ basis and 
 All provide clarity for defining outcomes and 

measuring progress 
 

These findings have helped shape the partnerships 
priorities for Leeds; will inform the development 
of delivery plans and the commissioning of 
activity.     
 

 
  

Page 601



5 

  

SHARED PRIORITIES (2018-21)  

Safer Leeds has agreed the following shared 
priorities for the next three years (2018-21): 

1 Keeping people safe from harm  
(Victim) 

 

2 Preventing & reducing offending  
(Offender) 

 

3 Creating Safer, stronger communities  
(Location) 

 
Focussing on the following: 
 Anti-social behaviours and criminal 

exploitation  
 Crime and disorder related to drugs, alcohol 

and mental health  
 Hate crime and community tensions 
 Safeguarding including domestic violence and 

abuse, sexual violence and abuse, forced 
marriage and honour based abuse and 
modern slavery 

 Serious and organised crime  
 
In addition, Safer Leeds will work with and support 
other partnership boards and delivery groups on 
the following issues:  

 Community cohesion ~ including extremism 
and radicalisation 

 Pupil/ Student Safety 

 Safer Travel/ Road Safety/ Vehicular anti-
social behaviour 

 Other relevant Safeguarding issues pertinent 
to crime and disorder 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
We will consider opportunities to: 
 Take action at a local level 
 Support victims and witnesses 
 Protect those with complex needs 
 Support individuals to change damaging or 

risky behaviours 
 Engage and involve people, to influence and 

shape response 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 602



6 

 

 

 KEEPING PEOPLE SAFE FROM HARM  

 

 

 

 

What does this mean?   
 

We want all people who live, work and socialise in Leeds to be safe and feel safe.  

This priority is at the heart of the work that all partner agencies do.  The increases in demand for services 
relating to crime and wider anti-social behaviour issues can cause considerable distress to people, can be 
damaging and can escalate into more serious behaviours.  People who come into contact with services may 
have multiple and complex needs so having a person-centred approach and improving our collective 
response is fundamental. 

It is about: 
 Protecting people who are victims of crime or at risk of being victimised and safeguarding the most 

vulnerable from harm 

 Preventing people from being victims and/ or being exploited 

 Promoting feelings of safety and confidence in policing and community safety, building resilience for 

individuals, families and communities  

During the next 3 years we will work collectively to: 
 Deliver effective services, which are well informed (insight gained from integrated intelligence and 

voice of the service user), that are person-centred with an emphasis on earlier identification, help  and 

intervention  

 Raise awareness of associated risks and threats to victims/ potential victims, giving people increased 

confidence to report, ensuring the provision of services supports victims to cope and/ or recover 

 Train front line workers from different services to help them identify those people most at risk from 

harm, recognising actual signs and potential signs, so allowing earlier interventions to put in place  

 Utilise restorative approaches with offenders so they understand the human impact of their crimes 

and to help victims to recover  

 Improve our collective response to ASB and hate crime by working with communities, supporting 

victims, challenging prejudice, and sharing best practice 

 Support and Implement a range of programmes to reduce rough sleeping and begging, addressing 

needs by listening to the voice of service users 

 Increase the support available for victims of Modern Slavery and Trafficking through the provisions 

of advocates to provide direct support, enhancing pathways and capacity, and increase intelligence 

to re-trafficking and repeat victimisation 

 

 

Shared Priority I: 

Keeping people safe from harm 

(Victim) 

 

 

Page 603



7 

  

 PREVENTING AND REDUCING OFFENDING  

 

 

 

 

What does this mean?   
 

We want people who commit crime and anti-social behaviour to change their negative behaviour.   

This priority is fundamental to keeping people safe and is central to the work of services working for and 
linked to the criminal justice system. Offending takes many forms from anti-social behaviour, acquisitive 
crime, through to violence and organised crime.  For those causing harm, there are and should be appropriate 
consequences including custodial sentences, offender management programmes and supervision in the 
community.  People who offend, reoffend or who are at risk of first time offending do so for a host of different 
reasons but it’s their behaviour that has a direct impact on their victims, their families and communities, and 
ultimately themselves.   

It is about: 
 Preventing acts of anti-social ad criminal behaviour, using a Think Family/ Work Family approach 

 Problem solving justice, across services and with individuals, families and communities 

 Intervening early to reduce escalation of offending  

 Rehabilitating offenders to build public confidence    

During the next 3 years we will work collectively to: 
 Improve understanding of the drivers and motivators for offending and re-offending behaviour, 

acting on prohibitors for desistance and obstacles preventing offenders to move on in their lives, by 

working across children and adult offender management services  

 Resolve anti-social behaviour at the earliest opportunity and to prevent escalation and reduce the 

impact of such behaviour on individuals, families and communities  

 Continue to support and enhance liaison and diversion schemes to ensure people who end up in 
custody are given help and support to reduce their offending behaviour 

 Commission a flexible and intelligence led Integrated Offender Management (IOM) intensive support 

service, responding to the changing landscape of criminal justice; directing and coordinating 

partnership resources through IOM arrangements  

 Reduce the number of first time entrants into the criminal justice system, utilising  existing pathways 

and exploring new ways of preventing and diverting young people  

 Reduce the number of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) individuals entering the criminal 

justice system, improving their treatment and outcomes  

 Reduce the number of women entering the criminal justice system using a problem-solving approach 

to address their offending behaviour and rebuild their lives  

 Direct and coordinate partnership initiatives through the Reducing Offending Board in respect of key 

themes including, drug and alcohol misuse, mental health and accommodation   

Shared Priority II:   

Preventing & reducing offending  

(Offender) 

 

Page 604



8 

 

 

 CREATING SAFER, STRONGER COMMUNITIES  

 

 

 

 

 

What does this mean?   
 
We want Leeds to be a compassionate and caring city with a strong economy, which tackles poverty and 
reduces inequalities.   
 
This priority is fundamental to the city’s vision of being welcoming, fair, sustainable, ambitious, creative and 
fun for all. Within the growing demands of crime and disorder there is a requirement to focus resources in 
the right place and the right time.  Having a place-based approach that is still centred on people, be that a 
geographical locality or a community of interest, regardless of the issue. 
 

It is about: 
 Building resilient communities, supporting those in most need as well as ensuring all people are 

empowered to help themselves 

 Strong local leadership, increasing community conversations to resolve problems and conflict locally, 

raising aspirations, creating better links to social and economic opportunities 

 Protecting the places where people live, socialise, travel to or work from, creating safer and cleaner 

streets 

 Promoting feelings of safety and confidence in policing and community safety 

During the next 3 years we will work collectively to: 
 Enhance the partnership operational delivery models; adopting a place-based approach which is 

centred on people and incorporates integrated intelligence to provide insight to problem solving and 

enables increased early intervention and prevention activity    

 Continue to utilise designing out crime principles to make places and premises less vulnerable to crime 

and develop sustainable local solutions to protect public spaces 

 Work with communities to break down barriers that exist to prevent, identify and report crime that 

may be hidden because of fear and/ or  intimation giving them a voice to help shape and continue to 

solutions 

 Raise awareness of existing, new and or emerging risks or issues through active awareness 

programmes and campaigns 

 Improve services by engaging with people, communities of interest and businesses to understand 

their perceptions and experience of policing, community safety and criminal justice system 

 Seek further opportunities aimed at keeping people safe as part of the day, evening and night time 

economy plans 

 Listen to and work with people with lived experience to shape and improve service response 

Shared Priority III:  

Creating safer, stronger communities 

(Location) 

 

Page 605



9 

  

KEY DELIVERABLES ~ I (YEAR 1)  

Safer Leeds will continue to improve current core services but we will also focus on programmes and projects 
that help us move closer to our desired outcome; additional partnership deliverables here include: 

Focus on Innovation & Activity 
Victim, Offender, Location 

Ascribed 

Primary Lead 

 

Anti-social behaviours and criminal exploitation  

 Undertake a review of the Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Service to ensure our response 
effectively meets the changing demands of ASB within the city and communities 

LCC 
Community 

Safety 

 Strengthen links and support the Leeds Safer Road Steering Group, educating schools, 
sharing knowledge and risk recognition/management initiatives 

WY Fire & Rescue 
  

 Develop a blended approach to CCTV surveillance by progressing modernisation projects 
across Leeds 

LCC 
Community 

Safety 

 Introduce situational crime prevention programmes in tower blocks such as a concierge 
system to address ASB and reassurance tenants 

LCC 
Housing 

 Utilisation of regulative and enforcements powers as part of joint operations  LCC & WYP 
Licensing  

 Promote meaningful alternatives to ‘gangs’ through education, training and employment 
and mentoring opportunities as well as developing  diversion activities for young people  

WYP & LCC 
Communities 

 Work with communities around improving road safety, reducing road casualty, enforcement 
of speed limits and vehicular related anti-social behaviour 

WYP  
Com.Safety 
Champions 

 

Hate crime and community tensions 

 Explore opportunities to increase and strengthen hate crime reporting centres in a range of 
community based settings, educational establishments and businesses  

LCC & VCS 

 Undertake tailored and targeted campaigns with identified communities of interest in 
conjunction with services, building previous work as part of the Hate Crime Awareness Week 

LCC Community 
Safety  

 Following the review, implement new processes and procedures for Hate Crime Multi-
Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 

LCC  Community 
Safety 

 Community cohesion and tackling extremism (e.g. by working with the Communities Service 
to develop more cohesive and resilient communities, tackle all types of extremism and 
safeguard those most vulnerable to radicalisation) 

LCC 
Communities 

 

Safeguarding  

 Refresh our partnership Front Door Safeguarding Hub model, making best use of partnership 
resources, to provide more effective responses to victims and perpetrators of domestic 
violence and abuse 

LCC Community 
Safety and 
Children &  

Families 

 Implement a multi-agency action plan to develop our responses to honour based abuse, 
forced marriage and modern day slavery; focussing on raising awareness, developing clear 
pathways and protocols 

LCC 
Community 

Safety  

 Develop and test locality based responses to domestic violence working within the 6 LCC 
priority neighbourhoods 

LCC 
Community 

Safety  

 Undertake a pilot development programme to ensure that the profession of social work is 
as adept at working with victims as well as abusers, with individuals who are abusive in 
relationships 

LCC  
Adults & Health  

 Work with services to ensure victims of sexual violence and abuse are supported to help 
them cope and recover, work with police and partners to target offenders giving confidence 
victims confidence to report. 

 VCS, WYP, OPCC, 
Safer Leeds 

Page 606



10 

 

 

KEY DELIVERABLES ~ II (YEAR 1) 

Focus on Innovation & Activity 
Victim, Offender, Location 

Ascribed 

Primary Lead 

 

Impact of drugs, alcohol and mental health 

 Publish and implement a new drug and alcohol strategy for the city; including developing 
our partnership information sharing capability to better understand and respond to 
emerging threats and harms 

LCC 
Adults & Health 

 Develop new ways of working to respond better to ‘street based’ drug use and reduce 
impact on services and public perceptions 

LCC 
Adults & Health 

 Develop new approaches to address problems associated with excessive ‘street drinking’ 
and exploring the potential for alcohol recovery centres and other initiatives to protect 
individuals and reduce demand places on emergency services 

LCC 
Adults & Health 

 Ensure mental health professionals support the police and provide better response to 
people in distress and who need assistance 

WYP 
Safer Leeds 

Partnership & 
CCG 

 

Serious and organised crime 

 Strengthen existing and new partnership arrangements to improve the gathering of 
information and intelligence on known organised crime groups; introducing partnership 
network analysis to provide insight and inform response 

WYP &  
Safer Leeds 

 Implement new operational approaches to tackle organised crime groups, utilising a 
combination relentless disruption techniques; taking criminal, civil and regulative action 

WYP & 
Safer Leeds 

 Devise and introduce creative ways to support and build community resilience, in 
collaboration with trusted partners, the voluntary and community sector and community 
leaders; in line with agreed communications and engagement plans 

WYP 
Safer Leeds 

 

Place-Based Operational Delivery 

 Further develop locality based community safety approaches, in line with the principles of 
neighbourhood policing 

WYP 
Safer Leeds 
Partnership 

 Deliver ‘Safe and Well’ visits to vulnerable members of the community and develop targeted 
mentor schemes  

WY Fire & Rescue 

 Implement a universal offer and targeted programmes following the review of the Safer 
Schools Partnership 

WYP 
Safer Leeds 
Partnership 

 Pilot a new systems change programmes via an ‘Early Help/ Early Intervention Hub’ linking 
identification of children and young people at risk and offer practical support to families to 
change behaviours and achieve better outcomes 

LCC 
Children & 

Families 

 Continue to co-ordinate and develop responses to reduce the impact and harm of street 
based sex work; including developing a better evidence base to monitor issues and measure 
effectiveness of interventions 

WYP 
Safer Leeds 
Partnership 

 Undertake a review of the city centre CSP, with an emphasis on people, places and premises 
to support community safety and linked service/ partnership delivery ~ linking work to the 
city centre vision and our spaces strategy  

LCC 
Community 

Safety 

 Establish a dedicated multi-agency Street Support Team (Phase I) working with the VCS, 
statutory services and the business sector to support and reduce the number of street users 
and address associated street activity 

LCC Community 
Safety  

Safer Leeds 

 Work with service users through effective ‘in-reach work’ for those who may be homeless, 
in need and/ or at risk of reoffending to ensure appropriate housing provision is assigned 
and ‘wrap around’ services are available and accessible be to meet presenting needs 

VCS, CRC, YOS, 
Prison Service & 
Hospitals, LCC 

Page 607



11 

  

GOVERNANCE  

To support and manage the delivery of this strategy, Safer Leeds Executive has undertaken a review and 
refreshed its governance and accountability arrangements including: a) detailing the membership, function 
and roles of the Executive as described in a new terms of reference b) agreed its operational and placed-
based delivery boards and c) outlined its connection with other significant local boards. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safer Leeds Executive, consists of officers from 
the ‘Responsible Authorities’ and ‘Co-operating 
Bodies’, and includes political representation from 
the Lead member for Community Safety and co-
opted local representation from the West 
Yorkshire Police Crime Panel. 

Operational Delivery Boards, are chaired by a 
member of Executive reporting on progress, risks 
or threats as part of their duties.  Below these 
there are sub groups and/ or where appropriate 
Task and Finish Groups. 

Place Based Delivery Boards, are chaired by a 
member of Executive or assigned to a Lead 
Supporting Officer, reporting on progress, risks or 
threats as part of their duties. 

Steering/ Task & Finish Groups, this includes 
multi-agency groups working on Honour Based 
Violence & Abuse/ Forced Marriage; Modern Day 
Slavery and Human Trafficking.  Plus time limited 
groups working on communication and 
engagement campaigns. 

Connected/ Significant Boards, play a 
significant role in contributing to Safer Leeds 
shared priorities and at least one person from the 
Executive is a member of these Boards, to ensure 
synergy, at a strategic and operational level.  

In addition, this strategy links to other strategic 
plans, priorities and other Boards, including 
alignment to and contributing directly to West 
Yorkshire’s Police and Crime Plan.   

Community Safety Champions, these are 
elected members, assigned at a community 
committee, who ‘champion’ the work of Safer 
Leeds through their activity with local people in 
their constituency and with local service 
providers. 

Funding  
The work of Safer Leeds is primarily funded by 
mainstream resources of each organisation and 
work ‘in-kind’ and other grants where bids for 
additional funding are secured.  The Police and 
Crime Commissioner allocates supplementary 
funding on an annual basis.

 

Safer Leeds Executive 

 

City Centre 
Community Safety 

Partnership 

 

Neighbourhoods/ 
Localities 

Leeds 
Safeguarding 

Children’s 
Partnership  

Connecting 
Boards 

Leeds 
Safeguarding 

Adults            
Board   

Health & 
Wellbeing Board  

Children’s & 
Families Trust  

Domestic 
Violence & 

Abuse 
Board 

 

Anti-Social 
Behaviour 

Board 

 

Prostitution 
Board  

Hate Crime 
Strategic 

Board 

 

Drugs & 
Alcohol 
Board 

 

Reducing 
Offending 

Board 

 

Serious & 
Organised 

Crime Board 

Connected 
Local Boards 

Leeds 
Safeguarding 

Children’s 
Partnership  

Health & 
Wellbeing 

Board  

Leeds 
Safeguarding 

Adults            
Board   

Children’s & 
Families Trust  

CONTEST 

 

Operational 
Delivery Boards 

X7 

Place Based 
Delivery Boards 

 

Page 608



12 

 

 

PLAN ON A PAGE 

 

Plan-on-a-Page 2018/19 

Ambition 

To be the best city in the 
UK with the best 

community safety 
partnership and services 

Outcome 

People in Leeds are safe 
and feel safe in their 

homes, in the streets, and 
the places they go. 

Key 

Indicators 

 
 People feel safe in their 

local area 

 Public satisfaction & 

confidence 

 Volume of total 

recorded crime 

 Reported anti-social 

behaviour/ nuisance  

 Number of hate related 

incidents 

 Number of self-

reported domestic 

violence and abuse 

incidents  

 Volume of violent and  

sexual offences 

recorded   

 Drug/ Alcohol related 

 Re-Offending  

 

Integrated 
Intelligence  

& Identification 
 

1 

Keeping People Safe from 
Harm (Victim) 

3 

Creating Safer, Stronger 
Communities (Location) 

Building Community 
Resilience  

& Public Confidence 

2 

Preventing & Reducing 
Offending (Offender) 

Our Shared Priorities 

How will 
we 

measure 
progress? 

Our Focus 

 Undertake a Review of 
the Leeds Anti-Social 
Behaviour Service 

 

 Refresh our partnership 
Front Door Safeguarding 
Hub model 

 

 Increase and strengthen 
hate crime reporting 
centres 

 

 Develop and test locality 
based responses to 
domestic violence and 
abuse 
 

 

 Reduce the number of first 

time entrants into the 

criminal justice system 

 Commission a flexible and 
intelligence led Integrated 
Offender Management 
intensive support service  

 

 Implement new 
operational approaches to 
tackle organised crime 
groups 
 

 Publish and implement a 

new drug and alcohol 

strategy 

 

What 
we will 

do? 

People & Place 

 Anti-social behaviours &  
criminal exploitation  

 Crime and disorder 
related to drugs, alcohol 
and mental health  

 Hate crime and 
community tensions 

 Safeguarding Inc. 
domestic violence & 
abuse, forced marriage & 
honour based abuse and 
modern slavery 

 Serious & organised crime 
 

How 
will we 
do it? 

 Implement a universal 
offer and targeted 
programmes following the 
review of the Safer Schools 
Partnership 

 

 Establish a dedicated 
multi-agency Street 
Support Team  

 

 Devise and introduce 
creative ways to support 
and build community 
resilience 

 

 Pilot a new systems 
change programme via an 
‘Early Help/ Early 
Intervention Hub’ 

Education, 
Engagement  

& Enforcement 

Early  
Intervention  
& Prevention 

 

Our Approaches ~ Based on People & Places 

Think 
Family/ 
Work 

Family 
How will 

P
age 609



 

  

 

Page 610



@ leeds.gov.uk/scrutiny 

Environment, Housing 
and Communities 

- @Scruti nyleeds

Scrutiny Statement 
Safer Leeds Community Safety 

Strategy 2018-2021

Page 611



 

 

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) - 
Statement for Executive Board October 2018 

Safer Leeds – Community Safety 
Strategy 2018- 2021  

Introduction 
 
1. There is a requirement, in accordance 

with the Constitution of Leeds City 
Council for the Scrutiny of the 
development of key policies which form 
part of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework. The Safer Leeds Community 
Safety Strategy 2018 - 2021 was 
considered by the Scrutiny Board 
(Environment, Housing and 
Communities) on the 26 of July 2018.  

 
2. The purpose of this report is to inform the 

Executive Board of the deliberations and 
conclusions of the Scrutiny Board in 
order to meet constitutional requirements 
and support the decision making process 
of the Executive Board.  

Evidence and Information 
Considered 
 
3. The Director of Environment and 

Communities submitted a report to the 
Scrutiny Board which outlined the reason 
for the strategy review, the funding 
arrangements to support the delivery of 
Safer Leeds partnership priorities and 
the level of consultation and engagement  
in shaping the draft strategy under 
consideration.  

4. The draft Safer Leeds Community Safety 
Strategy 2018 – 2021 was appended to 
the report along with the Equality, 
Diversity, Cohesion and Integration 
Screening report dated the 2nd of July 
2018.  

5. The following representatives were in 
attendance to participate in debate, 
provide information and to respond to 
Members questions and comments. 

• James Rogers - Director of 
Communities and Environment 

• Paul Money – Chief Officer, Safer 
Leeds 

• Councillor D Coupar, Executive 
Member for Communities 

  
6. We were advised that the revised draft 

strategy is not intended to be prescriptive 
and limiting. This would enable the 
various Boards established, to better 
support the Safer Leeds Executive by 
responding to emerging issues through 
their worksteams. 
  

Deliberations and 
Conclusions 
 
Road Safety and Vehicular Anti-Social 
Behaviour 

 
7. When considering the draft strategy we 

highlighted the strength of concern 
expressed across our communities 
regarding road casualty reduction, the 
enforcement of speed limits and 
vehicular related anti-social behaviour on 
our estates.  

 
8. Following discussion we are satisfied 

that structures and partnerships are in 
place to strengthen the necessary focus 
on these issues, through the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Board and the links between 
West Yorkshire Police, Neighbourhood 
Policing Teams and the Safer Leeds 
Partnership.  

 
9. Whilst accepting that the draft strategy is 

not intended to be prescriptive, we 
consider that the priority for combatting 
speeding and reckless driving, including 
the anti-social use of vehicles, such as 

Page 612



 

 

Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) - 
Statement for Executive Board October 2018 

Safer Leeds – Community Safety 
Strategy 2018- 2021  

quad and off-road bikes, should have 
greater prominence within the draft 
strategy. We also expressed the 
importance of clearly communicating this 
priority to those responsible for providing 
support directly within our communities, 
particularly the highly valued 
Neighbourhood Policing Teams.  

 
10. We welcomed the suggestion from the 

Executive Board Member for 
Communities, to progress this priority on 
a local level through the Community 
Committee, Community Safety 
Champions.   

 
Operational Delivery Boards.  

11. We identified that the strategy does 
not identify or provide a link to 
information which defines the 
responsibilities of each Operational 
Delivery Board, or their specific 
objectives with regard to delivering 
outcomes and priorities for the Safer 
Leeds Executive. We therefore 
concluded that this clarification would be 
beneficial for all interested parties. 
 

Early Education and Pupil Safety 

12. We highlighted the importance of 
education at an early age to prevent 
offending, with particular emphasis on 
sexual harassment reduction through 
education. We were reassured that 
ongoing work is being undertaken with 
Children and Families Services, Leeds 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and 
directly with schools, on a number of 
safeguarding areas including reducing 
sexual harassment. We consider that 
there is scope for the strategy to reflect 
early prevention through the partnership 

arrangements that exist to educate and 
support children and young people.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation  
The Executive Board is recommended 
to note the deliberations and 
conclusions of the Scrutiny Board 
(Environment, Housing and 
Communities) when considering the 
Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy 
2018-2021.   
 

Page 613



 

  
Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) 

Statement for the Executive Board – Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy  
3 October 2018 

 
 

www.scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk 
www.twitter.com/scrutinyleeds 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 614

http://www.scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk/
http://www.twitter.com/scrutinyleeds


 
 

1 
 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 

Directorate:  
Environment and Communities 

Service area:  
Safer Leeds, Community Safety 

Lead person:  
James Rogers, Director of 
Communities and Environment 

Contact number:  
0113 3788654 

 
1. Title:  Safer Leeds Strategy 2018-21 
 
Is this a: 
 
         Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
As the city’s Community Safety Partnership, the Safer Leeds Executive (SLE) has a 
statutory requirement to prepare and implement a local Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Strategy, referred to locally as the Safer Leeds ‘Community Safety Strategy’. 

 
The SLE considered the draft Community Safety Strategy 2018-21 at its meeting on the 
6th June and will look to finalise on the 19th July, subject to any further consultation and 
feedback. Formerly, a ‘Safer Leeds Plan’ was developed on an annual basis and 
published in the first financial quarter of each year. 

 

This strategy also forms part of the council’s budget and policy framework, and will be 
submitted to full council. 
 
Following the introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners in November 2012, local 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategies are required to have regard to the objectives 
set out in the Police and Crime Plan for the wider police area. The first West Yorkshire 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x  

Page 615



 
 

2 
 

Police and Crime Plan 2013-2018 was published in March 2013, and was subsequently 
updated in 2014 and currently the Police and Crime Plan for 2016-21 is in operation. 

 

Safer Leeds has an overarching outcome that the Partnership seeks to achieve this 
being: People in Leeds are safe and feel safe in their homes, in the streets and the places 
they go. For the new community safety strategy (2018-21) the SLE have agreed the 
following shared priorities that the partnership will concentrate on over the term of the 
strategy: 
 
The Partnership’s shared priorities over the term of the strategy will be: 
 Keeping people safe from harm (victim) 
 Preventing and reducing offending (offender) 
 Creating safer, stronger communities (location) 

 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

x  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

Page 616



 
 

3 
 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
1. Equality, diversity and cohesion are embedded throughout the strategy 

 The draft Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy (2018-21) makes reference to 
the Safer Leeds Partnership’s commitment to serve all members of its 
communities effectively and acknowledges that all of its actions and plans should 
give due regard to implications for different groups and sections of the community. 

 A key aim of the strategy is to work closely with a range of communities of interest, 
and in particularly to improve all forms of hate crime reporting and domestic 
violence and abuse related incidents both of which are under reported.  

 
2. Equality related information and intelligence 

 The SLE as a statutory requirement to produce an annual Joint Strategic 
Assessment (JSA) to assess the scale and nature of crime and disorder in the city 
and to identify medium to long term issues affecting community safety.   

 The JSA includes analysis of both a range of quantitative and qualitative data from 
across the partnership.  It identified a number of reoccurring themes and this 
information and intelligence has therefore been used to inform delivery plans that 
underpin the overarching Strategy. 

 

3. Consultation and engagement 

 Evidence from public consultation via the Office of the Crime and Commissioner 
and intelligence collated from residents accessing services delivered by 
Community Safety, such as the Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour Team, have been 
used to inform the contents of the strategy along with a range of Outcomes Based 
Accountability sessions held with operational professionals and service users 
during 2016 and 2017. 

 Partners and representatives from a range of stakeholders (Leeds City Council; 
West Yorkshire Police; West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service; National 
Probation Trust and Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group, the Voluntary and 
Community Sector, West Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company; HM 
Prison Service,  Leeds Children’s Trust Board; Leeds Health and Welling Board, 
Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board and Leeds Safeguarding Children Board) have 
helped shape and contributed to the new Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy.

 
 
 
 

Page 617



 
 

4 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Positive impact 
 
1. Equality diversity and cohesion is embedded throughout the strategy and 

incorporated within the priorities. 
 

The Partnership’s Shared Priorities over the term of the strategy will be: 

 Keeping people safe from harm (victim) 
 Preventing and reducing offending (offender) 
 Creating safer, stronger communities (location) 
With a focus on: 

 Anti-social behaviours and criminal exploitation  
 Crime and disorder related to drugs, alcohol and mental health  
 Hate crime and community tensions 
 Safeguarding including domestic violence and abuse, sexual violence and 

abuse, forced marriage and honour based abuse and modern slavery  
 Serious and organised crime  

 
 
 

2. A strong ethos of partnership working, collaboration, consultation and 
engagement will support this agenda. 

Safer Leeds will work with and support other partnership boards and delivery groups 
on the following issues: 

 Community cohesion  
 Pupil/ Student Safety 
 Safer Travel/ Road Safety/ Vehicular anti-social behaviour 
 Other relevant Safeguarding issues pertinent to crime and disorder 

 
3. Positive progress to date 

 In the past few years there has been a key focus on domestic violence and abuse, 
linked in with the Councils breakthrough project. Of note, innovation programmes 
include the Front Door Safeguarding Hub, notifications to schools, roll-out of 
Routine Enquiries (at GP practices) and the extension and increased take-up of 
the orgainsational and service Quality Mark have been progressed, developed and 
sustained.  
 

 Emphasis has been placed on the safeguarding agenda with a particular 
emphasis on reducing domestic violence / abuse incidents for victims, protecting 
vulnerable children and adults from exploitation and improving access to service 
for victims as well as interventions for offenders to support a change in behaviour. 
There is a recognition that more can be done in localities of concern and with 
communities of interest on these agendas. 

 

Page 618



 
 

5 
 

 
 Actions 

(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
1. Strong review processes, accountability and transparency  

 During January and March 2018, a review of Safer Leeds Executive was 
conducted with the intention of putting in place refreshed arrangements. 
Throughout the consultation there was a real sense of commitment to work 
together to address community safety issues.  There was a clear enthusiasm and 
passion to continually improve both policy and practice in order to achieve better 
outcomes for individuals, families and communities.    

 As a result, new Governance and Accountability arrangements will be place to 
track and support the delivery of the strategy, these include: 

o Established of ‘Operational Delivery Boards’ and ‘Placed Based Boards’ as 
outlined in the Strategy, chaired by a member of the SLE who be 
responsible for developing, implementing and reporting back on progress of 
plans 

o New performance and outcomes tracker for the Strategy 

o Revised Information Sharing Protocols and  

o A new Communications and Engagement Plan will be developed. 

 The new governance arrangements will ensure work across the shared priorities 
are managed more effectively and there are clear lines of accountability and 
opportunities to escalate risk. 

 The Strategy will be open to the relevant Scrutiny Board as part of the consultation 
phase and for regular checks against progress. 

2. Communication and Engagement  

 A comprehensive Communications and Engagement Plan will accompany the 
Safer Leeds Strategy, ensuring that communicating key messages and 
outcomes, and enagaging with the public and relevant agencies is a priority.  

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

N/A 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

N/A 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

N/A 

Page 619



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

6

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
James Rogers Director of Communities 

and Environment 
27th September 2018 

Date screening completed 27th  September  2018 
 
 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 
27/09/2018 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant 
Operational Decisions – sent to appropriate 
Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
27/09/2018 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 
27/09/2018 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 620



 

Report author:  Mark Allman / Ross Bibby 
Tel.:  0113 378 0289 / 07891 270930 

 
Report of:  Director of City Development 
 
Report to: Executive Board  
 
Date: 17 October 2018 
 
Subject: Run Leeds - Sport England Funding Award 
 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): City-wide project, however there will be an initial focus on the 
following wards/priority community areas: 
Beeston & Holbeck 
Middleton Park 
Burmantofts & Richmond Hill 
Gipton & Harehills 
Armley 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  

Appendix number:  

 
 
Summary of main issues  

This report explains the growth of the Run Leeds programme and outlines plans for its future 
development in the city having secured significant external grant funding of £176,000 
through Sport England to develop this innovative programme until July 2022. 

 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is recommended: 
 

(i) to note the successful award from Sport England; 
 

(ii) to support the programme of work outlined; 
 

(iii) to receive a progress report by June 2021; 
 

(iv) to note that the Head of Active Leeds is responsible for implementation. 

Page 621

Agenda Item 21



 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to raise awareness of the successful Run Leeds 
programme and to outline how the successful award of significant Sport England 
external funding will be programmed.  

2. Background information 

2.1 Executive Board will recall the paper submitted in September outlining the 
development of a new Physical Activity and Sport Ambition for the city. Within that 
report examples were provided about some of the innovative work the Active Leeds 
Service is doing to try and help bring about long term positive change in levels of 
physical activity and sport. This report provides details of one of the successful 
pieces of work undertaken which has resulted in a significant Sport England funding 
award being made. 

 
2.2 The Active Leeds service have been successful with a bid for external Sport 

England funding to consolidate, refresh and expand the existing Run Leeds 
programme. The Active Leeds development team have been awarded £176,000 
from the Sport England “Core Market Open Fund” which will enable the service to 
appoint a project officer to oversee this programme until July 2022. The Core 
Market Open fund was set up to specifically support regularly active people, from 
underrepresented groups who are going through life changes. The Run Leeds 
project was one of only 18 nationally to be awarded funding by Sport England.  

 
2.3 Essentially the programme will involve the re-development of the existing Run 

Leeds brand, website and expansion of the online community and digital campaigns 
with the development of a new participant focused mobile app. The Active Leeds 
service is increasingly using enabling approaches to deliver better outcomes. And 
by utilising external funding via Sport England it allows the team to expand and 
accelerate it’s work. Not only is walking and running a good way to keep people 
taking part ( the essence of the bid),  but walking and running programmes are also 
one of the most effective ways of addressing low levels of physical activity where 
people are inactive, especially when developed within a social setting. 

 
2.4 The new phase of the project will collaborate with a range of locality stakeholders to 

expand and grow social running opportunities in targeted communities and with key 
underrepresented groups (with a particular focus on women), and offer 
comprehensive additional training for the run leaders and community champions 
who are key to delivering activity, through for example motivational interviewing and 
mental health awareness training.  

 
2.5 Campaigns will be run to test key moments of influence in the year and to build on 

the acquisition of real life stories and videos to showcase how core participants 
(those demonstrating a regular sporting habit) can be supported whilst going 
through unpredictable life changes. All of this will be underpinned by 
comprehensive monitoring and evaluation of the programme by Leeds Beckett 
University to assess how mental wellbeing can affect resilience and participant 
habit, when going through these life changes, ultimately to understand further how 
we can get and keep more people active. 

 

Page 622



 

3. Main issues 

3.1 The formal Run Leeds project began four years ago as part of the Sport England 
funded National Governing Body (NGB) Place Pilot programme. Prior to this funding 
the service helped coordinate and establish a couple of informal running groups 
across the city, but the new Run Leeds programme brought everything (all running 
opportunities) together under one supportive banner. These previous informal 
running opportunities had enabled the service to build a large solid base of core 
regular runners, which was then expanded with the appointment of a running 
activator to drive the development of the Run Leeds programme further. 

 

                   
 
3.2 Learning from the NGB Place Pilot programme has included: 
 

 Valuable insight into how needs led community engagement was key, with 
activators, leaders and volunteers who were able to build relationships with local 
people, essential to supporting behaviour change in participants. Regular, 
personalised, easily accessible and clear communication methods were vital for 
engagement and retention, as were the peer support mechanisms put in place. 
Essentially programmes were successful when they were embedded within the 
community and had the person at the centre; a person who was able to be 
supported regularly in the right way remained active. 

 

 This insight has informed the development of the programme and subsequently 
the service’s social media and digital applications have helped greatly to retain 
Run Leeds core participants, to make runners feel wanted and to grow awareness 
of groups. Case studies, photos and videos all contributed to a feeling of 
inclusivity, and the realisation that a running group can actually be for “someone 
like me”. This is backed up by similar findings from a piece of research undertaken 
for us in Leeds by the Social Marketing Gateway in 2015 stating “the umbrella 
motivator highlighted in the research relates to creating a positive sense of social 
norm around exercise. Respondents felt that they could be motivated to get 
involved and stay in exercise if they were inspired and through this given 
confidence by seeing people ‘like them’ getting involved, enjoying and benefiting 
from exercise”. 

 
 Natural leaders and volunteers in the community were specifically targeted in 

communities- those individuals with special traits that whilst often lacking in initial 
confidence and self-esteem, with the right individual support were able to flourish. 
Understanding has evolved but crucially the service found that getting participants 
to volunteer was really hard and very time intensive, however, the lasting results 
were so much more effective in empowering them, ultimately allowing them to 
support and retain runners in the groups. 

 

Page 623



 

3.3 The new phase of the project will aim to ensure regular runners maintain their level 
of activity enabling them to become more resilient to the pressures and unpredictable 
changes that may occur in life. This will be achieved through increasing awareness 
of the programme through city wide campaigns and with additional support by a 
network of suitably skilled, knowledgeable and trained Run Leaders (via motivational 
interviewing, mental health awareness and behaviour change type training courses). 
These advocates will help create open communities where participants are supported 
within self-sustaining sessions, online and within their own personal social circles, 
which have developed as a result of the Run Leeds project. This is quite different to 
the level of support a standard running club would be able to offer. 

 

3.4 A comprehensive online Run Leeds survey of the group running community found 
that 96% of respondents had continued running with a Run Leeds inspired group and 
remained active or maintained a resilient habit since they had started. A total of 66% 
had increased their levels of physical activity, with 1 in 3 highlighting their mental 
health as a reason they continued to run. These outcomes are extremely positive. 

 

3.5 The benefits of running are well documented: be that improving aerobic fitness and 
therefore cardiovascular health, through to burning calories, building strength, and a 
long list of psychological benefits. The national (and now global) Parkrun concept has 
flourished in recent years, particularly in Leeds where this free timed run has really 
established itself and is due to launch its sixteenth  weekly Saturday Parkrun shortly. 
(This is includes the weekly junior Parkruns). Since it’s inception 11 years ago 
statistically runners in Leeds have covered over one million miles collectively. 

 

3.6  The initial Run Leeds project uncovered that the barriers to participation for some of 
the regular core runners have included bereavement, relationship breakdown, exam 
stress, health and medical conditions, changes in the family, social acceptance and 
gender reassignment. These barriers also double up as key unpredictable life 
changes, which all emerged as themes from the previous Run Leeds project, and will 
be explored further in the new phase. 

 

3.7 The Run Leeds online community hub collates all elements of the project, in a central 
place, using social media, website and mail marketing programmes to communicate 
with its digital community. Around 2,300 unique users find their way to the Run Leeds 
website every month. This brand and website will be re-refreshed and re-developed 
as part of the new phase of the project.  

Page 624



 

 
 
 
The current Run Leeds website  

 
3.8 The Run Leeds online community hub has a Facebook reach of over 7,000 and a 

Twitter reach of over 18,000 providing a great opportunity to attract and reach out to 
other regular runners to include in the second phase of the project. This will continue 
to be used as a key method of communication and dialogue in engaging with and 
retaining our existing runners. 

 

3.9 We know the existing Run Leeds programmes have been extremely popular with 
women, with 67% of the current Run Leeds participants female; as highlighted above 
the key elements of the “Run Leeds” model creates an environment that effectively 
supports regular female participation. The model builds relationships that encourage 
long term behaviour change through effective communication and peer support, from 
face to face engagement through to the sharing of good and bad experiences on 
WhatsApp and Facebook groups.  Activities are adapted for mixed ability run groups, 
with many making the transition from walking into running; “Couch 2 5k” is a key 
running programme that is utilised. “People like me” are not only participants but also 
become group leaders.  Our run groups are embedded within local communities, in 
familiar settings and surroundings and not far away from home – a really good 

Page 625



 

example of this is a women only group based in Kirkstall delivered with our Leeds 
Girls Can project, which on a peak evening can see 116 women out running. 

 

 

3.10 There are many real life case studies, stories and examples captured over the last 
few years that give a snap shot of the diverse reasons why people, and particularly 
women across the city choose to run, or kept a resilient habit whilst going through 
often profound and unexpected life changes. These are all documented on our 
website: https://runleeds.co.uk and via our social media outlets: 

 
 It took Amanda, a Trans person, 6 months to pluck up the courage and join the 

Leeds Frontrunners; a club she has found acceptance in. “The Frontrunners are 
such a welcoming club where no one ever asks about what your orientation 
is, your relationship status – It’s not about that and there are no labels.” 

 

 After Caroline was diagnosed with the early signs of breast cancer she was asked 
“why don’t you just relax and take some time out?” Caroline pondered this 
statement whilst out running one of her regular run routes around the streets of 
Farsley. She concluded “this is my relax time, this is my time out!”… Adding: 
“and thank goodness I had running as a focus as it’s certainly been a 
challenging and busy year”. This was the same lady that had lost her mum to 
breast cancer over 10 years before. Consolidating the part running has played in 
her life, Caroline said:  “running has helped me put my life into perspective, 
it keeps me fit and healthy but most of all clears my mind and helps me to 
remember the good times. My mum would be so proud!” Caroline has been 
given the all clear since her original cancer diagnosis. 

 
 Take Nicky’s experience. A self-confessed ‘sports man’ who has “struggled 

through my life with confidence, negativity, procrastination, weight, mental health 
and depression”. Nicky’s low self-esteem is linked to his lack of confidence and 

Page 626



 

persistence in working towards his own personal goals. Running has become his 
reason to move forward after he decided to: “find something you physically, 
mentally and periodically DO NOT like doing (but… you know you are capable of 
doing) and simply, DO IT forever if need be”. As a result of running Nicky doesn’t 
give up on his own goals. “I run up to four times a week. I run with groups and I 
have made some dear friends. In fact I’ve made more GOOD friends through 
running in the last five years than in 32 years of constantly playing football. I 
would probably go as far as saying I don’t dislike it anymore”. 

 
3.11 Research undertaken through our programme has also shown that a Run Leeds 

group and the positive social support network this community group provides has 
become a sanctuary for people amidst a life transition. A Run Leeds social run group 
can become a place for people to build resilience against these growing struggles 
and unpredictable life changes. Running and the relationships formed around this 
activity (via a Run Leeds group) have helped people cope through emotionally 
heightened times. For example, Dalia chases the chemical (biological) high of running 
“I still struggle to feel an emotional connection to a lot of things, especially ones that 
require social interactions but as soon as I’m out running, every single part of me 
becomes alive again.” 

 

3.12 These run groups are led by community ambassadors and champions, real-life 
members of the community who can empathise with the groups and have a deep 
understanding of the local community and what works for it. Case studies and stories 
that have been drawn out through the initial Run Leeds project highlight how we have 
worked closely with and impacted on people going through different life changes. The 
identification and recruitment of these local champions and ambassadors are an 
essential part of the programme and supply vital learning in terms of scaling up wider 
engagement programmes to get people active. 

 

3.13 A selection of stories detailed earlier in the report provide examples of how the Run 
Leeds project has previously delivered with and discovered people during different 
life changes. The cause and effect of these experiences vary from person to person 
but a common theme within these stories is the improvement or maintenance in 
mental and emotional wellbeing. This wouldn’t be possible without the opportunity to 
run together regularly, through the community that Run Leeds has provided. One 
example that embodies this on a large scale is the story of “Skye” and the Middleton 
community of South Leeds. Running for Skye is an annual fundraising event that was 
set up by Skye’s nana in response to her granddaughter’s cancer diagnosis. Before 
the third Running for Skye took place Skye sadly passed away. Led by her nana and 
her family, over 600 people from the South Leeds community have Run for Skye, 
raising £7500 pounds for the charities “Candlelighters” and “Delete Blood Cancer” 
along the way.  

Page 627



 

 

 

3.14 The target audience moving into the second phase of Run Leeds will be supporting 
those people demonstrating a regular sporting habit through the current network of 
social running opportunities, focusing on lower socio-economic communities and 
women in the Inner South and Inner East of the city. 

 

4. Corporate considerations 

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 Phase 2 of the Run Leeds programme will begin with comprehensive engagement 
with the 1700+ existing registered runners and 20+ social running groups currently 
linked to the programme across the city. Leeds Beckett University will be conducting 
this research to determine participants’ current engagement in sport, details of any 
current life change or change in circumstance and how this alters across the year.  

4.1.2 Consultation will take place with the localities teams, officers, additional internal 
colleagues (e.g Parks and Countryside department) and external partners to identify 
opportunities to expand the social running offer in priority communities across the 
city. This will include the identification of and support for community “champions”. 
Collaboration with the extensive network of community partners does enable us to 
better reach individuals within our priority communities – the Bangledeshi Centre, 
East Leeds Health for All, CATCH, Gipton Together, Shantona Women’s Centre and 
South Seacroft Friend & Neighbour give a feel of the range of relationships built at a 
local level in the Inner East. Our team have also supported, for example, the 
establishment of the Mandela Runners, an ethnically diverse group with 83% BAME 
runners and based within the Inner East and in a LSOA of decile 1 of deprivation 
(10% most deprived). 

 

 

 

Page 628



 

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

4.2.1 The aim of the Run Leeds programme is to provide better opportunities to be active 
and maintain or improve activity levels specifically for Leeds residents amongst the 
most underrepresented groups and in the most deprived areas of the city. The body 
of the report has highlighted the way in which the existing Run Leeds programme 
has managed to reach out to a wide range of groups. The new funding will allow the 
service to better reach priority communities and populations. There will be a 
particular focus on supporting women and girls in the inner South and inner East of 
the city, however the programme will still be a city-wide initiative that not only 
supports regular runners but also those beginners completely new to running or 
making the transition from walking. 

 

4.2.2 An equality impact screening has been undertaken and is attached as an appendix. 

 

4.3 Council policies and best council plan 

4.3.1 The Run Leeds programme helps people directly to be more physically active and 
can address many of the best Council outcomes and priorities, but in particular the 
key outcomes include: 

 Enjoy happy and healthy lives and; 

 Enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts’ 

The proposals also support the Best Council plan priorities as below: 

 Health and wellbeing - the strategy provides a vision for Leeds as a healthy 
and caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest improve their 
health the fastest. Enabling people to live active lives is a key part of the plan 
to prevent people falling into ill health. 

 Safe and strong communities – Developing positive approaches to being 
physically active in our most deprived areas is an essential goal and outcomes 
will not be delivered if we don’t take an Asset Based Community Development 
approach. 

 
4.4 Resources and value for money 
 
4.4.1 The majority of funding for this project has been received via a successful application 

to the Sport England Core Market Open Fund. The total project funding received from 
Sport England will be £176,000 until July 2022, with funding earmarked each year for 
the new project officer role, topped up by an annual £5,000 contribution from existing 
Active Leeds budgets. This is major investment from Sport England and one of only 
18 projects nationally to receive this funding. 
 

4.4.2 The remaining external Sport England funding will be used to fund the rest of the Run 
Leeds project such as new website, app, run leader training, evaluation and research 
partners and digital campaigns. 
 

4.4.3 Support will be available from the wider Active Leeds Development team, where 
additional externally funded projects complement the Run Leeds programme, such 

Page 629



 

as Leeds Girls Can and Leeds Let’s Get Active, allowing a joined up approach to 
achieving successful outcomes.  

 

4.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

4.5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 

4.6 Risk management 

4.6.1 The project will be subject to monitoring by Sport England. Pending successful  
outcomes the programme options will need to be developed during the project in 
order to address future sustainability. 

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The award of significant external Sport England funding to further develop and 
enhance Run Leeds is testament to an innovative programme that has made a real 
difference over the last few years in providing and supporting local Leeds people to 
get more physically active through the means of social running. This aspect will 
continue to be supported and enhanced in the new phase.  

 
5.2 Additionally Sport England recognise they know very little about how to support 

people to continue to stay active when going through unpredictable life changes, 
therefore phase 2 of the Run Leeds programme provides the ideal opportunity to 
test what can really make a difference. With a focus on some of our most deprived 
communities and with our most underrepresented groups this is a really positive 
opportunity to make a difference locally, as well as showcasing what could be 
scaled up and replicated across the city, in other sports or in other areas of the 
country. 

 
5.3 The Run Leeds programme further enhances Leeds reputation as a city and local 

authority that can be relied upon and trusted to enable successful, innovative and 
inspiring sport and physical activity programmes. 

6. Recommendations 

 
6.1 Executive Board is recommended: 
 

(i) to note the successful award from Sport England; 
 

(ii) to support the programme of work outlined; 
 

(iii) to receive a progress report by June 2021; 
 

(iv) to note that the Head of Active Leeds is responsible for implementation. 
 
 

Page 630



 

7. Background documents1  

7.1 None. 
 
 
 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 631



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Active Leeds 

 
Lead person:  
Mark Allman / Ross Bibby 
 

Contact number: 01133780289 

 
1. Title: Run Leeds Project- phase 2 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify: Specific project 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The Active Leeds service have been successful with a bid for external Sport England 
funding to consolidate, refresh and expand the existing Run Leeds programme. The 
Active Leeds development team have been awarded £176,000 from the Sport 
England “Core Market Open Fund” which will enable the service to appoint a project 
officer to oversee this programme until July 2022. The Core Market Open fund was 
set up to specifically support regularly active people, from underrepresented groups 
who are going through life changes. The Run Leeds project was one of only 18 
nationally to be awarded funding by Sport England.  
 
Essentially the programme will involve the re-development of the existing Run Leeds 
brand, website and expansion of the online community and digital campaigns with 
the development of a new participant focused mobile app.  
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion 
and Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 633



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

The new phase of the project will collaborate with a range of locality stakeholders to 
expand and grow social running opportunities in targeted communities and with key 
underrepresented groups (with a particular focus on women), and offer 
comprehensive additional training for the run leaders and community champions who 
are key to delivering activity, through for example motivational interviewing and 
mental health awareness training.  
 
Campaigns will be run to test key moments of influence in the year and to build on 
the acquisition of real life stories and videos to showcase how core participants 
(those demonstrating a regular sporting habit) can be supported whilst going through 
unpredictable life changes. All of this will be underpinned by comprehensive 
monitoring and evaluation of the programme by Leeds Beckett University to assess 
how mental wellbeing can affect resilience and participant habit, when going through 
these life changes, ultimately to understand further how we can get and keep more 
people active. 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
 
 

X 
X 

 
X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

Page 634



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The new phase of Run Leeds is a city-wide project that includes all social running 
opportunities, for all ages and ability levels, including those making the transition from 
walking into running, through to regular runners. There will however be a particular focus 
on supporting regular “core” participants in the city, from underrepresented groups to 
understand how they can be supported whilst going through unpredictable life changes. 
This is an area that the external funders (Sport England) are particularly keen to learn 
about, as this level of depth of research does not currently exist. The previous phase of 
the Run Leeds programme has identified that the project model works particularly well for 
attracting and retaining women and girls into physical activity, so this is an area that will 
continue to be developed. We also wanted to ensure the programme had a focus on 
supporting the Best Council Plan- Best City priorities of tackling poverty and reducing 
health inequalities so the project will also have a focus on our most deprived 
communities particularly in the inner South and inner East of the city. 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
This is a city-wide project that will support all people to lead more healthy, physically 
active lifestyles. The project will support any group that wishes to become part of the 
programme. However, our previous research has shown that Run Leeds programmes 
have been extremely popular with women, with 67% of the current Run Leeds 
participants female. We know the Run Leeds model creates an environment that 
effectively supports regular female participation and the model builds relationships that 
encourage long term behaviour change through effective communication and peer 
support, from face to face engagement through to the sharing of good and bad 
experiences. Therefore this has given us the opportunity to explore more about 
unpredictable life changes, to assess what interventions can really make a difference 
with this particular underrepresented group and by targeting this in areas of most 
deprivation this actively supports the city focus on reducing health inequalities in Leeds. 

Page 635



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

 
 Actions 

(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Phase 2 of the Run Leeds programme will begin with comprehensive engagement with 
all the 1700+ existing registered runners and 20+ social running groups currently linked 
to the programme across the city. The consultation will also be extended outside this 
network so will be open for all to contribute to.  
 
Detailed consultation will also take place with the localities teams, officers, additional 
internal colleagues (e.g Parks and Countryside department) and external partners to 
identify opportunities to expand the social running offer in our priority communities across 
the city. This will include the identification of and support for community “champions”. 
Collaboration with the extensive network of community partners does enable us to better 
reach individuals within our priority communities – the Bangledeshi Centre, East Leeds 
Health for All, CATCH, Gipton Together, Shantona Women’s Centre and South Seacroft 
Friend & Neighbour give a feel of the range of relationships we have built at a local level 
in the Inner East, for example. Our team have also supported, for example, the 
establishment of the Mandela Runners, an ethnically diverse group with 83% BAME 
runners and based within the Inner East and in a LSOA of decile 1 of deprivation (10% 
most deprived). 
 
Again the emphasis is on the fact that this continues to be a city-wide project that will 
support all groups who want to get involved. However, as detailed earlier for the 
purposes of learning about how core runners can be specifically supported whilst going 
through life changes, this will be initially tested with women and girls in the priority 
wards/communities of the inner South and East of the city, namely:  
 
Beeston & Holbeck 
Middleton Park 
Burmantofts & Richmond Hill 
Gipton & Harehills 
Armley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 

Page 636



EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Mark Allman 
 

Head of Active Leeds 5/10/18 

Date screening completed 5/10/18 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 5/10/18 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 637



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report author: Cluny Macpherson 
Tel.:  0113 378 6397 

 
Report of:  Director of City Development 
 
Report to: Executive Board  
 
Date: 17 October 2018 
 
Subject: Major Events in Leeds  
 

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):  

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?  

 Yes  No 

Is the decision eligible for call-in?   Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:  

Appendix number:  

 
 
Summary of main issues 

1. Leeds has developed a really strong national and world reputation for delivering 
world class events. With tens of thousands of residents and visitors thronging the 
streets at events such as the Triathlon, Light Night and Tour de Yorkshire our 
events programme gleans both local and national coverage.  As one example of 
many, this year Light Night was listed in the Guardian alongside Paris, Washington 
and Toronto as a must-see festival for the autumn. 

 
2. Looking forward to  2019, in addition to the existing events programme, Leeds will 

host, matches in the Cricket World Cup featuring England, West Indies, India and 
Pakistan amongst others, an Ashes Test Match, and the start of the elite men’s 
road race as part of the Cycling World Championships.  It will be the busiest year 
for events that the city has seen. 

 
3. As part of the desire to secure and further develop the wider Culture and Sport 

events offer a bid was submitted to the Leeds City Region Business Rate Pool 
(BRP) entitled “Transforming Leeds events”. The bid sought to secure funding over 
the next 3 years in order to provide added value to the curation and provision of 
major events in Leeds as well as providing support to secure existing events and for 
Leeds 2023.  

 

Page 639

Agenda Item 22



4. In August 2018 the Council was notified that its bid for £1.6m was successful. This 
report outlines the basis of the bid as well as ongoing work programmes to deliver 
major events. 

  

 

Recommendations 

Executive Board is recommended: 
 

(i) to note the successful bid to the Business Rate Pool and to note that this has 
secured the World Triathlon Series in Leeds for a further 2 years, 2019 and 
2020; 

(ii) to authorise the Chief Officer, Culture and Sport to enter an agreement with 
British Triathlon to this end; 

(iii) to request the Director of City development to return to Executive Board next 
month with details of Leeds bid to be a host of the Rugby League World Cup in 
2021. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 640



1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Executive Board on a successful bid to the 

West Yorkshire Business Rate Pool “Transforming Leeds events.”  
 

2. Background information 

2.1 Major events in Leeds create a range of social and economic benefits from visitor 
spend, media profile, and opportunities for residents to take part alongside elite 
athletes.   

 
2.2 The Tour de France Grand Départ 2014 in Leeds, Yorkshire, Cambridge, Essex 

and London over three days was watched at the roadside by crowds of 4.8million 
people and generated approximately £130m for the UK economy. The 2018 Tour 
de Yorkshire, which finished in Leeds city centre, was watched by 2.6million people 
over four days and boosted the Yorkshire economy by £98m.  

 
2.3 There are also benefits from these events which are more than just the economic 

case.  ‘Pride’ is something very difficult to measure but when in excess of 2m 
people came onto the streets of Yorkshire to view the Tour de Yorkshire it is 
certainly something that cannot be ignored.  In addition we have seen a significant 
increase in people cycling which is obviously excellent news both for the 
environment and for people’s individual health.  The men’s road race next year will 
be broadcast live across the world via the BBC, showcasing the city and Yorkshire 
to millions across the globe. It is difficult to measure the direct causal impact of this 
element in terms of how many new tourists/visitors we get as a direct result but we 
are currently working through ways of doing this better, alongside transport 
providers and the online travel sites where these things can be mapped. 

 
2.4 there are other knock-on effects outside of the direct economic benefit. The city’s 

support of cycling has directly led to  a £1.2m investment from British Cycling and 
Sport England into Middleton Bike Park which has seen 200 000 rides since 
opening earlier this year. Since 2015 over £60million has been invested in cycling 
infrastructure in Leeds and the wider region. This includes City Connect 1 and 2 to 
create a Cycle Superhighway between Leeds and Bradford and the region. City 
Connect 1 has already been used for more than 700,000 cycling journeys since it 
opened in 2016. 

 
2.5 The number of cyclists entering the city centre at peak times in Leeds has risen by 

178% since 2004.  Cycle club membership is rising, with 12 Yorkshire Bike Libraries 
in Leeds, 216 schools with bike storage facilities and over 9,000 children given 
Bikeability training each year.   

 
 
2.6 The demands of developing and creating high-profile, safe and high quality events 

with this level of positive impact is significant. It is also challenging in terms of costs.  
 
2.7 Leeds City Council has been successful in securing £1.6m of funding from the BRP, 

where one of the main bid criteria related to cultural events and those that had a 
reach to the wider city region. The funding helps support existing council 

Page 641



commitments and provides significant confidence moving forward in terms of the 
development if wider events portfolio and inward investment approaches. 

 
2.8 The “Transforming Leeds Events” Programme is composed of a coordinated series 

of events and activities that will transform the events environment in Leeds in the 
short, medium and long term.  

 
2.9 By bringing together activity and programmes over the next 3-5 years, it will see 

Leeds embedded as an international city for culture, sport and events. In addition to 
the direct economic impact in terms of visitor economy and inward investment the 
project will enhance the city’s ability to engage young people and tackle health and 
social inequalities. 

 
2.10 By combining economic, educational, health, cultural and social outcomes it offers a 

comprehensive approach to place-making for the UK’s third largest city.  
 
2.11 The BRP application overall was grounded in 12 months of in depth tourism and 

audience research and is informed by the city’s recent track record in hosting major 
sporting events. The city has seen growth in business tourism and conferencing but 
performs behind competition from Manchester, Newcastle/Gateshead and Liverpool 
on leisure visitors. Research shows that this is partly down to perceptions and a 
lack of awareness of Leeds offer. Online research also shows that 61% of city break 
visitors rate cultural activity as an important driver to attract new, out of region, 
higher spending visitors to the Leeds city region.   

 
2.12 The build up to Leeds 2023 an international year of culture will be complemented by 

some of the UK’s top sporting events with the opportunity to coherently market 
Leeds and its regional partners to a national, international and broadcast audience 
worldwide.   

 
2.13 The project is focussed on audiences and spectators the impact is significantly also 

across West Yorkshire as illustrated, for example, by the analysis of 600,000 
current box office records in Leeds which show benefit to the whole of the City 
region with over 50% of ticket sales and income generated from beyond the city as 
per the diagram below. 

 

Page 642



 
 

3. Main issues 

3.1 The bid itself was made up of a number of component parts and were designed to 
address a number of opportunities. 

 
3.2 Sporting events and cultural programmes create value for a place - but this value is 

not always returned in cash terms to the direct benefit of the organisations that 
create it.  For instance, the World Triathlon Series brings thousands of participants 
to the city but the spend this generates goes to hotels, restaurants and their supply 
chains does not return direct to the event organisers (or the Council), thereby 
preventing organisers from reinvesting it to create further value.  The justification for 
a public funding intervention is that it taps into the increased benefits that such as 
the hotels and restaurants accrue, through a call on business rates.  

 
3.3 Whilst this rationale could apply to all non-commercial cultural and sporting activity 

that creates additional value, there are additional contexts specific to Leeds:  
 
3.4 Culturally the city underperforms in terms of perception as evidenced by our recent 

visitor survey. It has remarkable cultural offerings on a par with any UK city. Home 
to the first ever moving image, the only city outside London with its own opera and 
ballet companies, and hosting Europe’s oldest West Indian Carnival.  

 
3.5 In terms of sporting events, Leeds lacks both major multi-sports stadia and 

(currently..) the benefits and profile of a premiership football team. As things stand, 
the third biggest city in the UK does not access the astonishing global reach of the 
Premier League and as such underperforms in terms of national and international 
perception from this compared to, for instance Madrid, Barcelona, Milan or 
Huddersfield.  

 

Page 643



3.6 In the case of cricket, the development of Headingley Stadium has helped secure 
test matches, the Ashes, one day internationals and the Cricket World Cup.  Recent 
meetings with the English Cricket Board confirm the competition to host is only 
going to get more intense and if Leeds wants to secure future matches then the 
ability of YCCC to work alongside the city in creating a compelling event offer 
across the whole city is going to be critical.  

 
3.7 The visitor profiling study backs up this narrative. Visitors to Leeds are currently 

visiting on a day basis (77% of respondents in the survey were visiting for the day 
and were predominantly from the Yorkshire Region - which typically have a lower 
spend / value.) Attending events and arts festivals is a key activity undertaken as 
part of a visit to Leeds, with almost 25% of visitors in the study reporting they would 
be attending an event or festival as part of their trip.  For non-visitors to the city, the 
biggest barrier preventing a visit is a high level of uncertainty regarding what there 
is to see and do in the city and having enough to do whilst here (70% on 
respondents to an online survey who had not visited Leeds before said they had not 
visited Leeds before because they were not sure what there was in Leeds to see 
and do.  We can capitalise on the transforming of events by encouraging repeat 
visits, convert day visits into overnight stays and overall increase length of stay and 
ultimately spend, attracting new / first time visitors which will all have a positive 
effect on the local economy.  

 
 
3.8 Additionally, until recently Leeds has struggled to achieve significant private sector 

sponsorship/investment into its cultural and sporting product. Despite some recent 
success the national and international sporting-sponsorship market is now largely 
flat (as confirmed by UK Sport). The withdrawal at short notice of the previous 
headline sponsor of the World triathlon Series illustrates this.  Whilst a new headline 
sponsor has been secured (AJ Bell) overall sponsorship targets have not been 
achieved. 

 
3.9 The city European Capital of Culture bid bucked the trend with over 30 local and 

regional businesses backing the bid. Investment into Leeds 2023 from the Business 
Rate Pool will help to continue this upward trend. 

 
3.10 In light of this the key component parts of the BRP bid were; 
 
3.10.1 International visitor marketing  

From Autumn 2018, through Visit Leeds, we will expand the city’s links with global 
partners. These might include Booking.com, Google, Visit Britain, P&O Ferries, 
Leeds Bradford Airport and other airlines. The city will use the national ‘GREAT’ 
campaign to help the city reach out post Brexit. Marketing and PR activity will be 
tracked and monitored to evaluate an increase in the numbers of international 
visitors and overnight stays. Campaign activity will use cultural and sporting 
‘product’ to focus on Visit Leeds’ digital channels and those of our partners in target 
international markets.  These outputs will include, web analytics, engagement 
across all social media channels. It will include content syndication with Visit Britain 
and key travel partners such as P&O Ferries and Jet2 and match funded 
campaigns. It would be expected to see a 20% increase in web traffic from target 
international countries and a subsequent increase in engagement across social 
channels. In addition we would expect to host additional press and familiarisation 
trips to support our international content strategy.  

Page 644



 
3.10.2 Event Activation 

There is a strong desire to further build on the tremendous success the city has had 
in hosting world class events. The city has a fabulous reputation for being a 
proactive and fully engaged partner. One of the areas that makes big world class 
events special is activation by making the overall experience special and 
memorable for spectators. 
 
In 2014 to celebrate the Tour de France the city dressed its largest statue, the Black 
Prince in city Square, with a yellow jersey.  This became an iconic image of the 
event in Leeds and helped promote a strong, playful image of the city.  
 
The BRP bid aims to build on this with 2019 providing a strong opportunity to do so.  
 
2019 is set to be an extraordinary year for major international sporting events 
hosted in Leeds: four fixtures of the ICC Cricket World Cup in June and July; Ashes 
Test Match as England take Australia in August; the UK race of the World Triathlon 
Series returning on 8-9 June; and the UCI Road World Championships which takes 
place in Yorkshire over nine days in September. 
 
Building on the success of previous major sporting events in Leeds as well as the 
internationally-recognised sports clubs and athletes the city boasts and world-class 
facilities such as the Leeds Triathlon Centre and Leeds Diving Centre, 2019 
provides an opportunity to celebrate and promote Leeds as a true city of sport as 
well as a vibrant and thriving city in which to visit, live and invest.  
 
A marketing and communications strategy for major international sporting events in 
2019 will ensure we maximise this opportunity and raise the profile of Leeds and 
increase local engagement, through proactive PR and a high impact visual 
campaign. 
 
The BRP bid aims to create multiple versions of the ‘yellow jersey’ type 
interventions to drive social media interest. 
  
Furthermore it will support wrap around activity such as street festivals – with a 
three day festival around the World triathlon series in June now being planned. 
 
This activity aims to increase the participation of families and also expand dwell-
time in city centre.  Investment will specifically support Light Night in 2018 and in 
2019 will also include animating and supporting events such as those upcoming in 
2019 namely , Cricket World Cup , World Cycling Road Race Championships and 
World Triathlon Series.  
 
The opportunity to animate the city, through city-dressing and street festivals can 
not only develop a sense of place for those watching but offers residents an 
opportunity to take part themselves in cultural activity. 

 
3.10.3 Securing major events 

Funding has help secure and develop, the World Triathlon Series event in 2019 and 
2020 for Leeds - thereby including the city in an exclusive list of host cities 
alongside Gold Coast, Montreal, Yokohama and Bermuda. This has been against a 
backdrop of increasing challenges in driving up commercial revenues as part of the 

Page 645



overall event budget. Working directly with British Triathlon, UK Sport and the 
International Triathlon Union and in the light of a shrinking commercial international 
and national sponsorship market, the opportunity of securing the World Triathlon 
Series event on a longer term basis will enable us to build related event activation 
programmes and to develop the project into Leeds’ version of the Great North Run - 
with potential cultural and family based activity acting as a further attraction.   

 
Furthermore the bid also included a modest sum to help support the development of 
work on a bid to host matches in the RLWC2021. The Council is currently leading a 
consortium of stakeholders and has been successful in being shortlisted to host 
games. Further work is currently being undertaken and a report is to be brought 
forward to November’s Executive Board providing details of the bid and seeking 
support for the final bid to RLWC2021, the outcome of which will then be notified 
early in the New Year.  

 
3.10.4 Leeds 2023    

Investment is to be used to  help develop a compelling international programme for 
2023, propelling the city onto the world stage, develop and deliver ‘early wins’ and 
teasers in 2019-21 through advanced cultural programming. It will deliver 
comprehensive sponsorship packages and secure national funding to lever the 
£35m investment target.  This will have clear impacts across the city region in terms 
of both tourism and joint programming (such as Yorkshire Sculpture International in 
association with Wakefield Council).  
 
This investment through the BRP will add further to the confidence of other funders 
in associating themselves with the festival.  

 
3.10.5 Staffing   

Bidding for, co-ordinating and developing these events requires significant human 
resources and an allowance to recruit a temporary post was included in the 
proposals.  
 
 
 

 
 
4. Corporate considerations 

4.1 Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 The bid to the BRP was undertaken with consultation with the Leader of Council and 
was based upon a range of comments and ongoing consultation associated with the 
component parts of the bid, some of which have been alluded to within the report. 

4.1.2 The major sports events element included consultation with other West Yorkshire 
Authorities and the County Sports partnership (Yorkshire Sport Foundation). It also 
included direct conversations with key agencies such as British Triathlon, UK Sport, 
the England and Wales Cricket Board.  

4.1.3 In terms of the Cultural programme, between 2015 and 2017 a full consultation was 
carried out with communities and within the Council regarding both the decision to 
bid for European Capital of Culture and the nature of that proposal. This consultation 
also took place within external organisations and in the press. Overall the decision to 
bid had c70% support with the strong condition that it must benefit the whole city. 
After the ‘European’ competition was cancelled the decision to continue was made at 

Page 646



full Council and support evidenced through an audience of 700 attending the 
announcement that the city would proceed. Discussions also took place at a West 
Yorkshire and regional basis which elicited the support of every local authority in 
Yorkshire and all the Core cities in the North of England for this initiative. 

 

4.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

4.2.1 The aim of the programme is very much designed to try and exploit ways to reach 
everyone that lives and works in Leeds. The programmes and events that are 
supported are inclusive at their heart both in terms of the participant as well as 
spectators, with for example the world sports events being free to watch.  

4.2.2 At its heart the Leeds 2023 programme is built from  our strengths as a young, diverse 
and growing city.  A programme which responds to and reflects our communities is 
fundamental to the project. 

4.2.3 The funding effectively supports and enhances existing programmes that have 
already had approvals and where relevant equality impact assessments undertaken. 
A core element of the major events programme is to reach out to the wider Leeds 
community as well as supporting events that match our equality aspirations eg World 
Triathlon Series having men’s and women’s elite races. Further screenings and 
assessments will be carried out as required as the overall programme of events 
develops. 

 

4.3 Council policies and best council plan 

4.3.1 The programme directly supports a number of council outcomes and priorities. In 
particular the key outcomes supported include; 

• Enjoy happy, healthy, active lives. 

• Enjoy greater access to green spaces and the arts. 

 

4.3.2 The proposals also support the best council priorities as outlined below; 

• Health and Wellbeing 

• Inclusive Growth 

• Culture 

 

4.4 Resources and value for money 
 
4.4.1 The successful bid has secured an additional £1.6m towards developing the events 

programme. This funding is in addition to funding already committed/being spent by 
the Council and therefore is budget neutral.  

 
4.4.2 Project monitoring arrangements will be established by the West Yorkshire combined 

authority with regular updates provided by officers. An internal project Board is being 
established to oversee the work 

 
 
 

Page 647



4.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

4.5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations of this 
report. 

4.6 Risk management 

4.6.1 A project board will be established to oversee the project and as part of that 
process a risk register will be maintained. The Chief Officer Culture and Sport will 
chair the meetings. 

 
4.6.2 Major outdoor events which affect the highways network are always challenging. 

Although the events create significant benefits there are nevertheless impacts on 
residents and businesses from diversions and road closures.  Officers continually 
review the processes, communication and support required to allow the city to 
continue to function as normally as possible.  In particular the impact on blue-light 
services are a highest priority.  

 
4.6.3 Event risks are managed through a range of systems including the city wide and 

multi-agency Strategic Safety Advisory Group. The Safety Advisory Group (SAG) 
comprises officers from Leeds City Council and key partner organisations. The aim 
of the SAG is to help the local authority and partner agencies to ensure robust 
public safety arrangements are in place for all events. The SAG members receive 
and review event management documentation, returning comment via the SAG 
Support Team for logging and return to the event organiser to enhance their plans 
and arrangements. Event organisers are invited to attend SAG meetings where 
partners can raise any final issues relating to the event. Event organisers also have 
the opportunity to seek advice and expertise from the SAG partners.  There are in 
the region of 200 events per year engaging directly with the SAG. The SAG Support 
Team maintain a complete diary of all events in Leeds, this provides the SAG 
partners with a city-wide overview of all events for awareness and planning.  The 
SAG Support Team arrange annual briefing sessions for event organisers re event 
management good practice. In the two years that the SAG has been active, partner 
and event organiser engagement has been maintained and SAG meetings are not 
viewed as simply a critique/assessment process but as a forum of good practice 
and support for safer events in Leeds. The SAG and its associated work-streams 
have a maintained overview by the Strategic Safety Advisory Group, which meets 
quarterly. 

 

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The awarding of £1.6m worth of funding has been a tremendous boost to the 
ongoing work of the Culture and Sport team. The funding will allow the development 
of new creative ideas as well as providing a secure based for Leeds to continue to 
provide a world class cultural and sporting events offer. 

 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended: 
 

Page 648



(i) to note the successful bid to the Business Rate Pool and to note that this has 
secured the World Triathlon Series in Leeds for a further 2 years, 2019 and 
2020; 

(ii) to authorise the Chief Officer, Culture and Sport to enter an agreement with 
British Triathlon to this end; 

(iii) to request the Director of City development to return to Executive Board next 
month with details of Leeds bid to be a host of the Rugby League World Cup 
in 2021. 

 
 

7. Background documents1  

7.1 None. 
 
 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 649



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy
	Statement of Licensing Policy Report Appendix 1 081018
	Purpose of this report
	Background information
	Main issues
	Consultation Responses
	Consultation Response from Luxury Leisure and Talarius Limited
	Consultation Response from Gamcare
	Consultation Response from Rawdon Parish Council
	Consultation Response from Swillington Parish Council
	Consultation Response from the Racecourse Association Ltd

	Conclusions

	Statement of Licensing Policy Report Appendix 2 081018
	7.  Responsible authorities
	7.1 The Act empowers certain agencies to act as responsible authorities so that they can employ their particular area of expertise to help promote the licensing objectives. Responsible authorities are able to make representations about licence applica...
	7.2 The council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply to designate, in writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm. The principles are:
	 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing authority’s area
	 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected personspeople, rather than any particular vested interest group etc.
	10.  Licensing authority functions
	11.  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime
	12. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
	12.1 The council is aware that except in the case of tracks (see section 18) generally the Gambling Commission does not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be ad...
	12.2 However the council will familiarise itself with operator licence conditions and will communicate any concerns to the Gambling Commission about misleading advertising or any absence of required game rules or other matters as set out in the Gambli...
	20.  Tracks


	Statement of Licensing Policy Report Appendix 3 Scrutiny Statement 081018
	Report Cover (Strategy & Resources)
	Draft Scrutiny Statement to Exec Board on Licensing Policy_

	Statement of Licensing Policy Report Appendix 4 ECDI 081018

	7 Financial Health Monitoring 2018/19 - Month 5
	3. Main Issues
	CONSOLODATED SPLIT DASHBOARDS.pdf
	Adults
	03b AMENDED Childrens and Families P5 FPG Dashboard v2.pdf
	Dashboard

	03bi DSG P5 FPG Dashboard.pdf
	DSG

	03c City Dev Dashboard P5.pdf
	City Dev

	03d Resources  & Housing Month 5 2018.19.pdf
	Res & Housing

	03e FPG Month 5 (C&E).pdf
	GF 

	03f AMENDED 17.9.18 Strategic Dashboard P5.pdf
	Strategic

	03g HRA Dashboard_ P5.pdf
	Front
	Back



	8 Improving Air Quality within the City
	Air Quality Report Appendix A 091018
	Air Quality Report Appendix B 091018
	Air Quality Report Appendix C 091018

	9 Street Lighting Energy Saving Programme
	Street Lighting Report Appendix C 051018

	10 Establishment of a Joint Urban Traffic Management and Control Service for West Yorkshire
	WYUTMC Report Appendix EIA 081018

	11 Update on the HS2 Growth Strategy, HS2 and Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan
	HS2 Report Appendix 1 051018 EXEMPT
	HS2 Report Appendix 2 051018
	HS2 Report Appendix 3 EIA 051018

	12 City Centre Vehicle Access Management Scheme Phase Two
	City Centre Vehicle Access Scheme Report Appendix EIA 081018

	13 Leeds Breastfeeding Plan 2016-2021
	Breastfeeding EDCI 19 09 18

	14 Making Leeds the Best City to grow old in - Progress report on Age Friendly Leeds including our partnership with the Centre for Ageing Better
	Age Friendly Leeds Annual Report Appendix A 270918
	Age Friendly Leeds Annual Report Appendix B EIA 270918

	15 Families First: Earned Autonomy: The Plan to use New Freedoms to Transform Early Help Services for Children and Families
	Families First Report Appendix EDCI 081018

	16 Healthy Pupil Capital Programme (HPCP) 2018-19
	Healthy Pupil Capital Programme Report Appendix A 081018
	Healthy Pupil Capital Programme Report Appendix B EIA 081018

	17 International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance Definition on Antisemitism
	IHRA Definition of Antisemitism Report Appendix EDCI 270918

	18 Outcome of School Admissions Arrangements 2018 and upcoming consultation on Admissions Policy for 2020
	19 Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at Benton Park Secondary School from September 2021
	Benton Park Report Appendix EDCI 270918

	20 Safer Leeds Community Safety Strategy (2018-2021)
	Safer Leeds Report Appendix 1 081018
	Safer Leeds Report Appendix 2 Scrutiny Statement 081018
	Report Cover (Environment, Housing & Communities)
	Agreed Executive Board Statement Scrutiny Safer Leeds 2018

	Safer Leeds Report Appendix 3 270918

	21 Run Leeds - Sport England Funding Award
	Run Leeds Report Appendix EIA 051018

	22 Major Events in Leeds



